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Bangkok 14 Jany. 1825,
To J. Crawfurd Esqr.
Resident &e. &e.
My Dear Sir,

1 beg leave to acquaint you, that on my Arrival
here the 12th Novr. I have conformably to your
directions delivered into the hands of the Phra Klang
the several letters you were pleased to entrust to my
care as well as the various presents sent by the Ship
Caroline as follows :—

1000 Muskets

a Gold Watch

a Parcel of Coral Beads

a fowling Piece and an Emerald Ring—all in
good Condition. The Coral turned out short of
weight, weighing only G} Catties instead of 15
Catties as stated in your letter. I regret this circum-
stance the more, as these suspicious people may
think that it was plandercd in my possession. I
therefore beg to request that you will have the
goodness to put me right in their Opinion in one of
your early Communications to the Phra Klang.
That  personage appeaved much pleased with all
the presents except the Ring which, ns well ag the
one you formerly sent him, are condemned as mere
imitations, and he hinted as much as if he intended to
return them. I said as muchas I could in support of
their geauineness but without any effect,

I have not received any intimation what the
return presents are to consist of, but this I shall most-
likely hear very soon, and shall have the pleasare to
acquaint you of it in my next,
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On the Subject of the Burman War I have had
frequent Conversations with the Phra Klang, and
others of the officers of Government, but seldom
amounted to more than mere enquiry on their part,
generally to the following import. What are the
names of the Generals Commanding the English Army ?
the number of Troops engaged, how many, and what
are the places taken by the English? These questions
1 answered as far as 1 was acquainted with the facts,
and on all occasions 1 endeavoured to satisfy them as
to the friendly disposition of the English towards them.

On one occasion the Phra Klang informed me
that they wero about to dispatcha large Army (as
was their annual Custom ) to the frontiers, under the
Command of the 2d. Phra Klang, Phya Phiphu,
who was then present to observe the motions of the
Burmess, and to seizo any of them who might pass the
boundaries to bring them into slavery. I hers recom-
mended to him to address a letter to any of the
English Generals who might be in the direction he
went, to inform of his intention, who I was persuaded
would enter into some arrangements with him as
it would be advantageous to both parties for theé
prosecution of the War. To this recommendation
no answer was raturned, had they pursued the
subject a little farther, I would have offered them an
introduction, by means of one or both of the letters
you were kind enough to have favored me with, but as
they did not appear to wish for such, I did not
consider myself authorized to offer it.

The Phra Klang informed me very lately that the
King has in of your rep i
ordered several large Armies to the frontiers, to assist
the English—and that he has also given directions to
the Rajah of Ligore, to render them every assistance
they required, in providing Beats or otherwise—and
that another is about to be dispatched from hence for
the same purpose.
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This show of preparation sounds well, if its sin-
cerity could be depended upon, My own opinion
however is, were I allowed to offer one, that it is
entirely forced, and that if they could conveniently
consult their own disposition, they would willingly
assist tho Burmans ; this fecling they cannot coniceal
when they hear of any advantage having been gained
by the English. T have heard it mentioned that,
when the present King was first informed of the War,
he observed “it would only increase the number of
Slaves (English?) to cut grass for the King's
Elephants.”

I have also been informed lately that not long
since he received a letter from tho King of Ava,
inviting him to send him an Army to his Assistance
against tho English and that he would for over forget
all past differences ; and was very anxious to be pre~
sent at the Ceremony of burning the body of the late
King. This compliment it is said much perplexed
the Councils of the King, and consequently they wero
a long time before they could docide upon any Mea~
sures—and now when they have decided in favor of
the English their professions aro without, sincerity and
they will be ready to embrace the first favorablo
opportunity to join the Burmans. What truth there
may be in these statements and reports I cannot say
but from what 1 observed of them myself now, and
formerly, I should certainly say that their fears of the
English is such that they will never enter into any
Cordial Alliance or Co-operation with them. They
are now busily employed constructing Forts—but so
flimsy are these Airy buildings that they will not
long stand the shock of their own Guns, much less
that of an Enemy’s—they are preparing Beams to lay
across the river to obstruct the Navigation.

Thave seen a Burman Soldier here a short time
since with a small English flag in his possession—his
story was that he and several others were left by tho
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English to guard a small fort somewhere near the
frontiers of Siam with instructions to guard it and that
in case they might be seen by the Siamese to shew
the flag and that they would not molest them. &
party of the Siamese, however, having discovered them
they seized this man with the flag (the others made
their escape ) and brought him up here and examined
him before the King who was so satisfied with his
Account that he ordered him presents in Money and
Cloth and to be sent back immediately and delivered
to the English. Like a true Soldier this man would
never part with the flag on any Account—he reported
also that the English did not hurt the people, that
they were all returning to their houses and wers very
happy. 1 believo this Account mere than anything
else induced the Siamese to declare in favor of the
English.

1 shall again do myself the pleasure of addressing
you Per Caroline to sail in all February—when 1 shall
acquaint you of any fresh oceurrence which may come
to my knowledge.

T have not yet obtained permission to Build a
House here nor even to remain on Shore—the former
has been totally refused.  Whether they will persist
in this or not I cannot at present say—much 1 think
will depend upon the result of the War.  In the event
of youwr concluding any arrangements with this

Jovernment of a Commercial Nature, I hope you will
not furget to put in a clause for our benefit.

1 shall be most happy if any information I can
from time to time give you without interfering with
any other views, be of any Service.

1 have &e.
(Sd.) JOHN GILLIES
A True Copy

(84) J. CRAWFURD Resident.
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 8. February 1825,

AGENT to the SIAMESE STATES.

to the Slamese

States 28
January 1825,

To
W. 8. CRACRAFT Esqr.
Acting Secretary to Government
Sir,

Having visited Kedah under the instructions
conveyed to me in your letters under date tho 8th and
17th instant, and having obtained a promise from the
young Chief there to despatch as soon as the Elephants
and Attendants can be made ready, a Confidential
Agent from me to his father at Ligore, and to provide
me in three or four days with two of his own Servants
and letters of introduction addressed to the Siamese
Chiefs to the Northward ; I have deemed it advisable
to return to Penang, in order to give the young Chief
time to fulfil his promise, as well as to enable the
H. C. Brig Jessy to have some trifling repairs exe-
cuted; and I now beg to detail my proceedings at
K for the information of the Honble. the Governor
in Council.,

1 left Fenang on the 20th and arrived at Kedah
in the evening of the 22d. A few days previous to my
departure, 1 had despatched a Chinese, Achong the
son of Low Ammee, to Kedah, with diregtions to
proceed to Singora and Ligor in the character of a
Merchant, and to meet me at Trang with intelligence ;
but on my arrival at Kedah I was sorry to learn that
ke had been stopped in consequence of some very per-
emptory orders which the Governor of Ligore had
recently issued, against allowing any British Subject
to cross the Country.
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At noon on the 23d. 1 had my first Audience with
the young Chief of Ligore, and it lasted upwards
of five hours.  After some general conversation I
prevailed upon him, and not without some difficulty, to
grant me # private audience, in which manner I saw
him again on the 24th 25th and 26th during the two
last of which days he admitted me at night, and on
the 25th detained me until past 10 o'clock in the
morning. The young Chief and some of his Servants
immediately recognized me as the person who had
twice visited his father in 1822, and after the first
day, T think I succeeded in removing all distrust and
suspicion on their part. A small Schooner, which the
very crowdel state of the Jessy had obliged me to hire,
and which I have found truly serviczable, was allowed
to enter the River and anchor close to the Fort and
Palace, nearly five Miles distant from the spot where
the Jessy was obliged to anchor. No opposition was
part of the Fort and Town,

made to my visiting every
and rowing up the River as far nearly as Alister,
while the Sepoys and my Attendants were allowed to
go on shore from the Schooner as much as they pleased,
and to mix with the people ; and I was not only suffer-
ed to sleep in the Town of Kedah during the nights of
the 24th 25th and 26th but to converse, and without
any appearance of being watched, with every class of
the inhabitants, I did not affect any show or state, and
had thus very favorable opportunities of gathering
intelligence.

With respect to the ostensible object of my visit,
namely * to effect some arrangement for suppressing
*the Robberies and Piracies which have been com-
“ mitted of late on our frontiers” 1 found the young
Chief extremely ready to give orders for apprehending

and punishing ofienders, but I could not persuade him
to give me a written engagement for a mutual sur-
render of Criminals between Penang and Kedah,
although he admitted the advantage of such an
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arrangement. He observed that he was always an-
xious to apprehend and punish offenders, and to
comply with any requisitions on this head from the
Governor of Penang, and in proof thereof he stated,
that he has at the present moment several Pirates, and
among others a noted character named Che Beintan,
in chai that he had hended and deli d
several Convicts who had fled to Kedah from Penang,
and that he had kept Tucang Chukoor, the Chinese
Farmer at Qualla Muda, and against whom the Gover-
nor of Penang had preferred a Complaint, confined in
a Cangue or moveable Pillory during several woeks,
On the second day when the young Chief shewed mo
the Draft of a letter which ho was about to address on
this subject to the Honorable the Governor, in reply
to the letter I delivered to him from the Malay
Translator, 1 found it contained only general and

ing ions of friendship. I poiuted out
to him the inutility of any such letter, and prevailed
upon him to order another Draft.  When this second
Draft was shewn to me on the following day, I re-
marked in it a phrase against which I immediately
objected, and the pertinacious manner in which the
young Chief and his principal Officer Chiom Pyaban
insisted on the word being used, convinced me that L
was right in suspecting the interpretation, which they
meant hereafter to apply to it. 1had heard from
several respectabls persons at Kedah, that the Gover-
nor of Ligore was fitting out the twelve or fourteen
large Boats which T saw at Kedah, as well asa great
many others at Settool and Trang, in order to take
possession of Perak, and to attack the Raja of Salan-
gore, with whom he was stated to be much offended,
and I suspected therefore, that the design of the young
Chief in  proposing to acquaint the Honble, the
Governor that “he would apprehend and punish
“ Robbers and Pirates to the Southward of Penang,”
\as to pave the way for his father's invasion of Perak
and Salangore. Conceiving that wo had never admitted
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the Governor of Ligore’s right of jurisdiction to the
Southward of Penang, and that it would be impolitic
to admit it now, 1 opposed the introduction of that
phirase ; and after much discussion succeeded in per-
suading the young Chief to order a thinl Draft to
be prepared, in which the word * Northward™ was
substituted.

Although the thind letter was not. satistactory on
the subject of o mutual restitution of Criminals, 1 did
not think it prudent to importune the Chief any
further for the present, and partionlarly as he told me
that the letter from the Malay Translator did not
mention this point, and assured me that he would be
always ready to apprehend and deliver any Criminals
for whom the Honble. tho Governor might apply.
1t is inconceivable how averse the Siamese are to
commit themselves ou Paper.  But should the Honble.
the Governor still consider it advisable to persuade the
the young Chief at Kedah to enter into an engagement
for the mutual surrender of Pirates and Robbers, 1
am inclined to think that a proposition to this effect

and an offer on our part to agree to such an
arrangement, would be successful.

The day after my arrival at Kedah, 1 learnt that
Tucang Clukoor had been released and sent to Qualla
Muda. On my remonstrating with the Chief against
his permitting such o character to return thither, he
assured me that he had only been sent with 30 men,
in order to point out the haunts of several DPirates,
who infest that River, and that he hoped by this
means to apprehend them.

Kedah is at present in a very wretched condition—
most of the Houses are in in ruins, and the appearance
of the Inbabitants denotes poverty and disease. The
smallpox is raging in the Fort, and almost every
person whom I saw is afflicted with some cutaneous
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disorder. The young Chief himself, although attired
in fine Silk, and with handsome Jewels, has his Arms
and Legs covered with Tteh. Poultry is cheap—from
five to seven Dollars per hundred, but the exportation
of Grain is probibited, and the trade between that
place and Trang is almost cotirely atan end. 1 learnt,

and pointed out to the young Chief that some of his
Chinese and Chulin Servants mako exactions on all

Boats visiting the Port, and he observed that as such
a practice was unauthorized, he would direct his
Officers to put a stop toit. T pointed out to him also
the impolitic and unfriendly procedure of suppressing
the intercourse and trade which formerly subsisted

overland between Kedah and Ligore, and I beg to

submit, that if on this head, as well ason that re-
garding the extortion of his Chinese and Chulia Ser-

vants, a letter wers addressed to the young Chief by
the Honorable the Governor, the measure would most
probably obtain some advantage in favour of our
Native traders.

The Tort of Kedah is truly contemptible. On the
works, which are in many places in ruins, are
mounted about 30 or 40 old and honey-combed pieces
of Ordnance, generally with broken Carringes. The
residence of the Chief, a brick and tiled Building, the
Audience Hall of Attap, and the Houses of his
Officers and Suite of the same Material, are within the
Fort. T found the Court very thinly attended, and
with searcely a twentieth part of the Guard of Soldiers
which surrounded the Governor of Ligore in 1822,

The present Chief is an illegitimate Son and
about 25 years of age—his name is Poosing but his
Father has directed him to be always named by the
Malay title of Bujinda Muda or Young Prince. He
possesses rather pleasing manners, and displayed more
intellig in his Enquiri ling the Burmese
War than I should have expected. The principal
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officer under him, and without whose advice indeed
his father has forbidden him .to undertake any mea—
sure, isa tall and athletic man, called Chiom Pya ban.
This is the person who firat entered Kedah, and
killed the Laxamana. He boasted to me that he had
attacked Kedah with only 800 Soldiers, and had
driven several thousand Malays before him. He has
repeatedly served against the Burmess and particu-
larly in the direction of Mergui. Among numerous
questions regarding the present War, he shrewdly
asked me, whether the English had yet succeeded in
prevailing on any of the Burmese to accept Pay and
Service under them and fight against their own
Countrymen—and I obtained from him, after taking
some trouble to conciliate him, the information upon
which the accompanying sketch of the Siamese
States between Bangkok and Kedah is formed.® I
compared his information however with that which
I elicited from the principal Suammes or Siamese
Priest, named Sichoom, with whom I formed an
acquaintance at Kedah. Both Chiom Pya ban and
Sichoom are Natives of Ligore, and have repeatedly
visited Bangkok. With respoct to the places lying
batween Mergui and Junkeeylon towards the Bay of
Bengal, I obtained additional information from some
respectable  Malays, who had often visited that
Coast.

Throughout the Kingdom of Kedah there are not.
at present more that 6 or 700 Siamese or Ligorians.
Of thess there are 300 at Kedah, 150 under a Chiom
or Luang at Parlis, 50 more under two other of the
Governor of Ligore's illegitimate sons at Settool, and
the remainder scattered about the interior. The
above intelligence is the result of much enquiry
among the different Classes of Inhabitants at Kedah.

With respect to the alleged rising influence of
the Chief of Singora under the new King of Siam's
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favor, T found it extremely difficult to collect any
positive information. Several Malays and Chinese at
Kedah assured me, that after the remains of the late
King of Siam are burnt, (and the Governor of every
Province has been summoned to assist at the Cercmony
which is to take place in about two months from this
date) the Chief of Singora is to be appointed to take
charge of the Territory of Kedah, and to replace the
Ex-King. The Siamese however ridiculed this report,
and informed me, that it originated in the circumstance
of the Chief of Singora having been released from
Chains upon the death of the late King of Siam,
when, according to the Laws of Siam, every Priscner's
confinement was remitted, This intelligence was
confirmed by the Siamese Priest. The Chief of Singora
is stated to be an old friend and playfellow of the
present King of Siam. An intelligent  Chinese
declared to me, that altho’ the Chief of Ligore is at
present under some disgrace at Siam, yet as he had
despatched his wifo thither with valuable presents,
and is preparing to follow her with etill richer pre-
sents, and as he possesses much greater means than the
Chief of Singora tor conciliating the corrupt Court of
Siam, it is most probable that he will retain his credit
and influence. He is at present much vexed at the
death of a Daughter, whom he had intended as a Bride
for the present King of Siam. Thero is 10 doubt
that a very strong personal enmity exists between the
two Chiefs; and the Chief of Merdeclong or Kotelon
as well as the Chief of Singora, is now entirely cut off
from all communication with the Western Sea, Until
very lately, they were each allowed a Port in the
Kedah territory by the Chief of Ligore.

During the long conferences which I had with the
young chief at Kedah, I informed him very fully as to
every circumstance relating to the present War. I pro-
sented him with o Copy of Horsburgh's Chart, in which
1 filled up the direction of the Irrawaddy, Saluen or
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Thaluan and Menam Rivers, and assisted him to write
down in the Siamese character, the names of the
principal Places.

The Chief questioned me very minutely as to the
number of places captured by the British forces, their
strength and the nawmes of the principal officers. He
took notes of my replies, for the purpose he said of
communicating the information to his father ; and this
gave me an opportunity of offéring to go myself and
see his father at Ligore. I then dwelt much upon the
many important points regarling the present War,
which T could relate to his father, and which it would
be highly creditable to his father, to communicate as
soon as possible to the Court of Siam. T shewed the
direction in which the Siamese troops might move
against the Capital of Ava, and probably scize the
person of the King of Ava at Moneh, to which place,
it is stated, that Monarch would fly the moment our
Troops approached. But I now discovered that the
Siamese at Kedah, and probably at Ligore, do not
entirely credit the intelligence of our War with Ava.
They suspect that our object in spreading such a
report, is in view only to be allowed to penetrate
across the Country towards Ligore and Siam, and I
afterwards learnt from several intelligent persons who
have lately arrived from the Eastern Shores, that the
Court of Siam is full of doubt and suspicion as to our
views, and is hardly yet convinced that we are really
engaged in hostilities against Ava.

To my proposition to visit his father at Ligore,
the young Chief replied, that he regretted his orders
were peremptory against permitting any  British
subject to cross the Conntry. He said however that
he would write minutely to his father every thing 1
should it to him. A lingly I took
great pains to let him understand the cause, nature
and progress of the present War and shewed him on
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the Map the great advantage of the Siamese immedi-
ately moving a force from Cheung-mai or Zemee, and
possessing themselves of a portion of the valuable
tract of Country, lying between their boundary and
the Saluen or Thaluan River, and into which they had
50 often of late years been making incursions.

Fortunately on the 26th a Native Boat belonging
to the Chief of Phoonga arrived at Kedah from that
place, and brought intelligonce that the British Troops
had taken Mergui, and were actually in Garrison
there.  After this [ succeeded in persuading the Chief
to allow Achong to proceed to his father at Ligore
with the letter from the Honble. the Governor, as well
one from myself, urging that Chief to give me an
interview as soon as possible, cither by meeting me at
Trang or allowing me to join him at Ligore. In
consequence of Achong having aczompanied Mr. Craw-
furl to Siam, he is much distrusted, and as the Chief
told me that it would take four or five days to have
the Elephants anl Attendants ready for conveying
him to Ligore, I took the precaution of having it
mentioned in the letter to the Honble, the Governor
that Achong was to be allowed to pass. I have every
reason therefore to hope that the young Chief will
tulfil his promise, and that Achong in the course of five
and twenty or thirty days will be able to meet me at
Trang with some correct intelligence, not only regard-
ing the present condition of the Chiefs of Ligore and
Singora, but regarding the views and feelings of the
Court of Siam. He has been instructed to use every
means in his power to allure the Chief of Ligore to
give mwa an interview.

On the young Cliief hearing that I would probably
visit Mergui, and expressing a desive of obtaining
more information regarding the progress of the War,
1 proposed to him to dispatch some of his most trust-
worthy Servants to pany me to the Northward,
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and promised to bring them back to Kedah in safety.
He acceded to this proposal, and further consented to
give me letters of introduction to the Chiefs of Phoonga,
Chimpohun and Tuccopa, as I -observed that T was
anxious to explain to them, as fully as I had done to
him, the circumstances of the present War. If the
young Chief do not disappoint me on this last head, I
shall certainly securs very important facilitation in
communicating with the Ports to the Northward ; and
it was principally to inspire him with additional con-
fidence in my professions, that T resolved to return to
Penang, and convey to him other letters, and some
trifling  Articles which he expressed his desire to
possess,

Tdeem it my duty, however, to state candidly, for
the information of the Honble. the Governor in Coun-
cil, that from this Coast, it will be impossible, in my
opinion, to communicate with the Chief of Singora—
that Tam by no means sanguine of being now allowed
to pass across the Country to Ligore —and that while
I hope Achong will be able to avail himself of the
talent which he possesses to collset some positive in-
telligence regarding Siam, Ligore and Singora, I think
my only chance of baing useful, will be to explain the
circumstances of the present War to the Chiefs of
Phoonga and Tuccoph, and to end=avour by means of
the Rinnong River, to perform the same duty with
respect to the Chief of Chimpolnn, who appears to bs
the proper person through whom communications
regarding our occupation of Tavoy and Mergui can
be made to the Court of Sinm.  From all that 1 could
colleet at Kedah, I am convinead that no impression
either with respect to the affairs of that Kingdom, or
concerniug our objects in the territory of Tenasserim
can be made on the Court of Siam by negociation, but
by means of the Chiefs on the Eastern shore, and if
therefore, I fail in persuading the Chow-pya of Ligore
to meet me at Trang, or in reaching Chimpohun,

)
)
3
!
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through the Rinnong River, I would beg to suggest
that 1 bo authorized to go round at once to Singora,
Ligore, and Chimpohun, and to wait at the last men-
tioned place for such instructions as the Supreme
Government may be pleased to transmit through
Mergui, the passage from which place I am assured
is of three days only, and my presence at Chimpohun
would perhaps lead to its being immedintely laid open.
by the Siamese.

1 have, &e., &o.

(Signed) H. BURNEY,
Dolitical Agent to the
Siamese States.

H. (. Brig Jessy
Fort Cornwallis

28 January 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 8 February 1825.

TRANSLATION

of a letter from the Son of the Rajah of Ligore at
Quedah to the Honorable Robert Fullerton, Governor
of Prince of Wales lsland.

( After the usual Compliments.)

Lhave to nequaint my friend with respect to his
having sent Captain Burney with a letter to me at
Quedali, concerning the Pirates and Rebbers who have
been committing depredations to the Northward of
Pulo Penang, that I understood all the contents and
purport of that letter. 1 have given strict orders to
search for and seize these Pirates, in order that they
may be punished and be wade an exawple of, to deter
others from the commission of such offences.

I have communicated with Captain Burney on
the subject of these Pirates and bad people. My friend
requested [ would receive Captain Burney with hos-
pitality and friendship. 1 have done so agreeably to
the desire expressed in my friend's letter.,

Captain Burney was anxions to send China
Achoug with a letter from wy friend and himselfto
the Rajah of Ligore, and I will order Elephants to bs
prepared to convey him across, and people to accom-
pany him, from a regard for my friend and Captain
Burney,  Captain Burney will acquaint my friend with
all the communications which have passed between
ns.

DATED at Quedah Thursday 27 : January 1825.

A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 3 February 1825,

REMARKS.

The present King of Siam or Khun Luang is not

Y Usurper as reported from Singapore but the eldest

Son of the late King. The Uncle of the present King
of Siam is Nephew to the Governor of Ligore, and he
has been appointed Khun Luang Wang-na, or Ttajah
Auda, literally Heir Apparent, an Officer of much
authority in the Eastern States,

This is the same who was before called Kroom
Sat. The report of his decease, and of the Siamese at
Kedali having shavel their heads in mourning of this
event is void of foundation,

None of the Chiefs between Kedah and Bangkok
are independent Sovereigns or fendatories, but Ser-
vants implicitly bound and actually obeying the dic-
tates of the King of Siam.

Although some of these Chiefs, and particularly
those styled Chow Pya, Governor General, or as
Loubere translates it, Viceroy, exercise some degree of
Suvereign power over their own Countrymen, yet with
respect to Europeans not one of them dares engage in
any  negocintion with them, but under the divect
Authority of the Court of Siam.

The gradation among the Chiefs of Provinces and
Towns, or Chow Muany, is as follows :—

Clow Pya, Governor General,

Pya, Governor.

Prah, ing to our Li Gover

Luang or Chiom, answering to our Resident—the
latter title is more honorable, and is never used
in the presence of a Superior.

Khcon or Mome, o grade lower,

Meun, a grade still lower,
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The Pya or Governor of Chimpohan was always
entrusted by the Court of Siam with the duty of
watching the Burmess on the Coast of Tenasserim,
and all communications regarding that Coast should bo
addressed to him. The shortest, and alleged oaly
route from the Galf of Siam to Tavoy and Mergui is
from Chimpohun, where the Siameso forces destined to
attack those places always assembled,

Rinnong or Rindong was within a few years back
governed by a Malay Chief, but when the Burmese
attacked and lid it waste, tho Inhabitants fled and
settled near the East Coast at a place called Lang-
sewun. The shortest space between the Eastern and
Western Seas appears to be at Rinnong.  Some
persons who have often gone the passage declare, that
in one tide up the Rinnong River ( which is of soma
size ) you arrive at a road that leads to the Chimpohun
River, and may be passed in 4 hours, and that thence
down the Chimpohun River you may arrive at the
Seat of the Pya or Governor of Chimpohun in 8 hours.

The Pya or Governor of Poongha has much in-
fluence at Siam, as well as the Chow Pya of Ligore.

The Chow Pya of Ligore is of Chinese extraction,
and not only the father of the Pya of Singora was a
Chinese, but his Mother was of Chinese extraction.

The late Pya of Merdelong or Bondelon of
Kotelon was a Mahometan, but the present Pya is a
Siamese sent from Bangkok to succeed.

An illegitimate son of the Governor of Ligore
governs at Kedah, two others reside at Settool, while
the favorite and legitimate Son who was at Trang for
some mouths has just returned to Ligore.

All the Coast between Puhlas in Lat: 8 and
Kedah is occupied by the Troops of the Governor of
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Ligore, who has put a stop to all communication with
Singora and Menlelong,

The Siamese at Kedah state that Ligore was at
one time an ind 1 Kingdom, including a
great portion of the Coast of Tenasserim, but that the
Chow Pya of Ligore has at present no authority or
control whatever over the intermediate Siamese States
of Chimpohun, Chenga, Tuccopa or Poongha. They
also state that there ara few Siamese settled at Mergui,
and a great many in Tavoy, that within the last thres
years the Siamess made an incursion close to the
Gates of Mergui, and took the Burmese second in
Command, who is at present a Piisoner in Bangkok.

They also pretend that the Court of Bangkok is
quite indiff: garding  the ion of any
portion of the Coast of Tenasserim, and had only been
making incursions into that territory for many years
past because it belonged to their inveterate Enemies
the Rurmese.

The present Rajah of Perak is a weak Prince, and
bis Bindahara applied to the Chow Pya of Ligoro for
assistance azainst Salangore, a relative of the Rajah of
which place, Tuanko Hussein, has established himself
in the territory of Perak at the mouth of the principal
River. The Detachment which was sent two years
ago from Kedah was defoated by the Rajah of
Salangore, who came up from Balangore and attacked
the Troops of Ligore. Another application has been
lately made to Ligore by the Bindahara of Perak,
who has offered to send a Bunga Mas to Siam, and
the Chow Pya is now fitting out a large fleet of Boats
to attack the Rajah of Salangore, as well as to occupy
the Country of Perak. Ligore has not at present
more than 6 or 700 Siamese Troops, throughout the
territory of Kedah,
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The Siames: Dominions on the Eastern Shores
between Ligore and Pachpuri, are remarkably thinly
peopled, and Ligoro itself hias but a scanty population.
The Pya of Chimpohun is not allowed to trade, and
that placa since the conquest Ly the Burmese of
Mergui and Tavoy appears to have been converted into
a purely Military Post or Garrison. This acconnts for
the entire cessation of that valuable trade which
formerly passed between Mergui and the Gulf of Sian.

Kral is a small town inland between Rinnong
and Chianya under o Luang of Chineso extraction, and
although not set down in any Chart or Map that [

have ever seen, the name of Isthmus of Kraw appears
to have been taken from it.

There has arisen o violent personal enmity be-
tween the Chow Pya of Ligore, and the Pya of
Singora, and the former had placed the latter in chains,
which were lately taken off in consequenca of the

death of the King of Siam, upon which event according
to the established custom of the State, every prisoner
was released.  From this circumstancs the Siamese at
Kedah state the report of the ng mfluence of the
Pya of Singora at Siam has oviginated.  There is no
doubt however that the Pya of Singor is an old
friend and playfellow of the present King of Siam :
nevertheless it is believed that as the Chow Pya is
mueh more wealthy then the Pya of Singora, and has
wife to Siam with very rich presents, and

deputed his
is preparing to follow her with still more valuable
presents, he will suceeed in retaining his influence
awd credit at that corrupt Court.

All the Chiefs of the Siamese States have been
summoned to attend Bangkok within two months for
the purpose of assisting at the Ceremony of buming
the remains of the late King of Siam.
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Since writing the above, I have met with Luang
Took Krat, a Minister belonging to the Chief of
Taccopa, who has confirmed nll that T had collected at.
Kedah, and has farther told me that although his
Master is styled by many people Pya, he is in fact a
Pral only, and is unwilling to be called by the other
title, from an appreliension that it will excite jealousy
aud envy among the other Chiefs, This Luang has
undertaken to convey letters and presents from me to
his Master immodiately, and to propare him for my visit,

The Chow Pya of Ligore does not give entire
credit to the English having captured so many Burmese
places, and in fact suspects, that the report of our War
with Ava is spread in view only that an Officer from
Penang may be able to cross and see the Country
between Ligore and Kedah.

(Signed) H. BURNEY
Political Agent to the Siamese States,
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 3 February 1825.

THE tollowing Minute by the President with
Letters to the Siamese Chiefs is recorded,

MINUTE BY THE PRESIDENT.

As it appeared to me, after the pernsal and consi-
deration of Captain Burney's report, that the letters
addressed to the neighbouring Chiefs should be some-
what more full and explanatory as | ta] the objects of
his Mission, and the general subjects connected there-
with, the War with the Burmese, and the occupation
of Tayoy and Mergui. 1 directed accordingly the
letters, of which the translations are now laid before
the Board, to be prepared,

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON

31 January 1825,
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TO THE SON OF THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

Tothesonot To

Ligore at Kedah. The Son of the Rajah of Ligore at
KEDAH.

The Governor of Penang has received the letter
which the Buginda Muda residing at Kedah has sent
him by Captain Burney, and he has to thank the
Buginda Muda for the determination which he ex-
presses to apprehend and punish the Robbers and
Pirates that infest the Sezas and Countries to the
Northward of Penang.  The Governor also thanks the
Buginda Muda for the civility and attention which he
has shewn to Captain Burney, and regrets that that
Officer was not allowed to go across the Country to
Ligor to communicate with the Chow Pia upon many
important particulars regarding the War in which the
English are at present engnged against Ava. He
hopes however that the Chow Pia will hear from
Achong such intelligence as will induce him im-
mediately to give Captain Burney a meeting. The
British Government is very anxious of explaining
every particular regarding the Burmese to the Siam-
ese, with whom it has g0 long been on the most
endly terms; and now that it is engaged in hos-
es against their mutual ensmies the Burmese, the
Governor of Penang is confident that the King of Siam
will be most happy to receive authentic intelligence as
the views and prozeedings of the British forces which
have occupied Cheduba, Negrais, Rangoon, Dalla,
Pegn, Martaban, Yek, Tavoy, Mergui, and Tenassorim,
and he has commissioned Captain Burney to communi-
cate very fully all such particulars to every Siamese
Chief in the neighbourhood of Penang, in order that
there may arise no doubt or suspicion of any kind in
the minds of the Siamese, and that the long subsisting
harmony between the Siamese and English may become
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more firm and permanent. It is the duty therefore of
every Siamese Chief to hear all that Captain Burney
has been ordered to communicate and to report it
ax soon as possible to the King of Siam.

The Governor of Penang is happy to hear from
Captain Burney that the Briginda Muda is willing to
put a stop to the sale of stolen property at Kedal, and
to and deliver up to the Governor of Penang
all Pirates and Robbers that may fly to the territory

of Kedah from Penang, and the Governor engages to
issue the same orders as the Briginda Muda may
issue at Kedah, with respect to Robbers and Pirates
taking shelter at Penang or the Honble. Company’s
territory from Kedal, and with respect to persons
selling property stolen fram Kedah.,

But the Governor of Penang is sorry to hear from
Captain Burney that the Native Trade between Kedal
and Penang is much oppressed by the exactions of
<ome Chulia and Chinese Servants of the Briginda
Muda at Kedah, and that thé valnable trade which
formerly passed overland between Kedal and Ligore
from Penang, is now entirely stopped, in consequence
of all persons being prohibited to cross the Country
withont the previous permission of the Chow Pia of
Ligore. The Governor hopes that the Briginda Muda
will and premote ( at Kedah, in
the same manner as it [ is] enconraged and promoted
at Penang, Dy fixing a regular Schedule of Duties,

punishing all persons who may extort unauthorized
fees, and permitting every Trader to go and come
whenever and wherever he  pleases without any
trouble or hindrance,

Lastly, the Governor of Penang trusts, that from
the confidence and good terms that now subsist be-
tween Kedah and Penang, and from Captain Burney's
being an old friend of the Chow Pia of Ligore, that
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the Briginda Muda will give letters of introduction to
the Chiefs of Phoonga, Tacowpa and Chimpohun, in
order that they also may become acquainted as friends
with every particular regarding the Burmese War, and
regarding the occupation of Tavoy and Mergui by the
British Troops; and he is happy to learn that the
Briginda Muda lias resolved upon ordering two of his
servants to accompany Captain Burney towards
Mergui, for the purpose of acyuiring full and complete
intelligence as to the War carrying on between the
English and the Burmese, the ancient and  bitter
Euenies of the Siamese.

(Sigued) R, FULLERTON
Governor.
Translated by
(Sd) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt,
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TO THE PIA of CHIMPOHUN and other CHIEFS.

Pia of Chimpohun, Pia ot Tacoopa, Pia of Tucatoon
the Alnang of Kraw, and Chow Pia ot Ligore.

The Governor of Penang has thought it proper to
depute Captain Burney to the Pia of Clnmpohuu inor-
der to i to the Piai
reganding the War in which the English aro at present
engaged agninst Ava, and he hopes the Pia will reccive
Captain Burney with the same hospitality and good
will which every Siamese visiting Penang, or any
other British Port, has always experienced, and may be
certain of experiencing from the English.

The British Government is very desirous of ex-
phaining every particular regarding the Burmese War to
the Siamese, with whow it hasso long been on the most
friendly terms, and now that it is engaged in hostilities
against their mutual enemies the Burmese, the Gover-
nor of Penang is confident that the King of Siam will
be most happy to receive authentic intelligence as to
the views and procesdings of tho British forces which
have occupied Cheduba, Negrais, Rangoon, Dalla,
Pegue, Martaban, Yek, Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim,
and he has commissioned Captain Burney to com-
municate very fully all such particulars to every
Siamese Chief in the neighbourhood of Penang, in
order that there may arise no doubt or suspicion of any
kind in the minds of the Siamese, and that the long
subsisting friendship and harmony between the Siameso
and English, may become more firm and permanent.
It is the duty therefore, of every Siamese Chief, to
hear all that Captain Burney has been ordered to com-
municate, and to report it as soon as possible to the
King of Siam ; and the Governor of Penang trusts that
Pya Phoonga will not only note down and report to
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Bangkok all that Captain Burney may relate, but assist
Captain Burney to give the same important information
to all the Siamese Chiefs between Mergui and Phoonga,
in order that the English on the Coast of Tenasserim
may be considered as friends to the Siamese, and that
the Siamese may know that if they move their forces in
the direction of Aungwa and Moneh from Bangkok and
Chenng-mai, they will have an opportunity of securing
great advantage for themselves over their ancient and
bitter enemies the Burmese,

Captain Burney will deliver some tokens of friend-
ship and good will from the Governor of Penang to the
Pin of Poongha, and communicate either to the Govern-
ment of Bengal, or to the Governor of Penang, any
thing that the Pia will have to communicate.

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON
Governor.,
Translated by

(S1.) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Got.
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TO THE PIA OF POONGHA.

“To tho Pia of Pia of Poongha.
Poongha.

The Governor of Penang takes the carliest
opportunity of thanking the Pia of Poongha for the
civility and politeness with which he received some
months ago, the Governcr's Agent Captain Low ; and
he now deputes Captain Burney to Poongha, in order
to communicate to the Pia important information
regarding the War in which the English are at
present engaged against Ava, and to hope the Pin will
receive Captain Burney with his usual kindness and
attention. The British Government is very desirous

of explaining every garling the Burmese
War to the Siamese, with whom it has so long been
on the most friendly terms, and now that it is engaged
in hostilities against their mutual enemies the Burmese.

[ From this point to the end, the document is a
copy of the letter add, to the Pia of Chimpohun. |




Minute by M.
Clubley,
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 3 February 1825,

The following Miunute by Mr. Clubley, proposing
the discontinuance of any further Proceedings on the
subject is recorded,

MINUTE BY MR. CLUBLEY.

When the Mission of Captn, Burney to the
Siamese States was proposed by the President, |
certainly declined recording my dissent, to the mea-
sure, from respect to the high authority of the Supreme
Government, undor whose recommendation that officer
was appointed to the trust, and under a hope that the
important interests which were supposed to be involved
in the Mission, would justify its adoption. The
return of that Officer, and his Report of Proceedings
at Kedah, oblige me however now to say, that
I look upon the continmance of such a Mission
not. only as impolitic, but as improper. It is impo-
litic because it appears to me that no ultimate
good can vesult from it, while the Deputation of a
British Officer, for purposes which are unattainable
with the petty States on this Coast, can only lead
them to unreasonable expectations, and perhaps in-
volve us in a way which may be ultimately incon-
venient. It has the appearance also of a solicituda
for assistance, which none of these States can afford,
and even if ultimately given, will rove too late to
be of any avail. Tt is quite quite unreasonable
to suppose that the Siamese Court and its de-
pendent Governments have not been fully aware
of onr hostilities with Ava, as well as with the
progress of our Arms, and if they had been dis~
posed to take advantage of the opportunity, there
has been ample time to enable them to do so in a way
that might have been useful to us, and advantageous
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to themselves. The Mission is improper on these
grounds, and also becauss the expense of it is certain,
without any probability of a proportionate advantage.

We have before us in Captain Bumey's report §
Sheets of Paper full of that sort of information which
has been given in every preceding Mission to Kedah,
with particulars regarding the Conntry, which could
have been casily gleaned from the 1st Volume of the
Penang Records, from the more voluminous reports of
Mr. Crawfurd of his Mission to Siam in 1822, and
from the practical result of Lieutt. Low's Mission of
last year, the Report of which is on record. Besides
which the opportunities afforded to Lieutt. Low in his
last, and in his present visits to the Northward will
have placed the Siamese in full possession of our views
and objects in the War with Ava, as he circulated
Translations in the Siamese Language of the Pro-
clamation of War, and actually invited their assistance.
1 think it will be time enough when Lieutenant Low
returns from Mergui to judge whether another Mission
for the same purpose is now expedient, after Govern-
ment. shall have received his Reports of the feelings
and sentiments of the diff:rent Siamese Chieftains
with whom he may have had intercourse.

We have received also from Captain Burney a
Sketeh of the Siamese Empire, derived as usual from
Native information, and therefore likely to mislead
from its vagueness and uncertainty.

The names of Native Authorities and Potentates,
under the Siamese Government, may be correctly
described, as may perhaps also Captain Burney’s cor-
rection of Mr. Crawfurd's report regarding the present,
King of Siam.

The personal character of the young Chief at
Kedah, and of his Ministers may also be satisfac-
torily described by Captain Burney, as well as the
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state of the Country, and the price of poultry ;
but T cannot think that such ohjects so frequently
hefore descanted on, can be of sufficient consideration
for an expensive Mission, not even if the Private
Lives and Adventures of all the Chiefs and Ministers
between this and Mergai were added to the Report.
I decidedly object to the measure adopted by Captain
Burney of sending an wnaccredited Chiness Person to
Ligore upon & Mission, which required all the delicacy
he himself conld have bestowed upon it.

Captain Burney has moreover ** candidly acknow=
ledgel ” in his Report an opinion that “from this
* Coast it will be impossible to communicate with the
“ Chief of Singora, and that it is not likely ho will
“be allowed to pass across the Country to Ligore:”
Forall practical purposes, therefore, of utility and of
#eneral policy, the present Mission might terminate.
The problematical result of any endeavour to penctrate
across the Conatry from the ** Rinnong River” to
“ Chimpohun ™ can be of no public benefit as respects
the objects of Government referable to the present
Burman War. Far better would it have been if
Colonel Snow had been allowed to carry into effect the
objects of this Giovernment with the Siamese States,
and eventually with Siam itself, against which the
S G s0 decidedly objected.

The conduct and proceedings of the young
Prince at Kedal, as well as of all the petty States
to the Northward, will be entirely regulated by the
orders of the Rajah of Ligore, and it is quite certain
that that haughty Chief is equally bound by the in-
structions of the Court of Siam. We may receivo
from the Rajah of Ligore, and from the tributary
Siamese Chieftains abundant expressions of good will
and professions of regard which are quite unmeaning,
and in no case to be relied upon, without the authori-
tative orders of their Lord and Master at Siam, who
can only be courted at his Capital. His dependent:
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J\llmx,h-re will of course receive with nvuhlv all com-
v Embassies, but the sub

to ourselves is not obtainable from such a mode of

Intercourse,

( Signed ) W. A, CLUBLEY

THE BOARD resolves that the subject Tiw over
until Reports of his facther proceedings are received
from the Political Agent.
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 3 February 1825,

AGENT to the SIAMESE STATES.

Agent to the To
Slamese States
2d Pobry. 1825. W.S. CRACROFT Esquire

Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

1 beg leave to apprize you for the information of
the Honorable the Governor in Council, that on my
late visit to Kedal, I engaged a small schooner of 12
or 14 Tons burthen, to accompany me—that, in view
to incur as little expense as possible, three of the Crew
belonging to the Honorable Company’s Brig Jessy
were put into her to man her, and that I derived
important assistaree from this Vessel. I was in hopes
of again being able to avail myself of such a benefit
without any immediate outlay, but the Commander of
the Jessy being unwilling to spars any of his crew, I
have to solicit the Honble. the Governor in Coancil
will authorize me to entertain an intelligent Seacunny
and four Tascars, for the purpose of manning the
Schooner above referred to and to incur an expense
not exceeding 100 Drs. per month on account of her,

Referring to the feail condition of the H. C. Brig
Jessy, and to the necessity which will exist for my
keeping close to the shore, and entering some distance
into Rivers wherever the Seat of o Siamess Chief is in
the interior, T submit the presenca of sucha Schooner,
or other decked Boat is indispensable for the due
execution of my Mission. Perhaps the Honorable the
Governor in Council may, in lien of authorizing the
expense which I propose, direct the Gun Boat lately
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built for the Honble. Company to accompany me.

T have &c.
(Signed) H. BURNEY
Poll. Agent to the Siamese
P. W. Island States
21 Feby. 1825,

RESOLVED that the authority solicited be
granted, instructions being given against exceeding the
-above expense, and for limiting the charge incurred
to as economical o scale as possible.
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_—— FORT CORNWALLIS The 17 February 1825,
Straits Settle- e
ments, Vol. 90, N
Pr-398-408. RAJAH of LIGORE.

Rajah of Ligore
20 January 1825,

Translation

of aletter from the Rajah of Ligare to the Honble.
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island.

( After Compliments. )

The reply to my letter which my friend returned
by Aluang Ram Dicho, Kon Akeoon and Nei Neem,
expressive of his desire to promote a friendly under-
standing with me has been duly received, and the
contents fully understood.

The successes of the English in their hostilities
against the Kingdom of Ava, I am extremely rejoiced
to learn ; for Ava and Siam can never Lo at peace, or
preserve a good understanding.

T am anxious to know what is the causo of the
English having quarrelled with Ava, and T am also
desirous to learn how many of the Burman Countries,
havo been already taken by the English. 1 should
like to be informed also, as to the nature of the in-
tended attack, and the preparations which have heen
made by the English for the capture of the capital of
Ava. I request, therefore, that my friend will inform
me of these particulars by letter, for the Siamese will
be happy to hear that Ava has been overcome by the
English.

When the Kingdom of Ava has been completely
subdued by the English, the Siamese will be very
happy and be enabled to trade with greater facility., I
am anxious to establish friendship and cordiality with
my friend, more close and intimate than formerly.
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Aluang Ram Dicho, Kon Aksoon, and Nai Neem,
who conveyed my last ltter, mentioned to e that
my friend wanted some small I’rows to send up and
co-operato in the Ava River, and that he also required
somo elephants at Penang. If my friend wishes to
have Prows to the number of ten, twenty, or thirt;
and clephants for amusement at Pulo Penang, he will
be pleased to send me a letter, and T will send them.
in onder to adhere to, amd promote friendship and

oo will.

1 herowith send o Kundi (a Silver Water Pot
inlaid with thin Gold ) of the manufacture of Siam.
which 11 fend. and
Deg he will aceapt, using it as hs pleases, as a token

. to present like o flower to 1
of regand.

Further, it is mentioned in my friend's letter
that there have heen o great number of Pirates and
Rabbers, who have been committing depredations, and
taken refugo in Kedah, 1 have sent o letter there,
directing search to be made for them, and the seizare
of their persons—if discovered they shall be punished

acconding to castom,

There is a person of the namc of To Jahan, a
Native of Purlis. also a Panglima Saiband a Panglima
Bahar, from a place called Temblang ( Dependencies
of the Kedah Country ) who were under my ordors
and control formerly—they have fled and taken refuge
in the territory attached to Pulo Penang, together
with Che Allang, Che Akeel, Che Musa, and Che Jaya,
Inhabitauts of the Kangkawi Islands—these people
have concerted together to commit piracies, and to
attack trading Prows, robbing and plundering the
Birds Nests at the Islands from which I derive o
Revenue.

Moreover, with respect to Rajah Antah, Rajal
Oosman, Rajah Kahar, Fakir Saib and Nga Manid
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alluded to in my friend's letter—T have sent a letter
to Kedah directing that they shall be watched and
seized—but they dare not continue long in the Kedah
territory—they make piratical and plundering incur-
sions and then fly.

All these people have conveyed their wives and
families to reside at Prye, Teluk Ayer Tawar, Tanjong
Tokong, Teluk Jelutang, Sungei Glugore, and Sungei
Kluang, under the Government of Pulo Penang, and
my friend having but lately acrived may not perhaps
be aware of this.

The person who is charged with this letter is well
acquainted however with the resort of these people,
and T request my friend will enquire of him, If my
friend wishes to svizo these people without difficulty,
it may certainly be accomplished.

I therefore beg my friend who governs Pulo Pen-
ang, to seize all these pirates and robbers and send
them to Kedah, according to long established custom.
When these evil disposed people are removed, the
Commercial intercourse between Pulo Penang and
Kedah will be improved and easy. All that is herein
stated, T submit for the consideration of my friend,
in order that lie may decide upon promoting entire
friendship.

There is another point. So long as the Rajah of
Kedah has been residing at Pulo Penang, all these
wicked people who have fled, take a pleasure in
conveying false reports to Pulo Penang, in order to
create a bad feeling and enmity between the English
and Siamese.  What I now profess T assert with real
sincerity and a friendly disposition—that from this
timo should any person bring any intelligence of such
a nature, and endeavour to promote discord and division
between the English and Siamese, T request my friend
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will seize the person bringing such reports, confining
him and sending me intination in order that I may be
enabled to point out satisfactorily to my friend, the
falsity of any such reports of my evil designs. I
again repeat that what I now declare, is with the
utmost sincerity, a3 a token of truth, and in ovder
that friendship and good will may be promoted and
continued from this time forward,

Dated 201h Jemadilanal in this year 1240—20th
Jenuary 1825,

Ma'ay Translator's Office
Penang
Tho 11th Fibrury 1825,

A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Note —This letter was received yesterday at noon.
Ttisareply to the Honorable the Governor's dated
13th December last, The Original is in Malay. The
Rajih of Lgore has sent a complimentary present of
a Silver Cup inlaid with Gold by the Messengers to
the Malay Translator.

(Signed) J. A.
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:""”.' FORT CORNWALLIS The 17 February 1825.

Straits Settle-

ments, Vol. 99,
PP 406-8.

Son of the Rajah SON of the RAJAH of LIGORE.
of Ligore at

Kedah i1,
Febry. 1825,

Translation

of a letter from the Son of the Rajah of Ligors at
Kedah to the Honorable Robert Fullerton Bsynire
Governor of Pulo Penang.

(After Compliments.)

I have reccived my friend’s lotter brought by
Captain Burney, and understand fully all its contents:
With respect to the Pitate Prows which have been
attacking trading Vessels, and committing depreda~
tions to the Northward of Palo Penang, 1 have sent
my friend’s letter to the Chow Pia of Ligore, and
whatever reply he may return upon that subject, shall
be communicated to my friend.

Farther, my friend mentions that tho Chinese and
Choolishs commit extortions at Kedah on traders: T
had not formerly heard of this, nor had any repre-
sentations been made to me upon the subject ; but now
that I am informed of such heing the case, I shall give
orders for preventing their being guilty of such
practices in future, Do not lat my friend be
suspicious,

With respect to my friend's request, that I should
write letters to the Pia of Poongha, and the Praws of
Tacoopa and Taccatoon, and send them by Captain
Burney, I will do as my friend requires.  With respect
to Captn. Burney whom my friend mentions as
desirous of proceeding immediately to wait on the
King of Ligore, I consulted with him to send over
China Achong with some of my people, to inform
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the Ciiow Pia of Ligore, and [ have since dispatched
other Messengers  to convey the information to
the Rajzh of Ligore. If he sends a reply I will
conform to whatever directions it may contain, and
will inform wy friend accordingly, for it is tho Rajal
of Ligore's onler that previous intimation shall be
sent him of the intentions of any person wishing
to procecd to meet him.

Dated Friday 11th February 1825.
A True Translation

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
15 Feby. 1825,

THE HCZORABLE THi2 GOVERNOR ac-
«quaints the Board, that the Bearers of the Letter from
Ligore have requested an interview with him, when
he will preparve o lettter to the Chow Pia and acquaint
them that unless Captain Burney is received and
admitted to a conference, this Government will decline
granting a sirailar reception to any more Envoys from
that State.
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS The 17 February 1825,
Rocords,
Stralts Bettles — o .

SUPT. of POINT WELLESLEY.

To W. 8. CRACROFT Esq.

Acting Secretary to Government,

8ir,

I deem it my duty to report, for the information
to the Honorable the Governor in Council, that during
the past week, upwards of fifty of the former in-
habitants of Pulai have entered Wellesley Province,
having fled from their homes to prevent being foreibly
carried away by the Forces under the authority of the
Rajah of Ligore, and that at least two hundred more
may be shortly expeoted.

It appears that the Siamese authorities at Kedah
have sent orders to the Shabundar of Pulai to collect:
200 men, and place them under the orders of the
Siamese Authorities in the neighbourhood of Perak.
No immediate object is avowed for demanding this
force, but the prevailing opinion is, that it is intended
to assist in the long threatened attack on Salangore,

I have &e. &c.
(Signed) A. D, MAINGY

Supt. of Point Wellesley.

Point Wellesley
the 15 February 1825.
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THE OBJECT now in view by the Siamese Au-
thorities, appearing to the Board to be fraught with
injury to the British Interests, and to be nearly the
final step to the complete subjugation of the Malay
Peninsula—

IT IS AGREED, that a Special Report of the
progress of the Siamese Conijuests be again made to
the Right Honorabls the Governor General in Council,
more | larly with refe to the approaching
transfer of Malacca, and the Treaties and relations
subsisting between that Settlement and the States of
Salangore and Rumboy.
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FORT CORNWALLIS Tho 28 February 1825,

—_—

To the Rajah of LIGORE,

Letter
from the Honble, Robert Fallerton Esq. Governor of
Prince of Wales Island to the Rajah of Ligore,

The Governor of Pulo Penang hns received the
letter from the Rajal of Ligore brought by his Messen-
#er Kon Aksoon and the Governor regrets that His
Highness did not permit Captain Low to proceed
Across to meet him and communicate with him upon
the subject of Boats which were required some months
ago. These Boats would have been of much use at,
that time in perating against the B lis at
Rangoon. The time is now passed however. The
British troops have been very successful and a great,
number of Boats have been obtained. The elephants
which His Highness offers also are not at  present
required, Dt if the public Service should render it
necessary, the Governor will avail himself of His
Highness's offer.

With respect to His Highness's enquiries relative
to the Burmah War, and other matters alluded to in
his letter, Captain Burney has been deputed to Lim
for the express purpose of entering fully into the
detail of all matters connected with the war, as well ag
the explanation of the mutual advantages that may
result, not less to the Siamese than the British
G by its inati

The Governor of Pulo Penang thercfore trusts that
the Rajah of Ligore will receive Captain Bumey as
an accredited Agent of the British Government, and
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fully aud confidentially with him npon all
the present subjects of discussion, and the Governor
thinks it proper to add. that unless His Highness
receives Captain Burney, it will be inconsistent with
the Governor's daty tu receive any Envoys from
His Highness in future.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON

Governor.

Penang

18 Febry. 1825,



Factory
Records,
Straits Scttie-

PP, 543-8.

Momorandum of
ation
with tho Ligere

a Conve

Env
Fobry. 182

i
5.

4]
FORT CORNWALLIS The 28 February 1825,

THE HONORABLE THE GOVERNOR sub-
mits the following Memorandum of a Conversation
between him and the Envoys from Ligore.

MEMO: of CONVERSATION with
LIGORE ENVOYS.

Memorandum
of o Conversation between the Honble, the Governor
of Penang, and the Bavoys from the Rajah of Ligore,
on Friday the 18th February 1825,

The Honorable the Governor mentioned that lis
had perused the Jotter from His Higlness of Ligoro
hrought by the Euvoys, and that the Boats which
were now offered would have been very acceptable
some months ago, when Captain Low proceeded to
‘Trang for the purpose of procuring them. Since that
period lowever, the British Army had been very
successful against the Burmahs and we had captured
many of their principal Scaport Towns, The Govern-
ment would thereforo decline the offer of Prows or
Elephants at present, but should they be required
hiereafter, e would acquaint His Highness,

The Bnvoys replied that in consequence of the
Honble. the Governor's enguiries when they wero last
here, they had mentioned the objsct of Captain Low's
Mission, which he had declined to communicate fully,
and hence the disapoointment in procuring Prows,
whicl the Rajah of Ligore expressed a desire to supply
the moment e was informed by thom that they wers
wanted, and they added that thero was a ship at Trang
and a schooner at Quedal, which the Governor might
also have, if he wished.
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The Governor stated that he had sent Captain
Burney to i fully and confidentially with
the Raja of Ligore upon the subject of the Burmah
War, the King of Quedah, Pirates and other matters
alluded to in His Highness's letter and he therefors
recommended the Envoys to return without delay and
make this known to His Highness, so that he might
receive Captain Burney. The Governor added, that if
Captain Burney was not received as he expected, e
could not receive any more Siamese Envoys, but he
had no doubt that if the Rajah of Ligore gave him a
meeting every thing wonld be satisfactorily explained.

The Envoye assured the Governor that His High-
ness had a great rospect for the Governor, and was
desirous of conforming to his wishes. His Highness
was also acquainted with Captain Barney, and they
had little doubt the Rajah would permit that officer to
go across.

The Governor next enquired for what purpose so
many Boats were fitted out at Trang, Queda, Lingow,
Sitool and Putlis.  The Euvoys replied they had been
fitted out in expectation of an attack from the
Burmahs,

The Governor expressed a suspicion that they
avere destined to attack Salangore, and reminded the
Envoys that Malacea was about to be occupied by the
English ; that Treaties existed between that Settlement
and Salangore and Perak, and that any hostilities by
the Rajah of Ligore against these States would not
Vo regarded with indiffzrence by the British Govern-
ment. He therefore requested the Envoys to caution
the Rajah of Ligore against sending any force to the
Southward of Penang.

The Envoys replied that Perak was already in
possession of the Siamese, and that the Rajah of
Ligore would of eourse acquaint the Governor of his
intention of proceeding further before he did so.
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The Envoys after repeatedly expressing  the
friendly feelings entertained by the Ligore Rajah
towards the Governor, his anxiety to conciliate his
favor, and requesting him not to credit any reports at.
variance with His Highuess's professions, and to
seize any Natives who brought reports unfavorable to
him, adverted to the Piracies committed by the
Malays in this quarter, and expressed an anxiety that
the Chiefs should bo seizod.

The Governor informed them that he was using
his utmost endeavours to suppress Piracy, and that
additional Vessels had been, and would be employed
for that purpose.

The Governor again repeated that his Agent
Captain Burney would explain everything, and the
head Envoy promised to return in four days to expedite
the reception of Captain Burney by the Rajah of
Ligore.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang

18 Febry. 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 28 February 1825,

THE RIGHT HONORABLE
William Pitt Lord Ambherst
Governor General in Council
FORT WILLIAM.
My Lonl,

We have the lonor to transmit for the informa-
tion ot your Lordship in Council the annexed Copy of
a letter © from the Superintendant of Point Wellesley
Province, reporting that an attack which has been for
some time meditated by the Rajah of Ligore is now
likely to be put in exccution against the Stats of
Salangore.  Whether the
approaching transfer of Malacea ave tempted to pre-
sume that the Netherlands Government of that place

amese being aware of the

will not deem it worth while to support the interests
of its ally by active weasures in his behalf, or whether
they are anxious to reduce that State to subjection
session of the neighbouring
anot fail to be productive

previous to our taking pos

Tersitory, their success ¢
of efficts extremely detrimental to the British
interests, and caleulated indeed to mullify all the
advantages Political and Commercial which it has
Leen the object of the Framers of the new Treaty to
obtain for us with those Countries.

2. In the Dispatch of your Lordship in
Council dated the 19 November last, it is justly
regretted  that circumstances should have brought
us in immediate contact with the Siamese power at
one point of our Possessions. If (as is almost
certain) from the weakness of the Rajah  of
Salangore, they succeed in establishing themselves
there, we shall be also in contact with them
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at our Settlement next to the Eastward, Malacea, not
only so but Salangore having fallen, Rumbow and
Johore will it is feared fall an casy prey. The
Siamese Government will border on and be only
divided by a shallow and inconsiderable channel from
the island of Singapore, and our three Settlements
becomo as it were insulated by that jealous and
haughty race of people. The rich productions of the
interior of the Peninsala will be intercepted by that
monopolizing spirit which has always characterizod
that Nation, and we shall become dependent on them
for every Article of Commerce or Supply which they
enjoy by any other conveyance than that of a long Sea
voyage.

3. On the renewal of the Alliance btwesn the

Netherlands Government and Salangoro in the year

1819, an Agent was deputed from hence at the request

of His Higlness the Rajah. Copies of the correspon-

dence which took place on that occasion between the

Governor of this Presidency and that Chief—the

Proceedings of the Agent and the Treaties between

® Not in this  Salangore and Malacea form enclosures ® in this die-

vel.These  patch, and will servo to shew the intimate connection
wapers appear

4nvolL70and  subsisting between those two Governments.

will be coplod

e . TifieiCormespondnss whish bople place between

Major Farquhar and the Rajah of Rambow ( a Country

to the Southward of Salangore but inland from Malacea)

in the years 1816 and 1817 shew a mors immediate

connection and dependence on the part of that weak

Malayan State on its more powerful European neigh-

Vour. Copies of this Correspondence are likeswise

® Thiscorres- enclosed ¢ for the information of your Lordship in

e el Countil.

and has not

Bosn copled.

5. From the letter which we had the honor to
address to your Lordship in Council under date 18th
January, it will be seen that we entertained hopes
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that the early occupation of Malacca by British
Authority would have prevented the Siamese Chief of
Ligore from attempting the subjngation of that State,
and extending the Siamese Dominions in that direc=
tion; from the nature of the intimation now received,
fears may be entertained that the event may precedo
our taking possession of Malacea, and considering that;
the relations to be observed in respect to the Malayan
States in that neighbourhood will probably become
the first question for the consideration of the person
to whom the charge of that new Sottlement may bo
entrusted by your Lordship in Council, it seems
advisable that no time should be lost in submitting
the information and the Documients on onr Records
connected with this question, In respect to any
measure to be pursued by us pending reference to the
Supreme Government relating to Siamese encroach-
ments on the Peninsula, it may be observed, that
although, as already stated by us, we do not consider
the Government of Siam to have held over the King
of Kednh at the time of the cession of this Island such
a degree of legiti hority or Sup 'y a8 to
have barred the right of the King of Kedah to make
the cession, or to have authorized the subsequent;
expulsion of the King, yet as all those proceedings
have been virtually assented to by us, the restoration
of that Kingdom to its ancient, and to us most desir-
able state, can only now be the subject of negociation :
how far the same argument applies to the next
Southerly State of Perak is not certainly clear. It
appears that the Rajah of Ligore sent about 20 prows
there in Febrnary and March 1822. The Siamese and
some Malays remained there a few months. The
Rajoh of Salangore was requested by the King to
come up and assist him. He did so, and the
few Siamese who were at Perak and the renegade
Malays from Kedah wero completely oxpelled in
November or Decomber 1822. Since that time mno
farther attempts have been made by the Siamese to
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possess themselves of Perak till about 3 months ago,
when, at the very time the Ligore Rajah was sending
Envoys here ibly to iate for the it
of Kedah, he sent down 40 Siamese and about 300
Malays clandestinely overland to Perak, and oceupying
a Military Post thence infor nctual possession of the
Country. It is understood that tho form of renewinyg
the Treaty was gone throngh by the Dutch on their
return to Malacea, but it does not appear that they
took any measiires to defond the Country against tho
Siamese.  The State of Perak certainly was in alliancs
with the Dutch at Malacea, and as such may be con-
sideved within the scopo. of Political arrangements
connected with that Settlement, it cannot even now be
said to be in possession of the Rajah of Ligore, and its
subjugation has certainly not been recognized by the
British Government,

6. As regards Salangore, the course is still more
clear, The subject is still open for consideration, and
it seemed advisable therefore that a cautionary com-
munication should be made to the Chief of Ligore on
that point. It will be scen by the enclosed copy ofa
Memorandum of a Conversation between our President
and the Envoys sent here from Ligore, that they have
been distinctly informed that any hostile attempt on
Salangore under existing circumstances might possibly
be seriously noticed by the Supreme British Authority,
and we propose that a similar communication should
be made direct to the Rajah by Captain Burney. 1t
may be right to observe that the communication in
question has not been made with a view to any im-
mediate proceeding on our part, but merely to bar
any supposed recognition of the right of Conquest
which might hereafter interfers with the ulterior
arrangements directed by your Lordship in Council,
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We have the honor to be
My Lond
Yonur Lordship's most obedient
humble servants.
med) R FULLERTON,
W. A CLUBLEY.

Fert Cornwallis

The 28 Fehruary 1825,
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS The 11th March 1825.

Records,
Straltagettte: ™ ——
ments, Vol. 100,
Pp. 622-23,
RESIDENT at SINGAPORE,

dont at To
ngapore date - CRACRGET Fani
e W. CRACROFT Esquire
ary 1825-with Secretary to the Government
T Prince of Wales Tsland.
Sir,

T have the lonor to acknowledge the receipt of

Your Letter of the 28th Ultimo intimating the ap-

pointment of Captain Burney and transmitting the

instructions given to that Officer, together with the

Desparch of the Honble, the Governor in Council to

the Supreme Government touching the objects con-

nected with the nomination in question. 1 request

You will be pleased to submit my acknowledgements

to the Honble. the Governor in Conancil for the

valuable and instructive documents which he has been

Pleased to tianemit. for my perusal, and that you will

© Scolattortn lav before him the inclosed ract of a Despatch *

:;::::;-;:‘m to the Supreme Government, bearing upon the (uest-

tieal Consut-  jon of Siamese o]
ations Vol. 325,

dated 31 May I have &e. &e.
1820

(Signed ) J. CRAWFURD
Resident,
Singapore
23nd Pebruary 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS, The 11th March 1825.

G. SWINTON, E:quire
Seeretary to the Government

FORT WILLIAM
Poil. Dept.  Sir,

I have the honor to report for the information of
the Right Honorable the Governor General in Council
that the English Vessel Shannon arrived last night
from Siam, bringing a letter to my nddress from tho
Sinmese Minister of which a translation is herewith
annexed, as well as a Jetter from Mr. . . . ®of
which a copy is also transmitted. The Right Honble,

rom Mr. J. Gll-
Ties, 14 Jan, 1825, . =
in Bengal Becret the Governor General in Council will have the goodness

and Political e fi i i
hat the ents and ct evine

Cossittations, © obsf‘r\u that the sontiments 'md' conduct evinced by

vo.3se.  the Siamese Court as portrayed in the present cor-

respondenca are snch as were looked for at an early

period. T have reason now to hope that as the Siamese

become more assured of our suceess, and when the
results of the war shall appear no longer dubious, they
will proceed to render us useful assistance, such as
may bo of material service in harassing and distract=
ing the Enemy,and expediting the termination of

the contest.

1 have thought the present communication of
sufficient importance to warant me in taking up a
Despatch Boat to forwand it to . W. Island with the
view of overtaking a Ship bound for Bengal which
sailed from this Place on the 28th Ultimo, and which
was to have touched at that Place.
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Copy of this Despatch and of its Enclosures has
been transmitted to the Honble. the Governor of
Prince of Wales Island.

I have &e. &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD

Resident.
Singapore 3d March 1825,

(A True Copy)
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD Resident.
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FORT CORNWALLIS, The 11th March 1825,

The Tetter of Chao-Pia-Prali Klang first Minister
to His Majesty the King of Siam to John Crawfurd
Ewquire Resident of Singapore.

Your Letter informs me that your Nation is at
war with the Burmans, that the Euglish have captured
Rangoon. that the Burinaus juined their forces to take
the place in question, but found that the English had
abandoned it, and had marched towards Cheduba.
Ramree and Negrais, that the British Avmy left those
places. and proceeded towards Martaban, Mergui and
Tavoy, that the British Commander is well aware that
the Burmans ave great enemies to the Siamese, and
that if we assisted the English, they should feel ex-
tremely obliged to us, and report the same to the

Governor General of Bengal.

1 liave stated to His Ma
Tetter who said that he is glad that the English are at

esty the contents of your

war with the Burmans beeause they are our enemies.
while at the same time he remarked that as yet our
nation and the English are on good terms, and that

commerce between them was daily increasing.

Your Letter states that the English would be very
glad if we assisted them against the Burmans, This
las been done, and accordingly our Troops are ready
on the Western I'rontier to attack the Burmans.
Formerly it was the custom to send Chao Phain Maha
dotha the Peguan General with his Troops towards
the Northern Frontier to harass the Burmans
and to seize their encampments, houses &e. at
Martaban, Mergui, Tavoy and Tanso (Tenasserim)
and to learn from them the movements of the Burmans,
but now as His Majesty has heard that the English
are at Rangoon, he has therefore ordered Chao Phaia
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Maha Jotha to proceed towards Martaban, who on his
arrival found that the Siamese Troops were not there,
but had gone to Pegue and Tavoy.

Some persons arrived hero lately from Martaban,
Mergui and Tavoy who informed us that the English
had taken those Places, some have also come from
Pegue and Tavoy with our scouts to see their friends
and relations, and to remain as resident inhabitants.
The people of Pegne and Tavoy very often remove to
Siam on account of the tyranny of the Burmans.
Lately vast numbers have flocked here from the places
in question, altho' many have left their friends and
relations behind, but having heard that the English
had captured those places, they ars now returning fast.

Chao Phaia Maha Jotha on his way to Martaban
met the Euglish General, and nsked him if ho had
heard any thing regarding the Burmans, but could get
no news.

I send this letter in order to enable you to
inform tho British General that wo have sent an Army
into the Burman territory to help the English.

Si Yuthia
17th January 1825,
(A True Translation )
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD.
(A true Copy)
(Sigued) J. CRAWFURD.

Resident.
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS, The 11th March 1825.

Records,

Straits Settie-

ments, Veol, 100,
Pp. 850-3.

LIEUTENANT LOW at TAVOY.

(Extract.) To
The Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.
Sir,
. . . . . .
* Without aa- The Siamese seem quite averse® to any inter-

ference with the Countries in this direction which
apparently conquest has placed under British rule, and have
Arisingfrom  ade friendly advances to the Officer in Command at
gnoranca.
Martaban by sending in several Chiefs, two of whom
have gone on to Rangoon.

With reference therefore to the Siamese merely,
it may perhaps be deemed o superfluous measure to
detain me longer on this Coast than will be barely
sufficient to enable me to obtain information respecting
it and for this purpose it seems to me that six weeks
more will prove quite sufficient, fifteen days of which
period may be passed at Merghi.

. . . . . .
1 have &c. &e.
(Signed) JAMES LOW Lt.

Acting under the orders of the
Honble. the Governor in Council
of Prince of Wales Island.

TAVAI
10th February 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS, The 17 March 1825,

e

mants, Vol. 100,

Pp. 700-8.

Rajah of Ligore
14 rebry. 1825,

RAJAH of LIGORE,

Translation

of a letter from the Rajah of Ligore to the Honble.
Robert Fullerton Esquire Governor of Pulo Penang.

( After Compliments )

I have to acquaint my friend that Captain Burney
sent China Achong with a letter from the Governor of
Pulo Penang and one from Captain Burney himsolf,
averland from Quedah to Ligore. These I received
with satisfuction agreeably to tho rules of friendship
with the English, which may be prolonged. I under-
stand the contents of the letters.

It is mentioned in the letter of my friend the
Governor of Pulo Penang, that the English have been
successful against Ava and taken many Countries, and
that Captain Burney was sent as an Agent to repre-
sent the person of my friend the Governor of Pulo
TPenang, to concert with me and consult about Coun-
tries, and Capt. Burney mentions that the General
of Bengal ordered him to coms and consult about
establishing friendship. Captain Burney wanted to
meet me at Trang which I should be happy to do, so
that the English and Siamese might continue on terms
of friendship, and that the two Countries might remain
like one.

I have considered however, that if I went to Trang
just now, it would be too distant for my friend the
Governor of Pulo Penang, and it would be difficult to
transact any business. I shall come to Quedah to be
near my friend the Raja of Pulo Penang, in order that
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business may be easily transacted, and that friendship
may be increased more than formerly.

My mind is very sincerely disposed to promote
friendship and intercourse between the Siamese and
English, 1 intend, therefore, to proceed to Quedah
in 30 or 40 days, therefore leb my friend wait for the
present. When 1 arrive at Quedah, I will consider
liow I may conform to the wishes of the Governor of
Pulo Penang.

Farther, the Articles which China Achong brought
with him are a Neck lace and two Arin Bangles and a
Shawl, which I have received and kept as a token of
friendship. T cannot prepare any thing at present to
send in return, but shall do so when I go to Quedah.

Date 14: February 1825,
(A True Translation )
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transe. to Gost.
Penang
12: March 1825,
The style of the letter is very vague and less
courtecus than i merly, It is besides extremely ill
swritten which i ¢ nsidered rather disrespectful.

( Signed) J. A,

Transr.

THE BOARD concurring in opinion, that no
advantage is likely to be obtained, by further attempts
at communication and negociation with the Rajah of
Ligore

ORDERED that the following letter be disparched
to Captain Burney, with as little delay as possibl.,
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To
CAPTAIN BURNEY

Political Agent to the Siamese States.

To Capta, pur- Sir,

ney Political

Agent to Slamese

States—

I am directed to enclose copy of a letter received

17 Maren a2z, from the Rajali of Ligore and addressed to tho Honop

*?our

ston

able the Governor. This letter was received by
Achong the person deputed Ly you to Ligore, and a
Jetter addressed to yonrself by the Son of the Rajah
was at the same time received and forwarded to you
along with a public letter of the 4th Instaut.

From the tenor of the letter addressed to the
Honorable the Governor by the Rajah, very serious
floubts may be entertained whether it is the intention
of that Chief to admit you to any personal communica-
tion, the notification of an intended visit to Quedaly
forty days hence seeming indeed to put off any im-
mediate meeting.  Under these circumstances, there
appears o reasonable prospect of any ® opening n

communication of ® the various points which formed
the ehject of your Mission being effected through the
medium of the Rajal of Ligore. There scems litlo doubt
that the Rajah is now making extensive preparations
for the attack of Salangore and the strong expression
of friendship conveyed in terms so evasive, lead the
Honorable the Governor in Council to believe them
as intended merely to cover measures, which the
Chief is fully aware may not meet the ultimate appro-
Lation of the British Autlorities,

The Honorable the Governor in Council is of
opinion that no advantage is likely to attend tho con-
tinuance of any intercourse with the Rajali of Ligore,
and unless before the receipt of the letter, circums-
tances should have occurred to afford a better prospect,
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of an early and candid communication, it is the
desire of the Honorable the Governor in Council that
you should by letter take leave of that Chief, intima~
ting to him the anxious desire that has always been
ined by this G to maintain with
him constant and friendly communication, and mors
particularly at present on points in which the mutual
interests of the British and Siamese are concerned in
this neighbourhood, and the ding regret felt
by the Honorable the Governor in Council that the
disinclination evinced by him to meet you personally,
has precluded the ibility of such ication.

As to the intention expressed by the Rajah of
proceeding in forty days to Quedah, it may be enough
to observe to him generally, that this Government will
atall times bo happy to meet any serious disposition
shewn' by him to open a communication, and keop
alive the friendly relations now subsisting. As rgards
your ulterior proceodings in respect to any of the
other Chiefs in the neighbourhood, you will be guided
by the opinion you may entertain how far your com-
municating with them will promote, in any dogree,
the success of the ultimate measure of an Embassy to
the Capital, which will probably be resolved on by the
Right Honorable the Governor General.

1 am &e. &e.
(Signed ) E. A. BLUNDELL
Acting Secry. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis
the 17 March 1825.
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Minute by the
Presidont 21
March 1820,

[63]
FORT CORNWALLIS, The 24 March 1825.

MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

The Armed Schooner Commerce being ready for
Sea, I propose that she be dispatched with the letter
lately addressed to Captain Burney, call first at Quedaly,
proceeding if necessary to Traang and Phoonga, or
even to Mergui, should it be found that Captain
Burney has j led in that directi On delivering
the letter Captain Poynton will wait a sufficient time
to enable Captain Burney to reply, which it may
be expected will contain report of his proceedings,
Should it be found that Captain Burney has procoeded
up the Country, the letter may bo delivered to Mr.
Cuthbertson in the Jessy, as it is probable instructions
will have been left by him as to the manner of forward-
ing his letters ;—having fulfilled these instructions as
the case may require, Captain Poynton should be
directed to return to this Port, making report of his
Proceedings.

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON
21: March 1825.

THE SECRETARY reports, that the Master
Attendant was directed to dispatch the Commerce,
without loss of time, with the letters for Captain
Burney.
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TORT CORNWALLIS, The 7 April 1825.

cords,
Btraits Stile-
ments, Vol. 100, 1
Pp. 843-883. . .
READ the following Reports with a Geographical

Bongal Skul.cln from Cnptain Bnmev Political Aucnt to th--

Dated 2 April
1825,
Minuto by the MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.
President 71
Aprit 1825,

After an attentive perusal of Captain Burney’s
Report, 1 arrive at the following conclusions: that
althongh the influence of the Chi
Phungah is considera

s of Ligore and
and might have great weight
in determining points connected with the interests of

this Government yet from the relation in which they
stand, the

cannot be made the me

the fiual adjustment of the various points in di
with the Kingdom of Siam: That for the above
purpose an Embassy to Siam is indispensable:  That
such ean only be effected wnder direct powers from the
Supreme Government : That & previous communica-
tion with the Supreme Government is absolutely
necessary : the more especially as in the course of the
War, other points may arise of a more general nature,
and not exclusively connected with the a
Presidenc

of this

i That from the various communications
held with Captain Burney, that Officer is fully
acquainted with the general motives and views of this

Government in respect to them: That the Memo-
randum of Mr..Crawfurd may be taken as the basis of
negotiation with the exception of Article 7—that
Article scems to abandon the interests of the King of
Kedali, and to stipulate instead of them an increase of
territory for ourselves,
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It appears to me that our true policy is, lst to
keep up tho petty States now standing between us and
the Siamese Territory; 2nd to endeavour to restore
those which have been subverted, so as to prevent
our coming in contact with that power in this
neighbourhood. The restoration of the King of Kedal
is a point I consider no less consistent with true
policy, than essential to the credit and reputation of
Government as far as Political considerations are

1. The same arg apply to Perak, it
being understood that the Siamese from Ligoro are
actually in possession. Should the restoration of the
King of Kedah prove impracticable, then 1 am willing
to admit that a cession of the Territory stated by Mr.
Crawfurd wmight be advantageous, by interposing a
greater portion of Forest between us. The object of
holdiug Territory on the Continent opposite the Island,
was that we might command the Straits between the
Main land and the Island, and counteract the tendency
to plander and pircy otherwise open from the
proximity to an unsettled Country. I admit fully that
the belt of Land so occupied is too narrow, being
comprised within 3 Miles of the shore, and therefors
terminating just as the land emerges from Mangroves
and Swamps and becomes fiv for cultivation ; great,
no doubt, would be the advantage of some extension,
but certainly not of such consideration as to be an
argument against the more essantial object of re-
establishing, if possible, tho Malay Chiefships on
defined terms, that is to say, subject to the payment
of o fixed sum, to be guaranteed by us, and no other
mark of homage or subjection.

In resfect to Kedah, it may be observed that we
have pursued towards it rather a middle course, we have
notsupported the King in possession of his Country, but
wo have afforded to him protection and support by a
residence on the Island. The proximity to his King-
dom, the hopes still entertained by all the Malay
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Inbabitants of his ultimate restoration, tend to keep
up constant feelings of animosity, encournge partial
and unavailing opposition to the existing G

and bring upon us as the protectors of the exiled King,
the odium of encouraging them; there can hardly
be a question that the feelings so generated have led
to the distrust evinced by the Rajah of Ligore in his
communications. We are bound to do our utmost for
the restoration of the King, but if we fail, it may
remain for i ion, whether the resid. of the
King should not be fixed at a great distance from hi8
ancient dominions.

Perak being South of Kedah, the removal of the
Siamese is alike important. With Kedah between
them it is not likely the Siamese could maintain them-
selves at Perak, their withdrawal may therefore be
also a subject of negociation. In respect to Salangore,
as the Siamese of Ligors are not in posseseion, it may
be enough for us to act at once, and by a Treaty with
the Rajah debar the Siamese from any attempt on that
State. I concur in opinion with Captain Burney, that
the Conquest of Kedah, and the extension of Conquest
to the South are rather objects of the Rajah than of
the Court of Siam, and that the general advantages
to be derived by that State in other quarters, may be
made to outweigh the more immediate views of the
subordinate Chief. It is not likely that under existing

i the opposition of tho Authorities at
Malacea to the views of Ligore would be noticed by
the Court of Siam. It must be our endeavour,
however, to keep on friendly terms with Ligore, so as
toavoid the alternative of making him our Enemy,
and raising an influence against us, pending the
negociation.

The deputation of our accredited Agent to Siam
being determined on, the only question which remains
for idi is the most ient route. Unless
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it be deemed advisable with reference to other general
objects, that the deputation should proceed from the
immediate Seat of War, it appears to me that the offer
and services of the Chief of Phungah should be
made use of. The Chief of Phungah, or properly
speaking of Salang (Junk Ceylon)has a great interest
at stake in the success of the British Arms. That Island
and all tho neighbouring Continent has long been kept
in a state of constant alarm from the Burmahs, so as
to have entirely d the settling of Inhabil
there, and no advantage has hitherto resulted from its
occupation.  The successes of the British Arms on the
Coast of Tenasserim, and the interposition of a British
Force at Mergui afford him a degree of security never
before enjoyed. As regards the occupation of Mergui
and Tavoy by the British as Military Posts, with n
sufficient boundary, we have already stated our opinion
of the advantages, Political and Commercial, to by
derived from such occupation. The cession of the
rest of the Coast to the Siamese may be tendered as
the equivalent for the attainment of the main object
in this quarter. As a communication must be re-
ceived from Bengal before further steps can be taken ;
it appears to me most advisable that Captain Burney
should proceed thither himself, to lay beforo the
Supreme Government the valuable information he has
procured, and be guided by the further Instructions
he may receive.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON.
T April 1825,
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MINUTE by MR. CLUBLEY.

1 quite agree with the Honorable the President,
that nothing farther which this Government can
attempt, in the way of negociation with the Siamese
Chieftains, can be effectual to the attainment of any
public objects which wo may desire to promote, and
that a direct communication with the Court of Siam,
offers the only prospect of successful realization. The
President in his present and former Minntes las very
Jjustly viewed the interests which this Government
must be desirous of establishing.  The restoration of

the Malay Government appears to be a matter of

primary importance, and a guarantec for their future
support must be equally essential.

Such objects can only now, I fear, be realized
through negociation with Siam, and political circums-
tances ab present connected with our oceupation of the
former Possessious of Siam on the Coast of Tenasserim,
seem to promise the best means of realizing them.
1 am disposed however to think that a great deal too
much stress is laid on the supposed influence of the
Chief of Poongall, at his Master's Court. He may
vaunt, as all these petty Chiefs will do, the conse-
«quence they are inclined to assume, and exaggerated
representations and fallacious promises may only lead
to ultimate delusion, and to the defeat perhaps of the
best and most reasonable expectations.

(Signed) W. A. CLUBLEY.
7 April 1825,

ORDERED that Copies of the above Minutes
be forwarded to the Right Honorable the Governor
General in Council, with the following letter, enclosing
Captain Burney’s former and present Reports, and
that Captain Burney be directed to proceed to
Bengal to receive further instructions from the
Supreme Government.
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TetheGovernor TO) THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL.

General In
Council 7 April
1825,

® See Vol. 99.

No. 859.
To
The Right Honorable
William Pitt Lord Amherst
Governor General in Conncil
Fort William.
My Lord,

Adverting to our Dispatch to your Lordship in
Council under date the 18 January last,* we have
now the lonor to forward for your information,
the Reports that our Political Agent, Captain Burney,
has laid before us, both on his first ion to Kedal
and those he has drawn up after visiting the Coast
between this Tsland and Poongah, and communicating
with the Son and officers of the Chief of Ligore, and
with the Chief of Salang and other Siamese Ofticers
on the Isthmus of Kraw.

We have also the honor to forward a Minute that
our President has this day recorded in Council, detail-
ing the conclusions to which he has arrived after an
attentive perusal of Captain Burney’s Reports.

Concurring with our President that no further
measures can be adopted by this Government until
apprized of the views and sentiments to which the
present state of the War, and the additional facts
brought before yon, may incline your Lordship in
Council, we have deemed it advisable to direct Captn.
Buney to proceed himself to Bengal by the present
opportunity, in order to receive such immediate
instructions as the valuable information which he has
procured, and his perfect acquaintance with the general
motives and views of this Government may induce
your Lordship in Council to give to that Officer.

We have &e. &c.
(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Fort Cornwallis W. A. CLUBLEY
The 7 April 1825. R. IBBETSON
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FORT CORNWALLIS. The 7: April 1825..

LIEUTENANT LOW at TAVOY.

To
The Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.
Sir,

1 have the honor to report for the information of
the Honorable the Governor in Conncil, that since my
last letter to your address, which was dispatched by
the Brig Minerva, Captain Wyatt, Commander, 1 have
succeeded in penetrating to the Siamese frontier.

When sufficient leisure admits, Twill have the
pleasure of transmitting to the Government a Plan and
detail of the ronte pursued by me. It is that one
which has been marked out in my Map of Siam as the
most eligible in proceeding from Tavoy to Bankok.
1t has been termed a Military Road, but its present
impracticability to Troops, requiring a train of artillery
and numerous Stores may be judged of from the cir-
cumstance that although provided with an Blephant
and a Horse, T was forced to send both back to Tavoy
when only five miles distant from it, and to perform
the rest of the journey of twelve days ® entirely on foot,
while Men carried the Camp Equipage and Baggage.

The route beyond the above distance lies across a
rugged and mountainous Country, covered in most
parts with a dense forest. From the end of the first
stage to the fronticr, there is not a village or the least
sign of population, and from the path having been
little frequented for several years, the natural obstacles
to a traveller's progress have been increased.

The Pass into the Siamese Dominions lies on the
summit of a Mountain called Naye daung which 1
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calculated to be about 3000 feet at least above the
level of the Sea—from this commanding spot 1 waa
gratified by an ive view of the di
Country.

Here the mutual Boundary of the Siamese and
Tavoyan Territories is marked by two loose piles of
Stones, sixty yards asunder. Betwixt these I hiad the
honor to plant the British Flag, and to salute it with
three Vollies of Musketry from a Party of ono Havildar,
one Naick, and seven Sepoys of the Prince of Wales
Island Local Corps who escorted me. The Flag was
then hauled down, and a common one substituted.

Having been disappointed in not meeting with
any Siameso either on the route or at this place, and
considering that it would be imprudent tv gratify
further curiosity at the risk of exciting the watchful
jealousy and suspicious temper of that people, I
abstained from advancing into their Country. That
they might, however, know that o British Officer had
been there, and had ascertained the line of their
frontier, 1 wrote a short Memorandum in the Siamese
language to that effect. This was left sealed up ina
bottle, and I learned after my return that it had been
found and carried off by some Siamese scouts. The
letters B. E. I. C. were also engraved in the best
manner that the rude implements at hand would admit
of upon a stone which was buried on the Tavoy side.

A Copy of the M dum is herewith enclosed.

The Siamese have not any Military Post of im-
portance within thirty Miles of the Naye Daung Pass.
Their nearest stations to it are therefore nearly one
hundred Miles from Tavoy. It appears to to me that
they will not advance a Post nearer to, or infringe the
boundary. Their present conduct is certainly of
afriendly complexion, although backed by no direct
acts in favor of our arms against Ava.
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During my journey 1 discovered a copions foun=
tain of Mineral Water, having a temperature of 144°
Fahrenheit. It is my intention to send some of this
water, together with specimens of the strata through
which it Hows, to the Asiatic Society of Caleutta.

1 had an opportunity of visting the Tin Mines
Iying four Miles off the direct TRoad, in the midst of
a deep Forest.  These will be described hereafter.

Several days after my retura to Tavoy 1 made
another journey on foot to the Southward and Bast-
ward. Lieutenant Sherman of the 3d. M. N, Infantry
at my request, favored me with his Company.  Having
reached a point about forty Miles south from Tavoy,
and about thirty inland, we dropped down a river to
the Sea, and sailed up to Tavoy. The greatest part of
the route lies throngh a diversified and hilly, but
cultivated Country.  The Villages are beginning to be
repeopled, and the effects of DBritish Government,
although that has not as yet been fully secured to

them, are apparent in the daily influx of Cultivators,
and the cheerfulness expressed in their countenances.
The Tavoyers seem to me to be a poople who might be
monlded with ease to the best purposes of Society.

1 liave just received a confidential communication
from Colonel Smith, soliciting and urging me if
possible to meet him speedily at Martaban, where the
proximity of a Siamese Army (avowedly by them
stationed there to be ready in case their aid shall
be required against the Burmans) induces him to
suppose that he will, in his Situation as Commanding
the Southern Provinces have important conferences

with its Chiefs.
° . ° . . .

1 have &c. &e.
(Signed) JAMES LOW—Lieut.
Agent for P. W. Island Govt.
TAVOY
16 March 1820.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 7 April 1825.
-

COPY of a PAPER left on NAYE DAUNG
MOUNTAIN.

Be it known that Lieutenant Low, a British
Officer, having reached this place Naye Daung, regrets
that he has not wet with any Ofticer of the Siameso
Government with whom he might have had an amicable
conference,

Lieutenant Low has happily ascertained this long
acknowledged mutual boundary between the Siamese
and Tavoyers, which latter people are now British
Subjects.  The boundary being thus so distinetly de-
fined and known, mutual mizunderstandings will be
obviated, and the terms of amity hitherto happily
existing betwixt the British and Siamese will be pre-
served unbroken,

Lieatt. Low has this day hoisted the British Flag
on Noye Daung on the Tavoy side, and hns saluted it
with Musketry. The Siamese elready know that Tavoy
hias become o British Possession.

( Signed ) JAMES LOW—Lieutt.

(Dared ) NAYE DAUNG
20 February 1825,

A True Copy
( Signed ) JAMES LOW—Lieutt.
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 21 April 1825.

DRAFT, by Captain H. Burney, Political Agent to the
Siamese States

of a letter from the Honorable the Governor of Prince
of Wales Tsland to the Pya of Salang.

The Governor of Prince of Wales Island has re-
ceived the letter which the Pya of Salang transmitted
to him by Captain Burney, and he is most happy to
find that the Pya of Salang and the Prahs of Tuccotong
and Tuccopa have fully understood the satisfactory
iuformation which Captain Burney was deputed to
communicite to them. The Governor of Prince of
Wales Island returns the Pya of Salang his cordial
acknowledgements for the kind and truly hospitablo
manner in which he recsived and treated Captain
Burney, who has returned full of the praises of the Pya
of Salang and all his Officers.

As the letter from the Right Honorable the
Governor General, respecting a Mission to Siam has
not yet arrived, the Governor of Prince of Wales
Tsland has sent Captain Burney himself to Bengal, for
the purpose of fully detailing there the friendly con-
duct of the Pya of Salang, and of receiving without
any delay, such further orders, as the Right Honorable
the Governor General may give Captain Burney, after
hearing the pleasing accounts which that Officer will
communicate to His Lordship respecting Pungah, and
everybody under the Pya of Salang’s authority.

It is evident to the Governor of Prince of Wales
Tsland, that the Pya of Salang is o wise and liberal
Chief, worthy of the high situation which he fills under
the great King of Siam, and the Governor of Prince
of Wales Island requests to transmit to the Pya of



[77]
Salang, by the present opportunity, as tokens of the
friendship with which the Pya has inspired the
Governor 2 large Sugar Jars, 2 Pair large Chrystal
Decanters, 2 do. small Decanters, 2 Water Crofts, 6
Chrystal Cups, and 1 Gold Chain.

If there is any matter in which the Governor of
I'rince of Wales Island can render himself serviceable
to the Pya of Salang, now or hereafter, the Governor
trusts the Pya will not omit to apprize him thereof
without hesitation.

The Governor of Prince of Wales Island hopes
that Pungah and Penang will now be much better
known to each other, and that a lasting friendship and
profitable trade will now be continued between them.
Every person coming to Penang from Salang, Pungah,
Tuccatong and Tuccopn, as well as every other subject
of Siam, may be henceforth always confident of receiv-
ing every ance and protection from the Governor
of Prince of Wales Island.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON.
Penang, 9th April 1825,
Translated by
(8d.) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

\
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DRAFT

of a lefter to the King of Salangore from the Malay
Translator to Government.

I am directed by the Honble. the Governor of
Pulo Penang to acquaint my friend in reply to his
letter requesting some Pice, to inform him that at
present that Coin is very scarce at this Island; and 1
am desired to assure my friend, at the same time, that
the Honorable the Governor would have had much
satisfuction in complying with my friend’s wishes in
this respeet, had it been in his power.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt

Penang

the 13 April 1825,
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To the RAJAH of LIGOR'S SON at QUEDAH.

Quedan ul‘arll —_—

18285,

Draft
of a letter from the Malay Translator to Government
to the Son of the Rajah of Ligore at Quedah.

1 am directed by the Honble. the Governor of
Pulo Penang to acquaint your Highness, that it is
currently feported at this Settlement, an Order has
lately been issued at Quedah, strictly prohibiting the
Export of Grain. The Honorable the Governor has
been much astonished to hear this report, and consi-
dering the friendly relations subsisting between Pulo
Penang and Quedah, together with the amicable pro-
fessions of your Highness, and the Chow Pya of Ligore,
of a desire to cultivate the good will of the British
G , the H. bl the Gov is rather
disposed to diseredit the report,

He directs me, however, to inform your High-
ness, that if such be the caso he expects that the
restriction will be immediately withdrawn, and that
your Highuness will permit the free export of Grain
and other Provisions from the several Ports of Quedal,
as heretofore, by which you will evince the eincerity
of your professed friendly disposition towards this
Government, and give an earnest of your desire to
cultivate a good understanding and promote the Com-
mercial intercourse between Quedah aud Pualo Penang.

In communicating the report which prevails here,
and rcq\umg from \uur Hu,lmm an explanation of a
It g apy 50 i with the exist-
ing relations between the two States, I am desired to
remind your Highness of the frequent complaints of
acts of Piracy which you have preferred, in the sup-
pression of which this Government has always testified
the most prompt and anxious desire to co-operate, at the
same time to point out to your Highness, that any
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restrictions, such as those now adverted to, must tend
to encourage Piracy, by throwing the numerous small
traders out of employ, and preventing them obtaining
an honest livelihood, by bringing Grain to this
Island.

vd) JOHN ANDERSON

Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang

the 20 April 1825,
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To the Son of the
Rajah of Ligore
at Kedah
22 April 1825,

[70]
FORT CORNWALLIS The 26 April 1825,

To the Son of the RAJAH of LIGORE at KEDAIL

Draft

of a letter from tho Malay Translator to Government
to the Son of the Rajah of Ligore at Kedah.

I am directed by the Honorable the Governor of
Pulo Penang to address your Highness upon the sub-
jeet of o recont attack upon some trading Prows from
this place by a fleet of Siamese Boats, and to request
that you will take measures for repressing such dis-
turbances in future, and tho prevention of similar
hostile proceedings. The circumstances are as follow :
about 3 months ago two Prows, the one having a crow
of 10 and the other of 7 men, belonging to Malayan
Inhabitants of this Island, proceeded on a voyage to
the Islands to the Northward, to collect Birds nests.
Having collected o small quantity, they went into o
small Bay on the main called Teluk Bugis, near Junk
Ceylon for water about 20 days ago, when they wero
attacked Dby five Siamese Prows, which without
lailing, or making any enquiries commenced firing
upon them ; they fled and were pursued—the small
Malay Prow was sunk, the two Nakodas and one of
the Crew were killed and two more of the Crew
wounded in the action. The largest Prow has veturned
into this harbour, and Depositions have been made to
the above effect by the Crew.

The Honorable the Governor of Pulo Penang
trusts that your Highuess will cause some enquiries to
be instituted into this affair, and that there will be no
recurrence of such an act of hostility against subjects
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of this Island, secking a livelihood by trade amongst
the Islands to the Northward,

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt
Penany |
the 22nd April 1825,

“To the Pya of A similar Letter addressed to
Pungah.

THE YA OF PUNGAH,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 8 May 1825,

AT A SPECIAL COUNCIL—Present
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor President
WILLIAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Esquire
and

ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

APPROVED THE PROCEEDINGS of the 26th Ultimo,

Minuto by the
President 20
April 1825,

PUBLIC.

IN CONSEQUENCE of the intelligence which
has been received at this Settlement within the last few
days of the advanced state of preparation of an exten-
sive Armament by the Rajah of Ligore at Traing and
the Ports to the Northward, this special Council was
called, for the purpose of considering the expediency
of adopting further measures of precaution for guard-
ing against any sudden attack, and for tranquillizing
the alaris of the Native Community of the Island,

THE following Minute by the Honorable the
President with Drafts of two letters to the Rajah of
Ligore is recorded.

MINUTE BY THE PRESIDENT.

Mr. Maingy is already acquainted with the various
rumours prevailing respecting the outfit of an arma-
ment at Traang, Setool, Quedah &e. by the Rajah of
Ligore, these rumours liave now attained such a
degreo of credit as to require immediate precautionary
measures. The object of the armament is understood
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to be an attack on Perak and Salengore. Our inha-
bitants are not without some degree of alarm in
respect to their own safety particularly thoss
in Wellesley Province. In respect to Perak aund
Salengore we stand thus. We have now taken
possession of Malacca—both theso States were in
alliance with the Dutch of Malacea, in fact consi-
dered ns Dependencies. The Dutch had a factory at
Perak previous to the late negotiations. The Dutch
had intimated the intention of renewing the ancient
connections with those States. Auticipating probably
that the cession of Malacea wounld be the result of the

negotiati they have abstained from the express

renewal of the Treaties, one of which stipulates for
the defence of the Countries ; so long as these Treaties

were in force, they formed a barrier against the exten-
sion of Siamese conquests to the Southern parts
the Peninsula. The Datch having now withdrawn
and the British taken their place—it becomes a (ues-
tion how far it may be decmed good policy to renew
with the States of Perak and Salengore those relations
in which they formerly stood with the Dutch as the
means of preventing the Siamese authorities of Ligore
from extending their dominions in that direction,
placing themselves in contact with ns down even to
Johore and Singapore and entirely shutting us out
from the valuable Tin Trade of the Interior which
might otherwise flow eutirely into our Eastern Settle-
ments of Penang, Malacea and Singapore.  The Ques-
tion has been submitted to the Suy G
and it is highly necessary to provent, if possible, but
without actual hostilities, the subjugation of those
thcs by the Rajali of Ligore before we know the deter-
ion of the Sup Captain Buruey
having proceeded to Bengal to communicate to the
Supreme Government the result of the late Mission
and receive final instructions, it becomes necessary
that some other person should be deputed to make the
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communications now required, and Mr. Maingy hag
been selected for that purpose. The first object must;
be to in, whether the A alluded to is
in that stage of preparation represented. If it should
be found not to be so, the visit to the Rajah must be
entirely complimentary. It must be represented that
Mr. Maingy has come to meet the Rajah, in consequence
of the intimation given, and the absence of Captain
Burney preventing his attendance. 'Mr. Maingy will
in that case confine himself to gencral professions, to
o repetition of all that has been wrged by Captain
Burney, the necessity of avoiding every measure
caleulated to disturh the harmony subsisting [between |
the two States, and repeating that an attack on
Salangore would probably produce that effect. Shoulil
Mr. Maingy however find that an immediate expedi-
tion agninst Salangore is in process, he will then
deliver the letter No, 2 and intimate that the Armament
will not be allowed to pass near or within the Island,
and it will become necessary to guard ourselves and
gave our population [from] the terror and alarm and
consequent  confusion which must result from so
near an approach of such an Armament to this Island
or Province Wellesley.

The Brig Jessy will be placed under the onlers of
Mr. Maingy, also the Armed Boat and the Commerce,
if she should return in time. These Vessels should
continue to eruize off Trafug &c. 1t may be hoped
that their appearance will prevent the Armament from
sailing, but if such should not be the case, these vessels
must accompany the armament and keep between them
and the Island, not allowing them to come near the
channel between us and the Main land, or approaching
within ten Miles of any part of the Island. Althongh
1 consider it advisable to discourage by every possible
means the projected attack on Salangore and to retard
its completion by every means short of actual hostilities
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pending reference to Bengal, yet lowever its success
may be regretted, it does not appear to ms that
we are authorized to oppose actual force ngainst
its execution.

(Signed) . FULLERTON

20th April 1825,



To the Rajah
of Ligore
29 April 1820,

[85]
To the RAJAH of LIGORE.
Draft

of a letter from the Honorable the Governor of Pulo
Penang to the Rajah of Ligore,

1 duly received your Highness's letter of tho 8
Rajop, brought by Captain Burney's Messenger, China
Achong, and as the period fixed for your Highness's
coming down to Kedah, has now elapsed, I have de-
puted Mr. Maingy, of the Honorable Company’s Civil
Service on this Establisl as my Confid
Envoy to communicate fully with your Highness and
to consult with you on several important subjects, for
which purpese Captain Burney was lately sent to
Kedah and Traang. That officer having however,
proceeded to Bengal, for a short time, for the purpose
of receiving instructions from the Right Honorable
the Governor General, renders it necessary for me
to depute another Agent, lest your Highness shonld
be disappointed in the expected Meating, to which
you have professed so ready an inclination. Tam the
more induced to expedite Mr. Maingy’s departure as
I'have heard that your Highness has come across and
been for some weeks past in the neighbourhood of
Traang, at which place it will be equally convenient
to Mr. Maingy to meet you as at Kedah, and he has
been accordingly directed to proceed direct to that
port.

Having long evinced a disposition to cultivate a
cordial understanding with your Highness and to pre-
serve those relations of friendship now happily subsist-
ing between the Siamese and English unimpaired, by
the frequent deputation of confidential Officers of this
Government as a return for your Highness's frequent
deputations of confidential Officers to myself and my
predecessor in this Government, I have only to request,
that your Highness will receive Mr, Maingy with
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respect and confidence ns an nccredited British Agenfs
with full powers.

Mr. Maingy will deliver some presents to Your
Highness as a mark of my regard.
(Signed) R, FULLERTON
Governor.

The 29 April 1825.

(Signed) J. ANDERSON

Malay Transr. to Govt.



[s7]
To the RATAH of LIGORE.

Letter

from the Honorable Robert Fullerton Esquire Gov-
emor of Pulo Penang to the Rajah of Ligore.

It is my duty to acquaint your Highness that the
report of your Hostile intentions against the indepen-
dent Malayan State of Salengore and your extensive
armaments equipping at Traing, Sitool and other
places to the Northward are daily becoming mors
notorious, and there secms to be now no room left to
question the trath of them, notwithstanding your
frequent professions of pacific intentions and oft
repeated expressions of your anxiety that I should not
give credence to any rumours at variance with such
professions.

1 have already more than once addressed your
Mighness upon this subject but have not lately
received replies to my communications, nor did my
Agent, Captain Burney, succeed in obtaining an in-
terview with you, by which means you would have
gained a complete knowledge of the intentions of the
British Government in several important matters.

It now becomes my duty to remind you Highness
that the Settlement of Malacca has been taken pos-
session of by virtue of a treaty with the Dutch Govern-
ment, by which that Nation ceded all its possessions
and privileges acquired by Treaty with Native States
on the Peninsula of Malacca. The Dutch Government
as well as the British lave long been on friendly
terms with the States of Perak and Salengore, espe~
cially the close vicinity of Salengore to our present
Settlement of Malacea and long intimate connexion
with that State naturally disposed the G
to prevent any hostile attempts against it by any
other power, and as there is every reason to infer
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that the Supreme British Authorities in Bengal will
uphold the existing treaties with the Malayan States
to the Southward, I am bound once more to caution
your Highness against proceeding to carry your threats
into effect, of subjugating Salengore.

That State is not, nor has ever been in the remotest
degres, connected with the Siamese Dominions, and 1
am in daily expectation of important intelligence
from Bengal upon the subject.

Should your Highness disvegard this caution and
remoustrance, the result may possibly be a very serious
misunderstanding between the Siamese and English.

I therefore with an anxious desire to preserve a good
understanding with the Siamese Nation, and yourself,
consistently with the dignity of the high power of
which T am here a local representative, call upon your
Higlness to abstain from the prosecution of such
Tiostile measures, which cannot reflect any credit upon
ent and may and most

yourself or the power you ropre
probably will invelve you in much trouble and
difficulty.

The bearer of this lebter is Mr. Maingy, o Senior
Civil Servant on this Establishment, to whom 1 have
fully explained my wishes. 1f your Highness will
grant that Gentleman an interview 1 have no doubt
he will he able to dissuade your Highness from an
enterprize o obnoxious to the British G and
likely to prove so injurious to yourself. I trust
therefore, that Mr. Maingy may be received with
respect and confidence as the Agent of the British

Government and my confidential Envoy.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.
Penang 28 April 1825.
(Sigued) J. ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
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THE SECRETARY reports that in conformity
to the above Minute, the following Instructione were
circulated for the approval of the Members of the

Board, and addressed to the Superintendent of Point
Wellesley.

To
A. D. MAINGY Esquire

Superintendent of Point Wellesley.
Sir,

T am directed by the Honorablo the Governor in
Council to acquaint you that relying upon your expe-
rience, ability and diseretion, he has been pleased to
entrust to your management a service of a peculiar
delicate and important nature.

2. You are already fully acquainted with the
various rumours prevailing respecting the outfit of an
extensive Armament at Traang, Setool, Kedah and
other ports to the Northwand, by the Rajah of Ligore.
These rumours have now attained such a degree of
credit as to require inmediate i

I ¥

3. The object of these extensive preparations,
as you are also aware, is understood to be an attack on
Perak and Salangore, and the inhabitants of this
island, as well as those on Wellesley  Province,
particularly the last, are in a considerable degree of
alarm in respect to their own safety.

4. In respect to Perak and Salangore T am
directed to submit for your guidance the view which
this Government has taken of the policy which ought
to be pursued at the present crisis, and pending
further instructions from the Right Honorable the
Governor General in Council.

5, The British Government las mnow taken
possession of Malacca, with which Settlement, durin g
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the Dutch Administiation, the States of Perak and
Salengore were in close Alliance, in fact they were
considered as dependencies of Malacca. The Dutch
formerly had a factory at Perak, and intimated theic
intention of renewing the ancient connexions with
hoth the States in question ; anticipating however,
most. probably the cession of Malacea, they abstained
from the express renewal of the treaties, one of which
stipulated for the defence of these Countries,

6. So long as these treaties wero in force, they
formed a barrier against the extension of Siamese con-
(uests to the Southern parts of the Peninsula. The
Dutch having now withdmwn and the British taken
their place, it becomes necessary to consider how far it
wmay be deemed good policy to renew, with the States
of Perak and Salengore, those relations in which they
formerly stood with the Dutch, as the means of
preventing the Siamese Authorities of Ligore trom
extending their dominions in that direction, placing
themselves in contact with us down even to Jolior and
Singapore and entirely shutting us out from the
valuable Tin trade of the interior, which might other-
wise flow entirely into our Eastern Settlements of
Penang, Malacca and Singapore.

7. 'This important question has been submitted to
the Supreme Government and it is highly necessary
to prevent, if possible, but without actual hostilities,
the subjugation of these States by the Rajah of Ligore,
before the d

ion of the Sup Governn

is known. Captain Burney having proceeded to Bengal

o to the Sup G the result

of the late Mission, and to receive final instructions,

it becomes necessary to depute another confidential
Officer to communicate with the Rajah of Ligore at
Kedah or Tradng, if he has arrived at cither of these
places.

8. Your first object will be to ascertain by the



[o1]

most accurate and careful enquiries (avoiding as much
as possible the excitement of any alarm or suspicions)
whether the armament reported to be nearly equipped
and ready for departure, is in that stage of preparation
represented. If it should be found not to be so, your
visit to the Rajah of Ligore must be understood as
merely complimentary, You will theu deliver to him
the letter marked No. 1. You will represent to his
confidential Officers and to himself, if he gives you
an interview, that in consequence of the intimation of
his intention to come to Kedah and the absence of
Captain Burney on duty in Bengal preventing his
attendance, you have been deputed to make his
Highness acquainted with the progress of the War
against the Burmahs, to represent the necessity of his
Highness's avoiding every measure calculated to
disturb the harmony subsisting between the two
States, and particularly remind him that an attack on
Salengore would probably produce that effect,

2. Should you however find that an immediate
expedition against Salengore is in progress, you will
then deliver the letter No. 2, and intimate that the
Avmament will not be allowed to pass near or within
this Island, and that precautions have been taken to
secure the tranquillity of this Settlement and allay the
apprehensions of the inhabitants in Provinee Wellesley.

10. To enable you to proceed on the immediate
execution of this duty, orders hava been issned to the
AMaster Attendant to prepave the Honble. Company’s
Brig Jessy for your accommodation. The hired
Schooners Commerce and Joln de Brias will also be
Placed-under your orders.  You will make such arvan~
gements relative to the disposal of the vessels in
keeping a vigilant watch over the movements of the
Siamese fleet, in the neighbourhood of Tradng and
Setool, as you may consider best.

11. It may be expected that these demonstram
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tions will prevent the Armament from sailing, but
ghould such not be the case, it will be your duty to
issue directions to the Commanders of the Vessels
under your orders to accompany the Siamese Arma-
ment and keep between them and this Island, not per-
mitting them to come near the channel between this
Tsland and the main land or to approach within ten
miles of any part of this Island.

12.  Although it is considered by Government to
be extremely advisable to discourage by every possible
means, the projected attack upon Salengore, and to re-
tard its completion by every means short of actual
hostilities, pending reference to Bengal, yet it is not
intended that actual force should at present be opposed
against its execution.

13. You will put yourself in communication
with the Malay Translator who will furnish you with
the necessary letters and credentials and consult with
him generally upon the objects of your Mission. The
Honorable the Governor in Council is pleased also to
direct that you shall have free access to the documents
in the Secretary’s Office, bearing upon this question,
and Tam particularly desired to refer you to the in-
structions to Captain Burney, and his late reports.

14. I am desired to add, that orders will be
issued to the Storekeeper to furnish the necessary
provisions and supplies upon your Indent and to the
Master Attendant to afford you every assistance in
equipping the vessel.

15. You will submit a Bill for such advance of
Money as may be necessary and prepare Indents for
such Military Stores as may, in your judgment, be
essential for the protection of the Vessel.

16. As there is a scarcity of disposable Troops
for foreign service, the Honorable the Governor in
Council would prefer that you engage a small party of
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able bodied Malays from Province Wellesley, for whom
you may cause an uniform to be made up for the occa=
sion and they will be provided with Musquets from
the Arsenal upon your Indent. The Honorable the
Governor in Council is of opinion that a party of 12
or 15 such Men would suffice for the present duty.

17. You are authorized also to engage such Inter~
preters and other Attendants as may be necessary and
you will purchase some Articles of British Manufacture,
as presents to the Chiefs, in the event of circumstances
admitting of the delivery of letter No. 1.

18, In conclusion I am directed to impress upon
you the necessity of the greatest circumspection in
the conduct of this Mission, which, if executed as the
Honorable the Governor in Council has every just
reason to expect it will be, cannot fail to be beneficial
to the interests of this Settlement and gain you the
approbation of your employers.

I am &ec.

(Signed) J. ANDERSON
Actg. Secry. to Govt.

Fort Cornwallis
The 29 April 1825,

The necessary Orders for giving effect to these
arrangements were also issued to the several Depart~
ments, and the following letter addressed to the
Master Attendant.



To the Master
Attendant
2 May 1826,
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To
C. W. H. WRIGHT Esquire
Master Attendant.
Sir,

1 am directed by the Honorable the Governor in
Conneil to desire that you will prepare the Honorable
Company’s Brig Jessy, without delay, to convey Mr.
Maingy upon a special Mission to the Northward, and
to desire that you will afford that Gentleman every
possible assistanco from your Department, in order
that he may quit the harbour, if possible, on Thursday
Morning the 5th Instant.

I am &ea,

(Signed) J. ANDERSON.
Actg, Secry. to Govt:

Fort Cornwallis
The 2: May 1825.
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS The 3 May 1825.
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To,
Malay Trang- 5 N 3
l‘.zn:"”' THE HONORABLE
Seveinmpnt ROBERT FULLERTON Esquire

11 May 1825,
Governor &e. &e. &e.
Honorable Sir,

Ideem it my duty to acquaint you that the reports
of the extensive armaments by the Siamese at Tradng,
Setool, Lingou, Kedah and the other ports to the
Northward, are daily b ing more and
the alarms of the Native population of this Island

greatly increasing.

2. 1 have examined several persons who have
arrived here during the few last days, from some of
these places, and have particularly interrogated them.
Their 8§ appear very i and circum=
stantial in several particulars.

3. One Man, the Commander of a small prow,
who arrived here on the 30: Ultimo stated that he
left Purlis on the 28th and that there was there lying
near the village of Kangar, 30 Prows of the burthen of
from 3 to 6 Cogans. They were fitted with strong
breastwork for the reception of Guns and were to pro-
ceed in afew days for Kontanni some distance up the
Traing river, which is the general rendezvons of the
Siamese fleet and where these boats were to take in
their guns.

4. My informant mentions that the
were pressing all the adult Malays into their Service,
and that each boat was to be manned with an equal
proportion of Siamese and Malays. He reports that
there are 60 similar prahus at Setool and upwards
of 100 still larger at Kontanni, that they will mount
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from 2 to 4 guns each and that most of the boats
have a double set of cars. The largest will contain
from 40 to 50 men each.

5. The same person reports that the Rajah of
Ligore has lately arrived at Trafing (this however
he only heard mentioned) that it is publicly given
out—the Armament is destined for Salengore ; that it
is intended to quit upon the change of the Moon,
that they have fixed upon a lucky day for their
departure, that he has leard from the Women living
under the protection of the Siamese, that the Rajah of
Ligore is determined to have the Rajah of Kedah dead
or alive, that they have often demanded him and this
Government has refused to give him up, that the
Armament is destined to attack Penang in a dark
night, that the intended landing place is Pulo Teccoos
bay, that the houses are to be set on fire and the white
population put to death ; that there are many Chiness
on the Island in league with them and expected to
Join them; that the Rajah of Ligore has Agents in
disgnise here, who give him regular information, ( the
name of one principal Agent Le mentioned ) that the
Biamese have plans of the Town and know the exact
strength of our force, that the Rajah of Ligore, in fact
possesses the best intelligence of all that is going on.

6. He states also, that he is confident if due
precantions are taken, [and] the Rajsh of Ligore hears
that we are upon our guard he will hesitate in making
an attack, that he is only looking out for a favorable
opportunity, when he thinks we have no apprehensions
and are not upon the alert.

7. This man states that he is in no way connected
with the Rajah of Kedah, that he has not seen him
since his arrival here nor had any communication with
any of his people. He professed a readiness to depose
to the truth of the above statement, upon cath,



[97]

8. Several other persons corroborate this state-
ment in several particulars, and all agree that there
is a very large assemblago of vessels and men in many
of the rivers to the Northward, that it is contrary to
the practice of the Siamese to give out publicly their
i ion of king any parti place.

9. So many reports have been received upon this
subject and so much already recorded that I was
reluctant to subwmit the substance of two letters whicl
were put into my hands some days ago. One is from
the brother of a Malay man residing on the opposite
shore.  Tho writer of the letter is in the employ of the
Siamese, in rather a confidential situation in Setool,
The person from whom I procured these lettors, with
some reluctance, made a stipulation that they should
not go out of my hands, as his relatives would inatantly
be put to death, if it were known that he had com-
municated thew contents to me. The substance of
of these, I have already had the honor of communicat-
ing verbally to you.

10. The first is as follows: The writer was at
Setool. He states that the Malays old and young
were forced into the Siamese Service, that all was
confusion, he urges his relative to prepare his prow
and launch her, in order that the females of his family
and children might escape in case of need ; he recom-
mends him to move over to George Town during the
present month, to take care of his property and provide
himself with everything necessary. He says “ You
must not go anywhere who knows if the Siamese may
not come.” He adds that there are at Setool and
Lingaes a hundred prahus in the water, and he con-
cludes, *' I cannot go to my house day or night ; 1 am
“ constantly employed upon the Siamese Boats ; they
“ give out that they are going to Salengore, and are
* using great expedition,”
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11. The other lotter is from another person whoso
name I possess. He says that when he arrived at
Setool, the Siamese were very busy preparing their
prows, that they put many questions to him relative
to Penang. He states that he had been ordered to
Ligore and adds * be upon your guard ; better get your
“ boat ready ; if trouble comes, then is no time to
« consider ; do you, my father and Brother invoke the
“ Almighty. 1shall return to you soon.”  He requests
some cloathes to be sent to him. The other parts of
of the letters relate to family matters. The originals
are in my possession, and bear all the warks of
authenticity and of not being fabricated for the

purpose of deception.

12.  While submitting this information for your
consideration and expressing my conviction, from a
very deliberate consideration of all the rumours now
afloat and a careful enquiry into all the reports in
circulation, it is proper at the same time to vemark that
many exaggerated and sometimes unfounded reports
have been propagated here, there is reason fo believe,
by the friends and adherents of the Rajah of Kedah.

13. Tt mmust be recollected, however, that the
Armament reported to be in such an advanced state of
preparation has been equipping during the last 3 years
and it has been clearly ascertained by the Envoys sent.
from hence and other good sources of information,
that there is a large assemblage of prows and men.

14. The Siamsse have lately made no secret of
their i ions of king Saleng The ing
of this Government to the Rajah of Ligore seem to have
had the effect only of causing him to redouble his
exertions to carry his schemes into effect. While he
was professing the most pacific intentions ; while his
Envoys were here, pretending to negociate for the
return of the Rajah of Kedah, a force was marching
aeross to attack Perak, which is now in their possession.
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15. The Rajah of Ligore is not ignorant that a
much smaller force than he has equipped would fally
suffice to capture Salengore. The expedition which
he sent 3 years ago against Perak consisted only of 15
or 20 prahus of a Middling size. Tt is pretty well
ascertained that his present flaot consists of not less
than 300 prahus, large and small.

16. Many respectable natives here firmly Leliove
that the expedition is destined for this place, and that
a desperate attempt will be made to eeize and carry off
the Rajah of Kedah. A general alarm in fact prevails
throughout the Island, amongst the Native community.

17. Under all these circumstances, and consi-
dering the very small force at present on this Island,
I feel it to be my duty, holding the situation which
I do, in the intellig 1 o pectfully
to lay all these particulars before you, in orler that
you may take into consideration the expediency of
adopting every available means of precaution, to
obtain more precise information and to guard against
any possible attack. The knowledge of such precan-
tions being taken will tend very much to allay tho
apprehensions of the Native population and may and
T'do think will deter the Rajah of Ligore from any
hostile aggression against this place for the present ;
tho' there is very little doubt he will endeavour to
subjugate the Malay States to the Southward forthe
with,

I have &e.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
Malay Transrs. Offica
P. W. Island
The 1 May 1825.
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SUPTDT. POINT WELLESLEY.

JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.

8ir,

1 deem it my duty to report for the information
of the Honorable the Governor in Council, that the
rumours which have so long prevailed in Penang, and
on this shore, respecting the outfit cf a formidable
armament at the different Ports to the Northward, by
the Rtajah of Ligore, are entirely confirmed by informa-
tion I have lately obtained from persons employed by
me for the purpose of ascertaining this point. My
Infc are Men of y, and T firmly
believe their communication viz. that 70 large Prahus
carrying each from 2 to 4 Guns, with a Complement
of 40 to 50 Men are collected at Khuntannee, and that
more are daily arriving from Setool and Kedah to
complete this force. There are also a considerable
number of smaller prahus which are merely intended
to convey the Siamese Troops, without being armed.

bili

The attack of Salengore is the ostensible object of
these preparations, but the Siamese have so confidently
proclaimed their intention of proceeding to Salengore,
2 measure so contrary to the caution and cunning
followed by them in conducting their mode of warfare,
that it Lecomes a question whether some other attempt
Dbesides the conquest of that place may not be con-
templated by them. The Malays firmly believe that
their intention is to seizo and carry away, if possible,
the Rajah of Kedah.

1 have &e.
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Voint Wellesley.
Wellesley Province
The 1 May 1825,
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THE BOARD entirely concurring in the ex-
pediency and propriety of the measures which have
been adopted. and those mow proposed by the
President

RESOLVED that the Malay Translator be au-
thorized to engage 150 Malays under respectable
Native Pungalus, to be posted in different parts of the
Island, particularly the Beach between George Town
and P'ulo Teecoos, Teluk Kumbo, and the Western
side of the Island, to keep a strict guard at night and
to convey the earliest information of the approach of
any assemblage of Prows to mest also at the appointed
place of Rendezvous in case of alarm being given,
where they will receive Arms and assist in the
defence of the place.
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS THE 12 May 1825.

Records,
Straits Settie-

ments, Vol 101,
PP.1322-53.

MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

s 1 beg to lay before the Board all the information
may 1825, received relative to the Siamese Armament since our
last meeting ; from which it does not appear advisable
to relax any of the precautionary measures already
taken. The hired Schooner has been dispatched to
Trang and the Neighbouring Ports to watch and report
preparations of the Sinmese. The enquiry as to the
supposed communication between the Siamese Chief
of Ligore and certain of the Chinese inhabitants of this
Island has been made over to the Police Department.
to which it properly belongs. 1 propose that all the
information received be sent for the perusal of the
Officer Commanding the Troops.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON

12 May 1825.
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To

The Honorable ROBERT FULLERTON Esquire
Governor &ca. &ea. &ca.
Honorable Sir,

I have the honor to azquaint you that a Malay
man, named Haji, whom I dispatched in a small prow,
agreeably to your orders about 8 days ago to the
Northward, for the purpose of collecting intelligence,
veturned this morning and reports as follows,

The first place he touched at was Jerloon, a small
river a little to the Northward of Quedah, where he
was informed  that the Rajah of Ligore was preparing
to cross over land from Tradng to Quedah and was
expected to arrive on the 1st of Shawal (9 days hence).
At Jerluon, the Siamese were collecting the Malays,
to convey them to Tradng to assist in manning the
boats.

From Jerloon, where hie remained only few hours,
he proceeded to Kwala Puju, another small river to
the Northward of Purlis, and the above intelligence was
confirmed. ‘There also the Siamese were pressing the
Malays. He saw 15 prows at Kangar which were
loading rice for Tradng, to sail in a day or two. He
was informed that 15 or 16 had sailed shortly before
for that place,

Haji learnt from a Malay Man at Purlis, named
febby Nga, that a swall boat with 4 Malays and a
Siamese, were dispatched about the time he arrived at
Purlis with a letter from the Chom Rat Minta or
Chief Siomese there for some Siamese man at this
Island.

From Kuwala Puju he proceeded to Setool, where
the preceding intelligence of the Rajah of Ligore's
being at Tradng and expected at Quedah was con-
firmed. As he was entering Sefool river, he met 7
large prows with Malay crews proceeding to Tradng.
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He observed only one prow remaining at Pangkalan
Batu, the ghaut near which the prows usually anchor.
He was told that all the other prows had proceeded
to Tradng ten days before, sbout from 20 to 30
in number.

He then went to Lingow, where he also learnt
that the Rajah of Ligore was expected to cross ov
from Tradug, there also the Malays were collecting.
He saw only two prows at Lingow, of small size, he was
informed that a considerable number from that place

had gone to Tradug.

Haji next went to Tanjony Sitlar some distance on
this side of Tradny river. He there met with 3
Malays, who advised him not to enter the Tradng as
he would get into difficulty if he did, they told him
that many Malay prows had been seized, they reported
that there were between 4 and 500 prows of all sizes
at Khontanni, but Haji thinks this is an exaggeration.
He was afraid to procced on and therefore determined
on returning.

The people he met at Tradng Sittar scquainted
Nim that on the Ist of Shawal (3. . five days hence)
the Commander in Chief of the fleet, Nai Tap, the
Rajah of Mardelong. who is also at Tradng, with
Tanlaiong, the hrother of the Rajal of Ligore, were to
sail with the whole fleet collected, for Quedah. The
Rajah of Ligore was to cross over with Elephants.

The Messenger heard that there was a very large
force at Tradng, o great number of Sianiese had come

across with the Rajali of Ligore.

Of the fact of the Rajali of Ligore being at
Tradng, there appears now to be no doubt and that o
large fleet of boats is collected for some immediate
hostile enterprize cqually certain.  Haji reports that
Salengore is their avowed destination.

T have &c.

Pinang (Signed) J. ANDERSON
The 10 May 1825. Malay Transr. to Govt.
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To
THE HONORABLE
ROBERT FULLERTON Esquire
Governor &ea. &ea. &ca.
Honorable Sir,

Siuce writing my report of intelligence brought
by the Malay man Haji, this morning, T have met witly
a Choolish Bumboatman of this place, who left Quedal
yesterday evening at 5 o'clock. He was interrogated
by the Master Attendant and myself on landing and
reports as follows.  Two large prows (about 10 or 12
Coyans) well armed and mounting several guns had
left the Quedah river for Tradng. There were 10 or 12
more up the river coming down, A large Siamese prow
or Junk arrived yesterday from Tralng at Quedal and
was to sail for this Island immediately. He has reason
to think there are Envoys and letters. The John de
Brins was seen at or near Tradng.

This person also reports that the Rajah of Ligere
was at Traing and was expected at Quedah shortly,
that he had heard there were upwards of 300 prows at
Traing all new. Salengore was stated to be their
destination. The Siamese were desirous that the fleet
should pass through the channel here.

1t will be in your recollection, Honorable Sir, that
1 some time ago mentioned that a letter might be ex~
pected from the Rajah of Ligore, couched in very civil
terms, requesting permission for his fleet to pass the
island and ioning his i i of king
Salengore.  This information was obtained from the
man named Che Etam, of whose proceedings I have
already made you acquainted, If such a letter is in
charge of the persons now expected, it may argue well
for the correctness of the information derived from
that person. I have &ea.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Pinang Malay Transr. to Govt.
The 10 May 1825,
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CHE TOAH

1 d

s the principal Chineso of Pinang,
before the Honorable the Governor, at the Secretary’s
Office, on Thursday, the 5 May 1825.

He stated that he rents the farms at Purlis and
other places from the Rajah of Ligore. A Junk be-
longing to him arrived from thence a few days ago.
His Agent wrote to him that the Rajah of Ligore was
at Traang and was expected in o fow days at Purlis on
his way to Kedah. There was a large force at Traang,
hio was informed by his people who lately arrived,
upwands of 300 boats, some of them larger than our 3
Cruizers now here. The Siamese not to be trusted,
the Rajsh of Ligore very ambitious—Siamese always
commit hostilities by stealth—thinks they have some
designs upon Pinang, but there is even more danger
from the low Macao Chinese here, they have had
meetings near the Rice bazar, as many as 500 to 1000
at a time. Achong is the head of a tribe and attends
their meetings. The people he suspects are the
Chinese Gardeners, brickmakers &e.

Che Toah is acquainted with Boomi—that man
has been often at his Godowns. He isa Siamese, not,
a Malay. He firmly believes him to be a spy and is
certainly an Agent of the Rajah of Ligore. The
Rajah of Ligore has been enticing China Men, the
Chinamen have knives.

Che Toah expressed his opinion that it was very
necessary to take precautions just now, the Siamess
were very treacherons.
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LEBBY ABDUL KARIM

a very old Malay man, who has part of his fawily at
Quedah and part here, examined by the Translator,
Friday the 6 May 1825,

States that he is the Nackoda of o small prow,
arrived thres days ago from Quedal, brought 300
Gantons of rico for sale. There ave 15 or 16 Siameso
prows at Quedalt preparing to start for Trang; 3 of
the prows were quite ready. They are of a large sizo.
All the Male population wera collecting to go to Trang.
Ureat many women collected to beat Paddy—a large
supply of Grain sent to Trang. It is reported the
Rajah of Sangora is at Trang. Tho Rajah of Ligoro
certainly there. The Siamese say they are coming to
Pinang in all the month of Ramellow (this is the 17th)
‘They say if they do not come now they cannot come
for a long time as the wind will be foul. The Chom
or Prime Minister boasts a great deal, how casy it
would be. Does not exactly know the object the
Siamese have in view in desiring to come to Penang.
He is ready to attend farther examination.

Ex-Rajah of Kedah

d with the Transl to G
Sth May 1825,

The Rajah had previously mentioned the reports
he had received of Achong's proceedings at Ligore.
He repeated them. He said a Chinaman known by
the name of Baba Malacca told him Achong had been
treated with great distinction at Ligore after being
threatened ; that he had been acting improperly, that
the Rajah of Ligore promised to make him Rajah of
Quedah, Purlis or any place he chose to select after ho
took Penang, that he was to get some Macao China~
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men to create a disturbanco at the same time. The
Rajah said the number of Chinese so engaged were
said to be about 1,500.

The Rajah gave me a letter which I retain. [t is
very long and relates to many matters foreign to the
present enquiry. The writer in one part says *“ Any
“ person who is found sending letters or intelligence to
“ Pinang before the Rajah of Ligore arrives at Quedalt
“will be put to death by his orders.”

The Rajoh stated that u prow arrived to-day
[which] brouglit him a report of the Rajahs of Sangora
and Mardelong having also come down.

About an hour after 1 veturned homie the Rajah
sent o confidential Messenger to mo to say that the
celebrated China favmer of the Kwala Muda known by
the name of Pakong Chukur (who was sent from hence
in irons to Quedal with a strong letter requiring him
to be severely punished—being concerned in piracy and
robbery) had been with him two hours before, that he
was then at the house of the head Chinese Merchant
and was going to sail the same evening or yesterday
worning.

CHE ALLANG

a Malay Nackoda, whose boat was observed standing
into the harbour, yesterday morning, the 5 Instant,
was met on landing by the Translator and interrogated.
He was quite ignorant of the reports that had been
circulated here and had no communication with any
person from shore, He reported that he had been on
a voyage to the Northward, near Junk Ceylon collect~
ing Birds nests.  On his way back a few days ago he
went close to the mouth of the Trang river, he met
with an old acquaintance of his, a Malay, who told him
there were upwards of 300 prows in the water at
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Kontanni and that preparations were going on rapidly,
He did not hear whether the Rajah of Ligore was there
ornot. That was all he kaew ; he appeared very in-
different upon the subject.

ABDUL HAMID, Native Writer, who has been
7 years the Translator in the Malay Translator’s Office,
examined before Council, 4 May 1825,

He states that Boomi is well known to bea
Siamese disguised in Malay clothes, that all Siamese
arriving at this place are received and entertained by
him at his house, that he knows a Malay who was the
bearer of a letter about 8 days ago, given to him by
Boomi for some person at Purlis in authority there.
The letter was addressed in the Siamese language:
There are many other persous who have carried letters
for him. Boomi is not married, he merely retains o
prostitute. The house does not belong to Boomi, but
is the property of that woman. It is very generally
believed here that Boomi is a spy of the Siamese, in the
Employ of the Rajah of Ligore.

HAJI, an inhabitant of Purlis, who was inter-
rogated in the presence of the Honble, the Governor
on the 8rd May, at the Secretary's Office, confirmed all
that is stated in the report of the Malay Translator, as
being derived from him.

Haji was the fiest person who informed against
Boomi, and first communicated the intelligence to the
Honorable the Governor.
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ABDULRAHMAN

Head Shroff in the Treasury, whose family has long
resided here, he has been about 8 or 10 years in the
service of Government, has 3 brothers also in the
Public Offices, examined by the Honble. the Governor
5 May 1825,

He is acquainted with Che Etam, one of the four
persons who lately came from Ligore and who remained
behind ; recollects the Malay Translator telling him it
was supposed Che Etam was a spy and left behind for
no good purpose. He prevailed on Che Etam to
disclose to him the designs of the Rajah of Ligore, ho
held out to him a promise of good employ here and
reward if he would divulge all he knows. He did so
and as a pledge of his intention of returning here or
of sending further intelligence if he is detained on
duty by the Rajah of Ligore, he left in Abdulraman’s
hands 200 Dollars. Che Etam stated to him as
follows—he was present at Ligore about three months
ago, when the Rajah, late at night, gave his final
instructions to his Envoys who were last here, he
heard him say he was determined to have the Rajah of
Quedah, that he would never feel secure of possessing
Quedah till he was removed from Penang; that all
the friendly overtures, complimantary letters, presents
of rice &c. were mere stratagems to get him into their
possession, that the Rajah of Ligore saw it was in
vain negotinting further in that way, that he had often
demanded him and been refused, that he was now
resolved to take him by force. A clandestine attempt
was to be made. 30 prows well armed—full of men
with a double set of oars to make a dash at night,
seize the King and make off. The boats were filled
with large Bamboos inside to prevent sinking, if hit
by shot. If attacked 25 or 26 of the prows would
engage in action, the prow with the King on board
and 8 or 4 more would pull off with all speed, towards.
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Quedah ; the others would maintain a running fight ;
when the prow with the Rajah had got well out the
others were to fly also and escape as well as they
could. They calculated however upon losing a con-
siderable number of men in the action. There was
a large piece of iron like a crow bar or hammer
( he rep d it by shewing the thick of hisarm)
with which the Rajah of Quedah’s doors were to ba
wrenched open.

Abdulrahman stated that the rice vendors in the
Bazaar told him Achong was concerting with Macao
Chinese, about 2000 said to be ready to revolt in the
event of the Siamese coming.

Che Etam told Abdulrahman that the Rajah of
Ligore had 15 Children, one of his daughters was
married to the young Chief of Poongha, another to the
Mardelong Chief. His sons wera destined to bs Rajahs
of Quedah, Perak, Salengore, Purlis, Trang, &ca. and
he would thus have the grester part of the Peninsula
under tho control of his family.

The informant was ready to depose on oath to
what he stated. Begged that his name might not
appear, people might injure him ; Any person visiting
Quedah sure to be put to death if suspected of having
given information.

Substance of Enquiry —5 May 1825.

The Master Attendant reports that the Master of
the Brig Sophia had informed him that a great number
of Prows Junks &c. were collected at Junk Ceylon.
That the Siamese had taken possession of Tenasserim
and carried off a number of the Inhabitants—heard
this at Mergui.

Affle—Commander States only what heard at Mergui—That numerous

of the Sophla.

Siamese Prows were at Sea plundering every Vessel,
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that they belonged to a Siamese Chief Southward of
Mergui—That the Siamese had attacked Tenasserim—
Carried off a number of Inhabitants—That the Com-
mander at Mergui had caused them to refund 300 of
them—That the conduct of the Biamese was hostile
and that a reinforcement had been sent for—that the
Shabunder at Mergui informed him that the Simmese
were arming many boats ostensibly for Salengore but
in reality to attack Penang. That while at Quedalt
many boats were building. This in January last.

Saturday 8th May 1825,

A Junk belonging to Che Toah arrived from Purlis,
confirms the report of 30 Prows being equipped, going
to Traang. The Rajah of Ligore certainly there. It is
given out that the fleet is going to Salengore. One of
the Chinamen of the Junk, brother to Kong Shum,
wood merchant here, reported that 2 Bengalis named
Jungley and Noora had been seized by the Siamese and
plundered of all their property. They had gone to
purchase buffaloes. The Siamese said they were spies.
The informant saw a letter which was received from
the Rajah of Ligore to the Chom. Imwmediately on
reading it, orders were given to collect all the Malays.
A second letter also arrived the day before he left.

Saturday 8th May 1825,

Three prows with men, women and children
arrived at the Master Attendant’s Office in the
afternoon. They left Purlis the day before, fled in
consequence of the Siamese forcing all the people into
the Service, all the women to beat paddy, the men to
serve in the boats ; four boats more behind. confirm the
report of 30 prows being ready there, going to Traang.

REPORT of Mr. Roberts, Commander of the
hired Schooner John de Brias, arrived Wednesday
afternoon 11 May 1825, to the Master Attendant and
Acting Secretary.
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Touched at Quedah and delivered the letter. Was
informed by the Choolialis and others there that the
of rice was prohibited. The young Chief
told him it was not, and to prove it several prows were
allowed to take in rice for this place. There is no
doubt however that it was permitted to be exported
only in a very small quantity. He next went to
Poongal. Did not touch at any of the intermediate
vorts except Purlis where he saw 12 or 15 prows.

Did not go near the Traang river's mouth.
Arrived at Quedal yesterday afternoon remained 13
hour.  Sailed again at 5 P. M. Saw the Young Chief
and the Clhom, was informed that, the Rajal of Ligore

few days. The Chom of his own
accord said * We have no inteation of attacking Pulo

was expected in 4

* Penang, if any person tells you so, shew him to me
g, if any | 3

“and 1 will let you see what T will do. We are

* great friends with the Bnglish.”

Captain R. was told abont 8 days ago, when at
Quedals that th
the Rajah of

re going to attack Salengore when
gore arrived. Heard at the same
time from the Choolishs at Quedal that there were
400 prows at Traang : it was balieved by these people
that the armament was destined for Penang. The
Chooliabis expected the English would attack Quedah.

All apparently quict at Quedaly, the young Chief
in fact remarked “Observe we are quite quiet here.”

Captain R. met with no prows and gained no
ather intelligence. ‘The Pya of Poongha and the other
Chiefs had gone to Siam. He did not see the Siamese
boat with Envoys from Traang mentioned by Ismael
Lebby, as having arrived there.

He does not think the Siamese would attack this
place, but he has never been at Traang, Setool or
Lungow, or seen any of the War prows said to be
prepared.
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He says the young Chief told him the object of |
the Rajah’s coming over was to see him and enquired
if Captain Burney was not Governor of Malacca.

Captain R. delivered to me two letters, one from ||
the Chiof of Quedah and the other from the son of the |
Pya of Poongha. He made no particular enquiries
respecting the prows at Traang &ca., as he had no d
orders to that effect, being merely sent to deliver two |
lotters.

(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON | |
The 11th May 1825.

THE BOARD entirely concur in the recom- |
mendation of the President, that the precautionary i
measures should not be relaxed.

ORDERED that the Papers containing the in-
formation lately received relative to the preparations
of the Rajah of Ligore, be sent to the Commanding
Officer of the Troops for his perusal.

THE SECRETARY reports, that the following
letter having passed in circulation and been approved,
was addressed to the Superintendant of Point Welles-
ley, directing him to dispatch the hired Schooner
Commerce to the Northward, for the purpose of
collecting intelligence.

To,

A. D. MAINGY Esquire
Suptdt. of Point Wellesley
“To Bupt. of Point In charge of the fleet of observation.
Wellesioy © May-
128, Sir,

It being considered by the Honble. the Governor
in Council a very desirable object to ascertain, with as
little delay as possible, the exact nature, extent and
probable or avowed destination of the armament stated
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to be collected by the Rajah of Ligore at Traang,
Setool, Lingow, Meraket, Purlis and Quedah, I am
directed by His Honor in Council to desire, that yon
will dispateh the hired Schooner Commerce to the
Northward, with all haste, to collect information upon
these important points.

2. You will give such instructions to the Com-
mander, as you may consider necessary and proper,
with advertence to the line of policy and caution
prescribed to you in your orders.

8. It scems to the Honorable the Governor in
Council expedient that the Commerce shonld be
dispatched in the evening, and that her destination
should not be made known. The Commander should
be directed to proceed direct to Traang and ascertain
if the Rajah of Ligore is at Khontanni as reported.

4. T am desired therefore to urge the necessity
of your impressing him with the particular anxiety of
Government that he should effect this object by a
disereet and conciliatory line of conduct.

5. He should be directed to state at Traang that,
this Government having heard a report of the Rajah of
Ligore being there, is anxions to ascertain the fact in
order that an Envoy may be sent to him, as agreed upon.

6. Upon his return, it will be the Commander’s
duty to make enquiries at Setool, Purlis, Quedah and
the other places where prows are said to be equipped,
velative to their number and states of preparation.

7. You will furnish him with an experienced
Native pilot if procurable, and attach one of the
Malay prows lately engaged to the Commerce for the
purpose of entering the shallow rivers and obtaining
intelligence.
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8. It is expected that this duty may be accom-
plished within the present week, and 1 am desired to
communicate to you the expectation of Government.
that the utmost expedition may be used on the oceasion.

9. Should the Commander of the Commerce fall
in with a fleet of prows exceeding 80 in number
to the Northward in his progress to Traang,

steering
he should retwen immediately and report to you.

1 am &
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Actye, Secry. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis
The § May 1825,
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THE SECRETARY having taken Notes of the
Examination before Council on the 4 Instant of
ACHONG and BOOMI two suspected persons.

EXAMINATION of ACHONG and BOOMI.

Examination of Acheng Son of Low Ammee before Council on

Wednesday 4 May 1825,

Q. How many boats did you
understand were prepared at the
Northward ports of Quedah ?

Q. What did yon understand
to bo the object of their equip-
ment ?

Q. Who gave you this in-
formation ?

Q. Did you enquire of the
Raijal of Ligore himself?

Q. How many meu fit to hear
Arus did you seo at Ligore?

Q. How are they genemlly
armed ?

Q. Did you see armed men at
Quedah?

Q. You suw the prows at
Purlis. Describe them.

Q. When was that #

Q. In what way did the Rajah
of Ligore prevent your going to
Traany, by force or persuasion ?

Q. What was the Rajah’s mo-
tive for preventing your going ?

Q. Did you hear the object of
his going to Traang then ?

A, About 300, all new, viz
at Purlis 120, at Traang a little
more than 100, st Quedah 80.

A. To go to Salengore.

A. The King of Ligore's Min-
ister Choo Lee, a Chinaman.

A. Yes, at first he sid no,
then he acknowledged he did
intend doing so.

A, About 15,000 Siamese be-
sides about 1000 Chinese and 8000
Malays.

A, With Musquets  without
bayonets.

A. No, nor at Purlis.

A. They were about 3 or 4
us burthen each,

A. In the middle of Febry.
last.

A. I asked permission to go,
Dbut he said no, no you had better
go the way you came.

A. Because I was informed
that he was going there himself
and was sending rice across.

A. No, I did not hear what
was his object in going to Traang.
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Q. Did you hear that besides
the guantity of rice said to be
coming over, troops were also
coming ?

A. No, no. 1 heard that
there was 1000 Men coming from
Sangora to Purlis to assist it
finishing prows thera. When 1
enquived the moti nding

or

down to Traang rice, 1 was informed by some of the Rajah of Ligore's

people that there was a famine there.

Q. Did you see any guns any-
whers 7

Q. Did you hear any other
reports about these hoats going
anywhere else except to Saleng-
ore?

old Kingg was killed by the pres
fled from Bangkok on the Mass

A. 1 saw none at Purlis ex-
cept ane Wooden one, and only
two Guns umu»iln the |ml.’l(‘o at
Ligore.

A. Yes. going to Bangkok
There is something
The King
of Ligore is u relation to the old
royal family of Bangkok. The

afterwards.

about that business.

it King. The present Rajah of Ligore
s of his relative.

Wishing to revenge himself the Rajah is endeavouring to collect

a large force of Chinese, Siamese, Malays, Bengalis and all sorts
of people to be in his service but he has got no money ; how can he
get money enough to supply these people? He las taken Quedah
and now he wishes to take Salengore, hearing that there is a great
deal of money there; He prepared sv many boats, not to take
Salengore but to go against Bangkok. This is the information I heard.

Q. Who gave yon this in-
formation ?

Q. What force can he collect,
do you think ?

Q. How many wen could he
collect altogether to go to Bang-
kok ?

Q. What would be the object
of going to Bangkok ?

Q. Do you think he is going
to Salengore ?

A, Choo Lee.

A. 1 do not know whether
they will join or not.

A. I do mot think he could
do so for a length of time. five or
six years.

A. To take his revenge for
the murder of his relation.

A. He is
there.

certainly going
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Q. Did he give ont that he A. No.
was going there 2
Q. Did you hear it from his A. Not from his Siamese
Minister ? Minister, they would be afraid

to mention it to me, but I heard
so from his Chinese Minister
Choo Lee.

Here the Translator reminded Achong of what he had told him
on his arrival, that he had been told by the Rajah of Ligore, he was
about to attack Salengore, and he himself said «* more better, they are
only a set of pirates.” Achong did not deny this, nor did he deny
having said, Captain Burney’s coming was all a trick, that upon his
suggesting to the Rajal of Ligore the probable transfer of Tavoy and
Mergui, he said T want no stolen goods.

Q. Do you know the man A. T have seen that man be-
who accompanied you here isin  fore at Purlis he was acting as
waiting 9 Interpreter to Chom the Siameso
Chief. I think he is a spy.

Q. Did he interpret for you A Yes, he interpreted for
at Purlis 2 me.

Q. How long were you at A, Threo days,
Purlis ?

Q. And you did not ascertain A. No.
his name ?

Q  What language does he A. Malay and Siamese.
interpret in ¥

Q. [shein the service of the A. Tdo not exactly know hut
Chowm of Purlis 7 T suppose he is,

Achong ordered to return in charge of the Constable to town.

Examination of Boomi, a Siamese, before Council on Wednesday
the 4 May 1825,

Q. What is your name ? A. Boomi.
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Q. Is that your Siamese or
Malay name 7

Q. What is your nation

Q. Where were you born ?

Q
any Chi

Are you in the service of
ief

Q. When did you marry ?
Q. How do you gain a live-
Tihood ?
Q. Are you in the habit of
_going to Purlis and Quedal #

Q. What do you go there for?
Q. Where have you been te-
siding here ¥

Q- With whom residing *

Q. Are you acquainted with
“the Chinaman yon have just seen

Q. What was he doing there 7

Q. Were you acquainted at
Purlis ¥

Q. Where did you reside
formerly ?

Q. State the place ?

Q. When did you leave

Pungah ¥

A. When I was at Telibon
formerly my name was Amin,
now the Malays call me Susa,
and the Siamese Boomi.

Ao Malay.

A. At
Trang ).

Teliban  (opposite

A. No, 1 have lived here two
vears and | have got o Wife

A, Alont 2 years ago.

A. Llhave a small prow which
1 send to Purlis to trade.

A. It is a long time since |
was there. It is upwards of G
months since I went to Purlis.

A. To purchase rice to eat
and sell.

A. In Huttons lane.

A, With the Quedah people
who fled,

A, Not acquninted with him,
but I have seen him at Purlis
before.

A Lacted asinterpreter with
China Achong & the Chom.

A, No.

A At Junk Ceylon,

A. At Pungah (Pungali is on
the main).
A. About 16 years ago.

This person was reconducted to the police by the Constable.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 19th May 1825.

THE I'RESIDENT records the following Minute

nd encl, ining farther information relative
to the Armaoient proparing by the Rajah of Ligor at
the Northern Ports of Quedah.

THE PRESIDENT.

T now lay before the Board the Substance of fur-
ther information received relative to the Armament
preparing at Trang and Quedah. The person who
gave it has been on several occasions in attendance on
the Eavoys who came here some time ago, and has
been induced to come forward by the persuasion of
some of his friends here. The letter is one delivered
to him for the two Envoys who were lately here, and
was opened by my direction in hopes of some infor-
mation being obtained relative to the meditated attack
on this Island. Altho' the information contains little
more than we already possess, as to the immediate
objects of the armament it serves to shew in a clear
light the long entertained projects of the Rajah of
Ligor against this Island and may be depended on so
far as to prove the expediency of our being at all times
on our guard. It morcover shews the necessity of o
vigilant Police in preventing and cautioning their
intrigues, to which the open and unrestricted in-
terconrse with every part of the opposite Coast has
given rise and to which a certain portion of our
Population seem to be unhappily addicted.

The plans said to be in view by the Rajah of
Ligor are such as would naturally enough present
themselves under present circumstances. The Siamese
Chiefs on this part of the Peninsula have for the last
fifty years been constantly menaced by the Burmese
and in continual alarm of attack, their whole time,
Troops and attention have been engaged in means of
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resistance. The occupation of Tavoy and Mergui by a
British force has released them from their fear on that
score. It is evident that they consider our troops
fully engaged by the War and the present period
appears to them an opportunity not to be lost for

g their quest over the Peninsula. It
seems necessary therefore that some decided line of
policy should te determined on, and as bearing on the
question a brief reference to past transactions becomes
necessary.

This Island was transferred to us by the King of
Quedah, the King was at that period subject to the
alternate annoyance from Ava and Siam then strug-
gling for superiority. It is clear that one of his
objects in giving us the Island, I may rather say,
the sole one was to procure for himsell a Powerful
Ally and Protector in the English Government to
defend him against both ; a defensive alliance forms
one of the Articles of Cession delivered by the King
of Quedah to Captain Light. Under those Articles
the British occupied the Island. After obtaining it
indeed the defensive Article was disallowed on the
ground that we onght not to entangle ourselves with the
Court of Siam, but a large Annual Sum was offered
and 10,000 Dollars Per Annum alternately accepted.

No great cordiality seems to have subsisted be-
tween Quedah and this Island. The King who ceded
the Island and his Son and Successor continued to
labor under the exactions of his neighbour the Siamese
Chief of Ligor. The cession of the Island to the British
seems indeed to have brought upon him the increased
ill will of the Sinmese, the more pressed the more
anxiously he looked for our aid, and the more he felt
the complete disappointment, for we allowed him to
be gradually overpowered. He was compelled to
attack Perak in order to enforce the tender of the
Boongah Mass by that State, a mark of homage never
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before paid and having weakened himself by that
attack and i itated himself for resi was in
his turn attacked by the Rajah of Ligor and driven
out of his Kingdom. Ie found refuge in this Island.

r the question of right

m over Quodah seo Min-

noted herounder.

Mr. Clubloy's Minute 28 August
1823,

- - 20ctn 1823,
Mr. Phillp's Minute % 27

rom the tonor of

Most of his family were taken and are
now prisoners and many of his ad-
herents were put to death.

We have allowed the Rajah of
Ligor to assume the Government of
Quedah. His power, his influence

th Mr,
'y both as to tho right and
Ppolicy of supporting the King.

his ambition and @ are now
much increased, he has at this mo-
ment collected a large force professed-

* These Minutes ly to attack Salengore, but it is believed also if a

will be copled

ne Recards [3¥0rable opportunity offers to attack this Island.

Altho” we allowed the King of Quedah to be driven
out of his Kingdom we have still sheltered him here.
By protecting the King after abandoning his kingdom
we have ensured the lasting animosity of the Rajah of
Ligor and by leaving the resources of his Kingdom at
his disposal we liave promoted his views of gratifying
it. [fthe King of Quedah really was a fugitive vassal
who had failed in his his allegiance, who without
authority had given away an Island belonging to the
superior State, it may be questioned whether we had
a right to protect him or to hold the Island except
on the same feudal tenure from the Siamese Empire.
There are two modes of proceeding—one to consider
the King as an independent Sovereign and the
grant of the Island legitimate and to have supported
that position, the cther to have refused protection
to the King as a feudal dependent, to have left him
to seek a residence elsewhero, and to have settled the
terms with the King of Siam, in that case the Lord
Paramount, on which we were to hold the Island.
One or other of the two, it seems to me, we must now
pursue. We must either consider the Siamese Chiefs
as undue occupants of Quedah, or acknowledging the
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right, endeavour to make them our friends, and
that we cannot do while the King of Quedah is
established here. The King's presence here keeps up
unceasing feelings of hostility, and it is naturally his
object, as that of his family, to keep us on bad terms
with the Siamese Authorities. They can never place
unlimited confidence in us while we protect the King
within a few Miles of his ancient Kingdom, keeping

up a constant intrigne and communication with his
Malayan Subjects. To have maintained the King as
an Ally would it appears to me have been the right
course, supported by every prineiple of Justice and
wood Policy, but after abandoning that course to keep
him here with rank and pension attached, is only to
keep alive animosity and dispute, and to hold out an
uncensing provocative to attack. In the event of the
second mode being pursued, that i, in the event of its

being determined to relinquish all attempts at his
restoration by Treaty or otherwise o more distant place
inust be found for him,

The interposition of the Netherlands Government
of Malacea and the Treaty made by their Government
with Perak and Salengore served as o barrier against
the encroachments of the Siamese on this side of the
Peninsula. I the Ligor Chief succeeds in subjugating
those States completely, over which Siam possesses not
a vestige of legitimate supremacy we shall have n
long line of Coast filled with hostile Prows, always
on the Watch to take us by Surprize. A very
great increase of our defensive means will be required.
If they subdue Perak and Salengore they bonder on
Malacea, and there is nothing to stop them down to
Johor.  Both Malacea and Singapore will then be
placed in the state we are in now. Any Commercial
advantages to be expected from the Peninsula will be
quite out of the question, the whole access to the
interior will be shut up and the valuable productions
of the Peninsula intercepted.
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The nature and description of our population is
another source of embarrassment to us and of support
to our hostile Neighbours. The Chinese are generally
connected with the Siamese Chiefs. They farm their
revenue as they do ours, the Rajak of Ligor is himself
the Son of a China Man. The Chinese are treated
there with more favor than any other Nation; they
pay only half of the established duty at the Sinmese
Ports; they are no doubt an active and industrious
race, the most useful settlers we have, but they are
the most cunning and intriguing. They are here
under British Administration, let loose from the severe
Iaws and control of their own Government, and out of
nine thousand on this lsland, three thousand at least
ars of a very dubious character. They have often been
suspected, and on a late occasion have been directly
accused of entering into a league with the Rajah of
Ligor to rise in case of an attack on the Island, Altho
managed with a degree of caution that eludes what
may be termed Judicial Proof, enough has transpired
to convince me that an understanding subsists between
the Rajah of Ligor and soms of our principal Chinese
Inhabitants. That they did actually connect themselves
with Ligoron a former occasion appears clear from
the Note of the Superintendant of Police attached to
the Deposition of Shim Yep in the following words :—
“ When the Rajah of Ligor was at Quedah 2 or 8 years
ago he carried on a good deal of secret correspondonce
with the Canton or Macao Chinese of the place, got
numbers of them to go in some Junks he equipped and
sent them to cruize to the Northward of and about
Junk Ceylon, where they were reported, and I believe
with some truth to have committed atrocious Acts
of Piracy.”  Siamese are known to be a most treacher-
ous and deceitful race; all that we have ever heard
or read of the cunning and duplicity of the Natives of
the Continent of India falls far short of the Character
of the Siamese. Friendly professions form a part
of their system of warfare, a common preparatory step
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to throw their victim off his guard, and while unaware
to destroy him, nor do I entertain the slightest doubt
that any accidental diminution of our force, or even
its continuance op the same reduced seale on which
it is at present will ultimately produce an attack from
the Rajah of Ligor.

The establishment, now composed of less than 800
men, was adapted to a state of things widely different
from the present. We had then a friendly Malay State
on our frontier which rather looked to us for protection
than contemplated aggression ; while we have now, I
need not say, a State growing in power which owes its
growth to our forbearance, and looks on this Island as
the only bar to boundless dominion over the whole Pen-
insula. and we may be assured will never cease, unless
repressed by strong measures, to look upon our destruc~
tion as essential to its own objects of nggrandizement.
Our pop is now much i d, but o certain
portion of it not of a description calenlated to add to our
security, but rather to requive encreased vigilance,
and means of control. When we consider the nature
of that portion of our population already described,
mere fugitives from China, of unsettled habits, with-
out families in any way to attach them to the Island,
connected with the most dangerous of our Neighbours,
I cannot but view our tenure of this Island as much
more insecure than has been hitherto supposed. It
has been the policy of every one of our Indian States-
men to keep up between them and the more powerful,
the petty independent States found in existence.
The Malay States stood to our Settlements in the
Straits exactly in that relation between us and Siam,
and I am convinced it will be a subject of regret
every day the more manifest that we allowed the safo
principle to be laid aside in the case of Quedah.
Erroneous steps should if possible be retraced and the
restoration of the King of Quedsh by Treaty or
on the first aggression of Ligore on justifiable grounds,




[127]

should be the course pursued. Itis true that temporary
measures must now for a time be pursued, We are
at War with the Burmans, and the Neutrality at least
of the Siameso is desirable. Excepting in self defence
it would mot be advisable at present to incur the
risk of rupture by any Act of our own. We should
assume therefore, such a defensive position as will
intimidate from attack and be prepared hereafter
on due provocation to adopt the line of conduct cal-
culated to place our political interests on a sure
footing. The whole Malay race are averse to the
Dominion of the Siamese and every open and avowed
support offered by the British Government. ‘The
setting up of a Malay Government at Quedah for
example would ensure the support and co-operation of
the whole of that Population on the Peninsula,

The most advisable line of Policy to be observed
generally in the Malay Peninsula scems to me to bo
that which should have been pursued at Quedah.
Treaties offensive and defensive should be made with
the whole of the Petty States of Perak, Salengore,
Johore, Pahang, Tranganu and Kelantan. Their
ind d should be maintained so as to excludo
the Siamese entirely from our proximity. The forma-
tion of such Treaties cannot justly be considered as
any interference with the Siamese Government which
holds over them no legitimate right of superiority.
Had a Treaty offensive and defensive been made with
the King of Quedah it is clear to me, the Siamese
would not have ventured to attack him, and such
‘Treaties with the other States on the Peninsula would
I am confident have the effect of preventing aggression;
there scems indeed to be no other certain mode of
preventing our coming in contact with the Siamese at
our three Settlements in the Straits. To my judgment
nothing but the interfe of the British G
in their behalf can save these States from complete
subjugation by the Siamese.
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The supposed advantage of acquiring additional
Territory on the opposite shore, has it appears on the
records been often suggested, and such indeed forms
one of the Articles of Treaty proposed by Mr. Crawfurd.
Tt das not uppear to me that such would be dlesirable
in Comparison with the ion of the Malay

Government ; as a secondary measure indeed, in the
event of the first Arrangement not. being carried into
effect, it might certainly be highly beneficial in
keeping the
venting the formation of a large force too near the
Island. Extension of Territory is certainly not desirable

mese at a greater distance and pre-

in this quarter the [ “much ] lessto us [as] the com-
cribied would estab-
lish with the Malay States such a degren of influence

pletion of Treaties of the nature d

as would ensure all the advantages that would result
from actual pos

ions if freedom of Trade and unres-
tricted intercourse are indeed all that can be required.

Tho establishment and discreet exercise of British
influence over those States must tend materially to the

lioration of this G t. the reformation of
the Peaple, and the repression of those piratical

proceedings which arose from the unsettled and lax
state of administration. The invasion of Quedah by the
Siamese expelled from their country and converted
many of the (

iefs of that State into Pirates, and the
part

same canse will produce the same effect on ev

of the Peninsula. In a political and commercial point
of view, the support of these in independenco of Siam

seems a measurs of unguestionable policy ; Considera-
tions of humanity no less point out the propriety of
affording our protection to the numberless Inhabitants
of those extensive Countries rather than submitting
them for War to the merciless domination of ruthless
barbarians.

The Settlements in the Straits were established for
purposes purely ial, and political ar
were not probably intended to be carried on thro' their
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medium, but it must be recollected, that if they
commercially prosper a great accumulation of valuable
property must be the result, affarding always strong
temptation for plunder. Our security hitherto has
mainly consisted in the divided condition of Neigh-
bouring Governments, no one of which could ever
hazard an Attack on o British Settlement, but if a
wore powerful State e allowed to overwhelm them
and concentrate their resources our security must be
in a great weasure destroyed.

The disposition already evinced by the Siamese
and at so carly a period, to take advantage of their
relief from Burman Aggression, bears distinctly on the
question of contemplated cession to that Government
on the Coast of Tenasserim, and points out the ex-
pediency of making the restoration of the Malay
Government at Quedah, the independence of the Malay
Peninsula, and the Establishment of a strong Military
Post at Mergui, indispensable accompaniments to such
cession.  Without such it may be a question for con-
sideration, whether it would not be more advisable to
reduce the power of the Burmese in other Quarters
than where it has proved so useful a Counterpoise to
the encroaching spirit of the Siamese. The Views of
that Nation in respect to the Peninsula are too obvious
to be mistaken, and being satisfied that the question
must sooner or later come into discussion, 1 hayve
thought it better to submit at once the observations
that have occurred to me. I wish it however to be
understood, that I do so, only for the consideration of
Superior Authorities: the course of policy recom-
mended is one of too much importance to be under-
taken without their deliberation and ultimate sanction.

= el On perusing the letters noted in the margin it
1816 appears that the extent of the Military Establishment
’"::::";::: of this Island has already come under discussion ;
souyise.  reduction has been contemplated even when the
Lotters 22,33, 24 pyumber of Troops was less than at present. Consider-
&35 Cons. 21 TP
March1922.  ing however the nature of our situation, a sense of
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duty compels me to record my conscientions opinion
that such a force is, under change of circumstances»
quite inadequate to ensure us against hostile attempts,
r to command the requisite degree of influence and
respect with the neighbouring States.

NOTE. See:itec ""““""‘x By the Memorandum of the Com~
T o e nronry manding Officer delivered on & lato

Stam.

Mot copled, Im- occasion (No. 1), it does not appear
that our present disposable force could
in his opinion do more than defend the Town, leaving
all the rest of the property of the Island at the Mercy
of an Enemy.

Altho' the force on the Island is
not much less than what has hitherto
been considered sufficient, 1 confess
thc scale 1s far too low to meet the

t
At Rangoon -

On the Istana

of the time. In dis-
cussing the question of the Military
Establishment of this lsland it must
be always held in mind, First, That
CI 1§ we are far removed from the other
. . . res Presidencies from whence alone rein-

forcements could be drawn. If such
were required, however imperiously, it is not within
the verge of possibility that they could reach us within
three Months of the dispatch of the Application.
Second, That we cannot here as may be done at the
other Presidencies on emergencies derive any Military
aid from our own population. Thirdly, it must be
recollected that tho' mot so frequent, this Island is
liable to the same mortal and destructive diseases
which prevail in the other parts of India; if tho
number of troops were reduced below the scale barely
necessary for the relief of the Guards the occurrence of
the epidemic Cholera for a Week would be fatal to the
security of the Island. It must be recollected also
that a Military force barely adequate to defence in
caso of attack can never ensure and command that
respect indi ble for the i of the
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British interests in this quarter, and it will not escapo
the observation of those conversant with India Affaire,
how far a respectable position by preventing attack
is calculated to save the expence and inconvenience of
actual hostility.

Under all these circumstances the Annexed Me-
morandum seems to me to contain the scale at which
the regular Military Establishment for the gencral
defence of the Island should be maintained, so as to
admit of a disposable force of Six hundred Men ; any
immediate addition to the regular troops of the Island
cannot at present be expected, but I propose that
application be made to the Supreme Government for
two hundred and fifty recruits to encrease the strength
of the Local Corps to that contemplated in tho
Memorandum.

Situated as we are the Marine Establishment
must be reckoned as a material part of onr defence. I
find that establishment before the dispatch of the
Vessels to Rangoon consisted of the local Brig Jessy 6
Guns, the Bombay Cruizer “Prince of Wales” 12
Guns.  On my arrival here the only Armed Vessel
was the Schooner used as a Police Vessel with 2 Guns.
The Jessy has since returned, but in a disabled
state. It is only a more attentive consideration of all
the circumstances of our situation, that has led me to
regret the absence of the Bombay Cruizer, as onr
bareness in this respect may have given encouragement;
to these extensive preparations of which we hear so
much. Tt is desirable therefore that the original state
of Marine defence should be restored without loss of
time, according to the Memorandum annexed

A Bombay Cruizer of 18 Guns) One of these in the
A Brig of 14 Guns roads the other cruiz-
4 Gun Boats of 4 Guns each | ing off the Island.
One at the North end, one at the South, one at the
West side of the Island, the other in the Harbour.
(Signed ) R. FULLERTON
18th May 1825.
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PROPOSED FORCE for the Security of the
1SLAND.

7 Companies of regular of 120 each ...840
5 Companies of Local of 100 each
1 Company of Golandauze ...
European Attillery...

1500 Men
DISTRIBUTION
“Town Lines-Regulars-2 Compnnicx ...240
Golandauze ... ... cos was O
In the Fort European Arull»:r\ dag iwee 100
350
DETACHMENTS
Burmah Town-Locals 50
James Town-Ditto ... ... we e 80
Western side of the Island Dmu we se 50
Wellesley Province Ditto... 100
Employed in Armed Vessels 4 .. 40
200
CANTONMENT.
Regular--5 Camp:mms wer ave s wa800
Locals .o wee r wee e e 2210
Golandanze e wee oo wee e 0 50
860
1500

18th May 1825,
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SUBSTANCE of information derived from Cho
Etam on Sunday the 15 May 1825.

States that Kombeng a Chencheu Chinaman who
came here with Boome on his .last return fled im-
mediately on that person’s apprehension, He was an
intelligencer of the Rajah of Ligor. Informant knows
tho shop whers he used to stay at in Town, near Sheak
Hussain’s in Beach Street, dws not know the Name
of the Shopkeeper. Kombeng has been long in the
Rajah of Ligor's Service.

Boomi has been employed upwards of two Yyears
by the Rajah of Ligor. Boomi enticed a Chinaman to
g0 to Quedah about 8 Months ago. That man has
lately arrived from Rangoon. He was sent on to Ligor,
to give News of the War, from thence forwarded to
Bangkok. The Rajah gave Boomi a Pending and 3
Coyans of Rice for this Service. The Rajah of Ligor
gave the Chinaman fine Cloth and sent a present
of § Coyan of Rice to his father who resides hero
by Kon Aksoon and Naci Neem.

Not long since Baomi also enticad two Burmahs
to go to Quedah, who were in like manner forwarded
to Ligor and the Capital. Informant says he
understands some Complaints have been made at the
Police by the relations of these Men.

When Informant was here some months ago with
Kon Aksoon and others they endeavoured to entico
away two of the Crew of the Cochin China Junk
[which] had arrived a short time previously from
Tavoy—they gave him Opium and spent about 40
Dollars in presents to them. The Men engaged to go
with them, but disappointed them.

Boomi corresponds with some people in Authority
at Purlis. His Prow arrived here 4 or 5 days ago
from thence loaded with rice,

Rajah of Ligor thinks the English cannot conquer
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Ava, considers all our reports of conquests false,
abused Informant because he stated what he heard
here, sent his people here to enquire particularly.
The observation to one of his Envoys who told him of
our Conquests was “ tis false, what Conquer a Country
so populous that their in the Morning
would form a mountain and their a
River.” The Rajah was rather surprized however to
hear of our Men of War, our Numbers were much
exaggerated to him.

Informant was present when the Rajah of Ligor
directed Boomi to go to Pinang and entice 2 Burmahs.
This was about 5 months ago, the Rajah gave Boomi
200 Dollars for the purpose.

Informant was on his way here in the suite of the
Envoys, Kon Aksoon and Nai Neem, when Achong
went across to Ligor. He heard that his proceedings
were very extraordinary. He told the Rajah that the
objections of taking Salengore did not ariso from any
orders from Europe or Bengal, they were the mere
wishes of the Government here, which had no authority
of consequence. He advised him to take Salengore by
all means; he said the Penang Government only
wished to frighten him, the objections here were
nothing. Achong told him he would not take Penang
openly by any attack, but by stealth it might be done.
The Rajah was rather distrustful of Achong, and
reserved for some time, on one occasion he said * We
“have not got orders to take Penang, we are to take
“ Salengore first.”

The Rajah enquired how many Chinamen there
were at Penang. Achong said about 7,000, he asked
how many of them were wealthy, Achong replied about
50—there were about 200 more who were each posses~
sed of small capitals from 200 to 300 Dollars, the rest
wereall poor labourers and Mechanics. Achong said he
could get a great number to assist and join the Rajah




[1s5]

of Ligor. The Rajah was silent for a time and then
replied “this is an after business.” Achong informed
him we had very few troops here, having sent some
away with o Cruizer to assist at Rangoon.

The following is a list of the Prows built and
equipped at Khintauni. Thero were built 120 large
Prows from 4 to 6 Coyans besides a few of a different:
Construction. At Setool 50, at Ligor 19, Purlis 21,
Quedsh 11, all large. Of small Boats there wero
equipped at Setool 18, Lingow 10, Mauket 20, Kubong
Boyce 20, Purlis 12, Kedah 5, making in all somewhat
more than 200 of a large size and 100 small.

Of the above number 50 are filled with 2 sets of
Oars (24 Oars on a side) to carry from 50 to 80 men
each. They have 2 Guns at the Bow, each 6 Cubits long
and 8 long Rantackas and Lelas brass. 150 and
upwards have one large Gun each, with from 4 to 6
Rantackas and Lelas (Swivels). The small boats have
swivels and carry about 20 men each.

In all the Prows there are Bamboos inside to
make them buoyant and they carry their water in long
Jjoints of Bamboos.

The Troops assembled at Traang are as nearly as
Informant can recollect 1,500 Ligoreans, 2000 from
Mardelong, 1,000 from T! g, 1000 from Singora,
1000 Siamese and Malays of the Traang district, 100
Chinese, besides the people from Purlis, Quedah and
other places. About 7000 men will accompany the
Rajah of Ligor to Quedah, the ryots will increase the
number very considerably. 8 Coyans of Rice are
daily beat and prepared at Quedah for the Armament.
The Rajoh has 100 Elephants with him.

At Purlis there are two large sheds filled with
¢harp pointed sticks of hard wood to put in the paths,
they are of this shape ® or some thing like it.

The Rajah has about 4,000 Muskets at Traang,




[136]

The Rajah has about 4,000 Muskets at Traang,
part of his men will be armed ‘with them, the rest with
long swords and Knives, each Man has a Sword and
a Knife. They have no Spears or Pikes with them.

The principal Chiefs at Traang are the Son of the
Murdelong Rajoh (the father is old and infirm ) 4
Chiefs from Singora, the Brother of the Rajah of Ligor
called Pounun or Tounun by others Tautaiong Nai Tap,
Commander in Chief in conjunction with Chou Pia-
ban, who is at Quedah and who led on the attack at
that place. The other Chiefs are Chom Rong and
Aluang Tewang of Ligor, also Pakdi Song Kram.

Before Informant left Quedah the Son of the
Rajah had received two letters from his father, one
stating that he would arrive on the 27th Ramdlam, this
day, and the other that he would reach [there] on the
7th Shawal, 10 days hence. He directed his Agents who
were here, a few days ago to remain 4 days and see what
preparations had been made and going on, also to
sound the disposition respecting Salengore—desired
them not to allude to it however publicly, to return to
Traang with the information, although they said they
were to wait his arrival at Quedah. Informant has
been directed to do the snwe, to ascertain also, if any
correspondence had passed between the Governor and
the Rajah of Salengore upon the subject ot the
meditated attack and if Government had supplied the
Chief of Salengore with Arms and Ammunition.

The Chow Piaban, the Minister at Quedsh by
way of inducing the Malays to exert themselves in
the Attack upon Salengore, says *if you want hand-
some Wives, now is your time.”

The Tukang Chukur or Farmer of Kwala
Mooda who has been arrested here, was sent to
purchase 10 Coyans of Salt for the use of the troops
and collected news. He sent his Prow on and re-
mained at the House of the head China Merchant here.
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The Rajah heard of Boomi's seizure ; the son of
the Rajah said to Informant a few days ago “ Boomi
is seized, perhaps you will be seized too if you go to
Pulo Penang, if you think you can go, but you must
judge whether it will be advisable.” The Rajalt
dirccted him to lay out 100 Dollars or so in trying to
get Boomi out. Informant said the white people do
not require gold and he did not think he would
succeed. The Chief said “but you will be able to
get some of the Native Ssrvants to assist you, do
the best you can.” The Chief is much perplexed
by this business, but Informant says the Rajah is
very cunning and has great command of himself,
He will not appear to notice it, nor will he
appear to observe the preparations here, he will
write very civilly.

Orders were sent to prepara everything at Quedal,
the Armament would remain only 6 or T days it was
intended as the Rajah was afraid his people would be
dispersing and that it wonld be diffienlt to keep the
the Malays together.,

It was the Rajal's intention to have sent, and
Informant thinks he will still send a letter requesting
permission for the fleet to pass through this Harbour
on their way to Salengore. If refused he will go
outside. When he was told it was likely the Penang
Government would object to his going to Salengore,
he said ¢ what, do they command the sea, the Vessels
can go outside.”

The invitation to the Rajah of Quedah is only a
continuation of the stratagems which he has been
employing to get that Chief into his possession. He
hus tried these overtures some time and his patience
is now mnearly exhausted. There is an order from
the Emperor to bring him to the Capital and he has
given the Ligor Chief full power over Kedsh and all
the States on this side the Peninsula. If the Rajah
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of Kedah is got hold of, he will be put in irons and
kept for life at the Capital. There are now there and
have been for some years, 3 or 4 Native Chiefs in irons.

Informant heard the Rajah of Ligor planning an
attack upon Penang. This was about a year ago.
There was to be a land and Sea force ; 200 Prows wers
the number collected ; they were to attack at several
points simultaneonsly. The largest squadron was to
land near at Tanjong Tokong (Pulo Teecoos), others
were to advance to Teluk Ayer Rajah, that is the
North Beach, a few to the back of the Island and some
to Soonghi Cluan. There were to be 4000 Men in
the Prows. At the same time 4000 Men were to
pass over from Kwala Mooda outside the Honble.
Company's Boundary and come down suddenly upon
Prye, burn that place, seize all the Boats and come over
in the confusion by night. All the Attap Houses
were to be set fire to. The Chinese were expected to
join, for the sake of plunder.

It was supposed the Buropeans would escape partly
on board ship and part would take to the Hills, the
Ships were not intended to be attacked. The Detach-
ment from the opposite shore were to take the Fort,
the Rajah had been informed the Seapoys resided at
a great distance. Parties were therefore to prevent
their coming into Town while the force from Prye taok
the Fort and other parties were engaged setting firo
to the Houses and plundering.

1t was thought that if the Seapoys did get into
Town they would not be able to distinguish the Siameso
from other people and would therefore hesitate to attack
them. This plan was mentioned and deliberated upon
about the time the Burmah War commenced. The
Rajah was aware that he could not hold possession
above 10 or 12 days, as ships would arrive. They were
however to stay in the Fort and collect the booty and
ship it on board the Prows.  Informant has not heard
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the Rajah talking of this lately, lio has not seen His
Highness for several months. He has beon under his
Son's onders at Quedah.

Some Months ago when Informant was at Ligor
he heard the Rajah say to the Envoys who were sent
here at that time, in whose hut he was, that if he could
not get the Rajah of Quedah by fair persuasion and
stratagem, he would send o few Prows at night, when
very dark.  They were to carry a large Party of Select
Men, armed with musquete. They were to land at the
Cocoanut Tope opposite the Church Yard, as thero
were no Houses close to the Beach and the Trees
tavoured concealment. It was not intended to put the
Seapoys guard to Death ; but to rush upon them sud-
denly and tie their hands ; parties were to guard the
Boats while n select few dashed up, broke open the
Rajah’s doors with a hammer prepared for the purpose
and ran off with him and as many of his Women and
Valuables as they could seize.

One plan was, to have Boats intended for the
Service out about the Boontings under pretence of
looking for Pirates to be close at hand to dart in.
‘This scheme was one of the first in contemplation, and
that was the object of the Rajal’s signifying to Gover-
nor Phillips that he intended to send down Prows to
Cruize near this Island. Mr. P. told him, if more were
sent at a time than 10 near the Island they would be
treated as Enemies.

It was then determined to select a dark night
when the wind was favourable to dispatch the Prows
from Quedah at 6 o'clock in the evening, and they were
expected to reach by 2 o'clock in the morning. The
Rajah has had several Plans, some times to send many,
sometimes a few Boats.

Informant is not certain, but he thinks that if the
Rajah observes we are not on our guard, he will
attack this Island. He has a very imperfect and
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unfavorable idea of our power, he thinks Siam all
powerful. The Rajah’s idea is that if he attacks
Salengore now, even against our will, and takes the
King of Quedah by force, it will be overlooked, as we
are too busy at present with Ava, and our Ships
&ea. are employed,

“The Rajah has never had the least expectation of
thoe English king him. His Cy pond here
have kept him well informed. Besides Achong told
him we could not do so without orders from Bengal or
Europe. He thinks too, we have not the means of
following him,

The Rajoh intends remaining at Quedah till
Salengore is taken. He is going to send the Perak
Chiefs to Salengore and remove the Salengore Chiefs
to Perak, when he conquers that place, by which ho
thinks his own Chiefs will be better able to preserve
peace.  There will be two Principal Siamese Chiefs at
cach placo for a time. If the King of Salengore is
seized, he will be conveyed to the Capital and put
in irons.

The Chow Pya of Liger has two legitimate sons
and six natural sons, besides several daughters, in all
a family of 15 or 16. One of his legitimate sons is
Rajuh of Traang, another is at Bangkok, two natural
sons at Quedah, one at Setool, and the others destined
to be eventually Rajabs of Perak and Salengore. One
of the Sons is going to marry the Daughter of the
Pya of Poongha, and another, the daughter of the
Mardelong Rajah (on these two last points my former
information was accidentally misstated a little ).

His Highness was well aware that the Governor
would not accept his invitation to go to Quedah ; if an
Agent is sent he wishes to ask permission to pass
through the Harbour to Salengore; he will even to
gain his point offer to send his Son or some of his
Chiefs here as a pledge of his good intentions.
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There is a man named Doolien, alias Wan Abdul-
rahim, a half cast Hindoo, who went to Quedal a con-
siderable time ago, when the Rajah was there. This
Man agreed to seize the King and assist in getting him
into the Boats, he said he had 40 or 50 Men to assist.
He received Two hundred Dollars as an Advance, was
promised a handsome reward. Doolien came here with
the money. The Rajah offered 100 Dollars to any
person who would bring him to Quedah, and vowed he
would put him to death for betraying him.

Nai Sampau, who was lately here, is another
Collector of intelligence for the Rajah.

Informant in conclusion states that he does not
know what the Rajah of Ligor’s present plans are, that
the Arrangements are to be made and the orders issued
upon the arrival of the armament at Quedah, that the
orders will be confided principally to Nai Top and
Chom Peaban.

Informant has part of his family still at Quedah
which has induced him to remain in the employ of the
Rajah of Ligor. He has endeavoured to get his wife
away, but cannot. He has been alarmed too at the
apprehension of Boomi and being now locked upon as
a suspected person himselfand knowing that he cannot
continue his avocations of Intelligence for the Rajah,
he has resolved to declare all he knm\'l, of which the

is the sub He d many
anecdotes in hu Narrative, tending to shew the
bitious and i ing ch: of the Ligor Rajah

These I have not dsemed it necessary to insert here.

Informant proposes returning to Quedah in a fow
days as directed. Ho has brought a small quantity
of Rice for Sale, thinks his apprehension by the Police
likely to be beneficial and it will avert suspicion of his



[142]

having given the information, hopes to be able to
return here shortly with further intelligence. He
states that he would be put to death instantly, if
he were suspected of having given this information.
He concluded * my life is in your hands.”

The above information was given with great
clearness in the presence of two Confidential Malay
Writers. Informant several times hesitated and re-
minded me that he had a Wife and Child at Quedah
and that his lifo was at stake.

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Tr. to Govt.

PENANG
15 May 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 19th May 1825,

MINUTE by MR. CLUBLEY.

1 have read the Honorable the President’s Minute
with much attention and have again considered the
Malay Translator's Initelligence, as well as the informa-
tion he has recently collected from a Malay man named
Che Etam.

Whatever doubts there may however be regarding
the, authenticity of Che Etam's i jion on many
points, it is certain that there are great preparations
making by the Rajah of Ligor both by Sea and Land,
that his Boats have been preparing in the different
Rivers for the last 8 years not only without our
knowledge, but with studious precautions against our
becoming acquainted with their extent, and that they
are now launched forth, manned and equipped, and
are ready to start on some hostile project.

Looking therefore to the certainty of these equip-
ments, to the intelligence received on the one hand
that this Island is to be the destination of the
Armament, and the Rajah of Kedah the object of
it—and on the other, which I think the more correct,
that Salengore is the object, I think they cannot
be viewed with indi , or without impressing on
ns the conviction that such floating expeditions ought
not to be permitted to assemble exciting not only
alarm at this Settlement for the moment, but rendering
us continually liable to the same result.

In a Minute which I recorded under date the
16th ber 1823 * I dep d the Siamese
ascendancy on the Western side of the Malay Peninsula,
in the expectation that they would thus be enabled to
establish as they have now done a Naval Force. 1
calculated thea on the Employment of such Force
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against their Birman Enemies; but the Effect is the
same if it is to be directed against British Interests,
which any invasion of Salengore or other States in the
Straits of Malacea must necessarily be considered.

Regarding the general objects of policy which the
President has discussed at length in his Minute, I beg
to express my entire concurrence in their justice and
propriety, and with reference to the Miniutes which I
hiad the honor to record on this Question two years
ago, I take this opportunity of repeating my decided
conviction that nothing short of the actual restoration
of the Malay Government to Kedah, guaranteed by our
protection, will ever be effectual to secure the tran-
quillity and prosperity of that Country.

(Signed) W. A. CLUBLEY
10th May 1825.

THE BOARD unanimously concurs in the neces-

sity and propriety of continuing a vigilant sup
dence over the movements of the Rajah of Ligore's
A t and of inui; laxed the precau-

tionary measures already adopted for the safety of this
Settlement, for the purpose of allaying the apprehen-
sions of the Native Inhabitants.

-
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THE PRESIDENT lays before the Board the
following Documents—Nos. 1 to b.

RAJAH of LIGOR.

No. 1.
Translation

of a letter from the Rajah of Ligore to the Honble.
Robert Fullerton Esquire, Governor of Pulo Penang.

( After Compliments. )

May my friend know that with respect to Captain
Burney's being sent to consider upon all business, 1
was excessively delighted, for 1 am very desirous to
prolong and encrease friendship: 1 senta letter by
China Achong stating that 1 was coming to Quedah to
be near my friend, in order that intercourse may be
easy, and that business may be conducted with facility.
The cause of my delay has been an attack of
fever and ague, but I am now arrived at Traang and
am coming to Quedah agreeably to the letter sent by
China Achong.

T have heard that some Malays and Chinese have
been carrying various falso intelligence in order to
excito suspicion in my friend. The Country of Siam.
has long been on friendly terms with the English and
Commerce has been conducted. The Siamese will buy
many sorts of English Goods and consider how friend-
ship may be prolonged and extended, and trade and
intercourse continue.

When I sent people before, my friend received
them with pleasure, and furnished them with o place
to reside in. 1 was very happy. If my friend sends
ony person here, he will be received in a proper
manner to the rules of friendshi;

When I arrive at Quedah, I will send a letter to
give notice, and any business that may be wished to
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be discussed will be finally settled, that a better and
more friendly understanding than formerly may be
promoted. My friend and I have been conducting &
correspondence, but we have mnot been personally
acquainted or conversed together. If we could meet
and converse, it would be much better, in order that
friendship and regard might be established, that there
might be mutual confidence for the time to come.

1If consistent with the customs of the English, to
come and meet me at Quedah, do my friend come and
meet me, and form a durable friendship, as herein
mentioned. If not agreeable to the English customs to
come, my friend may send a contidential person, in
order that we may consider the road of friendship and
amicable intercourse.

1 send my friend a pieco of wearing cloth as a
specimen of Siamese Manufacture, and as a token of
friendship.

With respect to this letter which I send and is
written in Malay as those in futura will be, if tho
Malay Writer commits a mistake or writes contrary to
the customs of the English, or in any other way errs,
do not let my friend be suspicious. If my friend has
any doubts upon any parts of my letters, will he send
me a lettor and acquaint me.

When Koon Aksorn and Solyman have arrived at
Pulo Penang and delivered this letter, let my friend
reply to the letter agreeably to the rules of friendship.

Dated Wednesday 11th Day of the Gth Month
Year Fowl.
A true Translation
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
13 May 1825,
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MEMORANDUM.

The following remarks on the above letter are
necessary. lst. It is written in o particularly con-
ciliatory style. 2d. From the remarks of the Malay
Writer, probably making mistakes or writing impro-
perly, it appears to me pretty certain that His Highness
has been informed of the impression excited by a
former letter. It is not difficult to conjecture who his
Correspondent ie, doubtless a Chinese; 8rd. The
Euavoys when last here, hinted at the probability of the
Governor's going to Kedah to meet the Rajah.  They
were plainly and decidedly told that was quite out of
the question ; the present invitation is therefore given
without auy expectation of its being accopted. A
letter has also been received from the Son of the Rajah
addressed to Captain Burney. It is very civil; but
His Highness had been some time since advised that
Captain Burney had proceeded to Bengal.

The intelligence of the confinement of Achong
and Boomi had reached His Highness's ears although his
Agents did not allude to it. This no doubt prevented
the letter requesting permission for the flect to pass
through this Harbour to attack Salengore from being
gent at present.

The Rajah takes no notice of the Honorable the
Governor's letter of the 18 February or of the com~
munications made to the same Envoys who brought
the present letter, for the purpose of being stated to
the Rajah.

The Envoys brought a piece of Silk Cloth with
Compliments from the Rajah to the Malay Translator
to Government, and he desired them to say he was
very anxious to see him, enquired about his family &ca.
His Highness has, of late been profuse in his Compli-
ments and presents to the Translator,

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Malay Transr. to Govt.
The 13 May 1825,
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RAJAH of LIGORE.
No. 2.
Translation

of a letter from the Rajah of Ligore to the Honourable
Robert Fuallerton, Governor of Pulo Penang.

(After Compliments. )

With respect to the English going to attack Ava,
there has never existed a good understanding between
Ava and Siam. The Siamese are very glad that the En-
glish have got hold of the Burmah Countries adjoining
the Siamese territory, because, as it has become an En-
glish Country, it will be very convonient to trade with
facility. T am very anxious to be on very intimate
terms of friendship with the English, wherefore T am
about to consider of preparing some things to send to
the English Chicf who is in charge of Changong
(Rangoon). T therefore enquire of my friend, whether
my friend thinks this would be advisable. If my
friend is willing I will send, if not I will wait. If
he is pleased that I should send there, I request
he will inform me how many great men are at
Rangoon, and their names. [ beg he will write to
me and let me know, and send me also a Certificate
which I may forward with my Prow. Every thing
relating to this I have mentioned to Koon Aksorn and
Che Soly ry ci d there-
with, and I request my friend will give them a meeting
two or three times, in order that they may give certain
intelligence, so that friendship may be prolonged.

Dated Wednesday 11th of the 6th Month Year Fowl.

A True Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON,
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
the 13 May 1825.




Rajah of Ligore
o the Rajah of
Kedah.
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RAJAH of LIGORE to the RAJAH of QUEDAH.

No. 8.
Translation
of a letter from the Rajah of Ligore to the Rajah of
Quedah.

The Rajah of Quedah sent us a letter vequesting
us to intercede with the Emperor for his return to
Quedah, and reassume his Government. We some
time ago senta reply to say we would solicit the
Emperor to that effect, and whatever reply we should
receive would be communicated, in order that the
Rajah of Quedah might be mads fully acquainted with
all circumstances. In consequence of the death of
my Child the reply has been delayed; but now the
Emperor of his favor, has ordered his Minister to direct
us to come down to Quedah for the purpose of con-
sulting upon the business of the Rajah of Quedah, and
settling it ; and if the Rajah of Quedah is disposed to
place confidence in the Emperor of Siam to make
arrangements for his returning to Quedah to reside
there.

Formerly the Rajah of Quedah said he would wait
for a reply from the Capital, wherefore we send notice
to him previously, and when we reach Quedah, we
will take the subject into consideration. We will
also consider any wishes expressed by the Rajah of
Quedah, in order to give effect to the orders which the
Emperor has of his favor been pleased to send to us,
to enable the Rajah of Quedah to return to his Country,
and continue on a friendly footing as formerly.

Wednesday 11th of the Month Year Fowl,
3rd. of May 1825,

A true Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Penang Malay Transr. to Govt.
the 13: May 1825.
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There are two Arabic words added at the end of
the letter signifying ** Attend to or hear these words.”
My writer gives it as his opinion that this is a caution,
as he knows the writer of the letter to have been in
the Rajah’s employ, and friendly to him.

(Signed) J. A.
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TO THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

Letter
from the Honorable the Governor to the Rajah of Ligore.

I have received my friend's letters brought by his
Envoys Kun Aksorn and Solyman. As my friend’s
Envoys have nothing particular besides to communicate,
1 have directed them to return forthwith (as they
represent that my friend was to leave Traang to-day)
in order that they may convey to me the intelligence
of my friend's arrival at Quedah.

1t is very true that reports have been brought to |
me, and apparently not without foundation, that my \
friend has been some time at Traang, equipping an
Armament, and as he did not send me any communi-
cation of such being in progress, or of the object and
destination of it, nor even alludes to it in the letter now
sent, it is natural that I should regard such prepara-
tions with suspicion, it being contrary to castom for
States professing amity to make such preparations
in the immediate vicinity of a British Port, withont
giving due notice thereof.

When intelligence reaches me of my friend’s
arrival at Quedah, I will consider about sending an
Agent to meet him.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON

Governor.
The 12 May 1825.
(A True Copy)

(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
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THE SON of the RAJAH of LIGORE at QUEDAH.

No. 5.

Translation
of a letter from the Baginda Muda, Son of the Rajah
of Ligore at Quedah, to the Malay Translator to
Government.

(After Compliments.)

The two letters which my friend sent by the
Commander of the Cruizer have reached me, and 1
understand their contents. 1 was about to reply to
the letters more particularly, but the Rajah of Ligore
is expected here immediately. When he arrives, I
will lay these two letters before him, and whatever
divections he may give on the subject, I will com-
municate to my friend accordingly, and settle de-
finitely afterwards. Thursday of the Gth Month, 11th
Day in the Year Fowl.

A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

The 13 May 1825.

Note. The letters to which the above is a reply
relatod to the prohibition at Quedah against the
Export of Grain, and an attack upon some Malay
Prows by Siamese Boats to the Northward.
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RE

THE SECRETARY reports that the following
letter having been circulated and approved by the
Members of the Board, was addressed to the Right
Honorable the Governor General in Council, and
Copies of the above Papers, and the several reports
and informations relative to the Armament prepared
by the Rajah of Ligoro at Traang and other places,
were at the same time transmitted to the Supreme
Government.

TO THE GOVR. GENERAL IN COUNCIL.

No. 523.

Y To THE RIGHT HONORABLE

WILLIAM PITT LORD AMHERST
Governor General in Council
FORT WILLIAM.
My Lord,

In our address of the 28 February last, we in-
formed your Lordship in Council of the preparations
making at Traang and other Ports by the Rajah of
Ligore, avowedly for the purpose of attacking Perak
and Salengore. These ions havé proceeded
rapidly, and have been carried on to an extent
apparently beyond their avowed object, and various
reports having reached us thro’ the Nakodahs of Prows
and .other persons arriving from thoso Ports, that this
Island was the real object of the Armament, we
deemed it necessary to institute an enquiry on the
subject. The result of the information is contained
in the annexed d The sub: P
exactly with that submitted by the Resident of Singa-
pore in November 1823 in respect to a then con-
templated attack, namely that it was projected in
communication with certain -Chinese Inhabitants of
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this place, and principally on the present occasionm
with a person of the name of Achong, who was
employed by Captain Burney on a Message to Ligore.
The information bearing upon that part of tho subject
will be found in the Enclosures No. 8A. The matter
has been submitted for the investigation of the
Magistrates, and would appear to be considered un-
founded.

2. Under existing circumstances, it certainly
appears improbable that a Siamese Authority would
meditate an attack on a British Settlement, yet when
we consider the daring and intriguing character of the
TRajah of Ligore, the anxiety evinced to get possession
of the person of the King of Quedah, added to the
certainty that a very largo fleet and force have been
prepared ; we have not considered it prudent entirely
to disregard thess rumours, and have accordingly
made the best precautionary arrangements in our
power by detaining the Felicitas until the return of
the Hired Brig Minerva, which with the Hired Vessels
named in the margin, establishes a line of communica~
tion from this Island to Quedah. These procautions we
have deemed the more necessary from the absence of
any regular Marine force, and considering that the
Troops on the Tsland are, by the detachment of 100
men to Malacea, and the incomplete state of the Local
Corps, considerably under the ueual complement.

3. We are perfectly aware of the policy of main-
taining amicable relations with our Siamese neighbours
as far as possible, but the establishment by a Siamese
State of a fleet of 300 Prows capable of carrying from
20 to 50 men each on this side of the Malay Peninsula,
must place the whole of our Settlements in the Straits
in some degme of d:mger and we, therefore, submit
the exp of ially gthening the Military
and Marine E: of this Presid in
order that means may eventually be taken in case of
actusl or menaced aggression, to remove the danger
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inseparable from such a force being at large in the
Straits,

4. We have the honor to encloso copies of letters
received from the Rajah of Ligore sent by two Envays
on the 12 Instant, but as it did not appear they had
any thing particular to communicate, they were
dispatched the following day with the reply. A letter
was also brought to the Ex-King of Quedah,
inviting him to return to his Government, to which
under apprehended treachery it does not appear to be
His Majesty's intention to accede. On the arrival of
the Ligore Rajah at Quedah, it is our intention to
depute an Agent to communicate with him, and to
require explanation as to the object and intention of
the Armament prepared.

We have &e.
(Signed) R. FULLERTON
. W. A CLUBLRY
. R IBBEISON
Fort, Gornwallis

the 14 May 1825.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 19 May 1825.

To
G. SWINTON Esquire
Secry. to the Govt.
FORT WILLIAM.
Bir,

1 have the honor to annex for the information of
the Right Honorable the Governor General in Council
copy of a letter which T have this day addressed to the
Sinmese Minister. I have endsavoured to suit the
language of this communication to the actual cir-
cumstances of our situation, and trust that in the state-
ments which I have made, T shall not be considered to
have overstept the limits of my Authority. With
respect to the present of the brass ordnance in particu-
lar, 1 have been induced to transmit these from being
confidentially informed that the King of Siam was
particularly anxious to possess them—that we had
including those lately brought from Bencoolen a num-
ber of spare brass cannon at the Settlement, but stil!
more from a desire of following up the policy of
supplying the Siamese with fire-arms, and which seems
to have been attended with favorable consequences in
assuring their confidence and exciting them to take
an active share in the war.

1 have &e. &e. &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
Singapore
30 April 1825.

True Copies
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
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THE LETTER of J. CRAWFURD Esquire
Resident of Singapore to His Excellency the Chao
Pya Prah-Klang Chao Kun Kosa.

Your Excellency's letters, one of which is dated the
17th of January, and the other the 18th of February,
have both reached me in safety. The assurances of
support and assistance to our Nation in the conduct of
the war against our comnion enemy the Burmans,
which His Majesty has been pleased to make in these
communications, have been received with the most
lively satisft and I have to the
Right Honorable the Governor General without loss of
time, the friendly inteutions of His Majesty. Tho
Siamese and the English are now acting as one people.
Their interests are the same, and they will be equal
gainers by the subjugation of the Burmans. I read
with pleasure in your Excellency’s letter that you
are in ication with the C der in Chief
of the Rangoon Army who is in the entire confidence
of the Governor General and who will not fail to-
explain to youall the views and sentiments of His
Excellency. T beg you to assist him with Elephants,
with Osen and other Cattle for (arriage, as well as
with provisions ; for it is these we chiefly require to
transport our Army to Ummerapoora. Whatever is
supplied will be paid for according to our custom, and
any receipt for the same which shall be furnished by
the Commander in Chief of the Rangoon Army or other
British Officer under his command will if not sooner
paid be discharged by me either at this place or at
Bangkok as may be most agreeable to Your Excellency
and in Spanish Dollars,

Besides the Army of Rangoon two other Armies
have invaded the Burman territories; one through
Arracan and the other through Assam, and by accounts
received from Calcutta, the latter had captured Rung-
pore, the Chief City of the Country of Assam on the
17 February.
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By the last accounts from Rangoon I hear with
pleasure that the deputies of the Mon nation living
under the protection of Siam had waited upon the
General commanding the Rangoon Army, offering
assistance and stating that they did so by command ot
the King, and in token of his friendship.

1 have received 1,080 Piculs of Sugar as a pre-
sent, and beg now to forward to His Majesty two brass
cannon being 12 pounder pieces, such as the English
use in the field, with a pair of Mirrors. Thesv ave
presents from the Governor Gemeral to his Majesty.
1 beg also to send for yourself a pair of Mirrors, a
Cashmere shawl and 31 strings of coral as a mark of
friendship.

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD,
Resident,
Singapore
30th April 1825.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 19 May 1825,

To GEORGE SWINTON Esquire
Secry. to the Government
FORT WILLIAM.
Sir,

1 have the honor to transmit for the information
of the Right Honorable the Governor General in
Council translation of a letter received from the
Siamese Minister on the 10 Instant by the Ship
Caroline and along with it copy of a letter from
Mr. Gillies. In reference to these documents, I do not
hesitate to submit to the Right Honorable the
Governor General in Council that under all tho cir-
cumstances of our present situation in relation to the
Court of Siam, I am disposed entirely to vely on the
assurances now given of co-operation and assistance.
1 propose in a few days to address the Smnue
\hnmernnn]htake dditional for
and g1 g the d and good disp
at present evinced by the Government of Siam.

The three English vessels which lately vigited
Bangkok have all quitted the place, leaving, however,
Mr. Gillies and another English Merchant there with
alarge stock of goods. This step which has been
taken with the eutiro assent of the Siamese Govern-
mient appears to me to be well calculated to inspire
the Siamese with just views of the friendly senti-
ments which we entertain in regard to them.

It will be perceived by the letter of Mr. Gillies
that a considerable present has been made on the part
of the King of Siam in return for the fire-arme pre-~
sented in the name of the Right Honorable the Gov-
ernor General in Council in the Month of October last.




[160]

These presents have been sold and the proceeds, about
6000 Spanish Dollars, carried to the public account,
s0 that the whole charge to the Government will not
exceed 3,600 Spanish Dollars.

[ have &e., &e., &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD,
Resident.
Singapore

20 April 1825,
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THE LETTER of CHAO PIA PRAH-KLANG
first Minister to HIS MAJESTY the KING of SIAM to
JOHN CRAWFURD Esquire, Resident of Singapore.

Your letter has been received wherein you mention
that the English aro at War with the Burmans, that
Rangoon is captured, that the Burmans attacked the
English at Rangoon but were defeated, that the Eng-
lish had taken Cheduba, Ramree, and Negrais, that
Troops were sent to Martaban, Mergui and Tavoy, that
the English Commanders are well aware that we
intend to aid the English, and that the Governor
General having sent to you 1,000 Muskets for His
Majesty, you have sent them by Mr. Gillies, along
with a gold wateh and six Catties of Coral,

One of your letters states that if we would help
your nation against the Burmans, they would be
obliged to us, and I have written to you before on the
subject.

The Siamese and English have been for a long
time great friends with each other and Commerce
seems to increase daily, but the Burmans are, and
always have been our great enemies. Formerly we
used to send Chao Pia Maha Yotha the Peguan General
with Troops to the northern provinces to be on the
look out, and to seize all the Burmans that mighc fall
into his hand. But as we now know that the English
are at war with them, we have sent him with a larger
force to protect our northern frontier. His Majesty
has further commanded to be levied more Troops and
to send them towards the upper provinces, When
Chao Pia Maha Yotha reached Martaban he found the
place was conquered by the English, so he remains
there. T have sent a person to Chao Pia Maha Yotha
with a letter to the British Commander at Rangoon
but have not received an answer. The people of Pegue
and Tavoy that were here, have all gone back to those
places as they heard that they were under the English.
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Our scouts are all on the alert and they are trying to
get every information in order to distract the Burmans.
All those that wish to go back the King permits to do
#0, and provides them with money, clothes &c., as well
as with an escort that they might reach their Country
in safety.

1 beg to acknowledge a gold watch and six catties
of coral, and 1000 Muskets from the Governor GGeneral
to His Majesty. In return we send you by the
Caroline 1000 piculs of Sugar for the Governor General,
and 80 piculs to yourself as a token of friendship.

Si-Yuthia
18 Feby. 1825,
A True translation

(Signed ) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
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Bang-kok, Siam, March 1825,
JOHN CRAWFURD, Esquire.
My dear Sir,

1 had the pleasure to address you the 1Gth
January per Shannon, acquainting you of the safo
arrival and due delivery of all your presents for the
King of Siam and Prab-Klang brought by [the]
Caroline to which I beg to refer you.

I now beg leave to wait upon yon with Bill of
Lading of 1088 Bags of Sugar received from the said
King in return for your presents and shipped per
Caroline, [Capt.] Johnson, to your address, weighing
1080 Piculs as per particulars herewith, 1000 of which
for account of the muskets and 80 for the coral and
Gold watch, all valued at 11} Ticals per pecul.

1 beg also to enclose an account of the expenses
on the same, amounting to 423 Tes. for which I have
taken the liberty to value on you in favor of Messrs.
Morgan Hunter & Co. in 8§260—say two hundred sixty
Spanish Dollars exchange at 61} cents per tical which
please honor. The same pains having been taken to
select this sugar of good quality, as with that more
immediately ‘under my charge, I hope it will give
satisfaction, an average muster of which herewith.

Of the progress of the war we hear nothing which
can be relied upon. On this subject there are occa-
sional reports, and generally to the disadvantage of
the English, such as the Army being blown up, part
of it taken prisoners, and sent back dreadfully dis-
figured, and others burnt to death, and of its being
completely surrounded in Rangoon without any chance
of escaping ; all which are firmly believed here, and
are considered conclusive of the result of the war.

On the 1st February there were two letters
received here dated Tavoy 16 December and 18
January, signed Alexander Balmain, the first addressed
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to the Government of Siam apprising them that
certain districts which were lately taken from the
Burmans are now under the protection of the English
and desiring them mot to take any more Prisoners
from these places, and requesting the immediate
release of 107 persons already taken under the pro-
tection of the British flag, and in violation of thn
friendship existing between the two Countries; the
latter acknowledging the receipt of one man with
a flag from a party of Siamese. These letters not
being correctly translated at first put the great people
here in some fear but soon recovered on the contents
of them being correctly stated to then:. The ’rah-
Klang after communicating the above intelligence to
e, said, that these prisoners were taken by wmistake
not knowing that the place was in possession of the
English, which would be avoided in future. He said
that tho King had given express directions to the
King of Ligore and others, to furnish the English with
Boats and every other necessary they might require to
prosecute the war up the country, and asked me if
they wouldaccept of them. T answered that I thought
they would, and be much obliged to the King for
them. Ie also asked me if they, the Government of
Siam, could send a letter to the General Commanding
the Army at Rangoon. 1 answered in the affirmative,
and offered to give them a letter of introduction to
him if they would inform me of the nature of their
dispatch, but to this no answer was returned.

I am told that a letter to the following import has
been written by His Majesty to Burma. * It is true
we have long been at variance, but let us now forget
all past injuries and join to oppose the great enemy :
he is already in your Country, and we know that if he
overcomes you, he will next take care of us, whether
we remain his friends or not.” It is also said that
they have written o similar letter to the Commander in
Chief of the English against the Burmans. These
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reports I give you as I hear them but what credit
may be duo to them, I leave it to your judgment.

Within the last few days I have been informed
that an expedition was sent from hence lately for the
purpose of attacking Salengore and Pera, in conjunc-
tion with the King of Ligore.

We are very anxious here to know something of
what is going on at the seat of war and not less so for
its speedy and fa bl inati Any i i
which may be found in this epistle T beg you will have
the goodness to excuse,

T am with much respect
My Dear Sir &c.
(Signed) JOHN GILLIES

Since writing the preceding I have seen a pass.
given by Colonel Waterman to a Burman Family to
protect them, but have notwithstanding been made
prisoners and brought here.

(Signed ) JOHN GILLIES
March 17th 1825.

I have heard it reported that accounts are this
instant received of the Capture of Amarapura, which I
hope will turn out true and upon which I beg to con-
gratulate you. Remaining always

My Dear Sir &c.
(Signed) JOHN GILLIES.
( True Copies )
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD Resident,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 24 May 1825,

AT A SPECIAL COUNCIL—Present
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor—Dresident
WILLIAM ARMSTRONNG CLUBLEY Esquire
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.
Approved the Proceedings of the 19th Instant.
PUBLIC.

IN CONSEQUENCE of the receipt of reports
from the Superintendant of Point Wellesley, in charge
of the Squadron of Obgervation to the northward ; and
of the Arrival of Envoys with letters from the Rajah of
Ligore, this SPECIAL COUNCIL was called for the
purpose of deliberating upon the further measures
necessary to be adopted.

READ the following letter from the Superinten-
dant of Point Wellesley, transmitting a report from the
C der of the Hired Sch C
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SUPT. OF POINT WELLESLEY

To
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

1 lost no time in transmitting for the information
of the Honorable the Governor in Council, the accom-
panying letter from Captain Roberts, of the Hired
Schooner Commerce. The 100 Prahus alluded to in
his letter are said to be at a short distance to the
Northward of Purlis: I am now proceeding towards
that quarter, and it shall be my duty to see them into
Quedah River.

I have &e. &e.
(Signed ) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley
H. C. Brig Jessy
May the 22d
3 AM.
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To A. D. MAINGY Esquire
Superintendant of Point Wellesley
&, &e. &e.
Sir,

T have the honor to inform you that we anchored
off Trang River late last evening after a tedious
passage of 6 days, occasioned from our experiencing
nothing but light airs and calms the whole time, and
at day light this morning perceived about two hundred
Siamese Boats, capable of containing from 80 to 90
men each at an anchor in a direct line off the Mouth
of the River. At 9 AM. three Guns were fired
successively from one of the Boats, upon which the
whole of them made sail to the Southward.

Supposing the object on which I was sent fully
accomplished, weighed and made sail, with an inten-
tion of returning to you, to report the same with all
possible dispatch.

At 11 AM. we were boarded by a Siamese Boat
having 5 head men on board who were very friendly,
and wished me to write and mention that the Rajah of
Ligore had been down at Trang about 10 days, but
that he this morning had embarked for Quedah, hav-
ing with him, as stated by them, only one hundred
Prows, large and small. They expressed themselves
as coming from the Rajah, and the great friendship
entertained by His Highness for the English, and
not to credit a report which had come to their know-
ledge of their intending an attack upon Penang; they
also mentioned the Rajah's intention of touching at all
the Ports between this and Quedah. They mentioned
as a great wish of the Rajah's that the Honorable the
Governor should be made acquainted of His Highness
being at Quedah.

—— .
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T send this by the Prow attached to the Schooner
for greater dispatch, being confident of her reaching
you some days previous to us, should we experience
the same weather as we have hitherto.

I am &e. &e.
(Signed) H. H. ROBERTS
Commander of H. C. Hired

Schooner Commerce,

H. C. Schooner Commerce
Pulo Telibon E. } N.
Wednesdoy 18th May 1825.

UPON WHICH The Honble. the Dresident re.
cords the following Memorandum.
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MEMORANDUM by the PRESIDENT.

Having received a report from the Commander of
the Schooner Commerce, announcing that he had seen
200 Prows coming out of Trang River, and that he
had ascertained that 100 more had accompanied the
Rajah of Ligore from that place for Quedah, 1 now
submit to the Board the outline of the measures T
propose to pursue.  Mr. Maingy will proceed to
Quedah and deliver the letter already prepared, re-
mnnutmcmg in the ﬁm mmuce, against the attack on
Salengore ; in respect to the
Armament prepared ; and distinctly announcing that
it cannot be allowed to approach this lsland. On Mr.
Maingy leaving Quedah, he will give the requisite
instructions to the persons Commanding the Armed
Vessels. The Minerva having arrived will be added
to the number, and every means taken to make them
as strong as possible. Should the fleet remain at
Quedah it must be obvious the constant danger of
attack will prove harrassing to our Troops, and may at
last affect the security of the Island.

Should the Rajah delay the distinct manifestation
of his object, it will be necessary as a measure of self
defence to concert with the Commanding Officer the
best mode of attacking the Prows, and if possible,
disabling them, for the present at least, from tho
power of doing further mischief.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON

23d May 1825.

THE SECRETARY reports that the necessary
orders were issued in conformity to the above Memo-
randum; to the Master Attendant to prepare and
dispatch the H. C. Hired Brig Minerva to the entrance
of the Harbour, and to the Storekeeper to ship 10
days Provisions and Water on board that Vessel for
210 Native Soldiers, half Musselmans and half Hindoos ;
also for 10 European Artillery men, to be hereafter
distributed amongst the several Vessels if required.
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Supt. of Point SUPT. of POINT WELLESLEY.
Wollesley, In
charge of the
Saquadron of
observation—22
May 1825, To,

JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

T had this morning the honor to transmit to you,
for the information of the Honorable the Governor in
Council, a dispateh from Captain Roberts, the Com-
mander of the Hired Schooner Commerce, dated off
Trang, the 18th instant. The Commerce has just
Joined the Honble. Company’s Brig Jessy, and I now
forward a copy of Captain Roberts's letter, lest any
accident o detention should have attended the Prow
by which the original was sent,

I have not been able to collect any additional in-
formation from Captain Roberts ; he, however, assures
me, that the number of Prows seen by him off’ Trang
must have amounted to two hundred, that they all
appeared large, many of them about the size of the
Commerce.

The Rajah of Ligore's object for touching at the
different places between Trang and Quedah, is, to
collect such I’rows as are already equipped at these
Ports.

Under the uncertainty, therefore, of what the
Rajal’s intentions may be, and the strong Armament he
is bringing with him, I have deemed it most advisabla
to stand to the Southward with the Honble. Company’s
Brig Jessy, the two Hired Schooners and Row Boat.
It is not my intention to proceed beyond Purlis, but
to cruize in that quarter until we fall in with the
Siamese fleet, which we are very certain of doing ;
it shall then he my object to attend to all their
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movements and in the event of their proceeding
further to the Southward than Quedah, I shall not fail
to afford the Honorable the Governor in Council
the earliest information of such being the case,
but strictly attend to the onders conveyed in your
letter of the 3d. May.

I have &e. &e. &e.
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley.
H. C. Brig Jessy
May the 224 1825.
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BUPT. of POINT WELLESLEY.
To,
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

My letters of yesterday will have mado the Honor-
able the Governor in Council acquainted with the
departure of the Siamese Fleet from Trang, and of its
approach towards Quedah. I have now the honor to
report, that at Jeast 100 Prows belonging to the Rajah
of Ligore yesterday entered Quedah River, 79 of them
were seen by the Commander of the Hired Schooner
* John de Brias "—and we reckoned fourteen more of
them. The size of those we had an opportunity of
Jjudging of might be from 15 to 20 Tons, and I
am given to understand they are mostly about this
measurement.

Having stood close towards the Town of Quedah,
and the wind becoming light. the Squadron came to
an anchor, and shortly afterwards we were boarded by
a large Siamese Boat containing some principal
Siamese: One of them Chum Cha Pulo Pok stated
that he had been sent by the Rsjah of Ligore, who had
that morning arrived at Quedah, to ascertain the
cause of our visit, and whether we had been sent by
the Governor of Penang. Coptain Poynton in reply,
informed them that he was cruizing in search of
Pirates, and that having heard of the Rajah’s arrival at
Quedah, he was anxious to pay him a visit.

A great deal of general conversation took place,
which principally had reference to the progress of the
‘War against the Burmahs. The Siamese enquired very
minutely of Captain Poynton respecting what he had
seen and done when at Rangoon. They were also
anxious to know what had taken Captain Burney to
Calcutta, and mentioned that the Rajah regretted his
absence.
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We now alluded to the object of the Rajah's visit
to Quedah, and of his bringing so large a force with
him; to this Chum Cha Pulo Pak replied that it
was usual for such great men as the Rajah of Ligors
to be attended with many followers, and that he and
every one else were ignorant what might be the
Rajal's future intentions, as they were as yet un-
known. After having made this remark, he im-
mediately observed that there were a number of wicked
and bad people who spread false reports regarding the
Rajah of Ligore, and that the Rajah's object for coming
to Quedal was to obtain, if possible, a meeting with
the Governor of Penang, or with one of the Governor's
Confidential Agents, in order to arrange some matters
regarding the trade between Penang and Quedah, and
to assure the Governor of his great esteem and regard
for him, and that after having done this, the Rajah
would return to Ligore.

Captain Poynton then stated that he would wait,
upon the Rajah the following morning and that Mr-
Maingy who was on board the vessel in search of health
and amusement, would accompany him. A wish was
expressed by the Siamese that the Commanders of the
different Vessels should attend, but this invitation was
politely declined.

I trust that my landing at Quedah will meet with
the approval of the Honorable the Governor in Council,
my visit will most probably be attended with somo
advantage : I shall at least be able to form a correct
idea of the strength of the Armament now in Quedah
River, and possibly discover its future destination.

1 have &c. &e. &ec.
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley

H. C. Brig Jessy
Quedsh Roads
May the 23d. 7 AM.
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SUPT. of POINT WELLESLEY.

To
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government
Sir,

With reference to my letter of yesterday I have
now the honor to report for the information of the
Honorable the Governor in Council that Captain
Poynton and myself landed at Quedal yesterday
morning at about 9 d'clock, aud that we were received
on quitting our Boat with much apparent ceremony
and attention by several of the principal Siamese, with
a large retinue of followers all dressed in Red Jackets,
who escorted us into the Fort, where we found the
Rajah of Ligore prepared to meet us. His Highness
at once recognized Captain Poynton and expressed great
satisfaction at his having come on shore to visit him.

The conversation was at first very much con-
strnined and confined to some commonplace observa-
tions, but upon the Rajah perceiving that we wero
quite disposed to converse as friends, that we had not
come to him as Agents from the Governor of Penang,
but merely with an intention of paying him a com-
plimentary visit, he laid aside all his reserve, and
requested us to seat ourselves close to him. His

quiries were most p pecting the progress
of the War against the Burmahs, and he took particu-
lar pains to assure us that it was a source of the
yreatest satisfaction to the Siamese that the British
Government had been able to punish so insolent and
arrogant a Monarch as the King of Ava, who had al-
ways been an Enemy of the Siamese, and with whom
it was impossible to live on friendly terms.

The Rajah made Captain Poynton describe to him
s great many times, the mode of attack adopted by
the British Army in taking the Burmah Forts, and
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evinced not only some surprize, but something almost
amounting to mortification, that Captain Poynton
should express himself with so much contempt re-
garding a Nation, that had so frequently overcome the
Siamese Armies.

The Rajah was most anxious to know what had
become of Captain Burney, and expressed great regret
that ho had not had an opportunity of seeing him,
os he entertained the greatest esteem for that officer ;
but he stated that when he received Captain Burney's
letter from Traang, he was in the deepest distress
on account of the loss of one of his Children, and
that had Coptain Burney called at Traang on his
return from Pungah, he would have found Elephants
and an Escort waiting to convey him to Ligore.
1 then acquainted His Highness that I was a very
intimate friend of Captain Burney's, that I had always
understood His Highness had been unwilling to allow
that Officer to proceed to Ligore, and that the letters
His High had add: d to the Hi ble the
Governor stated that he would give Captain Burney a
meeting at Quedah only. His Highness said this was
very true, but that he had nevertheless sent Elephants
and an Escort to Traang for Captain Burney, and
further stated that when that Gentleman returned
from Calcutta, if the Governor should be desirous of
sending him to Bangkok, he would be most happy
to get him conveyed there, which would be attended
with no difficulty.

His Highness expressed great apprehension that
the false and idle reports which he well knew were
circulated in Penang by his enemies, and by the timid
Chuliahs and Malays might tend to prevent the Honor-
able the Governor from considering him as his friend,
and from placing confidence in his assurances ; he also
added he was aware it was supposed he intended to
attack Penang ; that such an idea was absurd. In the
first place, he had no force equal to make such an
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attempt, and he was not so ignorant as to e unac-
quainted with our great superiority, an observation
Captain Poynton confirmed by describing how easily
the largest Birmah War Boats were destroyed at
Rangoon, and which were in every respect bettor
manned and equipped than the Prows belonging to
His Highness: besides, His Highness stated that he
had received from the King of Siam, who had sent one
of his principal men to accompany him, and who was
then seated on the Rajalts left hand, the most positive
and strict orders to be most guarded in his conduct
towards the British Government, and to avoid by
every means in his power giving the Government of
Penang any cause for complaint, lest it should tend to
interrupt. the friendship and good understanding that
now so happily subsisted between the British and
Siamese. His Highness particularly requested me to
assure the Governor that he should ever find his con-
duct towards him most friendly and sincere ; and on
my assuring His Highness that I would do so,
1 remarked that the Governor of Penang would most
probably ask me several questions which as yet I was
unable to answer, and would therefore take the liberty
of putting them to him. The first was the object of
his visit to Quedah. In reply to this, he declared,
that his only motive for coming there was in the
hopes of seeing the Governor, but, as he found this,
from what 1 had ioned to him to be i ical

he would hereafter ask the Governor to send a con-
fidential Agent to meet him, but that, at present, he
was not anxious that one should be sent, as he was
likely to make some stay at Quedah, and that when he
conveyed such a request, he was. desirous that I
should be employed on the occasion, and that no one
else should be deputed. My second question was the
cause of His Highness bringing so great a number
of Prows with him. In reply, His Highness stated,
that he required a large fleet to protect his line of
Coast, and that many of the Prows were constructed
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before the English went to war with the Birmahs,
when a strong force was required to guard Junk Ceylon.
1 observed, that these precautions were no longer
necessary, which he admitted, but replied that it was |
an established custom with great Chiefs, not to move |
without a large retinue. T however remarked thut so |
largo an assemblage of Prows in the immediate |
ighbourhood of n British Settl would most

probably call for explanation, that unless the explana- |
tion given proved satisfactory that cordiality which |
His Highness professed himself so desirous of main- |
taining with the English might be interrupted. Upon
this Hiz Highness renewed his former protestations
and declared that I was at perfect liberty to inspect his
Fort, and examine his Fleet, and several times repeated
that I might assure the Governor of Penang, so
desirous was His Highness of continuing on the most
friendly terms with him, that none of his Prows should
ever proceed to lhe Southward of Quedah, without his

gz the G of the number that
were nbmlt to be sent, and of the purport of their
voyage: His Highness also added, that whenever he
might have occasion to dispatch two or three Prows
to purchase Merchandize at Penang, he would even
then not fail to communicate his intention. As this
declaration appeared to me to be of considerable
importance, 1 repeated his own words and requested
His Highness to state whether I understood him
correctly ; he replied that I did, and that such a line of
conduct was the strongest proof he could evince of his
friendly disposition towards the G of Penang.

1 took an opportunity of informing His Highness
that the British Government had taken possession of
Malacea and its Dependencies, and that amongst other
reports that had reached Penang, it was said that the
Armament His Highness had lately collected was
destined to attack Salengore: this observation was
purposely allowed to pass unnoticed and as my visit
was merely complimentary, I was unwilling to repeat it.
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Having now been with the Rajah of Ligore up~
wards of four hours, we took our departure, and
availed ourselves of the permission he had granted
us to visit his fleet ; we rowed upwards of a mile up the
River and reckoned no less than 106 large Armed
Prows afloat, besides 12 of a smaller size, and there
were 8 hauled on shore, but not ready for Sea. The
Prows are mostly about 20 Tons burthen, have a
strong stockade built in their Bows and all carry a
long nine or twelve pounder, and some few wero
provided with Rantackers, but not above eight of them,
and these had a double’ tier of cars. I should suppose
that the Crew of each Boat must amount to abont
forty wen, and I particularly observed that all the
Prows were well found in muskets, which appeared to
be of English manufacture,

1 do not imagine that we saw above a thousand or
1200 Siamese on shore, and many of these composed
a part of the Crews of the Prows. In conclusion, I
do not. c«msu]or that my visit afforded me much addi-
tional infe garding the destination of the
Armament ; but my opinion most unquestionably is,
that it is intended to assist in the attack on Salengore,
and that the conduct of the Rajah of Ligore towards
me, was principally influenced by a desire to prevent
my discovering the real object of his intentions, and
also that the app of the Squad hored off
M. C. rig Jossy the Mouth of the River, consisting of the vessels named
H.Schooner Cor
merce. il the Margin, tended to ensure attention and ci
Do. John de

rias 1 have &e. &e.

(Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley
In charge of the Squadron
of Observation.

and Row By

H. C. Brig Jessy
May the 24: 1825.
off Port Cornwallis.




-

[180] ]
Factery FORT CORNWALLIS The 21 May 1825.
cords,
Its Settl B
ments, Vol
PPp. 1605-23.

THE PRESIDENT lays before the Board the
following translation of a letter received this morning
from the Rajah of Ligore.

Majah of Ligore RAJAH OF LIGORE.
18 May 1825.

Translation
of a lotter from the Chow Pra of Ligore to the
Honorble Robert Fullerton Governor of Pulo Penang.

( After Compliments.)

May my friend be informed that 1 received the
reply which he sont me by Koon Aksorn and Che
Solyman, who returned and met me at Kwala Traang.
I received the letter agreeably to the rules of friend-
ship. It is mentioned in my friend’s letter that when
I arrive at Quedah, I am desired to acquaint my
friend. All the other points referred to in that letter
I fully comprehend.

At the time I descended the River and was about
to make sail, 1 abserved the Cruizer which was at
anchor near Tanjong Pub, Pulo Tellibong, and I sent
some Chiefs to wait upon the Commander and request
him to come and meet me; but the Captain of the
vessel said he was going on a cruize. I should be
concerned if people convey any intelligence calculated
to eacite suspicion in the mind of my friend.

The cause of my being rather long on my journey
ig, that I am not accustomed to sailing in Prows, and I
wish to see all the places as I pass. I therefore send
Koon Aksorn and Che Solyman with a letter to my
friend to let him know. I request that they may be
permitted to have an interview with my friend.
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If my friend could meet me, I should be extremely
happy, and T am sure my friend has a favorable dis-
position towards me.

1 beg that the letter which Koon Aksorn and Che
Solyman now convey, may be replied to with dispatch,
that they may return to Quedsh and I will send the
news again to my friend when they come back.

I am exceedingly desirous of meeting my friend,
and to establish friendship much more than formerly 5
also, to take into consideration the welfare of both
States, which may extend to Bengal and to form a
permanent friendship between the Siamese and English
Nation.

Dated Wednesday, 7th Month, Year Fowl, or 18th
May 1825.
A true Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Malay Transr, to Govt.
Penang
the 23d May 1825.
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Malay Trans- READ the following letter from the Malay Trans-
Lo lator submitting Translation of a letter received this
morning from the Rajah of Ligore to his address. |
|
®ajah of Ligore MALAY TRANSLATOR. |
to Matay |
Transiator. |
To
The Actin vretary to Government.
Sir,

In submitting for the perusal of the Honorabls
the Governor in Council, the accompanying Transla-
tion of a complimentary letter received this afternoon
from the Chow Pya of Ligore to my address, and
delivered to me by the Envoys Koon Aksorn and Che
Solyman, I beg to remark that His Highness has never
before condescended to address me or my predecessor,
and even his Son has usually replied to my letters
addressed to him by orders of Government through
his Prime Minister. All letters from the Embassadors
from this Government, vizt. Captains Lowe, Burney,
&e. to His Highness have been replied to through his
Sons. I havemever addressed the Chow Pya.

His Highness has of late ovinced a very marked
inclination to pay me Compliments, by sending pre- |
sents and desiring his Envoys to convey his good
wishes to me, and desiro to seo me. It has been my
anxious endeavour, during all tluy mgolmhons to mani-

fost lly a ¥ i to receive his

Envoys with respect and courtesy, and to encourage
confidence and good will towands the British Govern-
ment, notwithstanding my persuasion of the in-
sincerity of His Highnoss, and my private opinions
of his views and policy, which I have never failed to
state to Government.

Of this course of procedure towards his Envoys I
have found the advantage, in acquiring their com-
fidence in some degree, and thereby gaining a clearer
insight into their motives and actions ; while by as




[183]

cautious and circumspect a line of conduct as my
humble judgment has enabled me to observe towards
them, I have, during the warm discussions which took
place in the lato Governor's time, in conveying his
remonstrances and demands for redress, in refusing
interviews, and in dismissing the Envoys as directed,
I have endeavoured to convey the orders with firmness,
unaccompanied by harshuess, and lefe an opening
for amicable negotiation.

Under these cirenmstances whatever may be my
impressign of the views of His Highness, 1 should not
feel any approhension in accepting His Highness’s
invitation, either attended or unattended by an Escort:
from the consideration of Mr Maingy's deputation
however (who will no doubt attain every object that
is attainable) the tender of my gratuitous services on
this occasion (if my public duties hers could even
admit of my absence) is unnecessary ; although, at the
same time, I trust, that should Government consider
my services likely to be useful, T shall always be
prepared at the shortest notice, to obey any commands
that may be given to me.

1 have &c.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator to Govt.
PENANG
23d. May 1825,
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Translation
of a letter from the Chow Pya of Ligore to John
Anderson Esquire, T to G

( After Compliments.)

May my friend be informed that I am on my way
to Quedali, and I dispatch this letter to acquaint him
that I am coming to Quedah, where I expect to arrive
certainly on the 5th day of the 7th Month. | am
extremely anxious to meet the Governor of Pulo
Penang, if he cannot come to mect me, let Anderson
come and meet me by all means.

As to any person being sent, I should not like to
see any others, because they are not accnstomed to
going and coming. Let Anderson come if possible,
and we will consult upon business, which will tend to
promote the welfare of the English and Siamese
Countries, and establish friendship greater than
formerly.

Dated Wednesday, 7th Month-the 18th May 1825.
A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

THE TWO ENVOYS from the Rajah of Ligore
Dbeing in attendance, were called into the Council Room
and interrogated. They said they had nothing to
communicate further than to repeat the anxiety of the
Rajah to seo tho Honble. the Governor at Quedah,
and to enquire whether there were any objections to
His Highness sending people to purchase Goods at
Bengal, with a letter to the Governor General, and
also to his sending a letter to the Commander in
Chief at Rangoon.

UPON the Envoys retiring, The President laid
before the Board the following proposed reply to the
letter just received from the Rajah of Ligore.

it



To the Rajah of
Ligore 24 May
1825,
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TO THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

Letter from
the Honorable the Governor to the Rajah of Ligore.

T have received your Highness's letter bronght by
Koon Aksorn and Che Solyman, and they have had an
interview with me; but they had nothing to com-
municate further than that your Highness wished to
send a letter to Bengal and Rangoon. 1 informed
them that your Highness was at perfect liberty to send
letters to Bengal or Rangoon, and to purchase Goods
there s you please.

I enquired if the Messengers had any thing mors
to communicate, and they replied no: and as your
Highness requests they may return to Quedah, I have
directed Koon Aksorn and Solyman to return with all
haste, to convey to your Highness the intelligence of
my being about to dispateh o confidential Agent, with
full powers, vizt. Mr. Maingy, and he will reach
Quedah to-morrow or next day. T therefore request
our Highness to receive this my Agent with respect
and friendship.

( Sigued ) R. FULLERTON,
Penang Governor.
24 May 1825,

ON an attentive consideration of the reports and
correspondence above referred to, and all the proceed-
ings between this Government and the Rajah of Ligore,

THE BOARD unanimously resolved that the
following letters should be substituted for thoss pro-
posed to be addressed to the Rajah of ngore and
alluded to in the 1 i to the Si
of Point Wellesley, under date the 20th April, nnd
that the following additional orders be add:
the Superintendant of Point Wellesley, who was ver~
bally directed to hold himself in readiness to proceed
to Kedah to-morrow evening.

THE SECRETARY is directed to furnish Mr.
Maingy with Copies of such Documents as he may
require for his guidance.
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Ligore.
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TO THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

No. 1.

DRAFT
of a letter from the Honorable the Governor of Pulo
Penang to the Rajah of Ligore,

1 duly received your Highness's letter af the 8.
Rajap, brought by Captain Burney’s messenger China
Achong, and as the period fixed for your Highness's
coming down to Kedah has now elapsed, 1 have
deputed Mr. Maingy of the Honorable Company’s
Civil Service on this Establishment, as my confidential
Envoy to communicate fully with your Higlness, and
to consult with you on several important subjects, for
which purpose Captain Burney was lately sent to
Kedah and Tiaang. That Officer having however pro-
ceeded to Bengal for a short time, for the purpose of
receiving instructions from the Right Honorable the
Governor General, renders it necessary for me to
depute auother Agent, lest your Highness should be
disappointed in the expected meeting, to which you
have professed so ready an inclination.

Having long evinced a disposition to cultivate a
condial understanding with your Highness, and to
preserve those relations of friendship now happily
subsisting between the Siamese and English unimpair-
ed by the trequent deputation of confidential Officers
of this Government as a return for your Highness's
frequent deputation of confidential Officers to myseM
and my predecessor in this Government, I have only
to request that your Highness will receive Mr. Maingy
with respect and confidence as an accredited British
Agent with full powers.

Mr. Maingy will deliver some presents to your
Highness.

The 20 April 1825. (Signed ) R. FULLERTON

(Sd.) JOHN ANDERSON Governor.
Malay Transr, to Govt.
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TO THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

No. 2.

Letter from the Honorable Robert Fullerton Esquire
Governor of Pulo Penang to the Rajah of Ligore.

It is my duty to acquaint your Highness that the
reports of yonr hostile intentions against the indepen-
dent Malayan State of Salengore, and your extensive
Armaments equipping at Traang, Setool and other
places to the Northwanl, are daily becoming more
notorious, and there seems to be now no room left to
(uestion the truth of them, notwithstanding your fre-
quent professions of pacific intentions, and oft ropeated
expressions of your anxiety that I should not give
credence toany rumonrs at variance with your letters.

T am bound to remind your Highness that the
Settlement of Malacea has been taken possession of by
virtue of a Treaty with the Dutch Government, by
which that Nation ceded all its possessions and pri-
vileges acquired by Treaty with Malay States near
Malacca.  The Dutch Government as well as the
British have long been on friendly terms with the
States of Perak, and sepecially with Salengore. I am
forced once more to caution your Highness not to
attack Salengore.

That State is not, nor has ever been in the re-
motest degree, connected with the Siamese Dominions,
and Iam in daily expectation of important intelligence
from Bengal upon the subject.

Should your Highness disregard this caution,
possibly a very serious misunderstanding between the
Siamese and English may take place. I therefore,
with an anxious desire to preserve a good understanding
with the Siamese Nation, consistently with what is
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due to the English Government, call upon your
Highness to abstain from such hostile measures, which
most probably will involve you in much trouble and
difficulty.

In conclusion, it is my duty to warn your
Highness that this Government cannot permit a fleet.
such as your Highness's is reported to be, to approach
this Island, or pass through the Straits, and after this
notification, any attempt on your part will be con-
sidered as a direct act of hostility. Wherefore do your
Higlness deliberate well.

( Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.
PENANG
28 April 1825.
(Sd.) JOHN ANERSON
Malay Transr, to Gost.




Waellesley 25
May 1828,

[189]

TO THE SUPT. OF POINT WELLESLEY.

To A. D. MAINGY Esquire

Superintendant of Point Wellesley

In charge of the Squadron of Observation.
Sir,

Tan directed by the Honorable the Governor in
Council to acknowledge your several letters of the 224
Instant, transmitting the report of Captain Roberts
Commander of the Honble. Company's Hired Scho-
oner Commerce, relative to the Armament of the Rajah
of Ligore. I am also desired to acknowledge the
receipt of your letter of yesterday, reporting your pro-
ceedings at Quedah, and the result of an interview
with the Chow Pya of Ligore.

2. The Honorable the Governor in Council gives
you due credit for the efficacy and prudence of your
arrangements, and entirely approves of the proceedings
which you have reported.

8. Although there appears some difference in
the number of Prows stated to be observed off the
Mouth of the Traang River by Captain Roberts, and
those which were seen by you and Mr. Poynton in the
Quedah river, and although there is much reason to
infer, that part of the Armament still remains at
Traang, Purlis, and other Rivers to the Northward,
still tho nature and extent of the Armament inspected
by you and the Commander of the H. C. Brig
Jessy is sufficiently formidable to require the con-
tinuance of the utmost vigilance on the part of the
Commanders -under your orders, in watching the
movements of so large a force.

4. The time has now arrived when it would
seem to be absolutely indispensable that the views and
intentions of the Ligore Chief should be explicitly and
fully made known to this Government. The collection
of solargea force in the immediate vicinity of this
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Settlement, the length of time engaged in its pre-
paration, the secrecy with which the equipment has
been effected, the opposition on all occasions to the
admission of Envoys or Commanders of Cruizers to
the place where the Armament was equipping, and
the general belief at this Settlement amongst some
classes of the inhabitants lere, that hostilities are
meditated against this Island ; require that no delay
should take place in making the Rajab fully acquainted
with the determination of this Government.

5. In addition to and in modification of the
instructions contained in my letter of the 29 Ultimo,
you will be guided DLy the following orders. The
first and main object is to demand from the Rajah of
Ligore, an explicit avowal of his motives for having
equipped so large o foree, which must be regarded ns
destined for some hostile enterprise. You will in-
timate, that the plea of his having equipped them, for
the purpose of protecting the Coast against a few
small Pirate Boats, or for defending his Country
against the Burmahs, cannot be admitted by this Gov-
ernment. You will therefore, if in your judgment
necessary, deliver to him the letter No. 2, and acquaint
His Highness in addition to what is therein stated, that
any attempt to move his force Southward of where
it now is, will be regarded as a direct defiance, and
an act of hostility. You will explain to him the
circumstances under which the British Government has
resumed Malacea, disavow the right of Siam to attack
Salengore, and represent the long amicable connexion
which has subsisted between the respective European
Governments and that State.

6. It is not probable, under present circum-
stances, that the Rajah of Ligore will be disposed to
enter with any ity, upon the negociati or
engage in the Treaty proposed to him by Governor
Phillips, to which communication he has never made

any reply.
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7. You are however furnished herewith with a
Copy of the instructions to Captain Burney, and the
Druft of the Treaty. These instructions will put you
in full possession of the views of this Government, and
you will be guided by your own discretion in all points
not provided for in these instructions.

8. It is the wish of the Honorable the Governor
in Council, that you should proceed without delay,
direct to Quedah, and yon will remain there as long as
you may deem it expedient for the public service.
You should, however, endeavour to forward a daily
report of your proceedings, by an Express Prow, of
which you may engage such number as may be
necessary,

Tam &e. &e.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Acting Secrety. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis
the 25 May 1825,

RESOLVED further, that in consequence of the
Hired Brig Minerva being reported fully equipped and
ready for service, the longer dutention of the Hired
Ship Felicitas may be dispensed with.

ORDERED accordingly, that directions be given
to the Master Attendant to station the Minerva at the
Northern entrance of the Harbour, in lien of the
Felicitas,

RESOLVED that the Residents of Singapore and
Malacca be advised of the hostile preparations of the
Rajah of Ligore, and that the following letter be
addressed to them.




S

[192]
To the mestdent To
at Singapore. J. CRAWFURD Esquire
Resident at

SINGAPORE.
Sir,

I am directed by the Honorable the Governor in
Council to transmit, for your information, Copy of a
letter add d to the Right H ole the Governor |
General in Council dated 14th Instant, together with
Capies of the following reports and instructions.

1. Letter from the Malay Translator to Govern-
wment the Lst Moy 1825,

2. Report of Captain Roberts Commander of the
Honorable Compang’s Hired Schooner Commerce dated
the 18th May 1825,

3. Report from the Superintendant of Point
Wellesley, in charge of the Squadron of Observation,
of the result of an unofficial visit to the Rajah of ‘
Ligore at Quedah dated the 24 May 1825.

4. Instructione to Mr. Maingy, 25 May 1825.

1 am desired at the same time to acquaint you
that no intimation has yet been received by this |
Government from the Rajali of Ligore, who has lately I
arrived at Quedah, of the object and destination of the
large Armament which is equipped; but Mr. Maingy
was dispatched yesterday to Quedah for the purpose of
requiring an explanation upon these points ; the result
will be communicated to you by an early opportunity.

Copies of the various reports received by this
Government relative to the preparations and hostile
intentions of the Rajah of Ligore, alluded to in the
dispatch to the Supreme Government, will be here-
after forwarded to you.

1 have &e. &e. &o.
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Acting Secry. to Gost.
Fort Cornwallis

The 24 May 1825,
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The same letter addressed TO THE ACTING
RESIDENT at MALACCA.

ADJOURNED.
R. FULLERTON

W. A. CLUBLEY
1. IBBETSON
FORT CORNWALLIS
The 24 May 1825,

JOHN ANDERSON
Actg. Secy. to Govt.
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To A. Stirling Esqr.
Secretary to the Govt. in the Persian Dept.

Sir,

Conformably with a communication received from
the Secretary to Gorvt. in the Secret and Political
Department I do myself the honor to enclose a List of
the Presents which I would beg to suggest may be
sent to Prince of Wales's Island on account of the
proposed Mission to the Court of Siam.

When submitting this List to the Right Honble.
the Governor General in Council I request you will
have the goodness to state at the same time that my
conviction that by means of presents only the Siamese
Ministers can be persuaded to hear rational counsels,
added to my knowledge that Mr. Crawfurd experienced
many mortifications whilst at Bangkok in 1822 from
his store of gifts being soon exhausted has concurred
in making me draw up an extensive List. 1 have not
however been unmindful that my deputation to Siam
is eventual only s will be seen on reference to the
accompanying Letter from Messrs. Twentyman & Co.
who engage to receive Dback at any time hereafter the
whole or any portion of the Jewellery, the most expen-
sive Articles in the List of Presents and to refund the
Purchase Money with a deduction of 10 Per Cent on
the prime cost. Of the remaining acticles if the Mis-
sion do not take place many could be brought to use
Dby the Govt. of Prince of Wales's Island as Presents to
be sent to the Native Chiefs with whom it corresponds
whilst the remainder could I hope be sold at that
Island for whatever may be here paid—at all events it
would not be my policy at Bangkok to produce the
whole of these Presents at once bt to distribute them
grodually and according as I saw success opening in
favour of my negociations.
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1 beg leave to ndd it is my intention to quit
Caleutta on the Ist Proximo on the Ship Stanmore
and to leave the heavier Articles of Presents to follow
me on the Sherburne or such other Vessel as His Lonl=
ship in Conncil may be pleased to direct.

1 have

( Signed ) H. Burney Captn.
Poll. Agent to the Siamese States.
Fort. William
26th May 1823,
True Copy
( Signed ) A. Stirling
Per. Secy. to Govt.
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The Honble. E. L. Company
by order of Captn, H. Burney

No. 1

0

Bt. of Twentyman & Co.
Gold Smiths & Jewellers

Calcutta,

One Handsome Diamond aud Emerald
Broach with o pair of Earrings to
match ... o

One handsome very lnrgu xmglu Stone

Diamond Ring with Embossed Shank
One  Do. Do.
One  Do. Do.

One handsome cluster Diamond Ring
One Do. Butterfly Ring Set with
Diamond Emerald Rubies &c. e
One handsome Diamond and Emerald
cluster Ring

One  Do. Do.

One Do. Diamond and Ruby Do,
One Handsome Diamond Ring set in
fine Gold with an Emerald in centre
One pair of handsome large Emerald
and Pearl lop and drop Earrings with
o Broach to match ...

One set of handsome Pink Topnz Orm\-
ments consisting of a Necklace Brace-
lets Earrings cross Broach and Ring
One Set of handsome Pink Topaz and
Pearl Do. consisting of a Necklace
Bracelets Earrings and Broach oD
One set of Do. Emerald and Ruby and
Pearl Do. consisting of a Necklace
Bracelets Earrings and Broach
One handsome filigree Gold Head Orna-
ment set with Amethyu Turqnuu Pink
Topaz &c. &e. o

800

1,000

300




18
19

20
21
22
23

24
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One handsome thick Cable Pattern
Gold Chain with Turquois clasp e
One handsome two yard frosted link
chain with Turquois clasp ...

One Do. one yard Do. with Bmceletu
One Do. fancy worked French eurb
chain

One Do. one \nnl mblu |-ntlem clmm
One Do, Do.

One Do. frosted Link chain W
Six Pair of handsome Gold Spectacles
with double white Glasses ... wae
Six Pair of Do. with double Green
Glasses

390

510

510

Sa. Rupees 14,425
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Mo. 27,

To Captn. H. Burney
&e. &e. &e.
Sir,

1 am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your
Letter dated 26th Instant submitting a List of Presents
which you recommended should be provided for
eventual use on account of the proposed Mission to
the Court of Siam and in reply to inform you that the

lias been app d and ioned by the
Right Honble. the Governor General in Council.
The Broad Cloth will be furnished to you from the
Import Warehouse and you are authorized to incur an
outlay mnot exceeding Sicca Rupees 27,501 in the
purchase of the other art
countersigned by yourself, to this office, to be included
in the Durbar account,

cles, transmitting the Bills

The Governor General in Council approves the
Engagement entered iuto by Messrs. Twentyman & Co.
to receive back the Jewellery in the event of tho
articles not being made use of fora consideration of
ten Per cent on the prices charged in their Bill and
with respect to the remainder of the Presents if the
Mission should not eventually take place you will be
pleased either to dispose of them to the best advantage
at Prince of Wales's Island or to make them over to
the Govt. of that Scttlement on the public account.

1 have &c.
(Signed) A. STIRLING.
Fort: William: Persian Secy. to Govt.
27th May 1825.
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FORT CORNWALLIS the 2d June 1825.

To
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.

Sir,

In pursuance of directions conveyed in your letter
of the 25th Inst. 1 have the honor to report for the
information of the Honorable the Governor in Council
that I returned to the H. C. Brig Jessy with the least
practicable delax which vessel with those named in the
margin anchored in Kedds Roads on the evening of
the 26th and shortly after our arrival there a Siamess
Boat came alongside with Chnn Cheo Pulo Pak.
His questions principally related to the object of our
visit which I explained to him and stated that I should
Jand the nest morning. 1 also sent a messenger to
announce my arrival and at about 9 o'Clock on the
morning of the 27th I left the H. C. Brig Jessy and
was received on reaching the shore with every mark
of respect and attention. A sort of palankeen was
in waiting for me and about one hundred men were
drawn up to escort me into the Fort.

The letter from the Honorable the Governor was
received with great form and during the time a
translation of it was preparing the Rajah of Ligore did
little else than repeat his former professions of friend-
ship.

His Highness enquired most particularly \vllethur
1 had made the H ble the G
with all that had occurred during my former visit at
Kedda and especially whether I had communicated his
determination of not proceeding south of Kedda river
without informing the H. ble the Gi of the
number of the prahus that he was about to dispatch
and- the object of their voyage,
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A considerable time elapsed before a translation
of the letter from the Honowatle the Governor was
veady and when it was produced the Rajah pretended
that one or two passages were rather ambiguous and
in spite of the immediate explanation I afforded His
Highuess, some time was necessary before he would
comprehend the real meaning intended to he conveyed
and 1 must confess | began to snspect His Highness

was desirous of postponing the discussion and thereby
gaining time of any subject 1 might wish to introduce.

As the main and first object of my mission was to
obtain an explicit avowal of the Rajah's motives for
having equipped so large a force; [ reminded His
Highness of his former conversation with me regarding
the equipment of so great a number of prahus and ex-
pressed ahope that he would candidly explain his
reason for bringing eo large a fleet with him, as 1 was
apprehensive the plea he had formerly assigned to me
would not be admitted by the Government of Penang
more particularly as it was known that not wore than
one half of his force had reached Kedah. This last
remark surprized His Highuess a good deal and he
immediately enquired from whom I lad obtained my
information. This question Ldid not reply to, bu
wmerely observed that if 1 were incorrect in my state-
ment His Highuess would deny the fact which would
be quite sufficient, An immediate reply was not re-
turned and His Highness after some consideration
confessed that there wers G0 large prahus at Purlis
Lesides some smaller ones at Prahns Kumbar and that
these were bringing rive.

Every endeavour was made by the Rajah to avoid
giving an unequivoeal answer to my question, but
finding that some further explanation could not be
withheld His Highness adverted to his former plea that
a large retinue was necessary and that no Rajah of
any consequence ever moved from :one Country to
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another without being accompanied with a considerable
and commanding force.

I now considered it my duty to assure His
Highness that such a reply would be considered
evasive and entreated him to be more explicit on so
important a question lest his reserve should occasion
an_interruption of that friendship His Highuess had
expressed himself so desirous of cultivating and his
want of confidence allow the Governor of Penang no
other alternative than to conclude that the Armament
hie hiad brought with him and which was every day
increasing was destined for some hostile enterprize.

I regret to add that all my endeavours to et the
Rajah of Ligare to assign any other cause for collocting
so large a force at Kedda than that I have already
mentioned were wnavailing ; excepting that he
somewhat pettishly observed that it was o Siamese
enstom with which the English wora not perhaps
acquainted.

His Highness now adverted to the many absurd
and idle reports cirenlated at Penang to his prejudice
aud stated that he was willing to give the Governor
any pledge that an attack on Penang was never
intended by him and never would be attempted.
His Highness also stated it was a source of much
Tegret to learn that the Honorable the Governor had
considered it necessary to employ upwards of a hun-
dred Malays to watch the appraach of any Siamese
prahus ; such a measure involved considerable ex-
pence and would occasion an unfavorable impression
being entertained both in Caleutta and England of
the sincerity of those feelings of friendship His High-
ness hac professed towards the English.

The Rajah of Ligore is so fully informed of every
occurrence that takes place in the Island that T con-
sidered it right to admit that a few of the more timid
Malays Chuliahs and Chinese might have entertained
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such an idea but. that the better informed natives wers
under no apprehension of this kind, on the contrary
they were too well acquainted with the resources and
strength of the English not to be satisfied that an
attack made by any Native power would with facility
be repulsed.

1 now observed that it was universally reported
and generally believed that His Highness meditated
an attack on Salengore and that I had been directed
by the Honorable the Governor to ascertain whether
such was the case. This question was of course
conveyed in the most mild and conciliatory manner
and I fully explained to His Highness the motive for
That it emanated from the
long amicabl ion which has subsisted between
the respective Huropean Governments and that State ;
the Commercial Treaties which have been entered
into between the English and the Rajah of Salengore;
and the circumstance of the British Government

having lately taken possession of Malacea and its
dependencies.  His Higlness's reply on this subject
was 50 evasive that I was obliged to repeat the question,
which only produced an answer equally unsatisfactory.
His Highness was uncertain whether he would attack
Salengore, it would depend upon circumstances, and

stated that it was unnecessary to discuss this subject.
He had alweady assured the Governor through me
that his fleet should not proceed to the southward of
Kedda without his reporting the circwmstance and
that this information must be sufficient, but that
it any father pledge was required. he would at
onco place at the disposal of the Governor 50 of
his largest pralius, which might be sent to Rangoon.
1 informed His Highness that the time was past for
making this offar and that it was to ba regretted that
they had not been furnished when Captain Low applied
to him for them. I attempted to renew the former
subject of conversation but was prevented by the
rapidity with which His Highness put several questions

|
I
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tome.  One had reforence to the power vested in the
Governor of Penang which I made him fully actuainted
with, which appeaved greatly to surprize him, as he
several times renewed his enquiry if the Governor of
Penang could carry any measure of importance into
effect without to the Sup G,

As o more divect answer was desirable to the last
aud more especially to the foregoing question I remind-
el His Highness that he had obtained from me un-
«ualified replies to all his interrogations and that if he
were desirous of establishing the sincerity of his pro-
fessions he should at least evince the same degree of
candour on his part. 1 would theretore again repeat
my enquiry and ask His Highness for the last time his
intentions for bringing so extensive an armament to
Kedda and whether he meditated and attack on Salen-
gore. 1 remarked that the first question was of much
importance and I was bound to state unless [ obtained
an answer more conclusive than that already afforded
me I should be obliged to return to Penang and ac-
«quaint the Governor that His H

ghness had refused to
afford the information lie required and that I was ap-
prehensive such conduct would be viewed as almost
equivalent to an act of defiance.  With vespect to the
second (uestion, the attack of Salengore, I warned His
Highness that after the explanation 1 had afforded him
regarding that independent State any attack would most
probably involve him in much trouble and difficulty.
After an elapse of 10 minutes His Highness stated
that hie hald already assigned o sufficient reason for
bringing so great a number of prahus with him, and
with regard to the attack of Salengore he observed
that the King of Siam had directed him to punish the
people of that Country for having attacked some of his
vrows three years since. Upon my questioning tho
Rajal however more closely regarding the orders he had
received from the Court of Siam he disavowed having
been furnished with any that had particular reference
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to Salengore, but that he was vested with unlimited
discretion to punish any of the neighbouring Malayan
States and particularly Salengore that had given so
much cause for luint, having most ung
attacked and plundered at Perak upwards of 40 of his
largest prahus.

As T was now fully convinced the Rajah of Ligore
was determined to conceal his future intentions from
we and that any further delay at Kedda was not likely
to be attended with advantage, the whole tenor of the
Rajalt's conduct having in my opinion been such as to
render it unavoidable that I should present the second
letter from the Honorable the Governor to him, I
produced the letter in question (on the receipt of whicl
he seemed much agitated ) and 1 expressed the deep
regret the Honorable the Governor would feel when
informed that the Rajah’s unwillingness to afford any
explanation as to the object of His Highness's visit
to Kedda and the cause of his bringing so large an
armament with him had rendered this measure

absolutely necessary.

I now wished to take my departure but was
prevailed upon to lengthen my stay with His High-
ness, and also to promise that I would land the follow-
ing morning and take charge of the letters intended to
e sent to the Honorable the Governor. Our conver-
sation during the time I continued with the Rajah had
reference to our success against the Burmabs and he
certainly seemed to entertain an idea that our reports
vespecting the conquest of Ava had been much ex-
aggerated.

1 again landed on the morning of the 28th and
must confess that 1 fully anticipated the perusal of
Tetter No. 2 would have induced His Highness to have
been more communicative regarding his future plans
but I regret to state such was not the case. Professions
of friendship were tendered in abundance but no addi-
tional explanation afforded excepting that His High-
ness said that he should be most happy if the Governor
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of Penang would undertake to settle the quarrel
between the Rajali of Salengore and himself. T
informed him that I was certain the Governor of
of Penang would willingly listen to any such proposal
and expressed a hope that he had alluded to this
subject in the letters he was abont to deliver to me
and I was o good deal surprised on being informed
that no reply could be given to Letter No. 2 owing to
Pya Chy Song Kraam (the person sent by the King of
Siam to attend the Rajah of Ligore) having been
taken unwell and that it was absolutely necessary to
consult him before any reply could be forwarded or
any proposal made to the Honorable the Governor to
adjust the quarrel between the Rajshs of Salengore
and Perak. The Rajah however assured me that the

Honorable the Governor might expect an answer to
Letter No. 2 in the course of four or five days though,
as lis prows did not sail very fast, it might happen
that the letter woull not reach the Honorable the
Governor quite so soon as he could wish.

His Higlmess apologized for not sending any
presents in return for those I had delivered but said
that they should be forwarded in a fow days.

1 now returned to the H. C. Brig Jessy and arrived
off Port Cornwallis early this morning and transmitted
without delay to the Malay Trauslator to Government
the letter from the Rajah of Ligore addressed to the
Honorable the Goveruor.

I found that the number of the prahus in Kedda
river had increased from 106 to 126. The 60 large
War prahus acknowledged by the Rajah to be at
Purlis are shortly expected to arrive there. 1 consider
the forces of the Rajah of Ligore now collected
at Kedda to amount to about Four thousand
men, of these 1200 are from Sunggora, 700 from
Merdilon, 1000 from Chya, 500 from Settool, Purlis
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and Traang, and the remainder from Ligore. They
are all supplied with English muskets, the most of”
which have been obtained from Bangkok.

T have no hesitation in stating that the Rajah of
Ligore is fully determined to attack Salongore. On
this subject T had the means of obtaining very correct
information and 1 know that each Prahu in Kedda
viver was receiving rice during the night, about 3
Coyans to each vessel.

An idea prevails at Kedda that the Rajah of
Ligore is in disgrace with the Court of Siam and that
he is likely to settle on this side of the peninsula
unless hie conquers Salengore, and vbliges the Rajah
of that State to present. the Boonga Mas to the King
of Siam.

1 have &e.

(S1.) A D, MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley
in charge of the Squadron
Fort Cornwallis of observation.
the 20th May 1825,
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Translation
of a Letter from Chow Piya of Ligore to the Honble.
Robert Fullerton Esq. Governor of Pulo Penang.
( After the nsual Compliments. )

May my friend be informed that Mr. Maingy who
was sent as the Agent and representative of my friend's
person and who brought letters from my friend arrived
at Quedah and I received him agreeably to the rules of
friendship and conversed with Mr. Maingy conformably
to the custom of real Amity.

Now the most gracious King of Siam lias boen
pleased to send down Piya Pichi Songkram a Siamess
from the Capital to accompany me. On the day that
MMr. Maingy arrived he was sick and could not come
and sit down with us. If it had been desired that Mr.
Maingy should remain all the business would have been
delayed, and I wish to consider and consult with Piya
Pichi Songkram the Sinmese who has come down from
the Capital, afterwards 1 will prepare a letter and send
it by Koon Aksorn which will follow after and which
will make known all circumstances agreeable to the
wish of my friend which may be conformable to the
rules of peace or propriety not to excite any difference
and to follow the road of permanent friendship. This
letter written on Saturday 10th of the Month Shawal,
year Jirn and in the year of the Hegira 1240 or 28
May 1825.

A true Translation
( Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Malay Transr. to Govt.
Penang

the 29 May 1825.

RESOLVED unanimously that pending the receipt
of the pmmmed Letter from the Rajah of ngore, t.ho
adopted be i
aurl the Supennundent of Point Wellesley be directed
to keep a strict and vigilant watch to the Northward
with the armed vessels under his orders.
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FORT CORNWALLIS—The 10 June 18

SUPERINTENDENT of POINT WELLESLEY.
To
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir.

1 deem it my duty to transmit without delay, for
the information of the Honorable the Governor in
Council, the enclosed letter in the Malay language,
received yesterday by one of the most respectable
Iuhabitants of Wellesley I'rovince, from his brother,
a Native Chief. in the Service of the Rajali of Ligore,
Byed Jaffar from whom I obtained it, has for some
timo past been in my Pay, and has frequently afforded
me information I have afterwards found to be correct ;
and I have reason to know that the writer of the
letter in question possesses some influence with the
Rajah of Ligore, and had succeeded in securing for
his brother, Syed Jaffar, the promise of becoming
the Renter of the Farm in the Muda River, and
had not Syed Jaffar been suspected of being friendly
disposed towards the English, he would at this moment
have been holding that situation. I have forwarded a
translation of the letter, but as this has been done
in a great hurry, I would respectfully recomwmend that
another should be furnished by the Malay Translator
to Government.

I have &, &c. &e.

( Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley.
Point Wellesley
the 6th June 1825.
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LETTER from CHOU TEANG, a Native Chief
in the Service of the Rajah of Ligore, to his Lrother
Syed Jaffar, one of the most respectable Inhabitants in
Wellesley Province, dated the 24th Ramlan 1210.%

( After Compliments. )

Respecting vonr letter sent by Lahim, regarding
the bnsiness of Qualla Mooda, which was granted to
you by the Son of the Rajah of Ligore when you came
here, 1 have shewn the letter now sent by you respec-
ting the Farm to the young King, but he declares
that you shall not have the Farm on account of some
Chinese having informed him that you have combined
with the English who live at Qualla Buka; in con-
sequence of this the young King says that he must
wait o little aud ascertain whether this is true or false.
Moreover as you reside at Qualla Muda be on your
wuard respecting the Siamese, for they to a certainty,
and bayonl nll doubt will attazk P'ulo Penang, they
are now preparing, anl only waiting until the (white
men) English, ace off their guard, so that they may
attack them by stealth; also, they ave now preparing
to march to Pulie, and will pretend that they are
going to Perak. They are not going there, but will
descend the Kreean, they are now endeavouring to
hire 200 men in Penang in order to set it on fire, so
that when the forces have arrived at Kreean, then,
these 200 men who have been hired in Penang will be
ordered to set it on fire in about 20 places, so that
when all is confusion they may attack the place.
At present they are waiting until the English are off
their guard. This I have to communicate respecting
the Rajah of Ligore, as soon as my brother has read
this letter, let him destroy, and not retain it.

( True Translation )
(Signed) A.D.MAINGY
Supt. of Point Wellesley.
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1 have agreeably to Mr. Maingy's suggestion
perused the original letter transmitted by him, and
find the Translation perfectly correct.

(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON

Malay Transr. to Govt.

THE PRESIDENT reconds the following Minute,
with Translations of letters from the Rajah of Ligore,
and Denft. of Reply, together with a Conversation held
with the Principal Chinese Merchants.
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MINUTE BY THE PRESIDENT.

1 now lay before the Board a Paper of Information
received from Mr. Maingy. 1 beg leave at the same
time to submit copies of letters received from the
Rajah of Ligore, with Draft of my Reply theveto,
Theso letters were delivered by four Envoys, with
whom 1 have had a conversation, the substance of
which corresponded entively with the letters and
reply.

The Board will perceive a striking coincidence
between the Information of Mr. Maingy, and the
subject of the letters. The Information states it to be
the intention to sent Troops on pretence of going to
Perak, to halt on the Kreean River, and wait a favorable
opportunity for attacking the Island. The main
drift of these letters goes to shew the necessity of
sending Troops to Perak, a fabricated letter said to
be from Perak requiring assistance is produced, the
object is evidently to blind us as to the truo object
of sending Troops to the Kreean. I trust that the
Board will be satisfled that the hostile intention
of the Rajah towards this Island is now sufficiently
manifest to anthorize our acting against him, should
a favorable occasion present itself for the destruction
of his meauns of aggression.

The Board will perceive the employment of per-
sons to set fire to the town again alluded to ; on this
point [ confess T am not so well informed as on
external proceedings, having relied principally on the
Police for discovery of internal enemies. From a
conversation held by me with the principal Chiness
Inhabitants, substance of which I annex hereto, there
seems not a vestige of doubt, notwithstanding the
depositions of the asserted heads of the Kongsee, or
Clubs, that Low Achong is at the head of one
«of them, the “ Hysan Kongsee;” the information
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may, if necessary, be supported on ocath. His
being so is indeed a3 notorious as the sun at noon
day, and I have obtained the same information from a
variety of channels, If any persons are engaged to aid
the views of the Rajal on the Island, we may be assured
the Members of these Kongsees are they and it would
be most desirable to obtain, if possible, by a seizure of
Papers or otherwise, the names of those belonging to
it. I must at the same time confess my firm belief
that had an immediate search taken place at the House
where they are known to assemble, instead of trusting
to the asseveration of the reported heads, we. should
have got at the names as well as the object of these
mectings. Having furnished the Superintendent of
Police with the late information_from M. Maingy, [
still hope he will succeed in obtaining a clue to the
discovery of thoso employed on account of the Rajah.
In the mean time a due regard to the preservation of
order requires that Achong should be kept for the
present in close custody, and not allowed to hold

communication with any person whatever.

The great object and purpose of Police is to watelt
and discover such machinations of the evil disposed,
and it is impossible for me to conceal my regret that on
the present occasion the Police has shewn itself to be so
deficient ; as to those Clubs, I can only express my
surprize that they have ever been allowed to exist,
composed of the very lowest and most worthless of our
population, a class of people without tie or connexion
on the Island, ready for any mischief, holding such mect-
ings with closed doors, administering Oaths of Secrecy.
1 can hardly conceive an Instrument better fitted for
the sub of any regular G jond T am
only withheld from submitting a Proclamation for
their immediate suppression, in the hopes that the
important object of the discovery of persons may still
be attainable.

Connected with this, there is another subject on
which it seems desirable that information should be
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obtained and recorded. 1 allude to the ‘manner in
which the Macao Chinese obtain footing on the [sland.
I have been informed, and by respectable authority,
that they are brought here from China on speculation
Ly Captains of Ships, and sold as Slave Debtors to the
highest bidders, the purchase money being repayable
to the purchasers by a given portion of their labour.
This practice scems to me to have rather close affinity
to actual Slave Trade, and T propose that a full and
complote Statement of the mode and manner of carry-
iug on the transaction be obtained from the best
anthority. in owder that we may judge of the ex-
pediency of allowing or preventing the continmance of
the practice,

(Sigmed ) R. FULLERTON,

10 June 1825,
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Translation

.
of a letter from the Chow Pya of Ligore to the

Honorable the Governor of Pulo Penang.
(After Compliments.)

May my friend be intormed that the letter which
he sent mo by Me Maingy raspacting Salengore,
reached me. | replisd to it and gave a lotter to Mr.
Maingzy to convey to my friend. 1 therein mentioned
that the great King of Siam has been pleased to send
& Chicf Pia Pichie Sungkram from the Capital to
assist me in comlucting business, and that on the day
Me. Maingy was here, that person was sick, and
could not come and sit down with us. I wished to
consult with Pin Pichie Songkram, the person who has
Dbeen sent trom the Capital upon all the business and
promised to reply acconling to the letter which Mr.
Maingy brought.

Formerly the Rajali of Perak, Rajah Mooda and
Rajah Bindahara, the Chiefs of Perak seut a letter
to Pernk and represented that the Rajuh of Salengore
had come and excited a disturbanze in Perak, and

coveral times requested a force to be sent.  Again on
the 20 Day of the 5th Month, the Rajah of Perak,
Rajah Mooda, and the Rajsh Bindahara sent the Rajah
Kechil Mooda, the Orang Kaya besar, Sri Lela Paduka,
Maharajah Sitea and Paduka Sri Nava with a letter to
Ligore, entreating assistance against the TRajal of
Salengore, who had created a commotion in Perak.

I accordingly consulted with the Pya Pichio
Songkram, the abovementioned Chief, who came from
the Capital, and I now send Aluang Wat Akani, o
Chief from the Capital, Aluang Pechie Peluppo, Koou
Aksorn, Che Hat, and Che Solymau to convey the
letters from the Rajah of Perak and the representations
from the Chiefs of Perak, relative to the proceedings
of the Rajah of Salengore, which the Rajah Kechil
Mooda, the Orang Kaya besar and the other Chiefs
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from Perak brought to Ligore, in onder that my
friend may be fully acquainted.

The Country of Perak has become tributary to
Siam, and sends o Flower of Gold and Silver (Boonga
Mas dau Perak) to the most exalted King of Siam.
The Rajah of Salengore went with a force and
committed lostilities against Perak, he seized aund
plundered the Prows with Guns large and small, which
1 sent with Che Hat to Quedah, and the Tin and
Presents which ths Rajah of Perak was transmitting
to me also fell into his possession. All these things
are stated in the letter from the Rajah of Perak, and
in the other letter which are now sent for my friond's
inspection.

With respect to my intention of sending an
Armament, according to the request expressed in the
letter from the Rajah of Perak, if it can be settled that
Salengore is not to meddle with Perak, and the
Rajah of Salengore will not commit hostilities against
Perak, or excite a disturbance there, I will stop the
Armament, and will not send it at present, agreeably to
what was communicated to me by Mr. Maingy, by my
friend’s directions, and what was settled between us.

With respect to my friend's desire to stop the
Armament, and not to permit it to proceed, as there is
fighting and quarrelling between Perak and Salengore,
and the Ryots of the Perak Country are in great
difficulty and the Country in commotion as mentioned
in this letter, how does my friend intend to consider
or settle? I am anxious to know, and I request he will
send a letter to inform me.

Morcover, in the letter from the Rajah of Perak,
which the Rajah Kechil Mooda, the Orang Kaya besar,
and the other Chiefs of Perak brought, it is stated that
this year the time has arrived when they intend send-
ing the Boongah Mas dan Perak to Siam, but they are
much in want of Prows to bring it, and requesting that
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when the five above mentioned Chiefs return to Perak,
some Prows may be sent to receive the Boonga Mas
dan Perak, and the other offerings and presents for the
great King, to be brought to Quedah, and they have
solicited me to forward the same to the Capital.

When T formerly sent Che Hat and many I'angulus
with 40 Prows to return the Rajah Bindahara to
Quedah, T requested permission to pass through the
Straits of Pulo Penang, and the former Governor of
Pulo Penang let my vessels pass through as every
body knows,

On this occasion, I wish to request that 40 or 50
P’rows may be permitted to pass to convey the Rajah
Kechil Mooda to Perak as before, and they will after-
wards receive the Boonga Mas Perak, and the other
offerings and presents for the great King of Siam. and
will return, conducting the business properly acconding
to the custom of Countries that are tributary.

If a few Prows were to be sent, perbaps the Rajalh
of Salengore would attack and plunder them as he did
with Cho Hat before, if people do not believe, send
Cruizers to follow and Inok out.

Relative to these two matters, I send Aluang Wat
Akani, a person from the Capital, Aluang Pechie
Peluppo, Koon Aksorn, Che Hat and Che Solyman to
consult with my friend. The Siamese and English
Countries have been on friendly terms from the most

remote times, and my friend should settle how.

the friendship with Siam may not be destroyed
and how a good understanding may be p a

Whatever may be my friend’s determination, he
will send a letter to inform me.

Moreover, if there are any evil disposed Malays
who bring false intelligence, in order to create distrust
on the part of the English against the Siamese (the
Siamese and English lave been long on friendly
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terms, and trade has been conducted Lebween them,
and the Siamese use any Goods of the English, and
Tam desirous to promote greater friendship even than
formerly), the Siamese have 1o bad intentions towanls
the Englich, and if any Malays come and give reports
tending to excite suspicion, will my friend inform me
by letter, in order that 1 may point out the proper
rond and let way friend know,

Dated Thursday 17th of 7th Month Year Towl,
or 2d June.

A time Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay

Penang

6th June 1525,

NOTE,

Tu the first part of the last parigrnph, there
is evidently a word or two omitted. The translation

is as literal as possible,

(Sd) J. A
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Translation

of a letter from the Rajah of Perak to Aluang Packdi
Juta Minister of the Chow Pya of Ligore.

( After many Compliments.)

With respect to the Country of Perak whicli has,
for many years past, been tributary to Siam, and has
sent the Boonga Mas dan Perak (Gold and Silver
Flower) the great King of Siam has been pleased, of lis
favor, to place it under the superintendence of the Chow
Pya of Ligore, and myself, the Rajah Mooda, Rajah
Bandah and all the Ministers in Perak ave very
happy that the Country is under the control of the
Chow Pya of Ligore, we retaining the executive
administration of the Country.

Perak is quite unconnected with Salengore, but
when the Chow Pya of Ligors sent Che Hat with prows
to return the Rajali Bandahara, and to convey the Tin
which accompanied the Boonga Mas, and some other
Tin as an offering from us all, which was to be for-
warded to the Chow Pya of Ligore, together with a
small quantity of Tin belonging to the different
Pangulus of ® Prows, which they had themselves pur-
chased, as my brother the Rajah Kechil Mooda and
the Orang Kaya besar well knows ; just as Che Hat
was about to quit Perak, and retuin to Quedah, the
Rajah of Salengore arrived, accompanied by the Rajah
Mooda and Rajah Hussein, with a force of Armed
Prows, and attacked the Prows belonging to Che Hat:
and the other Pangulus who were on the point of
returning to Quedah.

1and all my family and attendants fled and went to
reside up the River, and Che Hat with all his people also
fled and escaped across the Country to Quedah. After-
wards the Rajah of Salengore by force established Rajah
Hassan at Kwala Bedor, and the Perak people who
wished to go and purchase Salt and other Articles, he
would not permit to pass.
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Rajah Hassan has committed many acts of op-
pression upon the Ryots of the Perak Country who are
in very great distress. I have [requently entreated an
Armament, but it has not yet pleased the Chow
I'ya to send it. 1 now send wmy Brother the Rajah
Kechil Mooda, the Orang Kaya besar, Sri Paduka and
Maharajah Nelea to present themselves before the
Chow Pya of Ligore, for the purposo of communicating
to him every thing relating to the Government of the
Perak Country, to explain all circumstances, and
also to request a Siamese Armament to be sent here for
the purpose of settling every thing decidedly in order
that the Ryots may enjoy tranquillity and comfort.

Further, this year, at the proper season, the
Boonga Mas dan Perak must be sent to the Capital ;
but there is a great want of Prows to couvey it.
When my hrother Rajah Mooda Kechil and the Orang
Kaya besar ave about to retwrn, 1 request thgt Prows
wmay be sent to receive the Boonga Mas dan Perak,
and the offerings to be sent to the Capital.

Dated 27th of Jemad-nl-awal (Jany.) Monday 1240,
A True Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
the 6 June 1825,
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Enclosure 3 In Translation
he Proaldent's of o Statement purporting to be from the Rajali Kechil
Mooda, Orang Kaya besar, Sri Lela Paduka, Maharajs
Selia and Paduka Sri Nara, Chiefs of the Perak Cou
try, to Aluang Packdi Juta, Minister of the Chow Pya
of Ligore.
We the Rajah Kechil Mooda, Orang Kaya besar,
Sii Lela Padukn, Maharajah Selia, and Vaduka Sri
Nara, Chiefs of Perak, beg to aequaint Aluang Packdi
Juta, and respectfully request him to inform the Chow
Tya of Ligore, that we have been directed to present
ourselves before the Chow Pya, for the purpose of
communicating all circumstances respecting Perak and

Salengore, and the former differences.

The boundary between Perak and Salengore is the
River Burnam. In the time of ® Morhum Bongsu, the
Grandfather of the King who now governs the Perak
Country, the place called Rantan Panjang {Long reach)
was established. When the present Rajali of Salengore
came and attacked the Country formerly, the Morhum
Bongsu and all the Chiefs fled, and took up their re-
sidence further up the River, establishing themselves
at Kwala Trus, a little beyond Rantan Panjang.

The Salengore Armament attempted to push up,
Lut was prevented, and the Rajalt of Salengore was not
permitted to have an interview with the King of Perak
and Cliiefs of the Country. The Rajahi of Salengore re-
turned to his own Country. About a year after this.
Morhum Bongsu died, and all the Chiefs assembled and
raised his Son to the throne. This was t Morhum
Jemalula ; about 3 months after his accession, a letter
was received from the Rajuh of Salengore, requesting
some territory in Perak, from Kwala Trus as far as
the River Perak, saying it belonged to him, and that
he had taken it by force of arms.

© This was Sultan Makomed Tawse Udeen or Tujudia.
Morhum Bongsu is his designation after death.
1 This was Sultan Mansur Shah,
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The Morhum Jemalula replied to the letter that
nobody had given that territory to the Rajah of
Salengore, nor had the Rajah of Salengore met and
consulted with the Chiefs of Perak upon the subject.
The Rajah of Salengore was very angry, and prepared
an armament to attack Perak again. Morhum Jema-
lula fortified at Kota Lumaut, and when the Salengore
fleet arrived and attucked Kota Lumut, they did not
gain any advantage.

The Salengore armament having been beaten off
for a time, retreated to Kwala Bidor, and they several
times returned and renewed the attack on Kota Lumut,
but never succeeded in their attempts. While these
proceedings were going on, the Rajah of Salengore
made overtures of settling the matter by negociation.
At last he said “do not let us fight any wore, the
territory from Kwala Bidor to Kwala Perak is enough
for me.”  Morhum Jemalula replied that the Ministers
of Perak were not even disposed to give him the
limited territory requested by the Rajah of Salengore,
who again replied to the Rajah of Perak, “if you are
* not satisfied, let us enquire the custom amongst the
* Chiefs of some other Countries, and how matters of
* this sort are adjusted, in order that we may conform
*“to the same usage:” They accordingly exchanged
Engagements to this effect, and promised that in the
course of 3 months they would ascertain from some
other Rajalis the custom as before noticed. The
Salengore Avmanent then quitted the Perak Country.
Two Guns were given to the Rajali of Perak at the
same time,

Many years afterwands, orders were received from
the great King of Siam, directing the Rajah of Quedah
to prepare an atmament and attack Perak, and Perak
was conquered.  After this, the Rajah of Salengore
sent a demand to the Rajah of Perak for the price of-
the two Guns (500 Dollars ) and His Majesty paid the
sum in question, and settled the price in the presenco
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of the Datu Bandahara, the Datu Laxamaua. and the
Chiefs of the Quedah Country who were there at
the time; the discussion relative to the territory
was dropped.

Not long after this Morhum Jemalula died, and
Rajah Abdullah his Son ascended the throne and took
charge of the affairs of Government. About a year
after his accession, the Rajah Mooda Son of the Rajal
of Salengore entered Perak, and had a mecting with
Rajah Abdullah, who had become King of Perak.  He
had nothing to communicate, but remained abont a
month at Perak, when there arrived four Chiefs from
Salengore, named To Aran, To Pengawa, To Jeram
and Panglima Burnam, bringing a letter demanding
the territory as before mentioned.

The Rajah of Perak replied “ when the Quedal
« armament was formerly here, why did you not claim
“ the territory then ; now the Perak Country has be-
« como tributary to the great King of Siam, and if you
« have any claims, let us go to Siam and refer it.”
The fonr Chiefs of Salengore above named replied
« the Rajahs of Perak and Salengore aro like brothers,
“ if we proceed to Siam, it will look asif they were
« disputing, and such a Mission would be attended
« with mmch difficulty and loss ; it would also tend to
“ destroy confidence and excite jealonsy between the
* Rajuhs of Perak and Salengore. If the Rajah of
“ Perak is disposed to listen to our advice, let him
“pay 30 Bahars of Tin” The Rajah Mooda of
Salengore sanctioned this proposal. Upon considera-
tion, the Rajah of Perak also consented to it ; because
it was not worth while to excite a difference between
Brothers for a little. He accordingly paid 30 Bahars
of Tin, which was received by the Rajah Mooda of
Salengore and the 4 Chiefs above named, and the
matter was settled ; upon which the Rajah Mooda and
the 4 Chiefs returned to Salengore.

It was not long subsequent to this, that accounts
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were received of the Chow Pya’'s armament having
come to Quedah, and of the Rajah of Quedah’s having
fled to Pulo Penang, to reside there. At the samo
time the Rajah of Perak received a letter from thy
Chow Pya of Ligore, directing the transmission of the
Boonga Mas dan Perak. The Rajah of Perak prepared
it, and ordered the Rajah Bandahara, Tuanko Ja-hiya,
Sri Adeku Rajah To Peggali, Maharaja Addenda, and
Rajah Ahmut to convey it across the Country to
embark in prows at Trong, and from thence to Quedah
to the Chow Pya of Ligore. The Chow Pya of Ligors
received the Boonga Mas dan Perak, but the presents
and offerings which should have accompanied it could
not be brought.

The Chow Pya of Ligore prepared the Boonga
Mas dun Perak with suitable accompaniments of
presents instead of those which should have been
brought from Perak, and transmitted them to thu
Capital.  When the Rajah Bandahara and the Datus
and Chiefs of Perak, who conveyed the Boonga Mas
dan Perak, were ready to return from Quedah, the
Chow Pya of Ligore sent 40 Prows with Arms lavge
and small, and otherwise properly equipped, in order
to convey the Rajah Bandahara to Perak, and he re-
quested permission to pass through the Straits of Pulo
Penang ; the former Governor of Pulo Penang granted
permission and sent two Cruizers to the Kwala Mooda
to receive the Prows, and accompany them as far as
Pulo Kra.

When the Rajah Baundahara and all the Chiefs in
Perak prepared Tin as an offering to the extent of 52
Bahars ; a further quantity of 75 Bahars in lienof the
presents which should have accompanied the Boonga
Mas, (and which were supplied by the Rajah of Ligors,)
also a quantity of Tin belonging to the Nackodahs ot the
vessels, which they had purchased at Perak, to the
extent of 78 Bahars—in all 205 Bahars, and the Prows
were about to return to Quedah, the Rajah of Salengore,
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Rajah Mooda, and Rajah Hassan with a fleet of Prows
came and attacked and plundered the Prows brought
by Che Hat, and the Panglimas of distinction, who
were sent to accompany the Rajah Bandahara on his
retnrn, withont any cause, and all the Trows, &e. fell
into the hands of the Rajah of Salengore.

The Rajal of Perak aud the Rajali Baudabam
ascended the River. and all the people who accompanied
the Rajalt Bandahara returned across the Country to
Quedah. ‘Che Rajah of Salengore then stationed Lis
Nephiew Rajah Hussan at Kwala Bidor in the Perak
Country who exucts all the duties by force, for his
awn benefit, aud prohibits trading vessels and the
peaple of the Country from passing up and down to
o the Rajah of Perak
olved in much

Luy and sell at the Town v
resides, by which all the Ryot

e in

distress,

Wherefore the Rajal of Perak
lias sent ws the Rajah Kechil
Mouda, Orang Kaya besar, Sri
Lala Paduka, Maharaja Selia, and
Paduka Nara, Chicts of Perak
tarepresent to the Chow Pya ot
Ligore, the distresses of the Perak
Conntry, and to request o Siamese
Armament to be sent to settle

Chop

of

Rajah Kecliil
/

Mooda.

everything at Perak, acconding to -
the custom of countries that are Chop
tributary, o that we and all the of
Ryots of the Perak Country may  Orang Kaya
live with case and tranguillity. :

y " ! besar.
Such is onr representation. Dated A

20 Shaban, April. "/

A Tene Translation
( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON.
Malay Transr, to Got,
The G June 1825,




NOTE.

The Paper, of which the foregoing is a translation,
bears the Chops of only two of the 5 Permk Chiefs
named, Itis evidently fabricated by the Sinmese,
with the aid of some of the Perak Chiefs mentioned,
who are still at Quedal, Tl are several wonls in
the letter which are xearcely known to the gonerality
of Malays, and it ix ensy 10 discover from the style
altogether that the Paper is not the genuine production
of the Peruk

Miiefe. The hand writing is familiar to
e, and my Native Writer says it is that of Che Hat,
the person alluded to in this paper, and who is one of

the Euvoys now here. In the course of conversation
at Govy e admitted that the
representation: had been written by the Perak Chiefs
at Ligore.

nment House

estenl

(Nigred ) J. AL
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Translation

of a letter from Chow Pya of Ligore to the Honorable
the Governor of Pulo Penang.

( After Compliments.)

With respect to the English having attacked
Ava, the great King of Siam is extremely delighted, for
there has never, from the remotest. times, been a good
nunderstanding botween Ava and Siam ; he is anxions
to hear the news, and to be informed of all particulars
with vespect to the War, how matters stand, how
many Towns in Ava hava been taken &e. 1 there-
fore request my friend to write and inform me of
theso particulars, in order that 1 may forward the
intelligence to the Capital,

Further, I send Aluang Wat Akani, a Siamase
feom the Capital, Aluaug Pichei Peluppo, Koon Aksorn,
Che Hat, and Che Solyman, t look for muskets for
my clildren to play with, 1 spoke to Mr. Maingy
about these Muskets. They also wish to purchase
some other goods wl

I are required to some extont.

I therefore vequest that my friend will permit them to
make purchases agreeably to what is mentioned in
this letter; do not lot them experienco any difficulty.

Further, T wish tho people who are now sent to
Do acquainted with my friewd ; 1 therefore request
that Alnang Wat Akani, Aluang Pichei Peluppo, Koon
Aksorn, Che Hat and Che pan may have an
interview with wy friend, in onler that interconrse
may be easy, and that friendship may be maintained.

Dated Thursday T4th Shawal 1210 or 2d. June
1825,
A True Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
6th June 1825.
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Enclosure 5 In Translation
the President's s
Minute.  of a letter from the Chow Pya of Ligore to the Malay

Translator to Government.

(Afer Compliments.)
(This letter is ically o li of Encl
No. 4, addressed to the Governor of Pulo Penang. 1t
is therefore not copied here.)




®nclesure 6 In
the President's
Minute.
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To THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

I have reccived your Highness's letter dated 17¢h
of 7Tth Month Year Fowl sent by the hands of your
Fuvoys Aluang Wat Akani, Aluang Pichei Peluppo.
Koon Aksorn, Che Hat and Che Solyman, and it he-
comes my duty to reply tothese letters in the plain and

i

le langunge of trath, mther than of useless constesy
and idle compliment.

Far the last four years, ever sin
sion of Quedah, your professions of friendship to Mr.
Phillips my Predecessor and mysel§ have been un-
bounded, Those professions have been met by ns both
with sincerity.  The War between the British aud the

[osses=

Barmese, the natural and long continued enemies of the
Siamese, led me to cultivate with redoukled anxiety
the friendship of the Siamese Chiefs in this neighbonr-
lood, and of whom your Higluess is the principal.
It was my desire to open with you such an intercourse
as would enable me to conmunicate occasionally the

in all matters con-
nected with the mutual interests of the British and

Proggress of the War and toexp

Siamese on this side of the Peninsula, and to obtain
from you such wssistance in respect to Boats and
Carvinge as your Highness might be disposed to give
in prosecution of the War.

It was with this view that Lieutt. Low was sent to
you by my predecessor, and Captain Burney by myself.
Instead of receiving those Gentlemen, as your Envoys
were received here. you refused them permission to
cross the Country to Ligore. You promised indeed
to meet the latter Gentleman at Quedah, and sure
enough you have arrived there, but in what a guise,
not as a Chief come on friendly terms with a re-
tinuo only adequate to your rank and station, but
accompanied by 800 Prows, the most of them armed
with Guns, by many thousand men accompanied
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by Chiefs from Mardelong Sangora and other places
each with their quota of Troops. You are come at
the head of an Armament which can leave no doubt on
the minds of any reasonable man that some hostile
Enterprize is in your view. You have professed your
readiness and desiro to cooperate with the DBritish
against the Burmals ; the Emperor of Siam las made
the same professions. The Prah Klang has stated
that an Army has been sent to aid the Dritish forte.
We must judge of men's minds by their actions, and
not by their words, and how am I to reconcile your
actions and professions? The Burmahs have been in
possession of the Coast of Tenasserim for fifty years,
they plundered Junk Ceylon only in 1810, they carried
on their plunder and devastation down to the neigh-
bourhood of Poongah. The British Troops have taken
Mergui, Tavoy and Tenasserim, they have placed
themselves between you and the Burmahs, relieved the
States of Rindong Poongah and your own from all
alarm, and instead of assisting the British according
to your professions, your first act is to collect the
Military resources of those very States, and come
down in hostile array against a British Settlement, to
the Governor of which you are making daily protesta-
tions of friendship and regard. What has my friend
to answer to this?

In respect to what your Highness writes of the
affairs of Perak and Salengore, it is necostary to bring
past ci to the 1] of your
Highness. The British Government occupied this
Island for the purposes of trade, extension of their
territory has never been their object, nor have they
wished or desired to intermeddle with the disputes of
their neighbours. 1t is not their wish to do so now,
further than indispensably necessary for their own
security. Following this forbearing course, you have
been allowed to expel the King of Quedah, an old friend
of the English, and to occupy his country.  You have
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been allowed to impose upon Perak feudatory vassa-
lago and to cause them to transmit the Boonga Mas
which was never done before. Those were not
Siamese but ancient independent Malay States, and
now you intimate a desire to send Prows to Salengore.
My friend where is this to end? The British Govern-
ment have Settlements South of Salengore, and it is
not, considered consistent with their security to allow
an Armed force to possess themselves of that Country
and therefore I must caution you against any attempt
of that kind, because it may probably create dissention
between the British and the Siamese Government.
As to my allowing any Armed Prows to pass between
this Island and the main land, the thing cannot b
done. If one State allows a free passage of hostilo
Armaments through its Territory to attack a thind
State it is always considered an act of hostility.  Wo
are on friendly terms with the Rajah of Salengore. [
cannot grant a passage and facilitate an attack upon
a friend. With respect to all disputes, I will write to
the Rajah of Salengore and obtain his explanation on
the suhbject, and let you know the result. When
disputes arise between neighbouring States, they are
best settled by the mediation of a common friend.

Your Highness writes me not to attend to the
reports brought by Malays, Chinese and other ill dis-
posed persons. I tell your Highness in reply, as 1
have said already, that I judge not from words which
are deceitful things, but from facts known to myself.
1 know very well you have at least 300 Armed Prows
at Quedah. 1 know also that Prows with Guns and
Armed men in them are not required for the peaceable
purposes of trade ; it is only for that purpose that your
Prows can have any business here, and if any such
come towards this Island armed as above, I must con-
sider they come with hostile intent, and shall treat
them accordingly.

Your Highness says you will send no Prows South
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of Quedah without informing me, so far your promisa
is satisfactory ; but I expect also that you will send no
Troops near the Company's Territory, where they have
never been posted before, they cannot bo wanted there,
as you know very well we have never had any inten-
tion of attacking you, and if Troops appear in that
direction, I conclude they come with hostile intent
and shall act accordingly.

1 beg your Highness to recollect that the first
aggressor is not he that strikes in his own defence,
but he that comes to make the attack, and your High-
ness will keep in mind, that it is you that have fitted
out and armed 300 Prows, and brought them near us
wo did not come to you. This is but a small Island
but it is a part of a great Empire, and Ligore belongs
to the Emperor of Siam. Tt is not here therefore, it is
not between the Governor of Penang and the Rajah of
Ligore, but in another place that the battle must be
fought. As Dependents of great Kingdoms, it is your
duty, as well asmine, to avoid giving just cause of
hostility.

Your professions of peace and friendship are
strong, if you wish them to be believed, your mode of
proceeding is very plain ; it is as clear as the sun at
noon day—send away your Boats, dismiss the Malays
whom you have pressed, dismiss the Troops you have
collected, let your actions be in conformity with your
words, and when you have done all this, but not before,
1 will believe your professions ; until that is done no
faith can be reposed in any protestation, and the
sending of Envoys to repeat them will be in vain.

This letter contains many things which will not
be pleasing to your Highness. It is not such a letter
a5 I have been accustomed to write to you, butin
serious affairs it is our custom to write seriously and
with sincerity and truth. In writing this letter T have
performed a painful duty and I conclude by assuring
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you, that there is nothing Lso earnestly desire as to
remain at peace with your Highuess, and that nothing
but necessity will induce me to act with hostility, and
if by persevering in your present line of conduct you
render such inevitable, I have done my daty, and be
the consequences on your own head.

Respecting the war with the Burmabs, 1 have to
acquaint. your Highness that General Campbell lias
marched from Rangoon to Prome witth 8,000 men;
that the Country of Bassein has been taken possession
of ; that General Morrison having subduned  Arracan
has proceeded with his Army of 12,000 men to jobit
(leneral Campbell at Prome. Ten thousand men
( European Soldiers ) are arrived at Rangoon, and will
join the rest to go against Ummerapoors, and the
great Powers in England having heard of the War
with the Burmahs, has directed 20,000 select Buropean
Troops to be sent out, which may be expected by the
Ships which arrive from Tngland at this season of the
year at Bengal Madras aud Lombay. Other minor
particulars relative to the War Tave been made known
to your Envoys.

(Signed) R, FULLERTON
Governor.

Oth June 1825.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 10 June 1825.

READ the following Information of a Malay man,
relative to the Proceedings of the Siamese at Quedah,
submitted by the Malay Translator to Government.

INFORMATION of SANTU, a Malay lad, inha-
bitant of Province Wellesley, his family residing at
Sungei Tumbus,

Went to Quedah about two months ago to pur-
chase Rice; on the arrival of the Rajah of Ligoro he
was forced to enter into His Highness's service as a
Soldier. He was afraid, and not liking the duty, he
got a small Canoe from a friend of his, and escaped at
night.  On his way here he fell in with one of Mr.
Maingy's row boats, which brought him up to Town
this morning to the Malay Translator.

Santu reports that there were about 140 Prows in
the Quedah River, on Friday night last he saw a great
number more Prows enter the River, at least 200 in
his opinion. These Prows proceeded at once up the
River to Allustar. He understood that 300 Elephants
had arrived from Ligore, and remained some distance
above Quedah. The Siamese were daily collecting all
the Malays from all parts of the Country.

The Siamese are constructing a very large Stock-
ade at a place called Guroon, at the source of the small
river Jan on the Northern side of the Mountain
Jerei, or nearly half distance between Quedah and
Penang. There are 800 men busily employed on this
stockade.

They are constructing another Stockade up the
Kuwala Mooda about a day’s journey from the Mouth of
the River. Here there are only about 200 men
employed.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator.
4th June 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 10 June 1825.

RAJAH of PERAK.

Translation
of a Letter from the King of Perak to the Honble.
Robert Fullerton Governor of Pulo Penang.
( After Compliments.)

T duly received the letter which my friend sent
Dby Sovelin, with great respet and pleasure. I
perused it and fully comprehend the contents. My
friend acquaints me of his having assumed charge
of the Government of Pulo Penang and its Depen-
dencies. This is extremely satisfactory.

My friend expresses his desive to preserve a good
understanding between the two Countries, and to
continue the friendly intercourse which has long
subsisted. I am very much pleased with this ; formerly
it was as stated by my friend, but at present Perak
is under the Government of the Siamese which
prevents me daring to express any wish of my heart
to my friend, for it might possibly give offence to
the King of Siam.

1 am therefore afraid to propose anything upon
any subject at present, for 1 am a poor man; my
friend's better understanding will enable him to con-
sider how a friendly intercourse bstween Perak and
Pulo Penang may best be promoted, and how friend-
ship may be increased. Dated 11th Rajap.

A True Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
Penang
1st June 1825.

NOTE. The letter to which this is a reply was
a Circalar from the Honble. the Governor announcing
his arrival.
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FORT WILLIAM 10th June 1825,

To the Resident ot Singapore.

To J. CRAWFURD Esqr.
Resident at Singapore.

Sir,

1 am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your
letters dated 20th and 30th April, forwanding Copies
of your correspondence with the Siamese Minister on
the subject of the promised co-operation of that nation
with the British Government in the war against the
state of Ava.

2. The Governor General in Council desires me
ence has shewn the Siameso pro-
mises of co-operation, to be wholly delusive. The only
Armaments which they have prepaved have acted in an
unfriendly manner and proved a source of embarrass-
ment to us, as the panying Copies of dispatches *
from the Officers commanding at Mergui and Tavoy
will fally apprizz yon. An Army made its appearanco
for a short time in the Martaban district ( after it had
been conquered by our Arms ) commanded by some of’
the Talien Chiefs ; but events cle evinced that
those Chiefs were intent only on the prosecution of
their own personal views, and finding these were not
likely tobe gained through our interposition, they
suddenly retired in March last.

tostate that expel

3. His Lordship in Council farther observes that
the time has long passed when Siamese co-operation
could have been of any value to us, even had that
Government been disposed to exert itself cordially
against the common Enemy, It is desirable, therefore,
that all solicitations for the assistance of the Court of
Siam in the Burman War, should cease, but Govern-
ment of course sanctions the steps which you have
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already taken for that purpose, under your former
instructions including the present of brass Ondnance
now reported.

4. 1 am directed to take this opportunity of
transmitting to you, Copy of an important dispatch from
the Governor General in Council, to the Government of

ctory Prince of Wales Island. dated 18th May * and of the
2its, provisional instructions ® and letters® furnished to
Captain Burney, in contemplation of his proceeding as
an Buvoy from the Right Honorable the Governor
to His Majesty the King of Sinm.

Geners
I have &e

( Sigmed ) G, SWINTON
Seeretary to Govt.

FORT WILLIAM

10th June 1825,
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FORT WILLIAM 17th June 1825.

I ion of Shimyep or Sihimyen a Chinese
man of the Tribe Chouk, Prisoner in the House of

Correction.

I is by Trade a Goldsmith, and has been
for some time employed of a master Goldsmith, a
Macao Chinese named Hinneoo of the Tribe Cheong.
who lives near the market place in George Town.
Whilst in this man's employ about eight (8) months
ngo, Informant was invited to join a Hungsee or Clul:
to which his Master belonged, the head man or
manager of which is the Chinese Watchmaker Appoo.
All persons joining the Club were obliged to do so
under an oath that they would when required, or in
any public commotion join the members thereof. This
Club is termed the Ghe chin, and is very numerous.
Informant understood that they had stores of spears
and other Weapons which were deposited in different
places—some he leard were kept in the House or
Premises of the Arrack Farmer. On joining each
member pays five (5) Dollars entrance money, and
takes the aforesaid oath.

Not having the means of paying the entrance
Money, and not wishing to take the oath prescribed
Informant never joined the Club.

The Macao Chinese have two (2) other Clubs of
this kind in George Town, one of which is called the
Hoo Sing, and the other the Hy San—and held one
near Ujong Passir, and the other in the Prangin
Roads. Following is a List of the Head men, or
managers of these Clubs and places they are held in,



[238]

Places Managers  Occupation.
Ghianiii Church | Boon | Watch )
| Appoo | Maker |
Hoo } Ujong ) Hoh ) Shop )
Sing Passer | Hew | Keeper |
Hy | Prangin | Loh | Shop )
San ) Roads | Allak | Keeper |

Informant has heawd that Achong Lowe Ammee's
Son is a member of both the Hy Sing aud Hy San
Clubs, and that when he lately went from here to
Ligore, he was desired to communicate to the Siamese,
that there were but few People now at Penang, and
that it was a good opportunity for attacking it if the
Siamese were inclined to do so—upon being asked

who informed this? e gives no dirset answer and
only says he heard so.

(Signed ) R. CAUNTER.

There are seven (7) or eight (8) Chiness
Clubs (or Huoeys) in this Island, some of which
have been established several years, The avowerd
object of thess institutions is the relief of indigent
Brethren, and particularly to defray in a decent man-
ner the funeral expences of members dying without:
that means. Owing to the propensity of the Chincss
to conspiracies, these Hooeys are I understand strictly
forbidden in China. Here they are formed chiefly, if
not solely, nmong what are termed the Canton or
Macao Chinese, of whom there may be about three
thousand (3,000) in this Island. The Chinchoo
Chinese may, if they please, becoms members of these
associations, and some of the Chinchoos are said to
Delong to them, but they are chiefly composed of the
Canton Chinese, between whom and the Chinchoos
great jealousy and often hostility prevails.
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When the Rajash of Ligore was at Kedah about
I'wo and a half (2§) or three (3) years ago, he carvied
on a good deal of secret correspondence with the
Canton or Macao Chinese of this Place, got numbers
of themto go in some Junks he equipped, and sant:
them to cruizs to the Northward of and about Jiunk
Ceylon whero they were reported, and I believe with
some truth, to have committed atrocious acts of
Piracy.

The Informant Choal Shimyep is a Chinchoo
Chinese,

(Signed) R CAUNTER.
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extract of his dispatch™to the Govr,
Genl. of 31 May 1824,

He notifies the conquest of Rangoon, | 109-110.
Cheduba, &2. and announces the im-
pending conquest of Martaban, Tavoy
and Mergui. He assures the Princs
that Siamese interests shall be con-
sulted awd looks for Siamese support
against Burma. He details the opera-
tions proposed for ending the cam-
paign. He sends a consignment of |
muskets with the Govr. General's |
approval, and more will be furnished
as  desired.  Note of a personal |
present to the Prince.

He entreats favour amd protection for; ML
Mr. Gillies, the bearer of the letter. ;
He uotifies the cession of Singlpor\'
to Britain by the Dutel and in
Siamese trade with that port.
present sent to the Minister.

He informs the Govermment of the( 112-114.
voyage of the Caroline to Siam with
his letters addressed to the Siamese
authorities. He maintains his cau-
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R. Fullerton, Governor of Memoran-
Penang. | dum

1. 0., Factory Records,
Straits Settlements,
vol. 96, pp. 614-625.




CONTENTS.

Date.

T
Subject. i

19 Oct.,

1824

tious attitude towards the Siamese
urt, His reasons for assuming
the responsibility of sending firenrms
w.  His estimate of the ultiy
ate cost of the trausaction, aml of |
the preseuts gent to individuals. ‘The
Ilies as a nessen- 2
given to |

A note of the concessions to be ob-
tained by negotiation with Siam and
remarks” thereon. (1), The restora- |
tion of the Raja of Kedah in con-
sideration of the payment of a fixed |
annual sum. Reasuns for consider-
ing the Raja’s restoration a watter
of extreme political importance, (2)
The disavowal by Siam of authority |
overthe Malay States south of Patani
The commercial interests of Brit
with those States can ouly be main-
tained by assuring their indepen-
dence and protecting them fron
Siamese aggression. (8). Free Nav
gation of rivers between the Trany
and the * Karian " and free inter-
course with the tin countries in the '
interior,  This concession would
open direct communication for trade |
between Siam and the Bay of Bengal. !
(4) Free exportation of provisions
from Siamese ports to Penang. (5)
The cession of Junkeceylon to the’
British. The importance of the pos-
session of this island on commercial
and geographical grounds
sized. Its little value to Siam.|
Mergui or Tavoy wight be exchanged |
for Juukeeylon.

115-12u,
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J. Crawfurd, Resident at
Singnpore, to G. Swinton,
Secretary to Government.

“Chao Phraya Prah-Klang
to J. Crawfard, Resident
at Singapore.

J. F. L. (7a Portuguese)
at Siam to J. Crawlurd,
Resident at Singapore.

The Supracargo of the Sh-
now to his Commercial
Correspondent in Sing-
apore,

A. D. Maingy, Superinten-
dent of Point Wellesle;
to W. S. Cracroft,
Secretary to Governu

it ' Location.
Letter | 1. 0., Factory Records,
! Straits Settlements,
| vol. 96, pp. 816-818.
|
i
|
i
i
i
Letter ! 1hid,
pp- 813-830.
Letter Tbid.
(Trans-
lation.)
Letter Thid.
(extract)
Letter Ihid,
pp. 735-730.
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Date.

Subject. |

30 Oct., 1824

No Dats
[1824]

25 July, 1824

4 Sept., 1828,

2 Nov. 1824

He reports the arrival of shipping from
Siam and the receipt of a reply trom
the Siamese Minister to his letter of
13 May. The Siamese are incredulous
of British success against Burma.
Death of the *King of Siam and un-
opposed succession of his illeg
son.  Favourable characteristics of
the new King. Continuance in office
of the former Prime Minister.

He acknowledges Crawfurd’s letter of
18 May 1821 A report of the suc-
cess of the Burmese Mission to
Cochin China. Appreciation of the
permission to import arms and am-
munition from British ports. Itza-
sons for doubting the existence of a
war with Burma. A trading vessel
dispatched from Siam. An equiva-
lent returned for presents received.

A notilication of the death of the
Xing of Siam and the accession of
Prince *Krom Chiat.” The new
King grants facilities for trade. No
foreign intelligence credited in
Siam. !
Report of an_interview with the ** I’ral
Klang.” His curiosity rey
the lﬁlrmeu War. Trading facilities
about to Le granted by Prince
“Krom Chiat.” A glut of Euro-
pean goods at Bangkok. !

He reports en means to be taken to
remove trading restrictions on the
“Muda” river. Au application to
the representatives of the Raja of!

123-121,

126-127.

128-13v.
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tation
|

Lord Amherst and Council | Letter
at Fort William to the: (extract)
Secret Committes of the |
Court of Directors of the |
E. 1. Co. |

J. Crawfurd, Resident at! Letter
Smg\porc. to nton, |
Secretary to Government. |

|
i

J. Crawfurd, Resident at Letter
Singapore, to  ** Chao
Phraya Prab-Klang.”

The Raja of Ligor to 1! Letter
Fullerton, Governor of
Penany.

|
i

Lowd Amlierst and Couneil | Letter

at Fort William to the ' (extmet)

Secret Committee of the
Court of Directors of the
E. 1 Co. |

in Consul- |

Settlements,
pp-. 785-739.

0., Home Series, Mis-
ce]lnueous
vol. 660, p. 2

L. 0., Factory Records,
Straits Settlements,
0.

vol. 06, pp. 82

Ihid.

Ihid,
pp- 539-510

L O. Home Series,
Miscellaneous.
vol. D

p- 235a.




xiv

Sabjevt,

11 Nov,, 1824

12 Nov., 1824

12 Nor., 1824

11 Nov., 182}

NoDate. | Acknowledging the notification of the

Translated
29 Nor., 1824

7 Dec., 1821

Ligor at Kedah inadvisable on politi-
cal grounds. An agreement with the
farmers of the cuztoms recommended.

Mr. Maingy's plan approved. Discre-
tionary power granted him to put it
into eyecution.

The ultimate restoration of Tavoy and
Mergui to Siam considered advisable.
Reasons for holling the provinces
temporarily by the British.

He has dispatched a letter to the
“Prah Klang.” His belief that the
news of the capture of Tavoy and
Mergui will induce the Siamese to
act against Burma. A note of the
unmber of the Siamese troops guard-
ing the frontiers.

He notifies the capture of Tavoy and
Mergui by the British, and solicits |
intercourse between Siam and those
places. He acknowledges the receipt |
of the returns of presents from Siam.

Governor's arrival at Penang andl as-
suring him of his wish to preserve a
friendly attitude towards the Englich
Government.

They repeat their determination to even-
tually relingnish Tavoy and Mery;
and to avoid complicated relations |
with the Court of Siam. They note |
the death of the late King and lhe‘
favourable impression preduced by |
the new monarch. |

Page.

130.

131

132-133.

134

135.
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R. Fullerton, Governor of
Penang, to the Iaja of
Ligor.

Lieutenant James Low to
Major Alexander
Balmain.

Brigadier General A, Camp-
bell to G. Swinton, Sec-
retary to Government,

Three Siamese Chiefs to the
inglish Commander in
Chief.

The General Commanding
the Siamese Detachment
to the British Officer
Commanding at Tavoy.

Letter

Letter

Letter

(extract)

Letter
(Abstract)

Letter

I O, Factory Records,
Straits Settlements,
vol. Y6, (unpaged).

1. 0., Home Series, Mis-
cellaneous,
vol. 665.

Tiid.

Ihid.

Tiid.
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Xv

Date.

Subject.

Page.

18 Dec., 1824

[2 Feb., 1825]°

8 Feb., 1825

15 Jan,, 1825

28 Feb., 1825

Acknowledging the receipt of the Raja’s
letter per his envoys. He notifies
the commission of robbery and piracy
on the borders of enang and desires
the Raja's assistance in punishing
the offenders.

He reports on his journey to the Siam-
ese frontier. No Siamese poat of any
consequence foand within 80 miles
of Tavoy. The British flag hoisted
on the boundary between Siam and
Tavoy. A mineral spring discovered.

He gives his reasons for expecting
Siamese co-operation against Burma.
Siameso Chiefs are on their way from
Martaban to Rangoon. An immedi-
ate advance of a Siamese force to be
urged.

Announcing theirarrival in * Caryapoo-
ree” [Kanchana puri] and receipt of
news of the conquest of Martaban,
They offer to join the English with
5,000 men and beg protection for their
Talaing templesand priestsand for the
“ Abasses” in Martaban. The King
of Siam has refrained from his usual
incursion into Burmese territory in
consequence of the English con-
quests. Reciprocity of trade with
Martaban is desired. Ci ion
of the news of the capture of Ran-
goon is awaited and information as to
the future intentions of the English.

Replying to the complaint of the sei-
zure of inhabitants of Tavoy a

137-138.

139-140.

141,

142-143.

144.

Mergui by the Siamese, excusing |
their capfure and promising their |
release. i
* See vol. 11, Part I pp. 70-78.
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Major A. Balmain, (om- Letter | 1. O., Home Series, Mis-
manding at Tav lo ccllaneous,
Capt. Snodgrass, M vol. 665.
Sec. to DBrigadicr Cnmp—
bell.
Major W. Frith, Command- | Letter 1hid.
ing at Mergui, to Dri-
gadier General Sir A.
Camphell, Commanding
at Rangoon.
Lt. Col. H. T. Smith, Com- | Letter Ihid.
manding at Martahan, to
Brigadier General Sir A.
Camphell.
Lt. Col. IL. T. Smith, com-  Letter 1bid.
manding at Martaban. ta (enclosure)
the Chiefs ~Ron Ron™
&e., &e.
&e. Ron ' Tetter Wid.

der of the Translation
o 00a," [Dvara- (enclosnre)

wati] to L. Col. H. T.

Smith.,




CONTENTS,

XVi

Date.

8 March, 1825

7 Feb, 1825

17 March, 1825

G March, 1825 ¢

No Date.
[March, 1825

|

|
|

Subject.

He forwanls the letter of 25th Feb.
from the Siamese Commander. Some
of the captives from Tavoy prefer to
return to Siam for fawily reasons.
He forwards Lieut. Low’s letter and
copy of the. notice he lefc on the
boundary between Siam and Tavoy.

He reports acts of aggression committed
by a Siamese flect off Mergui and the
plunder of Tenasserim Ly the Siam-:
ese. DPartial restitution obtained
for the former. |

He escorted the first Siamese d:‘puln-!
tion from Rangoon to Martaban.
He reports the avrival of a second '
deputation and its reception. The |
Talaing chiefs and their followers
were ready to assist the English
against the Burmese, and boats were
placed at their disposal, but they
were suddenly vecalled and negotia-
tions broken off. i

I

He explains the reasons why war was
declared on Burma. He has been
deputed by Brigadier General
A. Campbell to confer with the
Ining Chiefs with a view to accepting
their assistance azainst their Bur-
nese oppressors. |

He has dispatched Col. Smith's lettes
to the King of Siam’s principal |
Minister.  He acknowledges th

friendship shown to the Talaings by

the E h. He sends deputics lo|

interview Col. Smith. I

TPage.

LS.

L1G-147.

143-150.

151-153.
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Ron,” Commander of the Translation
Army of “Doca,” to Lt. (Enclosure)
Col. H T. Smith.

“Been ya Laghoon, l\hoom Letter
Khan, " E'hm\n Nakhon Translation
Khiien lmnd] to Lt. (Enclosure)
Col. H. T. Smith.

Lt. Col. W.T. Smith, to Bri-'  Letter
ier General Sir R.
mpbell.
!
i
i
|

 Shone Mong,” a native of Statement

Martaban. |
}
!

Capt. M. Burney, Political  Letter

Agent to the Siamese
States, to G. Swinton,!
Secretary to Gort. i

|
|
i

cellaneouns,
vol. 665,

Ihid.

1bid.

Ibid.

1. 0., Bengal Secret and
P lnu:al Lu-m\hmum,
vol. 830, No. 22,




|

|

CONTENTS. xvii
Date. Subject. | rage
No date. He had intended to confer with Colonel | 155-156.
[March, 1825] Smith but has been recalled to Siaw. |

No date.
[March, 1825]

27 March, 1825

No date.
[March, 1825)

3 May, 1825

He begs for the preservalion of
friendship and sends elephants’ teeth
&c. as a token of goodwill. I

He acknowledges the friendly reception |, 137
ot his nephiew, and sends a liorse and
ring as a token of regard.

Forwarding information obtained from | 138-160.
a dependent of ** Ron Ltom,” and
commenting on the Talaing chiefs |
withdrawal from negotiations with
the English commandere, and the

popularity with the Zamindars and

their desire to place him in authority |

at Martal A friendly confe

with tho Zawiudars and principal |

Karens around Martaban has taken |

place. |
|

Instructions given at Bangkok to“Ron ! 161-163.

Ron” to cultivate friendship with;

the English and abstain from seiring

Burmese Talaing subjects.  *“Ron |

Ron’s” plot to advance himself in’
Martaban related and his recall to |

Siam attributed to the discovery of

his intentions.

Keporting his return from his mission | 164
to the Siamese States and submitting |
a Memoir to the Govr. General in
Council.
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Capt. H. Burney, I’ Memoir L 0., Bengal Secret and
Agent to the Political Consultations,
States, to the Govr. Genl, i vol. 330, No. 23.
in Council.




CONTENT xviii
Dae, Rubjeet. Page,
3 May. 1825 " He adverts to the ohjects of Mr. Craw-  165-202,

furd's Mission ta Siam in 1821 and
its failure. lI- notex the five pou-n
wr. Fallerthu i

by negotiation aud the di
of the Supreme Gort. to attempt n,
induce the Court of Siam to waive
claims of superiority over the Ma-
layan States or to give up Junkeey-
lon. He shows that the cession of
Junkeeylon is unattainable and that
the curtailment of Siamese authority
over the Malayan States can  be
assured otherwise than by Treaty.
He reviews the question of the
British vights in Penang, considers
them established. and  deprecates
raising any question of Siamese
supremacy in the island. He dis.
cusses the advantages to be pained
by the restoration of the L'c-l{n_rl of
Kedah and the means to be - employed
to effect it. He is of opinion that
Siameze co-operation against Burma
should be limirted to obtaining sup-
plies of transport and provisions. He
combate the views ot the Supreme
Govt. reganling the disposal of con-
quests from Burma., He urges the
permanent retention of Mergni by
the Britizh and proves its superiority
over Tavoy as a port and a centre of
trade. [le makes further recommen-
dations regarding the retention of
the sovereignty of Tenasserim, the
cesston of certain forts to the Siame:
aml the settlement of boundaries.
He notes the suitabili
Maingy for the office of Con
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Capt. H. Burney, Volitical
Agent to the Siamese
States.

A. D. Maingy, Snpannlen-
dent of Point Wellesley.
to J. Anderson, Acting
Sec. to Govt.

he principal Minister of
the King of Siam to the
Officer  Commanding at
Mergui.

Memoir

(Supple-
‘ment)

Letter

Letter
Transla-
tion

1. 0., Bengal Secret and
Political Consultations,
vol. 333, No. 13.

1. 0., Home Series,
Miscellaneous.
vol. 667, p. 280.

L 0. Bengal Secret and
Political Consultations,
Vol. 833, No. 16,




CONTENTS. Xxix

Date. i Subject. Page.

at Mergui.
He_ details the 15 Articles of Mr. |
Crawfunl’s draft of a Commercial
Treaty with Simn and suggests the
and if
his recommendations r*gnrdmg tlle
Burmese con¢uésts, the restoration
of the Raja of Kedah, &c. are ac-
cepted. ~ He notes the culties to
be encountered in negotiations with ;
the Siamese, but agrees that the
recont British ~ successes against
Burma provide a fitting oppomlmly ;
for an Embassy to Siam.
cusses the route to be’ mken. the
escort and assistants required, and
the presents most suitable for the
+ purpose. He declares his readiness
to undertake the Mission as soon az
accredited. i
8 July, 1825 : A geographical sketch of the Siamese ~ 203-215,
| States lying between Bangkok and
Penang, drawn from various authori-
ties. Notes on the boundary linea.
Remarks on the history, sitnation
and productions of Tenasserim, Mer~
| gui, Martaban, Pegn and Tavo)
advantage to be derived from retain-
ing Mergui. The value of presents
; as o means of gaining favour with
1 the Siamese Court.

16 July, 1825 ' Reporting the departure of 100 Siamese 216.
, prows from Kedah, bound to the

northward.
Nodate. e begs for the releaso of prisoners | 217-221
[*Aug, 1825]  taken on acconnt of an unauthorized
| rising by the \[mlmuhhr[l unsab-
{ dar] of Chumphon, ™ who haz heen
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| Nature of

Namr,

i in Consul-

“Jo Pral," &e. to Col
Smith.

The Prime Minister of Siam
to Col. Smith, Command-
ing at Martaban.

Lient. James Low.

Doenment,

Toeation.

Proceedings [. O.. Bongal Secret and

tation !

Letter
Translatio

Letter
Translation

Journal
(extract)

Political Consultations.
vol. 833, No. 16.

Tiad.
No. 35

Iid.
No. 36

Tiad.
No. 9
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XX

Date.

Subject. Page.

7 Oct; 1525

Nodate.
[ Aug., 182

No date.

[Aug., 1825]

— Aug,, 1

removed from his Government n-|
consequence. He congratulates the
English commander on the capture
of Burmese provinces and states that
the death of the King of Siam ix
accountable for the delay in Siamese
co-operation with the British.

Translations of two Siau letters to
Col. Smith enclosed in Siv Archibald
Cawpbell's private dispatches to be |
recorded.

The Siamese Minister is willing that
the Burmese taken from Martaban
shall return to their country. The
writer congratulates the Buglish on
their success agai urma and
expresses his will gness to assist
and fight with them.

Z’-

e qul ovdeved *Jo Prah, Ronne
ron" to join the Buglish against
the Burmese, but the death uf the
King of Siam neces: return |
for the funeral ceremonies,  Settlers
from Martabau are free to remain in
Sinm or return to their conutry, and
certain captives ars now being sent
back. Jo Prah™ zhall join the
English against the Burmese after
the rainy season.

Notes on his excursion up the © San- | 220250,
loon * river. The fixing of dates of -
building of ancient pagodas. Briet
Siamese occupation of * Ka tha,” A |
stockaded post called * Kayet,” its
position and strength.
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Agent to the
States, to G. Swinton,
Sec. to Govt.

J. . Cuppaye, Acting Sec.!
to Gost., to Captain Bur-
ney, Political Agent tothe |
Sianese States. I

!

G. Swinton, Sec. to Gv\'l.,]
to Capt. Burney, Pulitical
Agent to the Siamesws
States. |

A. D. Maingy to K. Fuller-

Letter

Letter

Letter

Letter

|
|

ton, Governor of Penang. | (Extract) :
'

|

A.D. Maingy, Commissioner,
for Mergui and Tav
the *“ Praya Klang.”

Letter

|

, to (Enclosure’
No. 8,

1. 0., Bengal Secret and
Political Consultations,
vol. 833, No. 10

Ibid,
vol. 838, No. 24

Ibid,
vol. 338, No. 18

Tbid.
No. 14
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Bate.

Subjeet.

10 duy., 1525

10 Sept., 1825

16 Sept., 1825

13 Oct., 1825 -

|
No date. I,
[Oct., 1825]

dispatchies from  the = 251-251,
ul, aud explaining delay
answering them, The l'hra)n of
Chumphon’s”™  depredatio
aproved by the King of
intentions of the Raja of
represented. The extent: of his force |
and Heet greatly exaggerated.

A note of the escort, medical assistance | 23,
and letters of introduction to be fur-
nished to Capt. Burney. His ins-
tructions include tour wain points
to be attained. He is ordered to
proceed to Bangkok and to endea- |
vour to secure the liberation of I!ur-i
mese  captives from Mergui and

Tavoy.

Ackuowledging receipt of Burneys|  23x.
report and expressing the commen-
dation of the Supreme Govt. with
regard to his conduct of neyotiations
wi:ll the Raja of Ligor.

He hias assumed charge of the PProv

20211,
r lergui, He details the m,

ate |
their exchange for Burmese captiv
Note of the depredations wmumml
by the Siamese in Mergui. The
boundaries of the province defined. |

He reports Lis arvival at Mergui ll»
begs that Burmese captives in Ni
may be released and exchanged lur
Siawese prizoners at Mergui

242-243,
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to J. R. Cuppage, Acting -
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Letter
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T
Date. Subject. i Page.
No date. He sends a messenger to invite the | 20245,

[Oct., 1825]

No date.
[Oct., 1825)

14 Oct., 1825

1 Nov.. 1823

30 Nov., 1825 |

Raja’s intergst in securing the re-
lease of Burmese captives in Siam.

Notifies that the English are at war| 246-247.
with Burma and not with Siam, that ;
he has been appointed civil governor |
of Mergui, and that he is anxious to |
extend friendly relations between the |
British and Siamese.  Ile warns the |
Siamese officers against encouraging |
depredations on Rritish territory.

Acknowledging receipt of dispatch of 31 218.
with a present from the |

Raja of Ligor to the Govr. Genl. A

suitable return will be made. The |

Govr. Genl. appreciates the Raja's
friendly attitude.

A description of the route from Tavoy
to the top of the ** Naye Daung
Pass on the Siamese frontier. The
British flag hoisted on the honndary
and a paper left in a bottle, .

122,

Acknowledging receipt of lettersof = 251
16 Sept. and repeating the measnre
taken for exchange of Siamese an
Rurmese prisoners.

Reporting receipt of mews of the
3 o
arrival of the Siamese army under
“Ron Ron” at Martahan.
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Copt. R. Fenwick, to Bri-. Letter
gadier . Smelt.

i
i
Capt. R, Fenwick to Briga- ~ Letter

dier Smelt, Commanding
at Rangoon.

Capt. R. Fenwick to Brigr.  Letter
Genl. Sir A. Campbell.

“Rou Ron,” Commander  Letter
of the Siamese forces, to [Franslation
[Capt. R. Fenwick. (Enclosure)

§

“Ton Ron,” Commander | Lotter
of the Siamese forces, to Tmml.-\hnn
{Capt. R. Fenwiek.]

Capt. . Fenwick to Driga-'  Letter
dier Smelt, Commanding *
Lower Provinces.

I
i
|

|

1. 0. Home Series,
Miscellaneous.
vol. 67, pp. 879-392.

Tbid.

Iid.

1tid,

Ihid.

qhid.




CONTEN

Date. | Kubjort, {

12 Nov., 1825 | He has failed to trace any member of

| ™ the Pegu royal family. * Ron Ron™

| sxid to be of noble Talaing blood.

! Fatimate of the extent of the forves
of the Talaing-Zamindars.

18 Nov., 1825 | Notifying the arrival of the vanguard

of the Siamese army and the friendly

attitude of *Ron Ron.™ Prohable
\ll\ctim\ of the Ex Governor of Marta-
an.

17 Nov., 1825 . Forwarding letters from ** Iton lhm."I
| A large Siamese force is on the way|

to Martaban,  Estimate of the num-
ber of Talaings in nexe territory.
A probability of their reasserting
their independence under * Ron
Ron.” i

Announcing the approaching arrival of
a large ficet at Martaban from Siam
and requesting.that provisions may
be supplied them. The advantage
to be derived by the cession of Tavoy
and Martaban to Siam.

Received

|
i
17 Nor., 1825 |
i

i

Received A private letter containing his true
17 Nov., 1825 sentiments. He is anxious to leave
Siamese territory amd will advance
wherever required.

27 Nor., 1825 | Reporting the operations of the Ex
sovernor of Martaban and the wmea-
sures taken to strengthen the Zamin-
dar of * Zengay " against h

253.

251255,

]
]

258,
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B583-7.

Sect. Dept.

W. E. PHILLIPS, Esq.
Governor in Council
Prince of Wales lsland.

Houorable Sir,
° ° . . .

%

5. Should the difficulty of procuring boats in
sufficient number for the conveyance of the troops to
the capital prove insurmountable, it will be left to the
discretion of the officer commanding the expedition,
and the P'olitical Agent to determine in what manner
we may best distress the Enemy by the capture of his
maritime possessions on the coast of Tenasserim and
Martaban. It is not unlikely therefore, that we may
take Tavoy, Merghui, and Junk Ceylon. In such an
event it has ocenrred to us, that the occupation of
these places may afford an opportunity of making a
désirabl g with tho of Sinm,
by our offering to give His Siamese Majesty posses-
sion of one or more of them, on the condition of his
restoring to tho Rajah of Queda his Country, and
relinguishing for ever, all claims of supremacy over
that petty State. We should of course stipulate at the
same time with the Rajah that in retura for our good
offices, e relinquishes all claim to the annual quit rent
for Prince of Wales’ Island. We shall be happy to be
favored with a ication of your il on
these points.

6. We desire also to leave to your discretio™
the time and mode of communicating to the Govern-
ment of Siam, the fact of our being actually at war
with the Burmese, and the extent of encouragement to
be held out to the Iormar, to avail themselves of this

PP ity, of ing the p ions which have
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been wrested from them. We shall direct a copy of
this letter to be transmitted to the Resident at Sing-
apore, who will also be instructed to make such com-
munication to the Siamese, as may appear expedient,
regulating his conduct in that respect by the views
and sentiments which you may entertain on this point,
and which wo request you will be pleased to intimate
to him as soon as may be convenient.

We have &ea.
(Signed) AMHERST
( . )J. FENDALL
Fort William
12th March 1824

A true Copy
Geo. Swinton

Secy. to the Govt.




Bengal Secret
and Political

[31]
FORT WILLIAM 21st May 1824,
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Wo. 8.

( Extracts)
To G. Swinton Esq.
Secy. to the Govt. FORT WILLIAM
Sir,

° . ° . -

The objects of the Burman Embassy to the Court
of Cochin China, was to form an Offensive Alliance for
the Conquest and entire subjugation of the kingdom
of Siam which is called by the Burman Court without
hesitation a rebel Province. Iu this View a total
failure has attended the Mission. The Members of it
were not permitted to coms to the Court at all and
never proceeded further than Saigon where they
appear to have been detained above nine months.

The Court of Cochin China on this occasion, not
only declined to enter into an offensive Alliance
against the Siamese, but shewed a strong reluctance
to maintain any close intercourse whatever with the
Burman nation deeming the connexion to be one which
promised no benefit to either party.

The English Vessel Marianna returned from Siam
on the 3lst of last month making a successfal adven-
ture and receiving on the part of the Siamese Govern-
ment a treatment more fair and liberal than had
hitherto been experienced by an European or
American vessel. The adventurers are in consequence
of this fa ble disposition now preparing for a
second voyage.
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By this opportunity, I have had the honor to
receive favorable replies to the letters addressed to his
Highness the Prince Krom Chiat, and the Sinmese
Minister on the 9th of Septr. last. No observation
has been made upon the letter of Govt. tranemitted
at the same time, but its receipt is ncknowledged by o
present of Eagle Wool for the Right Houble. the
Goyr. Genl. in return for the gifts which were trans-
mitted from  this place. And the silonce of the
Siamese Conrt may fairly be viewed as an acquiescence

i the remonstrance which it contained.
| have &ea.
(Signed ) J. CRAWFURD
Rest.

Singapore

220 April 1821,
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\Extracts).

wo. 9.

Aun Account of the late Mission from the Court of
Ava to that of Cochin China. Extracted from the
Notes of One of the Members of the Mission. 22
Aypril 1824,

° ° . K] .

They (the Ambassadora) observed that they did
not consider the intercourse between the Burmans
and Cochin Chinese a matter of any difficalty since
the one was in possession of the Northern and the
other of the Southern extremity of the great River of
Cambajn and if the Siamese who occupied the centre,
were conquered every difficulty would be removed and
an easy intercourse carried Ol..eiiieenins

The Ambassadors insisted that the Siamese were
rebels, having been frequently conquersd by the
Burmans and that their subjugation was a point on
which His present Burman’s Majesty was resolved.

° . ° ° -

June 20th [1823]. The Cambejins on this
occasion expressed much dislike of the Siamese, but
the Burman Awmbassadors tho’ thro' dislike feigned to
please the Cochin Chinese as he was convinced that
the Cambajians are at present much more oppressed
than they were under the Siamese Govt.

June 80th......The Govr. Genl-tsked the Burmans
whether they were in earnest when they said they
intended to make war on the Siamese and he added
that in his opinion there must nlso bo a war between
the English and Siamese on account of the Raja of
Queda and the Seizure of his Country, The first Member
of the Mission replied that he had heard nothing of a
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war between the Siamese and English dyring his
residence at Prince Wales Island,

. ° . © ?

July 10th......The ambassadors also dwelt on tho
circumstance of han
ally and the facilities which the King of Ava had for
raising a Naval force for the purpose of laying wasto
the Sea Coast of the Sinmese Territory on account of

ng the King of Queda as an

the number of Seafaring Strangers residing in his

Perritories. The Secretary replied with Candour,  Ho
said that His Excellency the Gove. Genl was
well acquainted with the Members of the Siameso
forces, their diseipline and the Siamese mode of con-
duc

g war but he was perfectly ignorant of the nature
of the Burman Avmy and their habits of warfare,

° ° o B o

His Bxeellency asked whether it was probable
there would be war between the English and Siameso
on account of the protection which the former gave to
the King of Queda nnder pretence that he was their
ally, while in fact hs was u Subject and Tributary ot
Siam. The Ist Minister replied that the English were
too powerful a peoplo for the Sinmese to attempt any
thing against.  His Escellency ¢aid that he supposed
the English had an eye on Junk Ceylon, Pulo Sada,
Queda, and Perak, which would render Penang the
centre of a large trade and that the Malay Peninsula

\ws now necessary to support Penang as she had lost
the trade of the Eastern Countries thro' the means of
Singapore. The 1st Member of the Mission answered
that thro™® might probably be the case for that the
English were great Politicians that they did nothing
without a reason and would never make war on the
Siamese unless the latter wers aggressors but that
they never put up with insults . . . Today they were
informed of the arrival of the Aunt of the King of
Camboja. This Lady was the wife of a Siamese Prince
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who after his death and having no Children Ly him
retired to her own Conntry.

She expressed a wish to have some conversation
with the Siamese Interpreter to the Burman Mission
and he went accordingly : this affair was misvepresented
to the Govr. and in consequence Ong Bok the
Guardian of the Mission was severely reprimanded.
An old Mandarin of inferior rank attached to the
Mission was punished by the Wooden Collar, and
Autonio the Portuguese Interpreter received blows.

. o s ° °

Octr. 31st - - = The Mission about this time
received Intelligence that the Siamese Govt. laving
come to the knowledge of the Correspondence which
is carrying on hetwesn Ava and Cochin China had
begun to fortify the City of Bangkol and had doublad
the chain or bomb which crosses the river Menam.
Lven the Chinese inhabitants who are not nsually

called upon on such oceasions were employed npon
this work.

° ° . ° °
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FORT WILLIAM 21st May 1824

Wonga Notes respecting the Conquest of the Burman
St Province of Tavoy and Mergui. 19 April 1824
Vel. 322.
o o o ° .
wo. 10.
(Extracts.) Tle Frovinces of Tuvoy and Mergui formed a

portion of the Sinmese Territory until conquered
Dbetween 40 or 50 years ago by the Burmans, The in-
habitants are Lowever neither Burmans nor Siamese
but a peculiar race with a language of their own,
They are called by the Sinmese Meng - - -

1t is with much difficulty that the Burmaus are
able to maintain these 2 Provinces, even agninst
the feeble attacks of the Sinmese. In fact they are
removed from the strength and resources of both
Nations. They could only ve easily conquered, or
M force which

fectually P ted by o
neither nation can supply. Ou the land side they
are everywhere rendered difficult to approach by
ranges of mountains and extensive forests thro’
which o Burman or Sinwese Army cannot be led to
any effectual purpose owing to the difficulty or
impossibility of provisioning and keeping them
together which is incident to their barbarous modes
of warfare.




[o]

Bengal Socret FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824.

and Political

Vol. 323.
. 1 TO THE RIGHT HONBLE. LORD AMHERST
Governor General in Council
FORT WILLIAM
My Lord,

We have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of

the several Dispatches of Your Lordship in Council

® copled from dated 27th Jany. and 12th March® and we lose no time
o . "oin reporting the proceedings which we have adopted

and are about to adopt thereupon.

Trevious to the receipt of the first of these Dis~
patches, our President had opened a Negotiation with
the Rajah of Ligor under the following Circumstances.
The Court of Ava having deputed some Envoys with
letters and presents to the King of Kedda at this
Settlement, in return for an application which His
Highness had secretly, and very imprudently made for
assistance against the Siamese Govt., The Governor
took advantage of the presence of these Envoys to
work on the fear of the Rajoh of Ligore by forwarding
a letter to him notifying their arrival and object here,
and offering his mediation towards removing the
existing differences between Siam and the King of
Kedda.

The Rajah of Ligore fulfilled the expectations of

our President by an immediate reply to his letter,
pressing his readi to acq in an

of the Affairs of Kedda, and unable himself to repair
to Kedda he deputed two Messengers to this Settle-
ment for the purpose of receiving and discussing our
President’s propositions.  After several conferences,
therefore, with these Messengers and the King of
Kedda The Honble. the Governor drew up the terms
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of an Agresment upon which he proposed the latter
should be reinstated in his Kingdom, and a Copy of
these terms the Messengers engaged to convey without
delay to their Master at Ligore.

In this stage of the Negotiations Your Lord-
ship’s Dispatch of the 27th of Jany. aud a copy of
the declaration of Hostilities against the Burmese
Govt. reached us whereupon our President, with the
assistance of Lieutt. Low, an Officer who has ne-
quired o thorough knowledge of the Siamese langu-
age, explained fully to the Rajah of Ligore’s Mes-
sengors the Cnuses of our rupture with Ava, and its
probable effects on our relations with Siam, and
furnished them with a Correct Sinmese Translation
of your Lordship’s Proclnmation of the 6th of March,
with which these people hurried back to Ligore.

appears to be
the documents
which follow.

In the Enclosure marked A * we beg to submit
for the further information of Your Lordship in
Council, Copies of the different Letters and Minutes
that our President has recorded, fully detailing the
nature and progress of his Negotiations with the
Rajah of Ligore, which he has endeavoured strictly
to regulate ding to the equitable and mod
line marked out in the diff2rent instructions received
from the Supreme Govt.

We now beg to reply to your Lordship’s im-
portant dispatch of the 12th ulto,

( Here follow particalars of posed
to be adapted for niding the attack on Ava. )

The observations of your Lordship in Council
with respect to the Rajuh of Ligore have further
induced us to determine on deputing Lieutt. Low
immediately to His Highness at Ligore, for the
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purpose of enabling him more effectually to compre-
hend the nature of our intended operation against
Ava, of inviting bim to afford us his aid and co-
operation, so far as to dispatch forthwith to Rangoon,
either on his own account or on some fixed rate of
lire to this Govt, all the Boats and small Vessels
which he can Command at Trang and the different
Ports of Kedda.

We feel considerable hesitation in holding out
any encouragement to His Highness of Ligore to
attack the Southern Possessions of Ava, until we
ascertain the progress of the British Troops at
Raugoon. Should these immediately obtain all the
objects of the war, we might be embarrassed by the
situation into which the Rajah of Ligore would find
himself under an implied pledge of support or pro-
tection from us. In Lnclosure B.are Copies of &
letter from our Matine Department and of the
Iustructions with which we propose to furnish Licutt.

® Tobocopted Low,* and we here only beg to add, that Juuk

tator from Straits

Sottioments,
Vol. 94,

Ceylon according to our latest advices, is in tlhe
possession of the Siamese.

We shall take an immediate opportunity of
ing to the Resi at Singapore a copy of
the present letter, as containing our views and
sentiments on the subject of your Lordship's
Dispateh, and we shall leave to his judgement and
discretion what direct communication shall be made
on this oceasion to the Court of Siam. We shall
only desire Lieutt. Low to request the Rajah of
Ligore to transmit to that Court immediately from
Ligore a Copy of the Correct Siamese Translation of
your Lordship’s Declaration of Hostilities. . . . .
We have &e.

(81.) W. E. PHILLIPS

J. MACALISTER.

Fort Cornwallis W. A. CLUBLEY.

the 26th April 1524,
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vol. 323,

The Dresident.

My Colleagues are of course aware of the arrival
ot the settlement of some Messengers of rank from the
Birman Dominions ; and I have now the honor to lay

* Mo. I Letter from the hefore them translations of letters® which
Minister of the King of Ava

wo. 2.

they have brought for the King of Kedda
and myself, accompanied by several Iresents
from the King of Ava, as well as for His
Majesty of Kedda as for the Chiefs of
- of Prince of wales® islang.  1’erak Salangore and Patani.

From these Documents we may learn that our
Guest of Kedda has, notwithstanding our repeated and
positive injunctions to the contrary, opened a cor-
respondence with the Court of Ava, which has received
most favorably his Application for aid and support
against the Siamese, evincing in its reply, not only a
willingness to interfere on his behalf, but aun anxiety to
render His Highness tributary to itself in fulure.

However displeased we may be with the Conduct
of the King of Kedda for invoking the assistance of
Ava without our knowledge and contrary to our desire,
the mischief is now done; and as we cannot dismiss
His Highness without throwing him into the Arms
of Ava, it becomes our duty to consider what line of
policy is most expedient for this Govt. to adopt on
the present conjuncture.

The extension of the Birman power to this vicinity
appears to mg much more undesirable than that of the
Siamese, in as much as the Court of Ava, with an
equal portion of jealousy and prejudice towards the
European character, possesses greater power and from
its contact with our Eastern Continental Frontiers, is
wvch more like to come into collision with the British




* These
Dispatches will
be copled later

M found
necessary.

* Mo. &
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Govt. . It is our first duty however, and we owe it
ourselves, and to our repeated earnest declarativns of
prezerving a strict neutrality between the Siamese and
the King of Kedda, to apprize the Rajah of Ligore of
the arrival of these Ambassadors from the King of
Avaand of the specific object for which they have been
deputed without our concurrence or previous knowledge.
Such a course of action is the more expedient because
in making the communication to the Chief of Ligor
we may pethaps reuder his fear of the Birmans
subservient to the accomplishent of onr great object
of restoring the King of Kedda to his ancient
Dominions, and securing again the interposition of &
friendly Malay Chief and State between us and the
ighbouring haughty and barl Gort.

Referring therefore to the sentiments expressed
in the Dispatches of the Supreme Gost. under date
the 25th Feby. 1824, 11th Jany. 1822 and the 20th
Feby. 1823, wherein under certain circumstances
this Govt. is authorized to offer its mediation for the
adjustment of all disputes between Siom and Kedda,
on the basis of the Rajah's holding his territory either
on the Conditions which it may be shown by the
Siamese lie is bound to perform, regulated on principles
of equity with reference to the resources of his state, or
if more agreeable to the Siamese, under an engagement
to pay a tribute in money in commutation of all other
demands, for the punctual discharge of which we will
De answerable; T beg to acquaint the Board that I
have transmitted o Secret and Confidential Letter,®
of which the enclosed is a Copy, to the Rajah of Ligor,
inviting him to repair to Kedda, and offering on his

arrival there, to depute an Agent to him for the
Rl e

purpose of negotiating a fair and
of the subsisting differences between him and His
Highness of Kedda.

My Colleagues will T hope, observe in my letter,
that at the same time that 1 have endeavoured to alarm
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the Rajal of Ligor into an acceptance of my profevred
mediation hy halding out to him the prospect of an
interference on the part of Ava, | have taken especial
care to prevent any discredit resulting to the British
Govt. from a refusal on his part, by distinetly
marking that my offar proceeds solely from sentiments
of genural good will to neighbonring and friendly
states. Should His Higlness accept my commumica-
tion in the spitit in whicli it has heen made and repair
to Kedda, 1 shall lose no time in soliciting the aid of
the Boand towards enabling e fo open and conclnde
with Iim such a negotiation as may be conformable
to the instractions of onr Superiors, beneficial to our
Ally of Kedda, anl peemanently advantageons to the
Iutevests of our Honble. Employers,

( Signed ) W, E. PHILLIPS,
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FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824.

Vol. 323,

No. 2, contd.

No. 1.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Ministers of tha
King of Ava to the Rajah of Quedalr.

After much praise of the Power, greatuess and
exalted Character of the mighty King of Ava, they
proceed. —

*The King of Quedah sent Che Lunang and
Maliomed Ally with a letter and presents whicl wers
brought to one of the southern Ports of the Kingdom,
and the Rajah of Tawei forwacls them to Changong.
Intelligence having reached Pegue, measures were taken
for forwarding the letter and Messengers to the Golden
Palace. The race of the present mighty King were
the first of mankind who arose after the formation o
the worl 1, and the Titles of His Majesty are Malia Sam-
dkand Sy Sank. Whoover raquires assistance this
mighty King lends his support to, for it is his custom
to vender aid.  The Rajah of Quedal solicits assistancs
and he will assuredly obtain it, in reference to the
commmnnications of Che Lanang and Maliomed Ally.

These Messengers reported that Quedah, Parlis,
Perak, Salangore and  Patani, five States were
concerting to send a Complimentary offering hither.
The King of Quedah being thoughtless or off his
yiiard, the Siamese came suddenly upon him and
secured his Country, and he removed to Pulo Penang,
where he at present resides. They also reported that
there are thres States who were concerting to attack
the Siamese at Quedah and expel them from the
Country. It was also mentioned by the messengers
that they were ordered to present themselves before
the King without delay, and that they were expected
to go and come in four months ; and finally, that if
they did not return in four months, the people of
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these three Countries before alluded to wouldl proceed
to attack the Siamese at Quedah.

The great King enquired whether there were any
other States besides these interested, and the Envoys
replied there was Rumbow, Rhio, Dungon, Marong,
Pahang, Callantan and Tringano. The King then
demanded if, in the event of the five States befors
mentioned being united and determined to attack the
Siamese, how would the Kings of the seven last men-
tioned Countries e disposed to act. Would they join
also? He further enquired if there wero any more
Countries, besides those already enumerated, and the
Messengers replied that there was a King at Acheen,
and that if all the other States were unanimons, he
would join also,

Che Lanang aud Maliomed Ally came here at the
unfavorable Monsoon, and when they arrived on the
Coast, the weather was very boisterous. They did not
therefors reach the Golden Palace till the Month of
Shaban, and in the month of Jamidalawal ten months
will have expired. The King of Quedah has solicited
assistance ; s0 has the King of Cochin China ( Cochee )
begged aid. To Cochin-China people have already
Deen sent, for the application from that Country was
made first ; the King of Quedal’s subsequently, and
besides the intelligence regarding the King of Quedah
is not precise.  When positive and circumstantial ac-
counts are received, he certainly shall be assisted and
an armawent shall be sent fully prepared and equipped
to attack the Siamese ; and the King of Quedah shall
De restored to his Country ; the five States will then
become like Ornaments of the Golden Palace.

Titles of distinction have been conferred upon the
Chiefs of the five States; a Golden Umbrella and a
complete equipment for a horse has also been sent for
each, The King of Quedah is requested to enquire if
the Rumbow, Rhio, Dungon, Marang, Callantan,
Pahang, and Tringano and the seven states of Acheen

——
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will join or not. The King of Quedsh will sent In-
telligence of such as refuse to join to the Golden Palace,
and return the people who convey this withont any
long delay.

The presents have been given in Charge to Che
Lanang and Mahomed Ally to be carvied to the King of
Kedda, and the great King has ordered people to be sent
in Company to prevent tho Messengers suffering any
trouble in the way. When they arrive he will receive
them and obtain intelligence from Cochin China.  Ax
the King of Quedal has begged assistance from the
King of the Golden Palace, let him not be mistrustful or
suspicious.  As to the Titles and the Horse Equipment
the King orders them to to be preserved and taken
care of or respected, for according to the Custom of
the great King of the Giolden Ialace, is the greatest
favour that can be bestowed.

Th King of Quedah will make known all cireum-
stances that may have transpired sinco the Dispatch ot
his Envoys Che Lanang and Mahomed Ally to Ava.
that every thing may be known, as well as all intelli-
gence relating to the King of the Seven States—and he
will address his commuuications to the Rajah of Tawei.

No date.

( The letter written in the Burmali chamcter was
rendered into Malays of which the above is

A true Translation.)
(Sd.) JOHN ANDERSON,
Malay Translr. to Govt.

Penang 22d. Javy. 1824.



Bengal Socret
and Political
con

vol. 323.

MNo. 2, contd.

uitations, —

[18]

FORT WILLIAM, 11th June 1824,

No. 2.

I'ranslation of a letter from the Rajah of Tawei or
Tavoy to the Honble. William Edward Phillips
Governor of Prince of Wales lsland.

The King of Ava is Supreme over all the Burman
Countries, and of the ten diffevent Species of Elephants
in his possession the white one is the largest and
most powerful. He has also] the Supernatural Horso
and Carriage and the Spear and the Sword, these five
things appertain to the great and Mighty King. His
gracions Majesty was pleased to confer on mo the
Govt. of Tawei with 80 Towns or Provinces under it
and all its Dependencies, Coasts, Bays and Creeks.
This I make known that in the same manner as the
King of Enrope has exalted the Governor of Penang s0
have I received authority and rank from the King of
Ava. Like the first men who were created after the
formation of the world, the great King of Ava is just
and equitable, and the ancestors of the present King
from former generations have preserved friendly re-
lations with the King of Europe, so has the present
King d a friendly und ding and Traders
liave gone and come, both Countries have become one
and are reciprocally friendly.

The Siamese have come and created a disturbanca
in the Quedah Country and destroyed it, and the King
of Quedah went to reside at Penang, The King of
Quedah sent people to represent this to the great
King, who felt compassion or kindness towards him,
and gave him a Supply of Rice and complete equip-
ment of Royal Clothing. The Mighty King sent
a letter to me desiring me to take care of the
King of Quedah's Envoys, and give them safe Convoy
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with 5 ’rows and upwards of 100 Men, that they might:
return to their Master in safoty. The names of the
Chiefs who accompany this letter are Sikie Dogi Nei
Mir Zo Jaksa, Sejee Jagoom Surakin, Jagoom Ze
Yakin~da Jak Kin Soo, and Nei Mion Si Siouk Noita.
Of these five Chiefs the first named is the highest in
vank.  When le arrives at Penang, I beg ho may be
allowed to return with ease. Pulo Penang is an
extremity of the King of Enrope's Dominions and
‘Tawai is an extremity of the King of Ava’s Empire.
These two Countries are like one. If the Govr. of
Palo Penang requires any thing, he will be pleased to
let me know, and if we want any thing, we will
acquaint him.

Dated in the year 1185, 15th of the Month Nato
corresponding with the 18th of Decr. 1823.

(A True Translation )
(S1) JOHN ANDERSON,

Maiay Translr. of Govt.

Palo Penang

the 15th Janry. 1821,
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No. 5.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Rajali of Tawei
or Tavoy to the Rajah of Quedah at Pulo Penang.—

After o lengthened panegyric of the Kisg of the
Golden Paluce ( Ava ) he proceeds.—

“The Rajah of Quedah who governs 118 Towns
is informed that the Rajah of Tawei
gence that the Siamese had oppressed Quedah, and
the Rajali of Tawei assisted in communica the
same to the King of the Golden Palace, forwarding at
the same timo Che Lanang and Mahomed Ally with
the presents to the mighty King. The King of the

Golden Palace on hearing this was impressed with
feelings of compassion for the Rajah of Quedal, for
it is the peeuliar Chavacter of the King that when he
Nears of the distress of any one he instantly feels a
disposition to relieve.

Che Lanang and Mahomed Ally came and pre-
sented themselves beforethe great King and represented
the circnmstances of the King of Quedah, Purlis.
Patani, Perak and Salingure, but lie is auxious to hear
again all particulars of the present state of Affuirs in

these Countries and when these five states have finally
settled and their fidelity is assured an Armament will
be prepared and sent to attack and retake the Country
of Quedsh and restore it to the King of Quedal. As
to the four Countries they will never be exposed to
difficulty for the time to come, nor will the Siamese
be able to disturb them again. As the great King
protects the States dependent upon him, so will he
guard the King of Quedah and the four other States
above mentioned ; wherefore, of his favor, he has been
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pleased to confer Titles with a magnificent equipment®
to each.

Che Lanang, Mahomed Ally, Chang Buk, Buan
and Jehnan lave also been invested with titles and &
dress, the King showed them the same attention and
kiudness that he would to his own subjects, The
Chiefs of Quedal, Purlis, Perak, Salingore and Patani
have now been invested with titles of distinetion and
have had each a splendid present granted to them.
The King requests that enquiries may be made relative
to the other States, and that such information as may
Lo obtained may be sent according to the desire ex-
pressed in the large letter from the great King, whicl
accompanies this,

Che Lanang and Mahomed Ally returned to Tawei
on the 12th day of the Month Neon in the year 1185,
and the ship with Pungules Serco and Noquedals
Senahnang arrived about o mouth after. Inquiries
were made of the two messengers relative to the King
of Quedah, how he was situated at present, and the
purport of their deputation, and they replied that they
had been sent by the Rajal of Quedah with a com-
plimentary present of a Clock which was received at
Tawei ; a letter explanatory of all the ci
relating to the King of Quedal was prepared by the
Rajah of Tawei, and forwarded with the Clock to the
King of the Golden Palace. Noguedah Limbuang
remained at Tawei to await the orders that might be
received in veply, by the persons who were deputed to
wait on the great King.

The Messengers Pangula Seree Che Lanang and
Mahomed Ally with the letter, titles of distinction and
presents are now returning, and in order that they
may meet with no interruption in the way the accom-
panying five chiefs of consequence of Tawei vizt.

® Literally a maguificent dress; and the present
consists of a long gilt umbrells, a set of furniture for &
Horse, and lackered Stand for Dinner. Service.



Sehei Dojo Nei Mia Zo Jaksa Sejee Jagoom Surakeri,
Jagoom Ze Yakeri, Jo Jak Kire Soo aud Hei Meoio
Si Seouk Naita wers directed to escort thom in safoty
to Pulo Penang. When they arrive the Rajah of
Quedah will acquaint them with all civcumstances
which may have transpired since the dispatch of his
Buvoys Che Lanang and Mahomed Ally, and also
communicate the same by letter, which may be given
in Charge to these five persons.

As to the Rice and Paddy which ths Rajah of
Quedali requested, it has Leen given accoding to hig
desire, and permission was given also to load the ship
according to the pleasure of the persons in Charge.
The quantity is 14 Coyans.

The King of the Golden Palace requires some Tin
for the Roof of the Palace and sends 30 Coyans of
Rice which ho begs may be sold, and the proceeds
invested in Tin, which may be deliversd to the five

. The whole quantity of Rice shipped therefor
is 74 Coyans. Now the King of Quedah with a candid
heart wishes £o become tributary to the Golden Palace,
and the great King will protect him and Cherish his
Children and Chillven’s Children, even his remotest
descendants and promote their prosperity and welfare.
It is requested the Rajah of Quedah will assist in
selling the Rice according to the Market Price of
Penang. and Purchaso the Tin at the value of the
day, sending a letter also containing all particulars.

No date.

This letter was rendered from Burmahs into the
Malayan language of which this is -

(A true Translation )
(Sd. ) JOHN ANDERSON,
Malay Translr. to Gove.

Penang
23rd. Jany 1824,
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To the Rajah of Ligore. [?Jan. 1821.}

1 lose no time in making to the Rajah of Ligore
an important communication which 1 desire he will
for the present consider Secret and Confidential. An
Ambassador has been deputed by the Emperor of Ava
to the King of Kedda at Penang, and it is known to
me that not only the Birman but several other states
in the neighbourhood have made overtures to the
Rajah of Kedda to restore hin: to the throne.
however to the principles of neutrality which the
British Govt. has ever declared it would preserve
between Siam and Kedda, and willing to convi
you of my sincere desite of always maintaining
towards your Highuess o triendly and candid lino of
Conduct, 1 now write to communicate the above
important intelligence to you, and further to acquaint
you, that it you will immedintely repair to Kedda,
1 shall hiave no objection to depute a confidential
agent to your Higlmess for the purpose of making
some fair and equitable arrangements towards restor-
ing the Rajah of Kedda to his ancient Dominions, and
precluding the interference of other States. The
British Government offers this mediation between
Siam and the Rajah of Kedda from the most disin-
terested and benevolent Motives, and my friend must
bave too much wisdom and good sense not to discover
that ani it of this mediation on his
part may velieve him from a load of anxiety and
difficulty, and save his Imperial Master much eventual
expense and embarrassment.. It is absolutely neces-
sary that my friend shonld not delay an hour in
coming to Kedda and the moment he apprizes me of
his arrival there my Agent shall be dispatched to him.

(Signed) W. E. PHILLIPS—Governor.
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FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824.

THE PRESIDENT.

In requesting the Boand to refer to the Proceed-
ings recorded in wy Minute of the bth of Feby. 1
have now great pleasure in notifying that the Rajah of
Ligor has realized my espectations and although
unable to come down to Kedah himself, has lost no
time in deputing two Envoys with the aunexed satis-
fctory veply (No. 17 and with expressions of his
readiness to accept the mediation which I had offered
Detween him and the King of Kedah.

After several interviews A. & B. with these
Euvoys in order-to ascertain the Rujah of Ligore’s
views, and with the King of Kedal, in view to learn
what sicrifice e was prepared to make, I have
drawn out the accompanying Letter (No.2) for
the Rajah of Ligor, with the terms of an Agreement
(No. 3) proposed to be concluded between him and
the King of Kedal. The Envoys not possessing full
powers to form a conclusive engagement with the
King of Kedah they propose to depart in a day or
two with my propositions, and to return with the
Rajah of Ligor's Answer as soon as possible.

In the first instance they entirely and readily
ndmitted the propriety und fairness of every article
of my proposed agreement, but at the last interview
they began to express some deubts whether their
Master would be satisfied with the equivalent whicl
I offer for the Boougha Mas and former services of
Vassalage requircd from Kedal. On the other hand,
the King of Kedah is so pleased and delighted with
the whole of my proposed arrangement, that should
the Rajah of Ligor require a larger Sum of Money
than what I now offer, I am convinced he will
willingly agree to yield annually to Siam a greater
portion of the stipend he receives from us; in order
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to obtain so satisfactory an adjustment of the
differences and future relations between Siam and
Kedal. In the whole of wmy correspondence and
discussions with the Ligore Envoys, I have received
the greatest Assistance from Lieutt. Low, whose
complete knowledge of the Siamese language enabled
him to interpret freely batween us and to translate
directly into that tongue wmy proposed letter and
terms of agreement, 5o that the Envoys immediately
understood their whole spirit and tenor.

These Envoys brought to me also another letter
(No. 4) irom l.l.s “K]ll]l of ngor in reply to my
i g the Murder of
beby (,Imne_) at Kedah in the wonth of June last.
It states, and the Envoys have solemnly confirmed
the truth of his statement, that the Rajuh has made
great exertion to discover the perpetrators of that
atrocious murder, and that he has seized and put
to the torture several suspected persons whom he
has still in  confinement. I hope therefore my
Colleague Mr. Clubley will be perfectly satisfied
with this information, and will not think that the
accompanying reply (No. 3) which I propose to
send to the Rajah of Ligor, expressing myself per-
fectly satisfied with the Conduct of His Highness
and requesting him to release the suspected persons,
should their guilt not be substantiated by the
Evidence of two or more witnesses. and to bury in
oblivion the discussion relative to Libby Ghaney, is
dictated in too forbearing and moderate a tone.

Since adopting the measures above reported, I
have reccived the accompanying dispatch from the
Supreme Govt. of 20th Jany. replying to our letter
of the 25 Cctober, and to varivus other communica-
tions respecting the affuirs of Kedah. Whilst I
rejoice at obtaining the Concurrence of His Lordship
in Council to the views and sentiments which I
expressed on this important subject, I do not think
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the Dispateh now received requires any alteration in
the line of conduct which [ have pursued towards
the Rajah of Ligor's Euvoys, except that 1 should
add a paragraph in my Letter to His Highness,
notifying the important intelligence which has been
just received at this settlement, of the Supreme
Govt. of Ava.

(Signed) W. E. PHILLIPS,
15th April 1824
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No. 1.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Rajah of
Ligore to the Honble. W. E. Phillips Governor of
Pulo Penang.

After Compliments.

1 have to acquaint wmy friend that the letter
which he sent to Quedah was forwarded to me at
Ligore, and I received it on Friday the sixth day of
the Moon’s descent in the third Month. Tt was
translated into Siamese and I fully understood the
contents. It is said the Ava people have brought a
letter to the Rajuli of Quedah, who is residing at
Pulo Penang; that the Burmahs have concerted
with two or three Malayan Countries and that they
intend to restore the Quedah Country to the King.

Now 1 wish to communicate with my friend
with real sincerity that he may not entertain any
suspicion, in order that every thing may be con-
ducted with propriety and friendship and good
understanding established. As the Ryots and War-
riors of the King of Sinm are extremely numerous
we are not afraid of being much perplexed by the
attempts of Ava which wishes to join the Malayan
Countries and tuke by force the Quedah Country
which has long been a state tributary to Siam;
there will not many Burmahs and Malays come and
a Siamese Armament shall be sent which will reduce
them to Atoms. Ava and Siam have long been
accustomed to fight.

When the Burmahs formerly came to attack
Salang (Junk Ceylon) and they wished to settle
there, they were unable to do so and the number of
Burmahs who died was immense, which was a good



L 28]

sample to them for once. Quedah is far from Ava,
but near to Siam ; the Burmahs and DMalays wish
to take Quedah by force and to reside there; but
the Fianmese will not permit them and speedily
expel them; if Ava wishes to send assistauce, he
cannot, for that Country is distant.

If the Rujul of Quedah thinks to effect this by
force, be is mistaken, and a Siamese armament shall
Dbe sent to reduce him and he shall not be permitted
to remain there, but if he is disposed to adoptu
conciliatory course or pursue a good road and solicit
my assistunce, I will use my icfluence with the
King of Siam to effect his return to lis former
Kampong in his own Country.

My friend who lives under the Govt. of the
English says he is of sincere heart and as his heart
is upright such is ours, he says he will not interfere
on either side, but preserve neutrality and for his
letter to this effect which s has sent me I return
many thanks.

As to what is said respecting my coming to
Quedah with my force to consult and settle respect-
ing the Rajuh of Quedah ; if T were to proceed there
at present there would be some difficulty in procur-
ing Paddy, my people would not only be in distress
bat the Ryots of the Country would also suffer. If
lowever there are any hostilities, I shall come with
a large armament at once.

‘With respect to the desire to consult relative to
returning the King of Quedah to his Country to
govern nccording to former Custom, it appears to
we also proper. If the Rajuh of Quedal will con-
sider and act with propriety, I will assist him, and T
will be his security (or support him) but I am ap-
prehensive he does not yet place confidence in me;
wherefore, I now send Koon Aksorn and Kie Nimore
to wait upon my friend and consult with him upon
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the Rajah of Quedah’s business agreeably to what is
mentioned in my friend’s letter, and to ascertain,
with certuinty his wishes ; my friend will write to
me by Koon Aksorn and Kie Nimor, that I may fully
comprehend.

When I am informed of his intentions, I will
devise means in some way or other to settle this;
that there may be no disagreement in the road of
friendship ; and Koon Aksorn and Kie Nimor who
are now sent on this occasion will, with my friend’s
permission, have a meeting with the Rajah of

Quedah.
( A true Translation )
( Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translr. to Govt.
Penang

1st April 1824,
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FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824,

No. 2.
Memorandum.

Letter from the Houble. W. E. PHILLIPS, Esqre.
Govr. of Prince of Wales Island to the Rajah of
Ligore.

The Governor of Penang has received the reply,
which the Rajih of Ligore has sent to his Letter of
the 10 day of the Moon's decrease, in the Month of
January, and which was delivered to him by the
two Envoys, Koon Aksorn and Nai Nee ring.
Although the Govr. of Penang luments that his
Higliness conld not come to Kedda in as much as
his being on the spot would have saved much trouble
and delay, yet to prove his sincerity and good will
townrds the Rajuh of Ligore, he has treated his
two Envoys with every kindness and consideration,
and has fully discussed with them the different points
at issue between the King of Kedda and Siam, and
the views and wishes of the British Govt. con-
cerning the same.

The Governor of Penang must premise by
repeatiug what has been often communicated to the
Rajah of Ligore, that the British Government in
offering its mediation in favor of the King of
Kedda, is influenced by the most liberal aund disin-
terested wotives. It seeks, and naturally seeks, to
afford every friendly assistance and protection to its
ancient ally, and it is anxious to promote and secure
the quiet and welfare of the small surrounding
states, and to prevent quarrels and wars between the
more powerful states. But to attain such objects, it
does not look for any gain or territorial aggrandise-
ment, and, unless provoked, it has resolved not
to interfere in the affairs of Kedda, as far as
regards Sium and its dependencies, in any other
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manner than by giving temperate counsel and advice,
and by offering its good offices and mediation in
favor of the ltajah of Kedda.

There is no doubt that the Rajah of Ligore has
derived no benefit or advantage from invading
Kedda, and that the difference of Religion, Langua-
e and Custom, between its inhabitants and those
of his Highnesses Country, cannot justify any
opinion, that the Rajuh of Ligore will hereafter ba
able to derive any benefit or advantage from a con-
tinued occupation of the territories of Kedda. His
Highness will not only be constantly troubled with
the rebellions and wachinations of the Malayan
Inlmbitants. until Kedda becomes a perfect desert,
but he may alse bring down upon himself and upon
the Court of Siam, all the evils and inconveniences
of un extensive hostile enterprize on the part of the
surrounding states,

It is therafore clear to the Governor of Penang
and must be equally so to the Rajah of Ligore, that
the most prudent and judicious course will be for
the Rajah of Kedda to be allowed to retarn to his
Country, and to rule it again according to its
ancient Laws and usages.

How so desirable an arrangement may be most
effectually adopted has been the subject of long and
anxious meditation to the Governor of Penang, but
after consulting very fully with the King of Kedda
and the Rajah of Ligore's Envoys he is decidedly of
opinion, that the enclosed propositions for settling
the disputes between Kedda and Siam, and for

ing an | ble pacification between the
Rajah of Ligore and the King of Kedda are
moderate, just and necessary.

The King of Kedds has entirely agreed to
them, and if the Rajal of Ligore is sincere in his
desire of securing the good will and friendship
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of the British Government, and in his expres-
sions of readiness to accept the effered media-
tion of the Governor of Penang, he cannot Liesitate
& moment, in acceding also to these terms, and
in giving an immediate nnd unequivocal proof,
(and mno proof could possibly be more honor-
able t» his own Claracter, as well as gratifying to
the Governor of Penang) of his determination to
confirm what le has so often written, and what he
fias more particularly instructed his Envoys to come
and declaro to the Governor of Penung, by fulfiliing
at once the 3d. of the enclosed articles of agreement,
proposed to be entered into between His Higlness
and the King of Kedda,

Ihe Rajah of Ligore, as well as the King of
Kedda, has expressed himself willing to abide by
the arbitration of the Governor of Penang who has
1o desire but to reconeile these Chiefs on a basis
that may bo honorable to themselves as well as
calculated to secure and promote the peace and
wolfare of the surrounding states. The King of
Keddn will address an appropriate Letter to the
Rajah of Ligore, soliciting his friendship, and good
offices, and the Governor of Penang has only to beg
that if the Rajah of Ligore is not satisfied with the
terms which are now proposed to him for adjusting
the affairs of Kedda, he will come down to Kedda
himself, or depute some Euvoys with full Powers to
form a conclusive engagement, and then instead of
the present tedious and unprofitable mode of
negotiation, the Governor of Penang will have it in
his power to ascertain wore correctly the precise
views and feelings of the Rajah of Ligore, and to
explain to His Highuess more fully and satisfactorily
the different important considerations, which recom-
mend an early settlement of the existing disputes
between Kedda and Siaw, und in fact, en immediate

P of the panying terms of ag
on the part of the Rajah of Ligore.
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Lastly, the Governor of Penang thinks it right
to give the best proof to the Rajah of Ligore, that
the English are friendly to. the Siamese, by
acquainting His Highness, that the British Govern-
ment has declared war aguinst the Burmese, and
are about to attack the Couutry of Ava on an
extensive scale.

(Signed) W. E. PHILLIPS.
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April 1824, MEMORANDUM for Negotiation with the

Rajah of Ligor.

1. The Rajah of Kedda in lieu of the hereto-
fore unprofitable and irregularly sent ““Bunga Mass™
will pay to the Court of Siam an aunual sum of
Spanish Dollars 2,000 on condition that such sum
shall ensure inviolate the Territory of Kedda, and |

exempt it from all other Claims in Money, Men, |
armed Prows or Provisions by Siam or its Depen- '
dencies.

2. The Rajah of Kedda to be guaranteed the
free navigation and transition of all produce and
Merchandize up and down the rivers which enter into I
s Territories through any Country subject to the
Sinmese authority or Government.

3. Every member or Dependant of the Kedda
Family forcibly taken from ths Country of Kedda

and now retained either at Siam or Ligor to bs im-
mediately released and returned to Kedda together
with their Property.

4. Buery Siamese to be withdmwn from the
Kedda Territory and care to be taken that the Malays
are not molested nor their Property plundered by tha
Siamese while effecting their retreat.  Auy violation of
this compact to be deemed to annul what has preceeded.

5. The Rajah of Ligor shall pledge himself to
obtain to this agreement the Confirmation of the
Emperor of Siam, whilst the Government of Penang
will obtain the guarantee of the British Government
to a punctual payment of the sum agreed to be given
Dby the Rajah of Kedda.
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Bengat Secret FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824.
Consultations, —= —
vol.323.
No. 4.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Rajah of
Ligor to the Honble. W. E. PHILLIPS, Governor
of Pulo Fenang.

| ( After Compliments )

May my friend be informed that T received his
two letters one of which was brought by Koon Aksorn
and the other by Nei Sigou which were translated
into Siamese and fully understood by me. With
respect to Lebby Ghany, all the suspected persons
have been brought to Ligor in Chains, they have
| been bound to the stake with extended arms and
beat in order to extort a confession aceording to the

luws of Siam, that we may obtain a certain declara-
‘ tion, but none of them have yet confessed and they
have all been confined in prison.

There is another subject. Tok Johan, Wan Long
Kechil Panglima Saib, Che Naho P’utill, Che Allang Che
Akeel, Che Musa, and Che Jaya who fled and took up
their abode under the Government of the white People
have concerted together, collected Prows and becoms
Pirates, attacking the vessels of paople who are seeking
a livelihood at Sea, and they plunder the Birds nests
which form a part of the Revenue of Siam. I have
therefore sent I'rows to guard and to give assistance
and protection toall the villages in the Country as
well as to restore tranquillity.

Such Malays as have become Pirates and who
may be found residing under the Siamese Government.
1 shall cause to be seized and my friend should seizs
and punish such Malays as reside in the Territories of
the white People, like those abovementioned, who may
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be guilty of such Crimes, do not let them find protec-
tion under the Government of the white people nor
become Pirates, and then all persons will bo ablo to

* go and come and trade without difficulty.

There is one wmore point. It is stated in my
friendls letter that it is reported an armament by land
and Sea (or naval and Military) is equipped, and if |
wish to maintain a sincere friendship, T will give per-
wiission for my friend’s confidential people to go and

fuspect them. 1 declare with real sincerity of heart
that T do not entertain a thought injurious to Pulo

Penang, aud the Prows are propared as ornaments® for

the aid of the Country. 1 am aware that what is men-

tioned in the letter is proper; but the desire to send
people to inspect evinces the apy
confidence. Let not my friend thevefore longer en-
ion. Were he to send People to

rance of a want of

tertain any susp
examine, it would not be like a truc heart, 1 have no
desite to tell o falsehiood and wy sincerity will here-
after Le made manifest. | consider how friendship
may Do established aud prolonged with my friend,
& com-

and every thing relating to this business Il
municated to Koon Aksorn and Nei Neinor who
proceed to wait upon my friend in order that he may
fully understand, Dated Wednesday the 11th of the
Moon's rise 4th Month in the year Goat.

(A trve Translation)
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Tr. to Gost.
Penang

2d. April 1824,
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The Governor of Penang has received the reply of
the Rajah of Ligor to his two letters under date tho
15th of December last and as His Highness has now
fully evinced his desire of discountenancing and
punishing all sueh proceedings as those relating to the
unfortunate murder of Lebby Gauny the Governor has
no hesitation iu assuring him, that His Highness’s
letter and also the reports made by his two Envoys
(Koon Aksorn and Nei Neinor) ave perfectly satisfactory,
The Governor of Penang had no other object in pross-
ing the affair of Lebby Ganny so strongly than to
prove to the Rajah of Ligor, that the British
Government would always notice the Conduct of
those who might shew thems:lves regardless of the
lives and property of its subjects, and to persuade
His Highness to join in the exertions which the
Governor of Penang is unceasingly making for sup-
pressing Piracy and for protecting the poor Native
Traders. The Rajah of Ligor's Iuvoys have them-
selves seen the two British Cruizars which are con-
stantly employed in protecting the navigation of the
surrounding seas.

The Governor of Penang hopes that the future
Correspondence between himself and the Rujah of
Ligore will be in a more friendly and satisfactory tone
and as o proof of his entire satisfaction with the
exertions, which the Rajah of Ligore has made to
discover the Murderers of Lebby Ganny, the Governor
begs, that if the crime caunot be substantiated
by the Evidence of two or more witnesses against
the suspected persons now under confinement the
Rajah of Ligore will liberate them, and bury this
discussion in oblivion.

14 April 1824, (Signed) W. E. PHILLIPS.
(True Copies)

(Signed) R. IBBETSON

Secretary to Govt.
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FORT WILLIAM 11th June 1824,

Consultations,
Vvol. 323.

TO G. SWINTON Esqre.
Seery. to the Govt.
FORT WILLIAM
Poll. Dept. Sir,

1 have the honor to report for the information of

thie Right Honble. the Govr. Genl., that upon receiv-
ing authentic accounts of the declation of war
against the Burmans I lost no time in making a
confidential communication to the Siamese Minister
upor. the subject.

I have now further the honar to state that in
obedience to the instructions contained in your letter
« Tobecopled of the 30th of Jany.® I shall embrace the opportunity
tater. G s i » 2
of a junk which is to sail tomorrow or the followirng
day for Siam to make an official communication.

1 have &ea.

( Sd.) J. CRAWFURD, Resident.

SINGAPORE
11th May 1824
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FORT WILLIAM 19th Novr. 1824,

To G. SWINTON Esqr,
&e.  &e.  &e.
Sir,

In obedience to the instructions contained in your
letters of the 30th Jaary. and 14th of March 1 have
the honor to report that I have made an official com-
munication to the Siamese Government of the war in
which we are cngngod with the State of Ava. A copy
of the letter which T have addressed to the Sinmess
Minister on this Subject, and which was accgmpanied
by an accurate Malay translation effected under my
own inspection, is annexed to this dispatch for the
information of the Right Honble. the Governor
General in Council.

Government have had the goodness to observe
that in this document. I have confined myself to such
a general declaration of our objects and sentiments as
seemed best suited to the genius and character of the
Siamese Court, and that I have abstained from propos-
ing any specific measure. This line of communication
has been preferred not less with a view to prevent
embarrassment to the ultimate and more mature

perations of our own G than from a due
consideration of the well known timidity and jealonsy
of the foreign policy of the Siamese Court, which
notwithstanding its bitter hostility to the Burmans
will naturally view with some apprehension the near
approach of the British armies.

In reference to this material subject, I am dis-
tinctly of opinion that the war with the Burmans will
be most efficient], d d without ing any
concerted plan of cooperation with the Smmue. This
power I make no doubt will of its own accord, and
after its own manner, seize the fortunate opportunity
which now presents itself for harassing the Burmans
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in the most effectual manner of which it is capable.
while by attempting to combine their military opera-
tions with ours, we should only be shackled and
embarrassed by their ignorance and indocility, and
most probably disgraced by their cruelties and

excesse

In one manner our direct assistance to the Siam-
ese will materially promote the general objects of the
war. This is by furnishing them with supplies of arms,
and [am happy to be enabled to report that this essen-
tial object will ba effsoted without delay and without
subjecting the Government to any unnecessary expense,
as a small vessel is daily expected at this port from
England on her way to Siam with abont eight
thousand stand of fire arms,  These, with 20 pieces of
iron ordnance, will without any interference on the
part of Government, be transmitted to Siam in the
common coursa of commercial business. The ex-
pediency however of presenting the Siamese Court
with a certain quantity of fire arms as a token of our
friendship and confidence may be suggested, and
indeed 1 am so much impressed with the utility of
this measure that 1 respectfully submit, that I have it
in view, should the war continue, or assume a more
serious uspect than seems at present probable, to
purchase a thousand stand of arms, and send them to
Siam in the name of the Right Honble. The Governor
General ; o proceeding whicl will certainly involve
the Gevernment in an expense of 4 or 5000 Spanish
Dollars, but for which I trust for their approbation.
should it be considered to promote the public service.

1 have now respectfully to advert to the important
question of the exchanges and agreements which it
may be advisable to make with the Siamese, and on
which T am directed to submit my opinion in your
letter of the 12th of March.

With the desire of placing before Government
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all the information which I have been able to collect,
bearing not ouly upon this particular question, but
upon our general interests and relations with the
nations of India beyond the Ganges, I have prepared
the rougl sketch of a chart of those countries with
aseries of explanatory notes, and I now transmit them
along with this dispateh, trusting that notwithstanding
the hurried manner in which they have been un-
avoidably got up, they may be found of some assistance
in the important deliberations which now occupy the
Government.

In discussing the question of our agreementsand
exchanges with the Siamese Court, I shall take it for
grantedd that the waritime possessions of the Burmans
from Martaban to Mergni are conquered and occupied
by a British force, and that we are to negotiate with
thisadvantage. Under such a state of things, T have no
seruple in considering that the moment is v length
arrived when it is within our reach to arrange all our
differences with the Siamese—to place our commercial
intercourse both with that nation and with Ava upon
a liberal footing, calenlated to open o new and exten-
sive channel to British industry, and finally to place
us in an attitude which will afford us, at little risk or
expense, ample security against the future aggressions
and arrogance of either power.

This valuable object, as it appears to me, may be
attained by the measure of retaining permanent
possession of the Provinces of Mergui and Tavoy, or
even by the more limited one of permanently occupying
the ports of Tavoy and Mergui, with perhaps a small
portion of the territory adjacent to each, This last
restricted occupation, as it can scarcely be deemed a
territorial extension, and is in justice no more than
a mensure of precaution and security may probably
deserve a preference, and I shall therefore assume it
with & view to the arrangement which I have to offer
to the consideration of Government.
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I venture therefore respsctfully to propose that
the ports of Mergui and Tavoy, but especially the
latter, should be retained as British possessions ; that
they should be fortifi=d, and declared free ports on the
principle s0 snccsssfully pursued in regard to Sing-
apore aud that the maritims possessions of the
Burmans from Martaban downwawls should be given
over to the Siamese in consideration of a favorable
commercial treaty, and certain securities connected
with Prince of Wales Island and its local relations,

With a view to explain the advantages contem-
plated by this arrangement, a brief ascount of those
two ports may be necessary. Tavoy lies between the
13 and 14° degrees of N, Latitude, and the mouth of
the river may be considered as the proper port. The
river of Tavoy to a considerable distance in the interior
is fit for mative navigation. The town is abont 8
leagues up the river situated in a fertile country
abounding in the orlinary wecessarics of life. 1t i
but 7 ordinary miles ® from Bang-kok, the capital of
Siam, and apparently not above 2 or 3 days casy sail
at any season of the year from Martaban and Rangoon.

Mergui lies between the 12 and 13 degrees of
Latitude aud is situated upon an island at the mouth
of the river of Tenasserim. It is described as in every
respect one of the most commodious ports in India,
admitting the ingress and egress of ships of any
burthen in both monsoons, being perfectly safe when
entered, and admitting of commuuication with the
British ports to the North and South of it, but
particularly with Calcutta, throughout the whole year.
The neighbouring country is naturally fertile, and
even at present, and after the long misrule of the
Burmans, abounding in the necessaries of life. Many of
these advantages will be apy t from the i i
of an orlinary chart ot the Bay of Bengal. This
was the port given over to Louis the 14th in the
year 1688 by Treaty as one of the two Keys to the
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Kingdom of Siam. 1t was actually occupied by a
French Force for a considerable time as well as
Bang-kok the modern Capital.

The first great advantage which may be con-
templated from the ocenpation of Tavoy and Mergui
will be the main security which they will afford us
against the future insolences and aggressions of the
Burmans or even of the Siamese. By the occupation
of these posts ® we shall at onee be placed in an
attitude to command in no inconsiderable degree the
destinies of hoth powers without subjecting ourselves

to any risk, prohably to little expense, and withont
the necessity of intermeddling in the politics of either

Cewrt, or incurring the hazard of extending our

P
territorial

nity notalis

as a necessary measnre ef indem-
tion for new provocations. Tavoy, as
Jjust mentioned, lies upon the immediate confines of the

ilable and vulnerable portion of the Burman

the subj Land di 4 Kingdom
i, and is within a few marches of the Siamese
capital. Tt may b safely expacted therefore that the
bare conscience of our existence in this strong position

will produce a silent and salutary influence on the
native counsels which shall render direct interference
needless. Our own situation at the same time both at
Mergui and Tavoy will given us entire security from
the attacks or invoads of both of these States. These
I'osts® are assailable only Ly Sea, a mode of attack of
which they are incapable, for, by land they are secured
by the natural barriers of wmountains and forests
against the barbarons and unskilful tactics of theso
Nations, the suffic

t and conclusive proof of which
is the incapacity of the Siamese after frequent
ttempts to quer them; notwith ding their
vicinity to thew capital, and the faeble opposition of
the Burmans,

The next great benefit which may be contemplated
from the possession of the Ports of Mergui and Tavoy
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is immediately connected with the higher and more
general interests of our Indian Empire at large. The
central and convenient positions of these Posts* as well
as the natural rezources of their neighbourhoods point
them out as stations of the utmost importance for the
refuge, the refreshment. the rep or even the con-
struction both of our Military and Commercial Navy
in a period of European hostilities; an advantage
which is not now for the first time brought to the
notice of the Supreme Government. My own indi-
vidual conviction indeed of their utility in this point
of view is such that I venture respectfully to submit
it as my opinion that our Indian Commerce and even
our pessessions will ba scarcely secure from an
Buropean enemy until the Ports of Mergui and Tavoy
be in our occupation. When on the other hand this
shall be the case, we are at once undisputed Masters
of the Commerce, the Navigation and the Military
Positions, not only of the Bay of Bengal, and the
Western Coast of Hindustan, but even of the whole
Straits’ of Malacea down to the China Sea, the most
important avenue to which is also under our control
as long as we maintain possession of Singapore.

The remaining advantags which may be expected
from the maintenance of these important Posts® on
the Coast of Tenasserim refer to the extension
and security of our Commerce, The safety and
accessibility of these Harbours, but especially of
that of Mergui huve already been adverted to,
and in adlition to these qualities, their central
and convenient geographical position for trade, with
the natural resources of the territories which surround
them, especially recommend them as fit stations for
Commercial Emporia. In reference to the first of
these advantages it is only necessary to refer to their
easy and not very distaut. communication with Bengal
ox the one hand, and with the Straits of Malacca and
thus intermediately with China on the other, as well
as the easy access which they will afford us internally
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to several millions of new customers among the
Burmans and Siamese, a people proved by recent
experience to have a tasto and capacity for consnming
our manufactures.

The natural resources of the Provinces immediate-
ly connected with the Ports of Mergui and Tavoy are
from every account very considerable. I shall confine
myself here to an enumeration of a few of their prin=
cipal producti These ind d of a cheap
supply of corn consist of Tin, Sapan-wood, Sticlac
and Timber,

Tin exists in all the Countries of the Coast of
Tenasserim up to Tavoy inclusive, and the mines of
this metal which at present are in a state of great
depression, will soon become productive under British
protection, and with the skill and industry of the
Chinese Emigrants, who will soon be attracted to them
by the encouragement of our presence.

The ranges of mountains in the interior of these
Provinces afford the largest supply of Sapan wood in
the world, at present available only to Siam, from the
want of all market for it on the Western Coast. Of
this commodity it may be necessary to remark that
it is at present in high request asa dying material
among British Manufacturers, and that there is an
extensive demand for it in the British market where it
brings more than double the price of Logwood, a com~
modity the very privilego of cutting which has been
heretofore made the subject of conventions in the
Diplomacy of Europe.

The third Article of produce, Stic-lac, is one which
it is sufficiently known has under its different modific-
ations becomo of late years of great importance in
Commerce, promising in time to vie in value and ex-
tent of consumption with Indigo itself. Of the des~

ipti duced in the T im Provinces it is
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sufficient to state thatit isof the sams kind and
quality with that of Siam which by recent trials in the
Calcutta market is proverd to be much superior to that
of Pegue and three times as valuable as that of Bengal.

The neighbourhood of Mergui produces abundancs
of the wood called Murboo®, which is well suited for
ship-building and among Indian Woods the next in
value to Teak.  Neither this place nor Tavoy indeed
afford Teakwood itself which however is reaily floated
down the river of Martaban at no inconvenient dis-
tance, this stream being said to pass thro’ some of
the principal Teak forests of Pegue. From thence it
might easily be conveyed even to Mergui by a voyage
of about one third the length of that for a similar
purpose from Rangoon to Caleutta.

As immediately connected with the subject 1 may
for a moment advert to the probability of rendering
the proposed British Settlements available for Naval
Depots, Arsenals, and Docks,
jectured that Mergui especially is peculiarly well fitted
for the formation of such establishments, as indepen-
dent of the other advantages already referred to, the
Tide instead of rising as at other European establish-
ments near the Equator to 6 and § feet rises here to
14 and 15 feet; an elevati idered by p
men as necessary to the construction of wet docks.

and it wmay be con-

In relation to the question of occupying Mergui
and Tavoy I shall only further respectfully add that
<honld this important measure be carried into effect
a pleasing prospect of industry will be developed, and
the trade of the Kastern Coast of the Bay of Bengal,
which was in early periods of the European connexion
one of the most considerable, but which the tyranny
and jealous policy of the Court of Ava have, for at
least half a century, nearly blotted out from the com-
mercial map of Asia, will under British protection
be speedily restored to a share of prosperity much
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beyond what it enjoyed in any former period of its
history.

The next point upon which I have the honor to
submit my sentiments is the nature of the arrangements
which it may be useful or convenient to make with
the Siamese Government respecting the local interests
of P.W. Island, Before entering upon this topic,
1 feel it to be my duty to offer it respectfully as ny
clear and  distinct conviction that the interests,
lowever valuable otherwise, are of secondary im-
portance to those which have just been considered,
while in fact. the most essential of them are virtually
secured by the establishment of the former.

For facility of reference 1 beg to submit the
following brief sketeh of the Malay State of Queda,
and its relations so immediately connected with the
present question. It extends above a hundred miles
along the shove from the Latitude of 6% 50' to 5° and
embraces about one half the breadth of the Peninsula,
or from 40 to G0 miles. Besides this the numerous
islands on the coast belong to it ; some of which are of
considerable size, but most of them desert and
uninhabited. To the south it is bounded by Perak, a
principality as large as itself and to the N, E. by
Patani which is much larger. Both of these are, like
itself, unquestionable tributaries of Siam.

Queda, before its occupation by the Siamese,
contained from 40 to 50,000 inhabitants, and the
Rajah, by creating monopolies and by other means
little short of extortion, realized an annual revenue of
about 30,000 Dollars, exlusive of the stipend of 10,000
paid by the British Government. The demand for
grain by the population of P. W. Tsland was the cause
of a considerable cultivation of rice in a few favored
spots along the banks of the rivers, but in general the
country is covered with an extensive forest, and to
such an extent that the population can scarcely be
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puted to exceed 8 inhabi to a square mile.
Queda is generally destitute of all those commodities
which give some commercial consequence to the other
states of the Peninsula; such as tin, gold, pepper
and other ordinary Malayan products.

It is almost superfluons to mention that P. W.
Island, with a strip of territory 20 miles long and 3
Tiroad, are portions of the Queda principality, and that
they owe their present culture and population exclu-
sively to British protection, being one dreary and
uninhabited forest when we obtained possession. It is
of importance here to remark that siuce the Siamese
occupation, a vast number of the Malays of Queda
have emigrated into the British territories, transfer-
ring thither under more favorable auspices the culture
of grain which was formerly carried on within the
native districts for the supply of P, W. Island ; thus
contributing already to render any connection with
that country less necessary to us.

From this rapid sketch. it will perhaps appear to
the G that the acquisition of the Sup y
of Queda is not a matter of the first moment to us, nor
perhaps one calculated to insure us any object of
materinl value—that it may entail upon us on the con-
trary future i i and embar and
that while its relinquishment by the Siamese may be a
matter of considerable difficulty, to contend for it on
ours may involve the sacrifice of objects of far greater
moment and utility.

These different points demand respectively some
lanati The great i i which has been
felt at P. W. Islaud for the last 15 years, and since the
recovery of the Siamese power, has arisen simply and
solely, according to my conception, from the British
power having come into accidental collision with the
Sinmese Government at this weak and detached point
of our Empire, and therefore in a situation not calcu~
lated to impress the proud and ignorant Court of Siam
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with the necessary respect for our strength and
resources. This delusion will be at onco dissipated by
our permanent occupation of Tavoy and Mergui, and
by the great lesson of our strength which the results
of the Burman war will have taught the nations be-
youd the Ganges, and which by commanding their
respect will in fature render all palliative aud cor-
rective expedients unnecessary.

In the reports which I had the honor to lay be-
fore Government respecting the Mission to Siam, I
offered it as my opinion that more advantage was
likely to accrue to us from a direct intercourso with
the Siamese than with the more uncivilized and less
industrious Malays, whose connection, although it had
lasted for near 40 years, had been productive of no
beneficial change in their own manners, and no sen-
sible advantage to us, and Istill continue to entertain
these sentiments.

It is, however, to be remarked that the acquisition
of the supremacy of Queda, even could it be obtained
without difficulty and without sacrifico, by no means
removes from us the vicinage of the Siamese or their
political influence. They would still in such a caso
possess the Superiority of Perak reaching far to the
South of us, and of Patani to the East, while their
own immediate territory would bound us to the north,
so that they would thus in a great measure continue
nearly to surround ourselves and our feeble ally,

The inconveniences which I am led to apprehend
by our acquiring the Supremacy over Queda ariso
from the certainty of its bocoming sooner or later
necessary for us to interfere in the affairs of the
Native Government. This principality is under our im-
mediate eye—the national character will be implicated
in its good or bad government, and that it will be ill
governed and our powerful support to the sovereign

loyed as an i for the oppression of his
subjects, is what may reasonably be expected, not only
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from the example of all former cases of a similar
nature, but from the harbarous character of the people
and the evil habits of their rulers. Such a state of
things might ultimately lead to the necessity of
assuming the direct management of the Country, and
thus involve the question of territorial extension over
a Country destitute of natural resources, of singular
poverty, and of which the sovereignty would serve no
purpose, but to involve us in a needless and heavy

expence.

Even in the personal character of the present
Raja of Queda wo have nothing to hope for should he
be restored, for it is admitted by his own friends that
his oppressive and rapacious conduct had long lost him
the affections of his subjects, that this encouraged the
invasion of the Siamese, and that it was in short the
principal cause which led to tho loss of his throne.

1 have respectfully to submit that accordiug to
my conception of the local interests ot P. W. Island
every useful advantage will be adequately secured by
a cession to us in full sovereignty of all that portion of
the Queda territory not already in our occupation
which extends from the river Crean to that of Marbao,
and backwards the whole way to the mountains of
Patani, and by a complete renunciation of the right
of sovereignty and supremacy over P, W. Island, neces-
sarily implying also a renunciation of the stipend paid
to the Rajas of Queda.

Over a tract of country of this limited extent,
British administration and legislation may be brought
to operate at once with advantage and efficiency,
and provision is already made for such an accession of
territory by the existing charter of Justice for the
Island. A well defined boundary such as now describ-
ed will, at the same time, I presume to believe, secure
us‘more effectually from collision with the Siamese
suthority than the feeble remedy of interposing a
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weak and tributary state, for in that situation we shall
be in direct contact with the comparatively strong
and responsible Government of Siam, then as I trust
bound to us by treaties, and awed into respect and
moderation as well by the commanding attitude of our
position on the Coast of Tenasserim as by the reputa-
tion of our arms, and united to us at the samo time by
the common ties of a commercial intercourse which is
daily growing in magnitude and consequence.

A mature consideration of the character of the
new relation in which the Raja of Queda would stand
in the event of his becoming our tributary will un-
doubtedly add force to this argument. When restored
he must for ever be the secret enemy of the Siamese,
and with such sentiments, a conduct of much for-
bearance is scarcely to be expected from him. The
Siamese on their part again with the known pride of
that people, ean hardly be supposed to submit very
tamely to the sudden loss of a tributary and dspondnnt
[state ] of whole ies standing: Py
and insults will follow, and we may be readily
involved in the unprofitable quarrel of our ally.

The Raja of Queda while he was in authority can
scarcely be said to have established upon us any very
strong claims. He was placed indeed under circum-
stances of some temptation and some difficulty, but he
readily gave way to them, and his behaviour was
usually vacillating and uncandid, while there existed
strong reasons for complaining even of some positive
evasions of his connection with us. Whatever in-
dennity therefore he receives, should the Siamese not
voluntarily restore him to his throne, he will owe
rather to our sense of justice, and to our compassion,
than to any claim of & political nature. I must
respectfully suggest therefore that the stipend of
10,000 Spanish Dollars heretofore paid to him for
P. W. Island should now be paid to him as & Pension
for life. In such un event we shall amply have
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q of any which we may
be supposed to lie under to him, and his own condi-
tion after all will not be worse than that of the titular
sultans of Johors who boast a much higher rank, or
if hie should be inclined to take a different view of hix
destiny, he must charge his misfortunes to the
Siamese Government who are the only authors of it.

The last question which [ have the honor to
bring nnder the notice of Government is the com-
mercial arrangements which it may be expedient to
form with the Court of Siam. Upon this important
subject, 1 have already had the honor of submitting
my views at considerable length, and the period has
now arrived when I trust it will bo in the power
of Government to obtain & considerable share of
freedom and security for our commercial interests with
that Kingdon.

It is scarcely necessary to insist at any length in
this place upon the extent and value of the trade
which Siam is eapable of conducting with the British
Dominions and 1 shall only shortly observe that it is
the persuasion of those who have had the greatest
experience of it, and who are most interested in its
results that there is no Asiatic Country where so
decided o taste prevails for the consumption of
European and Indian manufactures, and few capable
of affording such rich and varied products in return.

That I may present to the Government however
at a single view a picture of the capabilities of this
branch of commerce, I beg leave to state the few
following facts. The modern intercourse between
Siam and the British possessions had its first origin
about 12 yearsago. The first year of the Establishment
of Singaporc 4 junks from Siam visited the place.
This season there have visited it 35 junks which have
imported Siamese produce to the extent of between
4 and 5000 tons, and exported British and Indian
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manufactures to the value of little less than 250,000
Spanish Dollars, or half a million of Calcutta Sicca
Rupees.

The statement now made does not include the
less considerable trade carried on at the same time
directly under the British flag, yet it is this branch
which more immediately roquires and demands pro-
tection and security, because it is in this department,
on account of the superior capital, skill and essential
economy with which it is conducted, that thers is
reason to look for the widest and most rapid extensions.

The principal obstacle which the European trade
has to contend with in Siam exists in the monopolies
and claims of pre-emption exercised by the officers of
the Siamese Government, and in general in their
vexatious and ignorant interference in the details of a
cargo.  These restraints and vexations which are
nearly confined to it have during the two last years
almost entirely driven away European Shipping, and
having thus failed to produce to the Siamess officers
the emoluments upon which they were reckoning,
there is ground to hope, considering the favorable
auspices under which the negotiations will be
opened, that they will be induced to relinquish
their pernicious and useless privileges without any
serions difficulty.

The trade of the Chinese in Siam is upon the
whole on a fair footing, advantageous both to them-
selves and to the Sinmese Government, and this

quitable and not invidious p dent for the establish
ment of our own commercial interests may be kept
in mind. The terms of it however imply a consider-
able ‘knowledge of native details which would render
it less suitable to us, and upon the whole T am of
opinion, that the most convenient possible arrange-
ment for the British trade would be the payment at
once of a handsome and determinate sum for each ship
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mted according to her tonnage or measurement—
implying of conrse an entire exemption from afl export
and import duties.

The presents and perquisites of office now paid
should 1 am of opinion remain untouched. These are
neither oppressive nor heavy in amount, and their
continuance will at once gratify the vanity of the
Siamese, and secure their attention and good offices.

1 may take leave of this question by respectfully
suggesting it as my humble conviction, that should
our trade with Siam be finally established on the
terms and conditions now submittel to the Right
Honble. the Governor General, [ he ] will, by carrying
such a measure into effect, confor an inestimakle boon
upon the commercial interests of the Empire at largo,
which must be appreciated with gratitule.

T shall bring this dispatch to a conclusion by
offering to the consideration of the Right Honble. the
Governor General a few observations upon the most
time and ci for d our
negotiations with the Court of Siam. It is my
distinet conviction on these points that the negotia-
tion should be conducted by the Political Agent
of the Governor Genernl only—that it should
be conducted on the spot where our Armies are
acting, and before they are withdrawn ; but above all,
that no haste should b2 evinced in making territorial
concessions to the Siamese. Untless the character of
the Siamese Court has been greatly misunderstood,
the display of our military power which is now
making in their immediate neighbourhood will pro-
duce a decided and a salutary change in its senti-
ments and policy, and such a moment must not be
lost. It will be obvious that the Agent to the
Governor General will under these circumstances
gotiate with an hority and i which
cannot be looked for frum any other quarter. He will
also obtain from his situation an accurate knowledge
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of all those local details which are at present wanting
and which arve so essential to the success of the
negotiation. The conquests made on the Coast of
| Tenasserim should be retained for  time sufficiently
long to convince the Sinmese Court that we are nob
unacquainted with the value of what we propose to
| exchange with them, and in general it should ba
i made to appear that the negotiation is rather songht
for on their part than tendered on ours,

1 have the honor to submit: for the information of
the Right Honble. the Governor General in Conncil
the outlines of such a convention with the Siameso

ajeeMotes (overnment ® as it appears to me would place our
towardsa Treaty z f
already printed. relations with that power on a convenient and
""'"‘":';": advantageons footing. Fach article is nccompanied
ments, Vo 5
by a few necessary explanations,

I have &ea.

‘ (Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.

Singapore

31st May 1824,




Straits Settie-
ments, Vol. 95,
Pp. 30-44 (2nd
set of Paging).

Captn. Canning
at Rangon 101
June, 1824,

[56]

FORT CORNWALLIS The 22 July 1824.

CAPTAIN CANNING at RANGOON.

To R. IBBETSON Esquire
Secretary to (lovernment

FORT CORNWALLLS
Sir,
. ° . . .

5. With reference to the communications pen-
ding between the Government of Fort Cornwallis and
the Siamese power, and more particularly to the
deputation of Lieutenant Low to the Rajah of Ligor,
it appears to me that this latter measure can hardly
fail of being productive of the most important results
with respect to the contestin which we are now
engaged with the Burmese. The King of Siam, pos-
sessed of authority and official information of our
being at war with that nation, will in all probability
advance his forces and thus further distract their
councils and operations to the Southward. It would
no doubt be highly desirable for a detached force from
this place to occupy Tavoy and Mergui, but the
unfavorable season of the year appears to afford little
chance of such an attempt being made with success.

. . . . . .
1 have &eca.
(Signed) J. CANNING Captn.
Political Agent.

Rangoon
10: June 1824,
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FORT WILLIAM, 11th June 1824.

TO THE HONORABLE
WM. EDWARD PHILLIPS, Esqre.
Governor in Council of
Prince of Wales” Island.

Honble. Sir,

We have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
your dispateh dated 26th April last , the perusal of
which has afforded us much satisfaction,

2. We regard as highly enlpable the conduct of
the Rajah of Queda in opening a clandestine corres-
pondence with the Court of Ava, whilst living under
British p ion. The 4 of that improp
aud unjustifiable step could scarcely have failed of en-
tailing serious embarrassment under almost any other
circumstances than those of the present moment ; we
novertheless rejoice at the prospect which now exists
of the restoration of our antient Ally to his hereditary
dominicns, on terms so fair and reasonsble as those
stated in your President’s Minute ; and it will be very
satisfactory to us to find that the Government of Siam
receives your proposition to the above effect, in as
favorable a manuer, as the Rajah of Ligore has done.
In the mean time the Ex-Rajah of Queda will of course
be on his guard against any treachery which the
Siamese may meditate the execution of, under the
cloak of friendly and pacific intentions, We will only
add further on this point, that both the manner in
which the Honble, the Governor opened his Communi-
cations with the Rajah of Ligore on the subject of
Quedah, and the tenor of his several addresses to that
Chief have our entire approbation.
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8. The Correspondence of the Court of Avain
the Queda affair is extremely curious and interesting,
and demonstrates in a remarkable manner the grasp-
ing and ambitious spirit which influences the Councils
of that State.

4. The cordial disposition manifested by your
Govt. to co-operate to the extent of your means in our
projected attack on the capital of the enemy’s domini-
ons, demands our sincers acknowledgements, and we
doubt mot that the Vessels and craft which you have
so promptly dispatched to the Rangoon River, will
prove of essential service. We trust to hear shortly
of their safe arrival, and shall be prepared to sanction
any expenses which you may have found it necessary
to incur in making arrangements for the hire or pur-
chase of these and other Boats.  Your suggestion
reganling descents, Tavoy &ea, with the view to
collect a quantity of the large Burmah Boats, will
doubtless meet with due attention from the Brigr.
Genl. Sir A. Campbell, to whom the conduct and
regulation of all military operations on the coasts of
Pegue and Tenasserim has besn entrusted.

5. We have the honor to express our concurrence
in the measure of deputing Lieutt. Low on a Mission
to the Rajah of Ligore for the purpose of affording
explanation regarding the existing ¥War between the
British Govt. and the State of Ava, and of urging
a speedy settlement of the Quedah question, and
shall look forward with particular intersst to the
receipt of accounts of his reception aud conferences.

6. We are of opinion that the active exertions of
the Siamese against the Burmahs should be invited and
encouraged to the utmost extent, though it will evident-
Iy be desirable to let them prosecute hostilities entirely
in their own way, and to select their own points of
attack, and you will of course abstain from committing
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the British Government by any specific engagements
to support their future operations. From the deter-
mined spirit of defiance and hostility evinced by the
Burmese o less than from their bravery anl conduct
on several occasions, and the success which they have
obtained on our own frontier, it seems probable that
the contest will be obstinately prolonged by that
people, and hence there will doubtless be abundance
of leisure for the Siamese Govt. to second our measures
and at the same time recover any places which they
may desire to wrest from the common enemy, by
creating a powerful diversion on the Bastern frontier
of Ava.

7. We are apprized by a letter just received from
the Resident at Singapore ( Copy of which is herewith
transmitted) that thut officer has communicated officially
to the Court of Siam the occurrence of war between
the British and Burmah Government.

8. TPrevious to the receipt of your present dis-
patch we had discovered and corrected our former
oversight in stating Junk Ceylon to be temporarily in
the possession of the Burmahs,

We have &ca.
(Signed) AMHERST
o E. PAGET
" J. FENDALL
FORT WILLIAM
11th June 1824.
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FORT CORNWALLIS the 24 June 1824

Letter from the Honble. W. E. PHILLIPS

o Rajan of Governor of Pulo Penang to the Rajah of Ligore.
Ligore 18 June
1824,

The Governor of Pulo Penang has now the satis-
faction to communicate to His Highness the Rajoh of
Ligore the success of the British Arms against the
Burmahs. The Port of Rangoon was taken in a faw
hours and is now in possession of the British troops,
and Negrais, Cheduba and Bassein have also been
taken. Several large expeditions from Bengal, Madas
and Bombay have already procecded to Rangoon and
others aro to follow. If the Rajah of Ligore is dis-
posed to accedo to the proposals lately mado to him,
the Governor of Palo Penang requests he will im-
mediately dispateh his floots of Prows which are
equipped at the Northern Ports of Quedal to cooperats
with the British troops at Rangoon, by which His
Highness will participate in the glory of having sub-
dued the haughty power of Ava, which State has been
1o less an enemy to the Siameso than it is to the
British Government.

The Governor again expresses a hope that the
Rajah of Ligore will not delay dispatching his Boats to
attack the Burmals and expedite the conquest of the
Kingdom,

(Signed) W. E. PHILLIPS Governor.

Penang
15 June 1824.
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Fastory FORT CORNWALLIS The 8 July 1824.

RESIDENT at SINGAPORE.

Mesident at —_—
ngapore
21 June 1824, TO,
R. IBBETSON Esquire
Secretary to the Government
Prince Wales Island.
Sir,

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
of your letter of the 10 of May tnulumnmng agreeably
to the wish d by the 8
various papers and documents connected with the
subject of the war in which weare engaged with the
state of Ava.

1 beg respectfully to lay before the Honorable the
Governor in Lauucll copy of a letter which, in
bedi toi ined in a dispatch from
the Secretary to Government in the Political Depart-
ment dated 30: January, I have addressed to the
Siamese Minister.

I shall have the honor of submitting to the
Honorable the Governor in Council without delay,
and from time to time euch information from Siam
bearing upon the question of Burman war as may be
received at this place.

T have &ea.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
Singapore
21 June 1824.
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The letter of John Crawfurd Esquire Resident of
Singapore to His Excellency the Chao Pia Prah-Klang,
Chao Kun-Kosa &e.

1 am commanded by the Governor General of
India to icate to your BExcellency for the
information of His Majesty the King of Siam, that he
has declared war against the Burmans, and shortly to
state the causes which have led to that event. The
Siamese Court sufficiently knows the faithless character
of the Burman Government, and the restless ambition
with which they are constantly disturbing the peaco
of their neighbours, Last year intent upon the con-
quest and destruction of your nation, they sent an
embassy to the King of Cochin Clina praying him to

join them in an offensive league tor your overthrow,
but that prudent and just Prince has declined all
connexion with o dangerous a people. That your
Excellency mny entertain no doubt respecting the
wicked purposes of this Mission, 1 send you a
translation of the letter with which the Burman
Embassadors were charged.

Our nation, which are the neigbours of the
Burmans to the West have not been able to escape by
a conduct of the west guarded forbearance, the effects
of their unprincipled ambition and vanity. For years
together they continued to harass us by seizing and
enslaving our subjects, and by addvessing our Govern=
ment in the arrogant language of a people unacquaint-
ed with their own essential weakness and ignorant of
the forms of intercourse between great nations. This
insolence has at length been carried to the last
extremity by the seizure of one portion of our territory,
and the invasion of another.  War has in consequence
been declared. A great fleet and army has sailed
from Bengal and Madras to seize upon Rangoon,
Martaban, Tavoy and Mergui, and the Governor
General has declared that he will not lay dow 1 his
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arms until ample reparation shall have been made.
Conquest is not his object but your Excellency will
have the satisfaction of seeing, as the result of this
war, the Burman nation deprived for ever of the power
of disturbing the peaco of their neighbours,

The Merchants of Caleutta, Penang and Singa-
pore have been directed to furnish you with every
description of arms and ammunition which you may
require, and 1 request you will be pleased to communi-
cate to the Honorable the Governor of Prince of Wales
Island or inform me in what manner we can bo useful
to you in prosecuting the war against the common
enemy.,

1 have the commands of the Governor General to
make to his Majesty the strongest assurances of friend-
ship and good will, and 1 beg to offer yon a small
present as a token of my respect.

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD,
Resident.
Singapore
13 May 1821,
A True Copy
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD,
Resident.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 8: July 1824.

LIEUTT. LOW at TRANG.

To,
R. IBBETSON Esquire
Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.
Sir,

1 have the honor to report for the information of
the Honorable the Governor in Council that after
meeting with many vexatious obstacles to the prosecu-
tion of the objects of the Mission on which I have
been deputed, and which have arisen out of the
extremely cautious disposition of the Siamese authori-
ties hero and elsewhere—And after a tedious corres-
pondence with the Rajah of Ligor, which has only
served the more to excite instead of gratifying his
desire to become acquainted with particulars, His
Highness has at length adopted the singular resolution
of holding a conference with me here at Trang in place
of receiving me at Ligor.

This resolution of the Rajah, contained in a letter
to my address only reached me last night. and I have
lost no time in directing Captain Chevers to proceed
with this dispatch to Penang in order that the Honor-
able the Governor in Council may be apprized as early
as possible of the intentions of the Raja.

1 have taken advantage of this fortunate deter-
mination of His Highness, and in my reply to his last
letter, which will probably reach him about the
middle of his journey, have given him fairly to under-
stand that however happy I will be to meet him here,
still that in not receiving the Mission at his capital
he has departed from the established customs of
independent nations in their treatment of embassies.
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Although my endeavours to gain an overland
passage to Ligor have thus proved vain, yet it will I
hope be evident that this minor object, (in so far as
regands the main purposes of the Mission ) however
desivable in itself, could not have been attained with-
out foregoing thn only chance remaining of procuring
a seasonable supply of boats.

His Highness may be expected here in the course
of five or six days, but not sconer.

As the time scems to me, from a perusal of my
instructions, to have passed, within which a supply of
boats might have proved of advantage to the public
Service, 1 am therefore very anxious to learn, before
conferving on the subject with the Rajali, whether the
Honorable the Governor in Council is still desirous
that an engagement be entered into with His High-
ness on thig head.

Should the Rajah arrive before o reply returns to
this dispatch the subject can bo postponed for a couple
of days. It hoats are not now required and notice
shall reach me in time, a fair occasion will then pre-
sent itself for representing to His Highness the
excellent opportunity which his dilatory conduct has
lost hiim for displaying his friend yldisposition towards
the British Government and of realizing his former
professi of the exi of amicabl,
feelings in his mind.

It seems to me however requisite in order to
account, in some measure for His Highness's conduct,
to notice that from the general tone adoped by him in
his correspondence with me, and that used by his
officers of rank in the various conferences I have had
with them, it would appear that His Highness stands
much more in awe, and lies more under the immediate
control, of the Court of Bankok than he is willing to
admit, or allow others to suspect.
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The consideration that such might really be the
case has prevented me from hitherto allding, except
in o very casual way to the subject of boats. My in-
structions did not warrant any other mode of procedure.
T have also every reason to believe that had any direct.
application for boats been made by me, the Rajah
would immediately have supposed that the Mission
had been sent for the sole purpose of asking for them,
and he might have been thercby induced to slight the
Mission instead of directing it to be treated with the
marked respect and attention it has met with, and ho
would most probably in that case have left the matter
to the decision of the vain and presumptuous Court
of Siam, which would have readily and gladly seized
so inviting an occasion of holding up the English to
the world as o peaple who were urged by necessity
and not induced by mere motives ot conveniency to
seek its aid. Much more therefore under this view
of the case would have been lost in real dignity at a
juncture when, if I mistake not, the chief aim seemed,
as it now seems, to be to impress the nations in our
neighbourhood with o just sense of the power and
humanity of the British, than could have been coun-
terbalanced by any aid in point of boats which the
Siamose might have been willing to grant.

It was only by a personal conference with the
Rajoh that I could hope to effect the object in view,
and at the same time prevent His Highness presuming
too much on what he might feel disposed to grant.

From all the enquiries 1 have made and my own
observation, it does not appear to me that the Rajah is
in possession of mors than twenty boats capable of
performing a voyage to Rangoon, and even these could
not venture to sea without considerable preparation.
They have no decks and are indifferently rigged, and
they are for the most part so low in the gunwale that
the Jeast sea must wash over them.
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1 have seen some of those which were employed in
the invasion of Kedda, but they are nearly worn out
and quite unfit for the purpose required.

Tt shall be my duty (in the event of my not
receiving a reply to this letter in sufficient time) to
conclude a provisional agreement only with the Rajah,
provided he has power to give boats without a previous
reference to Bankok.

After having fully conferred with His Highness,

I will dispatch a native boat to Penang with such

information as it may appear of importance should be
d to the G

I regret the necessity I have lain under of
detaining the Brig Commerce until this time. The
inty regarding the real intentions of the Rajah
prevented me from landing the party at Trang, and
1 was aware that a haste to do so would only have
added to the apprehensions of our real views manifested
by the authorities there, and have proved detrimental
to the Mission.

Whilst waiting the decision of the Rajah of
Ligor, the Commerce cruized for fifteen days to the
Northward. This measure enabled me personally to
ascertain the condition and resources of the Siamese
Governments in that direction.

The observations which were made during that
period will be included in the Public Report of my
Proceedings which I will have the honor hereafter to
submit to Government.

But in the present posture of the British in respect
to Ava the following fact may seem worthy of notice.

The mutual boundary of the Burman and Siamese
possessions on this Coast of the Peninsula lies a little
to the Northward of a Siameso Post or Dependency
called Rindong, on the south of which, and next
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in order is a small government called Takoa Pua.
Theso lio to the Northward of Junkeeylon or Salang.
1 believe this boundary has been laid down with
tolerable precision in my wmap of Siam.

In so far as my experience and enquiries enable
me to judge, there exists not the least foundation for
the various reports spread abroad at Penang regarding
the force in men and fleets of prows belonging to the
Siamese on this Coast.

I beg further to report that the Escort and other
persons accompanying the Mission are in the most
healthy state, although they have been 6l within the
last. three days crowded in the small Brig and con-

stantly exposed to rain and sun.

1 have much pleasure in observing that Captain
Chevers Commanding the Brig and Mr. Freeman its
Supracargo, have cheerfully afforded me every assistance
which lay within their power.

1 have &ea.
(Signed) JAMES LOW
Agent.
Trang
21 June 1824,

THE SECRETARY reports, that the following
roply to Lieutenant Low, having been circulated and
approved, was delivered to the Master Attendant with
directions to dispatch the same forthwith per Brig
Commerce.
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS The 22 July 1824.
Records,
ments, Vol. 95,
L
124 set of paging) LIEUTENANT LOW at TRANG.
Lioutt.Lowat  To
el .
TR AR duna. R. 1BBETSON Esquire
Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.

Sir,

With reference to my letter to your address dated
on the 21 Instant and forwarded by the Brig Com-
merce I have now the honor to report for the
information of the honorable the Governor in Council
that o Son of the Rajah of Ligor arrived here yester-
day with a retinue of three hundred soldiers. He
delivered to me a letter from the Rajoh in which His
Highness expresses his extreme regret that a severe
indisposition, which attacked him two days before his
intended departure from Ligor, has prevented him
from immediately fulfilling his promise to meet and
confer with me at Trang. And also a hope that the
circumstance of his having sent down one of his sons
who possesses his entire confidence to visit me, will
remove from my mind any doubts which may then
have arisen of the sincerity of his professions of amity
towards the British Government at Penang, and may
induce me to prolong my stay in his country until I
shall be enabled fully to explain to him the nature
and extent of the subjects on which I have been
deputed.

The young Prince has returned to Ligor with my
reply to his father’s letter, He will return Aere again
in a few days.

T beg to be favored with such accounts regarding
the operations in the Burman Country as may have
reached Penang since the Mission left it, and as
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the Honorable the Governor in Council may, deem of
sufficient importance to be communicated by me to
the Rajah.

As it is impossible at present for me to say that
accidents may not happen to preclude a personal inter-
view with His Highness, I therefore beg to be favored
with further instructions whether in such an extreme
case 1 shall bo authorized to explain by letter or
otherwise to him the whole or any part of the subjects
connected with my Mission.

It seems to me material at this juncture to notice
that my former suspicions, expressed in my last letter
to your address, of the inability of the Rajah to con-
duct agreeably to his own inclinations or to decide on
affairs connected with the policy of other states in
respect to Siam or Ligor, have been fully justified by
the sequel.

1 have apprized His Highness that had he, at the
period of my arrival in his Country, made a fair and
open avowal of the now very circumscribed nature of
his power, it might have saved much vexatious corres-
pondence and would have prevented all the unnecssary
delay which has ensued.

It is evident however that as His Highness had
led the Honorable the Governor in Council to believe
what was then perhaps actually the case, that he
possessed a certain share of separate authority, or had
such vested in him by the Court of Siam, in matters
not involving serious discussion betwixt it and foreign
Courts His Highness therefore naturally shrunk as
long as he could from the mortifying confession that
his public actions must “ now be implicitly regulated
* by a Council of Ministers who have lately been sent
* to Ligor from Bankok.”

1 have without any formal notification on my part.
clearly ascertained that the Rajah of Ligor could not
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have sent a single boat to Rangoon without a previous
reference to Siam. A direct negotiation with the
Court of Siam was not I believe contemplated by the
Honorable the Governor in Council. But even had
such been entered on too much time must have elapsed
before the decision of that Court could have been
received at Ligor, and the consequent equipment and
repairs which the Raja’s boats would have required,
could have been finished, to have admitted of a
seasonable supply being procured.

It is probable that the Mission may bo detained
in the Raja’s Country until the latter part of July.
For many reasons I am very anxious that the
Honorable the Governor in Council may be pleased to
order the Brig Commerce or some other vessel to
proceed from Penang so as to reach Trang about the
15 of July, and as the distance from the Harbour to
where the Mission will be encamped is considerable, to
intimate its arrival by firing two guns.

My messengers Khoon Aksorn and Nai Neim,
Siamese officers of rank, will deliver these dispatches,
and [ request they may be sent back with all con-
venient expedition, as they are not empowered by the
Raja to make any communications and have been
placed solely at my disposal.

I beg that the Naick and four Sepoys who
accompany these officers may be allowed to return
with them. Ten days rations have been put on board
the prows, which it is to be expected will be sufficient
for the whole voyage.

I am happy to be able to report that all my party
are in perfect health.
I have &ca.
(Signed) JAMES LOW

Agent.
Trang
25 June 1824.



“To Lioutt. Low
9 July 1824,
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To LIEUTT. LOW.

To LIEUTENANT LOW

Sir,

1 am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your
letter dated 21 ultimo from Trang and to convey to
you the following reply.

The Honorable the Governor in Council, con-
curring entirely in your view as to the time having
passed when a supply of boats from the Hajah of
Ligore would have proved of advantage to the public
service, desires that you will now enter into mo
engagements for obtaining such, but content yourself
with apprizing His Highness, that the British
Expedition against Ava has captured Cheduba,
Negrais and Rangoon. and that should His Highness
or the Siamese Court desire to share in the glory of
subduing the pride of the Burmans, they cannot be too
prompt and active in detaching to the British Army
all the Boats, and land and water carriage, as well as
other means of co-operation they can command.

The Governor in Council further desires that
after making the above communication to His High-
ness, you will use every exertion and endeavour to
persuade the Rajah also to afford you his aid in
procuring at Trang and any of the Ports of Kedah, as
large supplies of Rice and Paddy as possible for the
use of this Settlemont, whero thess articles have
become extremely scarce, and which induce the
necessity of every practicable exertion being used
to provide for the possible contingency of public want.

Having therefore effected all your arrangements
at Trang, you will endeavour before you quit the
place, finally to hold out inducements to the Rajah
and People there to send here, as well from Trang
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as Pungah, as much rice and paddy as possible, assur-
ing them that until the 1st of October next a Bounty
or Premium at the rate of 15 Dollars per Coyan for
rice and of 74 Dollars per Coyan for paddy will be
paid by this Government for all such supplies as may
be received here from thence. You will urge this
point on the Rajah of Ligor with particular force and
claim from him his best aid and assistance as a testi-
mony he can easily afford of his good disposition to
our interests.

‘Whether Grain is procurable or not to the North-
ward, you will apply to the Rajah for letters to the
Chiefs at all the Ports between Trang and Kedah, at
which for the same purpose you will touch on your
return and hold out the same inducements.

It is hoped that these inducements may be suffi-
cient to secure a plentiful supply of grain for this
place, but should such not be the case you ars
authorized at Purlis and also at Kedah to purchass
at once, with the previous leave of the Rajah of Ligor,
as much grain as can be procurable and to draw bills
on this Government for the amount thereof, taking all
possible and secure means for the dispatch thereof to
this Port.

From the foregoing detail you will observe how
important an early supply of grain will prove. It
will be for you to provide as much of this atticle as
possible, and so to shape your communications as not
to appear more urgent on the occasion, than with
reference to the peculiar character of that Chieftain
will be actually desirable to effect the object.

The Charterparty of the Commerce will be out on
the 31: instant, and if you can return, having effected
these arrangements within that period, it will be satis-
factory, but you must consider the fulfilment of the



wishes of Government in respect to grain as of the
first and primary importance.
I have &ca.
(Signed) R. IBBETSON
Secry, to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis

9 July 1824




Factory
Records,
Straits Settie-
m onts. Vol. 95,
PP, 72-74.

Rajah of Ligore
9 July 1824.

[71]
FORT CORNWALLIS The 22 July 1824.

RAJAH of LIGOR,

Translation of a letter from the Rajsh of Ligore to the
Honorable W. E. Phillips, Governor of I’ulo Penang.

( After Compliments. )

I have heard it mentioned lately that inland of
Prye and at the River Moodn, the people who reside
under my friend’s Government have taken possession
of more land than is specified in the Treaty which has
long been in existence. In that Treaty the territory
which belongs to Pulo Penang and what appertains to
Quedah is distinctly specified, and this intelligenco
having reached me T cannot be silent upon the subject,
for the Country of Quedah has been entirely transfer-
red to me by His Most Excellent Majesty of Siam. I
therefore request that my friend will adhere to the
treaty with justice, for my friend and I are desirous of
being upon amicable terms, and to prolong a good
understanding.

Moreover, Sri Johan Perkasu, a Malayan Chief,
who has long been a pirate, I have already represented
to my friend. He sent his people to steal the Birds’
Nests, which are part of the Revenues of the King of
Siam, and where he could not succeed in carrying
them all away he caused fires to be kindled in the
caves to destroy them. He afterwards attacked
Chineso trading prows and the people who wish to go
and trade find it very hazardous to do so. Sri Johan
Perkasu is guilty of a variety of such like acts. I sent
prows to endeavour to seize him, but he fled and now
resides at Pulo Penang. Will my friend therefore
seize Sri Johan Perkasu and his follows who have been.
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committing such offences and follow the customs in
respect to their punishment.

Further, my friend sent a letter to Quedal, which
was forwarded to Ligore, stating that two Chines®
named Oosooye and Achuan, inhabitants of Pulo
Peuaug, had fled to Quedal, and requesting my
nssistance to seize and return them. I ordered a
search to be made and learnt that they had gone to
Singora, [ ordered them to be pursued and directed
that they should be seized it found: but Chinese
Oosooye and Achuan made their escapo in o prow
from the Singora River before the arrival of the
peopls whom T sent to scizo them, and as it was not
known where they lad fled to, T conld not senl prows
after them.

(A True Trauslation )
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator to Govt.
Penang

9: July 1824,
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To
The Honorable the Secret Committee of the
Honorable the Court of Directors.
Honble. Sir,
. . . . . .

Para. 29. We shall in conclusion solicit the
of Your H tle C i to the Dis-
potches from the Government of Prince of Wales
Island recorded as per margin and to our reply thereto.
The zealous exertions made by that Government to
forward our views at Rangoon by supplying boats in
the manner which we had previously pointed out,
appeared to us to merit our warmest acknowledgments.
Your Honorable Committee will observe that we have
approved the measure adopted by the Government of
Prince of Wales's Island of deputing a British Officer
to Ligor to communicate personally with the Rajah on
the subject of the affairs of Kedah and to afford ex-
planation regarding the Burmah War, and that we
have authorized that Government and the Resident
at Singapore to invite and encourage the active
co-operation of the Siamese against the common
enemy, mrefully abstaining however from committing
the Sup by any specific engag
to support their future measures.

80. Your H ble Commil will doubtl
be gratified to learn from the above Papers that there
exists a prospect of effecting, by amicable negotiation
with the Siamese Government, the restoration of the
Rajah of Kedah to the full possession of his rights and
territories, under the guarantee of the British Govern-
ment, to his fulfilment of certain defined feudatory
obligations. The grasping and ambitious spirit of the
Court of Ava and its eagerness to seize the first
opening for interference in the affairs of the Malayan
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Peninsula, would probably have forced this termination
of the differences between the King of Siam and his
feudatory the King of Kedah even had not the present
war occurred.

We have the honor &c.
AMHERST
EDWD. PAGET
JOHN FENDALL
Fort William

Lith Jaly 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 14 September 1824.

MAJOR CANNING at RANGOON.

W. M. WILLIAMS Esquire

Deputy Secretary to Government
Fort Cornwallis.

Sir,
. . . . . .

6. With reference to......the co-operation of &
Siamese force with our operations, 1 beg leave to say
that Lieutenant Colonel Snow, Adjutant General of the
Madras Troops in this quarter, whom severe ill healty
compels to make a voyage to your Presidency, is
authorized to enter into the fullest explanations on
this very important subject. The principal objects in
view are the obtaining a Siamese army, as numerous
as they may be disposed to furnish, as soon as the
season shall admit of taking the field, for the invasion
of the Burman territory, it being understood that such
troops, if acting jointly with a British force, shall be
subject to the general disposal of the Officer Command-
ing the latter. When Mergui, Tavoy and eventually
Martaban shall have fallen into our possession it would
be desirable that these places should be held by Siamese
troops, under an understanding of their consenting to
evacuate them if required so to do at the conclusion of
peace. These conditions, particularly the latter, would
1 am aware be liable to much objection on the part of
the Siamese Government, but at the present moment
any arrangement that would involve the dismember-
ment of the Burmese dominions could not be enter-
tained. If the Siamese should have to evacuate the
above mentioned places, possibly some equivalent
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might be devised that would prove satisfactory to
them. Another object of high importance looked to
in a connection with the Siamese, would be the pro-
curing from them draft and carriage cattle and
elephants to the largest extent they could supply. For
particulars of place, time, &, &c. 1 should beg leave
to refer to Colonel Snow who is in full possession of
Sir Archibald Campbell's plans.  As time now begins

to press, a of these at the
earliest period would be most desirable.
* * * * * *
I have &c.

(Signed) J. CANNING Major
Pol. Agt. Expdtn.
Rangoon
28th July 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 14 September 1824.

SIR A. CAMPBELL at RANGOON.

To the Secretary to the Government
Political Department
Prince of Wales 1sland.
Sir, .
° . . . . .
As I conclude the Siamese will not allow the
present opportunity to escape of humbling their cruel
and inveterate foe, I have sent Lieut. Colonel Snow,
Deputy Adjutant General to the Madras Division of
the Army, an officer of experience and possessing my
confidence, to make such arrangements under the
sanction and authority of the H ble the G
in Council, as may best tend to promote the interests
of our cause, should it be determined mpon by the
Court of Siam to take a cordial and active part in the
war, 1 could wish to be speedily informed what
operations the Siamese troops may undertake: if a
Jjunction with the expedition under my command is
contemplated, and how it may be best accomplished ;
should such bo intended I trust the Siamese Generals
may be made most. clearly to understand that they
must at all times act under the ordors of the British
Commander.

1t is my intention probably in a fow days hence,
to detach a force to take possession of the enemy's
maritime towns to the eastward, Mergui, Tavay, &c.
&c., the capture of which will, I should imagine, not
fail to make a favorable impression of our power and
resources, influenco the Cabinet of Siam, and prompt
the Government to decided exertion.

I have &e.
(Signed) A. CAMPBELL

Head Quarters Brigr. General
Kaugoon, 28 July 1824.
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THE following Minutes by the Honorable the
President, on the subject of the above letters, are
recorded.

MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

In submitting the accompanying letters from Sir
A. Campbell and Major Canning to the Board, I think
it necessary to state the result of the communication
which has passed between myself and Lisutenant
Colonel Snow. I learn from him that it was intended
by Sir A. Campbell to detach a sufficient force to
occupy Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim as soon as he
had received authority from the Sup G
for that purpose, and which he expected every day to
arrive, a suggestion to that effect having been submitted
somo time ago. Lieutenant Colonel Snow informs me
that he has the orders of Sir A. Campbell to return
from this to Mergui, under the idea that the troops
will previously have arrived there and taken posses-
sion ; that he hasi ions to open icati
with the Siamese authorities in the manner that may
be suggested by us, for the purposo of inducing them
to assist the British force mow acting against the
Burman Empire in the mode described in the letters
abovementioned.

My Colleagues are aware of the little success
which has attended the Mission of Lieutenant Low to
Ligore, the papers connected with which are under
preparation for transmission to Bengal, and I should
have been disposed to have deferred any further at-
tempt at megotiation, direct or indirect, with the
Siamese Government, until we could have received
further instructions from the Supreme Government,
the more especially as I entertain doubts whether it
was intended that wo should proceed to the length of
a direct communication to the Court of Siam, now the
culy resourco likely to prove effectual. The letters
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now before us, require however some immediate
measures to be taken, and we must adapt them to the
probable state of things, according to the best of our
judgment.

It appears to me that if the British Troops occupy
the abovementioned places, the contiguity into which
they will be brought with the Chiefs or gavernors
under the Siamese authority will almost
produce the necessity of communication, and it seems
for many reasons desirable that the officers so called
upon to communicate, should carry with them (unless
intermediately vested with powers from a higher
authority ) all the weight and respectability which
this Government can confer. I propose therefore,
that letters be written by me to the Siamese Chiefs in
the neighbourhood of Mergui and Tenasserim and
delivered to Lieutenant Colonel Snow, stating, with
reference to the proclamation already issued, the ob-
Jjects and causes which have induced the occupation of
those Countries by our Troops, and endeavouring to
impress on the minds of those Chiefs, the expediency
of treating them as friends, engaged against the com-
mon enemy of both nations, and of assisting the British
force with supply of provisions, carriage cattle and
such articles as may be required by the Officer Com-
manding. With respect however, to the more import-
ant and decisive measure of aiding with a body of
Siamese troops to accompany our army, as suggested
by Sir A. Campbell, it is not to be supposed that that
object can be obtained without direct application to
the Court of Siam, or even the deputation of a Con~
fidential Agent to that Court, for the express purpose.
On this last point I cannot but entertain some doubts
as to our power.

Referring however to the letter addressed to this
Government by the Right Honorable the Governor
General in Council under date 12th March last, in
which the probable occupation of Mergui, Tavoy &c.
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is alluded toas affording a favorable opportunity for
negotiating an arrangement with the Court of Siam,
in respect to the affairs of Quedah, more immediately
affecting the interests of this Island—referring also to
that of the 11th June from the same high authority,
in which the expediency of holding out
for the co-operation of the Si:xmesa Government is
lly enjoined—and considering that the period
seems at hund pointed out as the favorable opportunity
for negotiation, it may be hoped we shall not be ac-
cused of exceeding the line of our duty in availing
ourselves of it for the more important purpose of aid-
ing the success of our arms in the cause in which

they are engaged.

Under the emergency of the case, it appears to
me advisable that means should be afforded for com-
municating with the Court of Siam, in the event of
the Military and Political Authorities at Rangoon
considering such requisite for the interests of the
service. I propose therefore that Lieutenant Colonel
Snow should carry a letter addressed by me to the
Phra Khlang or Prime Minister at Siam or the general
nature above stated, but intimating in addition, that
provided the King of Siam consents or desires it, that
an officer will attend at the Court to explain the nature
of the assistance required.  Powers to be used even-
tually may be given accordingly to Licutt. Colonel
Snow.  As to instructions to the Lieutenant Colonel,
these must of course be left with the authorities em-
ployed on the expedition, for T wish it to be distinctly
understood, that the object of Colonel Snow’s Mission,
if resorted to, can as far as depends on us embrace
o y the military e for the immedi
support of our troops and the aid of a Siamese force,
and does not extend to the negotiation of any ulterior

g d with the ion or restora-
tion of any of the conquered countries. These aro
points which could only be discussed hy the direct
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authority of the Right Honorable the Governor General,
but, under existing ci it may be desirabl

to submit to His Lordship a Memorandum of all the
5 objects which may appear on our Records to have
hitherto been considered as desirable for the interests
| of this Government, the attainment of which depends in
any degree on negotiation with the Siamese authorities
witha -ginal to the respective dates at
which they have come into discussion. As I understand
a Vessel will sail this day for Rangoon, I have directed
a letter to be drafted in reply to Major Canning, with
copy to Sir A. Campbell.

The Board will perceive by the draft now sub-
mitted, that I have made it to be understood that the
letters and powers to be entrusted to Lieutenant
Colonel Snow are to be used only in the event of
Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim being occupied by our
troops, and of no orders or instructions having been
| intermediately received from the Supreme Govern-
| ment, or any other circumstance intervened which
| would render the use of them unnecessary or improper.

Adverting to the k g d by Lieuten-
aat Low of the Siamese language and of the habits
and customs of the Siamese Chiefs with whom he has
already had intercourse it has occurred to me that he
might be eminently useful in any future communica-
tions with them on the frontier. I suggested to
Lieutenant Colonel Snow the expediency of his uccom-
panying him and as that officer has expressed his
desire of availing himself of Licutenant Low's services,
1 propose that he should return along with him, It
may be proper also to send copies of the letters
reciived from Rangoon and reply to the Resident at
Singapore. Lieutenant Colonel Snow proposes leav-
| ing this about the 20 : Instant.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON.

Fort Cornwallis
6th September 1824
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MINUTE by the PRESIDENT,

Finding by further reference to the proceedings of
this G that our icati with Siam
have never been carried further than the address of
lotters to the Pia Phra Klang, Prime Minister of State,
it appears to me that the powers alluded to in my
minute of the 6th Instant as eventually to be used by
Lieutenant Colonel Snow, as a deputed Agent to that
Court, cannot with propriety be given. Our inter-
ference must therefore be limited to the granting of
letters to the three Chiefs of Ligor, Phunga and
Renong, ond to the Phra Klang, drafts of which L
now submit to the Board.

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON.

11th September 1824.
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PP, 408-412.

To the Rajah of
Ligon.

(7 Sept. 1824,

To the RAJAH of LIGOR.

My Friend,

Your Highness has already been farnished with
copy of the declaration of war published by the Right
Houorable the Governor General of India, explaining
the causes which have led to the war between the
British Government and the Burman Nation. Your
Highness has also been informed thro' Lieutenant Low,
sent to wait on you by my predecessor Mr. Phillips, -
that the British troops had taken possession of
Rangoon and Cheduba. Altho’ no answer has been
received from your Highness to these communications,
at which I am ized and d, hel
from the friendship subsisting between your Highness's
Government and that of Prince of Wales Island, I
think it right to address another letter to inform my
friend that the British troops pursuing their victorious
career will, by the time this reaches you, be in posses-
sion of Mergui and Tavoy and the adjacent countries
and that a favorable opportunity again offers for your
Highness to participate in the glory of humbling the
pride of the Burmans. My friend will no doubt con-
sider that as the British Nation is now engaged in war
against the common enemy of both the British and
Siamese Government, the British troops should be
Tooked upon as the friends of the latter by assisting
them with supplies of provisions, of cattle and elephants
to convey their stores and by directing a portion of
the troops under your Highness's authority to act
against the Burmans ; at the same time the interests
of the Siamese Government must be furnished and
advanced. This letter will be sent to you by Lieu~
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tenant Colonel Snow, an officer of high rank, com-

manding the British troops at Mergui, and should U
your Highness be disposed to assist the British troops 1
as required, all particulars will be icated by |

that Gentleman whom my friend will consider as fally
empowered to act by the Government of Prince of |
Wales Island.

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON

Governor.
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To THE PHRA KLANG.

His Majesty the King of Siam will long before
this have been informed of the war subsisting between
the British and Burmese Governments, and the causes
of that war will have been explained to His Majesty
by the Proclamation issued by the Right Honorable
the Governor General of India, copy of which was
transmitted from Singapore by the Resident there.
His Majesty will also have been informed by o letter
adiressed to you by Lieutenant Low, entrusted to the
charge of the Rajah of Ligor, that the British troops
had taken possession of Rangoon and Cheduba. Now
this is written to apprize His Majesty of Siam that the
British Troops in prosecution of the war have arrived
and taken possession of Tavoy and Mergui. Another
favorable opportunity is offered of participating in the
glory of subduing the Burmans. The British Govern-
ment being now engaged in war against a power that
is the common enemy of both the British and the
Siamese, it is hoped that His Majesty of Sinm will
see the propriety of directing the Siamese Authorities
near the frontier to consider the British troops their
friends engaged in a common cause and assisting them
in the manner that may be pointed out by the Officer
Commanding them, It is hoped that His Majesty the
King will also perceive that by now employing a por-
tion of his victorious troops in attacking the Burmahs
the real interests of His Majesty cannot fuil to bo
materially promoted.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON

Governor.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 14 September 1824.

To MAJOR CANNING at RANGOON.

To
MAJOR CANNING
Political Agent to the Governor General
RANGOON.
Sir,

I am directed by the Governor in Conncil to ac-
Knowledge the receipt of your letter of 28th July last,
and to avail myself of an opportunity offering for com-

ing the result of Li Low's Mission to
Ligor, as well as conveying to you the opinions and
sentiments of this Government on the subject of your
lotter now replied to and the measures intended to be
pursued in consequence, determined on after the fullest
communication between our President and Lieutenant
Colonel Snow who arrived here on the 4th Instant.

2. In respect to the first point, the Governor
in Council has to intimate to you with much regret
the failure of Lieutenant Low’s Mission to Ligor
in all its objects. That officer returned some weeks
ago and from his report received on the 2nd. ultimo,®
it appears that the Rajah of Ligor had on various
pretences evaded all personal communication by de-
clining either to receive Lientenant Low at Ligor or
meet him at Trang, where he remained upwards of
three months,  To that place however the Rajah de-
puted his son, apparently with the view of discussing
the objects of the Mission, but without any powers to
negotiste or enter into any Settlement or agreement
on the subject at issue. The tedious and evasive com-

i only produced iction on the mind of
Licutenant Low that the Rajah had no serious in-
tention of entering into any agreement, while the
information received from other quarters satisfied that
officer that the Rajah did not possess the independent.




' TTTTTEIETH

ro1)

power and free action contemplated by this Govern—
ment, and had no authority to conclude any definite
arrangement on those points the adjustment of whicl
formed the main objects of the Mission. Lieutenant
Low therefore left Trang on the 1st Ultimo, having
previously sent to tho Rajah a sealed letter addressed
to the Phra Klang or Chief Minister of the King of
® Tobecopled Sinm ® of which a copy is enclosed and to which no
lator from

vol.98. reply has yet been received.

8. Under these circumstances it now remains for
this Government to consider in what manner they can
best promote the immediate objects pointed out in
your letter ® and the one which accompanied it from
Sir A. Campbell.® The following appears to be the
course of proceeding best calculated for the above
purpose, to be followed, however, on the presumption
that the British troops are actually in possession of
Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim. The occupation of thoso
places will bring our Military Authorities in the con-
tiguity of the Rajahs or Governors on the Western
frontier of the Sinmese Monarchy, and o direct com-

may become idable.  With the view
of aiding such communication it is proposed to furnish
Lieutenant Colonel Snow with letters addressed by
our President to the Chiefs nearest the boundary,
containing in general terms (with reference to the
Procl ion of the Right H ble the G
General in Council ) the causes and objects which
have induced the occupation of those Countries
by our troops and impressing on them the expediency
of receiving them as friends and aiding by every
means the proceedings of the British power acting
against the Burmahs, the common enemy of both the
British and Siamese Governments, by furnishing
supplies of provisions and carriage as the Commander
of the troops may require.

documents.

4. Considering however the limited powers of
the Chiefs under Siamese Authority as displayed in
the case of Ligor, itis evident, that although partial
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local and temporary assistance in the article of supply
may possibly be afforded by them, no measure of the
important and decisive nature alluded to, namely the
march and co-operation of a body of Siamese troops,
can be expected without express sanction and orders of
the King of Siam.

5. If such co-operation continue to be considered
an object essential to success a direct communication
with, or even deputation to the Court of Siam may
be required, as affording the only prospect of its com-
pletion.  On this point [ am directed to stato that the
Honorable the Governor in Council find themselves
under some difficulty. The direct deputation of an
Agent accredited by this Government has on several
occasions been discouraged. It was indeed on this
ground that the instructions to Licutenant Low con
fined him to personal negotiation with the Rajah of
Ligor and did not authorize him to proceed to Siam.
Adverting however to the urgency of the case, and
actuated by the consideration that the public interests
may, in the judgment of yourself and of Sir A.
Campbell, imperiously requiro such deputation, the
Governor in Council proposes furnishing Lieutenant
Colonel Suow with a letter to the Phra Klang or Prime

Minister at Siam similar in tenor to that addressed to
the subordinate Chiefs, and with power to be used
eventually in order to give to that officer under the
sanction of a local government the official character
required to enable him to conduct the duties of such
deputation.

6. Ina letter received from the Right Honorable
the Governor General in Council under date 12 : March
last, the probable occupation of Tavoy, Mergui and
Junk Ce) lon by our troops is alluded to as affording a

ity of making a desirable arrange-

ment with t.he Government of Siam, in respect to the
nﬂ'm of Quedah, in which this Government is directly
d, and the di of ing the
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Siamese to co-operation with the British troops is
further enjoined in another letter of the 11th June
from the same high suthority. It is presumable
therefore, that this Government will not be considered
as having gone beyond the strict line of its duty in
availing itself of the actual occurrence of the event
pointed out as the most favorable period for negotiat-
ing successfully with the Siamese Government.

7. It is scarcely necessary to repeat that these
powers are given to Lieutenant Colonel Snow under
the contemplation that the British troops are in
possession of Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim, and a
communication with the Siamese Government on the
subject thereby rendered advisable, and that no direct
orders from the Supreme Government have been
received, or other circumstance intermediately occur-
red of a nature rendering the use of these powers
unnecessary or improper.

8. Some arrangements connected with the state
of the vessel on which Lieutenant Colonel Low* arrived
will probably prevent his leaving this before the 20 :
Instant. In the mean time the Governor in Council
is not without some expectation of hearing further from
Rangoon. Considering his (Low's) intimate and perfect
knowledge of the Siamese language and his having
been in the habit of intercourse with the Chiefs of the
Siamese Government, it has occurred to our President
that the presence of Lieutenant Low might be very
useful in any communications required to be made to
them and as Lieutenant Colonel Snow has concurred
in the opinion of advantage likely to result from his
assistance, it is proposed that he should accompany
him on his return.

1 have &c.
( Signed ) W. M. WILLIAMS
Offg. Secry. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis
The 6th September 1824.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 14 September 1824.

AR. J. ANDERSON.

To W. M. WILLIAMS Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government.

Sir,

Placed as I have been for some time past in
situations which have given me favorable opportunities
of ing information respecting the neighbouri

native states, while commercial agent. to this Govern-

wment and more recently conducting the correspondence
between the late Governor and the Authorities at
Ligore and Quedal, 1 take the liberty of respectfully
submitting to the Honowble the Governor in
Council the result of my enquiries upona sub-
jeet which has during the last few years engaged
the jon of this G and a id i

of which is daily becoming more momentous, in
consequence not only of the late commencement of
lostilities against the Burmahs, the meditated expedi-
tion against the Southern Ports of that Empire, the
very unsatisfactory footing upon which the Dritish
Government at present stands with Siam, wmore
especially with the minor state of Ligore and its
present dependency of Quedah, but also the unsuc-
cessful issue of the late Governor’s negociations in
view to effect the restoration of the King of Quedah,
the deceit and cunning evinced by the Ligore
Chief and his Agents during the whole progress of
these iations and the d P of his real
intentions, by the uncourteous reception of the
Agent who was lately deputed to Trang.
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_: 1':!‘-.!::-;-“ ‘The first part of the accompanying paper® con-
boon traceq,  tains some reflections upon the conquest of Perak
1 found, 1t shant and Quedah, a brief account of the early Malayan
becoplod:  petablish on the Peninsula and the relative
connection of the Quedah state with Siam and
Prince of Wales Island ; an exposition of the ad-
vantages likely to result from declaring Quedah and
the whole of the Malayan States under the protec-
tion of the British Government restoring a weak ally
to the throne of his ancestors, not so much from a
consideration of the claims which Le has to support,
however strong, ns from a regard to the interests
and prosperity of the British Settlements, to which
is added u fow suggestions relative to the policy
to be pursued for the improvement of tho declining
commerce of this Port with these States.

The second division contains a descriptive
sketelt of the Tin couutcies on the Western side of
the Malayan Peninsula from the Island of Junk
Ceylon to the river Lingi, near Malacea, and the
rivers on that const, intended to shew the boundaries
of the several states as defined and admitted by the
Lest native authorities, to point out the separate
rights of each, and the facilities which exist for
extending the commercial intercourse with these
states and drawing forth the valaable products with
which the Peninsula is known to abound.

The object of my investigation has been fo re-
riove some misconceptions which have been too
generally cirenlated respecting the tributary depen-
dence of Quedah upon Siam, us implied from the an-
ciently established ceremony of trausmitting a
Boonga Mas, or gold and silver flower, and to direct
the attention of the higher authorities to a subject
of deep importance to this settlement, which may
possibly not be looked in the future negotiati
with the Court of Siam. It has been my aim, by
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llecting and full, ing different authori-

y
ties to shew, not only the advantage to British in-
terests, but the absolute necessity of immediate in-
terference in the affairs of Quedah.

The dispersions of the Malays by the lawless
oppressions of the Siamese is unquestionably giving
encouragement to a very alarming system of piracy,
and the decline of trade, the scarcity and enhanced
price of grain and other supplies have been too
sensibly felt of late to escape notice. Measures of
the utnost forbearance have already experienced a
trial of three years, but the prospect of a satisfactory
adjustment appears as distant as ever, while the
Government is obliged to comply with the selfish
policy of the authorities at Quedah and pay a bounty
upon the grain which used to be imported formerly
at one half the price.

These observations were penned in the latter
part of last year, prior to the knowledge of an in-
tended rupture with the Burmahs, and at a time
when the public mind at this Settlement was con-
siderably agitated by the reports which daily arrived
of a meditated invasion by the Biamese. These
remarks are submitted therefore with the utmost
deference, in the hope that the Honorable the
Governor in Council will indulgeatly overlook any
imperfections in the execution of the task in con-
sideration of the importance of the subject to the
intere .:s of this Island.

I have &ca.

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Trans. to Govt.
Penang
114k September 1824.
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PP 423-430, To the GOVERNOR GENERAL in
COUNUIL—Fort Wm.

To
The RIGHT HONORABLE
e ko Gakomas: WILLIAM PITT LORD AMHERST
oncral in
Councit Fort Governor General in Council
"""';:2'1""" FORT WILLIAM.
My Lord,
|
With reference to the Dispateh from this Govern-
ment to your Lordship in Ceuncil, under date the
26th April last, we have now the honor to transmit
the panying Copy of Li Low’s report
of lus Mission to the Rajah of Ligor.
| 2. We greatly regret the unsuccessfal issue of
! the Mission inall its main objects - - -
|
Tha remainder of this letter contains merely
the substance of that already copied, addressed
3 dated G Sopt. to Major Canning.* It is not_therefore con-
1823, sidered necessarv to repeat it here. The last

paragraph is us follows.]

10. We beg leave in conclusion, to express
the expectation that in the several measures above
| detailed, your Lordship in Couneil will not consider
this Government to hiave gone beyond the strict line
of its duty, in availing itself of the actual occurrence
of the events pointed out as the most favorable
period for negotiating suceessfully with the Siumese
Government.

I have &ea,
( Signed ) R. FULLERTON
. J. MACALISTER
o W. A. CLUBLEY

Fort Cornwallis
The 13: September 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLS The 14 September 1824.

MINUTE by MR MACALISTER.

It was not until this forenoon that I had the
honor of perusing the President’s Minute and Draft
of a letter to Major Canning in reference to the im-
portant political objects for the furtherance of which
Lieutenant Colonel Suow has been deputed to this
Government. The Honorable Governor's papers
have evidently been written under that sense of
responsibility which his recent arrival at this Pre-
sidency must cause him to feel when called upon to
express opinions on questions that to be fully
understood, require much local experience, ns well
as o laborious reference to the past Proceedings of
the Board. As however the Supreme (Government
and Major Canuing must look to this Government
for some more decisive opinions thun what the
Honcrable President’s papers appear to me to convey,
I hope I shall ot be deemed preswmptuous if I
venture to snbmit to the consideration of my
superiors such views on the subject of the proposed
negotiatious with Siam as have vccurred to me.

Tu the first place, [ still entertain the opinion,
which T verbally declared to the late Honorable
Goveruor some mouths ago, that the object desired
by the Supreme Government, of securing the active
co-operation of the Siamese Court in our war against
the state of Ava, will not only be much more difficult
of attainment than what is supposed in Bengal, but
even if attained will prove of very little udvantage,
and probably of still less credit to us.

1t is true a long standing and inveterate hatred
and rivalship subsist between the Siamese and
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| Burmans, yet it is not less true, that the Siamese not:
only hate but dread ws much more than they do the
Burmans ; and this feeling of fear is at the present
moment, when we are making snch approaches
towards their kingdom, too g and pe ful
to be easily removed from the ]e.n.lnus and suspicious

Court of Siam. Their arrogance also is so great and
preposterous that I have little doubt were we to
offer the Siamese Ministers restitution of their an-
cient possessions on the Coast of Tenasserim, they
would coolly receive them as a matter of right, and
deem any return to us quite unnecessary.

Granting however that we succeed in persnad-
ing them to detach a body of troops to co-operate with
us against the Burman State, 1 feel couﬁtlsnt that
such an ion will be an ion of
instead of strength to us. The jealousy of their
wilitary conmanders, the acknowledged inferiority of
their troops to those of the Burmans in discipline
' and conduct, their cruel and barbarous mode of
warfare, and their presumption and arrogance on all
aceasions, would embarrass most materially the
operations of our army, and would disgust the peace-
able inhabitants of Ava, and render a final settle-
ment of the country much more difficult. When-
ever nlso we succeeded in subduing the Burman
| Government, the Siamese Troops would claim the
‘ whole honor and credit of the victory, and persuade

their Court to be a hundred-fold more haughty and
i imperious and full of pretensious than what it is
| already. But our very application to the Siamese
Court for co-operation or assistance will, 1 fear,
lower our ch , and the insoll of
the King of Siam.

The only advantage we may receive from the
Siamese Government at the present crisis, is some
aid in elephavts and provisions, but the best and I
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think only certain mode of securing nsupply of these,
will be by rendering it a regular mercantile transac-
tion, und offering to disburse the full expense there-
of. There will be some difficulty however in making

such supplies
required, for the Country for many miles on each
side of the Sianese and Burman boundaries is well
known to be a desslate waste, throagh which the

4 our army as so0n as they may be

passage of large consoys will e a much more
arduous work thun what the patisuce or perseverancs
of the Siamese wiil perhaps bo able to secomplish,

Auwl lere [ w

ild beg to notice the plan of
opening 4 communication with the Siamese Court
by the way of Tavoy as it is proposed Licutenant
Colonel Suow shill endeavour to effect, Putting
aside the almost innccessibility of such a route, T
humbly couceive, with every rospect for the high
military reputation of Licutenung Colonel Snow,
that the selection of n person pussessing more in-
formation regarding the nature and forms of the
Governments iu this quarter of the world than Le
can possibly be expeets
if we desire to quiet the fears and Llind the jealousy
and distrust of the Siamese Court on the prosent
I question alss whether Lieatenant Low

ed to possess, is indispensible

taut to Lim. That officer, [ infer
from bLis late Mission to Trang, is better aequainted
willi the grammatieal strueture of the Siamoso
Tongue than with their customs
ducting public business. It is also well known here
that the Rajah of Ligore, whose friends, as Mr.
Crawfurd experienced, are the leading wewmbers of
the Siamese Ministry, hus taken personal offence at
some expressions used by Lieutenant Low in the
communicatious with the Ligorian officers.

and forms of con-

If however it be determined that Lieutenant
Colosel Snow shall proceed to Bankok, he can
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require 1o better or fuller information regarding the
affairs at Kedda and the political and commercial
objects desired by this Government, than whatis

d in the prehensive paper, with its
numerous enclosures, which the late Governor’s
Military Secretary drew up for the purpose of being
given to Mr. Crawfurd, and which the late Honor-
able Governor adopted and recorded as a Minute in

* Towecopled Council in December 1821.%
1ator, with 1821
documants.

(Signed) J. MACALISTER.

The 13 Septr. 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 23 September, 1824.

WITH reference to the Minutes by the President
recorded on the Proceedings of the 14: Instant ®

APPROVED the following letter and enclosures
to Lientenant Colonel Snow.

To

LIEUTENANT COLONEL SNOW.
Sir,

The general outline of the course of proceeding
intended to be pursued by this Government, con-
sequent on the letters received from Sir Archibald
Campbell and Major Canning, of which you were the
bearer, will have been explained in the communica-
tions which have passed between the Honorable the
President and yourself. For the sake of reference, I
am now directed to enclose copy of the letter lately
sent to Major Canning, and to intimate at the same
time that a subsequent reterence to the records of this
Government having led the Honorable the Governor in
Council to believe that a deputation to the Court of
Siam could be resorted to only under the express
sanction and delegation of power from the Righ
Honorable the Governor General, that part of th

contemplated ar has been abandoned

2. The measures of this Government in suppork
of the object and views pointed out by Sir A. Campbell
will be confined therefore to the address of letters to
the Siamese Chi,

and authorities to whom the
occupation  of Tavoy, Mergui and  Tenasserim
will bring you in contiguity, and with whom the
necessity of holding communication will probably
arise, to the preparation of a lstter to the Phra
Klang or Prime Minister at Siam, the transmis-
sion of which will be left to your discretion,
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in which it is believed no difficulty will be found
through the medium of any one of the Chiefs already
mentioned, and lastly to the execution of powers from
this Government to communicate and make such
arrangements with the Chiefs for the supply of carriage
&ea. as you may be able to effect for the important
purposes pointed ont by Sir A. Campbell. The letters
and powers with English translations are herewith
transmitted.  From the knowledge possessed by
Lientenant Low of the Siamese language and from his
having Dbeen already in communication with some of
the Native Chiefs it has been considered desirable that
that officer should accompany you, and as it may bo
found expedient to depute him on the service in which
you ave engaged, a duplicate power has been made out
in his name, to bo used however only in the event of
your considering such deputation necessary for the
interests of the service.

3. Adverting to the uncertainty of the period
when our troops may arrive at Mergui, to the necessity
that may arise of your visiting some part of the Coast
for the purpose of obtaining information, and with the
view of ensuring due respect, in such event, the
H ble the G has d ined that a small
Escort (as per margin ) of the Local Corps of this
Island under the command of Licutenant Low should
accompany you. The Board are aware that it would
have been very desirable that you should have been
attended by a vessel of a smaller deseription ( than the
David Maleolm Transport which conveys you) and of
a draft of water 50 as to have admitted a communication
with the shore and the rivers on the Coast. They
regret exceedingly that they have found it im-
practicable to provide one of the proper description
and capable of keeping her way with the Transport
at this season of the year. A small row boat with
a crew of six men will however be embarked for your
use on the transport.
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4. As the occasional presentation of small pre-
sents to the Chiefs with whom you will have to com-
municate may be useful and even necessary, the Board
have directed the sum of Dollars 3,000 to be delivered
to Li Low to be lly dish d under

# sic.7uaccount” your direction, and of which the amount® will be
rendered on his return to this Island.

5. From the general tenor of the letter enclosed,

youwill perceive that in the measures now taken the
Honorable the Governor in Council proceeds on the
contemplation of Mergui, Tavoy and Tenasserim being
actually in possession of the British troops ; that it is
only on that contingency that the letters and powers
now entrusted to you are to be used. As it is possible
the expected orders from the Supreme Government
relative to the occupation of these places may be
accompanied with instructions as to the mode of
proceeding in respect to the Siamese Chiefs on the
frontier, it must also be understood that the Powers
now given are not to be made use of in case the Right
Honorable the Governor General shall have delegated
Towers to any other person or signified the adoption
of a line of policy which would render your proceeding

on them y or improper, and are

confined to such communication and arrangement as
1may bo required to carry into effect the views of Sir
A. Campbell in procuring carriage supplies &ca. and
eventually the co-operation of a body of Siamese
troops, but without discussing the ulterior question of
the final disposal of acquisitions made in the course
of the war.

6. It may be hoped that the occupation of those
Countries by our troops may dispose the Chiefs and
the Government of Siam to lend their aid in the supply
of carriage required for the further prosecution of the
war.  But it becomes necessary to state that from the
little ication that has ever isted between
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the Siamese and any Buropean power [ond] the
| extreme suspicion evinced in such communication, a
1 speedy or active exertion on their part can hardly ke
| expected. It is probable they will await some signal
instance of success on our part before they can be
| induced to take a decided line in support of the war,
f but it is by no means impossible that the supply of
carringe, cattle, elephants, &ea. may be obtained as a
common commercial transaction in the Countries im«
mediately depending on Tavoy, Mergui, or in the
adjoining Siameso Territories, in respect to which you
will be guided of course by the instractions received
from Sir A. Campbell.

1 have &e.

(Sigued) W. M. WILLIAMS.

, Offg. Secry. to Govt,
i Fort Cornwallis
The 24 September 1821,

ORDERED that a Copy of the above letter be
transmitted for the information of Major Canning at
Rangoon,




To Lioutt. J. Low
24: Geptember
1824,

[ 106 ]

THE following letter of instructions to Lieutenant

Low is also approved and recorded.

To LIEUTENANT J. LOW.

To

Lieutenant J. Low.
Sir,

Lieutenant Colonel Snow attached to the British
force employed at Rangoon having been deputed hero
for the purpose of consulting as to the best means of
inducing the Siamese sutharities to assictin the supply
of carringe cattle for the use of the army acting against
the Burmans, and eventually to employ a portion of
their troops against the common cnemy ; it lias heen
judged necessary in the contemplation of the immediato
pation of Tavoy and Mergui to grant letters to
Lieutenant Colonel Snow, addressed to the Chie

mese frontier, in
stated.  As a direct
communication will become neces the Board ad-
verting to your knowledge of the Siamese language
and habits of the peaple with whom Lieutenant Colonel

the neighbourhood of the
furtherance of the objects abo

sar

Snow will have to communicate, hiave determined that
you should accompany him on the duty in which he is
now employed.

1t has further been determined that a small party
of the Local Corps should attend Lieutenant Colonel
Snow as an honorary escort as well as to ensure respect,
in the event of its being found necessary to land on
the Coast for the purpose of obtaining information; a
small Boat and Crew will be sent on hoard the David
Malcolm for that purpose. It has further been deemed
advisable to advance to you the sum of dollars 3,000
for the purpose of providing such articles as may be
necessary according to the usual custom to present to
the Chiefs with whom it may be necessary to hold
intercourse.
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The Board have granted to Lieutenant Colonel
Snow the necessary credentials for that purpose, but it
may be judged advisable by that officer to depute you
occasionally on such service. Duplicate Power is
transmitted herewith to be used only in the event of
Lieutenant Colonel Snow directing their use. You
will in this respect and all others connected with the
object of the present Mission conform to the instractions
and directions you may receive from that Officer. You
will endeavour, as done by you on a former occasion,
to obtain every possible information in respect to the
Coasts, Islands and Countries you may happen to visit.

The Board have determined to grant you the samo
allowanee as on your last deputation, viz. 500 Dollars
per Month.  When Licutenant Colonel Suow shall in-
timate to you that your services are no longer necessavy
you will make the best of your way back to this Island,
along with the escort and boat’s crew.  Divections have
nd embark the

been given to make the usual advance,

usual supply of provisions for their use.
T am &ea.
( Signed ) W. M. WILLIAMS.
Offg. Seery. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallis
The 24 September 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 21 October 1824,

RESIDENT at SINGAPORE.

To
W. M. WILLIAMS Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.

Sir,

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter of the 10 : September transmitting corres-
pondence with the Agent of the Governor-Gieneral and
Commander in Chief of the Rangoon force respecting
the war in which we are engaged with the state of
Ava, and more particularly touching the co-operation
which may be expected on the part of the Siamese
Government.

An opportunity has just occurred of communicat-
ing direct with Siam of which I have availed myselt,
and I now beg leave to submit to the Honorable the
Governor in Council copy of the letters which I have
addressed to the Officers of the Siamese Government,
as well as of my dispatch to the Secretary to Govern-
ment in the Political Department explaining the views
and motives under which these were written. In
further explanation of the sentiments which I have
been led from many considerations to entertain on
the question of Siamese co-operation, I beg leave
respectfully to lay before the Honorable the Governor
in Council an extract of a dispatch which I had the
honor to address to the Supreme Government on
the 31st of May last.

I have &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident,
Singapore
51 October 1824,
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THE letter of John Crawfurd Esquire Resident
at Singapore. To His Royal Highness the Prince
Kroma Meng Cheat &ca. &ca.

I have communicated to the Chao Piah Prah
Klang from time to time the origin and progress of
our war with the Burmans, and now have the honor to
address your Royal Highness on the same subject.
Your Royal Highness knows that four months ago a
large army proceeded to Rangoon, captured that place,
and has since repeatedly fought and beat the Burmans,
Detachments from the same force have taken Cheduba,
Ramree and Negrais, By the last accounts received
the General in Command had given orders for the
conquest of Martaban, Tavoy and Mergui. This last
advance of our arms will bring us close to the Siamese
frontier, and in such an event, your Royal Highness
may be assured that the British Commanders will pay
the utmost attention to the wishes and interests of
His Majesty the King of Siam, while they trust at the
same time to His Majesty’s friendship for co-operation
and support in vanquishing the common enemy. 1f
your Royal Highness will be pleased to convey to the
British General, to the Governor of Prince of Wales
TIsland, or to myself the present and final views of the
Court on all the topics connected with this subject,
they will either be immediately attended to or con-
veyed to the Governor General of India, and there
receive all the consideration due to the friendship
which has been long professed and felt for the Siamese
nation.

I have further to inform your Royal Highness
that as soon as the season of the rains is over and
the Country open, the army of Rangoon will march to
Ummerapura, while a much larger force under His
Excellency the Commander in Chief of India will
move in the same direction from the frontiers of
Bengal. This will put a an end to the war.

By the present opportunity I send His Majesty



[110]

the King in the name of the Right Honorable the
Governor General a present of a thousand stand of fire
arms in token of his confidence and friendship, and
the merchants of Singapore have received full permis-
sion to furnish the Court of Siam with any number
which may be desired.

1 beg your Royal Highness to accept of a gold
watch and 15 Catties of Coral as o mark of my high
consideration and respect.

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.

Singapore
3 October 1824,
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The letter of John Crawfurd Esquire, Resident of
Singapore. To his Excellency the Chao Piah Prah-
Klang Chao Kun Kosa.

This letter will be delivered to your Excellency by
Mr. Gillies, the same respectable individual who visited
Siam last year, and I have to entreat for him a con-
tinuance of your favor and protection.  He takes with
him a supply of fire arms for the use of the Govern-
ment with the full sanction of the Right Honorable the
Governor General of India, and to afford a proof of his
esteem and confidence,

1 beg to announce to your Excellency that the
Island of Singapore has become permanently a British
possession, that the Dutch have forborn to make
further claim upon it, and further that they have ceded
to the English the town and territory of Malacca. Tho
commerce of Singapore continues daily to encrease—
there are still no duties whatsover levied on merchan-
dize and an extensive market is open for the produce
of your country. I hope therefore this year that many
junks will arrive from Siam, and that the Kings's ship
may be induced again to repeat her voyage.

I beg your Excellency in token of my respect to
accept a double barrelled fowling piece of a new con-
struction, and an emerald ring.

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD.
Resident.
Singapore
3: October 1824.
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To
GEORGE SWINTON Esquire
Secretary to Government
FORT. WILLIAM
Sir,

T have the honor to report for the information of
the Right Honble. the Governor General in Council,
that the English Ship Caroline proceeds without delay
to Siam, and that I have taken this opportunity of
ngain addressing the Siamese authorities on the subject
of the war in which we are engaged with the State
of Ava. Copies of the letters sent on this subject
addressed as usual to the Chiefsof the Foreign
Department are annexed. Government will have the
goodness to observe that I have still continued to
address the froward and suspicious Court of Siam in
the samo strain of caution as heretofore, avoiding the
proposal of any specific measure of co-operation on the
grounds stated in a former dispatch, but at the same
time inviting, altho’ not courting, general co-operation
and assistance, while the means, as far as possible, are
furnished, and in the manner least calculated to awaken
jealousy, of giving us that co-operation.

I have not hitherto had the honor to receive any
reply to my dispatch in the Political Department of tho
31 of May, and in which I had proposed to present the
Siamege Government with 1000 stand of arms in the
name of the Right Honorable the Governor General,
but the utility of this measure'as a means of giving
confidence to that suspicious people, has been con-
stantly present to me, and the subject has within the
last few days been brought more urgently to my

by the official infc i itted to me
from the Government of Prince of Wales Island,
and from which it appears that Martaban, Tavoy
and Mergui were upon the point of being attacked—a
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matter which would bring us into direct contact with
the Siamese, while the co-operation of that State is
anxiously locked for by the Commander of the
Rangoon force and the Agent of the Governor General.

Under these circumstances I hnvc ventured to
assume the ibility of a th d
stand of fire arms to the Smmese Court. These have
been procured at this place and consist of new Tower
proof muskets with bayonets complete, which I have
purchased at the rate of Nine Spanish Dollars each.
This price includes freight, and all other charges to
Siam, security to deliver the muskets, and an engage-
ment to bring back the return presents free of all
charge whatsoever, The return presents commonly
made at Siam amount to about two thirds of the value
received, estimating the prices in that country, and as
they are deliverable at this place free of all expence
to the Government, I may reckon that the actual
charge incurred by this measure will not exceed
2000 Spanish Dollars instead of four or five as esti-
mate in my former dispatch,

With respect to the minor presents, the gold watch
and fowling piece were purchased some time back with
the approbation of Government, and are already sanc-
tioned in the public accouuts. The only other charges
are the coral presented to the Princo Kroma Cheat,
and a small emerald ring to the Minister, both of
which will cost together something less than 700
Dollars.

I have the honor further to report that in accord-
ance with the view of Siamese politics and Siamese
co-operation which I have taken both in this dispatch
and in that of the 31 of May, and under the sanction
contained in your dispatch of the 12 of March, I have
given igsion for a further exp ion of fire arms
to Siam, and that the Ship Caroline in consequence
will convey thither 2000 stand.
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Government will be pleased to observe from the
contents of my letter to the Siamese Minister that Mr.
John Gillies, the same individual who proceeded last
year to Siam, proceeds thither again upon the present
ocension with commercial views, and proposes making
some short stay in the country. The former visit of
this gentleman to Siam afforded me satisfactory proofs
of his prudence and good sense, and I have in con-
sequence, and believing in the utility of this measure,
now given him the directions for his conduct, shonld
political matters be obtruded upon him, as is highly
probable, of which I have the honor to enclose a copy.®

I have &ca.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.

Singapore
4 October 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 21 October 1824.
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MEMORANDUM of the various Points which
Enclosurcin  appear on the public records as desirable for the in-
terests of this Presidency, and to be obtained through
negotiation with the Court of Siam.

First. The restoration of the King of Kedah to
his territories free of all tribute or at least subject only
to the triennial presentation of the Boonga Mas
( Golden Flower ) on the payment of a certain sum in
money not exceeding 4,000 Dollars annually and liable
to no further demands, order or mark of subjection
whatever. Should the money payment be acceded to
the Government of Prince of Wales Island to guaranteo
the same.

REMARKS. This isa point of great political
importance, directly affecting the interests as well as
the credit and reputation of this Government. The
Grant of this Island was given by the King of Kedah,
and there seems every reason to belisve that on grant-
ing it he considered himself fully authorized to make
the grant, and the British Government also acknow-
ledged that authority by receiving it and making the
Treaty with him. Captain Light’s correspondence also
held out to him the constant hope ( which was tho
principal inducement ) of his thereby ensuring the
protection of the British Government against two
powerful neighbours ( the Burmans and Siamese ) then
contending for superiority. Although such protection
formed no express provision of the Treaty, and
although on the grounds of the state of Vassalage
in which he was supposed to stand in relation to
Siam, it was not deemed advisable to afford him
protection by the intervention of Military Force
and defence of his Kingdom, still the restoration
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of the King of Kedah, provided it can b brought
about by negotiation is an object not less sup-
ported by strict justice than sound policy. While
the Kedah Country was under the management of its
own King we had a friendly neighbour, looking up to
us for support and protection ; we had ample supplies
of grain and provisions ; our commercial relations wers
in a progressive state of lioration ; we had the
certainty of an amicable adjustment of all disputes

likely to avise ; certain co-operation in the prevention
of piracy and other crimes.

We have now a powerful, haughty, arrogant and
unaccommodating neighbour ; we are liable to constant
disputes, extremely troublesome, and though in the
eyes of (‘0\ ernment and the European population not

1 d still d ive of the interests
of the Island by the constant alarm under which the
native inhabitants are kept, and the unsettled state of
mind produced on them by the fear of such neighbours.
Our supplies are completely cut off. From the opposi-
tion of the Malay inhabitants, and extreme aversion
to Siamese Government, insurrections are frequent,
cultivation is abandoned, and general confusion pre-
vails, while many of the Malay inhabitants driven out
from their homes have taken to piracy aud plunder
for subsistence, which renders the navigation of the
neighbouring seas unsecure.

SECOND. The disavowal .by the Siamese Gov-
ernment of all claims of superiority over any of the
Malay States on the Peninsula South of Patani.

This is another point of a political naturs of
great importance not less to this Presidency than the
general trado of the Straits of Malacca. The admission
of their independence and the certainty of security
against Siamese encroachment is indispensible to the
future peace and tranquillity of the Malayan Peninsula,
Without entering minutely into the discussion of
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the degreo of dependence on which those states are
said to have been once placed in relation to Siam
and of the extent of control said to have been exerted
over them, on which very discordant opinions are
entertained, it is enough to remark it is very clear,
that no act of superiority whatever has been exerted
over any state South East of Kedah within the memory
of man. The triennial presentation of the Boonga
Mas was indeed the only mark of homage required
from the latter up to the year 1808, between which
period and 1818 constant demands were made and that
state was compelled to assist Siam with supplies of
grain, armed prows, &ea. and in the end to attack its
Southerly neighbour, the Rajah of Perak, in order to
compel him also to present the Boonga Mas, a mark
of subjection, clearly proved never to have been before
demanded, or complied with. The Rajah of Kedah
having succeeded in subjugating Perak, and having
entirely destroyed his military means thereby, was
himself attacked and driven out of his Kingdom.
Tt is generally rumoured that the same process is even
now in contemplation in respect to Perak and Salengore,
that is, to compel the former to attack the latter and
itself to fall an easy prey. We havea dcclded in-
terest in p ing further ion and subjj
by the Siamese Government. All the petty aunlu
now menaced have long been on friendly termns with
us. We have made Commercial Treaties with them
g for a free i and though these
Tmuen are purely commercial, stipulating only for
free communication and a reciprocity in point of duties
&ec. and containing no political pledge of defence,
still it must be observed that their falling under the
overwhelming power of such a Government as the
Siamese must entirely destroy all commercial inter-
course and throw the whole Peninsula in disorder and
confusion ; even the dangers to which these States
are now subjected by the th of the
Siamese tends to unsettle the minds of the inhabitants
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It is only undera settled and peaccable state of
things that trade can flourish, that the rich productions
of the country can be brought forth. We have an
interest therefors in protecting them as far as we can,
as well against foreign aggressions as internal disputes
with each other. The influence of this Government
over them is considerable, and if exerted by friendly

and ication will long be suffi
without the use of arms to maintain all in these
places. It is only through that intercourse which
trade, the supply of each others wants produces, that
the yet uncivilized inhabitants can by degrees bo
brought to understand the blessings of settled life, and
it is not unreasonable to expect that such will be the
result of our intercourse with these states; but it is
clear that all the immediate commercial advantages, as
well ns the well grounded hopes of future amelioration
must be lost, if the long exploded or rather imaginary
rights of supremacy of the Siamese are to be received
and admitted, and allowed to be practically enforced.
The insurance of pm[c(‘hou to the Malay States against
if inable by the course
of negotiation, and without recourse to arms, invari-
ably discouraged by superior anthority, is an object
that needs but to be stated in order to obtain attention.
It is one which on principles of humanity alone might
even warrant stronger measures than amicable

negotiation.

THIRD. The free navigation of the rivers be-
tween the Trang and the Karian from their mouths to
their sources, as well as the free and unimpeded inter-
coursa over land with Patani and the Tin Countries in
the interior, and with Ligor, Singora and the other
ports on the eastern coast of the Malayan Peninsula on
fair and moderate duties on the articles on® transit or
exportation by either sea.

This is a point of commercial policy important to
the general trade, but of more particular advantage to
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I Siam itself, by opening a channel for the produce of

the eastern part of the Kingdom direct to the Bay of
E Bengal, thus saving the circumnavigation of the whole
Malay Peninsula. The distance is said not to exceed
20 Leagues and between Ligore and Trang the journey
is performed in seven days, for the greater part there
is water ication and the is easily
provided for by the use of elephants which abound, are
easily caught and trained in two months.

FOURTH. The free exportation from all the
Siam ports on the western side of the Peninsula of all
articles of provision required for the use of Prince of
Wales Tsland.

This requires no remark.

FIFTH. The cession of the Island of Salang or
Jnnk Ceylon to the British Government.

sion of the Island are pointed out in the Minutes of

© Tobecoplea the Governor of this Presidency of 16th October 1819
tater from

Vols.72and 8l

|
: The advantages that would result from the posses-
i
|
|

and 27 December 1821%, the latter accompanied by
fourteen documents, in No. 11 of which all previous
{ information is concentrated, the principal being
contained in a letter from Captain Francis Light
addressed to the Governor General on the 18 June
1787. They may be stated thus, The great fertility
of the soil producing pepper, indigo, cotton, sugar,
] coffee and rice in great abundance, the richness of its
tin mines, the protection it affords to shipping at all
seasons, and its convenient situation in respect to the
navigation of the Bay of Bengal, to which may be
added its commanding situation as a military station,
with the view of keeping in check both the Burman
and Siamese Governments in the event of an insular
being preferred toa continental position. Should a
free intercourse across the Isthmus, as contemplated in
article 3d, ever take place, this island would probably
become the emporium of all the Siamese trade with
India and Europe.
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The Island it appears was offered to the British
Government in the year 1785 by its Siamese Chief,
and the persons employed in looking out for a con-
venient commercial port at the mouth of the Malacca
Straits seem to have hesitated between it and the
Tsland of Penang, at last preferred. The importance of
its possession was again pointed out to the Supreme
Government by that of Prince of Wales Ieland in the
year 1820, and an Embassy to Siam  strongly recom-
mmended, for the express purpose of obtaining it, but
the prospect of success was not then considered suf-
ficient to warrant the measure. The Island is now of
little use to the Sinmese, its present possessors.  Only
in 1810 it was attacked and completely taken posses-
sion of by the Birmans, who carried off to slavery many
of the inhabitants. After remaining somo time they
were frightencd into a re-embarkation, since which the
only inhabitants are about 200 Siameso generally in
too great a state of alarm to settle and turn the Island

to any account.

Should the result of the present war with the
Burmans place, as expected, Mergui, Tavoy and Tenas-
gerim in our possession, there can be no doubt, con-
sidering the value attached by the Sinmese to these
countiies, their oll possession, that Junk Ceylon and
even one or two more Islands of the Mergui Archipe-
lago might be obtained in addition to the other points
stated in this Memorandum.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 25 November 1824,

To
G. SWINTON Esquire
Secretary to the Government
FORT WILLIAM
Sir,

1 have the honor to report for the information of
the Right Honorable the Governor General in Council,
that there have arrived within the last days from
Siam o ship belonging to the King and nine junks,
By these opportunities I have received a reply to the
Jetter which I addressed to the Siamese Minister on
the 13th May, and two other communications, of all of
which translations or extracts are annexed.

The letter of the Minister expresses all that
suspicion and distrust which there was reason to
anticipate, and which is so characteristic of the Siam-
ese Government. From personal communications
received by the same opportunities it would appear
that as soon as the Siamese had received the first
reports of our war with the Burmans, they sent a
strong detachment from Bangkok to Tavoy, to
ascertain the truth or otherwise of the report in
question. This detachment on approaching Tavoy,
and finding no British troops there, but on the
contrary the Burmans in full possession of the
country, made & hasty retreat. This circumstance
will account in some measure for the Siamese Ministers
incredulity respecting the war.

By the accounts now laid before Government, as
well jas by private reports received at the same time,
it wonld appear that the King of Siam died on the
20 July aofter an illness of six days continuance,
having been carried off by o strangury. His eldest,
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but illegitimate son, the Prince Kroma Chiat ascended
the thrana uxe next day without experiencing any
P and apparently with the generl
consent and approbation of the Siamese Chiefs. This
change in the Government, as the Prince is unques-
tionably the most intelligent and enlightened individual
of his nation, will possibly infuse some portion of
activity, and even liberality into the Siamese Govern-
ment. The Prah Klang, the individual through whom
we have hitherto conducted all our intercourse, has been
rised ta the highest rank in the kingdom, and cone
tinues to enjoy the entire confidence of the new King.

It deserves to be noticed that contrary to the
customary order of events in Siam, the present
succession to the throne has not been accompanied by
any disturbances, or by any of those executions or
proscriptions which in that country have usually
marked the commencement of a new reign.

1 have &ca. &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD.
Resident.

Singapors
30 October 1824,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 25 November 1824,

THE LETTER of Chao Piah Prah-Klang Chao
Kun Kosa to John Crawfurd Esquire, Resident of
Singapore.

1 have received your letter which states that the
Burmans have often deceived the English, and trans-
gressed against them, that war has in consequence
been declared, that the Governor General of India has
sent an army from Bengal and Madras to attack
Rangoon, Martaban, Tavoy and Mergui, and further
that he has given orders to the English merchants to
supply our mation with whatever merchandize we
require, on account of the esteemand friendship he
entertains for the Siamese.

You have informed me that the Burmans have
sent an Embassy to Cochin China, and the copy which
you have transmitted of the Burman King's letter to
the King of Cochin China has been well understood,
and given His Majesty much satisfaction. In sending
it you have done the King an acceptable service.

The Siamese scouts are always vigilant and have
recently taken some Burman prisoners. One of the
scouts reports that the Burman Mission was well re-
ceived in Cochin China, but that it is not ascertained
whether the presents were accepted or otherwise.

1 have communicated to the King such parts of
the contents of Mr. Crawfurd’s letter as it was proper
His Majesty should know. His Majesty is thankful
to the Governor General of India for the permission
he has given to the English Merchants to sell fire
arms and ammunition to the Siamese.

You say that the English are at war with the Bur-
mans. Our scouts in scouring the Burman frontier
have taken some prisoners, who state that they know



[124]

nothing of any war betseen the English and their own
nation.  Also when the Burman Ambassadors returned
from Cochin China you were at war with the King of
Ava, yet Mr. Crawfurd, it is reported, received the
ambassadors at Singapore on their return from Cochin
China with civility and much friendship. Tt is further
reported that Burman merchants still continue to carry
on trade at P. W. Island, Under such circumstances
can your nation be at war with the Burmans ¥ These
statemonts have induced me to refiain from communi-
cating to the King what was stated in your letter
respecting the war.

You will do an acceptable service to His Majesty
the King if you will afford protection to such Siamese
merchants as visit Singapore to purchase arms and
ammunition, or recommend our merchants to the
Governor of P. W. Island, should they desire to visit
that place for the same purpose.

His Majesty has directed the Intendant of the
warchouse to prepare his ship named Kera Kansumut
for sea, appointing Kunsi Phasa to be her Commander.
Ho has dirveted this person to purchase a few articles
which ho requires. He wishes you to take some notice
of her, and that her Commander may be allowed to
buy and sell without molestation. His Majesty desires,
if practicable, some cannon, some muskets, and a
quantity of glassware, acconding to a list with which
the Commander has been furnished. TLet the ship, if
possible, return with the present monsoon.

The glassware which you sent has been duly re-
ceived, and in return I send you 30 Peculs of white
sugar as a token of my friendship. The King also has
directed the Storekeeper to send you 2 Peculs of Ivory,
10 Peculs of Tin, and 2 Peculs of Gamboge, which the
Commander of the ship will duly deliver to you.

Written on Friday the 6th day of the Dark Half
of the 8th Month of the year of the Monkey.



[125]
TRANSLATION of a PORTUGUESE LETTER.

° JOHN CRAWFURD Esquire
Resident,
Sir,

1 have the honor to inform you that the King of
Siam died on the 20: instant, and the next day with
general consent the Prince Kroma Chiat was proclaimed
King. The Prince Vangna Kromasak was disgraced
by the present Monarch. As soon as Prince Kroma
Chiat ascended the throne, he gave orders to allow all
nations that visited Siam to buy and sell, export and
Smport, with any inhabitant they thought proper,
without hindrance, they paying only the duties. This
was done without any altercation with the Chiefs.

1 expect to go as an officer of a vessel. She sails
for China in the ensuing season. I have to beg you
will not mention to the Siamese the contents of my
letter to your address complaining of the Prah Klang,
as 1 have been fortunate enough to gain his favour.
1 beg yom will answer my letters, but I suppose you
have heard what I now communicate by Francis
Domingos Lopes, who is gone asa passenger in the
King's ship to Singapore.

1 beg to say that you must wait until my arrival
at Singapore to explain a great injustico done to you,
as well as the predicament T was in with the Siamese
Government some time ago ; for the Chiefs actually do
not credit any foreign intelligence they receive.

Your letters reached here in the month of June.
They were translated in the Siameso language, and
excited some mirth. The Minister in a sportive
manner said * The English have no time to rest, on
“ gccount of the writing and other business they
“ have to go through.”

1 have &ec. &c.
(Signed) J. F¥. L.

Siam
25 July 1824.
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EXTRACT of a letter from the Supra Cargo of
the Brig Shannon to his Commercial Correspondent at
Singapore.

T was called before him (the Prah Klang ) at 8
o'clock next morning, when 1 delivered all the letters
from you. After perusing them he nsked mo several
questions relative to Mr. such as what kind of
a ship did we come in, one mast or two &. Then
they began about the Burmah war, and asked thou-
sands of questions over and over again, some of them
very foolish indeed, all of which I answered to the best
ot my knowledge. The Prah Klang said he must go
and tell the King, and T was to go home, but not to
go any where, nor see any person. They took ver{
good care that I should not go out at all events, as
they always took away the boat. I was called again
in the afternoon, but I took care to take all the
musters of the cargo with ms to get them sent in with
the prices and quantity of each kind. The Prah Klang
said that it was time enough to shew them in the

evening, and in the mean time to tell to the inter-
preters all 1 knew of the war, and they would write it
down. I told all that I had told them in the morning.
I then produced the musters, and told them the price
and quantity of each, which they marked on them in
their own writing, and said they would undergo due
consideration. I yestenday was called two or three times
about the war, and the very same questions put over
and over again. These are the people to try a person’s
patience!! At last they got the Portuguese Consul to
interpret for me, and by his assistance I made them
comprehend all about the war, and shewed them on
a chart the Countries the English had taken from
the Burmahs. However the Prah Klang has been
very attentive, and sends us every day our breakfast,
dinner and supper ; to-day he sent us lots of fruit of
all sorts as a present, and seems very well pleased. I
had a letter for Prince Kromachet from you, and I am
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told from very good authority that he is going to im=
prove the trade very much, by allowing every person
to trade free, that is to say, by paying the daties which
are to bo 8 per Cent, you can buy and sell to whom
you please. This will be a great advantage to us, for,
as the trade is just now, we must buy from Government,
and their goods are nearly 100 per cent higher than
you can purchase the same kind in the Bazar.

There is very great quantity of all kinds of Europe
Goods in this place just now. They are imported by
the junks from Singapore and Penang. 1 expect the
Shannon will be up here in two days,

Bangkok
4 September 1824,
(True Copies )

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD.
Resident.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 11th November 1624

To
V. 8. CRACROFT Esqr.
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter of the 26th October direct[ing] me to sub-
mit for the consideration of the Honble. the Governor
in Council my opinion, which is the most feasible
of two modes of procedure for the removal of the
restrictions on the commeres carried on by the Muda
River with the countries in the interior of Wellesley
Province ; whether by application to the Kedah autho-
rities, or by making some arrangement with the
present renter of the farm; and farther to state
whether any communication with the Rajah of Ligor
or his representatives would be advisable under exist-
ing circumstances.

I hiave given miy utmost attention to subjects of
o0 much interest and importance and now beg to offr
the following observations.

“Tho question of opening auy direet communication
between tho Government and the Rajah of Ligor or
his representatives involves that of proposing to pay
a sum of money to the Kedah authorities for the
privilege desired to bo obtained.

The aggrandizing spirit of the Siamese evinced in
the conquest of the Kedah Territories would I fear
receive much encouragement from the opening of any
such correspondence with them on the part of the
British Government. I believe the present system of
Military Government established over the Malays of
that Country by their oppressors has never yet been
recognized, and there is one very obvious reason fot




[120]

its not being so. As soon as they are acknowledged
to be the “Jang deper Tuan” or Ruling Power
according to the Treaty concluded by Sir G. Leith,
they will immediately demand payment of the annual
10,000 Spanish Dollars stipulated to be paid in
perpetuity or during the possession of Pulo Penang
and the territory of Province Wellesley by the
Company, and I should imagine it not to be the inten-
tion of Government to do any act which will give
ground for such a claim.

The jealousy and suspicion of the English which
prevails in the mind of the Rajah of Ligor and his
adherents is another reason for not opening a com-
munication with him. They would not be persuaded
that our views in obtaining a free navigation of the
Muda were commercial, but would rather fear some
political negotiation with the Chiefs in the interior
for the purpose of preventing their future progress to
the southern parts of the Malay Peninsula, and the
result would be & stricter check either to the transit
of merchandize or the journeys of individuals than at
present provails,

Little prospect of success is therefore left excep-
ting by the adoption of the second plan, viz. an
agreement with the present or future renters of the
farm. If the Honble. the Governor in Council will
permit me, I will make an attempt to do this without
pretending any express authority, but merely on the
ground of the great and increasing number of in-
habitants on this shore for whom I am desirous of
opening chaunels of employment, and T hope that
by holding out a prospect of mutual advantage much
[may] be effected to open and increase the trade.
Until 1 commence an arrangement with the farmers
I cannot tell whether o regular payment to them or an
agreement for certain fixed duties on the goods passed
up and down the river will be the best and easiest plan
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and on this subject also I request a discretionary power
may be granted me.

I have &ea.
( Signed) A. D. MAINGY
Supdt. of Point Wellesley.
Point Wellesley
the 24" Novr. [ 1824.]

AGREED that the plans proposed by the
Superintendent be approved aud the discretionary
power solicited by him granted.
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Secret Department.

To
The Honble. The Secret Committeo of the
Honble. the Court of Directors.
Honble. Sirs.

Para. 5. Thequestion of the future disposal of
Tavoy and Mergui, is now under our consideration,
and the result of our deliberations will be communi-
cated to Your H ble ( i in a sub
address. Our present impression is, that the most
advisable course would be to restore those places to the
Siamese, from whom they wers forcibly wrested by
the Burmese about G0 or 70 years ago; but it may be
necessary to retain them for a short time in our own
hands, both with reference to the advantage, which
their possession will give us in any negotiations which
the Burmese Government may bz desirous of opening
with us, should a revolution, such as above adverted to,
have really taken place, and to the embarrassment in
which we should be placed by precipitately making
them over to the Siamese, when their restoration to
the new Government of Ava, might facilitate the con-
clusion of terms of peace. Basides, we have just re-
ceued acconnts from the Rasident at Singapore, so

ial, as in his estimation to be entitlal to
some credit, that the King of Siam iz dead, and the
Government has been seized by an illegitimate son.
In such a state of confusion, it might not be easy or
prudent to treat with one of the conflicting parties for
the throns, for the cession to the Siamese State of the
Provinces of Tavoy and Mergui.

. ° . 0 . o
We have &e.
AMHERST
Fort William EDWD. PAGET

The 12th November 1824. JOHN FENDALL.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 25 November 1824.

To G. SWINTON Esquire
Secretary to the Government.
FORT WILLIAM
Sir,

I have the honor to lay respectfully kefore the
Right Honorable the Governor General in Council.
copy of o letter which I have addressed to the Siamese
Minister, and which was transmitted on a ship belong-
ing to the King of Siam that sailed last night for
Bangkok.

I entertain sanguine hopes that as soon as the
capture of Tavoy and Mergui shall have been duly
made known to the Siamese Government, they will be
induced to take some active steps in prosecution of
their annual hostilities against the Burmans. According
to the information which I have receivedat this place,
the countries which are the usual scenes of military
operations between the two nations are totally impass-
able from June to November. On the 20 of the latter
month according to old usage, the Siamese troops which
guand the frontiers takethe field, and are stationed
during the whole of the dry season at tho usual posts
of observation, viz : on the principal routes which lead
to the Burman country, and which are those of Mergui,
Tavoy, Martaban and Chaingmai. About 1,000 men
are said to be stationed at the three first mentioned
posts, and from 5 to 6,000 at the latter. This is stated
to be the usual amount of the Guards, and more

forces are bled when any pri

beyond the mere protection of the frontier is con-
templated.

There is every reason to hope that the present
crisis will stimulate the Siamese to an active prosecu-
tion of hostilities, and that thus an important diversion
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will be effected in our favor; but even should this not
take place, T am of opinion that their entire neutrality
may be safely reckoned upon.

I have &e. &e.
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
Singapore
12 November 1824.

N.B—A Copy of this dispatch, and generally of
all documents which relate to Siamese politics, is
transwitted to the Government of . W. Island.
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THE LETTER of JOHN CRAWFURD Bsquire,
Resident of Singapore, to His Excellency the Chao
Piah Prah-Klang Chao Kun Kosa.

1 have had the honor to receive your Excellency’s
letter written on Friday the 6th day of the Dark Half
of the 8th Month of the present Year. 1 have com-
municated from time to time the events of the war
with the Burmans; and beg now to state that on the
Oth day of September the Fortress of Tavoy was
captured by the British arms, and on the 6th of
October that of Mergui. An officinl paper in the
English and Portuguese languages, which I have the
honor to enclose, gives the details of the transactions
in question®. In connection with this subject, I beg
to express my earnest hope that a friendly intercourse
will be immediately established between your Ex-
cellency and the British Commander at Tavoy and
Mergui.

1 have used every effort to expedite the departuro
of the King's ship, which has been delayed in all no

more than 25 days.

1 have received the Present of 30 Peculs of Sugar
sent to me by your Excellency, and have to offer my
acknowledgments for a gift of 2 Pecnls of Ivory, 10
Peculs of Tin and 2 Peculs of Gamboge from His
Majesty.

(Signed) J. CRAWFURD.
Singapore
11 November 1824,
True Copies
(Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Resident.
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FORT CORNWALLIS I'he 25 November 1824,

RAJAH of LIGOR.

Translation

of a letter from the Rajah of Ligors to the Honble.

Robt. Fullerton Esqr. Governor of Pulo Penang.

After Compliments.

May wy friend be informed that his letter (which
was sent to Quedah and forwarded from thence to
Ligor) announcing his arrival at Pulo Penang, and
having assumed charge of the Government, reached me
in safety, My friend expresses a desire to maintain a
friendly understanding between the two Governments,
and that the interconrse which has long subsisted
between Pulo Penang and Quedah may remain un-
interrupted.  This friendly expression of my friend's
sentiments has been received by me with correspond-
ing good will, and I shall be very anxious to encourage
an extensive intercourse between the two Governments.
Inow send Almang Ram Dijo, Koon Aksorn and Nai
Neem to wait upon my friend according to custom to
promote a good understanding.

Dated the 1st of the Moon's Descent, Year Kra.
A True Translation
( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
Penang -

the 20: Novr. 1824,
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Homoe Series, Secret Department.

Miscellancous,

vor. 660, p285a. 10 the HONORABLE the SECRET COMMITTEE
of the HONORABLE the COURT of DIRECTORS.

Honorable Sirs,

Para, 3. We have now the honor to transmit
copies of our instructions to Sir Archibald Campbell
and letters to the Government of Prince of Wales's
Teland and the Resident at Singapore, regarding the
disposal of Tavoy and Mergui, and the palicy to b
pursted towands the Court of Siam, consequent upon
our occupation of those places, which questions were
ion at the dato of our last address.

nder our consid
We entertain a confident persuasion, that our desire to
avoid retaining permanent possession of Tavoy and
Mergui, and our deterinination not to entanglo our-
celves in extensive and complicated relations with the
Siamese Government, will be approved by your Honor-
able Committee. OF the death of the Siamese Monarch,
(adverted to in our former address ), we have now
received authentic accounts from the Resident at
Singgapore, a copy of whose dispatcl on the subject is
enclosed @ number in the packet. 1t appemrs from
M. Crawfurd’s report, that the King died on the 20th
of July last, and that his son, the Prinee Kroma Chialk,
lay proclaimed King without opposition.
o is said to lave issued an ordinanco

ble to the enlargement and prosperity of

was next

The new

the external commerce of Siam.

. . . ° . .
We have &c.
AMHERST
EDWD. PAGET
Fort William JOHN FENDALL.
7 December 1824.



Pactory
Rocords,
Straits Settio-
monts, Vol. 06,
unpaged.

To the Rajah
of Ligor 13
Docomber 1324,

[187]

FORT CORNWALLIS The 16 December 1824,

To the RAJAH of LIGOR.

Letter

from the Honorable Robert Fullerton Esq: Governor
of Prince of Wales Island, to the Rajah of Ligor.

I have to ackuowledge the receipt of your
Higlness’ letter brought by Aluang Ram Dicho, Kon
Aksorn and Nie Niew, and am happy to observe your
Highuess profisses o disposition to cultivate the good
will of the British Government. Your Highness's
Envoys have received every proper attention from this
Government, and have been permitted freely to com-
municate with the Rajah of Quedah, as well as to
precure such articles of Merchandize as they required.

It is my duty again to bring to your Highness’
notice the conduct of some persons who have lately
been carrying on a system of lawless plunder on the
borders of the Honble. Company’s territory, and to
request your Highness' co-operation in checking such
offences.

It has been reported to this Government, that
during the last two months extensive robberies have
been committed in the Provines of Point Wellesloy
and South part of this Island, by gangs of Malays
who after plundering houses, carry their bounty into
the adjoining Kedali territory.

On the night of the lst Instant a gang to the
number of 15 or 16 landed from Boats at the village
of Sungei Nipah District of Sungei Kluang, plundere d
two houses, and carried off the property across tho
water. They are supposed to have come from the
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Krean River. The Rivers and Villages of Kwalla:
Mooda and Karian are the places these plunderers
resort to, and where they find a ready market for
their booty.

1 am therefore induced to suggest to your High-
ness, as the means of affording protection to the in-
habitants, that all persons, subjects of this Government,
detected in his territories, selling stolen goods, or in
any way concerned in these robberies, be forwanded
to this Government, where they will be punished as
the law directs; and I shall not fail to forward to
Kedsh all such persons, subjects of your Highness,
as may bo found so offending here, in order that they
may be brought to punishment.

The principal piracies lately committed are sup-
posed to have been perpetrated by Pakir Saib, Nga
Manid, Rajah Antar, Rajah Oosman and Rajah Kahar.

As your Highness’ messengers ara now returning,
1 can only repeat the satisfaction with which I shall
view an 1 C ial i so between
the subjects of Penang and Ligor, and the suppression
of Piracy will much facilitate such intercourse. I
have ordered a cruizer to give safe convoy to your
Highness' Messengers to Kedah.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.
Penang
18 December 1824.



l [139]
1 es, To
‘ Miscellansous,
Vokant: Major Alex. Balmain
Commanding Tavoy.
Wntated—  gpp
7Fob.1825.) ¥,

Under the impression that it will prove satisfac-
tory to you, as the officer in command of this province,
Iliave the pleasure to acquaint you that I have just
returned from a journey to the Siamese frontier, per-
sonally undertaken by me with a view to obtaining
(ieographical information, and that during the whole
voute and while in the boundary, I did not meet with
a single Siamese.

T am from this latter and other circumstances of
opinion that the Siamase hava not a post of any con-
sequence within 30 miles of the Tavoy frontier. The
country I have passed through is in so quiet a state,
that T would not have the least hesitation (dida
necessity exist ) in travelling all over it with a naique
and four sepoys only to look after stoves and provisions.
1 performed the whole journey of eleven days on foot,
4 the road being impracticabls to a horse or to cattle.
We fell in with one Stockade at Chok Phreea, about
17 miles from Tavoy. It isabout 120 yards square,.
and is constructed of bamboos, in the usual Burman

manner, having been formerly a Tavoyer post.

1 had the honor to hoist the British flag on the
summit of the mountainous ridge, along which the line
mutually bounding Siam and Tavoy lies, and to saluto
K it with 8 volleys of musquetry from a Havildar's party
& of 1 maique and 7 sepoys of the Prince of Wales Island
local Corps who escorted me, and in order to give the
Siamese ( whoss boats 1 have no doubt frequently visit
the spot ) a chance of learning that a British Officer
Tad been there, 1 enclosed, sealed up, and left in an
open but secure place, in a bottle, a memorandum ex-
planatory of the mature of my visit: a copy of this
document I herewith transmit.
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About sixteen miles from Tavoy I discovered a
Mineral Spring of the high temperature of 144° of
Fahvenleit's scale, an account of which as well as the
details of my route, will be transmitted by me to the
Prince of Wales Island Government, under whose
written instructions | am acting.

I have &ea.
( Signed) JAMES LOW Lt
Acting under the orders of the
Honble. the Govr. in Council
of Prince of Wales Island.

A true Copy
(Signed) Alex. Balmain
Major Commg. Tavoy &c. &c. &e.



Homo Series
wiscellancous,
Vol. 665,

[141]

( Becret No. 84.)

To GEORGE SWINTON Esqr.
Secretary to Government
Secret and Political Department
&ea.  &ea,  &ea.
FORT WILLIAM
Sir,
. o ° ° . .

The Siamese, 1 have reason to think, will now
take a hearty and decided part in the war. A Mission
from some leaders of that Nation is now on its passage
from Martaban to this place. The enclosed document
forwarded to me gives an outline of their views and
sentiments couched, as you will observe, in very artful
terms, probably intended as an excuse for not having
declared themselves at an earlier period giving the
fullest attention to the general object of the Mission,
1 will urge the immediate advance of their force, upon
the frontier of the conquered proviuces, through
Martaban upon Legu, and from thence, by the main
road to Thengoo, trusting to induce them to supply
my Columns moving forward on their left with
Carriage and Slaughter Cattle.

. . . ° . .

1 have the honor to be, &e. &e.
(Signed) A. CAMPBELL
Brigadier General.
Head Quarters
Rangoon, 3rd
February 1825,
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A Letter from Three Taliens, Siamese Chieftains,
to the English Commander in Chief. Intimates their
arrival with ten thousand men in Caryapooree, and
that they have received information of the English
being in possession of Martaban, as also, that frequent
battles continue to take place between them and the
Burmans. Should such be the case, and their services
be ac:

eptable as allies, they will b happy to advance
and join the English with five thousand men, whom
they have already dispatched to Mikhasath (this is
close to Martaban ).~ State that they have done this in
consideration of the ancient friendship subsisting be-
tween the two nations and which they are most an-
xious to pn:sene. as well as to carry on friendly and

and hope tl that the
British will as heretofore, respect their Talien Gods
and Temples and Priests, and take into their particular
care the Abasses, now living at Martaban, who are
their own brothers, ns it were, in caste and country.
The Burmans having for a series of years oppressed
and tyrannized over us, we bscame the humblest of
nations, and at last took flight and found refuge in
Siam. The King of that country being a lover of
justice, the Protector of the distressed and a true ser-
vant of God, took pity on our misfortunes, and under

his authority we received ani continue to receive hap-
piness, houour, promotion and subsistence,

The orlers of this King, in former years, have
always been, that during the months of Natoh
and Pevagoo (December and January) we should,
with our forces, advance into the Burman Territories
and carry off as many Burmans, Abasses and Tavoy
peaple as we could secure, but now, the country
being under protection of the English, we, consider-
ing onr long friendship, have refrained from so
doing this year, and have not established as usual
Chokies and Posts for the purpose. We also hope that
the English will not molest any people, or confine
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them, provided they should resort into the Martaban
district for purposes of traffic, which they are very
anxious to do if sure there would be no obstructions
opposed to free and open communication. Be assured
that this is the real wish of our hearts, and in this is
nothing of falschood or deceit. Further, we hope that
if the inhabitants of Martaban or Tavoy or Mergui
wish to come to us for purposes of traffic that they may
not be prevented, as we also promise not to prevent
any of the people under our authority from resorting
to the British Tosts, so that constant friendly inter-
conrse may be kept up, as should always be the case
Detween two nations so long counected by friendship,
and that friendship daily be made more firm ( by the
English cheerfully assenting to this proposal ) even
than it ever has been before. Further, we have not
yet any certain or correct information whether or not
the English have taken Rangoon, and still hold it,
which we have casually heard to be the case, therefore
beg to be favoured with information on the present
state of affairs at that place, and also to be told
whether it is the intention of the English, after gain-
ing victories as we hear they have done, to advance to
Ava.  Let this information be sent quickly by the
Bearers of this letter, and on receiving it a communi-
cation will be made to the King of Siam, and then let
the two nations go hand in hand together to complete
the business.

Dated Peeazoo 27th 1186, or about the 15th of
January 1825. Names and Titles of the writers of the
above as written—Mynghee jo Bingeeah—Maha Zoka—
Ka-ma  (Zazah Deeh Buddhee Seerce Zainh—
( Unagoon ).

( Signed) J. A. JACKSON

Aajor and Deputy Quarter Master General.
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From the Genersl Commanding the Siamese

Vol 665,

® 1suspect the

transiation
should be “This
ottor” Instead
of “A lottor ™
sd.) A8,

Detacl to the British Officer Commanding
at Tavoy.

The Commander of the British Forces at Tavoy
has forwarded a letter signifying that certain people, to
the number of one hundred at least, had been carried
off by our people and taken to Siam from the Provinces
of Tavoy and Mergui.

"The Siamese at tho frontier posts have heretofore
been accustomed to make inroads into these Provinces.
and to carry off the inhabitants, and the late act of
this description was done inadvertently, as the Siamese
were not aware that the British had fully occupied
Tavoy and Mergui. About fifteen men, who were
seized, have arrived at Bankock, the capital.

They have been treated with kindness, and had
all their wants supplied. These men, and all Tavoyers
have been told that they are at liberty to return to
their own country. The head of the party of Tavoyers
lias been sent with his people to Tavoy, as the Siamese
now know that the English have taken possession of
the Countries of Mergui and Tavoy.

The Siamese are desirous of keeping on friendly
terms with the British ( Here followsa list of ten
names of Tavoyers, who have returned ). These peoplo
report that all their relations reside in Tavoy.

* A letter has been entrusted to Nace Sa, who
accompanies the party, who knows the road.

May the British and Siamese remain on terms of
amity.
Sealed on the 28d Day of February 1825.
A true translation
(8d.) ALEX: BALMAIN
Major Commanding 7 Regt. N: I:
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To
Captain Sncdgrass
Military Secretary to Brigadier
General Sir A. Campbell, K. C. B.
&e. &e. &e.
Sir.

1 have the honor to forward for the information of
Brigadier General Sir Archibald Campbell, K. C. B.,
Commanding the Forces, o letter received on the 1st
instant from an officer of the Siamese Government
(who is now with 5,000 at Paumzee) and also an
English translation.

This forenoon I had an interview with the ten
Tavoyers who are alluded to in the letter, but they
only desired to have three days’ leave to see their re-
lations here and to return to Siam, os their families
were there and of some, the fathers and mothers,
having been carried away at an early period of life
from this place.

I likewise beg leave to transmit copy of a letter T
received from Licutenant Low, of the Prince of Wales
Island Establishment, and copy of a notice which he
left in a bottle on the boundary between the Siamese
Territory and the Province of Tavoy when on an
excursion to the frontiers.

I have &ca.
(Signed ) ALEX: BALMAIN
Major Comg. the Provinces of
Tavoy &en,  &ea. &ea.
Tavoy
3d March 1825.
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= o
Home geries, 1o Brigadier General

Sir A. CAMPBELL, K.C. B.
Commander of the Forces

Rangoon.
Sir,

On the 20th Ultimo, information having been
brought me that a Siamese flotilla had made its
appearance within a short distance of this town, com=
mitting several acts of depredation on the villages, 1
dispatched Lieutenant Drever with 50 Sepoys in
Country Boats in search of them.

Ho found them as deseribed about & hours row
from this, amounting to near 80 sail of lage boate,
well armed, pulling from G0 to 80 oars each. He
made towards them under English colours, and on
hoisting o white flag it was itimediately answered,
A conforence ensued, in which the Siamese Chief

gretted that his ig of our couquests in_ this

quarter had led him into acts of aggression on a
Country now under the British protection, and promised
to come the following day to Mergui and relcaso all
the prisoners he had taken.

On the following day he made his appearance
with only nine boats, the rest he stated would be here
on the morrow, when all the prisoners he had taken
should be released, and again renewed his protestations
respecting our conquests in this quarter, at the same
time requesting of me a paper for the King explana-
tory of the causes of his sudden return without ac-
complishing his orders respecting the intended hostili-
ties in this quarter. This I promised to give him on
the release of all the prisoners he had taken in this
neighbourhood.

He remained here till the 2d, when three boats
came in and he released 90 prisoners. But being inform-
ed that we were dissatisfied at the rest not arriving a8
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promised, on the evening of the same day, taking ad-
vantage of the flood tide he weighed anchor and went
off apparently in great alarm with the whole of his
fleet, at the.very hour fixed for paying me o third v

The boats of the Honourable Company’s Cruizer
Thetis, which arrived on the 81 January, and some
country boats with sepoys, were immediately sent after
them, but night coming on could not ascertain their
Course.

It is with regret 1 have to inform you that I have
just heard of the Town of Tenasserim and several other
villages having been plundered, and a considerable
number of the inhabitants carried off on the following
day by this party. The Chief states himself to be
Ligh in rank in the employ of the King of Siam, and
the inhabitants of all the surrounding country, as well
as those of this town, are in the greatest state of alarm
and trepidation.

1 have the honor to enclose the name and titles of
the Chief and some of thoss who accompanied him in
the Siamese and English languages, and also a list of
losses sustained with the exception of what occurred ab
Tenasserim on the 3d, and which not having yet
arrived, Idonot think it of sufficient importance to
detain the boat. The number of the inhabitants carried
away are estimated at about 500 Souls.

I have &e.
( Signed) W. FRITH
Major Comg. Mergui.
Mergui
7. Feby, 1225.
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( Copy )

To Brigadier General Sir Archibald Cnmpbell K.C.B.,

&e. &e.  Commanding British Forces.

Sir,

Agreeably to your instructions I remained at
Rangoon until the arrival of the deputies from the
Siamese Camp, whom I accompanied back to
Martaban on the 20th uito., but owing to the
intricacy of the navigation of ite river at this season of
the year, 1 regret to say we did not land until the 5th
instant. On the following day I wrote to the Chief
the substance of the subjoined letter No. 1, in answer
to the one forwarded to yon at Rangoon prior to your
march from thence, and dispatched it along with the
deputies, who y 1} d their itude for
the attentions rmd civilities they had experienced both
at Rangoon and at this place.

On the 7th I received intimation that another
deputation, headed by the Chief’s son, and a Sirdar of
consequence, was on thé opposite side of the river.
waiting onr permission and assistance to cross. Boats
wero immediatoly ordered to convey them over, and at
the same time I directed suitable accommodations to
be prepared for their reception in the town,

In the course of the ensuing forenoon the visitors
arrived and were received with due honors; they
brought me a letter of which No. 2 is a translation.
On the succeeding day, I had a personal conference
with them on the subject of the correspondence that
had already passed, and on their ultimate views and
intentions, when it was clearly and unequivocally
stated that the Tallyen Chiefs with their followers
were ready and willing to aid us in any measures
that might lead to the overthrow of their in-
veterate enemies, the Burmese; that they were in
fact at our entire disposal, and only waited our orders
to advance with their forces and act as we might think
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proper to direct, The son, however, added, that as his
father was on the eve of paying - us a visit, ho begged I
would suspend the discussion of our future plans and
operations until he arrived : to this of course I assented.

Tt is not unworthy of remark that on the first
arrival of the deputies, their general conduct and
d hibited a iderable degreo of alarm
and agitation, which however soon subsided, and before
they took their departure, which almost immediately
succeeded tho interview, thcy became familiar and

1 d, and had acquired a con-
fidence in our character, which promised an advan-
tageous result.

1 had nearly omitted to state that in the course of
T was led to und: d that our assis-
tance would be essentially requisite to enable their
army to cross to our side the water, and that its sub-
sistence depended also upon our means of supply. As
the Prize Stores of Martaban were capable of furnish-
ing them with abundance of Grain I offered our assis-
tance to alleviate this difficulty and immediately issued
instructions for placing every boat procurable in the
vicinity of this place at their disposal, and allotted
ground and villages contiguous to the town for their
encampment, and every measure was adopted to bring
their forces into prompt co-operation with your?
[ army ] marching upon Prome.  Such was the state
of affairs hera until the 12th inst. when rumours were
in circulation that differences of opinion and some
altercations had taken place among the Chieftains over
the water, and that they were breaking up their camp
and retiring upon their own country—that a Minister
of the King of Siam had arrived on or about the 10th
with peremptory orders for their recall and that the
Chlcf wlth whom we had principally been in com-
had d a disinclination to abandon
our interests, ullegmg that by such a proceeding at this
crisis he would justly incur the imputation of treachery
towards us.
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On the 13th T received a letter from the Comman-
der of the Tallyen Army of which No. 8 is a translation,
and on the succeeding day the paper No. 4, to both of
which I replied, expressing my regret that circum-
stances had occurred to counteract our wishes, and
their friendly intentions to take part with us in the
further prosecution of the war. My informer also
reported that their army had actually retired.

1t is difficult for me to define the true reasons for
this apparently inconsistent line of policy on the part
of those Chieftains, but have no doubt, that on further
enquiry I shall be enabled to ascertain the actual state
of the case, which T will take the earliest opportunity
of communicating to you.

That such flattering prospects of a favourable issue
to the negotiation you intrusted to my management
should have been so suddenly defeated, is tomea
subject of the sincerest regret, but that you will believe
that the objects of the Mission were pursued with all
the industry and zeal of which I am capable I entertain
the fullest assurance.

The Diamond ring and other presents I shall make
over to the Commissariat Officer, to be disposed of on
account of Government agreeably to the usages of the
Service.

1 have &e.
(Signed ) H, T. SMITH—Lt. Coll.

VPR I" 3 fartal

at .

17 March 1825,
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Addressed to the Chiefs Ron Ron &e. &o.
Commander of tha Army of Dooa na muddee.

The Commander of the British Forces, General
Sir Archibald Campbell, Knight Commander of tho
Bath &e. &c. & having received a letter from
the principal Siamese Chiefs, exercising power and
authority over a body of 5,000 Abassee and Tillian
warriors, encamped in the vicinity of Martaban, the
same is hereby acknowledged and the contents thereof
understood.

The British General takes this occasion through
me to express the satisfaction he feels in recognizing
the friendship and amity which has so long subsisted
between the English, Siamese and Abassee Nations,
and which it now becomes the interest and policy
of all parties to cement more firmly than ever.

The Supreme British Government of India has at
all times manifested an invariable desire to be at
Peace and upon the most friendly and amicable footing
with the neighbouring States, but the aggressions,
cruelty and violence so often exhibited by the Burmans,
without provocation, upon British subjects for somo
time past, could no longer be tolerated and the Eng-
lish Government was at length compelled to vindicato
its honour by an appeal to arms; numerous armies
were accordingly directed to proceed into the dominions
of the King of Ava, not with a view of nggmndmng

the present ive British
but for the sole and only purpose of retaliating
upon the offenders 4nd chastising and humbli

the arrogant pride and insolence of the rulers of the
Burman Empire. This object has been partly accom-
plished by the destruction of their armies in the
vicinity of Rangoon, the capture of all Lhelrlenpcrt
towns and the demolition of their

and fastnesses, and the British forces are now advanc-
ing from different quarters by land and water to carry




[152]

punishment and dismay into the very capital of his
dominions.

The injuries and indignities to which the Tallien
nation has been exposed for a series of yeors from their
enemies, the Burmans, has been a source of unceasing
concern to your ancient friends the English. In the
present crisis of affairs it is by no means improbable
that opportunities may be offered them for retaliating
upon their opp and of ishing ot no
distant  period their ancient independence and
Sovereignty. In order however to ascertain the further
views and wishes of the Chiefs now encamped in this
province, acting by authority and in conjunction with
the wishes of the dignified King of Siam, as well as to
evince the high estimation in which his Majesty is
held by the severnl British authorities, the English
general Sir Archibald Compbell has deputed me (a
Colonel in the army serving under his command ) to
proceed to Martaban for the purpose of conferring with
the said Chiefs upon the most eligible means of
attacking, distressing ond destroying their common
enemy the Burmans, and the Colonel has accordingly
arrived at Martaban in charge of the deputies sent by
the Siamess Chieftains who are consequently invited to
a friendly personal interview with the said Colonel
Smith at the earliest practicable period, which will no
doubt tend to facilitate arrangements for the mutual
benefit of both Nations and should any matters come
under discussion that may require specific instructions
from the Governor General in Council, the Colonel will
lose no timein laying them before his Government,
for the ultimate decision of that high and supreme
authority.

Colonel Smith begs to cffer his prayers for the
health of His Majesty the King of Siam, and for the
prosperity and stability of Government, as also for the
ultimate restoration of the ancient dynasty of Pegue,
and the Colonel in conclusion assures the Chiefs to
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whom this letter will be presented, that he will avail
himself with cordial satisfaction (as far as his authority
may eatend) of any events in the future operations of
the war, which may enable him to afford assistance
for the attainment of that desirable object.

(Signed) H. T. SMITH—Lt. Coll.
Commg. Province of Martaban.

Martaban
Gth March 1825
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LOW pra, muha, eea, tha, yem maa ee e raza, eq,
ga, muha, the, nuddee, pud, dee, thee, ree, zee, zee a
Ron Ron Commander of the Army of Doca, ra muddes
represents :

That he was exceedingly gratified with the purport
of Coll. Smith’s letter, which he no sooner perused
than he dispatched to the King of Siam's principal
minister for the purpose of being submitted to his
majesty by whose commands the Army of Dooa, ra,
muddes is encamped in these Territories.

The Commander of the army of Dooq, ra muddee
is fully aware of the cordial friendship which has sub-
sisted between the English nation and the Tullyens
from the earliest period of prosperity of their ancient
kingdom of Pegue, and which he trusts, please God, if
again recovered by conquest from their enemies will,
under more happy auspices, expand like the opening
bud into blossoms of future greatness and prosperity,
and afford occasion to their latest posterity to remeni-
ber with thankfulness the friendly concern of Colonel
Smith for the Tully-sn nation, who are never ungrate-
ful for the favors they receive from their allies.

As uttee an, the present place of encampment of
the Commander of the Dooa, ra, muddee army is too
far distant to enable him to obtain with facility the
houor of the consultation and interview intended him
by Colonel Smith, it is his intention to advance to
Villag2 of Turrana. Inthe mean time, Tha Myen,
dino mattee and Binneea bur, um the Son and Faujdar
of the Commander of the Army of Dooa, ra, muddee
will wait on Colonel Smith with this letter, and know
his intentions with respect to the time in which the
movement of the Dooa, ra muddee forces may be
required.

( Signed ) G. NORMAN—Captn.

Persian Translator.
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Low, pra, muba, eea, eea, tha, yem ma ee, o raza,
egga, muha, the nuddee, puddee, thee, ree, zee, zeea
Ron Ron Commander of the Army of Dooa, ra muddes
represents :

That he sensibly feels the kindness and hospitality
which Colonel Smith manifested towards his Son and
Faujdar, whom he deputed to wait on the Colonel and
begs to acknowledge the favor shown himself by the
loan of his boats and the offer of corn to aid the sub-
sistence of his troops.

That he had it in contemplation to visit Colonel
Smith on the 11th of the present ( Siamese ) month for
the purpose of consultation and advice, but in the in-
terim his Majesty’s minister having arrived from Dooa
ra muddee with a dispatch stating that “the season
* of the rains was approaching, when it would bo no
“ longer practicable for the troops to return either by
“land or water and that it was moreover desirable that
* the lands should be enltivated at their proper season,”
it is now become necessary that he should in obedience
to his Majesty’s commands return with his army to
his country.

But should any event oceur to Coll. Smith, or any
business intervene which he may wish to communicate,
he will please to dispatch a messenger with a letter to
the Commander of the Army of Dooa, ra, muddeo at,
Ch, sath Kuddyu Sing or Meena, moo, ee (con-
tiguous places ) where his troops will be stationed.

That in the event of any of the Abassee or Siam
subjects having occasion to visit the Country of Mar-
taban it is hoped they will be admitted in the same
manner as the subjects of the English Government
will be received in our dominions of Dooa ra muddee,
asit is desirable that the friendship now subsisting
between the two nations should be preservel and
encreased.
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As atoken of his friendship the Commander of
the Dooa, ra, muddee army has sent to Colonel Smith
a pair of elephants’ teeth and some bees’ wax, and begs
to subjoin his prayers for his welfare.

(Signed) 6. NORMAN—Capta.
Persian Translator.
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Home Series, Been, ya Laghoon, Khoom Khan, brother of the

Miscettanoous: great Chief, represents to Colonel Smith, Commander
of the Country of Martaban :

IMarch 1825, That bie has been exceedingly delighted with the
assurance given him by the interpreters, of the friend-
ship he bears towards the Siam and Abassee people,
a3 also with the hospitality and kindness with which
Colonel Smith received his nephesw.

That he has gent by the interpreters a horse and
a ring which he will receive from their hands, and
keep as a memorial of his esteem and regard, and begs
to subscribe his prayers for Colonel Smith's welfare.
(Signed) G. NORMAN—Captn.

Persian Translator.

(True Copies )
GEO: SWINTON

Secy. to Government.
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To
Brigadier General
Sir Archibald Campbell, K. C. B., &e. &e.
Comg. British Forces
Camp.

Sir,

Since T had the lonor of addressing yon on the
17th TInstant, a dependant of Ron Ron, the Tullyin
Commander of the Siamese army lately encamped in
the Province of Martaban has made his appearance in
this town, and spontancously tendered the information

lin the panying deposition.  From the
open and unequivocal manner in which the statemeut
was made 1 am disposed to give it due credit, anp

more o for its corresponding in some instances with
the information T received from one of our own people,
who was for two or three days in the Camp of Ron
Ron prior to his departure, the purport of which is

already detailed in wy first report.

The motives which actuated the Tullyen Chief in
receding from his engagements are now too obvious to
require any further explanation from me. T consider
my duty to state the substance of

it however equal
another report, which was brought in by one of the
Zemindars of the district, who had followed Ron Ron
one or two marches on his return back to Siam,
namely, that he had been privately informed, that a
younger brother had succeeded to the throne of Siam,
in consequence of the elder having been educated and
initiated as a Poongee o priest, which by the laws
disqualified a Prince of the blood from succeeding to
the reins of Government ; that the mother of the elder
son at the head of a faction had prevailed upon him to
cast off his clerical garb and assume the Sovereignty
of the Kingdom. A plan for a revolt was accordingly
laid and well digested ; that the Palace was assailed,
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and that the younger brother was driven from the
throne with little or no bloodshed, and is now supposed
tobea wanderer in the dominions he so recently
ruled ; that in order to secure the fidelity and homage
of Ron Ron’s army, the newly-created King had seized
upon all their families aud property, upon the know-
ledge of which he suddenly broke up his camp and
vetrograded.

The Zemindars of Martaban do not disavow having
been in communication with Ron Ron shortly after his
arrival on the borders of the province, and of thus
having urged him to appeal to the justice and clemency
of the British Government for ultimately placing him
in authority at Martaban, and constituting him Chief
of the Tallyen people,

Ron Ron unquestionably possessed the affections
of the people and the zealous support and attachment
of all the zemindars throughout the ancient Tullyen
dominions, and their object in desiring to place him at
their head in the present unsettled state of affairs,
was, they said, to prevent civil war and anarchy in the
country on our relinquishing the conquests we had
made in this quarter, and that through his abilities
and influence they might become the means of resist-
ing the future views and attempts of the Burmese to
reestablish themselves in power and authority, which
if they succeed in doing, would subject them to tho
most despotic fines and exactions, and even to a con-
fiscation of property and loss of life.

On my first arrival at Martaban I deemed it ad-
visahle, with a view to ascertain the fidelity of the
peoplo and the feeling which existed amongst them
towards our Government, to send round a notification
desiring to see the whole of the Zemindars of the dis-
tricts and the principal Kureens or people inhabiting
the hills and jungles, and who may in fact be consider~
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ed the principal ryots of the country. This summons
1 anm glad to say was cheerfully obeyed, and I had the
satisfaction of seeing them return well pleased with
their reception.

[ have &ca.
( Signed) . T. SMITH Lt: Col.

Comg. at Martaban,

Martaban

27 March 1825,
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( Statement )

Shone Mong, a native of Martaban, who fled his
country about eleven years since, and after being em-
ployed during that period alternately in the service of
Ron Ron, Commander of the Army of Dooara, wuddee
and his brother Beenya Lajoon Khan, seized the trp-
P ity of the d i of these Chieftai
troops from the territories of Martaban to return to
his own village, relates :

That about a twelve month since he was in atten-
dance on Ron Ron's brother at the Court of Siam,
when a Europ Gentl was introduced to the
King, to whom he presented in the name of his master
a diamond ring and 500 musquets ; on the receipt of
this present he heard his Majesty observe to his minis-
ters, I acquiesce with their request of intercourse, and
shortly after the Court was dismissed.

That after the departure of the European Gentle-
man, on his Majesty’s receiving intelligence of the
capture by the English of the Provinces of Martaban,
Tavoy and Mergui, he expressed his admiration of their
valour and prowess.

At this period Ron Ron was on the eve of depar-
ture from the Capital with the Doocara wuddee army
to the frontiers of the Burma dominions, on which
oceasion his Majesty gave him an audience and told
hin that as the Burma dominions were now likely to
fall an easy prey to the arms of the English, whose
newly acquired territories wera now blended with those
of Siam, it would be politic to cultivate the friendship
of that nation, whose power was becoming more ex-
tensive than ever, and desired him to forbear making
captives as hitherto of the Burma Tullyen subjects, but
to destroy without distinction every Burmese, and
that he was at liberty moreover to use every gentle
means to attach to his interests and service whatever
fugitive Tullyens chance might throw in his way,
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which his Majesty observed would not be difficult to
effect at the present juncture, when the fear of the
encmy would compel them to become wanderers from
their native homes.

That Ron Ron in prosecution of the views of his
AMajesty left the Capital about six months ago with his
army, consisting of 3,000 Tullyens and 2,000 Siawmese,
and after a march of 26 days arrived at Mykesath, a
town situated on the eastern borders of the Martaban
territories, and distant about 6 days’ march from
Martaban.

Here Ron Ron began to meditate schemes of per-
sonal aggrandizement, in furtherance of whicl he
opened a communication with the English authorities
at Martaban and Rangoon, for which his Majesty’s

known friendly sentiments towards them furnished
him with o good pretest. Ile thought it however
prudent, previously to the dispateh of his letters to
Martaban and Rangoon, to sound the inclinations of
the Tullyen Zemindavs of those places, as alea those of
Taik Kulla and Pegue, to whom he immediately on his
arrival at Mykesath sent emissaries for the purpose,
They were no sooner informed of the designs of this

Chieftain, than they unanimously promised him their
aid and support, recommending at the same time his
acting in concert, and with the advico of the English,
who they observed appeared to be indifferent as to the
Sovereign who should hereafter be placed on the throne
of their antient kingdom of Pegue.

Ron Ron encouraged by thess assurances now
dispatched 4 of his subordinate Officers to the Com-
wanding Officer of Martaban with a request that he
would direct them to be escorted to the General Com-
manding the troops at Rangoon, for whom they were
intrusted with a letter: at the same time to give this
measure the appearance of being conducted with his
Majesty's sanction , he dispatched a Messenger with a
Jetter to the Court of Siam, the purport of which he
carefully concealed from those around him.
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But the Siameso Ministers who were, from
prudential reasons, associated with him in authority,
soon discovered the nature of his connection with the
Tullyen Zemindars and Chieftains, and
suspecting the motive of his negotiations with the
English, instantly made known the circumstance, with
every exaggeration, tc the Court of Siam.

Incensed at the presumption of a man, whom he
liad raised from obscurity to the dignity of command
of the Dooara, wuddee army, his Majesty instantly
dispatched one of his principal ministers with peremp-
tory orders for his recall.

Ron Ron, from this unexpected summons at the
critical moment he was strengthening his interest with
the local authorities of Rangoon and Martaban, was
thrown into the utmost consternation : he bewailed his
fate with tears, and retiring into his apartment refused
to see any one for several hours, and on the return of
Colonel Smith’s men entrusted with the care of the
boats, he repeatedly expressed his wish rather to die
than to suffer the reproach of duplicity and treachery,
which he said he feared Colonel Smith would with too
much appearance of justice impute to him,

(Signed) G. NORMAN Captn.

Pern. Translator.

(True Copies)
GEO: SWINTON
Secy. to the Govt.
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FORT WILLIAM 13th May 1825,

wvol. 330,
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CAPTAIN BURNEY

Fort Willian 3rd. of May 1825.
To George Swinton Esqr.
Secretary to Govt. in the Secret and Poll Dept.
SIR,

Having been directed by the Government of
Prince of Wales Island, on my return from a Mission
to the Siamese States, to repair to Fort William and
place myself under the immediate orders of the Right
Honble. the Governor General in Council, I do myself
the honor to report my arrival, and to beg you will
have the goodness to take an opportunity of laying be-
fore His Lordship in Council, the enclosed Memoir, and
accompanying Geographical Sketch of the Siamese
States lying between Bangkok and Prince of Wales
Island. During my passage to Bengal I have en-
deavoured to apply an intimate acquaintance with the
views and records of the Penang Government and
some researches into, and personal observation of the
genius and character of the Malayan and Siamese
Nations, in compiling this review of the different
objects which have been proposed to the British
Government to be pursued in its negotiations with
the Court of Siam.

1 have &e.
(Signed) H. BURNEY Capt. 25th
B.N. L
Poll. Agent to the Siamese States
from the Govt. of P. W. L.
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MEMOIR on the different cbjects which have been
proposed to the British Government to be pursued in
its iations with Siam 11 bmitted to
the Right Honble. the Governor General in Council,
by Captain H. Burney, 25th Regt., Political Agent to
the Siamese States from the Government of Prince of
Wales Island.

Fort William 3rd. May 1825.

Inthe year 1821, when Mr. Crawfurd was proceed-
ing on his Mission to Siam, the late Honble, Govr. of
Penang recapitulated from a memorandum which I had
the honor to compile, the various objects for the
attainment of which an Embassy to Siam had long
been recommended by the Govt, of Princo of Wales
Tsland.

Three Commercial and five Political objects were
pointed out to Mr. Crawfunl with explanatory details.

Of the commercial points the first was, the con-
tinuance of a free importation of provisions from the
Kedah territories into Penang ; and an extension of
such privilege with respect to all the other contiguous
Siamese States, The 2d was to improve and secure
the trade and commerco between these States and
Penang by stipulating for a fixed rate of duties, a pro-
hibition of exclusive farms, a free navigation of the
numerous rivers which flow into the sea between the
Trang and Creean and an unimpeded intercourse by
means of those rivers and overland with the tin coun-
tries in the interior, and the different ports on the
Eastern shore of the Malayan Peninsula. The 3d was
to sncourage the Siamese to make Penang a great tin
mart, and an emporium for all the tin produce of
Junkceylon, Patani, &ea.

The Political objects were divided into two classes.
The most important were, 1st. The restoration Ly
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Siam of its Tributary, the King of Kedah, on certain
defined terms, for the due performance of which the
Penang Government alone should be guarantee, with-
out any fatnre interference with our old ally on the
part of the Chiets of Ligor, Singora, &ca. and 2ndly.
the establishment of an undisputed title to our oceupa-
tion of Penang on terms that might at the same time
improve our fature relations with the contiguous
Sinmese States, comprising a mutual surrender of
criminalg, and n permission for us, as the Guardian of

the sea and coasts around Penang, to occupy at any
time any of the islands between the Lancava Groupe
and Salengore.

The Second Glass of Political objects were the
The lst was permission for us to place a small British

Establishment on Junkceylon, in view to the security
and improvement of our trade with that Island. The
2nd. was the cession to us of the small island of
Pankour on the Coast of Perak, in order that the
establishment of a British Post on it might facilitate
the trade in tin and the extirpation of piracy. The
3d. was a cession of additional territory to us on the
Kedah Coast opposite Penang, from our present
boundary, the south bank of the Muda River, to ten
orlongs or 13 1/3 were® beyond the north bank of the
Murboo River, and failing in this, a permission for us
to form two small establishments at the Mouth of
Murboo and Muda Rivers for the purpose of facilitat-
ing our intercourse with the interior countries, and of
effectually precluding pirates from taking shelter,
which they have ever done within those rivers

Of the whole of the above points of negociation

pispateh trom Mr. Crawfurd was able to gain one only at Bangkok

M.

#ar. Swinton Secy.

the virtual of our right of sovereignty

toGovt. Inthe in Prince of Wales Island and its territories on

Poll. Dept. dated t},e Peninsula.
Bangkok 12th

July 1822,
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This Dispatch In the latter end of last year, the present Honblo.

“n:,";:-h Governor of Penang comprised the whole of what ap-
peared to him as objects in which the immediate in-
terests of his Government were involved, and which
could be attainable only by negociation with the
Siamese Government within five points, each of which
was ied with a full exposition of the grounds
and motives upon which its expediency rested.

The Ist. was similar to the late Honble. Governor's
first Political object of importance ; the restoration of
the King of Kedali on payment of a certain sum in
money, not exceeding 4,000 Dollars annually, for tha
due payment of which the Penang Government to ba
guarantee, and our ally to be liable to no further de-
mands, order or mark of subjection, unless perhaps to
the triennial presentation of the Boongha Mas or
Golden Flower. The 2nd. was, The disavowal by Siam
of all claims of superiority over any of the Malay.
States on the Peninsula South of Patani. The 8rd.
was the same as the late Honble. Governor's Second
Commercial object ; the free navigation of the rivers
between the Trang and Creean, and unimpeded inter-
course with the Tin Countries and the interior and
Eastern side of the Malay Peninsula. The 4th was

::' '"'“:‘::": the same as the late Honble. Governor's first Commer-
Dispateh to the Cial object. The free exportation from all the Siamess
Supreme Govt ports on the Western side of the Peninsula of all
from the Govr,
in Councit at pw. Articles of provision required for the use of Penang.
Island,dated  The 5 and last was, the cession of Junkeeylon or
19th Octr, 1824, si5
 (This Mmomo. S3lang to the British Government.
will ba
copled lator). Of the above points the Supreme Government
withheld its acquiescence from two, the 2nd. and 5th.
1t doubted the practicability of inducing the arrogant
and haughty Court of Siam to wave pretensions so
intimately affecting its pride and consequence as its
claims of superiority over the Malayan States on the
Peninsula, and it was decidedly adverse to any pro-
position for the cession of Junkceylon, as such a
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measure would bring o weak and detached British
position into immediate contact with the ancient
Siamese territory itself, and thus infallibly augment
and multiply the existing chance and bazard of
national collision and disputes.

Para 0 & 10 of

The Penang Government in its reply admitted,
that the object for which it had recommended obtaining
possession of Junkeeylon would be fully attained by
the retention of Mergui and its Islands as British

ions, and that the imp of any \!
!or atresting the extension of Siamese Dominion over
the Malayan Peninsula was in some degree affected
by the changes about to take place on the Peninsula
in consequence of Lh» Treaty lately concluded with
the Netherland: for the p
establishment of British authority at Malacca. The
Para. 7 &100f intercourse that will naturally arise between the Gov-
the Dispatch® M o,
grom the Ponang Crnment and the Malay States, the general dislike
to the Bupreme entertained against the Siamese rule, added to their
Govt. dated e own means of defence will probably arrest the course
of conquest in that quarter without any specific
Treaty.

Disnatehes Have: During my late Mission to the Siamese States I
inted. ascertained that the Siamese are fully sensible of the
Shead great value of Junkceylon and that there is not the
actory
kuuvd-. smallest chance of that Island being ever ceded to us.
. The Pya of * Salang " prides himself on bis title, and
he took pains to correct the address of the letters
which I conveyed to him from the Honble. the Gover-
nor of Penang, and in which he was styled Pya of

D "

“ Pungah.” The very first consequence also of our
Burmese War has been to induce the Siamese to turn
their views towards improving Junkeeylon, their es-
tablishment on which is to be restored the moment the
Pya of Salang returns from Bangkok, when his eldest
son is to be appointed Governor of that Island. Itis
satisfactory however to know, that a much more liberal
srrangement exists with respect to the Tin produced
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in that quarter than what has hitherto been reported,
that the Chief of Salang and his officers are very favor-~
ably disposed towards us, and that our ships and com-
merce are sure of being hospitably and kindly received
at Pungah and Junkeeylon,

Ihad every reason to believe, during my late
Mission also that the British Government will not
succeed in persuading the Court of Siam to consent by
regular treaty to the future independence of the Malay
States South of Patani, but that if such a principle be
at once assumed by us we shall be allowed to act upon
it without any serious demur or opposition. The ex-
tension of the Siamese dominion over Kedah and the
Malayan States being more an object of ambition with
the Chief of Ligore, than with the Conrt of Siam, the
members of which, with the exception of that Chicf's
Nephew, the Wang-na, heing little interested in the
subject, [am satisfied that by mi.ans of the British Gov-
ernment at Malacea the operations of the Chief of Ligore
may be arrested without the chance of any break
with the Court of Siam. The Penang Government,
by making use only of the name of the Government of
Malacea, and of the treaties which subsisted between
the Netherlands Government and the States of Perak
and Salengore may so intimate to the Chief of Ligore a
request to withdraw from the former and a prohibition
against attacking the latter State as to relieve itself
from all hazanl of a rupture with that Chief.

The Memorandum of the present Honble. Gover-
nor of Penang does not include four of the objects
recommended by the late Honble. Governor for nego-
tiation at Siam, namely, his 3rd Commercial, 2nd.
Political, and 2nd. and 3rd. minor Political points, I
presume it is considered that the commerce in Tin had
better be allowed to take its own course without en-
deavouring to support it, or direct it to Penang or to
any particular emporium by means of conventional

and that the ion of Pulo Pankour
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if such be desirable, may now be more easily obtained

by the Government of Malacca opening a negotiation
for that purpose with its old ally the Rajah of Perak.

Doubts as to our rights of Sovereignty in Prince
of Wales Island were, T believe, first suggested to the
late Honble. Governor by Mr. Crawiurd.  The fact of
an undisturbed occupation of the Tsland for 39 years,
and of its having been considered as a British posses-
sion in numerous Acts of the British Parliament, and
in a charter of Justice from our Sovercign, ought, T
think, to be set against such doubts, and Mr. Crawfunl

Dispateh to Me. himself reported from Bangkok, that he ** had gained
5 this point, the virtual establishment of our right of
Sovereiguty in Prince of Wales Island and its territory
s rizguly  on the Peninsula; that the frequent and distinct
Yo bo coplod | ferences made to Prince of Wales Island throughout
his conferenco with the Siamese negotintors as a

British possession, left no donbt whatover upon his

mind that the Siamese looked upon our right of

sovereignty in Penang and the territory opposite to it

as not to be questioned, and that the right of the

Malay Prince to alienate a portion of his fief being

once admitted by the Siamese Court, and a total silence,

of 36 years, must bo laoked upon as a valid and sub-

stantial admission of it.”

7th Artiste of  These doubts however having lately appeared
Mr. Crawfurd's *

Notos * towards
aTroaty with cvents we cannot consider it advisable to diseuss any
the Slamese.

* (coplod.
sooFactory of this Islind. The state of dependence to which

Rocords, Straits
Sotttoments.
Vol 99 ) King is well known, but it is equally notorious that at

the time the island was ceded to us by the former

again, the Penang Government observed * At all
articlo imnplying a doubt as to our right of possession

Kedah had been reduced prior to the expulsion of the

King, the triennial presentation of the Boongha Mas,
and that made to Ava as well as Siam, was the only
mark of homage, and which certainly does not convey
to the receiver any portion of the Sovereign Rights of
the other. As this Island and dependencies have long
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Para. 11 of the been considered an integral part of the British Domi-
® Dispateh from ions of Indin, it seem to us to b too late to allow the
the Penang to

the Supreme  question of right to be raised in any shape whatever.””
:‘_’::' raae®"® On this point also the following observations wero
oitbia: supplied to mo by Mr. Anderson the Malay Translator
to the Penang Government. It will be recollected

that shortly after the Conquest of Kedah, the Rajah of

Ligor ostensibly transferred the Government to the

old Uncle to the present Ex-King, evidently for no

other purpose than to make a demand of the annual

subsidy herctofore paid to the King. The claim was

then distinetly disavowed by the Governor of Penang

* This was the yinee which we have heard no more of Sultan
P it MO [ lanoodesn® or any other Malay authority at Kedah.

SirGoorge
Laith's Tr Neither the Rajah of Ligor nor the Court of Siam has

was exocute S SO
who ceded tne Cver made any similar application since, nor have they
torritory op- presumed to advance any pretension to supremacy over
posite Pemang 1, . v e
& atterwargs Drinice of Wales Island and the territory attached. In
resigned the  all the Rajal's correspondence there has never beemr
thrane to the . : o . X ;
prosent King 40 meution of such a claiw, mldA“hy should we su!dy
of Kedah. Ho o increase the arrogance of the Siamese by agitating
dlod tataly. " oy 5 4 :

od very lately: such a question and requiring the cession of a terrilory

which we have so long possessed without the sem-

blance of opposition or objection, and which must bs

considered as ours from long and unopposed possession ?

Para, : : ;
.';_‘;:::: ':: With respect to an accession of territory on the
the Supreme  Coast of Kedah the Penang Government now considers
oo™ if such an object be desirable it will in all probability
to attain it throngh the medinm of the

be much e
Para. Tthof tho L N
sDispateh to the King of Kedal when restored to his throne, than

Ponang Govt. |y direct megotintion with the Court of Siam;

cated ioth Novr. nd the Supreme Government lias determined that
the Political considerations which suggest an attempt
ractany 0 offect a restoration of the Malay Government in
Records, straits Kedah resolve themselves into the following. The
British Government would unquestionably gain by
the measure in reputation among the Eastern States.
It would remove from the immediate vicinity of

sCoplad.

vol. 99.
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Penang and from a state of actual contact with its

Continental Territory, a most troublesome and unac-

commodating neighbour, between whom and our

Government at Penang, disputes are at all times liable

to bresk out. It would restore to Penang those

necessary supplies of grain &c. from which it is

now completely cut off, and finally, it would put

astop to the alarming increase of piracy which has

taken place in consequence of the flight of the Malay

population through dread of the Siamese, and

their addiction to predatory courses from wanting
ZwhArticleof his the means of subsistence. Mr. Crawfurd however
:':,::;"::: propoges to require Siam to cede to us a por-
the Blamese. tion of the territory of Kedah without attempting
to obtain any stipulation in favor of its King. But

on this point I presume the following observations by

Governorrul- the present Honble. Governor of Penang will be
Seeten'a ";’_‘:.: d Tusi “The 7th article seems to
sthapritiszs. abandon the interests of the King of Kedah and to
stipulate instead of them an increase of territory for
ourselves. 1t appears to me that our true policy is
o ]t to keep upthe petty States now standing between
us and the Siamese territory, and 2ndly to endeavour
to restore those which have been subverted, so as to
prevent our coming in contact with that power in
this neighbourhood. The restitution of the King of
Kedah is a point I consider no less consistent with
true policy than essential to the credit and reputation
of our Government. As far as Political considerations
are concerned the same arguments apply to Perak, it
being understood that the Sinmese from Ligor are
actually in i Should the ion of the
King of Kedah prove impracticable, then I am willing
to admit that a cession of the territory stated by Mr.
Crawfurd might be advantageous, by interposing a
great portion of hill and forest between us. The ob-
Jject of holding territory on the Continent opposite to
the [sland was, that we might command the Straits
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between the main land and the Island, and coun-
teract the tendency to plunder and piracy open from
the proximity to an unsettled Country. I admit
fully that the belt of land so occupied is too narrow,
being comprised within 3 wiles of the shore, and
therefore terminating just as the land emerges from
Mangrove and swamps, and becowes fit for cultiva-
tion. Great no doubt would be the advautage of
some extension, but certainly not of such considera~
tion as to be an argument ugainst the more essential
object of re-establishing, if possible, the Malay
Chiefship on defined terms, that is to say, subject to
the payment of a fixed sum to be guaranteed by us,
and uo other mark of homage or subjection.”

In the restoration of the King of Kedal also is
involved the attainment of those subordinate points,
the free importation of Provisions from Kedah into
Penang, mutuul surrender of criminals, and permis-
sion for us to occupy at any time any of the Islands
lying between the Lancava group and Pulo Pankour.
As regards also the more Southern States and
Islands, stipulaticns on such points may mot be
easily executed between our Government at Malacca
and the Chiefs of Perak and Salengore. Thus then,
as far as the local interests of Penang are concerned,
the whole of the objects for negotiation with Siam
come to be resolved into the two points laid down
by the Supreme Government in its last dispatch.
Ist. To attempt to effect a restoration of the Malay
Government in Kedah, and its establishment on an
independent or at least improved footing d 2ndly.
To stipulate for an unrestricted trade with the in-
terior and eastern coast of the Malny Peniosula, by
means of the overland routes, and rivers flowing
into the sea in the neighbourhood of Penang.

It appears to me that the Dbest mode of
attaining these objects will be, to secure to our
negotiations at Pangkok the friendly assistance
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of some of the Siamese Chiefs in the neighbour-
hood of Kedah, on whose reports only the Court
of Siam will be disposed to act, and to make
the general advantages to be derived by Siam in
other quarters outweigh the particular views of the
Chief of Ligor, who has entire possession of the
Kingdom of Kedah, and of the Western Const of
the Malagan Peninsula, from Lat. £ to 8° 207, and
exercises full control over the States of Singora,
Merdelong and Patani. 1 feur the time is past
when we might have rendered this Chief instru-
mental to the nccomplishment of our wishes, not
only because his fears and suspicions have been
much excited against us, but beczuse he las not
[? now] made arrangements for availing himself of
the wholo of the resources of Kedal, and is therefore
deeply interested against the restoration of the
Kingdom to our old ally. The son ut Kedah is ap-
proprinting for his father the principal staples, tin,
puddy und timber, to the southward of Settool,
while the two sons t Meraket are appropriating the
staples of birds' nests, tripang and timber for boat
building, from the northern portion of the Kingdom
of Kedah. The principal parson, I was told at
Pungab. who feels interested in the affuirs of Kedah
at the Court of Siam, is the Chief of Ligores

Nephew, the Wang-na or Foir apparent, to whon a

portion of the profits urising from the occupation of
Kedah is transmitted, and whose powerfal influence
the Britsh negotistor will have to countersict.
Our best chance therefore of securing the restoration
of the Malay Government in Kedah is to accept the
assistunce, which the Chief of Salang nod the other
Chiefs on the Isthwus of Krali have tendered und
which their present friendly disposition towards the
British Government. their good will towards the
Ex-King, to whose exertions principally they ascribe
the repulse of the Burmese from Junkeeylon in
1810, and their jealousy of the Clief of Ligore’s
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growing power, will lead them to. grant us with
zeal and cordiality. Through the exertions of these
Chiefs, our iator at Bangkok may p de the
Wang-nn and his party, by the offer of other advan-
tages to Siam on the Const of Tenasserim, to agree
to divide with his uncle of Ligor some annual com-
pensation in money from the King of Kedah, and
to obtain his uncle’s consent to the arrangement by
means of a peremptory order, or proviso of other
benefits from the Court.

Yet we shall not, T think, be able to secure an
unrestricted trade with the whole of the Eastern
Coast of the Malayan Peninsula until we vemove the
distrust and suspicion with which the Chief of Ligor
lias been filled against uz, by mischievous tales and
misrepresentations taken to him from Penang.
Formerly, it is well koown, that the greatest
obstructions to this trade, proceeded from our own
ally of Kedah, and in the event of his restoration
we ought at least to secure the use of some of the
best overland routes and navigable vivers, that is to
say, the fres communication with Merdelong through
Lungu, with Singora, through Kangar and the
Purlis river, as well as through the Kubong Boya
River, and with Kota Bharu, Kroh and the other tin
districts through Pulai and the Murboo Muda Prye
and Creean rivers, The passagze to Ligor through
Kedul and Cassai. and by the Trang rivers through
Khuntinnee, aud the passage to Merdelong from
the Plean river, will depend entirely on the relations
which the Government of Penang may succeed in
establishing with the Chief of Ligor.

There is another object which it would be
highly desirable to attain on the restoration of the
King of Kedah, namely, to release ourselves
from the obligation to pay to His Highness
the quit rent of 10,00) Dollars per aunum
for possession of Penang and the Country on the
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opposite coast. But referring to the poverty of
the Kingdom of Kedah, and tiie present miserable
condition of its inhabitants, I couceive that on the
resource of this quit rent from us our ally must
entirely depend for some years after his restoration.
The Government of Prince of Wales Island may
however make it an article of the new Treaty which
it will become necessary to conclude with him, to
reduce this quit rent toa moiety, and to stipulate
that it shall be paid for a definite number of years
only.

Besides the objects above noticed, and in which
the local relations of Prince of Wales Isiand are
principally involved, there are others of great
importance depending on negotiations with the
Siamese Government and bearing on the general
interests of the British Ewpire in India. 'These
may be divided iuto three points.

1st. Toinduce the Siamese nation to co-operate
with us in the present war against Ava.

2nd. To secure ourselves at as little risk and
expence as possible against the future aggressions
of either Siam or Ava.

3rd. To improve our commercial relations with
the kingdom of Siam ard obtain for British subjects
some share of its very valuable Commerce.

On the first point the Supreme Government
pars. Tthof M. has explained to Brigadier General Sir Archd.

':.‘:.“::“.‘:;' :mpbell. that the sort of co-operation which would

lered desirabl

from Siam, is not that it
should send its barbarous and undisciplined troops
to act in conjunction with our force, or even to ap-
proach any quarter where it is likely to be employed,
but it is conceived that the Siamese Government
might materially assist us, by moving an army
from some part of its N. W. frontiers in the direction
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of the Capital of Ava, oporating of course indepen-
dently and thus creating a powerful and perhaps a
very effectual diversion in our favor. Acting upon
this information I pressed the Chief of Ligor by
letter, as well as the Chiefs on the Isthmus of
Kraw, to urge the Court of Siam to push an army
from Zamee towards Mona and the capital of Ava,
by which movement the Siumese would bo placed
between our forces and the Chineso frontier. But
Thave since learnt from the newspapers that Sir Ar-
chibald Camplell advised the Siamese Envoys who
visited his camp, to move their troops in n more
westerly direction, against Toongho the strongest
fort in the Burmese Empire, and this movement
is certainly preferable to e other, if by ndopting
the former the Sizmese huve any chance of pene-
trating into the Capital of Ava before us. For
no onve object lowever is the immediate de-
putation of a British Agent to Bangkok more
necessary than this of endeavouring to direct and
regulate the force which Siam may send against
Ava, and to prevent its interfering with our line of
perati or L ing burtk and mischie-
vous, when we desire to accept any overtures for
peace, which we may drive the Burmese Government
to offer.

In my opinion, the best co-operation which we
can receive from the Siamese, is for them to afford
us supplies of carriage cattle and provisions and to
open as many points jof communication as possible
between our relative posts. It was from this con-
. ideration that I prevailed upon the Pya of Salang to
ports jOin with me in writing the Siamese Government of
P 'm":::.'l'. Tuaccopa, Clui.yn. Chimp.ohun. Pachpuri and Rnch.-

Ponang Govt. Puri, to establish a free intercourse as soon as possi-
“iatoaza-Aprll Llo between their posts and the British Garrisons
Socanto, ex- 40 Tenasserim, Mergui, Tavoy, Ye and Martaban,

\
| .
‘“ v“t::;"u The 2nd. and 8d. of the abovementioned points




[1781]

for negotiation with Sinm Mr. Crawfurd represented
Mr. Crawfura's to the Supreme Govt. may be attained by the measure
» Dlspatehto o rotaining permanent possession of the Provinces
of Mergui and Tavoy, or even by the more limited
one of permanently occupying the Ports of Mergui
« Tobecopiea AN Tavoy, but especially the latter with perhaps a
tater from Bengal small porticn of the Territory adjacent to each, and
Secrot & Pol. 3 5 g B
Cons., vor. 325, DY ceding to the Siamese the maritime possessions
of the Burmese from Martaban downwards.

t May
24.

The Supreme Government however wera disin-
clined to adopt the whole of Mr. Crawfurd's sugges-
tions on the ground that as a general maxim all

of our ial p ions and Political

relations on the side of the Indo-Chinese Natiouns is,

with reference to the peculiar character of those

States, to their decided jealousy of our power and

ambition, and to their proximity to China, earnestly

to be deprecated and declined as faras the course of

events the force of circumstances

& Visans from 4 permit.® Sir Archibald Campbell was

Catholic Mi %

nang that since our war with Authorized to withdraw altogetLer from

Ava, the King of Cochin China  NMergui, and to concentrate the whole
has ordered every Europoan s

and oven the Fronch man- Getachment of Native troops at Tavoy,

darins to quit his Kincdom. and either to deliver charge of Mergui

to the Son of the Rajah of Tavoy, or giveit up to

any of the adjoining Siamese Chiefs, as a practical

proof of the friendly sentiments which the British

Government cherishes towards His Majesty of Siam,

and will

and as an earnest of the advantage which will aceruo
to the Siamese Nation from co-operating with us in
our war aguinst the common enemy of both stutes.

Para. 4 and 6 of the Dis-
patche  to the Penang from
the Supreme Govt. dated 19
Novr. 1824, and para.4and 6
of Mr. Sccy. Swinton's Dis-
patch to Sir Archd. Campbell

The Supreme Govermnent added, that
on the whole it was of opinion that
sooner or later we must withdraw from
Tavoy as well as Mergui, and that if

of tho same date. we relinquish them in any other modo
* copled from than restoring them to Ava as an article in a future
e treaty of Peace , it is desirable that we should en-

deavour to transfer possession to the Siamese, making
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at the same time the best bargain Circumstances
will admit.

The 8 G haviog signified that
the above was only the present inclination of their
opinions, and that their minds were by no means
wholly resolved on thess questions, and Brigr.
Genl, Sir Archibald Campbell not having judged it
necessary to avail himself of the permission which
he had received to withdraw our force from Mergui,
I beg to submit the cousiderations which appear to
me to render the policy of such a measure very
doubtful, if not injudicious.

Paras.3,4,5,7 & ‘I'he Penang Government has observed on this

o subject, that the motives actuating the British

isl of any part of our

acquisitions on the Coast of Tenasserim at present

will not be fairly appraciated or even understood

* Copled by the Sinmese—that their cession without some
from Stralts . s

Sottiemonts, CqUivalent, or at least, or without some com-

Vol 93. ication or urgent on the part of

the Siamese, will ba attributed to a wrong cause,

and rather tend to encourage pretensions which

might not otherwise be entertained and that the

resources of these Countries in our possession during

the war will materially facilitate the provision of

carringe cattle and supplies for our army, and thus

contribute in a great degree to the prosecution

of the war. That the inconvenience of being in

contact with the Sinmese authorities no arrangement

cun now prevent, that as the British interests in

respect to the States of Ava and Siam can be

maintaived only by the strength of our position,

and the known respectability of the British Govern-

ment, we must place more reliance on their fears

than on their good faith for the prevention of

aggression, and assume the most commanding

situation which the progress of a just and necessary

war has placed within our reach,, and that the

permanent retention of Tavoy and Mergui in the

Suprems Govt, in the
dated 18th Jany.
1825,
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manner suggested by Mr. Crawfurd and their occup-
ation by British 'I'roops will, by establishiug a secure
footing and firm entrance into their territory in case
of need, overawe both Burmans and Siamese, and
thus oppose a check agninst the future aggression
of either of these States. The Penang Government
further represented that the above observations were
intended to apply to all the late acquisitions on the
(loast of Tenusserim but that in vespect to one of
them, Mergui, their records enable them to speak
with moro certainty and confidence.  In the lotter
of Instructions from the Honble. Court of Directors

™ on the first estublishwent of the Govt. of Prince of

Wales island the ocenpation of a convenient harbour
on the Easteru side «  he Bay of Bengal was pointed
out as an object of primary importance. Acheen
was contemplated in the first instance, failing in
that Mergui was pointed out as the next convenient
position. The objects in view were 1st The establish-
ment of a place of refit and security for our own
shipping in the time of war, and 2udly The ex-
clusion of a foreign European enemy from a position
which afforded him extensive means of aunoyance to
our trade. The result of all attempts to establish a
Port at Acheen will be found on the records of the
Supreme Government. Any further measures for
that end are now precluded by the late treaty with
the Netherlands Government and the objects are now
only attainable at Mergui. 1t is well known that
during the whole of the last war, French Privateers
and seven regular ships of war made Mergui a
place of constant resort, principally during the
severity of the S. W. Monsoon. They found means
of outfit and supply, and were enabled at the opening
of the fair season to commence their depredations in
any part of the Bay of Bengal. So long as Mergui and
the adjacent islands remain in the possession of a
Native Power, our Trade must be subjected to the
same risk in case of war with a .oreign European or
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American power. On the other hand, if in our
possession, n secure harbour is afforded to our ship-
ping in the most convenient position for the naviga-
tion of the Bay, whenever the danger of the seus, or
an enemy may render sheltor advisable. However
convenient Penang may be for concentrating
the trade of the Northern Posts of the island of
Sumatra, of the Malay Peninsula, and the adjacent
islands, it is too fur to the South East to be used as
o place of resort for uny ships except such as may be
bound through the Struits of Malacea. These con-
derations therefore maiuly induced the former recom-
mendation of the Penang Government for obtaining
possession of JJunkeeylon, the object of which would
be fully obtained by the retention of Mergui and its
Islands as British possessions. In a commercial
point of view much may be said in favor of the re-
tention of Mergui. The river is understood to be
navigable to a considerable distance up the country
and through that channel a great portion of the
productions of Siam once found their outlet on the
Bay of Bengal,
Paras.3,4,5,7 The Penang G luded by tendering
:.::.ff":."".: its services to tho Supreme Government to take charge
::::;:n “::;’ at once of Mergui, on the arrival of the Bencoolen
1828, 1 Corps, or of a reinforcement of recruits from
Bengal for the Penang Local Corps.

Fara, 80t M, The Supreme Government has of course received
Secy. Swinton's . . . T

Oispatohe to by this time, agrecably to its requisition, the most

."‘""'"":'l';" accurate information which could be collected through

" '

.:.,,:.:.,.. the officers on the spot regarding the geography,

resources and population of the Countries on the

.:_’,':'::'ﬂ._ Coast of Tenasserim and the disposition of the in-

ments, Vol. 90 habitants towards the Siamese Government.

The only authentic information which I could
obtain during my late mission regarding the former
state of these countries was contzined in apparently
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gnclosura B in an old book, in which T was shewn at Pungah a Code
:::‘ ""'""' of the Harbour and Custom House duties and regula-
-nmuu l-q-» tions in force at Mergui and Tenasserim whilst under
cts. Bocy: 0 % the Siamoso Government, and I procured a copy of this
dated 2d April document, as from its perusal we shall be able to
.""::“.. . estimate what advantage our commerse may derive
tracts from this from the measure of transferring the Ports to the

VoL(330)  Giamese, 1 learnt much however in favor of the

advantageous commercial sitnation of Mergui, and
even the Native Commander of one of the brigs, which
wers loading tin and rice at Pungah for the Coast of
Coromandel, solicitel me to submit to our Govern-
ment the importance of retaining such a Port on the
eastern side of the Bay of Bengal as Mergui, whence
nat only a valuable trade could always be conducted,
but large supplies of rice in times of scarcity on the
Coast of Coromandel, could be so easily shipped and
taken for the relief of the sufferers.

The journey from Mergui to Puchpuri, which
is two or three days distance only from liangkok
routes* from Mergui to Chimpohun on the Fastern
ectly across

ly . -
eem omisted, side of the Isthmus of Krah, the one
Seo nccompany- the country takes three days, and the other only
ing Goographieal ¢\ (lays, baing by sea to the Pak-chan ov the
Skotchof the . et TR 4 -
Slamose States Rinnong river, which last is separated from the Chim-
Ing betwoen olun river by a space of land that may be traversed

Bangkokand . .
W tstama, in 4 lours, but through which I was assured by several

persons who have been there, as it lies Dbetween
two mountains, a canal might be casily made, and
thus a good passage by water might be secured qite
across the Tsthmus of Krah. The importance of estab-

lishing such a safe and easy communication as this
would prove between the Gulfs of Bengal and Sinm,
need not be discussed, and this project onght, I
submit, to form one of our objects of negotiation with
the Siamese Government. The shortest route from
the Gult of Siam to Tavoy as well as to Mergui, I was
told, is that from Chimpohun, where the Siamese forces
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destined to attack those places always assembled,
The Siamese Dominions on both sides of the Isthmns
of Krah are very thinly inhabited, the population of
the whole Government of Salang including that island
does not exceed 6000 Souls, and the coast between
Mergui and Junkeeylon has for several years been
in a state of desolatil The G of Chimpol
was always entrusted by the Court of Siam with the
especial duty of watching the Burmese on the Coast
of Tenasserim, and he was not allowed to trade as
all cther Siamese Chiefs do. Chimpohun, in fact,
since the conquest of Tavoy and Mergui by the
Burmese, appears to have been converted into a purely
Military post or Garrison, and this circumstance
accounts for the entire cessation of that valuable
trade which formerly passerl batween Mergui and the
Gulf of Siam.

Mr. Crawfurd appears to have given the pre-
ference to Tavoy over Mergui for a British Establish-
went, beeanse he had been informed that the former
town is but seven ordinary marches from Bangkok,
the Capital of Siam. But that this information was
incorrect T think may ba seen by o mere examination
of the chart, which places Tavoy 2 degrees and 45
minutes, or 191 statute wiles in a direct line, and
without reference to the intervening mountains,
streams and forests, from Bangkok, a distance far
too great to be crossad in saven onlinary marches.
Captn. Low also has just proved by a raport to tho
Penang Government that it takes six days, and over
roads impaseablo even for an elephant, to reach the
Siamese boundary only from Tavoy.

The Supreme Government appears to have given
the preference to Tavoy over Mergui, because the

ton's Dispaton « townsmen of the former place may be considered to

to 8ir Archid.
Campbeli of 19
Novr. 1824,

have established o claim to our protection by their
conduct in the surrender of it, and because Tavoy was
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stated to furnish a naturally strong and defensible
position. As to the capability however of defending
Mergui there can be now no doubt.  Captu. Poyuton,
who assisted at its capture, assures me that the place
not only possesses o mnoble harbour, but that it is
naturally of great strength, and that no vessel could
have approached it had it been properly garrisoned.
The Fort is placed upon a hill which completely com-
mands the harbour, and to fire at which he was obliged
to elevate the guns of his vessel at an angle of nearly
45 degrees.

The permanent occupation of both Tavoy and
Mergui would be more open to the objection so strongly
urged by the Supreme Governinent against the exten-
sion of our territorial possessions and political relations
than the retention of one of those places only, to serve
principally as a free port whence British subjects may
be secured a fair share in the valuable commerce of
Siam, while the intricate navigation of the Tavoy
River and the distance of the town from the usual
place of anchorage for vessels of any burthen, are

ionably disad ges, when pured with
the commodious harbour of Mergui and the circums-
tance of the latter being an island and hence more
defensible.

That the Siamese attach a great value to the
Coast of Tenasserim there is no question. The Pya of
Salang and his Ministers gave me every reason to
believe that their Sovereign would rejoize to recover
his ancient dominions on that coast, and they strove to
prevail upon me to pledge the restitution of a port.on
of them. Very few of the present inhabitants of that
Coast however can recollect the time when Siam ruled
over them, or feel any partiality in favor of a state,
the troops and subjects of which they have never seen
but when destroying them, or being destroyed by
them. The Siamese do not appear to me to consider
themselves to possess such a title or claim to our
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conquests as not to receive any portion, which we may
be disposed to deliverto them, with great satisfaction,
and even with some concessions in our favor, the
latter particularly if the cession be made by us with a
pledge of support.  Adverting to the scanty population
of the Siameses States to the Southward of Bangkok, to
their long standing dread of the Burmese and to their
inferiority in cournge and martial pursnits, 1 feel con-
fident that unless we retain o commanding situation
on the Ceast of Tenasserim, or unless wo reduce the
strength of the Burmese Government compared with
that of its Eastern neighbours moro than what will be
considered our true policy, the Siamese will have very
little chance of keeping any cession which we make to
them in this quarter.

But the great ccnsideration is, what is to beccme
of the inhabitants of the territory which we may cede to
the Siamese ? for the probable effects of the Siamese
Government over them may be judged of by the declara-
tion of one of its own subjects, a Native Catholic Mission-
ary at Pungah, who observed to me that if the British
G der the Coast of T im to the
Siamese, it will be taking the prey from the jaws of
the lion to deliver it into those of the tiger. Indepen-
dent then of all cther arguments, I submit that this
one, the cause of humanity, nrges us to retain posses-
sion of some spot on the Coast of Tenasserim that may
serve as an asylum for those inhabitants who may be
unwilling to live under the Siamese yoke, or who may
have forfeited, by their friendly conduct to us during
the present war, the protection of the Burmese Govern-
ment. To this spot, in the event of our ceding a
portion of our conquests to the Siamese, thousands of
the poor inhabitants will fly, and by retaining such a
spot wo shall certainly feel less reluctance or difficulty
in ing some of these provi to the Siamese.

But the more territory we cede to the Siamese,
the more of human misery I fear we shall unavoidably
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create.  Mr. Crawfurd proposes to cede to them the
whole of the maritime possessions of the Burmese from
fartaban downwards, and he enumerates them as
comprising two Provinees only, Tavoy and Mergui.

1ater from mengal Mr. Gibson informed me that these possessions of the

Secrotand
Political Consul-
tations Vol. 325,

Burmese are divided into four Provinces, that of Mar-
taban, Ye, Tavoy and Tenasserim, which last extends
from Lat. 10° 50” long the rear of Tavoy aud Ye
to Lat. 15° 50°. Tt will most probably be onr
policy to circumseribe the power of Ava to the North-
ward and Wostward, by emancipating Assam and
Munipoor, and by retaining perhaps the town and
river of Arracan, ns points forming a convenient
natural boundary to the British territc

, and much
more healthy and easy of defence than the jungles
near the Naaf.  The Siamese also, if they are sincere
in their intentions of co-operating with us in
the present war, will probably take possession of,
and desire to retain, some tracts of territory on
the eastern frontiers of Ava, along the river
Thalneu. I would therefore beg to recommend that
the Provinces of Martaban and Ye, but especially the
former, should be reserved to be restored to the
Burmese at the close of the war, and that the remainder
only including the Forts of Tavoy, Engram and Zemih,
should be ceded to the Siamese, with the exception

ot Mergui, its contiguous islands. and a convenient
portion of territory on the main, of all which the
British Government should retain permanent possession.
The interposition of the Siamese between the Burmese
and our post at Mergui would be convenient, whilst
our presence there would enable the former to
strengthen themselves at Tavoy, Engram and Zemih,
which two last are said to command the pass into the
Siamese Territories, and by means of good garrisons
at these places they ought to keep their acquisitions,
which would then be well protected on the side of Ava.
It would be advisable for us to retain possession of
Tenasserim, which was formerly the great port for
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trade, and might, if left with the Siamese, interfere
with the prosperity of Mergui, and we should reserve
to ourselves the sovercignty of the whole of the
islands from Tavoy Island to St. Mathews; almost
all of them produce birds' nests and tripang, and some

*+ Sco Horsburgh's Diree-
tory Vol. 2 Page 18.27 Tavoy
Island is described by him
“as Tho northernmost large
“island of that extensive
“chain the coast

of them, particularly Domel Island, have
Pearl Banks, and they all lie in the
track of vessels navigating the coast of

° The I of our

“gencrally catled the Margul
“or Tenassarim Archipelago i
# which with the whole of this
*coant havo never been regu-
“larly survoyed, consequent-
“Iy very Imperfoctly known.

sovercignty over these isles will preclude
any other power from occupying any of
them, will secure to our traders the
valuable objects in which they abound,

and will prevent any of them from becoming the
resort of piratical boats. The river Tinnau, which
comes from the north and discharges itself into the
Bay of Bengal in three channels on each side of
Mergui and Nechir Islands, would form o good natural
boundary to the east and south of the territory we
may retain, and its left bank should be reserved by us
in order to secure the Town of Tenasserim and
prevent the Siamese from interfering with the naviga-
tion of the river, by forming any establishments on
that bank. The boundary to the north might be
hereafter adjusted by Commissioners to be appointed
by the Siamese and by our Government.

If the views which T have above ventured to sub-
it receive the approbation of the Supreme Govern-
ment they can be immediately carried into effect, by
the Provinces of Tavoy and Tenasserim being placed
under the direction of the Honble. the Governor of
Prince of Wales Lsland, who has already been pleased
to tender his services, on the great value and importance
of which it would be impertinent in me to tay a word.
Commissioners from Penang could with ease proceed
to Tavoy and Mergui, examine and report upon those
places at the same time that our Negotiator at Bangkok
might invite the Siamese Government to send Com=




® The arival of the three
Companies of the 26th R
trom as woll as of the
Bencoolen Local Corps will
shortly place a disposable
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the communication between
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ring the North East Mon-
idom takes moro than
8 or 10 days, could bo much
facllitated during the South
West Monsoon or bolsterous
weathor, by means of the Pya
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Pungah boats could at anx
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times of the yoan Botweon
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of (Tby) Chinose Merchants
residing at the lattor place.

[188]

missioners on its part to meet ours,
and mutually settle boundaries and other
points.* I may add here that there is
one Gentleman of the Honble. Com-
pany's Civil Service at Prince of Wales
Island, Mr, Maingy, the Superintendant
of Province Wellesley, whose zeal and
intelligence, knowledge of the character
and customs of the Nations,
and above all, temper, and experience in
the delicate aud difficult duty of govern~
ing a nowly settled Country eminently
qualify him for the office of Commissioner
at Mergui, should it be determined to
possession  of that

Bastern

rotain
Tsland.

permanent

It has long been known that few
Asiatic Countries are capable of conduc-
ting so extensive and valuable a Trade
with the British Dominions as Siam, and

. nu.p-m- : the Resident of Singapore proposes to take the present

M. Socs

.-lntuuﬂln opportunity of obtaining a fair share of freedom and

May 1824,
. c.pm:

ulu Treaty.

security to our commerce with that Country, by per~
suading its Government to executo a Commercial
He lias accondingly submitted the draft of
** guch a Treaty comprised in 15 Articles. The lst.

Articles proposes.

* There shall be peace, friendship and good under-
standing between the British and Siamese Nations

&e. &e”

To this is added a remark that there will

be some difficulty in finding or even mentioning His
Majesty’s Heirs and Successors, as this is a forbidden
topic, and that the name and title of the Siameso
officer to negotiate a treaty with is the Chow Pya Pral
Klang Chao Kun Kosa. The difficulty may be very
easily avoided by stating, as in many other of our
engagements with Oriental Nations, that “ This Treaty
shall be binding as long as the Sun and Moon endure,”
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or “retain their motion and splendour,” phrases in
common use among the Malay and Siamese. The
present Foreign Minister is o Pya and not a Prah,
and being related to the Royal family is often styled
Chow Pya Klang-Tha. The remaining words are
titles only. The above article however makes no
mention of the Honble. East India Company but I
presume that if an officer serving that authority be
deputed to frame the Treaty, the enagement must be
made, as every other Treaty with Asiatic States,
between Siam and the Honble. East India Company,
and I found it by no means difficult to make the
Sinmese at Kedah and Pungah comprehend the
nature and constitution of that Body. I would
in licu of this article therefore beg to propose the
following.

The Peace and friendship now subsisting between
His Majesty the King of Siam, and the Honble, Eng-
lish East India Company shall be perpetual; and this
Treaty consisting of Articles, concluded
in behalf of the Honble. Company on the one part,
by » in virtue of powers delegated to him
for that purpose by the Right Honble. Lord Amherst,
Governor General for all affairs of the British Nation
in India, and in behalf of his Majesty the King of Siam
on the other part, by shall endure as long
as the sun and moon retain their motion and splendour.

The 2nd. Article is,

The British Government for and on account of the
considerations hereafter specified, cedes to His Majesty
the King of Siam in full Sovereignty the Provinces
and Districts recently conquered by the British Arms
situated on the Bay of Bengal known by the names of
Tavoy and Mergui and bounded by and

with the exceptions specified in the next
Article.

The approval of the views which I have above
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submitted would render it necessary to alter this
article as follows.

Tho Honble. English East India Company for and
on account of the considerations hereinafter specified
agrees to cade to His Majesty the King of Siam in full
Sovereignty the Provinces of Tavoy and Tenasserim
recently conquered by the British Arms, situated on
the Bay of Beugal, including the Town and Fort of
Tavoy and the forts of Zemih and Engran, with the
exceptions however specified in the next article.

Mr. Crawfurd’s 3rd. Article is

“The British Government hereby reserves to
itself in full Sovereignty the Ports and Harbours ot
Tavoy and Mergui with  miles of tervitory adjacent
to each.”  For which might be substituted.

The Honble, English East Tndia Company hereby
reserves to itself in full sovereignty, the Ports and
Harbours of Mergui and Tenasserim, all the Islands
lying off the Coast of Tennsserim from Tavoy Island
to St. Mathew’s, and a portion of territory adjacent to
Mergui on the Southward and eastward measuring six
miles beyond the left bank of the Tinnan River, and on
the Northward bounded by such a line, extending from
the sea to that River, asshall be hereafter pointed out
by British Commissioners on the spot.

To the above may be added a clause stipulating :
His Majesty the King of Siam, and the Government of
Prince of Wales Island on behalf of the Honble.
English East Indin Company, shall each immediately
depute two Commissioners to the Provinces of Tavoy
and Tenasserim with full powers to settle the mutual
‘boundaries and all other points connected with the
execution of this and the preceding article. Mr.
Crawfurd’s three following articles would require no
alteration excepting the Province of Tenasserim to be
substituted for that of Mergui.
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4th. “The most complete freedom of trade and
intercourse shall subsist between the British and
Siamese possessions within the Provinces of Tavoy
and Mergui, and no monopoly shall be created or com-
mercial restraints imposed by ecither of the contracting
parties withont the conzent of the other.”

oth. *The Asiatic subjects of either of the con-
tracting parties of what ever description voluntarily
withdrawing from the Territories of the one Power to
that of the other within the Provinces of Tavoy and
Mergui shall be permitted so to do without let or
molestation and shall not afterwards be claimed by
either party.”

Gth. * The suljects of cither of the contracting
parties when charged ‘with the crimes of murder,
robbery, theft, or injury accompanied by force, or
when absconding on account of debt shall be amenable
to the laws and jurisdiction of the power in whose
territory such offender shall have been apprehended,
and the contracting parties reciprocally pledge them-
selves to afford every necessary assistance and facility
in bringing all such offenders to justice.”

To the 4th article might however be added this
clanse:  British subjects shall have full liberty at all
times to repair to the forests lying within the Siamese
possessions to cut and remove from thence Sapan
wood and timber of every description, on payment of
such i! duties as the C ing parties way
mutually agree to establish.

Mr. Crawfurd's 7th article is

** His Majesty the King of Siam for himself, heirs
and successors hereby cedes in full sovereignty to the
British Government that portion of the territory of
Kedah lying between the rivers Creean and Murboo,
these streams inclusive, and bounded to the North
East by the Mountains of Patani and Calantan, in-
cluding the islands of whatever description on the
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Coast of the said Territory to the distance of five
leagues from the said Coast.”

The approval of the views which I have submitted
would render it neceseary to substitute for the above
article the following.

The Honble. the English East India Company
engages that its Government at Prince of Wales Island
shall guarantee an annual payment by the King of
Kedah of 4000 Dollars besides the tricnnial presenta-
tion of the Boougha Mae, to the King of Siam, and
his Majesty the King of Siam in consideration of such
guarantee agrees to restore to Sultan Ahmud Tajuden
Halim Shah and his heirs and successors, full posses-
sion of his Ancient Kingdom of Kedal, lying between
the rivers Oopih and Creean. The above payment and
presentation shall be made directly to the King of
Siam at Bangkok, and shall release the King of Kedah
from all other token, duty or homage, and from all
future interference with his Government or country on
the part of the Chow Pya of Ligore or any other
Siamese Chief.

The King of Kedah has a very long Siamese titlo
which it may be necessary to introduce intoabove
article. Much discussion appears lately to have arisen
as to the former boundaries of the Kingdom of Kedah,
but T was told at Lungu and at Trang, and the King
of Kedah, who ought to know, confirmed the truth of
my information, that the small stream of Oopih Lat.
7° 5", immediately above the river Talavase or Teluk-

% This boundary must have
boen established many yoars
ago, as In an old chart publi-

luwas was the boundary last established
between the Kingdom of Kedah and the
ions of Merdelong.® The southern

shed "ast Indla
Pilot, and sald to have been
sketchod by Mr Martin Lind-
say and to have been com-
pared with a chart submitted
1o the Bupreme Govt. by Mr

of Kedah Is markod at
river Talavase or “Talaouee.”

boundary is well known to be the Creean
River in Lat. 5° 10", Every exertion
may be made by our Negotiator at Bang-
kok to fix the money payment at as low an
amount as practicable for the above sum
of 4000 Drs. will perhaps press hard upon
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ourally. In the same manner the presentation of the
Boongha Mas should be remitted altogether if possible,
although I fear such a stipulation, serving as it will
as a salve to the pride of the Court of Siam, will
give our ally the best chance of being restored.
The rent which the King of Kedah formerly paid to
Siam for the use of the whole of the islands lying
between Junkeeylon and Kedah producing Birds®
Nests may be made a scparate article of Treaty if
required at Bangkok, for with proper arrangements
our ally ought to realize a large profit on the 6,000
Dollars per annum which he paid.

It appears to me that the best way for our Nego-
tiator to dispose the Ccurt of Siam to listen to his
overtures of the restoration of the King of Kedah, is to
throw out some hints, that in the event of his not
succeeding in attaining that point for our old ally, the
Supmmc Government will perhaps take into come

the di of ishing His High
ness in some mdapendent Principality on the Coast of
Tenasserim.

Mr. Crawfurd’s 8th Article is:

“The commercial and other intercourse between
the British Territories so ceded by His Majesty the
King of Siam and the adjacent Siamese Territories
including the Tributary States of Perak and Patani,
t}m Provinces of Singora, Ligore, Junkee)lon and

shall be regulated on the condi and
pnnclpla specified in the 4th, 5th and 6th Articles of
the present Treaty.”

The above might then be altered as follows :

The commercial and other intercourse between
Prince of Wales Island and its dependencies, and the
whole of the adjacent Siamese States of Ligor, Singora,
Patani, Merdelong and Salang shall be regulated on
the conditions and principles specified in the 4th, 5th
and CGth articles of the present Treaty.
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The commercial and other intercourse between us
and Kedah will of course become the subject of a
Separate Treaty with our ally. Patani was overrun
by the Siamese so far back as 1786, but Perak appears
never to have acknowledged the supremacy of Siam
until forced to do it in 1818 and the British Govern-
ment has not yet, I believe, admitted to Siam its right
of preference to that State.

Mr. Crawfurd’s 9th, 10th and 11th articles are :

« Hlis Majesty the King of Siam for himself, his
heirs and successors hereby engages to permit all ships
and vessels under the British flag to trade to the Port.
of Bangkok and the kingdom of Siam, on the terms
and conditions specified in the following articles.””

“ British ships or vessels when they arrive in tho
river Menam shall not be put to the inconvenience of
landing their small arms and cannon, or to be in any
way dismantled, but before arriving at the city of
Bangkok they shall land their gunpowder alone, which
shall be taken charge of by the officers of the Siamese
Government and returned previous to the departure of
such ship or vessel.”

British Merchants resorting to the Port of Bang-
kok shall be permitted to sell and buy freely in the
open markets and no claim of pre-emption or right of
exclusive sale shall be exercised by any party to their
prejudice.

Our Negotiator at Bangkok should certainly en-
deavour to obtain permission for our ships to visit the
ports of Tung-yai and Chantibon, mentioned by Mr.
Crawfurd, on the East Coast of the Gulf ot Siam ;
Chaiya alzo on the West coast, I was assured at Pungah
would be a fine port for our trade. To the last article [
I would recommend the addition of the following
clause. No British subject shall however be allowed to J
zettle in any part of the King of Siam's Dominions
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without such person having previously obtained per-
mission for such purpose from the Right Honble, the
Governor General of India.

toh to Mr. Crawfurd, while at Bangkok in 1822, observed
that he had no scruple in saying, that to provide for
is al

12¢h
duyte2z.  the exclusion of Foreign Europeans is altogether supor-
#Tobe copled fluous under the Siamese Government, the oppressive

later from /i
Factory Rocaras, CHa%acter of which affords them no encouragement

Straits Settte- Whatever, and scarce the chance of a bare subsistence.

mentsVol- 8T But British Agents from mercantilo houses at Singapore
have lately been allowed to settle at Bangkok, and the
circumstance related to me by the Pya of Salang of o
person in the dress of an officer having last year visited
Bangkok and sold muskets, proves the necessity of
making some provision respecting the resort of British
Subjects to Siam.

Mr. Crawfurd’s 12th and 13th articles are:

“ Every British ship or vessel visiting the Port of
Bangkok for the purposes of trade shall pay a Tonnage
duty (say from 40 to 50) Ticals per Ton, to be levied
on her registered Tonnage, and in consideration
of the said impost she shall be exempted from the
payment of all Export and Import Duties whatsoever,
as well as of Anchorage or Harbour Dues or Duty
upon measurement.”

“Pilotage and the usual Fees of Office shall be
paid by British vessels resorting to the Port of Bang-
kok, and the said Pilotage and Fees shall not be raised
beyond their present amount.”

To the latter article a remark is appended by Mr.

l.e:“l:.“‘. Crawfurd, that the fees of office are very moderate,
t L s
;.,:m:."::'An examination of the Custom House Duties formerly

Blundall Esar jn force at Mergui and Tenasserim and according
c,,:':,',':,""m which rate they are now levied, 1 was assured, not

isiand dated 2d. only at Pungah but at all the Siamese States, will
Apritiast oo such fees of office must be extremely burthensome

ants, for

R act. to traders. Our Negotiators have succeeded in
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persuading other Oriental Nations, as wedded as the
Siamese to old customs, to commute such fees for
some duty easily levied, and similar exertions ought
surely to be used in Siam.*

The 14th and 15th Articles are

* The Ships and Vessels of His Majesty the King
of Siam shall be permitted to trade in the Ports of
Calcutta, Madras, Bombay and Ceylon on the terms of
the most favored Asiatic Nation.”

“ Ships and vessels of His Majesty the King of
Siam shall be permitted to trade at the ports of Prince
~Tenasserim.  of Wales Island, Singapore, Mergui and Tavoy upon
the same terms and conditions in all respects as ships
and vessels under the British flag are admitted to
trade ot the Port of Bangkok.”

Mr. Crawfurd is of opinion that the Siamese are
not very likely to avail themselves of the stipulation
of the 14th Article, but it may be mentioned that the
King of Siam has several square rigged vessels which
have repeatedly visited the Coast of Coromandel and
occasionally Caleutta. The Chief of Ligor also has
trading ships and Brigs. With the Ports enumerated
in the 15th Article Malacca may now be joined.

To the above, the following articles may be added,

The Honble. English East India Company
engages that all Siamese subjects found in any part of
the Burmese possessions which may be conquered
during the present war shall be allowed a free pass and
afforded every facility to return to their own Country
with their families and effects, and His Majesty the
King of Siam in consideration of the happy union
which is now about to be cemented between himself
and the Honble, Company agrees to issue immediaté
orders for every aid in Carriage Cattlo and Supplies
and Provisions being afforded to the British Troops
serving in the Dominions of Ava, and for the mst
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friendly intercourse being ojened between the British
Garrisons and Detachments and all Siamese Forts,
Towns or Posts contiguons to them.

His Majesty the King of Siam further engages to
co-operate with the British Government in the present
war agaiust the common enemy of both States, by
attacking the Burmese possessions in the direction of
Tocnghoo and the Capital of Ava, and by consenting
that each Division of the Siamese forces which may be
sent for this purpose, shall be accompanied by a British
Officer who shall be the channel of communication
between the Siamese Commanders and the Commander
in Chief of the British Army in Ava, under whose
directions the operations of the Siamese forces shall
be entirely conducted.

The first part of the preceding articles will, T have
reason to know, b received with great satisfaction by
the Siamese Government and no co-operation on its
part will, I fear, prove eventually useful to us unless
we can obtain its consent to the concluding stipulation,

Thave deemed it my duty to detail the consider-
ations which have occurred to me on a careful examin-
ation of Mr. Crawfurd’s proposed Treaty with the
Siamese Government although I fear that there is very
little chance of any negotiator on our part being able
to persuade that Government to execute such a Treaty,
the very number even of the articles of which will
immediately excite the fears and jealousy of the Court
of Bangkok. In all the intercourse which I have Intely
had with the Siamese I found no part of the character
which La Loubere sketched of them more correct than,
that  they engago themselves in w riting as little as
* they can.  They will rather receive you into n fort
* or castle than they will agree with you to surrender
“ them up to you by a Treaty in ample form, and
“ sealed by their Barcelon.” Besides, the Supreme
Govt. has observed that the negotiation of Treaties
and positive engagements with the S.mese Govt.
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719 Nov. This  (supposing it willing to enter into them) wmay be re-
dispatch wi
copied tater on LoTded as open to serious objection, lest any future

violation of their conditions should impose upon us th

necessity of resenting such breach of Contract, and
the Penang Government has added, that it is fully im-
pressed with the belief, that no T

would bind the Siamese if an opportunity were offered

aties or Agreements
Para.3d of D
toh to the
Suprome Govt. ving At k
datod 18aany. Dy their infringement. To My, Crawfund’s proposed
iast. e
# Copled. See . . »
,.Ho"n.cw‘“‘h\'w general objections present themselves; lat. its
Straits Sott
ments, Vol. 99,
Para. il of Dis- o
paten s e and 2udly, the apparent hopelessness of persuading
Penang Gove.  tlivir arrogant and untractable Coutt to
dated 19th e - 5 % X
Nowei82¢, AN instrument granting so many Concessions and

of deriving immediate though temporary advantayge

Treaty also the Supreme Government has declared that

divect tendency to involve the British Government in

extensive and complicated relations with the Siamese,

cecute formally

Accommmodations in exchange for any thing which
*8ee noteabove. wo liave to offer,

The Resident of Singapore however, than whom
there certainly is no British Officer more Competent
to form a Judgemeny, is of opinion that the moment
is at length arrived when it is within our reach
to persuade the Siamese Government to conclude such
a Treaty with u on that
if wo do not avail owselves of the advantageous

and there is no iues

sitnation in which the Burmese War and our occupation

of the former ions on the Coast of

Tenasserim have placed us and of the favorable disposi-

anmese poss

tion of the present Monarch of Siam as shewn in his

late reception of some British Merchants, v all never
meet with another such an opportunity of arranging
all our differences with the Sinmese, and of improv-
ing our Commercial relations with their Country.
The Honble. the Governor of Penang has stated,
that an Ewmbassy to Siam is indispensable, that it
should proceed under direct powers from the
Supreme Government and that, unless it be deemed
advisable with reference to other general objects
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that the deputation should proceed from the immedi-
ate Seat of the War, it appears to him that the offer
and services of the Chief of Paugah should be made
use of. That Chief has a great interest at stake in
the Success of the Dritish Arms. Junkeaylon and
all the neighbouring Continent have long been kept
in n state of constant alarm from the Burimese so as
to have entirely prevented the settling of Inliabit-
ants, and no advantage has hitherto resulted from
their occupation. The successes of the British Arms
Govr. Fullerton's on. the Coast of Tenasserim and the interposition of
M Camnen aoems'n British force at Mergui afford him a dogreo of
7the April last. security never before enjoyed. To which considera-
tions I may add, that the Chief of Pungah is related
« Copied and
sent from Factory to the Royal family and to the present. Pya Klang
Records, Straits o1 [oraign Minister with whom our Agent will have
Sattiements,
Vetico. 1o megotiate any Treaty; that he is well disposed
towards the King of Kedah, and jealous of the
Chief of Ligor's growing power; and lastly, that
Le has engaged in the most frank and cordial man-
ner to iutroduce a British Agent to his Sovercign
and to make his Son convey such an Officer to him
at Bangkok. The route from Pungah to Chaiya, if
passed before the end of June would occupy only six
days, and with the Clief of Pungalts subjects and
150 or 200 Elephants, there weuld not, I am assured,
be the smallest difficulty in conveying as much bag-
gage across the Country as the Agent might desire,
while from Chaiya, where excellent aceommodations
can be secured in Boats and Junks of the largest des-
cription, the passage to Bangkok duriug the present
South West Monsoon way be made in five or six
duys. The Agent should be nccompanied only by
an Escort of 30 Seapoys under a European or Native
Commissioned Officer, a Surgeon, and a quiet di-
ligent nautica! Surveyor, by whom a Chart of the
West Coast of the Gulf of Siam, which is entirely
unknown, could be constructed, and he should be
recommended to regulate his behaviour and com-
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munications according to the practice of the old
Ambassadors and traveilers, That is endeavour to
visit the Siamese Chiefs and Ministers at their
private Apartments and hours of retirement, and to
interest and amuse them first by descriptions of
European manners and Custon:s; pursuing which
practice I found during my late Mission was the only
way of securing the good will and confidence of this
jealous race, and of removing their fears and sus-
picions. The best presents for the King of Siam
and his Ministers as pointed out to me at Pungah,
would be some of the following Articles and certainly
not the least advantage in favor of accepting the
Chief of Pungah’s offer is that the most expensive
part of a Mission proceoding in such a manner would
be the presents, but by these alone unfortunately,
the Siamese Courtiers can be propitinted.

2 Talankeens

A large Chandelier

Diamond Rings of some value

Rings set with Rubies or Emeralds

or 12 Ditto of inferior Value

Sets of Gold Necklaces, Bracelets and Ear-rings
of English Jewellery of some value
10 or 12 Eets of Do. of inferior value.

2 Large English or Turkey Carpets

4 Pieces of Scarlet Broad Cloth.

4 Ditto of Yellow Do.

4 Ditto of Green Do.

G Pieces of Double Colours, of red on one side and
green or blue or yellow on the other. This descrip-
tion of cloth is in very great request at Siam.

2
2
0
2

Some English Cut Glass Ware, particularly glass boxes.

30 or 40 Sets of Bazars Scissors Penknives and
spectacles

4 Pieces of Gold and Silver Brocade

4 Do. of Tissue
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Some India Kincobs
20 or 30 Pieces of English Muslin
80 or 40 Do. of English Cottons
2 0or3 Corges of Indian Do.
4 or 5 Cases of Fowling Pieces
Some curious Toys and Specimens of Mechanism
Some Warlike Stores—a pair of Brass 6 Pounders, 20
or 80 Blunderbusses- Scveral hundred Scands of
Muckets and pairs of Pistols, and 2 or 300
Canister Flasks of Gunpowder,
A Collection of Scents and Essences.

I am told that the Agent must endeavour to
present to the Wang-na a Duplicate of some of the
Anrticles which are given to the King, and I found the
Siamese cvery where passionately fond of precious
stones and English Jewellery.  Their taste differs in
one respect from that of the Natives of Hindostan.
They prefer our Jeweller’s Gold (Suasa) to Manufactures
of the purer Metal,

Having thus submitted in the foregoing sheet
whatever reflections have occurred to me on the dif-
ferent objects which have been proposed to the British
Governuwent, to be pursued it its negotiations with
Siam, T hope I may now, without exhibiting arro-
gance or improper ambition state, that if it please
the Right Honble. the Govr. Genl. in Council to
confide in my discretion, perfect ac-
quaintunce with the views and motives
of Government und some knowledge
of the genivs and character of the
Siamese Nution and aunthorize me to
accept the very cordial invitation which I have
received from the Pyn of Salang and his Son
and  Ministers, to join them at Bangkok, I
shall endeavour by the most strenuous exertions to
prove myself worthy of such a high distinction.
The Chief of Ligor also has signified to me his
readiness to convey me to Banglok, but the strong
personal interest which he feels against the restora-
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tion of the King of Kedak, as well as the incon-
venient and distant route by which he communicates
with Bangkok, would induce me to decline that
Chief's offer. From Pungah I shall be able to
secure not only the friendly co-operation of the
Siamese Chiefs on the Isthmus of Krah, but in
addition to my own Malay and Native Christian
Interpreters the very important services of Luang

+ For a character of this
Mative of tho Coast of Coro-
mandel and offic
Blameso Govt. s
my Mission to
dressed to E. A. Blundoll,
Actg.Becy. to tho Ponang Govt.
dated 2d April last.

Ram* Honored then with a Commis-
sion under the Seal of the Right
Honble, the Governor General, and
supplied with an order to procure the
presents above enumerated, and with
o Dispatch to the address of the

Honble. the Governor of Prince of Wales Island
noticing such points as may not be comprised
or as may be disapproved of, in this Memoir, and
signifying that the Supreme Government entrusts
to his immediate guidance and direction the Settle-
ment of our acquisitions on the Coast of Tenasserim,
as well as the conduet of our negotiations at Siam, I
should be ready to depart again for Penang within
ten days, and strive to reach Bangkok before the
Ceremony of the late King's funeral is concluded, orat
least before the dispersion of all the Siamese Chiefs
whoare now assembling there. Tt nppears to me that
the British Agent should proceed to Siam, furnished
in the first instance with instructions only to
ascertain and report from thence what portion of
the objects which have been proposed to the Supreme
Government can be accomplished, and to endeavour
to attain at least, whether by regular Treaty or
otherwise, these three points—restoration of the King
of Kedal, imp of our ( it lati
and some co-operation in the present War.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captn, 25th Regt.
Poll. Agent to the Siamese States from
the Govt. of P. W. I
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FORT WILLIAM 16th September 1825

Supplement to the Memoir Submitted to the Sup-
reme Government on the 3rd May 1825 by Captain H.
Burney Political Agent to the Siamese States.

Most of the following facts and circumstances wers
known to me at the time I drew up my Memoir, but I
forbore mentioning them, through a belief that the
Supreme Government possessed much later information
respecting the Geography and Resources of the Tenas-
serim Coast,

‘The olil Geographers terminated the Burmese pos-
sessions to the Southward at Mergui in about Lat : 12,
Dr. Hamilton extends them to a village named Mavi,
in about Lat: 10, and Captain Low to Chanma, which
e places still lower, in Lat : 9.30. Mr. Gibson pointed
out to me that the latter places Chanma too far to the
Southward and that since the time the former was at
Ava, Mirza has been destroyed, and the Siamese have
come up to Chanma, which he considered to be in
Lat: 10°.30. The Siamese at Pungah admitted that
the present boundary is at Chanma, which they name
Pak Chan, but as all who had bzen there stated that a
boat could pass from Pak Chan to Mergui in 24 hours,
T think that place cannot ba quite so far to the South-
ward as where even Mr. Gibson lays it down and I have
therefore placed it in my Geographical Sketch in about
Lat: 10%.50. Enquiry on the spot, however, will of
course be the only mode of ascertaining the precise
situation of Pak Chan.  All between it and Mergui is
well known to be a desolate waste.  Mr, Gibson further
stated that the Burmese Province of Tenasserim ex-
tended in the rear of Tavoy to Lat: 15.50, which®
Horsburgh describes the T i Archinelizoita
commence at Tavoy Island in Lat: 18°. 16" and to ter-
minate to the Southward, at the Seyer Islands in Lats
8. 28. The Coast of Tenasserim, as far as the
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Burmese possessions are concerned, may be said to
include the Province of Tavoy. Colonel Franklin (a)
learnt when in Ava *“The Coast of Tenasserim is a
separate  Government, the seaports of Tavoy and
Mergui have very little territory annexed, and are also
separate GGovernments.”

(s) See his
Tracts.

Tenasserim was in possession of the Siamese as
far back as 1568 wheu it was taken by a Burmah
King of Pegu, under which it continued until about
1603, when it was recovered by Siam. In 1613 it was
again besieged by the Burmese or Peguers, but they
were frustrated in their design by the Portugueze,
who appear then to have been settled lere. The
navigation of the Tinnan or Tenasserim River is said,
by one authority, to be rendered difficult by rocks and
brauches of Trees, with which its channel is full, and
the stream is likewise so rapid that it
cannot be ascended above 3 or 4 leagues
a day (b). Dalrymple (c) states in 1759
the river was formerly navigable to
Tenasserim where the Portugueze had a
Fort, but the communication is only open for boats at
present ; whether the navigation of the river was
spoiled by accident or intentionally is uncertain. It
is reported there is a communication with Junk Ceylon
from Tenasserim for boats by the rivers within land.
The River of Chantibon on the East side of the Gulf
of Siam to which Mr. Crawfurd refers in his ** Notes
towards a Tréaty” although not so large as some
other rivers in the Kingdom of Siam, is said to carry
large vesscls with greater ease than any of them;

(b} Modern Universal His-
tory Ed. 1789, Page 199 Vol. 7th
from Histolre du Royaume

<o Slam par Gervalse.

(d) Universal Modern His-
tory from Histolre du Ro-
yaumo do Slam par N.
Gorvalse.

(o) D'Anville conjectured
Mergul to be the anclent
Borobe whilo M. Gosslin In
his Goography of the Greoks
snalizod attompts to prove.
with a groator appearance
©f probablilty, that the Sou-

notwithstanding a great bank of sand
at the entrance, there is always 14 or
15 feet water. (d)

Mergui, (e) with respect to its mas-
ters, may be presumed to have always
followed the fate of Tenasserim which be-
fore it was destroyed, was the principal
port. Until 1687, when they were driven
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thern part of Pagu ls Pto- out and many of them massacred through

Bay of Martaban his magnus | I€ jealouey of the old East India Com-
8inus Tonasserrim his Sina pany, o gocd number of English Free

Matropolls and Mergul his
port of Catigara, the utmost

Merchants were settled at Mergui, and

boundary of navigation inan- drove a considerable trade here. Down

clent timos.

to the middle of the last century there

() Mew Account of the - \werg the remains of an old English Fort

Inal
8th
Voyages.

":",:'::,'l.::;: :', at Mergur. ( Daliymple ). An old author,

Captain Hamilton (f), relates that in 1683
when the Jesuits persuaded the King of Siam to send
an Embassy to France, the same Ambassador came also
to London and settled a Treaty of Commerce for the
English who should trade in Siam. One of the first
objects of the French, when they established an in-
fluence at Siam in 1688, was to occupy Mergui, which
and Bangkok were considered as the two chief places
that open a passage into that Kingdom. A revolution
at Siam led to their also keing driven out of Mergui
during the same year, but they did not evacuate the
fortress which they had constructed there, until after
they had stocd a siege of 17 days with o force of ap-
parently less than 100 Europeans against an army
of 12,000 Siamese. The well in the Fort becoming
euddenly dry and water failing forced the Krench
Garrison to retire. 1 have not been able to ascertain
in what year the French again settled at Mergui, but
a respectable French Work ( 'abbé de la Croix’s Geog-
raphie Moderne ) gives the following account of their
Factory there in 1784 “ La Compagnie Frangois y a un
Comptoir, qui la met en état de faire trafic des rubis,
et de toutes les pierreries de Pegu et d’Ava, aussi bien
que de I'étain, des bois de Charpente, et des écailles do
Tortues.” At the time the Burmese took possession of
Tenasserim and Mergui in 1765 they appear to have
been well aware of the advantages of the port. The
Bishop of Tabracea writes in that year from Siam
“ Les Barmas aprés s'étre rendus mmmu de Mergey
allerent i i a I i i cette

ville en cendres, et retournerent fortifier Mergey pour
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ne plus Pabandonner et en faire le plus fameux port
de leur royaume.”

The French consider the port of Mergui as one of
tho best and most secure in all the Indies, lying
between an island  of that name and another
( Bandermacan ) to the west of it ; and they describo
the town as situated on the North west point of the
island and very popnlous. Horsburgh relates that the
distance is about two leagues from the road to the town
of Mergui, and that vessels of moderate size, by taking
pilots can go over the bar into the river and anchor off
the Town in 5 fathoms water. * Bullocks are not sold
here, but all other necessary refreshments may be ob-
tained by making some presents and entering into a
proper understanding with the Chiefs.  Elephants
teeth, wax, wood, oil and other articles are exported
from hence in ships belonging to Merchants that reside
here, who, in general, are natives of Hindostan.
Water may be had in great plenty froma run in
Madramacan ( or Bandarmacan ) Island, also in Plan-
tein Island or in King's Island Bay." He further
states, ** King’s lsland and most of the others are
inhabited, it is infested by tigers and snakes, and on it
and on the other islands, there is plenty of largn
straight timber fit for masts and several parts of ship
building.” The principal productions of the district of

(o) 9

Philosophical

Journal No. 18
Art.a

Mergni, ding to Dr. Hamilton (g) are ambergrease,
the finest birds’ nests, biche de mer, cardamums, black
pepper, and betelnut; but at Mergui might further
be procured from Pegu and Ava, kutch, cotton, rice,
stick-lac, teak woad, hantal ( species of arsenic ) metals
and minerals ; and from Siam, tin and other metals,
s«pnn and other woods, stick-lac, peltry, rice, sugar,
leph teeth, rhi horns, benj
salt-poue, salt and coffve, besides most of the valuable
commodities of China, of Cochin China, and even of
Japan to which skins and feathers were formerly taken
in large quantities from Siam by the Dutch and
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Chinese. Colonel Franklin learnt that the greater part
of the birds’ nests found in the Mergui Archipelago
are bought on the spot by the Malays, so that the
King’s only is brought to Rangoon and either con-
sumed by the Royal Family &e. or exported by the
way of Quantong. He also understood that most of
the Salt Fish and Blachong consumed in Ava are
taken from Tavoy and Mergui, while in the time of
Dalrymple, the commodities in chief demand at Mergui
were salt, iron, tobacco and Masulipatam chintzes.
Provisions were extremely plentiful and cheap, a dozen
or 20 fowls might be bought for a tical, fish were very
fine and equally cheap, and rice might be had for 12
ragodas per Fance when its price on the Coromandel
Coast was generally above 20 and sometimes even 80
pagodas per Gfance. Turpin relates, that quantities of
pearls may be fished in the Isles of Mergui whers they
are found of a fine water, perfectly round and the size
of a pea; but that neither the Siamese nor the Bur-
mese have ever disclosed the whole source of this
wealth, fearful that their tyrants might oblige them to
labour gratuitously in this troublesome fishery ; that
no conntry in the universe produces finer elephants
than are to be found in Siam, the larger being as much
a5 12 feet high ; that these animals form the greatest
sources of the King of Siam’s wealth, and that for-
merly, there was scarcely a year without at least 50
of them being sold at Mergui to the merchants who
came there from the Coast of Coromandel to trade in
them and who brought in exchange the finest linens and
stuffs from Bengal, Surat and Persin. He further
relates, that in the Province of Tenasserim, birds
of Paradiso are sometimes found, and ot Mergui
tory of nightingales which are supposed to have
mkerton's  been imported from Europe. (h)

My friend Captain Robert Scott of Penang has
kindly communicated to me some letters and accounts
belonging to the estate of that well known Eastern
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trader Mr, James Scott, in which I find, that whilst
Mr. S. was residing at Quedah during the year 1781,
2, 3, and 4 beforo our occupation of Penang, he
conducted a considerable trade with both Mergui and
Tavoy. The Portugueze vessels on their return from
China touched at Quedah and furnished him with Raw
Silk and coarse China ware, and in addition to such
articles he appen !
large quantities of Bm-l nut, with some Bengal opium,
and Madras piece goode, e‘cllnugmg them for birds
nests, tin, teeth, rhil

horns, dried buffalo beef (for the Malays) and deer
and rhinoceros Skins, Mr. Scott had a small vessel
in employ between Quedah and the Coast of Tenasserim,
and T observe on one occasion, in October 1782, when
the vessel was hound to Mergui, her Commander found
five French vessels there and passed on to Tavoy.
The great impediment to commerce at that time
proceeded from tho Governors of Tavoy and Mergui
being the principal traders themselves and buying
up the produce of those places for their own vessels.
A Mr. Reeves appears then to have been Shahbunder
at Mergui, to whom and tothe * Reverend Father
Missionary Padre Jaze Vigavia apostolica " Mr. Scott's

< et w Sengui-aud Tavoy

consignments were made.

Martaban was conquered by a Burmah King of
Pegu in 1545, The Siamese laid it waste in 1600,
but they never appear to have held long possession of
that place, for we find that it had a King of its own in
1604. In 1616 the King of Siam appears to have
offered the Port of Martaban to the Portugueze, yet a
King of Pegu settled his Court there in 1661, in order
to have his forces near the borders of Siam.  Since the
last mentioned date, Martaban seems to have continued
under Pegu or Ava; and with respect to Ye, as it is
known to have formed a part of the ancient kingdom
of Pegu, we may presmme that it always followed the
fate of Martaban. The proper natives of these two
places, Dr. Hamilton learnt, were Talian or Mon, most
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of whom have retired to Siam, and are no doubt
anxious to recover the land of their Fathers.

The ancient kingdom of Pegu is dcscribed Ly old
European authors as having extended to the South-
ward as far only as Lat: 14°, and Tavay, which it
conquered in 1614, was its frontier town for some time,
and afterwards, until the Buimese Empire was estab-
lished, the same place became the frontier town of the
Siamese in this direction. Hence there is every reason
to believe that at or near Tavoy it will not be difficult
to azcertain the existence of an eligible boundary,
The proper natives of Tavoy are well known to be
of an entirely different race from those of Martaban
and Ye. Jose a native Portugueze formerly Shahbun-
der of Bassein, whom 1 knew at Penang as one of the
Burmese Enveys to Cechin China, and who was taken
at Tavoy, informed me when 1 visited him at Fort Wil-
Tiam, where he is now a prisoner that the inhabitants
of Martaban and Ye are Peguers, but that those of
Tavoy and Mergui are a mixed race, Arracanese,
Siamese and Burmese, the firet being in his opinion
the original stock. This information may perhaps
be considered ns supported by the following facts.
Arracan we are told, at cne time extended its conquests
far to the Southward and took possession of Pegu,
although how long it kept possession of that Kingdom
does not appear, and Coll.  Symes mentions, that the
Yowas or Yas, a race oceupying a district to the west
of Ava, between it and Arracan, speak the language of
Tavay.

It is true that Tavoy seems to have been an
independent principality in 1757 when Alompra
engaged us by Treaty to give aid to the Burmese

page 223 Vol lst giminst the King of that place (i).
's Orlontal amain o . el

.,,.1-,..::: But Coll. Symes thinks that it owed its

the same tiangitory independence to the Wars
oh

;:':,':: .‘:‘;.?: :,,?: :,,. that raged between the greater powers.

English an establishment In  Or perhaps, we then, follewing the
his Country In 1752,
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example of the Portuguese, gave the title of King to
the Sinmese Governor of the place; for it is well
known that they gave that title to the Governors of
certain places, who liold them by hereditary right, as
Tenasserim, Porselauck, Pipeh and the like ; and that
they conferred on the King of Siam the title of
Emperor according to the notion of the Spaniards who
think that Style due to Kings who have other Kings
for their vassals. It may be here mentioned also,
that the Kings of Siam, as the authors of the Universal |
History surmise, always reckon as their tributaries |
those States which have at any time been so. Whether
Queda of late years bore that relation to her, is certainly
a point of fact which ought to be proved from hi-tory
rather than argument. In 1614 we found that the
Portuguese destroyed the old city of Queda. Abbé !
Choisy in 1686 learnt that the King of Quedah was 1
tributary to the King of Siam, and La Loubdro reports |
the same o few years after ; yet Captain Hamilton in [
1720 found the Country independent, as he observes - it
was many years tributary to Siam, but in the long
Pegu War it threw off the yoke At what date {
the yoke was replaced, T have not been able to |

(k) Mamitons new ac- discover. (k)
‘count of ti Indl page
432 Vol 8 of Pinkarton's Col- To return to Tavoy. Horsburgh |

Testion of Yeynuss: states that that place, in time of war is ,

much frequented by French privateers when in want |
of wood and water, that the distance of the town from

the usual place of anchorage is 8 or 9 leagues and that |
there are in the river many islands and banks, with
various depths in the channel from } to 4 fathoms.
When the Burmese took possession of Siam in 1767
the Governor of Tavoy believing that the Bishop of
Tabraca could be made serviceable to them in engaging
the French to visit Tavoy and Mergui, made the Bishop
return with him to Tavoy and the following isan
account of the journey, “Aprés dix jours de navigation.
on arriva le 16 Juin & I'endroit od il fallait quitter les
tateaux. L'Evéque resta la jusquan 28 du mois. Le
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Chemin de terre fut beaucoup plus pénible, car outre
quil n'y a pas un seul village, ce ne sont que des mon~
tagnes escarpées et boisées, des vallées pleines do
boue, avec une rividre & passer et i repasser, soit

*sic.insert vestnn gué soit sur deux bambous, quand elle® trop pro-

(1) Modern
Univarsal His-
tory Vol. 7th 383
& 388 £d. 1759,

* sic.7attendoit.

(m)an ola traver-
ler Raiph
tch, at the
closo of the 16th
Contury, statod,

thatthisistand of

fonde. L'Evéqne nimoit souvent mieux aller & la
nage sur son cheval que de se hazarder sur les
ponts de roseaux fragiles. Les animaux méme monr-
raient de la fatigue de tant de montées et de descentes,
Le chemin ¢toit en bien des endroit bordé des
deux cotés de corps morts, et des nuées do mouches
fatiguoient, les  voyngeurs lorsqu'ils se roposaient.
Le riz commencoit a manquer, lorsqu'on arriva
bien fatigné aux environs de Tavoil le G de Juillet.”
There aro however two instances on record of tho
Journey between the capital of Siam and Mergui, when
the French occupied it, having been made in 10 days ()
and on one of these occasions the party consisted of
prisoners in chains escorted by n detachment of Siamese
Soldiers.  If Riply also, as I suspect, is another name
for Puchpuri there must have Leen at one time a car-
riage road from the Gulf of Siam to Mergui, for in a
letter from the Bishop of Tabraca from Siam in 1761,
we find the following passage : * J'ai envoyé M. Martin
(i Merguy ). 11 alla jusqu’a Riply o l'on a coutume do
quitter les bateaux, et y attouchait® inutilement les
charettes pendant trois semaines.”

Tavoy Island (m) the late Mr. Gibson informed me
is the most productive of the Tenasserim Archipelago
in Birds' nests and at Doneel Island to the Southward
there is a valuable pearl bank. Dr. Hamilton ac-

Tavoy produces quainted us, that the tin of Tavoy is reckoned very

great store of Tin
which sorveth all
Indla.

fine ; that the mines are situated in a large hill on the
great central ridge of mountains, called Sakana, and
four days journey by land South and East from the
City of Tavoy, and that one branch of the Tinnan or
Tenasserim river springs from the vicinity of these
mines. If the plan of the boundary line to the north,
of Mergui as suggested in the foregoing Memoir, be.
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adopted, we may perhaps find it practicable to make
that line include these mines as well as a portion of the
neighbouring Forest of Sapan Wood.  Dalrymple
states that in Tavoy there is a gold mine also which
was reported in his time to be valuable. Colonel
Franklin (n) learnt that the price of tin at Tavoy wag
from 40 to 50 Ticals per 100 Viss, but that the metal
sold at Rangoon from 100 to 120 Ticals per 100 Viss
or 21 Rupees 14 as. 11 p. for Bengal Maund.  He also
states that the King of Ava provides for his children,
supports his household and his Ministers &c. not by
‘Tunkmahs on the Revenue, but by direct grants of
Territory, privileges of markets, or of levying imposts

&c.; that his Majesty’s direct revenuesarise from the
tribute of the Chobwas, by the produce of the Crown
lands, mines, exports and imports; and his unsettled
revenues arise from confiscation, escheats, fines, dona-
tions &, &c. most of the revenues are collected in
Kind, stored in magozines and converted into cash
according to circumstances. The tribute of the
Chobwas and duties on some particular articles, as
cotton, are paid in bullion. He further states, that
the Collector of the land revenue at Rangoon, remitted
to his Majesty annually for the whole Province of
Henzawaddy about 50,000 Ticals, and the Collector of

(01 Pure Slivor or Baw has

four percentalioy & Is 2 per
cent below Sicca Standard &
100 Tickals of it wolghing 142
8a. Ms, were colned into 8a.

8 Pr. Ct. bolow Sicca Standard
& 100 Ticals of It wg. 142 Sa.
Rs. wore coined Into 8a. Rs,
126.8.4. 25 per Ct. Sliver on
Rha. Chal na Keat Khal, has
40 per Ct.alloy & Is 38 pr. Ct.
below Sicca Standard, & 100
Ticals of itweighing 142 St Rs.
were coined Into Sa. Rs.9l.
Frankiln. (p) Mnr 8's manu-
soripts. (q) Gross welght Is
ordinarily rockonod 365 Ib.
Per 100 viss. Frankiin.

Sea Customs 1,50,000 Ticals and that
Tavoy yielded an annual Revenue of
30.000 Ticals Flowered Silver or Sa.
Rs. 87 206(0), and Mergui about 40,000
Ticals, or Sa. Rs. 49,008.
Scott(p) is advised by the Commander of
one of his vessels from Tavoy in January
1783, that 40 or 50,000 Viss or about
1200() peculs of tin conld be had there
annually, and that Betel nut was in very
great demand and produced from 35 to
40 ticals per 100 Viss.

Me. James
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It may be suggested that Mergui is scarcely to be
called an Island separated as it is from the main land
by a river ouly, and that King’s Island therefore
would perhaps be a more eligible site for any Factory
which we may desire to settle in this quarter. But
there is cne great chjecticn to the latter Island. We
should have to incur a very beavy expense before it
could be cleared and pepulated to the same extent as
Mergui already is.

The important object of our retaining Mergui will
of course he to revive the ancient cemmerce which was
cenducted with Siam through this channel, first by the
Portugueze and afterwards by the French. Opening
this passage, and restering this old and almost forgotten
road into the ricl kingdom of Siam, will be an enter-
prize of that nature of which it has been well observed,
its very reputaticn is capable of preducing advantages,
of whkich no conception could have been formed before

(r) Modcen  the event which produced them (r). There is nothing
Wnlversal Mistory that will be so popular in England, or so likely to
hiah sork mamy PEOYC & compensation to us for all the trouble and ex-

of the Historical jence of the present war, as thé establishment of a
N o eaCommercial Post in the vicinity of the Burman and
1 the Sinmese Domini The C ial and Manufz

French passages 3 3 s S
In this Supple- ing Community at home will hail such o measure with
mentarocitod. the rreatest sati ion. Penang and Singapore may
be cited as iustances of the facility, security and
extraordinary stimulus and improvement which the
establishment of such Emporia afford to our trade. A
Port of our own will be free from all those arbitrary
exactions, fees of office, privileges of pre-emption and
other petty obstructions by which the Siamese and
Burmese render all trade with them difficult and
precarious, It will, as has been done at Penang and
ga) and e the trade of the
natives and afford a secure depot and mart through
which the manufactures of England and British India
may be dispensed among the surrounding nations
whose means for making returns to us are known
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(s) Turpin's
History of Slam.

{t) captn. cox'e
Journal.
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to equal the state® which they possess for our com-
modities.  With respect to Siam it has long been
said, that it is not the poverty of the soil which
relaxes commercial industry there—many obstacles
are opposed to the strangers making a fortune,
the frequent revolutions of this kingdom overturn es-
tablishments begun with the greatest success.  The
( not sufficiently 1 with its own
ter the merchants by fixing at their will

intere:
the prices of merchandize, The King, the master of
trade, is the only one who buys from the stranger, a8
he is the only one who sells him the productions of
the Conntry. This insolent despot imposes arbitrary
taxes which shut the entrance of his poits to the

Vessels of Indin and Eunrope. But a trifling militia

hants from

would be sufficient to extricate foreign
dependenca on the Monarch. 1t wonld be easy to
erect a fort, which would soon become tormidable by its
numerons defenders, who would thero take vefuge from
the voracity of their oppressors. The inhabitants

would place their families and wost precious effects in

it. Neighbouring kings would seek the alliance of
such a Colony, which wonld become useful to them, by
exchanging their superfluities for articles of luxury
and comfort. (s)

Captain Cox's observations also with respect to the
Burmese is equally true of the Siamese. * It is a farce
to talk of treaties with this people in the present state
of their information, for their ignorance of their real
interests is only to be equalled by their pride and pre-
sumption ; and unless I can open their eyes to their
own interests in the first instance and impress them
with a respectful awe of the English power in the
second, my remaining here (Capital of Ava) will only
expose the British charcter to degradation and subject
my Employers to unnecessary expence.” (t) The ouly
mode of ensuring the attention of the Court of
Siam to such points will be by presents. You are
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never welcome to any creature belonging to it with<d
out a present, and even the poor missionavies
have found the necessity of complying with this
established  ctiquette.  One of them writes to
Europe from Siam. 1770: 11 faut ensuite, pour nos
succes, les moyens de faire quelque présens an
nouveau Roi et aux Mandarins. Telle est la necessité
de ces moyens qu'nn grand du pays futil * de vos in-
times amis, ne feroit pas la moindre démarche pone
nous obliger, si anparavant il avoit regu quelquo
cadeau, Cette coutwne a méme passé en proverbe
chez enx.” What has very lately been said of the
Cochin Chinese may also with little variation be ap-
plied to the Siamese. No abrapt change is to bo
looked for in the commercial habits of any nation.
The slow and certain operation of neighbouring goul
example together with the immense advantage of a
free communication with an adjacent English set~
tlement are perhaps the only possible methods of im-
proving the bigote:d habits an:l uncourteons manners
of the Siamese, and of giving a stimulus to their trade,
far exceeding what can be looked for from any com-
mercial treaties however fivorable.

(Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain  Poll. Agent:
to the Siamese States,

Penang 8th July 1825,
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us,

Sev oot p 388 JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government. 1

Bir, |
I have the honor to enclose for the information of

the Honorable the Governor in Council, a letter® !l

from the Commander of the Honorable Company’s |
1 zet coptea Schooner Zephyr, transmitting one® from the Com- i

mander of the Hired Schooner Commerce, reporting i

the departure of 100 Siamese 'rahus from Kedah bound

to the Northward.

I have &en,
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY

Supt. of Point Wellesley i

Toint Wellesley
16th July 1825, ‘
I
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TRANSLATION of a letter from the principal
Minister of the King ot Siam addressed to the Officer
Commanding at Mergui.

Uika Muha Sena Buddee Maha Nagara Meeoo
Leenee uktur, rahus (sic.) addressed the following letter
to the Commanding Officer Commanding at Mergui for
the information of himself and the various subordinate
authorities pliced under him in that Province by the
English Government.

Itis not unknown to that distinguished officer
that the Six Individuals whom he deputed with letters
to the Court of Siam were intercepted in their route
and conducted back to Mergui Munmuldar of Chown-
pown (sic), who on being honored with an interview
with the said officer solemnly promised that no future
aggression should be committed to interrnpt the friend-
ship that has hitherto subsisted between the two
nations, and that on the Munmuldars veturn to his
district he violated the promise which he had thus
made with the Commanding officer, who, to punish
this misconduct, sent a force into his country, where
an engagement ensuing, Six of the Munmuldar’s boats
together with 145 prisoners were captured and sent to
Mergui, and that although it was evident that the
Munmildar acted in this matter from his own authority
alone, He the Commanding Officer assured himself of
the fact by enquiry of the captives whom, after hearing
their statement, he ordered to be confined,

The Minister of the Sianese Court is nevertheless
lopeful that i consideration of the amity and friend-
ship which has hitherto subsisted between the two
N.tions the Commanding Officer at Mergui will releaso
the Captives so detained and that altho it be confessed
that the i igi din the Ummildar by his
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Seizure of the Subjects of the Mergui Province, yvb
for the sake of perpetuating and confirming the pre=
sent relations of amity, it is hoped that the wishes of
the Minister will meet his consideration.

It was with infinite satisfaction that the Court of
Siam heard the intelligence of the Capture by the
v and

English of the Provinces of Mergui, Tennas
Tavay with which Provinces it is now hoped the door
of communication will always in future be kept open.

To find the Country of a peaple against whom the
the Siamese nation entertains an antient and in-
erate latred to be subjected to the authority of the

English was of course source of exultation,

In conseqence of a requisition made from
Sechierpoor® for the aid of His Majesty’s troops a
Jarge avmy was organized and prepared by Muha Para
for that purpose and altho we awaited further in-
structions of the English Government. regarding them
no further communication was reccived.

At this juncture from the recent decease of His
Majesty and the consequent ferment it has excited
among the Ummaldars of these dominions, as also
from the setting in of the Monscon our troops have
been prevented forming a junction with the English,
but on the termination of the monsoon a numeious
army will be ready for co-operation and will act con-
formably to the orders they may receive from the
British authority, and to which no opposition will be
offered in marching to whatever guarter they may be
directed to proceed in aid of the complete subjugation
of the Burmese dominions.

The Chowkies througl the Siames
have been enjoined to offer no interruption to the
egress of all subjects of the British Government and

whenever it may suit the views of the English to
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request the aid of the troops of these dominions they
will be pleased to dispatch an emissary for that pur-
pose and as the most pnmmyh)ry orderu have been
issued (to the subordi ) throug!

our dominions to give intimation the momeut they
liear of the approach of such emissary, no delay will
arise in the wishes of the Brigadier General being
mude known to cur Court.

Tu former times when Martaban, Tavoy, Mergui
and Tennasserim were dependencies of these domini-
ons uninterrupted intercourse was enjoyed by the
Ryots of the respective Countries who were connected
by the ties of kindred and friendship, But this co-
mmunication has been long since prevented by the
hostility and enmity of the Burmese, an impediment
that will no longer exist now that these provinces
are subjected to the British horiti

In regard to the Ummildar (we hope it will be
considered) that the impropriety of his conduct in
ill treating the ryots of the British Government,
entirely originated with himself, and indeed the
Sinmese Court were totally ignorant of the Circums-
tance,

His own attempts at justification when awak-
ened to n sense of his misconduct were submitted
to His Majesty’s Ministers as follows.

That with a view of reconnoitering he proceeded
with his men towards the Countries bordering on the
provinces of Mergui, Tavoy and Tennasserim, that he
bad not proceeded far when he fell in with certain
individuals belonging to the English provinces, who
were desirous that he himself and his Men should
return with them to their Commanding Officer, that in
consequence he accompanicd them to tho Head
Quarters of their Commanding Officer who received
him with Civility and attention, that after receiving
his dismissal he proceeded on his way to his own dis-
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trict where he encountered several ryots who had fled
the provinces of the English from terror of their Arm«
and that as many of them had friends and relations in
Siam they willingly joined him, the rest he acknow-
ledges were rather compelled than persuaded to follow
Lim ; that before he reached home he found himselt
pursued by 40 armed boats detached by the English at
whose approach the people of his district were greatly
alarmed, that he himself considering the amicable re-
Iations that subsisted between the twa Nations was at
a loss to conjecture the reason of their then approach-
ing him. This uncertainty however soon ceased to
perplex his mind for on nearer approach of the Loats
they commenced a heavy fire of musquetry and soon
succeeded in making captives of 145 men of hix
Majesty’s subjects.  With those that remained he now
sought refuge in an adjacent island, but the English
still continuing their pursuit and attack he was obliged
for his own defence and the preservation of his men to
return their fire ; that not being able to oppose any
efficient resistance, he retived to his own district, when
e repaived to His Majesty’s Court accompanied by
those whom he stated to have willingly joined his train.

On receiving this statement of the Mammuldar
his Majesty’s Ministers made every enquiry of those
whom he alleged to be his voluntary followers as to
its truth or falsehood.  The reply which they received
to their interrogatories was that many were willing
{followers of the Ummildar and others were brought by
compulsion.

At this period one of their vessels which have
Deen long accustomed to carry on trade has arrived
from Seehasson at this port, commanded by Captain
Ewanjon who has brought a letter stating the wishes
of the English that he should be furnished for their
service with Horses, Elephants, Bullocks and Buffa-
loes to be sent to Rangoon and that grain would
liereafter be required for the same purpose.
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The news of the intended co-operaticn of our
forces seemed to Lave given the English at Sehapoor
great delight.

To prevent future interruption of the amity and
friendship which now happily subsists Letween us we
lave thought proper to punuh the high misde-

seanour of our Ummildar originating in folly and
offciousness by imprisonment and removal from
the Government of Lis district, and have strictly
enjoined the person whom we have appointed lis
succestor to permit all ryots belonging to the Pro-
vinces of Nergui, Tevasserim and Tavoy who may
appear to be in the Town of Chawnpoun to depart
at {heir own free will and pleasure and we have
every confidence that this example, strengthened by
the cousideration of that friendship which subsists
Letween the two naticns will be followed by that
distinguished cfficer who will be pleased to dismiss
all such persons as he way have detained captives,
a measure which will ensury the sLﬂnhty and per-
'y of our i 1

P

In order to remove all doudt and uncertainty
of the dismissal or detention of such ryots of the
English Provinces as may yet remain in these
dominions and whom the English may be desirous of
reclaiming it would be advisable that some one be
deputed to receive them and from whom a [note®]

® Inthooriginal of {heir delivery muy be tuken by the Officer of our

Government.  And for the past offences of the Um-

<opylsts error. muldar we trust a pardon will be conceded.

( A true Translation from the Persian )
(Sigued) G. NORMAN,
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FORT WILLIAM 7th October 1825,

Ordered that the following translations of two
Siameso letters to the address of Colonel Smith, en-
closed in Sir A, Campbell's private dispatches dated
Gth Angust recorded on the proceedings of Government
in this Department on the 26th of the same month
No. 19 to 23 be here recorded.

Translation of a Siamese letter to Colonel Smith.
Translation of a letter from the Siamese General to
the address of Colonel Smith.

Jo Prah, General of the Golden Country of See
Ayoktharah Durrawuddy Maha Eah tha Eah Eah Maha
Eah-Raja Ega Maha Senah dee Pudec Zeree Zash
Runnaroon (sic), acquaints Colonel Smith, Commander
of the English Army at Martaban, that his letter has
reached him by the hands of Mou Fal (Town Clerk )
Cheragee ( Secretary ) and Jacatoon ( Jemadar) with
which he is quite satisfied, while deliberating on the
friendship that should subsist with the English, a
messenger with a letter arrived from Eaga Maha Sinah
de Pudee Prime Minister of the Golden Country of Seé
Ayoktharah Durrawuddy requesting 1 should repair to
his presence immediately. [ am now arrived. 1 daily
think of you and by the favor of God and cur King
we are determined to join the English to fight and
destroy the Burmese,

Jora Muthagee was ever willing to come into our
dominions. He, his family with Men and Women,
were apprehended by Chequa and Nacan and sent into
our Country of which circumstance I had not the
slightest knowledge till your letter was received ; the
above two persons are now arrived. 1 have made the
Minister d with these ci and
forwarded your letter to him. When your letter was
read to the Minister, he approved highly of its con~
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tents, and felt very happy, and said you are truly one
friend and the friendship between the two kingdoms
should be cultivated,

The Minister having sent for Mou Eah Cherages
and  Jacatoon they arrived at See Ayoktharah
Durrawuddy in the year 1187 (1925) in the Month of
Kachoom (May) on the 18 of the Moon and having
replied to some desultory questions put to them by
the Minister, presents of Cloth and Ungurkah were
made to them and orders given that they be haspitally
entertained.

Jora Muthagee having begged for permission to
return to his Ccuntry at the time I received your
letter and was deliberating on its contents, the
Minister promulgated an order that the people
brought away from Martaban had his full consent
o return to their Country with their family or re-
wmain in his. A number of people that had settled
in our Country long while ago, were anxious to meet
their relations in Martaban and many that had
settled at Martaban were as anxious to meet their
relations in our Country but as the Burmese and we
were at war they were apprehensive of taking any
steps to gratify their longings.

When our Force was Stockaded at Atharan [
sent a letter to you and the Rangoon General ( Sir
Archibald Campbell ) Congratulating you on the
successes you have met with over the Burmese and
our willinguess to assist you. We are very happy
of these results as through them a free iutercourse
Letween the inhabitants of our Country and yours
will subsist, and our friendship thereby become
strongly cemented. A number of people from their
inclination have settled in our Country, while in
some instances the Petty Chiefs and General by im-
position and force brought others over, with the

tion of being p d by the Minister
to a higher post or remunerated. Under such
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circumstances, an order has been promulgated that
those people wishing to remain may do so or return
to their own Country as they please and such aw
Lave been inclined to return I have placed under
charge of Mou Eah to see them safe to their destina-
tion, amounting in all Men and Women to 79 souls,
and with Cheragee Mou Meah Chan, who with his
family have lived here a long tiwe, 26 more, making
a total including old men, women, children
and men 105 souls. I also send by this opportunity
o letter from the Minister which contains all he
would wish to convey to you. You must not make
yourself uneasy on any points. We are here and
ready to assist you.

Martaban is wow in the possession of the
English. See Ayoktharah Durrawuddy and that
place must Lecome one, a free iutercourse must
subsist between the two Countries, and commerce
allowed to Le carried on in Loth, without limit or
reserve. Ever since my return from the Stockade
of Atharan my thoughts (day and night) have
always been about you. I have been thinking to
Jjoin your army but we cannot avail ourselves of this
wish till the month of September or Cctober; I will
make every endeavour personally accompanied by
my army to join you uund fight and destroy the
Burmese nt the time above specified. Our wishes
accord with yours, and we will fight to conquer.
After this the Eaglish and the Siamese will remain
sincere friends and the Countries united by the
Lond of friendship. Formerly See Ayoktharah
Durrawuddy was on terms of amity with the Eng-
lish but now that amity is become more strongly

d and our i herefore with each
other must be more general aud unrestricted

( A true Translation )
(Signed) A. ROWLAND.
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Translation of a Siamese letter to Colonel Smith.

Translation of a letter fron the Prime Minister
of Siam to the address of Colonel Smith.

EGA MAHA Sina de pudee Amachee (sic) (prime
Minister ) of the Goldea Country of See Ayoktharalu
Durmwuddy sends this letter to Colonel Smith Com-
mander of the English Army at Martaban. In the
year 1186 (1824) in the month of Natho (December)
by the favor of cur fortunate King whose virtues
are unequalled and who has rigorously kept the 10
Commandments and at whose Golden feet I am
always prostrate to attend to his commands, bave
ordered Jo Prah Maha Yeotha eay Mah eay Rajah
Egal Mala Sina de pudee-Seeree Zaah Roonnaroon
with his army,to join and assist the English to fight
aud totully annihilate the Burmese. On his way he
encamped at Cninboorey and took great precaution
to guard every poiut accessible by the enemy. He
forwarded a letter to me from thence conveyiug the
happy intelligence of the Eaglish having taken
possession of Martabun and other Countries of the
Burmese. The Burmese hate all along been our
enemy and I have derivad great satisfaction from
this tidings. From such a happy result Martaban
and See Ayoktharah Durrawnddy must now be con-
sidered as one, we must ba friendly with one another
and a free intercourse should subsist between both
its inhabitants. I was glud to hear also after Jo
Prah had arrived at Atharau, he sent intelligence
of it to Colonel Smith and communicated our
willinguess to assist him in joining to destroy the
Burmese and that our proceedings were approved
of Ly the Rangoou General (Sir Archibald
Campbell ). Whilst we were greeting on the happy
tidings of your successes over the Burmess our mirth
was changed into deep sorrow, We bhave had
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the misfortune to receive the intelligence of the
death of our beloved King who, tired with the cares
and troubles of this world, has left it to join the
Angels of Heaven. It becomes the duty of all his
Ministers, Chiefs, Ofcers of rank, vassals &ca.
to pay the last obsequies to his remains, and the
year 1187 (1823) and the month of Kachoon (Vay)
has been fixed on for the funeral. at which time it
is expected we will have all assembled in the Golden
Country and, after taking the oath of allegiance to
the newly installed King, the funeral rites will be
performed.  Owing to these preparations I was
induced to order Jo Prah buck immediately to Durra-
wuddy. Just as my letter reached him he was on
the eve of returning with his army as he was suffer-
ing severely from indisposition. Jo Prah is arrived
at Durrawuddy.

1 have investigated the case of Jora Muthagee
and the men and women apprahended by the Petty
General and Cheque. Sowme of these people have
their relations in our Country, but perlaps the Petty
General and Cheque brought them over with the
expectation of being promoted to o higher post, or
remuncrated by the King. Martaban formerly
Delonged to the Burmese and was at war with the
Siamese. A number of people of the former place
laving relations in our Country were anxious to
come aver to them, but were fearful of taking the
step apprehending detection, but now Martaban and
Di dly must be 1 d oue, the road is
clear, and nothing can impede o free intercourse
with each other as the English and ourselves are on
the most friendly terms. [ have therefore issued
orders that those who are willing to remain in my
Country have my permission to do so, or retire from
it, as they please. Jora Mouthagee and others who
were brought over have received every attention from
me with respect to their eatables and clothing.
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Jo Prah our General having learnt by the way
of Penang that the army at Rangoon was suffering
much from illness acquainted me with the circum-
stance. I received the intelligence with n great deal
of grief and concern, yet I did not place much credit
on the report owing to the distance from which the
report reached him. T sent an order however to
General Jo Prah to learn whether the report was
correct or not. Beenneal Yeathana Say Beenneah
Suttee Sehung Beenah Seehah Rajah Thameeng like
Nayean were deputed to accompany Jora Mutheegee
with a letter to obtain the truth of the story

Our General Jo Prah sent me information that
Mou yea had arrived with 30 followers at Manw: with
a letter from Colonel Smith. Hearing of this intelli-
gence I felt extremely happy and which letter [ have
since received, Having maturely deliberated on the
contents of the letter T issued a promulgation that
Jorah Muthagee with the men and women that were
apprehended and brought over had ny permission to
Teturn or remain in my country as it suited their own
inclinations best, and such as have been inclined to
return I have placed under charge of Mou eah to seo
them safe to their destination, amounting in all, men
and women, to 70 souls, and with Cheeragee Mou-
meah Chan who with his family have lived herea
long time 26 more, making a total including old men,
women children and men 105 souls, All this I have
done Decause the English and owrselves are friends

and we will join you and destroy the Burmess raco
entirely. A number of people that have settled here for
a long time from Moon Tavoy and Tenasserim, to theso
also have I had my orders communicated, and I have
left it to their option cither to remain in our Country
or return to theirs. Being on such friendly terms
with you, I send this letter. So soon as the rainy
season is over our General Jo Prah will immediately join
you to fight and disperse the Burmese as he is alrcady
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in possession of my commands to doso. When the
Burmese ave conquered tranquillity and peace wil
reign on all sides and our friendship will increase day
by day. | send two letters, one written in the
Siamese, the other in the Burmese language, The
contents of both are the same.

(A trwe Translation )

(Signed)  A. ROWLAND,
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Extracts from the Journal of an Excursion up the
Sanloon River by Lieut. James Low, August 1825,

. . » . . .

There is reason to believe that plates of gold or
of silver have been placed below the foundations of
most of the Antient Pagodas, commemorating the
period at which they were built, for I find in a Siam-
ese History of Ligore, which was once an indefinite
principality, that this practice was adhered to on the
occasion of the founding of the first Buddhist temple
there.

. . . . . .

We returned about Nine o'clock to Ka tha. The
Siamese occupied it seems a stockade just opposite to
this village about two months previous to the period
of my visit. They had however destroyed it on their
departure, a fow logs only remaining. The people did
not complain of having been harshly treated by the
Detachment which consisted of three hundred men.
1t was cvidently the policy of the Siamess to conciliate
the people from whom they should have to obtain
supplies in the event of their gaining possession of
the province which they have all along hoped might
bo evacuated for their advantage expressly by the
British.

. . . . . .

We cleared the Ka loong soon Island whers the
river acquires nearly its former breadth (is South of
its South point ) Kammamoon a very rocky Island lies
close above this place, we kept on its north side whers
is the widest channel. * ¢ ®  Wogoon passed
the next Island which is small and not so rocky as
that we had just leit. A large stockade here came in



[ 230 ]

view...This Stockaded Post is called the Kavet or
Kiet, a name applied also to the Island lying offit. It
stands on the angle formed by the junction of
Yoon:alen Khyaung and the main river, hers termed
Hooloo by the Kareans and Salo-en by the Mons.

The post has been well chosen being defended on
two sides by these rivers and on the others by jungle
and a deep foss. It is an oblong of one hundred
and Ninety Yards by eighty seven composed of
upright beams ten feet high, with a bamboo stage
inside for the defenders to fire fiom. The Siamese
stormed this port on the breaking out of the late war
with Ava. The garrison consisted of about three
hundred Mons in the employment of the Martaban
Burman Governor. It was stated to me that the
Siamese swam across the river to invest it and they
succeeded in capturing its defenders. 1 do not wonder
at this last circumstance if the latter were not
provided with better means of holding out than what
they seemed to have had, for along the whole works
inside were placed in regular order at intervals of ten
and twelve paces baskets full of large stones or
pebbles, evidently intended to be thrown at assailants.
‘The Siamese burned the gateway on their evacuating
the Post. » ® * .. J

(Signed) JAMES LOW
Martaban
August 1825,
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Secret and Confidential
Political Department.
To G. Swinton, Bsqr,

Secy. to Govt. Fort William.
Sir,

The Honble. the Governor having determined
upon taking up a vessel for the purpose of conveying
¢arly information to the Right Honble. the Governor
General in Council of the present satisfactory state of
affairs at the Settlement, I do myself the honor to
acknowledge the receipt of your several dispatches
enumerated in the margin. I regret that in conse-
quence of thess dispatches having been
Lan- enclosed in the Post office Mails for this

arrival here, or have an opportunity of
replying to them whilst I was in the
vicinity of Fort William,

With reference to Brigr. Genl. Sir A,

port to you, that I have received intelligence via
Pungah, and the intelligence has been just confirmed
by the Governor of Ligore, that the Pya of Chimpohun.
(Sanpan) by whom the depredations reported by Major
Frith were committed, has been disgraced by the King
of Siam, who is said to have entirely disapproved of
that Pya’s conduct.

On the subject of the dispatch from the Penang
Government it affords me much satisfaction to have it
in my power to lay before the Right Honble. the
Governor General in Council the enclosed copy of &
letter which I have just addressed to the Honble. the
Governor of this Island. From a personal acquaintance
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with the Chief of Ligore, and from having visited
most parts of the Queda Territory, I was led to believe
and report to this Government that His Highness wae
too well aware of our superior means and resources
ever to meditate an attack on this Island, that his
prep were much ted as to their extent,
that they wero directed against Salangore, that the
best and most easy mode of preventing him from
subduing that Malay State was by this Govermuent at
once prohibiting him and that if His Majesty could be
induced to give me a meeting, I indulged every hopss
of being able to remove the distrust and suspicion with
which he has been filled against us by certain interested
Malays, who were actively employed in exciting
similar unfriendly feelings on our part against His
Highness. Tet me then do myself the common justice
to beg you will solicit His Lordship in Council to com-
pare the enclosed report with those which I had
previously the honor to submit to this Government on
the 28th of January and 2d of April,

1t is my desire and inclination ns much as my
duty, to speak with every sentiment of respect and.
veneration of the Honble. the Governor of this Island,
from whom I have had the happiness of receiving
much personal kindness and consideration. But
during my absence at Calcutta the old roport, which
was tried in 1822, of the Chief of Ligore proposing
to attack this Island, was again brought here. The
Honble. the Governor had mnot witnessed the ex-
travagance to which the false report of 1822 had
led many Gentlemen, nor had he resided a sufficient
time in this quarter of India to feel himself justified
in acting entirely upon his own knowledge and
judgment of the different characters of our inhabitants.
Unfortunately also, local feelings and impressions
s0 common in a small Settlement led to my reports
Dbeing put aside and discredited, and to new informa-
tion being received from Malay Spies and informers.
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The Malays are as quick in discovering, and a3 in
genious in inventing, as the natives of Hindoostan,
whatever their European masters would like to hear.
Previons to my reports soms opinions, most unfavorable
towards the character and designs of the Chief of
Ligore, hiad been given and published, and hence
every tale that was now brought confirmatory of those
opinions and in refutation of mine, was implicitly
received and reported to the Honble. the Governor
without the common pracaution being taken of enquir-
ing, how such a poor and vagabond set of informors
could have learnt the secrat views and Santiments of
the Governor of Ligors.  Ths only pact of my reports to
which any attention was paid was that wherein T recom-
mended the Chief of Ligore bring at once prohibited
against proceeding to Salangore ; anl this measurz, con-
ducted as it was by my friend Mr. Maingy under the
immediate direction of the Honble. the Governor, was
attended with all the success that 1 had anticipated,

On my arrival here on the 8th of July I found sc
strong an excitation against the Chief of Ligore that |
was obliged to ressrve my opinions to myself, and to
solicit ouly that I might be allowed to inform His
Highuess of my return. A principal officer, however,
told me, that my visiting Quadah was quite ussless, and
cautioned me further to take care that His Highness
did not poison me. Tie enclosel raport details the
result of my visit, and [ solizit oaly to add to it one or
two points for the particular information of the
Supreme Government.

The force and number of His Highness's Boats
have been much maguified, and every thing else
that I saw or heard at Quedah proved to me, that
our Mualay spies and ioformners had grossly exag-
gerated und misrepresented. As one proof of the
contemptible condition of His Highness's Squadron
I will only mention, that when Lis state Boat came
along side of the vessel on board of which I had
proceeded to Quedah Roads, I founl five of the



[234]

Crew which may be presumed to have consisted of
select men, lying at the bottom of the Boat ina
deplorabla State of Sea Sickness while it wis fall
20 Minutes before any one of the rest could ascend
the side of my vessel. 1t wasalso maiantained here,
that the forca which the Chiet of Ligore had collect-
ed was far too powerful t> b2 intended werely
against Salangore, but it was forgotten that the
Rajah of Salangore had two yewrs ago succeeded in
destroying 49 of His Highness's boats at one blow,
and had invited to his assistance a set of very bold
aud desperate pirates from the Southward, and it is
worthy of remark that our own Agent, when now
deputed to that quarter and in the character even of
a friend, finds it necessary to prosesd with two

armed vessels, some gun boats and an escort of 23

Sepoys.

I have consilerel it my duty to bring the above
particulurs wider the notive of the Right Uonble.
the Governar General in Council in this manner,
with no view ta injure or depreciata the character of
any public officer, but in order to submit to His
Lordship in Council, the nacessity of repeating the
injunctions which were conveyed in the dispateh to
this Government under date the 19th of November
directing the Governor of Ligore to be treated with
sideration and to submit

o becoming rexpest and

also the expediency of calling upou the officers of
this Government to divest themselves of all previous
proposessions of partizanship towards the Malays
and of improper wnimosity against the Chief of
Ligore and to receive the Agreement which His
Highness hius now concluded in a spirit of frankuess
and liberality.
I have &e.
( Signed) H.BURNEY Captain

Poll. Ageut to the Sianese States
Prince of Wules Island
10th August 1825.
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To Captain Burney
Poll. Agent to the Siamese States.
Sir,

I am directed by the Honorable the (iovernor
in Council to acknowledge the receipt of your letter
under date the 30th August nud to apprize you that
the necessnry orders have been issued to the Com-
manding  Officer of tho Troops for holding in
veadiness an escort of one Nutive Officer, 2 Haval-
dars, 2 Nuiks, 2 Deanuners and 30 Sepoys from the
25th Regt. under the command of u steady and
experienced officer, and for the Master Attendant to
enguge, in communication with you, a suitable vessel
for the conveyance to Bunkok of yourself and escort
and suit, for which also the commissarint has been
instructed to prepare a supply of provisious and
water equal to their cousumption for four months.

The limited nature of the Medical Establish-
ment of this Presidency prevents the Governor in
Couneil acceding to your request with respect to Mr.
Asst. Surgeon Henderson and it is proposed there-
fore that Mr, Sub Assistt Surgeon Harris [should be
placed] under your orders.

The Governor in Council is not aware of any
necessity of ndding to the wstractions with which
you lLave already been furnished as far as the
British Interests in this quarter are concerned.
They may be reduced to the four following heads.

1st. The restoration of the King of Quedah.
20d. The withdrawal of the Siamese from Perak.

8rd. The prevention of further conquests by
the Siamese over the Malayan States on either side
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of the Peninsula. The q i of
the independence of those states and exclusion of the
Sinmese powers from contact with the British
Settlenents in the straits and

4thly. The establishment of more free inter-
course and trzde with the interior and eastern
side of the Malayan Peninsula by means of the
overland routes and numerous rivers flowing into
the sea in the neighbourhood of Penang.

For all other points, T am directed to refer you
to Para. 10 to 13 of the dispatch from the Supreme
Government of the I13th May with the instructions
to yourself from that authority. You will be
furnished from the Houble. the Governor with ap-
propriate letters from himself to the Chow Pya
Klang or Foreign Minister at Bankok and to such
other Native Chiefs whose places of residence
may be in your route to Bankok, and you are request-
ed to provide yourself with a suitable address from
the King of Quedal to the King of Siam and his
minister.

Under present circumstances the probable neces-
sity of another Campnigu against Ava and the
consideration of the many points of discussion likely
to arise in the settlement of frontiers and actual
interchauge of territories with Siam seem to point
out in strong terms the expediency of your proceed-
ing to Bankok with all possible expedition, so as to
afford as a British accredited Agent at the Court
an early medium of divect communication with it.
You will not fail however to touch at Salingapoor*
and communicate most freely and unreservedly on
all points of your Mission with the Resident of
that Settlement.

There is a point to which the Governor in Coun-
cil desires your early attention at Bankok, the
opening of an amicable and free intercourse between



[297]

our acquisitions on the Coast of Tenasserim and the
contiguous Biamese Posts by the adoption of which
measure it is hoped that the depredations of the
Siamese Chiefs in that neighbourhood would be
precluded in future, or arrangen:ents made for the
restitution of the unfortunate Burmese captives taken
awny from the provinces of Mergui and Tavoy.

I have &c.
(Signed) J. R. CUPPAGE
Actg. Secy. to Government.

Fort Cornwallis
The 10th September 1825,
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FORT WILLIAM 16th September 1825.

To Captain Burney

Political Agent to the Siamese States.
SIR,

1 am directed to acknowledge the receipt of
your dispatch of the 10th Ultimo® submitting copies
of your report to the Governor of Priuce of Wales
Island, of your conferences with the Rajah of
Ligore and of the provisional Treaty concluded with
that Chief.

2. The Governor General in Council having
received from the Government of Prince of Wales
Island copies of the above mentioned documents and
expressed his sentiments on the subject of your
proceedings in his reply to the dispatch from that
Government, I am directed to transmit you a Copy
of His Lordship in Council’s letter* for your in-
formation, and to repeat to you, in this direct form,
the very high sense which Government entertains of

on the occasior in question, and the confident ex-
pectation of His Lordship in Council that the
friendly understanding which you have established
with the Rajuh of Ligore will contribute in an
essential degree to a satisfactory arrangement of all
depending questions with the Court of Siam to
which you are about to proceed.

roaes S22 the ability, judgment and nddress displayed by you

I have &ca.
(Signed) G. SWINTON
Secy. to Govt.

Fort Williamn
16th Septr. 1825,
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To
‘The Honorable
ROBERT FULLERTON

Governor  &ca. &ea. &ea.
Houble. Sir,

* * * * * *

Ou the day following [ 30th Sept. 1825 ] Ias~
sumed charge of the Civil and Political administra~
tion of the Province of Mergui. * %  *

My attention was at once directed to the deten-
tion of the Siamese prisoners, the particulars of
which lave already been detailed in Major Frith's
letter to Sir A. Cumpbell dated 27th March. I
visited these unfortunate men and found them in
irons, and T regret to add that the alarm which has
prevailed and still prevails at Mergui regarding the
Siamese prevented my having their irons struck off.
This had once Leen doune by Major Frith, but it

d so much npprehension, that at night all
the women left their houses, and many families
removed without the stockade.

It is but justice to the officers formerly com-
manding at Mergui to state that the irons areso
light as scarcely to prove of nny inconvenience. I
have endeavoured to contribute to the comfort of
the prisoners by directing them to be regularly sup-
plied with fish, ealt, &ca , and by allowing a certain
number to enjoy exercise aud to be taken every day
to the Tank without the stockadas for the purpose of
enjoying a bath.

Captain Collinson’s report of the confinement
of some Siamese Envoys does not entirely prove
correct. The men alluded to by the Officer belong
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to the party now detained and were allowed to go to
Buankok in view of obtaining the return of the
Burmese carried away by the Pin of Chimpohun and
thereby their own release. They assert that the
Burmese will be sent back as soon as the raius are
over, and the circumstance of the return of these
men, and of the Pia of Chimpohun being disgraced,
leads me to hope such will be the case. I lhave
however deewed it my duty to facilitate this measure
us much us possible, convinced that it will materially
tend to restore tranquillity and give confidence, and
lave therefore released ten of the prisoners amil
placed them in charge of one of the followers of the
Chow Pia of Ligore who accompanied me from
Keduh and with instructions to take them to Ban-
kok. I communicated on this subject with the
Envoy to the Court of Sium, and Enclosures
Numbers 3 and 4® ure Copies of letters forwarded to
the Pia Klung and Chow Piu of Ligore. I have also
availed nyself of this opportunity to address the
different Sinmese Chiefs residing near our froutier,
and now transmit copy of wmy letter,

Tn would be impossible to describe the distress
and wisery occasioned by the depredations of the
Binmese since our Conquest of Mergui. Nota village
a few miles distint from the stockade has escaped,
and at least one thousand six hundred {1,600) of the
inhabitants have been carried away. Every village
in the interior is deserted, and scarcely a trading
Loat is seen, but this ean excite no surprise when it
is considered they have been deprived of their arms,
and theu left without protection, thus almost invit-
ing the Sinmese to repeat their incursions.

. > . . . .
Moandown (n hill so called) forms the southern

boundary of the Province of Tenasserim and of course
that of Mergui. It is distant about sixty miles from
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Tenasserim ; the nearest inhabited Burman village
to this bill is called Sinkoan in whose vicinity are
two large ? the one standing without the boundary
of the Burmese tlie other within Sinmese Territories.
1t is stated that this boundaryis well known to
Both parties and from all 1 can learn the hill of
Moandown must be very nearly in the same parallel
of latitude ns I'akehan or Charwa, defined by Captain
Yurney us the boundury of the Province of Mergui.

The range of Lills that divide the Isthmus and
form the Enstern boundary of the Irovince are dis-
tunt about seventy-five miles in a direct course from
These Lills are well known to both nations
us forming the boundary between them, aud the
Sinmese have stockades a few hours journey within
their frontiers in this quarter.

Vo

. . ° . ° °

‘the Country in the immediate neighbourhood
of the Burmese and Sinmese boundaries is entirely
uncultivated for some days' journey on both sides,
owing no doubt to the continued depredations carried
on by these nations. T cannot learn that there is
any communication from Mergui direct to its eastern
fiontier, the whole is represented ns Hills covered
with jungle and Forest.

% o . o . .
T have &
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY.

Hired Brig Minerva
Tavoy River 13th
October 1825.
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After Compliments.

Mr. Maingy, appointed British Commisioner for
the Provinces of T'avoy and Mergui, has to acquaint
his Friend the Raju Klang of his arrival at Mergui.

The Tan Chow Pya of Ligore will lave already
informed the Pya Klang that the Provinces of Mer-
gui and Tavoy nre now placed under the direction
and orders of the Honorable the Governor of Prince
of Wales Island. Mr. Maingy has found no less
than one hundred and twenty two Siamese in con-
finement here, followers of the Pya of Chimpolun
who wantonly and unprovoked and forcibly carried
away from the Province no less than four hundred
Burmese who were then considered British Subjects,
the province of Mergui being at that period in pos-
session of the Fnglish,

Mr. Muingy however, anxious of evincing how
desirous the English nation is of preserving the most.
intimate and triendly relutions with the Sinmnese has
lost no time in dispatching to Bankok five of the
principal Siamese with five attendants at present
detained here. My Tuan, one of the followers of
the Tun Chow Pya of Ligvre has taken charge of
them, and to him Mr. Maingy refers his friend the
Pya Klang for ull inforination. 1t is well known that
independent of the four hundred Burmese forcibly
carried awiy on one occasion by the Pya of Chimpo-
hun at | least | one thousand two hundred more of
the inhabitants of the Provinces of Mergui and
Tavoy have been taken away at different times by
different Siamese Chiefs, and as these one thousand
six hundred persons were actually British subjects
in consequence of the Provinces of Mergui and
Tavoy having been conquered by the English, I beg
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wy friend will not delay their retarn but forward
them to Mergui or Tavoy, and on their arrival at
either of these places the Siamese now here shall be
released and every assistance afforded them to return
to their own Country.

Captain Henry Burney, Envoy to the Court of
Siam, will no doubt have nssured the Pya Klang
that the return of the Siumese is certain as soon as
the Burmese are restored to the English authorities
either at Mergui or Tavoy. Avy arrangement
Captain Henry Rurney may enter into regarding
the Siamese at Mergui Mr. Maingy faithfully pro-
mises to fulfil,

Mr. Maingy sends his friend the Pya Klang o
piece of green cloth.

(True Copy )
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY

Commissioner for the Fro-
vinces of Mergui and Tavoy,
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No. 4.
After Cowpliments.

Me. Maingy now sends My Tuan with his fullowers
to his friend the Tan Chow Pya of Ligore who will
communicate all particulars regarding the voyage and
of all that he has seen at Mergui. Mr. M
anxious of evincing how desirous the English nation
is of maintaining the most friendly velations with the
Siamese, has lost no time in digpatching to Barkek
My Tunn and with im five of the principal Siamese
(Chiefs with five of their attendants who have been
detained liere some months and who were taken at the
time the Pia of Chimpolun, in defiance of the friend-

ship existing between the English and Sinmese,

entered the Provinee of Mergui and carried aws
sreat. Number of Burmese who were at that period
British subjects, owing to the conquest of the Province
ly the Bnglish. The ese now detained hen
adumit that the Pya of Chimpoliun on one aceasion only

carried off upwards of four hundrad inhabitants of the
Province of Mergni and besides these at least one
thousand two hundred more of the inhabitants of the
provinces of Mergui and Tavoy have been taken away
by diffarent Siamese Chiefs.

Mr. Maingy therefore most strongly requests his
Friend the Tan Chow I’ya of Ligore to use his utmost
endeavours to obtain the immediate return of the one
thousand six hundred Burmese now British! subjects,
all of whom are detained by different Siamese Chiefs.

My Tuan will inform the Chow Pya that Mr.
Maingy has greatly contributed to the comfort of the
Siamese now at Mergui, all of whom will be im-
mediately given up the moment the Burmese now
British subjects arrive at Mergui or Tavoy. If the
Clow Pya really wishes to evince the sincerity of his
friendship towards the English nation, he can give no
better proof of it than by the release of the one
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thousand six hundred Burmese, now British subjects
detained in the Territories under the dominion of the
King of Siam.

Mr. Maingy sends his friend the Chow Pyn a piece
of Green Cloth.

(True Copy )
(Signed) A. D. MAINGY

Commissioner for the
Provinces of Mergui
and Tavoy.
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d British C
for the Provinces of Mergui and Tavoy, has to
apprize and all other

Mr. Maingy,

iamese officers,
that the English nation is at war against the King of
Ava and his arrogant ministers and not against the
people of Siam, and that the Right Honorable the
Governor General of British [ndia lius resolved upon
affording the inhabitants of Mergui and Tavoy a
Civil Government under the direction of the Houble.
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island, who has
therefor deputed Mr. Maingy to take charge of the
territory in this neighbourhood lutely conquered
from the King of Ava by the British a~ms.

The English nation is particularly desirous of
preserving the most friendly relations with the
Siamese and Mr. Maingy has bean especially in-
structed to respect the lives and property of all
Simmese subjects with whom he may meet. Mr.
Maingy has for many years lived in the Eastern
Countries, is well acquainted with the manners and
customs of the Siamese, Chinese and Burmans and
Malays, and is on terms of friendship with the
Sinmese Chow Pya of Ligore. He will therefore
know how to conduct any correspondence with the
Sinmese Chiefs in the neighbourhood and so point
out to them whiat means are necessary towards
establishing the most friendly and intimate relations
between the English and Siamese. Mr. Maingy
begs to assure all Siamese Officers and subjects that
50 long as they treat the Burmese of Mergui and Tav-
oy with that consideration to which they are now
entitled as British subjects, the most liberal and
unrestricted trade and intercourse will be allowed
and encouraged between the Provinces of Mergui
and Tavoy and the contiguous Siamese Territories.
But several Siamese from ignorance of the nature and
extent of the British authority iu these provinces have
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made incursions and depredations agiinst the Bur
mese. Mr. Maingy most particularly cautions all

Siamese officers against the repetition of such un-
friendly acts, and hie warns all Siumese officers who
may hiave taken possession of any places which be-
longed to the Provinces surrendered to the English

to retire from such places, as they value and fear

the serious displeasure of the King of Siam, to whom
an Envoy is now on his way from the Right Honor-

able the Governor General of British India. M.

Maingy invites the neighbouring Sinmese Chiefs to

open a friendly correspondence with him on all

matters connected with the Burmase War, or with

the affairs of these Provinces.

(True Copy )
(Signed) A. . MAINGY Commissr.

for the Provinces of Mergui & Tuvoy.
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FORT WILLIAM 14th Octr. 1825.

Consuttations

Vol.333.

No. 0.

To

J. R. CUPPAGE Bsqr.

Acting Secretary of Prince of Wales” Island.
Sir.

[ am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your
dispatch of the 3rd ultimo, enclosing a Translation of
a letter from the Rojah of Ligore to the Honorable the
(Governor of Penang and reporting the transmission of
a Box of Presents from the Rajah for the Governor
General,

2. In reply 1 awm directed to state the satisfaction
which the Governor General in Council derives from
these testimonies of the desire of the Rajah of Ligore
to cultivate the friendship and good will of the British
Government, a disposition which His Lordship in
Couneil is assured will be met in the same spirit by
the Government of Prince of Wales' Island and en-

couraged as much as possible.

3. The Governor General in Conncil will take an
early opportunity of making a suitable return of pre-
sents to the Rajal which will be forwarded from the
Persian Department.

I have &ea.
( Signed) GEO. SWINTON
Secy. to the Gost.

Fort William
14th Octe. 1825.
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FORT WILLIAM 27th April 1826,

Vol 333

No. 10,

A DESCRIPTION

of the Route from Tavoy to the top of the Naye
daung Pass on the Siamese Fronticr.

The proximity of the Siamese Dominions to the
lately conquered Burman Province of Tavoy induced
me in February last to undertake a journey to the
Eastern Frontier of the latter; And as it had been
aflirmed that there was a Military road in the direction
“of Che up poel, that route was preferred.

About a mile from the foot of this Pass stood the
famous stockade of Che up poel on the banks of a
small stream.

The Tavoyers depended on its garrison to keep
the Siamese in check in that quarter. Its site had
been very injudiciously chosen, for it is in the middle
of a phiin, only a few hundred yards wide and quite
commanded by the heights on the east [and ] west.
It lies now in ruins but numerons spikes were found
concealed amongst the long grass.

At five miles two furlongs from Wa gong we
came upon a spot termed Wa-Chup-pen-ma celebrated
on account of a battle once fought there betwixt the
Burmans and Siamese.

. . - . . .

There is not a house near this Pass ; 50 soon as
some observations had been made and it was evident that
the Siamese had no party here with which an amicable
conference could be held or any Post close to the Pass,
Thoisted the British Flag on the space betwixt the two
piles of stones, and saluted it with three rounds of
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musketry from my party, when it was hauled down
and a red handkerchief hoisted in its place to shew
that we had been there, and that a British Officer had
ascertained the boundary betwixt Tavoy and the
Siamese Dowmini Considering also the i

of affairs at this Crisis, a stone on which T rudely
engraved B. . 1. Coy. was buried on the spot.

As T had no authority from the Honorable the
Governor in Council to pass the froutier it became my
duty to return, but with an adequate supply of pro-
visions we might have reached the Capital of Siam
in cight days from this point.

A Paper was left in o bottle on the Siamese pile
purporting that a British Officer had been thers and
had been disappointed in not weeting on friendly
terms some Siamese Officer.

. . . o . .
( Signed ) JAMES LOW.

Penang

1st November 1823,
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FORT WILLIAM 27th April 1825,

Vol. 338.

No.17.

Mr. Maingy

To G. Swinton Feqre,
Secy. to the Govt. Poll. Dept.
FORT WILLIAM
Sir,

1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
your letters of the 16th Sapte. the one transmitting
under an open cover the duplicate of a letter to the
Honorable Mr. Fullerton, the other enclosing a trans-
lation of a letter from the Chief Minister of the King
of Siam,

On my arrival at Merzui my immediate attention
was directed to the Siamese who are there in confine~
ment, and I lost uo time in addressing the Chiet
Minister of the King of Siam, ths Chow Iya of Ligore
and Captain Burney ragarding their releaso and the
return of the Barmoss inhabitants forcibly carried
away by the Pya of Ghimpohun. The letter addrossed
to Captain Burney and recsived vid Rangoon shall be
forwarded to that officer in the coarse of a few days as
lam making arangements for ensuring a regular
communication between this place and Bankok.

1 deem it my duty to transmit to you for the
information of the Right Honorable the Governor
General in Couneil copies of my reports from Mergui
and this place addressed to the Honorable the Governor
of Prince of Wales Island.

T have &e.

(Signed) A, D. MAINGY
Commissioner for the Provinees
of Mergui and Tavoy.

Tavoy
the 1st November 1825.
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#ome Saries, ( Copies )
aneous,

Rangoon
30th Novr. 1825,
Geo: Swinton Esqre.
Secry. to Government
&e.  &e

Caleutta.

L have much pleasure in forwarding for the in-
formation of the Right Honorable The Governor
General in Council the enclosed Copies of highly satis-
factory letters trom Captain Fenwick, Commanding at
Martaban, announcing the arrival of the Sidmese army
under the command of the Roon Roon at that place,
and of their being in readiness to co-operate in any
manner their services may be wished with the Britisl
army now serving in Ava.

1 have &e.
( Signed) W. SMELT
Lt. Col, and Brigr.

Comg, Lower Provinces.
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To
Brigadier Smelt
Commg. Lower Provinces.
Sir,

I have this day been honored with your queries
of the 4th Instant.

Since my arrival here I have endeavoured to
trace out any remaius of the race of the Pegu Royal
Fawily, butin vain—it is asserted that the Rown Rown
is of the noblest blood of the Taliens, and that the
sudden recall of the Siamese army last year was on
account of a charge bmught against him of wishing to

tablish an - ind, here. In the
event of it becoming desirable to establish an inde-
pendent G the Talien Zemindars ot Marta-
ban would furnish from three to four thousand men,
and the means we possess of arming them in a superior
manner would give them a decided advautage over
their neighbours.  The wealth they haye accnmulated
during their connection with us, renders them much
averse to the idea of returning under the Burman
Government. 1 may add that the Zemindars are
reported to have behaved well in the skirmishes they
had with the followers of the Ex Governor of this place,

I have reason to think that the Ex Governor
meditate; a retreat from his stockade at Rangoon, in
the direction of Tongho.

1 have &e,
(Signed) ROBT. FENWICK
Captn. 12th Regt.

Martaban
12th Novr. 1820,
( True Copy )
(Signed) W. Smelt.
Brigadier
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Brigadier Smelt
Commg. at Rangoon.
My dear Sir,

The Siamese Army have at length shewn them-
selves.  Their advance of 200 men arrived yesterday
with six officers, nccompanying our Zemindars and
bearing two letters of which T now enclose translations
(as well as the shortness of the time will permit) and
a copy of my letter to Sir A. as far as relates to the
Rown Rown. Every thing seems as favorable as can
be desired, aud almost to anticipate the General’s
wishes on that score, and I have not the least doubt
but any plan of the kind nalluded to in your last may
be carried into effect, with great ultimate advantage
to our interests. I shall by paymg the utmost
attention to the Rown Rown prepare the way for
any proposal which it may be hereafter advisable to
make to him.

The ges he hias sent confidentially by our
Zemindars shew the confidence he ix inclined to place

in ue and the great desire he has to settle again
in his Native Country, and from comparing all
circumstances, I see no reason to donbt his sincerity.
Tam unable to give any answer to his letter, being
yet uncertain whether the war is continued or not.
I shall therefore not dispatch any one to him until 1
can decidedly inform him low we stand with the
Burman Government.

The Ex Governor 1 imagine will move towands
Tongho when he hears of the arrival of the Siamese.
T shall send ont a strong party under our Zemindars
to favor the escape of a number of people he detains
by keeping their wives and children with him when
he moves. These people have promised to come over
it they can find an opportunity. I am under no
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apprehension of his attacking me, as I will have
notice of any movement he may attempt and I know
my strength to be superior to auy thing he could effect.

(Signed) R. FENWICK.

Martaban
15th Novr. 1825,
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To
Brigadier Goneral
Sir A. Campbell K. C. B.
Commanding the Forces.
Sir,

T'have the honor to forwand two letters from the
Rown Rown received this day. Six Talien officers of
the Siamese army brought them accompanied by our
Zemindars, who took Lieutenant Colonel Conroy's
Ietters to the Siamese Capital,

Ist.  From these letters n very large Sinmese forco
may be expected in a few days. 1 am informed that
the first division will be composed entirely of Taliens
under the command of the Rown Rown and is estimated
at 10,000. A Siamese force is roported to follow
under the command of the Prince of the Royal family.

2ud. From the private letter from the Rown Rown
and from the confidential message sent by our Zemin-
dars, there can be no donbt but that the Taliens, now
in Siam, wonld gladly embrace an opportunity of
returning to. their native country and sserting their
independence. As the Rown Rown has been so long
at the head of 5o large  portion of this people, it is a
fortunate circumstance that his sentiments should far-
nish an opportunity of gaining him over to onr interests
at this juncture.  The Taliens in the Siamese Country
are estimated above 100,000 souls, and it may be pre-
sumed that the Siamese Government will not be averse
to sce the Pegn Goverment, under a fiiendly Power.
rather than it should revert to their enemies.

3rd. 1 shall use my utmost exertions to conci-
liate the Rown Rown and afford every assistance to
the Talien Division in which our Talien Zemindars are
ready to assist, as they look on these people as their
relations.

( A true Copy )
( Signed ) R. FENWICK
17th Novr. 1825,




[ 2571

Translation of a letter received from the Rowm
Rown 17th November 1825.

After recapitulation of Colonel Conroy’s [ letter ]
and Compliments, states that a large force from Siam
will soon arrive at Martaban and proceed to attack the
Burmese, but he is very anxious to be assured that
provisions may be supplied to his army, as being ob-
liged to warch a great distance by land, they are
unable to bring a sufficient supply with them ; all the
surrounding country being under British protection
they caunot take subsistence without permission, and
a8 the Martaban country intervenes between the place
where the Ex-Governor of Martaban now is and the
army, it will be requisite to provide provisions in the
cvent of it being necessary to attack him. The Rown
Rown is very anxious on account of provisions, the
Siamese army being so numerous. That he is much
vexed at the delay which has taken place but shonld
Martaban be enup to the Siamese Government
there will be no difficulty and every assistance will be
given in prosecuting the war; that little resistance
can he wade by the Burmese to the nnited forces. In
furtherance of the above the Rown Rown was ordered
to assemblo an avmy at Camboory.

That in the event of advancing to Ava, Mergui,
Tavoy and Martaban being in the hands of the English.
the Sizwese could apprehend no danger on  that
Frontier.

That an army might be sent to attack the Burmese
also by the route of Temay Siam. That this letter is
written by order of the Council. That if Tavoy and
Martaban be given over to the Siamese Government
the united forces will easily reduce the Burmese,

( Requests a speedy answer.)
Dated 11th of the Moon Tha den Kymat 1187.
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Translation of the private letter from the Rown
Rown and said by the Talien who delivered it, to
Dbe his true sentiments, the public letter heing written
by order of the Siamese Government.

After recapitulation of Colonel Conroy's letter,
he states that according to his desire a very large
Siamese Force will now come ; that as Martaban is
the native country of the Taliens he hopes that subsis-
tence will be given them ; that he is very anxious to
leave the Siamese Country and requests that every
thing may be done to further his departure from that
Country ; that he will advance in any direction neces-
sary and take care of the route by Pegne and Tongha.

Beygs to liave early intelligence,
\

N~
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To
Brigadier Smelt
Commanding Lower Provinces.
Sir,

1 have the honor to report the eperations of the
enemy in this vicinity. Oudinah, the Ex Governor of
Martaban, detached 800 men to attack the Zemindars
of Keikala and Bengyd Zurein ; after some resistanco
these Chiefs were taken prisaners and put to death,
their towns burnt and people dispersed.  About 500
have sought onr protection and nuwbers are hourly
avsiving. These Zemindars had never nccepted one
protection, but Oadinah had found out their intentions
of doing so, and made this a plea for attacking them.

Oudinah now gives out his intention of moving
in this direction. I have found it necessary  to
strengthen the Zemindar of Zmgy by serving ont
some of the repaired arms left here by Colonel Smith,
and by sending the advance of the Siameso (200) to
his assistance ; I shall also send 500 Si mese, who are
hourly expected, in the same direction. As the
Zengay people are all Taliens and ate well armed, I
have no doubt: but they will be able to repulse any
attempts Oudinah can make. 1 lave apprehended
a few Burman inhabitants of this place who wers in
correspondence with Oudinah and had promised to
fire the town when he should approach,

You may rely that I shall neglect nothing in tho
defence of the district.

I have &ea.
(Signed) ROBT. FENWICK
Martaban
27th Novr. 1825.
(true Copy—Sd.) W.SMELT
(True Copies)
(Signed) GEO: SWINTON
Secy. to the Govt.
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Resolutions of the C isi in Peguand Ava.

Miscellansous, ('ay;, Miaday 19th Decr. 1825,

Vel. 867, pp.
48-50. (2d.set
of paging.)

The Senior Commissioner having laid before the
Commission an original letter to lis address from the
Rown Rown Commauding a Talien army of 10,000
men in the service of the King of Siam, and a letter,
also to his address, from the Minister of Siam accom-
panying the army, forwarded by Captain Fenwick in
Civil charge of the Province of Martaban, it was re-
solved that an answer to the following effect, in the
Burmese Language, be forwarded under the joint
signature of the Commissioners, to the General in
Chief of the Siamese Army.

“ The Commissioners of the British (o
in Indin for the affairs of Pe
a triendly letter from the M
hear with great pleasure that the Rown Rown has
advanced with an army of 10.000 men to co-operate
with the English troops, and that a larger army is
about to advance for the same purpose. The Commis-
sioners understand from the letter under acknowledg-

wand Ava have

ster of Siam, and they

ment the wishes of the Siamese (lovernment with
respect to the Province of Mer and
knowing as they do the feelings of friendship which
the British Government in India entertain for the
King of Siam, and their strong desire to give proof of
that friendship by geatifying the wishes of his Majesty,
they do not doubt but that after the conclusion of

ai amd Tavo;

Tostilities by the entire defeat of the Burmese, by the
united efforts of the British and Siamese arms, the
Governor General in Council will find means to afford
full satisfaction to his Siamese Majesty with respect to
the Provinces akove mentioned.

The Commissioners further desire to notify to the
Chiet authorities with the Siamese army, that they
have sent Captain Williamson to confer with them
wpon oll matters mentioned in the letter hereby
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1 1

dged, and upon er subject may arise
to require discussion. He will also remain with the
army. Whatever agreement Captain Williamson may
make, the Commissioners will confirm, and they request
the Siamese Authorities will consider his words as the
words of the Commissioners. Instructions have been
issued to that officer upon all subjects, and if the
Siamese treat him with confidence, it is certain that the
friendship which now so happily exists between those'
two great nations, the English and the Siamese, will

be continued, and so strengthened as to endure, If

the Siamese Authorities, on the part of their King.

will depute an officer to ccompany the Head Quarters
of the British Army, and communicate with the

Commissioners, ho will be gladly received, and treated

with all due honor and respect.”

The Commissioners turther resolved with reference
to the concluding paragraph of the above letter to the
Siamese Authorities, to appoint Captain Williamson of
the 30 Regiment Madras Light Tnfantry to bo Deputy
Political Agent, on the part of the British Government
in India with the Authorities Commanding or accom-
panying the Sinmese Army, that a copy of the fore-
going letter should be forwarded to him for his
information, together with full and explicit instructions
for his guid, in his i with the
Siamese Generals or Ministers, and that he should be
directed to make the most regular and detailed reports
upon all political matters connected with such com-
munications, addressing the same to the Secretary
to the Commission.

The C issil resolved to 1to the
Right Honorable the Governor General in Council that
Captain  Williamson's allowances, in his political
capacity, ehould be fixed at Calcutta Sicea Rupees 500
per Mensew, with additional travelling allowances at
the rate of Calcutta Sicea Rupees 300 per Mensem, to
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enable him to accompany the Siamese Head Quarters
with ease and certainty and to maintain such a suite
and establishment as may givo him weight and res-
pectability in the eyes of the officers of that Nation
with whom he will be placed in Communication.

. . B . . *

By onder of the Commissioners.
( Signed ) ROSS D. MANGLES
Se

and Ava,

Commisses. in Pegu
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( Copy )
To
BRIGADIER SME

Sir,

Lawm directed to acknowledgo the receipt of your
dispateh of the 30th ultimo, submitting copies of letters
from Captain Fenwick, commanding at Martaban.

2. The communications from that gnarter are

idered to by highly interesting and important, and
have induced the Governor General to addvess special
instrictions to Major Genoral Sir Archibald Campbell,

a copy of which is herewith transmitted for your
information.

3. You will of course be guided by the instrue-
tions which vou will receive from Sir Archibald
Campbell with regard to the mode and extent in which
it may be deemed expedient to avail onrselves of
Siamese co-operation, but in the absence of any special
directions on that head you will not fail to manifest
the most friendly disposition towards the Talien Chief,
and to turn him and his troops to the best account,
reporting to me for the information of Government the
general teeling of the Peguers towards him, and their
opinion and wishes with regard to his pretensions or
those of any of the ancient Talien race in his train, to
the throne of Pegue.

4. You will ba cautious however, how you en-
courage the Talien force to enter the lower parts of
Pegue, as it wonld appear that it must depend upon
us wholly for supplies. The most desirable arrange-
ment appears to be that the force in question should
mareh upon Thongho, keeping on the left side of the
Pegu river until nearly opposite that fortress: but on
0 important a subject the Governor General in
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Council cannot doubt that you will have received
instructions from Sir Archibald Campbell, who must
possess the most correct local information, and be best
able to judge how and where to employ the Siames:
troops to the greatest advantage.

I have &e.

( Signed ) GEO: SWINTON
Secy. to Govt.

FORT WILLIAM
20th Decr. 1825,

A Trne Copy

( Sigued ) Geo: Swinton
Seex. to Goyt.
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R. D. MANGLES, Lsr.
Secretary to the Commission
in Pegue and Ava,
Sir,
Darrived here on the 11th inst. and 1 have now
the honor to acquaint you, for the information of the
issi . that in 1 of the Siamese
army under the Rown Rown being still at a great
distance from this place, I have been under the
necessity of forwarding their letter to the Siamese
Authorities, g 10 prospect at present of delivering
it in person for a considerabie time, as the Rown Rown,
it would appear, had not yet arrived on this side of
the Mhinj-gunv-gyue-toury range of hills, which divide
these provinces from Siam. [ have addressed a letter
to him stating I have been sent by the Commissioners
to accompany his army on its march into the Pegu
territory, with the view of co-operating with the
British troops now there, and that I will take the
earliest opportunity of joining him after 1 have re-
ceived information of his having passed the mountains,
I have also communicated to him that every exertion
will be used by the officer in charge of the province of
Martaban to supply his army with grain, and that it
therefore becomes necessary for him to make known
to me without reserve, his intended movements on that
account, as well as to afford me an opportunity of
reporting the progress of his force to the General
Commanding the British troops in Ava,

There are at present about 200 of the Rown
Rown’s Division here, 100 of them at Ahtram (to which
place from hence there is water communication) and
500 at Keun-beng, about G marches beyond Abtran,
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The main body consisting of about 5000 men is
encamped at Khadung-seing ( about six marches from
Keun-leng) where they remain awaiting the result
of the communication made by the Minister to the
Commissioners through the officer Commanding this
place.

Since writing the above, an official communication
from Brigadier Smelt with some extracts of letter from
Malone have reached this, conveying intelligence of
negotiation having been commenced between the
Commissioners and the Burmese Authorities there,
which are likely to terminate in Peace. I have there-
fore dispatched another letter to the Rown Rown
intimating the circumstances and requesting he will
remain on his present ground until further instructions
are received by me from Malone, and which will be
communicated to him with the least possible delay.

On second consideration I have intimated to the
Rown Rown the ci of the iations

going forward and that they will most likely end in
peace, and that he may either remain on his present
ground or move on towards this, at an easy rate, as
he thinks best,
1 have &e.
(Signed) W. WILLIAMSON
Captain
D. I, Agent.
Martaban
14th Jany. 1826,
(True Copies )
(Signed) GEO. SWINTON
Secy. to Govt.
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those States, nd expressing his ap-
proval of the agreement conclnded by

i the Raja with Captain Burney.

10 Aug., 1825 Mr. J. Anderson is deputed to Perak
and Selangor to settle tha differences |
with the ltaja of Ligor. .\ proper
reception requested for him and o
tavonrable hearing to lis proposale. |

10 Aug., 1825 ¢ A similar letter to that addressed to
"7 the Raja of Selangar, |
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Mergni. :
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Raja of Ligor relating to his nrme(l
‘ force at Kedah. The Raja reln
|

quished his hostile intentions in '
obedience to strong remonstrances.
Captain Burney visited him in July
to negotiate points at issue and con-
clnded a provisional Treaty. They are
dispatching an Agent to Selangor to
settle the differences between that
State and Ligor. 'Tlhe removal of
Siamese forces from Kedah must he ’
referred to Siam. Inadvisability of !
reducing the military estahlishment ;
at Penang. i
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Ligor.” The Raja sends a present to m
the Govr. General. He has furnished |
| Burney with ers of introduction
| to Siowese officers at Mergui and
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22,

29 Aug., 1825 Doubt as to the weaning of a phrase

in the above letter.
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ground for the Ex-Kaja’s distrust of

is motives. |
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tlement made with Selangor.

Remarks on the titles used in the above
letter.  Proofs of its authenticity.

He denies having oppressed the in-
habitants of Perak. The Raja of
Perak is tributary to him.” No
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Perak and Selangor. Reasons why
Raja “ Hassan” ‘was left in Perak.
No truth in the report that prows |
from Selangor are at Perak or that
the writer is harbouring pirates.

Desiving that jewels may be procured
for him in Bengal.

Requesting the return of Burmese and
Malay criminals escaped to Penang.
in accordance with the treaty con-
cluded with Captain Buruey.

The Superintendent of Police to seize
the criminals demanded by the Raja
of Ligor and report on the case,

Ho iz about to proceed to Ligor to meat !
Captain Burney and ezcort him to |
Bangkok. He has ordered a present |
for the Governor. He requests the |
Governor's consideration for his two i
sons at Kedah. He drsires particulars
of Mr. Anderson’s Mission to Perak’
and Selangor,
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details of the War with Burma, to*
cement friendly relations with the
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quered provinces of Tavoy and Mer-;
gui to receive special consideration.
Note of the agreement between Capt.
Burney and the Raja of Ligor. A
present sent. |

Notifying the departure of Capt.
Burney as Envoy to Siam and
requesting a friendly reception for
him by the Rajas whose territory he
may visit. |

A notification that Capt. Burney will
sail for Siam on the 2Jth September. |

Euclosing translation of a letter from
the Raja of Selangor and stating!
that the guns in charge of Raja
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Siam. The truth about the piratical
fleet off Pankour. The Raja invites
the English to settle a factory
at Perak. Cause of the restricted
navigation of Perak river. dn ac-
count of the events leading to the
flight of ** Che Hat,” a Siamese chief,
from Perak, the seizure of Siamese
r‘r:w-, the investiture of the present

3ja of Perak by the Raja of Selan-
gor and the appointment of Raja
“ Hassan " as Collector of Revenues.
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aud the re-opening the navigalion of
all rivers for freedom of trade. A

Reduction of the duty ou tin. No:

71-95.
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shortage of rice at Perak. The Agent
leaves Perak. A second visit to Raja
“ Hassan.” He is allowed time to
prepara_for removal. A wmeeting
with * Nakoda™ Muhammed. News
from Kedah. The Agent's return
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He cannot mieet the Agentat “Pan-
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Mr. John Anderson is deputed to Perak
by the Governor of Penang. The
Raja is cautioned to be ou his guard
and is ordered to maintain that the
sovereignty of Perak has been trans-
ferred to Ligor.

Copy of rough draft of commission
accrediting J. Anderson as Agent to
Selangor, stolen by “ Che Etam.

E between J. And on
behalf of the East Indin Co., and the
Raja of Perak. Tho boundary bet-
ween Perak and Selangor ~fixed.
Raja “Hassan™ to be removed from
Perak. A reduction in the duty on |
tin and freedom of trade granted.

Acknowl«lging the Governor's letter
and approving Mr. Anderson's pro-
ceedings. Settlement of the boundary
between Perak and Selangor. He is
willing to send the “Boonga Mas” to
Siam if considered necessary.

4 notice to Raja “Hassan " to quit
Perak, in nccordanco with the agree-
ment made with the rulers of Selan-
gor and Perak.

Acknowledging receipt of notice to
leave Perak and begging for a little
respite and an interview with Mr,
Anderson.

Commenting on Mr. Anderson’s report
of his Mission to Selangor and Perak.
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the necessity of limiting Siamese

dominions to the southward. The

Raja of Selangor's assertions repu-,
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diating the protection of pirates not
to be credited. Reasons given. Com-
pensation should have been exacted
from Selangor for the Loats lost by
the Raja of Ligor at Perak. Weali-
ness of the agreements concluded by
Mr. Anderson. Burney's suggestion
for forcing Siam to relinquish su-
premacy over the Malayan States by
forming offensive and defensive ai-
liances with Kalantan and Derak.
The question of Kedal to be con-
sidered separately. The personal
animosity of the Raja of Ligor against
Mr. Anderson accountable for the
letters written to Perak. How mis-
understandings are fomented by Ma-
lays. The inefficiency of Mr. Ander-
son's measures to preclude further
Siawese interference with the affairs
of Perak. *Burney appeals for fair-
ness in regard to the Raja of Ligor
who is personally known to him.

He replies to Capt. Burney's remarks
in the above letter. He repudiates
the suggestion that the letters from
the Raja of Ligor to the Raja of
Perak were not authentic and taxes
Capt. Burney with inconsistency in
his remarks. 1le gives reasons for
his unfavourable mate of the
character of the Rajn of Ligor and
for his leniency to the Raja of Selan-
gor. He charges Burney with
obtaining concessions by means of
bribes. He combats Burney's opin-
ion as to the futility of the engage-
ments made with the Rajas of Permnk
and Selangor, and differs from his

118-135.
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diating the protection of pirates not
to be credited. Reasons given. Com-
pensation should have been exacted
from Selangor for the boats lost by
the Raja of Ligor at Perak.  Weal-
ness of the agreenients concluded by
Mr. Anderson.  Burney's suggestion
for forcing Siam to relinquish su.
premacy over the Malayan States by
forming offensive and defensive ai-
liances with Kalantan and Perak.
The question of Kedali to be con-
sidered separately. The personal
animosity of the Raja of Ligor against
Mr. Anderson accountable for the
letters written to Perak. How mis-
understandings are fomented by Ma- |
lays. The inefliciency of Mr. Ander-
son’s measures to preclude further !
Siamese interference with the allairs
of Perak. *Burney appeals for fair-
ness in regard to the Raja of Ligor
who is personally known to him.

He replies to Capt. Burney's remarks
in the above letter. He repudiates
the suggestion that the letters from
the Raja of Ligor to the Raja of
Perak were not authentic and taxes
Capt. Burney with inconsistency in
his remarks. le gives reasons for
his unfavourable estimate of the
character of the Raja of Ligor and
for his leniency to the Raja of Selan-
gor. He charges Burney with
obtaining concessions by means of
bribes. He combats Burney’s opin-
ion as to the futility of the engage-
ments made with the Rajas of Perk |
and Selangor, and differs from his |

118-185.



TABLE OF

ature of
Document Location,

R. Fullerton, Governor of, Minute | I O., Factory Records,
Penang. Straits Settlements,
vol. 103, pp. 1058-1183.




CONTENTS.

xiii

Date.

Subject.

24 Sept., 1825

estimate of those Chiefs. He strongly
deprecates Burney’s attitude towards
Kedah. He defends himself frou
the clmrﬁa of proveking a war with
Siom and accuses Burney of credulity
and change of opinion.

Remarks ou Mr. Anderson’s reports of
his Mission to Selangor and Perak.
He recapitulates the reasons for un-
dertaking the Jission and the alter-
native to be feared in the event of
non-interference with the schemes of |
the Raja of Ligor. He details the
concessions obtained from the Raja
of Ligor and the objects demanded
by him in return, through negotia-
tion between the English aud the
Malay States. Notes of discrepancies
in tlhe statements of the disputing
chieftains. One point only remains
unadjusted and can remain open.
The aggressive power of the Raj of
Ligor must bo hield in check. Raja ¢
“ Hassan ” to be allowed to reside in
Wellesley Province. A note on Capt.
Burney's comments on Mr. Ander-
son's report.

The rights of Siamese supremacy
over the JMalay Penzinsula ques-
tioned, except as regards Kedah
and Perak, The significance of the
* Boonga Mas " has Leen misunder-
stood. The annexation of Kedah by
Siam was the result of weaknees and
and the restoration of the Ex-Raja
can only be effected by negotiation.
A retrospect of the history of Perak. -
Siam has no legitimate rights over
that state. A note on. Dutch '
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Translated
27 Sept. 1825

influence in the Malay Peninsula
and on relations between the Bur-
mese and Siamese. Ieasons for |
opposing  Siamese supremacy  over
AMalay States.

He is leaving Kedal for Ligor and will
escort Capt. Burney to Bangkok.

153-155.

He desires that his emissaries may
Furclmse various articles.in Penang.
le is anxious to hear the result of

Mr. Anderson’s Mission to Perak and
Selangor. He requests that a l'urkhcrl‘
search may be made for the criminal !
“Arif” e begs the Gorv
friendship for his <on at Kedah
rice as a teken of goodwill and
to procure a horse.

Translated
27 Sept. 1825 |

23 Sept. 1825

21 Sept. 1825

is leaving Kedahand  156.
he requests that Captain Burney will
Join him at Ligor without delay.

. Ruruey’s departure for | 157-158.
Envoy will report on Mr.,

Anderson’s Mission. Copies of engage-

ments with Selangor and Perak

enclosed. The Raja is requested to !

ensura the permanence of friendly |

relations thus secured. '

Acknowledging the cordial rcct‘ptiou] 159-160.
given to Mr. Auderson and the |
o e,

> 'S 1}
Two cruilers cent to hasten the
departure of Raja “Hassan” from !
Perak.
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0 the Slamase
States
5 August 1825,

[1]
FORT CORNWALLIS—The 13 August 1825,

READ the following letter from the Political
Agent to the Siamese States, transmiting Copies of
Carrespondence with the Rajali of Ligore previous to
his visit to Kedah.

POLITICAL AGENT to SIAMESE STATES.

To
JOHN ANDERSON Esquire
Acty. Secy. to Giovernment.
Sir,

In conformity to the desire conveyed by you, T
beg to submit to the Honorable the Governor in
Council, translations of the Correspondence that passed
between His Highness the Governor of Ligore and
myself previons to my late visit to Queda, together

with the memorandum with which the Tlonorable the
Governor furnished me for my guidance,

L have & &e.
( Signed ) U, BURNEY
Pall. Agent to the Siamess

States
I W, Ldand.
5 August 1825,



Enciosure

[ 21

TRANSLATION of a letter addressed to His High-
ness the Governor of Ligor by Captain Burney Political
Agent to the Siamese States dated 13th July 1825.

After Compliments—1 have to inform my friend
that 1 have visited Bengal, where 1 had the honor
to see the Governor General and Gentlemen in high
authority—that I am now retumed to Penang ap-
pointed au Agent to the Governor General and that I
havo heard from Mr. Maingy, that wy friend desires
to see me.  Let my friend understand, that if he still
desires to sce me and will tell me so, I shall be happy
to visit him. T have heard that there has lately been
some difference between the inhabitants of Penang and
my friend’s poople, and if my friend be willing, | shall
be happy to relieve his mind, and assist to settle the
same, by pointing out to him the road of friendship,
becausa an intimacy of lng standing subsists between
my friend and myself.

A Tewe Translation
(Signed) H. BURNEY

Poll. Agent to the Siamese States.




TRANSLATION of the Reply received to the
foregoing letter from His Highness the Governor of
Ligore on the 25 July 1825,

After Compli Let my friend und d
that T have received his Letter stating that he has
returned to Penang appointed an Agent to the
Governor General, and that he has heard from Mr.
Maingy that I desived to see my friend, which is per-
fectly true.  Sowe time ngo 1 acquainted my friend
that I desired to come and see him at Quedal, but
my friend unexpectedly proceeded to Bengal, and
when I came I could not [see him]. Now my friend’s
letter is arrived in which ITam informed that he is able
to meet me, of which I am exceedingly glad, because
1 wish to consider of several matters friendly towards
the Governor General.  But I wish to return home
quickly. Therefore [ invite my friend to come soon,
and meet me at Queda without delay. And further,
if the Governor General desires to send Letters
to Siam, let my friend bring them with him
to Queda. I desire to consider of the road to friend-
ship and to improve, prolong and establish it. I
send China Loun with this letter, and when my
friend has understood its contents, I request he will
order China Loun to return quickly before him.

A True Translntion
(Signed) H, BURNEY
Political Agent to the
Siamese States.

THE PRESIDENT lays before the Board the
following Translation of a letter to the Rajuh of
Ligore, relative to deputing an Agent to Perak and
Salangore : —



(IR

TO THE RAJAH OF LIGORE.

1 have duly received the letter which my friend
has sent to me by Captain Burney, and as my friend
has now given me a real proof of his desire to cultivate
friendship and alliance with the British Government |
have to assure him that he will ever find me happy
anl ready to treat my friend with respect and kindness,
and to permit his men and every other Siamese to visit
Penang and to hold intercourse and to trade with its
inhabitants without the least molestation. [ have
determined upon immediately sending an Agent and
two strong Vessels to Perak and & gore for the
purpose cf making such arcangements as will effectually
prevent disturbances between those States according
to the desive of my friend. Lot my friend be under
no appreliension as to Rajali Hussein being allowed to
depredations against Perak.  The British
y or govern

&

continue
Government entertains no desire to occupy
Perak or any other State near Penang, but it will
make it its duty to prevent the peace of neighbouring
States being distorbed from uarrels between them-
selves or between them and the Siamese,  Peace and

Commerce are all the English Nation require.

The Agreement which my friend has concluded
with Captain Burney is very satisfactory to me
inasmuch as it will prevent all future discussion bet-
ween my friend and myself as well as all chance of
dispute between the Siamese and English. 1 shall be
most happy to forward this agreement to the governor
General without delay ; and to continue in the mean
time to cultivate the most friendly relations with
the Siamese with whom the English desire to live on
the most cordial footing ; I shall also from time to
timo dispatch full accounts to my friend of the
nature and progress of the war in which the
English are now engaged against the ancient enemieq




[351]

of Siaw, the Burmese, in order that my friend may
forward the same to His Master the King of Siam.
If my friend will send to me the Letter and presents
which he informed Captain Burney he desires to
transmit to the Governor General, 1 will take cave and
forward them myself to His Lordship by the wmost safe
and speedy conveyance.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.

8th August 1525,



[6]

THE PRESIDENT lays before the Board the
following Translation of letters to the Rajah of
Perak and Salengore, with Copy of the Commission
granted to Mr. Anderson.

TO THE RAJAH OF SALANGORE,

Letter
from the Honornble Robert Fullerton Esquire Gov-
ernor of Pulo Penang to the Rajah of Salangore.

This letter will be delivered to my friend by Mr.
Jolm Anderson a Civil Servant of the Honorable
East India Company ou this Establishment, who is
already acquuinted with my friend and whom I
have deputed as my Agent for the purpose of endea-
vouring to adjust upon a sure and honorable basis
the diffe now so unhappily subsisting between
my friend the Rajuh of Perak and the Chow Pya of
Ligore.

Mr. Anderson will communicate with my friend
upon all points and I request that he may be re-
ceived with kindness and respect as an accredited
Envoy of the British Government.

It will be extremely satisfactory to me to learn
that my friend uccedes readily to the proposals
which will be made to him on the part of my Agent,
by which the peace and prosperity of my friend’s
Country will be promoted, an end put to all mis~
understandings and Commerce will flourish.

Mr. Anderson will deliver some presents to my
friend as a mark ot my esteem.

Dated 10 August 1825.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.

Similar lotter to Rajah of Perak.




71
COMMISSION.

Prince of Wales Island
10th August 1825,

BE IT KNOWN that I Robert Fullerton
Governor of Prince of Wales Island and its Depen-
dencies, Lave nominated and appointed JOHN
ANDERSON Esquire of the Honorable East Indin
Company’s Civil Service on the Establishment of
Pulo Penang to be my Agentto proceed to Pernk
and Salangore and to negotiate with the Chiefs of
these States, so that the misunderstanding now so
unhappily prevailing in these Countries may be
settled and adjusted and peace and prosperity re-
established. 1 request therefora that all Rajahs and
Chiefs will receive this my Agent with respect and
attention as an aceredited Agent of the English.
Government,

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Governor.



e nderson.

[8]
READ the following Letter from Mr. Anderson.
MR. ANDERSON.

To W. E. FULLERTON Esquire.
Acting Depy. Secy. to Govt.
Bir,

1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter of the Gth Instant acquainting me that the
Honorable the Governor in Council has been pleased
to require my services to proceed to Perak and Salangore
for the purpose of endeavouring to adjust certain
differences between the Chiefs of those States and the
Chow Pya of Ligore.

[ beg you will inform the Honorable the (fovernor
iy Council that having now closed the dispatches for
England and Bengal, the necessary arrangements are
in progress for my quitting the harbour on Saturday
Morning the 13 Instant in prosecution of the duty
assigned to me.

I have this day delivered over charge of the
Offices of Accountant and Anditor and Accountant
General to the Court to Mr. Patullo.

1 have &e. &e.
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Political Agent to Perak
and Salangore.

TR U (1P P vt fet=tor i



[o1
ractory FORT CORNWALLIS—The 13 August 1825.
Straits u:l‘h- m—

“ments, Vol 103.
Pp. 691-898.

READ the following letter from the Political
Agent to the Sinmese States, applying for an
adsance of 2,000 Dollars to be accounted for here-
after.

poiiticar agont POLITICAL AGENT to the STAMESE STATES.

to the Slamaso

. W. Island 8 August 1825,

John Anderson Esquire
Actg. Secy. to Govt.
Sir,

I request you will do me the favor to solicit the
Honoruble the Governor in Council to grant me an
advance of Spanish Dollars Two ‘Thousand (2000) to
be nccounted for when I next submit a regular
statement of my expenses. My late visit to Quedah,
as well us my proposed visit to the Coast of Tenas-
serim, bas put me to several charges, and I am un-
willicg to reduce the Amount of Cash with which
the Commissioner for Mergui and Tavoy may be

furnished.
I lave &c. &e.
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captn.
Poll. Agent to the Siamese
States.
THE SECRETARY reports that Capain Bur-
ney was inf d thatall ad must be obtained

from the Commissioner at Mergui, but that he was
authorized to draw bLis Personal Fay for the past
and present Month,



To the Governor
General In
Council &

August 1825.

Nos.1to 7.

[10]

RECORDED the following dispatch to the Right
Honorable the Governor General in Council dated 4
Instant transmitting Copies of Captain Burney's
Report of his recent proceedings at Quedah, togather
with the Basis of a Treaty concluded by Lim.

To the Right Honorable
WILLIAM PITT LORD AMHERST
Governor General in Council
FORT WILLTAM.
My Lord,

‘We have been extremely desirous of addressing
your Lordship in Council in continuance of our
Dispateh of the 10th June lust and of communicating
our proceedings and Negotintions with the Rajah
of Ligor with reference to his Armament at Kedah
which our duty led us to watch with suitable eaution
and corresponding preparations.

‘We have now the lhonor to transmit for your
Lordship's information (opies of all the corres-
pondence which has since that period passed with
the Rajah of Ligore, and are happy to observe that
the remonstrances which our President made to that
Chief have had the effect of inducing him to relax
in his hostile intentions and subsequently of re-
moving from our vicinity a large portion of the
Forces which be had collected there.

It would appear however from the Corres-
pondence, that he had it in contemplation still to
persevere in an endeavour to move a Force by land
across the Country to attack the state of Salengore
but even this point he has abandoned since the
return of Captain Burney and an interview which
that officer has held with him.

The efficient measures which we had taken to
resist any meditated aggression and the display

|
:



(1]

of our Forces in his immediate vicinity have no
doubt tended to create in the mind of the Rajah of
Ligore a doubt of his means to extend his hostile
views to the Southern States. While therefore our
preparations added to our remonstrances have
tended to this favorable result and have afforded
time for the receipt of your Lordship’s Instructions
to us on the subject, the knowledge which he has
veceived of an expected re-inforcement of Troops for
this Presidency have tended to induce him to
pursue a different line of conduct and to relinquish
the contemplated enterprize to the Southward.

Captain Burney having returned to this Pre-
sidency on the 9 July with your Lordship’s Commis-
sion and Instructions for a Mission to Bangkok our
President considered the state of affairs with the
Rajah of Ligore to admit of thut officer availing
himself of an invitation from the Rajah to proceed
to Keduh and our President accordingly direoted
him to proceed there and to avail himself of any
favorable opportunity of negotiating with him on the
various points at Issue, more particularly in respect
to our mediation for the adjustment of differences
between Liw and the Rajali of Salengore. The
Instructions to Captain Burney are enclosed with
this dispateh ; and we have the honor also to submit;
a Copy of that Officer’s Report as well as of the
provisional Treaty which he has concluded with the
Rajah of Ligore.

We beg leave to submit at the same time a Copy

# See Minuto of 0f our President’s Minute® on the subject of the

3 Aug. 1825 from

Factory Rocords,

Straits Sottle-
ments, Vol. 102,
already sent.

above-mentioned report and Treaty and to observe
that the sentiments contained therain fully coincide
with our united views and opinions. Consistently
b h it is our inteation immediately to dispatel
an Agent to Salengore in the hope that the Rajah
of that place may be at once induced to fulfil the
expectations which we have a right to demand of




[]

him, with a view to the final settlement, as far as
this Government is concerned, of the points wheremn
our mediation und Interference may be essential.
The removal of Rajah Hussein from the Perak River
is a point equally important to our own Interests as
it is suitable to the views of the Rajah of Ligore, ns
that person is known to be n leader of a Gung of
Pirates whose removal would under any circums-
tances huve become indispensible for the safe
navigation of the Straits by the numerous small
vessels carrying on Trade.

The payment of small sums of money demanded
from the Rajsh of Salengore cannot be considered as
Durthensome or harsh upon that Chief, if upon enquiry
it shanld appear to usthat he has been concerned in
and destroying the Sinmese Boats as repre-
sented. The Security that will be derived by him
against all future aggression will we trust induce him
to comply with our requisition.  If these negotiations
and proceedings should have the effect of removing the
Siamese Forces and Authority from Kedal and of
ultimately re-establishing the Malay Government in
that unfortunate Couutry we conceive that we shall

gain a point of essential importance as confirming a
State of tranquillity which those Countries have been
strangers to for the last four years.

‘The final settlement of the matter must however
we apprehend still rest with the Court of Siam and we
entirely coincide with our President in the opinion
that even the I'reliminary Treaty now so judiciously
concluded by Captain Burney will open to us the
channel for introducing those political (uestions into
the negotiations which our Envoy at Siam may have
to discuss at that Capital and we trust materially con-
tribute to their satisfactory conclusion.

Under existing circumstances and pending ne-
gotiations it would not however be prudent in our
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jodgument to reduce our fixed Military and Naval
Establishments below the scale proposed by our

President in his Minute of the - -----. « When
the expected reinforcement shall have arrived we
shall take for relieving tl the

g
“I'roops now on duty at Singapore and shall complete
the detachment at Malacea to 2 Companios from the
65th Regiment returning to Bengal as opportunities
may offer [nt] the Head Quarters and at least one
wing of the 25th Regiment now stationed in these
Settlements.

We have &e.
(Signed R, FULLERTON
o W. A. CLUBLEY
R. IBBETSON

Fort Cornwallis

The + August 1825,
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Factory FORT CORNWALLIS—The 18th August 1825.

READ the following letter from the Political
Agent to the Siamese States relating to the Escort
for the Embassy to Sinm.

Politicat Agont  P()LITICAL AGENT TO THE SIAMESE STATES.
10 the Slamese

States Bth
August 1825
Prince of Wales Island,
8th August 1825,

To

The Honorable ROBERT FULLERTON Esquire.
Governor, &c., &e., &e.

Honble. Sir,

In the 5th Para. of my Letter of Instructions
from the Suprewe Government, I am directed to
apply to you, for whatever aid [ may require as to
an Escort of Mussulman Sepoys, Medical Officer &e.
Ax the Agreement which has been concluded with
the Chief of Ligore has now rendered my deputa-
tion to Siam certain and as after my visit to the
Cost of Tenasserim there will be little time for

me to make whatsver arrangements may be
necessary for the progress of my Mission, I hope
you will now allow me to solicit you, that my Escort
may cousist of a Paity of 1 Native Officer, 2
Havildars, 2 Naicks, 2 Drumers and 40 Sepoys from
the 25th Regiment: That Captain Mdcfarquhar
may be appointed to command it, and that Dr.
William Henderson may be placed in Medical
charge of the Mission.

Captain Macfarquhar has volunteered his ser-
vices to proceed with me, and I feel anxious to avail
myself of them for several reasons. The Governor
of Ligor and his numerous followers proposing to

oy
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accompany me, I shall have oceasion for more than
ordinary prudence and caution to prevent any
differences arising between themn and my Escort and
Followers ; for which reason also I desire to have
Sepoys of my own Company, the 25th, who are
already ucquainted with the language and customs
of Bastern Nations and who, T flatter myself, will
feel a personal interest in the success of my Mission.
Captain Macfarquhar also being in the entire con-
fidence of Mr. Maingy and myself, T shall not only
be able to derive much advantage from his assis~
tance in avy difficulty that may occur at Bangkok,
but be more certain of opening an early and secure
vommunication by his means with the Commissioner
of Tavoy and Mergui.

Dr. Henderson las also offered to accompany
me, and I am anxious to avail myself of his know-
ledge in every branch of uatural History, for the
purpose of rendering my Mission subservient in some
degree to the interests of science.

I have the honor to request your acceptance of
the accompanying Maps; One being a copy of that
which T presented last year to the Right Honorable
the Governor General, and the other exhibiting all
the information, which T have since had an appor-
tunity of collecting, with respect to the territory
Iying Letween this Tsland and Rangoon and Bankok.
T lave taken the liberty of inseribing the latter
Map to you.

I have &e. &e.
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain

Pol: Agent to the Sinmese
States.



ements, Vol. I
PR-TBIT.

[16]
FORT CORNWALLIS The 18th August 1825.

03,
POLITICAL AGENT to the SIAMESE STATES.

H. C. Hired Brig Minerva
Queda IRoads, the 15th August 1825.

To
The Honorable R. FULLERTON Esquire
Governor &e. &e. &e.
Honorable Sir,

1 beg leave to report to you, that I landed at
Queda this worning accompanied by Mr. Maingy
and Mr. Blundell, and thut the Governor of Ligor.
evinced avery proof of a coutinuation on bis part of
those good feelings towards us, which actuated him
to conclude the late Agreement with me. His High-
ness forwards to you by the Comwerce a Box con-
taining o Letter and Presents from himself to the
Right Honorable the Governor General. A Copy of
the Letter addressed to His Lordship was shewn to
me, and its contents do not appear to me in any
wise objectiouable. His Highuess also requested
me, as he had delayed making preparations for his
departure until I returned, to allow him ten or
twelve days beyond the period fixed in our Agree-
ment for quitting Queda.

1 am happy to acquaint you that His Highness
lLas not only given me four of his followers to ac-
company me to Tavoy and Mergui, but has furnished
Mr. Maingy and myself each with an official Paper,
bearing the Seal of Pya Songkraam, the Commis-
sioner from Bangkok, as well as his own, desiring
all Siamese Officers to receive us us friends, and to

and the most ble i
with us, and with all acting under our orders on the
Coast of Tenasserim.
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{ His Highness has given me wmuch reason to be-

3 lieve him sincere in his project of accompanying me
to Bangkok, and among the men whom he has attached
to me, he took especial care to select one, who is well
acquainted with the Western shores of the Gulf of
Siam, and fully qualified to pilot n vessel into the
Port of Ligor.

I have &e. &c.
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Pol. Agent to the Siamese
States.



Rajah of Ligore
17th August 1825.
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THE PRESIDENT lays befors the Board the
following Translation of a letter from the Rajah of
Ligore accompanying Presents from the Right Honor~
able the Governor General,

RAJAH OF LIGOR,

TRANSLATION of a Letter from the Rajah of
Ligor at Kedah, to the Honble. the Governor of P: Wi
Island. dated Ist Mohavram 1241, vizt. 17th August
1825,

( After Compliments )

1 beg to acquaint my friend that the Letter which
he sent in charge of Captain Henvy Bumey, Anthony
Maingy and Edmund Blundell Esquires was received
by me with all those feelings of good will, due toa

communication a in the spirit of friendly inter—
course.  On the subject of my intention to send certain
Articles to the Governor General of Bengal, which as
my friends Letter states | communicated to Captain
Burney, wy fiiend expresses his willingness to for-

ward them to their destination by a fast sailing Ve
1 comprehend the Contents of my Friend's Letter in

every particular,  The Articles which I intend for the
Governor General are as follows.  Two pieces of Gold
flowered Cloth of Siamese Manutacture, One Bowl and
Stand, One Kettle and a Tea Pot made of the com-
position called Chutam, inlaid with Gold, likewise of
Siamese workmanship. These Articles, few indeed
and trifling in value, are accompanied by a Letter ex-
pressive of my wishes for a friendly connexion, which
has been seen by Captn. Burney and Messrs. Maingy and
Blundell and approved of by them. These articles have
been packed in a Box covered with yellow Cloth, and
entrusted by Captain Burney to the charge of Captain
Roberts, for the purpose of being delivered to my
friend at Pulo Pinang : who, I hope, will recognize in
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this, a wish on my part to cultivate friendly and amie=
able relations, and 1 beg he will be so good as to
forward these articles to the Governor General nas
soon as possible, and when he has done so, to do me
the favor to inform me thereof.

Adverting to the affuirs of Perak and Salangore,
what my friend mentions in his Letter reganding send-
ing the two Vessels is proper and I request he will
exert his influence to expel Rajah Hassan from Perak ;
likewise fo prevent the Rajah of Salangore from dis-
turbing the tranquillity of that Country, and to define
and establish the houndary between the two States
according to Treaty ; in order that the Trade of tho
Perak People may experience no molestation.

Captain Burney and Messrs. Maingy and Blundell
who were on their way to Marit (Mergui) and Tavoy,
having requested from me a letter in Siamese to assnre
any man of rank who might arrive (at those places)
from the Capital, of their friendly intentions, 1 have
granted one to Messrs, Maingy and Blundell acconding
to their desive

and they have sailed.

The present confidential visit of Captain Burney
argues that my friend’s suspicions are done away.
For my own part I shall be most happy to reciprocate
these friendly  dispositions. It is my earnest wish
that a good understanding hetween the Siamese and
en into the fullest
friendship ; and the two nations become one.

English may spring up and v

Accompanying this (Letter) 1 send Akuat to pur-
chase a few Articles which I shall require for a funeral
feast. 1t being my intention to return this Month T
acquaint my friend therewith.

(Signed) RICHARD CAUNTER
Acting Malay Translator.

P: W: ISLAND
19th August 1825,
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P: 8:  On the 27th of Dulliajeh (13th Instant) three ‘
Pirate Prahus which were cruizing off the Buntings
attacked some Malays belonging to Ean, who liad come ‘
to Kedah to purchase Padi for their subsistence, and
captured their Prahu and Grains, the Crew themselves

but narrowly effecting their Escape. 1 send my friend

i of the bly to the
Courtesy which exists between neighbouring States

in Alliance with each other and my friend can order

out his Cruizers conformably to Treaty.

(Signed) R. C.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 1st September 1825,

The President lays before the Board the following
Translation of o Letter from the Rajah of Ligore re-
lative to Mr. Anderson's Mission to Salangore and the
Raojah of Kedah.

From RAJAH of LIGORE.
TRANSLATION.

Of a letter from the Rajoh of Ligore at Kedah to
the Honorable Robert Fullerton Ksquire Governor of
Prince of Wales Island, dated 9th Moharram 1241,
vizt, 24th August 1825.

After Compliments.

I write to inform my friend that as I intend
returning this Month I have sent Khoon Aksoon Tong
Pan Nineeam and Munreen ( Siameso) my people to
purchase some articles for a funeral feast; also a few
other things that I require and request that my friend
will have the goodness to assist them in procuring
what they want.

T persuade wmyself from the confidential visit of
Captain Burney that a real union has been established
between the English and Siamese and that the good
understanding between my friend and self will be

lously y and experi P 1 encrease.
1 shall always consider my friend's people who may
visit me, as my own, and trust mine will be equally
favored by him and allowed to visit and see my friend.

When my friend may forward the Presents I have
sent for the Governor General, I request he will write
and inform me by what Vessel they are gone.
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My friend having dispatehied Mr. John Anderson
to negotinte regarding the Rajah of Salangore and
Rajah Hassan according to promise, I acquainted
him that my return to Ligore is only delayed until
1 receive nuthentic information of the result, and
beg when it is known my friend will write and com-
municate the same to me.

I have determined to return forthwith, if no
answer is given to my letter to the Rajah of Kedah.
He asserts that Iam hostile towards him. The
accompanying letter is an auvswer to him; in it L
have stated everything fully. Khoon Aksoon has
charge tLereof and has been desired to make known
the Contents to my friend first and request his per-
mission to deliver the same to the Rajuh of Kedah.

(Rigned) R. CAUNTER
Acting Malay Translator.
Prince Wales Island

20th August 1825,

N. B. In the last letter the words *“according to
Treaty " should have been perhaps rendered accord-
ing to promise in which sense they appear to be used
in this letter. Not knowing however what previous
correspondence had taken place T was not aware of
their precise iinport. The person called Akeat in
the former letter is the same with Khoon Aksoon.

(signed) R. C.
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THE FOLLOWING letter from the Chow Pia
of Ligora to the Rajah of Kedah is laid before the
Board by the President.

From RAJAH of LIGORE to RAJAH of QUEDAH.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Rajah or
Chow Pea of Ligore to the Rajah of Kedah address-
ed to the latter by his Siamese title of Chow Pea
of Chrai.

The Chow Pea Chrai in his answer writes and
P his apprehensions of ing to Kedali.
On a former oceasion when Twswker Bisnoo who was
made Pea Umpai Nurat in concert with the Pea of
Singgora proceeded to the Capital with sinister pur-
poses against the Chow Pea Crai to undermine him
at Court, the letter solicited and confided in our
assistance and we in consequence incurred heavy
responsibility on his Account. The Chow Pea Crai
then conformed to our advice. The Pea Umpai
Nurat having accomplished his aims we afterwards
exerted our endeavours to effect a reconciliation
between the Chow I'ea Clrai and his Imperial
Majesty Somdet P’ru, and the Chow Pea Chrai is well
aware that the cause of his being obliged to abandon
his Country, is owing to his secession from us.

‘Ilie Chow Pea Chrai having once more solicited
our kind Offices, We recurring to former motives
of goad will towards him, feel sincerely disposed
from regard to the Chow Pea Chrai to befriend him,
Should he still distrust, it rests with himself, his
destiny alone must have cansed it, since in inviting
him to return our object is not to commit injury,
but to renew and cultivate for the future, the friend-
ship which formerly subsisted between us.
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If the Chow Pea Chrai be in distress for any-
thing let him send a letter to say so.

Written the 9th of the present Month
( Moharram ) 1241, vizt. 26th August 1825,
( Signed ) R. CAUNTER.
Actg. My. Translr.
Prince of Wales Island
20th August 1825,
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AGENT TO SIAMESE STATES.

To
The Honble. R. FULLERTON Esquiie,
Governor, &ec., &c., &e.

Honble. Sir, The return to this Settlement of
the Honorable Company's hired Hrig Minerva
rendering it impossible for me now to proceed to
the .Coast of Tenasserim and return hither before
the latter end of October, the date at which the
Agreement with the Chief of Ligore engages me to
Le at his Cupital, on the other side of the Peninsula,
T beg permission to bring under your consideration
the above as well as the following circumstances.

Ind d of the awk d of my not
“forth stands * being nblu to fulfil the stipulations to which the
‘;"'::‘J public stands forth pledged, I learn from Mr.
Horseburgh's Directory und from several nautical
Men here, that after the middle and in some years
the beginning of October the Western side of the
Gulph of Siam becomes most unsafe to approach,
as o les shore little known and beaten by a very
heavy surf. A Ship may perhups succeed in enter-
ing Ligore harbour but then there would be little
chance of Tier getting out of it again to proceed to
Bangkok until the setting in of the South west
Monsoon in March.

I Lave always thought thut if I could first see
the Tenasserim Country and acquire a knowledge of
the present condition of the old Siamese possessions
and their frontiers in that direction, I might make
nyself much more acceptable at Bangkok. But in a
desire to cecure this recommendation, I apprehend
I ought not to overlook or forego the unusually
favoruble circrmstances that would attend my pro-
ceeding to Siam accompanied by the Chief of
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Ligore. If also I proceed towards Bangkok im-
mediately T should reach it just before the ensuing
Campaign commenced when a correct knowledge of
the views and feelings of Sinm and of her means of
assisting our Army in Carriage Cattle and supplies
would be most desirable. I should further be able
to touch at Tringano and Calantan and report to
you the actual condition of those Malay States and
1 might have an opportunity of visiting Chimpohun
and of establishing friendly relations between the
Siamese Authorities in that Neighbourhood and our
Officers at Tuvoy and Mergui.

1 submit these considerations to you with every
deference, feeling assurad that T need not here
declare my perfect readiness to proceed whither—
soever you may be pleased to order me.

I have &e.

(Signed ) H., BURNEY,
Pol: Agent to the
Siamese States.

Prince of Wales Island
30th August 1625,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 1st September 1825,

AGENT to SALANGORE.

To
The ACTING SECRETARY to GOVERNMENT
Prince of Wales Island.
Sir,

Para. Ist. T have tha honar to report for the
information of the Honorablo the Governor in
Council that in conformity to the Orders of Govern-
ment I embarked on board the Honorable Company’s
Schooner Zephyr early on Saturday Morning the
14th Tnstant and proceeded with the Vessels noted
in the Margin divect for Sulangore.

A succession of ealms and Southerly winds
rendered the passage tedious, though not so much
50 a5 I hiad reason to expect at this season of the
Year. Weanchored at Salangore Roads early on
the Morning of the 19th. I had a few days prior to
my departura from the Presidency dispatched an
express prahu with a letter to the Rajah giving him
notice of my coming for the purpose of bringing to
an amicable adjustment the differences subsisting
between him and the Clow P’ya of Ligore requesting
preparations for iy
reception and intimating that as the objects of my
deputation were of weighty import it was desimble
that his Chiefs should be nssembled, in order that I
might experience as little detention as possible,

Lim to wake the necessa

3. On the passage down the Straits we fell i
with the dispatch boat bringing me a reply in which
the Rajah says: “ I do not precisely comprehend
“ what is meant by the difference with the Siamese,
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« but I am desirous to be made acquainted therewith.
«T have had no communication with them, and if
« they wish to oppress me what can be done but
“trust in the power of the Almighty.” He re- I
quested that I would bring a few guns and some

shot with me,

4. My Messenger reported that he had not |
seen any prows during his passage down but there
were about 20 lying at Salangore when he arrived
several of a pretty large size. The Rujuh Mooda,
Rajah Daulah, the Chiefs reported to have lately
proceeded to Perak,* were also at Salangore when
® The following s an Ex-

tract from the Paper purpor-
ting to ba from the Rajah and
Chleofs of Perak to the Chow
Pya of Ligore, copy of which
mccompanied Captain Bur-
mey'sreport. “ The Rajah
“Mooda of Salangore and his
#Brother Rajah Daula have
“brought an Armament to
# Porak and there are now at
# Rautaw Pausang { 30 Prows
“many more are entering the
“River and they are concer-
Rajah Hassan who
s at Sungle Bidor to
“gemmence hostilities and
“oreate a disturbance In
“ porai.

the express prow arrived. The Rajah
Mooda was just proceeding to Lackat,
a river a little to the Northward of
Cape Rachado to deliver a quantity of
Tin to a Brig which had been sent up
by the Acting Resident of Malacca,
the price of which had been paid to the
King at Salungore. The bearer of my
letter also reported that he had not
observed or gained intelligence of any
prows in the Perak River, [of which]
he ascended a few reaches, nor at the
Dindings, with the exception of two or

1} Rantau Panjang three of a very small size which he believed to be

ina dup. copy.]

5

pirates and by one of which he was chased.

5. On anchoring, a salute of 18 Guns was

fired from the two Schooners, but no return was

made from the Fort.

T immediately sent my Malay

Writer on shore with a complimentary letter to the
Rajah and his Son Rajnh Usuh with whom I was
acquainted some years ago, announcing my arrival,
The King was very inquisitive and appeared distrust-
ful concerning the object of my visit, After some
explanation by my writer however he expressed his
obligations to the English for interposing between
him aund the Siamese, and said he esteemed the
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favor the more becaute le Lad not solicited as-
sistance. He returned a Verbal Message that he
would receive me the following Morning.

6. Early in the Morning of the 20th I proceeded
on shore with the whole of my Escort and attendants
with all the boats (the vessels lying about 5 Miles
from the shore) and was recsived on landing by &
Saluto of 9 Guns from a battery closo to the Southern
point of the river where I found the Rajah ready to
receive me surrounded by three of his Sons, all the
females of his Family, his three Ministers, the Priests
and from 200 to 250 Men women and Children.

7. The Rajah received me cordially though with
some degree of restraint, and I delivered the letter and
some presents from the Honorable the Governor. On
perusing the letter he burst out into a'sndden exclama-
tion “1 do not know the Siamese at all, why mention
“them? What does my friend require? 1 will make
*“any concession to the English, but 1 will not listen
“ to any proposal in which the mention of the Siamese
“is included."  The Old Chief evinced great warmth
and shook with passion, but after a while recovered his
composure,  During the three days that Iwas engaged
in communicating with the Rajah he frequently mani-
fested similar feelings and appeared to have an in-
veterate antipathy to the mention of the Siamese.

8. In reply to the Rajah's enquiry as to what I
had to propose, I stated that there were several objects
of importance which 1 had to discuss, but that it wonld
be necessary in the first place to detail to him the
causes which had led to and the motives which
prompted the interference of the British Government
on this occasion.

9. I commenced therefore by observing agree-
ably to the instructions laid down in the Minutes of
the Honble. the Govarnor that in consequence of
the assembly of a large Siamese force at Kedah by
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the Chow Piya of Ligore and the declaration of that
Chief that his object was an attack upon Salangore,
the Government of Prince of Wales Island, actuated
by an earnest desire to maintain peace, tranquillity
and a good understanding mmong the neighbouring
States, had tendered its friendly mediation to com-
pose the diff now unhappily subsisting ; an
offer which had been accepted by the Chow Piya of
Ligore. 1informed the Rajah thut certain conces-
sions were required from him, which would be
conduive to the end proposed and there were some

points which required explanation which it was
wy duty now to demand.

10. T dwelt upon the benefits which he had
alrendy derived by the friendly intervention of the
Eunglish, and explained very distinetly that the
British Govermment wus prowpted by the most
disinterested and benevolent motives, that it had
no desire to acquire Territory, to interfere in the
management of his Country, to impose upon him
any commercial restraint, or to require from him
ang engagement inconsistent with the perfect in-
dependence and peranent stability of his Govern-
ment

1. Tt was stated also to the Rajah that the
present negotiations were only part of an enlarged
and benevolent plan for restoring a good under-
standing amongst the neighbouring States and I
expressed my Confidence that from his long ex-
perience and intimate knowledge of the character
and proceedings of the British Government during
a period of more than half a Century that he had
been King of Salangore, he would be the last to
throw any obstacles in the way of the immediate
accomplishment  of such  a  desirable result.
Although, T observed, some of the points I had to
propose might at first mention strike him as ob-
jectionable, 1 was prepared to listen to his argu-
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ments, to give due consideration to them, aund to
discuss the whole with calmness and deliberation.

12, After a careful and attentive perusal of tho
last report of the Political Agent to the Siamese States
and the Minute of the Honble, the Governor, 1 pre-
rared the different subjects for disenssion in the fol-
lowing order.  The primary objects of wy Mission
appearing to be—

Ist. To effect the removal of the piratical fleet
=aid to be assembled by the Rajah Mooda and Rajah
Daula of Salangore in conjunetion with Rajah Hassan
in the neighbourhood of the Dindings and in the
Perak Ri

2d. To vequire from the Rajah of Salangore an
nation of the canses which induced him o
establish his Nephew Rajah Hassan ab Perak ; to cffct
the removal of that Chiet from thenes ; and to throw
open the free navigation of the River with a vimw to
¢ pre=
nd-

the prevention of further disputes, to obviate n
tence on the part of the Chow Piya of 1.
ing an armament to Perak, and to atford the inhalitants
of the Country the means of supplying themselyes
with grain o which there is reported to be a et
Scareity,

e for

3d. To negotiate for the establishment of a
settled boundary between the States of Perak and
Salangore, and to require an engagement aganist
turther interference on the part of the Rajali of Salan-
gore with the former State,

Ath. To require explanation relative to the les-
truction of the Ligore fleet at Perak about three Years
ago (alleged to have been effected by the Rajal of
Salangore ) with a view to negociating for a com-
pensation to the Amonnt of Spanish Dollars 2,000, the
“quivalent agreed to by the Chow Piya of Ligore, and
for the purpose of enabling Government to furm a




decisive opinion upon the subject after duly weighing
the Statements of both Parties.

13. The discussion of these several points
occupied two entire days in close communication with
the Raja, his two Sous Rajah Usub and Daula, and
his three principal Chiefs, vizt. the Datu Aru Datu
Pangawa and Datu Geram.

14. With respect to the first point Vizt. the
vemoval of the large piratical fleet alluded (to) in
Captain  Burney's report,® [ stated that it was

® “itIs ho (Rajah Hassan) ypderstood a number of Lanoon pirates

and a great many Lanoon
boats and Pirates, called up
from the Southward by the
Rajah of Salangore for the
defonce of his torritory a-
gainst the Siameso that aro
committing all these doprod-
ations and Piracics botween
ws and Malacca of which wo
have lately heard so much. **
(Captn. Burney 's Report.)

and others had been called up by the
Rajah to his assistance and a representn-
tion had been made against the pro-
ceedings cf his two Sons the Rajah Mooda
and Daula for entering the Perak River
with a large fleet and disturbing the peace
of the Country, that the immediate

removal of this force therefore was a principal object
of my mission. On the mention of the Lanoon pirates
being at Perak the King and his Chiets around him
burst into a loud langh with one accord, and declare:l
they had not heard of a single Lanoon prow being in
this quarter.  With respect to his Sons going np with
a fleet, that was equally devoid of truth—his son Rajah
Daula—pointing to him, seated before me, having
gone there some time ago with two small prahus to
sell some gambier. His eldest son the Rajah Mooda,
lie informed me had sailed about 10 days ago to Lakat,
a river within his territory, where a rich Tin mine
has Iately been opened for the purpose of delivering
96 Bahars to a vessel sent up by his friend Mr.
Cracroft, the Acting Resident at Malacea, of whom he
spoke in terms of great regard. He added you must
be assured this report has been spread by Perak people
to frighten the Siamese.
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15. T replied that it was beyond doubt some
pirates had for a long time past been lurking about
the Sambilang Islands and Pankour, and had been

itting great depredations on the ble trad-
ing prows passing up the Straits. It was now deter-
mined to take effectnal measures for the suppression
of such a barbarous practice and I was bound to tell
him frankly that any prows hereafter found cruizing
ahout in that neighbourhood would certainly be
destroyed. I was happy to receive from him, 1
observed, a solenm disavowal that the prows Lelonged
to him, but with deference to the likelilood of some of
his subjects being addicted to piratical pursuits without
his knowledge or sanction, 1 cautioned him ns he
valued the friendship of the English and wished to
preserve a good name, to establish a more vigilant
Superintendence over his people and not to permit
any piratical prows to resort to any of the rivers within
his territory nor to obtain supplies at any of the Ports
under his Government.

16. These observations [ addressed very plainly
to the Rajah without the aid of an interpreter so that
there could be no misconceptions. He quickly inter-
rupted me by remarking * then if, as you say, the
“ British Government is using effectual means to sup-
* press piracy, why do you permit pirates to resort to
“ Singapore and its vicinity ; that is their chief place
“ of resort it is well known. Why do you not station
“ Cruizers further down the Straits? I understand
“ you have Cruizers guarding from Pulo Biman to
“Pulo Bidan close to Pinang  That is not the place
* for them, you shouid have them going constantly up
“and down the Straits. The Dutch used to have
“ many vessels to guard the Coasts.”

The Rajah added, “I understand a Top
“ belonging to a Chinaman at Malacea was lataly
““ captured by Pirates in the Straits and that a
“ Brig was attacked and nearly taken close to the
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“ Sambilang Islands.” He coutinued, “these pirates
“ seem a match for your vessels. I heard from
“ Malacea that the Brig fired about 100 shot and
“ escaped only by a breeze of wind springing up.””
T observed that was a different sort of Vessel to our
regular armed Cruizers and that T understood only
a few shot had lit the Minerva. * How large were
theshot? " suid he smartly. The introduction of
this subject gave me an opportunity of again submit-
ting the necessity of preventing prows from resorting
tothe Sambilang Islands, and the Perak River and was
the very best argument I could have had for urging
the other points—the removal of Rajal Hassan &e.

18. Notwithstanding the Rajul’s assurance,
his denial in the presence of all his Chiefs of the
knowledge of auy assemblage of prows, nud his rea-
diness to enter into an engagement for the suppres-
sion of piracy, my opinion is that Salangore like
most of the other Malay States has been a place of
resort for pirates und that the barbarous practice
has been much increased in this quarter since the
troubles comwmenced in Pernk by the interference of
the Siamese. The existence of such a state of things
as has prevailed during the few Inst years and the
constant state of alurm in which the inhubitants
have been kept, has tended to unsettle their habits,
has called the lubourers from the fields and the
Mines to arm for their defence and if it has ut
already done so would soon have had the effect of
inspiring the whole population with a more martial
spirit than they heretofore possessed and rendering
them much more daring pirates than they have yet
proved to be. 1 ventured to anticipate (several years
ago) the result which seems to have transpired. The
proceedings of the Siamese have tended to encrease
piracy. I have great confidence however that the
evil has not yet advanced to such n stage as to be
irremediable and that the Malays are not become so
desperate as they would be were some change not
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to take place speedily. With the sentiments of
deference which tlrey entertain of the British Gov-
ernment the Malays will no doubt return to the
quiet pursuits of agriculture and commerce as soon
as they perceive the effects of the intervention of
the British Government and the removal of the
Siamese armament, which will render their longer
prep for defence . On the Faith
of the friendly intervention of the British Govern-
ment and in the confidence that the Siamese have
beeu deterred from an attack upon Salangore the
iuhabitants informed me that they were clearing the
ground in the interior extensively for ensuring n
plentiful harvest of paddy this Season.

19. On the second point the Rajah gave me

the following explanation,

Extractfrom Captain Bur-
mey's raport. “That Tuanku
“Hassan of Salangore has
“established himsolf at the
“mouth of tho principal river
“and Is unjustly disturbing
“the peace and Commence of
“that Country and that the
“Rajah of Salangore had
“eome up and attacked and
“selzed tho troops and boats

“which His Highness had
“sent two yoars ago for the
“ protection of Porak. | then
“stated that | could not ad-
“mit Porak was a Slamese
“state &ca.” (para.5.)

acquired,

Rajah Hassan, his
nephew, was established at Sungie Bidor
about 30 Miles up the Perak River by
the express desire of the Rajah of Peral
and as u proof that there was a cordial
understanding between them at the
time. He mentioned that the Aunt of
the Rajah of Perak was married to
Rajah Hassan. The nephew was placed
there as his (the Rajah of Salangore’s)
Agent to receive half the duty on Tin
exported Vizt. 6 Dollars Per Bhar, con-
formably to an agreement entered into
between the Rajahs of the two states.
My Arguments for the removal of
Rajuh Hassan met with great opposi-
tion during the tirst conference and the
Rajal plainly told me on leaving late
in the afternoon that he could not
accede to the proposition; that Perak
was his by conquest and that he could
not give up the privileges he had

On leaving himn I told him he had better

thiuk of it during the night and [ would commit to
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paper what I had said to him. His last words were,
“ Well it is of no use thinking, I cannot consent, but
“ you muy write it down.”

20. The next morning I had scarcely taken my
seat when the Rajali jumped forward, seized me
violently by the hand, and much ugitated said, ** Well
“what have you to sy to-day ?” 1 replied, “ The
* sawe as yesterday.” He argued a long time and L
rejoined. At last he said, “ Well, well, [ do not like
* prolonging discussion and you always get the better
* of me by argument if T let you go on. Do you want
*“ the duty of 6 Dollars on the Tin, you shall have it.
Do you want Perak, you shall have it. [ do not care
“for Money.” L again explained that all the Govern-
ment required was peace, that the Rajah of Ligore
had agreed to dismiss his armament provided Rajah
Hassan was removed from Perak and that as lie, the
Rajah of Salangore, had Territory enough besides, this
could be no sacrifice to him. The Rajah at last assented,
desiring me to recollect. that this was done out of pure
regard to the English and le =id, “ I would rather
““dio than give up five pice to the Siamese. Let the
* Siamese come,” said he, * I will fight, and if I die they
“may do what they please with my goods but the
** object of their armament was not to take Salangore
* only, itis to tuke the Rajah of Kedah—better be
“upon your guard,”

21, The Rajah erquired how he should receive
the amount of certain debts due to him by the King
of Perak and several Chinese in that Country. 1
offered to speak to the Perak Chief on the subject
and the Rajah said he would address a letter to the
Honble. the Governor. He produced several letters
from the Rajali of Perak, one of which dated only 2
Months ago le gave me at my request and a trans-
lation of which is attached. This letter admits
certain debts and is interesting as it contains several
other observations of importance. It will be ob-

—

e e ey Ty e "
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served the Rajuh says the object of sending his
Brother and Chiefs to Kedah was to prevent the
Siamese if possible from coming to Perak. I have
10 doubt such is really the case, and that the Perak
people are spreading reports of the Rajah of
Salangore’s large force and the collection of Lanoon
prows purposely to alarm the Siamese and prevent
their going to Perak.

22. The Guns now at Sungee Bidor with Rajal
Hassan stated to be about 30 or 40 in number belong
to the Rajah of Salangore and he proposed to send
his Son Rajah Daula and a Chief to assist in bring-
ing them away. I informed him that there could in
my opinion be no objection to his nephew removing
such articles as were bona fide his property, but
advised him not to lay claim to any thing that was
not clearly his or to do any thing which would tend
to produce further difference, He assured me he
would be particular in this respect and that his only
object was to conform to the wishes of the Governor
of Pulo Penang. I ascertained through the medium of
my writer that on iny departure after the first con-
ference all the Chiefs and the Rajah’s Sons urged
him to comply with the propositions I made which
he was himself rather averse to at first,

23. Relative to the 8. point the Rajah ex-
pressed very iderable rel to relinquisk

Extractfrom Captaln Bur-
moy's report. “ His Highness
2180 wishes to Introduce In
the 4th tiputation
that we shall settle the future

the claims which he had acquired first
by conquest and afterwards by treaty
mora than 20 years ago. The Rasjah
dmitted that prior to his conquest of

betweon
Salangore at a river called
ngy Nibong Angoos, which
bout an hour’s Journcy to
the Southward of the Berman
Rive in a conference
which | had with the Young
IPerak Chief and his Atten-
dants, whom the Gevernor of
Ligore called in, | learnt that

Perak in 1804 the boundary between
the two States was the River Berman
but he never heard of that mentioned
in Captain Burney’s report. There is
no such river as Sungei Nibong Angoos
I was assured by the Rajah and all the
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d  Salangore people. There is a spot closa

‘: to the sea shore a little to the North-

wars  ward of Tanjong Karang called Nibong

heard was the Iast osta- 3 4

bllshed boundary botwsen -Ng008 from some fishermen in cooking

Salangore and Perak. their dinner setting fire to the trees,
during the dry season and burning them by accident
but there were never any louses there, nor was that
spot ever regarded as the boundary. As the Ber-
man River is laid down in Martin Lindsay's Chart
and by several authors as the establislied boundary,
and the Rajah of Salangore at last assented, I fixed
that as the limit of his territory to the Northward
for the future.

lun" Nibong Angy

24. It was not with less reluctance that the
Rajah assented to refrain from all future inter-
ference with Perak. He produced to me the original
treaty of defensive alliance between the late King
of Perak and himself dated in 1804 copy of which T
liave taken and a translation of which accompanies
this, By virtue of that treaty he had proceeded to
Peruk and remained 3 Months with the present
Rajah 5 at his request performed tho ceremouy of
proclaiming him as Sovereign and elevating him to
the throne according to the Malayan Custom. He
assured me there had been a perfect understanding
between him and the Rajah of Perak and it was at
the lutter’s express desire that he was there; that
that Chief was equally averse to the Siamese as
himself but is deficient in courage and power to re-
sist and therefore affects not to oppose their coming.

25. With respect to the fourth point in dis-
cussion the Rajah betrayed great impatience when-
over 1 ndverted to it. He said that Che Hat, the
Chow Piya of Ligore’s Agent has sent a letter to
him from Perak written in Siamese, that nobody at

Extract from Captal Sal d d that I 8
nersrepaet. Sifls Ny waa 8nd that being desirous of preventing
transmitted the Bunga Mas to  the Sinmese coming to Salangore and




Slam and that its Rajah had
directly applied to him for
mssistance agalnst Tuanku
Hassan and had deputed to
him at Ligore his, the Rajah's
youngor Brother Tuanku Ki-
<hil Mooda who Is now at
Kedah waiting to roturn to
Porak with the succour soli-
<cltod, and that with respoct
to Salangore he had not In-
tendod to Interfore with It,
and had two years age whon
the Ligoro mon first went to
Perak transmitted a compli-
mentary lottor and presents
to the Rajah of 8alangore who
instead of trusting to these
assurances of his friendly
disposition suddenty and with-
outany provocationcame up to
Perak and saizod forty of His
Highnosses boats which were
under chargo of Cho Hat his
Malay Intorproter to whom he
pointed as ho was then on
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nscertaining the contents of the letter
he had proceeded up with 17 smalt
prows to meet Che Hat at Perak by the
invitation also of the Rajah. Knowing
the treacherous character of the
Sinmese, and recollecting the mauner
in which they had come to Kedal and
Perak he was the more anxious not to
admit any Envoys from the Rajah of
Ligore into his Country and to prevent
this he was solicitous to havea con-
ference with Che Hat at that place.
The Perak people, anxious to get rid of
the Siamese, spread a report thata large
force from Salangore was entering the
river and advised Che Hat to make his
escape even before his prows entered

duty before His Highnoss."

He lost no time in doing so,
and the prows fell into the hands of the Perak
people.  About half the number were old and rotten
and were sunk. The Rajah denied having taken
any of them, and declared he had never seen Che
Hat nor a single Siamese. [e added also that if
there wore two witnesses who could prove he or the
Salangore people took the Sinmese prows he would
pay the 2000 Dollars required. He begged me
therefore to explain this fully to the Honble. the
Governor.  He said it was all 2 plan of the Perak
people themselves to get rid of the Siamese,

the river.

26. As wmy instructions on this head did not
warrant my pressing the matter but only enjoined
my making enquiry, I informed the Rajah that as
he had assented so readily to the other points L
would communicate his explanation to the Honble.
the Governor and it would rest with Government-to
determine after a full consideration of all the cir-
cumstances whether the application on this head
should be renewed. I gave him clearly to under-
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stand on parting that I did not wave the demand and
that he might perhaps soon receive a further com-
munication on the subject.

27. Under all the circumstances of the case, I
venture respectfully to submit my o;;'mion that it
would be impolitic to exact the performance of this
condition from the Rajah of Salangore. The Perak
Country was his by prior right of conquest and if he
was the means of expelling the Siamese from the
Country, o justification may be found for him in the
principle of self defence, for his own country was
in danger. He denies however having participated
in the booty. The records of the Penang Gov-
ernment show that Perak was under the control
of Salangore as far back ns 1804 and 1806. Iu one
letter to the then Governor the present Sultan writes
—*“The People of Penang must not go to Perak at
present, for Perak from the River Korak to Bertung
Bras Basok is my Country. This Country I have
taken by force of Powder and Ball, whizh Custom
the Governor is mcquainted with.” This was in
1806. The Siamese practised a similar ceremony,
through the Agency of the King of Quedah in 1818.
No Siamese went there till the middle of 1822.
They wade o very short stay and the King of
Salang d his former d and till
this moment lie retains it by means of the establish-
ment of his nephew at Sungei Bidor. Thereis no
doubt the Rajak of Perak has been courting the aid
and protection of the Rajah of Sulangore against
the Siamese, although his dread of the latter power
has forced him to receive tlie Siamese and comply
with their demands. It is very certain that the
Rajah of Perak and his Subjects would hail with
joy an emancipation from the shackles imposed by
both the Siamese and Salangore, and would repay
with gratitude the friendly intervention that could
effect such a wished for object. In deference to the
Dritish Government the Salangore Chief has now
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consented to refrain from all interferences; to
respect the established boundary ; and to direct the
removal of his nephew.

28. As tlie Rajah did not require from me any
formal Engagement so I did not find it necessary to
say more than what is pointed out in my instrac-
tions ; Vizt, that in the event of his ready compli-
ance with the requisitions now made, the same
intervention which had been manifested might be
expected. He requested I would beg the Honorable
the Governer to send him a few good Guns and
some Shot, for which he would pay any price. I
told him in reply. that this would have too much
the appearance of a wish to continue warlike pre-
parations, which it was our desire to put a stop to,
und that he must not entertain any expectation of
his request being complied with.

29. Having obtained the Rajah’s assent fo en-
tering into arrangements to the effect above noticed,
Lnext turned my attention to the objects which were
pointed out as desirable to be attained in the event of
my iations being fu ble for their plisl
ment, but which T was directed not to insist upon, if it
should be found that their completion tended to delay
or obstruct the more direct object of communication,
1 therefore proposed to the Rajal that with the view
of cementing the friendship between the British
Government and himself it would be desirable that he
should renew the Commercial Agreement entered into
by Mr. Cracroft in 1818. To this he offered no ob-
jections, but on the contrary expressed a readiness to
doso. I then proposed that he should enter into an
Agreement for the mutual swrrender of Criminals
which he readily assented to and also an obligation to
use his efforts for the suppression of Piracy.

30. When we had, after two long and fatiguing
discussions, come to s clear understanding as to the
nature of the Engagement to be entered into, I retired
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with his Son Rajah Usun and my Writer, to prepare a
draft of the Agreement, which being produced to him,
e attentively read over two or three times and com-
mented upon. He then directed his Son to make a
Copy for me, to which he affixed his largo Chop and
wy Writer made o Copy for im. The Engagements
were then exchanged in due form, he observed
“1 have made several engagements, do not let us ha
changing any more, let this be permanent.”

31. After exchanging the engogements, the
Rajah expressed a desire to see my liscort go through
their exercise and with the view of making the
ceremony of entering into an Engagement more formal
and impressive, I proposed a salute should be fired the
following day in honor of it. He quickly observed,
“Very well, I know the custom .of the English, and
every thing shall be ready.” On the 22d., agreeably
to appointment, I again landed with all my escort and
attendants, the sepoys paraded near the principal
Battery. A salute of 9 guns was fired from the
Fort in honor of the Agreement, followed by the
same number of Guns from the two vessels and 3
vollies of musquetry by the Sepoys. The Rajah
accompanied me to witness the ceremony amidst o
large concourse of people and it had an imposing
effect and proved more than any thing else, that a
cordial understanding prevailed, and is, 1 trust, a
pledge that the Rajah will adhere strictly to the
Engagement, which I have no doubt the Honble.
the Governor in Council will observe, is worded with
sufficient plainness and precision.

32. I did not fail to impress upon the King’s
mind that any infraction of the Engagement would
not be overlooked, that this was not a mere form, but
that it was expected he would perform the conditions
required of him in geod faith and in the real spirit of
of truth and sincerity.
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33. T had with me the Dutch Treaty which T
read over to him, and explained all the Articles re-
lativo to our future relations on the Peninsula of
Malacca and the Island of Sumatra, with which he
seemed much pleased.

35 On my departure the Rajah gave mo a letter
to the Honble. the Governor, the Contents of which
1 was unacquainted with, and I considered it
prefersble to allow him to write as he pleased.
This letter I have opened and now beg to attach a
translation. I have also received a present of 3 Bhar
of Tin for the Honble. the Governor to whom the
Old Chief on parting and shaking mo condially by the
hand, desired T would present his best compliments,
and requesting me to explain everything to him.

35. The Rajah made many enquiries about the
King of Kedah aud the probability of his restoration.
On one oceasion he abruptly enquired * When is tho
King of Kedah to be returned to his Country 2" T
replied, that negotiations were in progress to that end,
and T was in hopes he would be restored ere long.
** 1 will bet,” said he, * 5,000 Dollars he is not returned
in 10 years,” He said the King of Kedah wasa
woman for making so poor a resistanco against the
Siamese.

36. During the 4 days that the vessels remained
at Salangore, my people were permitted to go about
freely, and I ascended the Hill on which the Fort is
situated. I reckoned that there are about 70 to 80
Guns of all sorts mounted on the great hill, and the
Batteries on 8 smaller hills below, but they are almost
all honey combed and unfit for service. The King’s
residence near the point is a most miserable abode for
Majesty; every thing betokened decay and delapidation.
The Hills however had been lately cleared of jungle
and new attap sheds erected eover each of the guns,
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which makes the batteries present a formidable ap-
pearance at a distance. It is in my opinion quite
absurd to suppose that the Siamese fitted ont so large
a fleet and armament for the purpose of taking such a
wretchedly defended place as gore at present is.
10 or 20 Prows and 500 men, instead of 300 and
10,000, would have been quite sufficient. Most of
the Guns now mounted would on a single discharge be
precipitated down the hills, being all placed on the
edge of the sloping bank and not ono in the Fort. At
Jeast half of them would burst if fired twice. Captain
Toynton put his thumb into the touch holes of several.

87. The King on parting requested me to
furnish him with Paper to inscribe a Copy of the
Koran upon, which I promised to do at Penang, and
he gave a Commission to my Writer to get a hand-
some Copy made for which he authorized him going
going to an expence of 100 Dollars.

38. T quitted Salangoro late in the Evening of
the 22d and at day light on the morning of the 23d
we were opposite the Mouth of the River Berman,
which appears to be at least 2 miles wide at the
entrance. We have not fallen in with a single prow
during the voyage, and observed in Salangore River
altogether about 25 or 30 small boats which belonged
to the Chiefs and peopls from the villages up the
River and on the Coast, who were assembled on the
occasion of my visit. There were also two long
Chinese Sanpan Pankats and a Top disposing of Goods
and taking in Cargoes of Tin. The Vessels are now
standing up past the Sambilang Islands for the
Anchorage at Pulo Pankour, from whence I intend
dispatching a boat up the River to request an inter-
view with the Rajah of Perak.

89. I send the Malacca boat with this dispatch,
and request that she may be returned without delay
to Pulo Pankour. I expect that this boat will return
from Penang before my Messenger can possibly do so
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from Perak. I am informed that the King is at
present residing at Beta, a distance of at least 70 or
80 Miles up the river.

40. It would, in my opinion, be advisable to
give notice to the Native traders at Penang, that Rice
may be exported to Perak, I am desirous, if possible,
of witnessing the removal of Rajah Hassan from
Bungei Bidor, prior to my return. I shall forthwith
send him notice of the Engagement entered into
with the Rajah of Salangore and require his
immedinte departure,

I have &e.
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON,
Political Agent to Salangore and Perak.
H. C.’s Schiconer Zephyr at Anchor
between the Island of Pankour
aud the Dindings. The 20th
August 1825,
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TRANSLATION

of a letter from Sri Paduka Adendn Sultan Abdullah
Ma Allum Shah, King of Perak, to Sri Paduka
Kakanda Sultan Tbrahim Shal,, King of Salangore.

After a profusion of Compliments and Invoca-
tions to God and the Prophet for the health and
prosperity of the King of Sulangore, he proceeds—

With respect to the letter bearing the Chop of
wy Elder Brother, which was sent by Che Ismael, it
has reached me in safety. What is mentioned con-
cerning Rajah Kechil Soolong being established at
Kwala Bidor by the Anthority of my Elder Brother and
collecting Revenuesisacceded to. - Astothe Agreement
or understanding between myself and the Rajah Kechil
Soolong, it continues the same as before. 1t is stated

in the letter that the Revenues are not correctly
accounted for.  On this subject 1 request my Elder
Brother to consider woll, these aro under the
management of Rajah Kechil Soolong and whatever
he gives me 1 receive.  As to the duties, 1 vetain such
port of them as are prescribed in the Engagement
made with my Elder Brother formerly, which was
brought by the Shabundur, beyond that 1 know
nothing. for Rajah Keehil Soolong has not given me
any further information, and my Elder Brother must
of course be acquainted with all the proceedings of
Rajah Keehil Soolong in the Perak Country.

As to Massack and the Perak People who are
indebted to my Elder Brother, and the Guns they are
all under the authority and in the possession of the
Rajah Kechil Soolong, and the good understanding
between me and the Rajah Kechil Soolong has not
been altered.
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If all the people of Perak vemove to Kwala Bidor,
Kuwala Bidor will still be a part of the Perak Conntry,
and us t3 the debts due to my Elder Brother, and
the guns, T will communicate with Rajal Kechil
Soolong, for my Elder Brother seems to look to me
for them. A part of the debts have been recovered
by the Rajah Kechil Soolong, and the Guns are
with him.

As to the Siawese, T have not by any means
brought them hither, and the object of sending the
Rajah Kechil Mooda and Orang Koga besor to Siam,
wis to endeazour ta prevant the Sinmese from.
coming to Perak at all.

Moreover with respact to the Agreement and
Oath of fidelity which I have taken and mado with
uy Elder Brother they cannot be broken, and [ will
adhere to the regulation which was given to me. 1
have hitherto adhered to it, and by the blessing of
God and the Peaphet, whether it bs my fate to, go
to heaven or hell, I will eantinue to do so. If L
deviate from it [ shall wot be eutitled to the fuvor of
the Almigiity and his Propliet but shall be cursed,
and if my Elder. Brother does not adliere to his part
of the Agreement God and the Prophet will visit
him with displeasure. As to my debt to wmy Elder
Brother, 1 have no wish to deny it, and I have
requestel the Rujah Kechil Soolong to settle it, I
have given him a Memorandum and [ shall again
cominunicate with Rijah Ke:hil Soolong on the
Subject.

Further with respact ta tha worship recom-
mended to wmy Elder Brother, T will, with the
blessing of tho Almighty, while I live attand to that,
for the practice is prescribed by God aud his Pro-
phet for the observanse of all his disciples and trus
followers : such is my intention.
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Dated 8d. of Dul-Kuida in the Year cf the
Hijirah 1240, on Tuesduy, corresponding with the
24th May 1825.

A True Translation

(S1.) JOHN ANDERSON,

Chop of
Sultan  Abdullah
ma-Alum  Shah
King of Perak.

Malay Translator to

Government.

The 26th August 1825,

Note. The King of Pernk styles limself

é Adenda younger Brother, and the King of

Salangore  Kakanda » Elder Brother, these being

polite substitutes for the perlonnl pronoun and

y in the corresp Malay
Princes.

The Rajah Kechil Soolong is meant for Tuanku
Hassan, Nephew of the King of Salangore.

On perusing the letter of which the foregoing
1 the d ion lately practised by
the Sinmese is very apparent, in the fabrication of a
paper purporting to be from the Rajah of Perak
and Chiefs to the Chow Pya of Ligore, which Cap-
tain Eurney brought a Copy of. I do not once
observe any of those words or expressions in this
letter to which I objected in the other. This is the
genuine production of the King, and a well
written letter. There are muny Arabic words in it.

Signed) J. A,

is a




L49]

ractors  FORT CORNWALLIS The 8th September 1825,
Records,

Straits Sottie-

o RAJAH of SALANGORE.

®ajah of Satan- TRANSLATION of a letter from Sultan Ibrahim

more 0 avaust Shah, Rajal of Salangore, to the Homble. Robert
Fullerton Esquire, Governor of I’. W. Island—dated
10th Moharram 1241—vizt. 26th Auguse 1825,

After Compliments.

The letter which was bronght by my friend’s
Agent Mr. Johu Anderson has safely reached me, and
1 understand its contents. I replied to the requisition
of the said Agent to me to deliver up the property of
Sisat, that I had really never taken it—so far from
that T have never scen either it or Sisat, nor indeed
the property of any Perak people, although I did ses
several of their boats founder. I afterwards had o
meeting with the Rajal of Perak, and having installed
him on the throne with royal honors deliver over
possession of that Country to him, He then entered
into a treaty with me, where by it was agreed that
twelve dollars (should be levied) on every Bhar,
(oftin), and that one half should go to my brother
the Rajah of Perak, and the othier half to myself; which
treaty has been ratificd on both sides in the most
solemn manner,

1 was loth, as I told my friend’s Agent, to enter
into any discussion on the subject of the boundary
(Thereisa  between Perak and Salangore, it being known to every~
Gountial expret-one. L was on the point of returning to Salangore,
of the tattor.) When a messenger fromthe Rajah of Perak waited on
me with a request that I would lend him Guns which
» I complied with.
As to my leaving Rajah Hassan behind it was by
the King of Perak’s desire I did so—and moreover he
(Rajah Hassan) being the latter's father (in law) it
would be beyond my power to restrain him. Should
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my friend doubt this statement he can order enquiry
to be made thereof at Perak, for it is most certain that
he has married the Mother of the Rajah's brother.

My friend’s Agent also stated that several of my
prahus had gone to Perak, but 1 request my triend
will not listen to what people say. Only two small
boats accompanied my Son who proceeded there with
the duties.

Tt was further asserted by my friend’s Agent that
several Lannoon (pirate) prahus wers at Salangore.
1 declare it is no such thing and I beg my friend will
disregard these reports. As his Agent is about to
proceed to Perak, he can ascertain whether there really
are such numerous boats at that place belonging
vither to myselt or the Lannocons. [ have never yek
solicited aid from Lannoons. If my friend is well
disposed towards me, he will make known the authors
of this report, and whether they be Perak people or
Sinmese I shall be able to expose their falschood.

I have only further particularly to request of my
friend, that the treaty now making (or made) between
his Agent and me, may experience no detriment frem

the influence of another Quarter, [Tl
1

is paragraph

ieally and obscurely expressed in the

is
original.”)
(Signed) R. CAUNTER
Actg. Malay Translator.
P: We Isdand
30 August 1825,




Rajah of Ligore
2a. Septomber

[a1]
RAJAH of LIGORE.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Chow Pya
of Ligore to the Honble. Robert Fullerton Esquire
Governor of P. W, Island—dated Monday Month of
Moharram.

Atter Compliments.

Having occasion for the following Articles 1 have
to request my friend will commission them for me
from Bengal, where I understand they are procurable

in Nine or ten E: 1ds all 1

e or
and a Couple of Sapphives
luropeans about their necks
and arms.  When they arrive | beg my friend will be
50 kind as to send thew to Kedah, from whence they
can be forwarded to Livore, together with a letter in-
forming me of their cost, which I will then remit.

(Signed) R. CAUNTER
Actg. Malay Tramslator.

ing about the size of the tip of one’s finger—
ten Rubies to be also alik
similar to those worn by

1 W Lsland
2. Sept. 1525,



Rajah of Ligore
2 September

]
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RAJAH of LIGORE.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Chow Pya
of Ligore to the Honorable Robert Fullerton Esqr.
Governor of Prince of Wales Island dated Oth
Moharram 1241 vizt, 27th August 1825.

After Compliments.

I beg to make known tomy friend that when
Salang  (Junkceylon) was invaded by the Burmese
armament several of their people were taken prisoners
by the Siamese forces. The Burmese have been (our)
enemics from time immemorial, and as rebels to his
imperial Majesty they (Captives) by the laws of Siam
were tu be sent up tothe Capital. Halt of them
however were taken to Ligore and kept there. (One
of these) a Burmese named Echin associating himself
with one Eduang a Siamese stole some Elephants and
escaped to Penang.

A Malay also called Arif the Nephew of Sri
Pekarima Jyah of Pulo Lankawi, (jointly with his
Uncle) took up Arms and killed a great many
Sinwese. Sri Pekarmu Jyah was himself also slain,
and Arif made prisoner in the prahu in which he
had engnged and killed the Siamese as uforesaid.
This traitor to his Iwperial Majesty has fled to
Penang. I hope my friend will promote un alliance
by causing the fugitive offenders aguinst the State
herein mentioned to be sent back and in cases of
offenders on the side of the English absconding to
Siam, I will in like manner send them back, con-
formably to the Treaty coucluded with Captain
Burney. I pray my friend may be disposed to view
in such reciprocal Acts of friendly accommodation,
inci to mutual cordiality and will dingly
cause these runaway Culprits to be returned to me.
It is not my intention when they come to punish
their offence but to remand them to their former
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condition. 1f my friend send them back it will be
an unequivocal token that the friendship and good
will he professes for me are sincere and I shall
acknowledge the same by a return of equal con~
fidence and regard.

( Signed) R. CAUNTER,
Actg. Malay Translator.

P. W. Island
2d. September 1825,

ORDERED that n Copy of the above Letter be
sent to the Superintendent of Police with orders to
seize the persons alluded to, and to report as far ag
possible on the merits of the case.
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RAJAH of LIGORE.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Chow Pya
" of Ligore to the Honorable Robert Fullerton Esquire,
Governor of I, W. Tsland—dated Friday 18th Mohar~
ram 1241 —vizt. 24 September 1825,

Ay it is my intention to return within the present
month, I have thought it due to the friendship which
indissolubly subsists between my friend and me, to
make him acquainted therewith. [ am now only wait-
ing the arrival of Kun Aksorn who was sent to pur-
chase some articles to set out for Ligore, where I ex-
pect Captain Burney whom 1 have promised to conduet
to the Capital ; having already forwarded a written
express to notify my friend’s intention of deputing
him there. ] request my friend will therefore cnuse.
my friend Capt. Burney to sct out as agreed on, in
order that our amicable relations way Do established
on a permament footing.

Being now on the eve of my departure T wished to
send wy friend some specimen of

lamese manufacture,
as a token, but not having time, 1 ordered a Teapot. to
be made with which 1 have directed Dikong to follow
Kun Aksorn in order to present the same to my friend.
It is but o trifle, and in point of value unworthy his
acceptance, but I request my friend will nevertheless
receive and keep [it) as a pledgo of our mutual regard,
which I hope will always continue unimpaired—for
Kedah and Penang are united by situation,

My twa sons whom formerly his Imperial Majesty
was graciously pleased to direet shonld reside at. Kedah,
will T trast after my departure be admitted by my
friend to the same degree of friendly intimacy as my-
self. 1 request that all matters of business may be
communicated to me by letter, which can be forwarded
from Kedah, to me at Ligore, where I can satisfactorily
dispose of the same,
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Being desirous of establishing a friendly nnder-
standing with the Governor Gieneral of Bengal, I beg

my friend will have the gouduess to forward the
Articles which L sent for him as soon as possible.

Lam now expecting intelligence regarding AMr.
Anderson's Mission to Perak and Salanzore. 1 by any
means it be possible T would wish my friend to send
me the desired information by Kun Aksorn, that [
may know what lias heen done. T teust my friend will

agreeably to his promise, make such arangements as
may tend to the encvense of mutual ool will,
( Simed ) R CAUNTER
Avtr. Malay Translator.

oW, Lland
Gt September 1825,
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THE fullowing Minute by the President relative
to Cuptuin Burney’s early departure on his Mission
to Siam is recorded.

Juingcaby the. MINUTE BY THE PRESIDENT.
President

13eptomber
1028,

The unfortunate accident which happened to \
the Minerva and the consequent return to this port ‘
with Mr. Maingy, Captain Burney and Mr. Blundell
Dhas rendered it impossible for Captain Burney now
to visit the Coast of Tenasserim ns intended without
losing the seuson for Siam. It becomes necessary ‘
herefore that final ta should be made 1
for his departure to that Capitgl Ly Sea. So much f
has already Leen written on the objects of that |
Mission, it would be useless repetition here to enter !
at length on the subject. As far as the British ’
Interests in this quarter are concerned they may be
abstracted thus: 1Ist. the restoration of the King
of Kedali; 2d. the withdrawal of the Siamese from
Perak ; 8d. the prevention of further conquests by
the Sinmese over the Malayan States on either side
of the Peninsula, the quent maint of the
independence of those States and the exclusion of
the Siamese power from contact or contiguity with
the British Settlements in the Straits. For all
other points I refer to Parns. 10 to 18 of the letter
from the Supreme Government of 13th May 1825
with the instructions to Captain Burney therein

losed. It seems y toadd to those
instructions. Under present circumstances the pro-
bable necessity of the Campaign against Ava, the
consideration of the many points of discussion
likely to arise in the Settlement of frontiers and
actunl interchange of Territory with Siam seems
to point out in strong terms the expediency :
of having o British accredited Agent at the |
Capital of Siam at this juncture so as toafford a
medium of direct communication with that Court,




[ ]

1 propose therefore that the Master Attendant be
directed in communication with Captain Burney
to endeavour to enguge n Vessel adapted to the
conveyance of the Mission to Bankok and as the
application of Captain Burney contained in his ad-
dress of the seems to come within the scope
of the Instructions of the Supreme Government [
propose that Captain McFarquhar, with the escort
required, e directed to hold themselves in readiness
to attend him,

(Signed) R. FULLERTON.

1st September 1825,

ORDERED that detailed Tnstructions, in con-
formity to the Presilent's Minute, be prepared for
the guidance of Captain Burney, who, in communi-
cation with the Master Attendant, will be directed
to engage a suitable Vessel for the conveyance of
the Mission.

ORDERED also that the Commanding Oficer
be nddressed relative to the Fscort to be attached,
that the Superintending Surgeon be desired to place
Mr. Sub Assistant Surgeon Harris in Medical
charge of the Mission, and lastly, that the Military
Paymaster do disburse upon Abstracts Pay and
allowances to the Detachment employed as an Ks-
cort, up to the 15th lustant.
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[38]
FORT CORNWALLIS The 15th September 1525,

RAJAH of LIGORE.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Chow Pia
Ligor to the Honorable the Governor of P. W.
Island., dated Sunday 20th Moharram viz. 4th
September 1825.

After Compliments.

THE Raja of Perak having written to me to
say that there is a great searcity of grain at that
place, and requested a supply of rice, 1beg to ac-
quaint my friend that [ wm now preparing 4 prahus,
ench laden with five Koyans of rice, and manned
with twentv two hands to send to him. These Boats
are yet at Kedal, and I have ordered Amboon
Narain to proceed with this Letter and deliver it to
Khun Aksorn who will present it to wy friend, and
at the same time request certificates from him
separately for each Boat, in order that the friendly
object of their voyage may be made known. Ire-
quest my friend will expedite the furnishing of these
Papers and be so good as to dispatch Amboon
Narain to Kedah, where he will deliver them to the
persons who are ta procaed in charge of the Boats.
1 rely on my friend’s compliance with this request.

( Signed ) RICHD. CAUNTER
Actg. Malay Translator.

P. W, Island.
9th September 1825.

THE SECRETART reports that a reply in the
Negative was forwarded to the Rajah of Ligore.
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T

FORT CORNWALLIS The 15th September 1525,

POLITICAL AGENT to the STAMESE STATES.

To
J. R. CUPPAGE Fsquire
Acting Secretary to Government
Sir,

In reply to your Letter of the Sth Instant, T
have to forward enclosed an Account of the further
Articles required by we in order to complete my
stock of public presents for the King and Court of
Niam.  The Honble. the Governor in Council is well
awire that the distribution of Presents at Bangkok
ix the only mode of securing the services of the
Officers, and through them the attention of the
Court of Siam. But it will be my duty to govern
the distribution of the enclosed List of Articles
valued at Drs.

38, s well as of the more expensive
articles furnished to me at Fort William, with due
care and economy, and accoring only as the pro-
spects of success open before me.

I would beg to suggest that I be further
authorized to provide myself with some appropriate
present, ns a Service of Glass or 30 or 40 Stauds of
Muskets, of the value of I'wo lundred Dollars, to
offer to the Chow Pya Klang or Foreign Minister
at Baungkok, in the name of the Honble. the Gov-
ernor of this Island.

T have &e. &e.

(Signed) H. BURNEY
Pol: Agent.

P. W, Island
10th September 1825.
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ACCOUNT of further Articles required to com-
plote the Stock of public Presents for the Envoy
from the Right Honorable the Governor General to
the Court of Siam.

For the King of Siau.

1 Piece of Scarlet Cloth (Superfine)

1
1
1
1
1
1
1

10

12

Do.
Do.
Do.
Do.
Do.
Do.
Do.
Do.

Do.

S

of Green Do.  Do.
of Yellow Do. Do,

of Velvet
of Jacouet Muslm
Do. Do.
of Cambric
Do

of Long Cloth, 3 Cubits
wide (' 19 Drs. each

of Corded Muslin (i 15
Drs. each

Corge of Coarse lmlm (‘lulh

Total

For the Wang-Nu.

The same as the above ...

8.D. P S.D. P

47—

For the Chow Pya Klang.

The same

For the Chakri.

} Piece of Scarlet Cloth

3 Do. of Green Do.

1 Do. of Velvet

2 Pieces of English Muslin @ la Dre

per Piece ... .. e e

4t —

21—

21—

13—

80.—

474.—

474—

474 —



Lo

5 Pieces of English Long Cloth @
19 Drs. per piece ... ... 05

Total 180.—
For the Kalalom.

The same e e 180—

For the Inferior Officers and Chiefs,

An Assortment of Common Ceylon

Stones and Jewels ... ... 500.—
G Watches @ 25 each ... ... ... 150,—
40 Picces of English Chints @ og

per piece ... .. 270.—
80 Picces of English Long Cloth

@ 14 perpices ... ... 420.—
3 Pieces of Aurora Cloth @ 25 per

picce ... 81—
8 Dozen of Aniseed O tD:s pet
Dozen ... 82.—

A Case of Hnndlmrcluefs ol various
Patterns ... ... . .. 800.—

Total ~ 1756.—

Total Spanish Dollars

(Signed ) H. BURNEY Captn.
Pol. Agent.

. W, Island
10th September 1827,

RHESOLVED, that the same be authorized,

180.—

180.—

1756,—

35688.—
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POLITICAL AGENT to the SIAMESE STATES.

P W, Island, 14th September 1825

To J. R. CUPPAGE Esquire
Acting Secretary to (Government.
Sir,

I beg leave to report for the information of the
Honble. the Governor in Council that in communica~
tion with the Master Attendant, 1 have engaged the
English Brig Guardian for the conveyance of the
Mission from the Right Honorable the Governor
General to Siam at 1600 Dollars per Month, and
enclosed T have to submit one Copy of the Charter
Party which has been duly executed by Captain G.
Sutherland, the Commander of the Brig, and myself.

1 beg alto o enclose an Indent for a small supply
of Stationery : and another for snch Medicines as Mr+
Sub A
Superintending Sungeon, desires to provide for the

ant Surgeon, under the divections of the

use of the Mission.

With respect to any supply of Ca<h, which it may
be necessaty for me to take with me to Siam, 1 solicit
to be guided entively by the Orders of the Houble.

the Governor in Council. I do not contemplate the
Charges of the whole of the Mission at Bangkok will
exceed Three Thousand (8,000) Dollars,
I have &e. &e.
(Signed) 1. BURNEY
Pol: Agent.
RESOLVED, that the Indents be passed and that
an Advance of Two Months be made to the Political
Agent on his Estimate of 8,000 Dollars per Month.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 22 September 1325,
—_——

TRANSLATION of a Letter from the Honorable
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island to the Chow
Pya of Ligore dated 10 Septr. 1825,

After Compliments,

I have duly received my friends several letters
under date Dbut have been unable to reply
to them sooner from a press of public business,

My friends letter and prosents tor the Right
Honorable the Governor General were carefully dis-
patched to Bengal

days ago by a largo ship eallod
the Elizabeth.  Captain Burney embarks in a fow days
to proceed to Ligore and Bangkok, amd ho will he
happy to commission from Bongal the Stones aml
Jewels required by my feiend, it my friend will havo
the goodness to give that Officer when they meet a
more particular deseription of thess things,

1 am much obliged to my fiiend for his very hand-
rome token of friendship, the Silver ornamental Kettln
whicli he has sent to me. 1 am ve

xious that a
cordial good understanding should subsist hetween my
friend and myself, and that through onr means the
Boglish and Siamese should he as one Nation. Lat
my friend ask Khun Aksorn whether ho and all his
attendants have not received every kindness and favor
since they have been at Penang, and whether thoy
have not been allowed to go whithersvever they
pleased, and to buy and sell with as mucl case amd
freedom as the oldest inhabitants of Penang.  All the
Bnglish require from the Sinnese, and 1 from my feiend
i3, that in the Siameso Countries the same froedom
of trade and intercourse may be afforded to British
Subjects as that which Khun Aksorn and every other
Siamese receive at Penang.  Let my friend be assured
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of my inued desire to cultivat icable relations
with him, and with all whom he may leave after him at
Kedah. I shall entrust to Captain Burney’s charge to
deliver to my friend at Ligore, a suitable return for the
friendly token which e has sent to me.

With respect to my frieud's last letter, notifying
his desire to send some Boats laden with Rice to Perak:
1 would recommend my friend not to think of sending
any Boats to that Country, until all the Pirates and
wicked men are driven away from it. Mr. Anderson
has not yet returned from his Mission, but Captain
Burney will take to my friend at Ligore a full account
of all that the English may doat Perak and Salangore,
in fulfilment of the Agreement with my friend. When-
ever the Rajah of Perak is liberated from the thraldom
of Rajah Hassan and replaced in the Government of
his own Country, [ will send word to my friend's son
at Kedali, and engage to order one of the English
Craizers to give safe convoy to such of my friends
Boats ns may be appointed to visit Perak. Let my
friend be under no uneasiness with respect to the
scarcity of Rice at Perak. Mr. Anderson has taken
grain with him, and the moment the Salangore people
leave Perak, the Native traders of Penang will carry
abundance of Grain to that Country. T am now an-
xious only that my friend will return to Ligore as soon
as possible and be ready to accompany Captain Burney
to Bangkok before the adverse mousoon sets in.

C ing the offend ioned in one of my
friend's letters, I understand from Khun Aksorn that
two of them have returned to Kedah. As to the other,
Arif, I have given orders to the Police to search for
and apprehend him, and will communicate to my friend
hereafter the result. With respect to the Muskets my
friend is desirous of purchasing, it is proper to acquaint
my friend that the British Government does not permit
the Trading in Fire Arms, as such would enable Pirates
and other bad persons to possess themselves of these
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Articles, but as a mark of particular favor to my friend,
I have, in compliance with his request allowed Khun
Aksorn to procure thirty.

( Signed ) R. CAUNTER.
Acting Malay Translator.

N. B, After this letter had been closed and
delivered to Kl Aksorn, it was thought advisable to
send with it some small present in return for the
Kettle, or rather us a token o friendship and good will,
One of the value of 65 Dollars was accordingly pro-
cured, and delivered to the Envoy for the Chow Pya in
the name of the Honorable the Governor,

( Signed ) R CAUNTER.
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To the Prah
Kiang at
Bangkok.

[66]

FORT CORNWATLLIS The 22 September 1825.

READ the following letter from the President to
the Prah Klang at Bangkok.

TO THE PRAH KLANG at BANGKOK.

LETTER adlressed by the Honorable Robert
Fullerton Esqr. Governor of Prince of Wales Island to
the Chow Pya Klang or Foreign Minister at Bangkok.

Prince of Wales Island
20 September 1825,

THE
pleasare in acquainting the Chow Pya Klang, that
the Right Honorable the Governor General of British
India, has deputed Captain Henry Burney as his Envoy
to the King of Siam, for the purpose of tendering to
His Majesty the congratulations of the Briti:

iovernor of Prince of Wales Island has much

Govern-
ment on his nccession to the ancient aud distinguished
Throne of his Ancestors, and for the purpose of
affording to His Majesty and his Ministers every
explanation vegarding the War in which the British
Nation is now engaged with the Burmess, the old and
juveterate enemics of the Siamese. The English Nation
desives to preserve the most intimate friendly relations
with the Siamese, and the Governor of Prince of Wales

Jsdand, under whose charge the Provinces of Tavoy
aud Mergui, which have lately been conquered by the
British from the King of Ava, are now placed, has
wiven especial directions to all British Officers in that
quarter, and to Mr. Maingy the Chief Officer, to re-
spect the lives and property of all Siamese Subjects,
and to open the most amicable intercourse, and a free
trade with the contiguous Siamese Governments. The
Governor of Prince of Wales Island proposes himself in
atew weeks to proceed to Tavoy and Mergui, and to
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make arrangements for settling any disputes that may
have occurred bstween the British and Siamese
officers, and for preventing the recurrence of such
things.

The Chow Pya Klang will learn from the Chow
Pya of Ligore, that he has concluded a Preliminary
Agreement with Captain Henry Burney, by which
all di ions between tho G of Prince of
Wales Island and the Chow Pya of Ligora respecting
the Conntry of Kedah are put in a course of adjust-
ment, mutually beneficial to the English and Siamese.
The Bnglish Government seeks 1o accession of ter-
vitory or power, and invites the Court of Siam only to
Join with i
establish

in cementing o lasting friendship, and in
g5 free and wurestricted intervourse between
their respective peaple.

On the subject of Kedah, as well as on the means
of opening a wost advantageous teade between the
English and Siamese Countries, Captain Burney has
heen authorized by the Right Honorable the Governor
General to discuss and forward to Bengal, any propo-
~ition which the wislom and good sense of the I'ya
Klaug may suggest to hin. If there ix any matter
in- whicl the Governor of Prince of Wales Island may
servee the Pya Klang in this quarter, the Governor
hegs the Pya Kl

will let him know ; and in the
wean time Captain Burney, whow the Governor of
Prince of Wales Island recommends to the kind atten-
tion cf the Pya Kiang, will have the honor to offer soia

presents in the name of the Governor of Prinee of
Wales [sland to the Chow Pya Klang.



To the Rajahs

©f Tringano,
Xatantan,
&c., &

States.

[es]
READ the following Letter from the President to
the Rajahs of Tringano, Kalantan &e. &e.

LETTER addvessed by the Honorable R. Fullerton
Esquire, Governor of Prince of Wales Island, To the
S of TRINGANO and KALANTAN and

S of PUNGAH. CHAIVA, CHIMPOHUN and
PUCHPURI, and CHOW PYA of RACHPURL

Prince of Wales Island
20 Septr. 1825,

T have to acquaint my friend that Captain Henry
Burney is proceeding to Bangkok as an Envoy to the
King of Siam from the Right Honomble the Governor
General of British Dulia.

Captain Burney may have an opportunity of

stopping at my s place of residence, and of
assuring him of my friendly regard and cordial good
wishes : and I therefove furnish Captain Burney with
this letter, in order that my friend may see and
converse with that Officer, and state to him any
matters which my friend may desire me to know, so
that the friendship and good will which now subsist
between my friend and the British Government may
receive encrease awd stability.

READ a letter from the Political Agent to the
Siamese States, intimating his intention of sailing on
the 24 : Instant,




Poil. Agent to

®orakand Salan-

wore 18 Soptem-
ber 1825,

[os)
POLL. AGENT to PERAK and SALANGORE.

To
THE ACTING SECRETARY to (Government.
Bir,

I have the honor to submit enclosed for the in-
formation of the Honble. the Governor in Council,
Translation of a letter to my address received this day
from the King of Salangore. The bearer of the letter
informed me that ten small Prows accompanied him
from Salangore to Pernk. and that several Chiefs had
been sent up to convey the Guns in charge of Rajah
Hasean at Kwalla Bidor to Salangore.

[ have &c.
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Poll. Agent to Perak
and Salangore.

Penang
18 Sepr. 1825,



From the Rajah
of Balangore to
™r. John
Anderson.

[70]

Translation
of a letter from Paduka Sri Sultan lbrahim, King of
Salangore, to Mr, John Anderson.

After Compliments.

May my friend be informed that some delay has
taken place with respect to the Engagement entered
into between us, in consequence of my being some-
what indisposed.  Ax to the debts due to me by tha
King of Perak, I beg my friend will demand the pay-
ment of them: other persons who were inlehted to
me in Perak inform me they have paid the smount to
the King. It my friend does not settle this 1 must go
and demand them myself; for T made known this to
my friend ; but as he was about to proceed himself,
he objected to my going. The Statement of my debts
is with the of Perak, and my friend way
examine the Account.

Moreover, with raspect to Perak, T have restored
it to the King: there was, however, an engagement
that 1 should receive 6 Drs. or half the Duty of 12
Drs. per Bahar on Ting such was the engagement
known to white peopls as well a5 black. 1 also

prochimed him King. Let my friend examino tho
Engagement.

1 send this letter by See Sarnon, who in the
event of my friend having quitted Perak and returned
to Pulo Penang, will convey it to him, in order that
1 may not be supposed to have failed in my Engage-
ment.

Dated on the 27th of Moharrum 1241, Saturday,
or 10th September 1825,
A True Translation
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
18: Septr. 1825.
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Enclosure I,

[
To
The ACTING 8

{CRETARY to GOVERNMEN'P,
Sir,

Para. 1st. In continuation of my letter of the
26th Ultimo T have now the honor to submit for the
information of the Honble. the Governor in Council,
a veport, of my proceedings and negociations at Perak.

20 The boat which | sent with my dispateh
above-mentioned, having retuened to Pulo Pankour on
Thursday worning the 1st Dnstt., and my Messenger
from Perak in the Afternoon of the same day, 1 lost
no time in making the necessary prepamtions for
proceeding up the River, My writer was about eight:
days being obliged to ascend the River to Bota, whera
the Iing was residing, a distance of upwards of 100
Miles acconling to Forrest's scale, e br

with a larg: hoat, manned by Chiness and
3

Ouars 5 with

Pralius sent down for iy
mmunnml'nmu Having myself embarked on boanl
the- Sehooner William Money and - distributed a party

Saldiers and provisions nuongst. the other boate,
we apaitterd the anchorage of Pulo Pankour at Midnight,
aml vunning along  the Const, entered the Perak
River at day light on the 20 Instt. ; near the entrance
we fell in with five swall prahins having on board the
King's Brother Rajah Abdullali, Rajah Kechil Tangal,
the Sultan Mooda Laxamana and other Chiefs who
came down to micet me and assist in towing my boat
up the viver. These Chiefs brought me presents of
poultry, frnit. &e., and welcomed my arrival with the
greatest cordiality.

3. During the passage up our fleet was gradually
increased by the arrival of several other Chiefs in
small prahus, and my boat being towed by threa or
fonr at a time, rendered the passage up the river more
expeditious than I experienced on a former occasion
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without such friendly assistance. Early in the morn-
ing of the 3d. we arvived close to the residence of
of Rajuh Hassan at Kwala Bidor, situated at the junc-
tion of that river with the Perak. where we were
saluted by a great many discharges of guns, swivels &e.
from the stockade of that Chief and the China Captain
or Chiief of a party of about 200 Chinese who reside at
& village on the opposite side of the Bidor viver. These
<alutes 1 returned from Swivels on board my two boats.

4. Rajah Hassan having expressed  great desic
to see me and the tide being unfavorable for proceeding
turther, 1 landed and paid that Chief a visit. 1 candidiy
explained to im the objects of wy mission as regarded
Dimsell and urged him to prepare to leave the Country
withont unnceessary delay.  He appeared almost over-
powered with distress and wounded pride, but seemed
1o recover composure and cheerfulness after some ex-
play 1s which I gave him. He called me intoa
Small back apartment where he saill he was anxious to
have a little private conversation. This roomn was filled
with spears Muskets, Blunderbusses &e. His object
was perliaps to impress me with an idea of his means
in the way of arms and to prevent his Attendants in
the Hall, where he received me, hearing any observa-
tions which T might have oceasion to make, hurtful to
his pride.

He informed me le had not received any orders or
communication whatever from the King of Salangore
on the Subject of his removal and that he was at a loss
to know how to act, that he might be blamed if
he quitted the place without the King's orders &ea,
I learnt however from another ource that a prow had
arrived from Salangore the morning before and brought
intimation that the King's Son Rajsh Doula, was
coming up, s stated in His Majesty’s letter to the
Honble. the Governor and this intelligence was con~
firmed by our falling in with Rajah Doula’s two prows
in the night of the 8th Instt, proceeding up the river,
as we were descending.
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5. After a conference of about half an hour I
took my leave of Rajah Hassan, informing him, that as
1 had no doubt he wonld receive orders from the King
of Sulangore, prior to my return down the river, 1
should expect to seo him nearly ready to depart when
1 descended.  The China Captain and others brought
we off small presents of poultry &ca., which I repaid by
some small return.  Leaving Kwala Bidor a little
after noon, we reached Rantan Panjang late in the
evening of Saturday the 3. where I learnt that the
King had descended the River from Bota to meet me
and was at Sungie Trus, about 6 or 7 miles further up.
Here T was again saluted by the China Captain of
Rantau Panjangs
until about a )

The whole Chinese population was
ar ago wnder one head, a division
however took place, and a regular engagement between
the two parties in which 4 or 5 were killed and many
wounded ; after which they separated aud the former
Captain established himself at Kwala Bidor.

6. On the morning of the 4th I proceeded up
the river in a small prow with the Sultan Mooda and
the other Cliefs, accompanied by my escort and
attendants, distributed in other small covered boats
to the number of 15 or 16 which were propelled
by loug poles, the current being rpid and the
stream shallow about Rantau Panjung. At noon we
came in sight of the King's flotilla consisting of
about: from 20 to 30 small prows lying opposite o large
temporary Balei or Hall, which he had erected to
receive me in.  As soon as my boat reached the shore
a large party of the King's attendants, carrying Um-
brellas, spears &ca. with a Chief baaring n Salver, came
down to receive the letter from the Honble. the Govern-
or. The party then formed a Strezt on each Side and
I was preceded by a band of Music, with a Chief
bearing the letter and attended by the principal Chiefs
walking behind me, The whole was conducted with
great regularity: My Escort also formed a Street
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close to the entrance of the Balei at the door of which
the King met me and gave me a cordial reception.
It is impassible for me to express the degree of joy
and 1 may say enthusiasm with which my arrival was
welcomed by all classes, and the friendly and hospit-
able attentions continued till the last. T was saluted
on arrival and departure.

7. It being Sunday and the time not being
particularly pressing, T proposed that we should defer
the discussion of business till the following day, which
the King readily nssented to, and promised to come
down at an early howr the next morning to meet me at
Rantau Panjang. We hal however a long conversation
and the King often adverted to his great respect for
the English and his anxiety to conciliate the Penang
Government by every possible means, referred to my
former visit as Commercial Agent and onr acquaintance
when lie was Heir apparent and asked me why we did
not prosecute the trade in tin, which, from the great

rise in price, of late years, would have proved so
advantageous.  He also made frequent veference to the
solicitations of his father for British interference. In
the afternocn | returned to Rantau Panjang.

8. On the 5th, the King agrecably to appoint-
ment, descended the viver and T was engaged all that
day in discussing the several points, in obtaining an
engagement, and during the following day and part of
the 7th in collecting farther information from him
wlative to the proceedings of the Siamese, the state of
his country, his views and feelings ; and 1 shall now
preceed to give, as well as T am able, a connected
narrative of the most important information which 1
obtained.

9. As soon as the King had perused the letter from
the Houble. the Governor, with which he expressed
the greatest satisfacti he vol ly i a
me that he had been apprized by the Chow Piya of
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Ligore of my intended Mission and had a fow days
before received a large dispatch overland upon the
subject. He then called his writer to bring the
dispateh, which he handed to me for my perusal
and he permitted me to retain the letters (3 in
number) till the following morning. 1In the interval
my Clerk made correct Copies of them and I have
the honor to submit translations of them herewith.
Any remarks of mine upon the Style of these letters
and the cunning and duplicity of the Chow Piya
of Ligore may perhaps be wholly unnecessary. The
letters speak for themselves. The King candidly
owned he had been kept in a constant state of
dread and apprehension from the ambitious and
aggrandizing spirit of the Siamese and that weak-
ness and an inability to make effectual resistance
liad pel him to acknowledge a submissi

which was not sincere.  He added “ my brother and
* Chiefs are still at Quedah. T am very anxious
* about their return and fear the Siamese may injure
* them, if I do not comply with their wishes.” The
paper euclosed by the Chow Piya to the King pur-
porting to be a Copy of the letter from the Honble.
the Governor proves to be a copy of the rough
draft of my commission, which I desired my writer
to prepare, prior to wy departure, and which not
pleasing we was put aside in his desk. It now
appears that Che Ftam, the Chow Piya's intelligen~
cer, was at the Office on the day it was written ; my
clerk missed the paper, but considered it of no.con-
sequence and lie is now fully convinced as I am, that
Etam stole it from bhis dest.® I beg to nttach a
literal translation of it. It does not differ very

@ Since writing this, Etam wilo was on the point of
returning to Kedah, from which place he lately came
with the Envoys, upon being taxed with this Act this
morning, fell at the feet of my writer, confessed the
fact and implored pardon.
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materially from the approved commission which was
atterwards written,

10. As to the presentation of the Boongha Mas
—le said that was a matter in which he would be
guided solely by the wishes of the British Govern-
ment. He would be so much the better pleased to
e relieved entirely from the Sinmese control, if pos-
sible : but if peace could be preserved by presenting
the Gold and Silver Flower, he was ready to conforin
to the wishes of the Government He informed me
that it had been presented only twice by Perak, and
reminded e that it was lie who to long opposed com-
pliance with the ceremony till the country was over-
come by Quedah in 1818. The King gave me the
following information. in tho presence of all his
Chiefs, relative to the presentation of the Boongha
Mas. He said that prior to & demand being suddenly
made by Kedda in the name of Siam about the year
1815 or 1816, Peruk had never presented the Boongal
Mas nor was any demand made for it. They had done
nothing to provoke the Siamese and were in no way
tributary to that nation. A compliance with the
ceremony was long resisted, but they were overcome
by the superior means of Quedah.  The Old King, his
father, died soon after the Country was overcome. As
resistance was useless and he was desirous to preserve
peace. he had sent the Boongha Mas twice. This
“ Boongha Mas dan Perak ™ is a representation of a
small tree made of gold and silver filagree. The
quantity of gold required is 4 Buncals, which costs
there 80 Dollars, and eight dollars weight of silver,
Four ornamented spears are also sent, and some
presents of scarlet and white cloth &ca. purchased
at Penany likewise accompuuy it, The whole ex-
pence does not exceed 1,000 Spanish Dollars and
the ceremony is triennial, thus making an avernge
annual expence of Spanish Dollars 333.334. As far
as regards expence therefore, he said, the

|
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was jwmaterial, and he would gladly pay more to be
relieved from uuy forther interference.

11. With respect to the armament proposed to
be sent to Perak for the purpose of attacking Salan-
gore, the King said that the arrival of 1000
Siamese, much less 3,500 as m entioned, would bring
total ruin upon the Country and such had of late
been the terror of the Ityots that many of them
were prepared to quit the country with their families
the moment they heard of the approach of the
Siamese; that they were afraid to plant paddy, as
they hnd no expectation of renping it, and that con-
sequently {lie mensures lately adopted by the British
Government for preventing a Siamese force proceed-
ing to Perak were wmost satisfuctory to him. He
remarked that it was true a friendly understanding
had forizerly [ existed, but in ] consequence of these
troubles, the Sons of the King Vizt. the Rajah
Mooda and Doula and his neplew Rajah Bassan
bad been gradually ussuming more power than they
should, which they were enabled to do, from the
weak and defenceless state of the Country.

12. 1 put come questicns to the King about
the letters which the (how Piya of Ligore sent
to Penang professing to be from him and bearing
Lis Chop. I remarked upon the difference of style
of these letters aud the many expressions which
were not only different frow those used by Malays
but almost uuknown to them. The King said what
1 observed was very true, that all the expressions to
which 1 had objected were not his, that he permitted
bis Chop to Le put to the lettors which were written
by a Quedal Malay o renegade Jow born wretch whom
1 saw, formerly numed Kaya Abiyu (now dignified
with the title of fuanko Raja Maba Mantri by the
Siamese) who is in the interest of the Chow Piya
for the time being, as he would be in any other for
@ very trifling consideration. The King whispered
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to me Le was afraid of the Sinmese and that this
man (pointing to him) had been ivstructed to write
in this Style and to make representations by Che
flat the Confidential Interpreter of the Chow Piya.
T called the man forward and in the presence of all
the Chiefs T made my observations and stated the
grounds upon which 1 lad pronounced the paper
(Copy of which T carried with me) to bea fabrication.
The man himself, as well as all present, admitted
the truth and justice of my observations.

13. T next adverted to the great exaggeration
in that paper concerning the number of prahus with
which the King of Salangore’s sons had lately
entered the river. They all admitted that there had
never been more than 5 of a very small size aud that
the professed object of the Rajali Mooda's visit
was to pay some duties collected by Rajah Hassan
to the King. The King however said e was afraid
of Rajuh Mooda, who is certainly u very bad
character, and he would not give him a meeting.
The King of Salangore’s sons therefore returned
without molesting him or the Ryots further.

14. Concerning the piratical fleet which was
assembled a short time since in the neighbourhood
of the Sambilang Islands and Pankour, the people
of Perak informed me that they came from Rhio
and Limgin and the neighbourhood of Singapore ;
that they are the same marauders who have for
many years past come up the straits at certain sea-
sons of the year and committed depredations be-
tween Malacea and Penang. Their favorite places
of resort are Pula Pankour and the Straits of Colong.
None of these Prahus had entered the Perak river.
The names of some of the piratical Panglimas were
mentioned to me. They had captured 2 Perak
prahus laden with rattans for this place ; one or two
of the crew having escaped, described them. All
agreed in saying that Rajah Hassan had onlya
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few small prahus belonging to him and that those
of Salangore were of the smallest size, T have rea-
son to believe the Rhio boats were connected with
Salangore and were prepared to oppose the Siamese,
although they made no scruple of attacking any
vessel they were capable of mastering, as they have
been in the habit of doing for many years past.

13, The King repeatedly urged me to remain in
the Country and establish a factory. He said he would
give up his whola Conntry to tho English, yranting
him only a small allowance to maintain himself. He
=ays he does not like the caves and troubles of Govern-
ment, and that he would willingly vesign all tu theie
management, that he had no desire to amass mon: '
for he D w0 secnrity in keeping it, and that hs was
ehiefly desivous of confining himself to the performanes
of his religious duties.  He adverted also to the great
yrofits which the Duteh formerly derived by the tin
trade, when they had a factory at Perak, and said
that Peruk could never be tranquil without the
superintending control of un European Government.

16. In consequence of the troubles of late years,
the King liad not been at Rantau Panjang (whera
e formerly resided) for two years and upwards.
He had never, although about -0 years of uge, sean
the sea, and his Cousin Rajah Kechil Tanguh, and
Brother Kajuh Abdullal, both grown up men, lad
never seen the sea, or descended the river so fav till
they met me. In fact the navigation of the river
lias of late been shut up entirely to the inhabitants
of the interior who were afraid to go down until my
arrival gave them confidence.

17.  The account which I received at Salangore
of the flight of Che Hat from Perak about 2} years
ago and the seizare of the 40 Siamese prows wis
corroborated in a very great degree by some of the
most intelligent Chiefs of Perak, The following is
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a literal ipt of o written Stat t of all the
circumstances as delivered to me by two of them.
Shortly after the Conquest of Quedal the Chow
Piya of Ligore sentn letter to the King of Perak,
demanding the Beongha Mas ; the Rtajah Bendahra
(lately dead) and several of the principal Chiefs
thought it prudent to comply, but Rajal Ahmed
(n chief from Siack long residing at Perak and since
dead) and who lad a powerful party of subordinate
Chiefs to back him, objected upon the grounds that
Perak had nothing to do with the Siamese, that the
country had been overcome Ly Quedal and that as
the King of Quedal was at Penang, it would be
proper to convey the Boongha Mas to him. The
Rajah Bundahra’s party however prevailed and that
Chief proceeded across the Country with the Boongha
Mas, which le presented to the Chow Piyn of

(¢ sic.—woras Ligore* mutual animosity belween Rajal Ahmed
amigiad "‘::‘.,u and the Rajuh Bendabra.

2 which p

18. When the Rujah Bendalra returned to
Perak, he was accompanied by some Siamese, the
Chief named Alunng Tait and Che Hat, a native of
Calantan, long in the coufidence of the Chow Piya.
Upon their arrival they commeuced a general plun-
der and seized effects of all the Chiefs who had
opposed the presentation of the Boongha Mas.
I'hese Chief were Rajuli Almed Nackoda Muhomed,
Datu Sri Dava Rajul, Che Murasin, Che Mapak, and
Che Paudah Ibrahim, to the amount of upwards of
10,000 Dollars. Che Ilat established himself as the
Agent and representative of the Chow Tiya of
Ligore and i his nume committed the most shame-
ful extortion and practised the most revolting bar-
barities. 'The King was under the greatest influence
of terror from this worthless ruffinn. His will for
a time was law. He claimed every thing he could
lay his hands on and Laving collected a large booty,
was preparing to return to Quedah with the spoils.
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19. T pause here to narrate one of the many
instances of the savage ferocity of Che Hat. During
his passage from hence to Perak (for he was on that
occasion, it will be remembered, permitted to pass
through this harbour), he fell in with a small prow
belonging to the son of a late wealthy native mer-
chant of this island at Trong, from whom he pur-
chased rice to the value of 75 Dollars, desiring the
youug man to follow him to Perak where he would
receive the amount, He did 80, but upon demand-
ing the money he was seized and bound and in the
dead of night he was cast into the river and
perished, his mouth being previonsly stuffed by Che
Hat's orders with cloth to prevent his screams being
heard. This fact is well known at Perak, and by
several respectable inhabitants of Penang.

20. During Che Hat's stay of six or seven months
at Perak, Nackoda Mahomed, one of the persons
Lefore named, who had been plundered of some
property by the Siamese, contrived to play the
hypocrite and ingratiate himself with Che Hat. He
gave him his daughter for o Wife and resided in the
same Stockade, pretending the greatest attachment
and submission. When all the booty had been
embarked on board the prahus, he by the consent
and connivinco of several of the Chiefs clandestinely
sent Nackoda Palla to Salangore to invite the King
and Chiefs of that Country to come up and attack
the Siamese. Rajah Ahmed also went to Salangore
and the King was led to expect by these Chiefs he
would himself soon be attacked by the Siamese. It
is generally understood also that the whole of the
Chiefs of the Perak Country were concerned in this
affair. The above named were the ostensible prime
movers. I know that the aid of the King of Salan-
gore was earnestly solicited although a more explicit
avowal at present might be attended with danger to
those making the disclosure.
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21. The Rajuh Mooda of Salangore, it appears
lost no time in proceeding to Perak and reached
Kwala Bidor, Che Hat was at this time posted on
a small Island called Pulo Kichil about 15 Miles
higher up the river. Some skirmishing took place
between the people of Salungore and those of Peral,
who were, or pretended to be in the interest of the
Siamese, or who were afraid of their vengeance.
Nackoda Mahomed worked upon Che Hat's fears
and as a near relative, urgel him to seck safety by
flight. He lost no time in doing so with all his
Siamese and a greater part of the Malay followers,
taking his Wife with him.

22, After he hal procceded about half the
Jjourney across the Country to Que
taken by his relative Nackoda Mahowed, who pointed
out the great inconvenience of carryi
him, and begged him to let Ler remain in his charge
until all was settled. Prior to following Che Hat,
however, this crafty Chief had with the aid of the
Rajah Bindahara, Mahomed Saha, E:am Ammen and
Kauda Ahmed, with their respective followers, seizad
upon and appropriated to their own use the greater
part of the Tin and the effzcts left in the Siamese prows,
aud the remainder, a swall portion, fell into the hands
of the Rajah Meoda of Salangors and his followers.
‘The Wife of Che Hat was soon after married to a Perak
Chief and Nackoda Maliomed was said to be possessed
of about 3,000 Dollars as his share of the spoil, and is
now in confidential employ asan envoy between the
Chow Piya and the King. Aninference may be drawn
as to the real disposition of the King from this very
fact, he is not ignorant of the part played by Nackoda
Mahomed.

1, he was over-

;o female with

23. Tho Siamese having been driven out, the
Rajah of Salangore proclaimed the King of Perak and
invested him with royal authority in conformity to an
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ancient treaty existing between the two states and an
engagement was entered into that he should receive
half the duty on ull Tin as a reimbursemsnt for tho
g his giving y ion to the King.
R:qnh Hassan was appointed as the Collector of the
revenues at Kwala Bidor by mutual consent. The
King of Perak glad to b2 relieved of the Siamese at
the wowent, the move readily assented to this last
and a good understandi bsisted for
some time. He warried the King's Aunt' who now
lives separate from him at Rantau Panjang. The
irrezular payment of the duties and their reduced
amount, a desire of the part of Rajah Hassan to mono~
polize the commerca, his interference with traders and
the Ryots, and other rastrictive measures have render-
ed him nnpopular amongst the people and obnoxions
1o the King, and his Majosty is now equally anxious to
get rid of ths interference of Salangore a3 ha is of the
Siamese,

24, Perhaps when he first nssented to the
establishment of Hassan, the King regarded the
alternative as the least of two evils which he was.
forced to make a choice of, the [?and ] expected
wore consideration from one of his nation and
religion than from the Siumese, The Malays as
well as the Siamese however do not comprehend the
principles which should actunte a protecting power.
The right of protective interference is too often
made a plen for oppression.

25. About five or six months ago a Siamese
Chief named Nai Kct and a Malay Chief named
Maharaja-lela, with about 300 Malay followers
proceeded to Perak and remained a short time. Nai
Kot returned about six weeks ago to Quedah, and
there was not a single Siamese in the Perak country
whea I was there, although Captain Burney states
he was informed tkere were about 15 or 20 Siawesa
with the Rajah of Perak. By the late arrange-
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ments the King earnestly hopes that the Siamese
will be prevented from interfering in the Govern-
ment of his Country. It is clear however, the Chow
Piya, of Ligore, from the tenor of his letter, medit-
ates an infraction of his treaty, and sending some
of his Chiefs to assist in the Government. Were
he permitted to do this, his treaty would prove o
downright imposition and we should thus have been
made his Agents in expelling Rajah Hassan and
tying the hands of ths King of Salungore, thereby
in fact, affording him assistance in uttaining the
object lie has so long aimed at Vizt. an entire
control over Perak. I am sure it is needless iur me
to dwell upon the if diency of pi
the Chow Piya from exercising any control \vlmt-
ever. The King and people of Perak will repuy with
i our interfe and the of the
country will soon make compeusation for the expences
unavoidably sustained while we shall confer addi-
tional security on our more easterly settlements,
which would require a large additional force if the
Sinmese are permitted to come in coutact with them.

26. With the disposition on the part of the
King and Chiefs which I have before described, it re-
quired no arguments of much weight from me, to
induce him readily to assent to make an engagement as
was pointed out inmy instructions, for the purpose of
obviating any pretext on the part of the Chow Piya ot
Ligore for disturbing his Country. It seemed to me
to be necessary to obtain from the Rajah a formal

ing the hed boundary,
agreeing to the removal of Rajah Hassan and stipula-
ting for freedom of trade, and throwing open the
navigation of all the rivers within his Kingdom. To
that engagement, which was drafted in Malay, and of
which a correct translation is attached, I beg to refer.
1 considered it preferable not to insert the engagement
relative to the transmission of the Boongha Mas, but
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recommended the Rajah to allude to this in his letter
to the Honble. the Governor which is equally binding
and leaves it optional with Government to exact the
performance of this or not as may appear to be
advisable aud just, after an attentive consideration of
all ci This o leaves the Gov-
ernment free to act as may be deemed best.

27. It will I trast be noticed with satisfaction
by Government, that the duty on Tin has been reduced
by the voluntary consent of the King, exactly one half.
The collection of the duties is now entrusted to the
Shabundar as it formerly was, and as a proof of
corlial understanding on this head, it may be only
necessary to mention that I saw the duties paid ona
uantity exported on 8 Prows which accompanied me
up from Perak. Rajah Hassan was fully satisfied with
this arrangement and it was in fact an intimate friend
of his who owned the Tin and paid the duty to the
King. The navigation of the Perak river has now
been thrown open.

28. With respect to the great scarcity of rice
reported by Captain Burney it is only necessary to state
that it was selling at 11 Gantows Per Dollar when I
lefe Perak which is fully as cheap as it is at Penang at
present.  The fact is, the Ryots are so poor at present,
that they have not the means of purchasing it at any
price. My knowledge of the Siamese character does
not lead me to think that the desire of the Chow Piya
to send sevaral boats with rice proceeds from charitable
motives or that he would sell it one fraction cheaper
than any boly else. I conceive that his professed
intentions of sending prows with rice is all a trick to
introduce by degrees a large party of Siamese: so
think the inhabitants of Perak.

20. T have before adverted to the two parties
which prevailed relative to the compliance with the
demands of Siam. In consequence of these divisious
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3 Chiefs named Datu Sideeva Rajah, Che Panda
Thrahim and Che Mapak had estranged themselves
from the King upwards of twelve months and had
established themselves close to Rajah Hassan at
Kwala Bidor. On my arrival, these Chiefs entreated
permision to accompany me to wait on the King
and to profess their allegiance, which I consented to;
in my presence the King gave them a kind reception and
a reconciliation tecok place. Thess and many other
Chiefs were prepared to fly the country on the arrival
of the Siamese, and they and others had often urged
the King to resistance, which he was afraid to risk,
and hence they seceded from him

30. After entering into a formal engagement
with the King, I deemed it proper to send an official
notice to Rajah Hassan to quit the couutry in con-
formity to the several engagements which had been
entered into ; this I sent by my writer. I received a
veply in six hours, Translations of these documents
are hereby annexed. Under all circumstances 1 con-
sidered this Chief entitled to some consideration and
Laccondingly resolved to give him a meeting on my
passage down the river. 1 have ever found a little
conciliation blended with authority productive of good.

31. Daring my stay at Perak the Chiefs waited
upon me daily and were unremitting in their attentions
and civilities. The King begged me to permit one of
the Cruizers to remain till Rajah Hassan had taken his
departure which I should have been disposed to have
taken upon myself the responsibility of doing, if the
provisions had not been expended. Having however
settled every thing and taken my leave of the King who
came down at day light on the 7th Instant with all his
Chiefs to bid me farewell, I quitted Rantan Pangong
and reached Kwala Bidor at noon the same day, after
considerable trouble in dragging the Schooner over
the numerous sand-banks.
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32. On my arvival opposite the residence of Rajalt
Hassan, I sent my writer ashore with an invitation to
the Rajah to come on board. 1 had been apprized that
he had killed a Buffaloe and prepared an entertainment
for me, which I declined. He immediately came on
board in a small canoe, unattended by followers, ex-~
cept 3 or 4 of his confidential friends. 1 entered into
conversation and told him that as he had a large family
of wives and relations, 1 had no inclination to use any
force to compel him to quit the place without a little
time to prepare. This seemed to reliove his anxiety,
for he had been led to expect he would be ordered to quit:
the place peremptorily that day, and my writer remarked
that great preparations had been made on shore for
resistance.  Many guns and swivels were collected
opposite the entrance of his Stockade and all his
attendants, about 100 in number wers armed with
long swords and krises. He said he was still withont
orders from Salangore, but nas he had no doubt it was
solved he should quit the place, he proposed to send
an Agent to Penang without delay, to purchass a large
prahu or two to embark his family on and enquired if
I thought he would be permitted to reside in the
Honble, Company's territory, I told him that asit was
not the object of the Government to oppress him, but
merely to restore peace to Perak, which could only be
done by his removal, I did not think there would ba
any objection to his taking up his abode in the Com-
pany’s Territory, so long as he conducted himself with
propriety, and I advised him in a temperate manner to
make i i i for his dep He
comphained much of the great loss he would sustain,
having planted a considerable quantity of Paddy.
Some of the Perak Chiefs however offered to take this
off his hands at a fair valuation.

33, Headmitted the propriety of my observa-
tions and promised he would make his stay as short
as possible. In conclusion I informed him that as
engagements had been entered into, and he now
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only remained for a time Ly indulgence, I informed *
him, at his peril, not to collect any more duties,
and to prevent prows puassing up and down the
River, and not to oppress and interfere with the
Rajab, all of which he solemuly engaged to observe.
The Scules and brass Weights belonging to the
King had been transferred to his charge when Le
came to reside as the Collector, and he professed
readiness to deliver them over to me to be sent to
the King. 1 declined uccepting them however, and
said this might lay over till he had received final
instructions from Salangore, intimating at the same
time, that if he was disposed to wnnifest a friendly
and conciliatory disposition towards the Rajah, he
would voluntarily deliver them to the Shabundar on
Lis retarn up the river aftar nccompanying me to
Pavkour. I also explained that T did not require
any formal engagement from him, the King of
Salangore as his principal baviug engaged for his
removal. He brought me off some poultry as a
present and after I had descended the river a short
distance he sent off one of his people with 4 large
slabs of tin as a token of his good intentions. I
could not help feeling pity for the evident distress
of the wan. He is an uncomwonly stout portly
looking Man.

34. T was not a little surprized that the orders
of the King of Salangore had nct sooner been sent,
it was suggested to we however by some of my
attendants that the Rajah Mooda or heir apparent,
who did not wait for me at Salangore, might have
influenced his father to change his determination in
some degree, and induced him to swerve from his
engagement, which was not entered into without
due deliberation, and I was not altogether free from
apprehension that some attempt might be made
upon my small party on the passage down the river.
I therefore took every proper precaution to guard
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aghinst any treachiery and had all my party under
orms during the passage down the river. I was ac-
companied by the Shabundar and the large Chulia
boat, which towed my schooner down the river,
‘Ihe Shabundar seemed to be under great apprehen-
sions from pirates in the river. I would beg
suggest the propriety of sending u cruizer to remain
in the Perak river until Rajah Hassan has removed,
for the purpose of preserving tranquillity and ensur-
iug his speedy departure.

85. During the night of the 7th we fell in with

1 sle.~7haiting) 2 prows, which upon hoisting, * we were informed,

were from Sulangore with Rajah Daula, the King's

son, on board, but the carrent was too rapid to

to enable us to communicate and he passed on. I

am led to expect Le was the bearer of the order,

nud it was he whom the King mentioned in the

4 letter to the Honble, the Governor, his intention of
| sending to bring away the Guns.

PR

36. On the following day we fell in with a
A prow near the wouth of the river which we called
nlong side and the Chief on board proved to be
i the cel d Nakoda Mal d before tioned
A who had proceeded across to Quedah the day after the
arrival of my writer with the letter which I had
addressed to the King from Pankaur, and was now
on his return with a dispateh from the Chow Piya of
Ligore, having quitted Queduh only 4 days before,
and passed through the Struits of Penang. This
person informed we all the Rujali of Ligore's float
hadl returned to Tradng, and that the armawment
from Sangora, Murdalong &ca. had been dispersed.
= The King of Pernk’s brother he said was still at
, Quedal, und was to be sent buck after Lis return.
b Several prahus were also londed with Paddy and
u Tice to be sent to Perak, as soon as the Chow
Piya learnt the result of my Mission and heard of
the removal of Rajah Hassan. This person has been
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continning to ingratiate himself into the favor of
the Siamese, and it is supposed is playing a deep
game. When he first went to Quedalh, after Che Hat's
discomfiture, it was generally expected he would have
lost his head, but the Siamese, it would appear, have
not yet been informed of his treachery.

87. On the morning of the 9th we reached the
Honble. Company's Schooner Zephyr and Fattal Garib
at the Sambelang Islands, made all siil and arrived
at the Presidency late on the evening of the 10th
Instant, after an absence of exactly four Weeks. The
only accident that happened were the loss of one of
the Zephyr's anchors during soms blowing weather
at Pankour, and one belonging to the William Money,
from which we were forcad to cut in the river, having
hooked to a tree 3 fathoms deep. I received several
presents of tin from the King and others in return
for the presents given by me, which shall be hereafter
naticed.

38. From the observations which T have had
occasion to make in this and my preceding report, it
will be observed, that the information obtained by the
Political Agent to the Siamese from the Chow Piya
of Ligor, and that acquired by me, united to my own
personal observations, diff:r materially in several
points. I have felt it my duty to state fairly, what I
heard and observed and it will rest with the superior
Judgment of Government to decide upon the case in
all its bearings. As the Political Agent has com-
mented a little upon the information derived by me
from Che Etam, in my capacity of Translator, I feel
it a duty incumbent upon me to make a few remarks
in reply. That Etam isa spy of the Chow Piya is
very certain from his being here at this moment
in the capacity of intelligencer as is well known, and
more especially by his robbing my writer's desk of the
draft of a commission, which he carried to his Master,
and which is the enclosure transmitted to the King
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of Perak. Iwas well aware, as [ have often stated
to the Honble. the Governor, that he was o spy for
both parties and guided my conduct towards him

dingly. Under the infl of ive fear
and in the expectation of some advantage, he gave the
information which I submitted. I could point out 5 or
G instances in which his information has proved
correct and certainly somewhat useful to Government.
Such persons are ever ready to deny or avow as
circumstances may dictate.  With respect to the
number of prows, his estimate, I am fully convinced
was under the mark. 1 had at the time many means
of information. The Chiefs of Perak informed me they
had been assured by the Siamese themselves the
number of prows was upwards of 400 and the Troops
10,000 men.

39.  Asto the anticipation that the season was
unfavorable as to prevent the fleet issuing from the
Trading, 1 can only say that I differ very much from
Captain Burney and his nautical friends. 1 always
stated publicly and privately that the flect was prepared
and would issue out at a certain time. I foretold it
long before. The registers in the Master Attendant’s
Office show that boats of the smallest size have been
in the habit of coming from Tradng and navigating
the Straits at all seasous of the year. I have been
in the labit of sending, and sceing sent, small prows
ofa ton burthen at all seasons. The best proof is,
that T sent one to Salengore of less than that burthen
and also to Traing at that very time, another lately
to Salengore and one of two tons accompanied me
and kept at sea with the vessels, making two trips to
the Presidency in a Month, and this perhaps as bad
a month as any. The boat which I met entering the
Perak river a few days ago from Quedal, was not
more than 1} Tons burthen.

40. But if the Political Agent’s arguments be
admitted that the Siamese fleet could not with safety
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have proceeded to Salangore, we must naturally
conceive the Chow Diya had some other object in
coming down suddenly with so lurge a flect to
Quedah. 1 hase always entertaived and do enter-
tain, the belief that e had a more important object
than the conquest of Salungore in view. His pre-
parations were out of all proportion to the euater-
prize avowed and T believe this to be the opinion of
the best informed Natives at Quedal, Penang, Perak
angore. His Highness aceustomed to success

utrigue and deeply disguised treachery, did
not anticipate a discovery of his views or any op-
position. The display of our weans had wade Lin
pause and lie now reverts to conciliation. 1 may be
wrong, but [ have not formed my opinions in haste,
nor would T hazard them here but from very sub-
stantial grounds and matare reflections.

41. My opinion is, that there will be no tran-
quillity to the Settlement of Penang and the adjoin-
ing Malay States, aud there will uever be any end
to the ambition of the Cliow Piya of Ligor so long
as lis large Marine equipment now assembled at
Traing und the Northern I'orts continues undis-
persed. The fleet will be always prepared to start atu
short notice and a force will be required to watel its
movewents, He will send n few boats at first to
Porak und more by degrees, if not prevented, under
the pretence of trading. His ngents will remain under
the plea of collecting debts and various reasons will
be urged until e acquires cowplete possession. Sucl
are wy unaitered views of His Hizlmess's character.
When I look over all the correspondence with the
Chief, when I revert to the innumerable instances
in which he has practised deception, to the detection
of his falsehood by the late Governor and Capt,
Low, and even by the present Political Agent, to
the Style of his correspondence and that threat in
one of his earliest letters, four years ago, which he
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Tws in part realized, by nssembling (as he said he
would do) a large Arny to attack any State
that gave protection to the King of Quedah, I
cannot refrain from thus publicly expressing a
deliberate opinion that we must rely more upon his
fears than his good will for his pacific intentions.
These opinions I submit with great deference to
Government. I am emboldened to give them, by
observing that many of my former conjectures have
Leen anply realized und from the respousibility T
feel attached to the Official Situation I hold.

42, The alarming encrease of piracy in these
Straits, principally in the vicinity of the Sambelang
Islands, is a subject which has lately nttracted much
notice both at this Settl and the neighbouring
ounes of Malucca and Singapore. The maintenance
of a large Marine force would not in my opinion, be
so effectunl and would be more expensive perhaps,
than the establishment of a Military post at the
Island of Pankour, which has long since been
pointed out as un eligble situation for such a pur-
pose. 'The plan of forming such n Post, sanctioned
by the Supreme Government in 1818, was abandoned
in il of the difficulty of obtaining a proper
title to its occupation. [ am happy to observe this
oljection is now entirely removed. The King of
Perak, off whose Coast it lies and to whom it in-
dubitably belongs, tendered it to me for that purpose
and expressed an anxious hope that the British Gov-
ernment would form a post there forthwith, It is
unnecessary to dwell upon the advantages which
would nccrue from such a wmeasure. They have
been often adverted to and anticipated by others
more competent than I am to form an opinion
upon the subject, as the records will show.
Such a measure would tend to the effectual sup-
pression of piracy in these Straits and give
security to the native traders, The Island would
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form n depot for the tin and other merchandize from
Perak—the expences would be but trifling.

43, The Tsland of Pankour ubounds with very
fine timber for ship building, particularly a large
tree called Chingal. As a proof of the durability of
this wood, which is nccounted to be superior in this
respect, in the estimation of the natives, to Tealk, it
may be only necessary to mention, that a prow built
of that wood in the same year that Penang was es-
tablished, or 40 years ngo, nccompanied me up from
Perak. Some of the trees are 30 feet in circum-
ference. On the Island and the main opposite,
Dammer and Rattans of the best quality are pro-
curable, according to my own observation in great
quantities. At Teluk Piridut. 3 miles from the
Island, Rajah Hassan informed me lie obtained 10
Bahars or 80 Peculs of Tin by digzing a fathom
deep and at Teluk Sera, close to Pulo Salong about,
8 miles to the Northward, there is a rich mine of tin,
the ore being found in abundance two fathons under
ground. The inhabitants of Perak nre afraid from*
resorting there from a dreuxd of the pirates. The
anchorage is excellent, fresh water abundant, and
the rocks are covered with shell fish.

44. Three points of primary importance would
le gained by the establishnent of a Post at Pan-
kour. 1stand chiefly the suppression of piracy,
2d. a direct control over Perak, by which the Siamese
would be I from ling their conquests to
the Southward, 31 the encreaso of trade in that
valuable article of commerce, tin, and a place of re-
freshment and refitment, for native traders from all
quarters, navigating these Straits.

45. I perform a pleasing duty in bringing to the
Notice of the Honble. the Governor in Council the
useful Services of Captain Poynton Commanding the
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Honble. Company’s Schooner Zephyr, and the com-
manders and crews of the other vessels, as well as my
Clerk, Mr. Fransiz, and T must not omit to record ny
approbation of the steady and soldier like conduct of
Subedar Major Devy sing and the detachment, of tho
25th  Regiment Bengal N: [nfantry forming  my
escort. The utmost cheerfulness provailed and every
person vied with each other in rendering himself nse-
ful and promoting the public service,

1 have the honor to by
Sir,
Your Most Obedient Servant

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON,
Political Agent to
"evak and Salangore,
Fort Cornwallis
‘The 15th Septr. 1825,



TRANSLATION of a Letter from Paduka Sri
Sultan Abdullah, King of Perak to Mr. John Ander-
son Agent to the Honble. the Governor of Pulo

Penang.
4 (After Compliments.)
/ Chop of
Paduka Sri The letter which my friend sent me by

'\ Sultan Abdullah | Che Hamid hos duly reached me und I fully
compreliend its contents. As to my friend’s
Jesire that I should proceed to meet him
— at Pankour, I should be very happy, but T
have never been at sen and there are no prows at
Perak at present i which T could with propriety
cmbark to meet my friend. Tnow send, however,
& China Toukang with Rajah  Kechil Tanjali-
Lasamana Panglima Bukiv Gantang and the Shu-
bundar, with some small pralus to wait on my
friend and on which he may embark and come to
meet me. These are not such as 1 could wish, but
my friend must excuse this. Written on the 15th
day of Moharram, Monday 1241,

King of Pexak.

A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
My. Transr.
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No. 2.

TRANSLATION of a letter from Aluang Packdi
Juta Minister of the Chow Piya of Ligore to Sultan
Abdullah, the Rojah Mooda Tuanko Maha Mantri
y and the assembled Chiefs of the Perak Country,
Large |
Chop. ; The Chow Piya of Ligore had been pleased to
Cdirect the equipment of a force of 3,500 Men to be
sent to Perak, and all was ready when Captain Henry
Buruey, as Agent of the Governor Genl. of Bengal,
arrived frum Bengal and the Governor of Pulo Penang,
who making obeisance to the soles of the royal slippers
of the Panhua Chow Tan who is most glorious, re-

preseuted a friendly desire to establish union and good
Wil and requesting that a greater friendship than
formerly might be established with the Siamese, stat-
ing also that the Governor of Bengal had prepared
goods as an offering to the amount of 50,000 with
which Captain H. Burney was sent to make obeisance
fo the most powerful King of Siam and begging the
Chow Piya to assist in forwarding him to the Capital,

Captain Henry Burney the Agent of the Governor
Genl. of Bengal making obeiance at the soles of the
= of Panhua Chow Tan who is most glorious and
tely (or with soft words) begged that the arma-
ment might not be sent to attack Salengore, engaging
on behalt of the Governor of Pulo Penang that he
would speak to the Rajah of Salengors and effect the
removal of Rajah Hassan from the Perak Country,
preventing also the people of Perak from being forcibly
carried away by him.  He also said that the Perak
Country was of 1o use to the English and that they
would not govern it, but that the Country was under
the authority of Siam, to send the Boonga Mas dun
Perak, and observe the customs of states that are
tributary.
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Moreover he said with respect to the Rajah of
Salengore’s seizing the goods when Che Hat went
(to Petak ) the Governor of Pinang would negotiate
and eause the payment of the dollars, the Governor of
Pulo Pinang would also prevent the King of Salengore
from going to commit further disturbances in the
Perak Country and that he would also fix with the
Rajah of Salengors a proper boundary between tho
two Countries agreeably to furmer Custom, that is the
River Burnam.

The Chow Piya therefors having considered, did
not wish to destroy the gool understanding with tho
Governor General of Bengal. At the time Captn. H.
Burney pressnted himselt befors the Chow Piya at
Keddah, Nai Kot and Che Walim suddenly arrived at
Keddah and the Chow Piva was informad of the con-
tents of the letter which the Ryjah of Perak sent the

Chow Piya, called Captn. H. Burney and was pleased
of his favor to acquaint him that the Rajah of Perak
had sent a letter b, Kot and Che Walim repre-
senting that the Rajah Mooda of Salengore had brought
pralius to Perak, s stated in the Rajah of Perak’s
Jetter. Captn. H. Buraey there upon represented to
the soles of the slippers of the Chow Piya of Ligore
who is most glorious, that a ship should be sent

agreeably to the engagement to remove Rajah Hassan
and to force the Rajah Mooda to return, Captn. H.
Burney promised to go sud settle with the Governor
of Palo Penang, and the Chow Piya therefore waited
for a time to lvarn the resnlt.

When Captain H. Basnsy veturnol to Pulo Penang
he sent a letter respactfully representing that the
Governor of Pulo Penang was about to send Mr. John
Auderson to stop at Porak, and then proceed to
has been pleased
to dispatch Nakoda Mahomed with ali haste to convey
this letter in order that the Rajah of Perak may be pre-
viously informed. If Mr. Johu Anderson meets with
the Rajah of Perak let the Rajah spaak properly. Do

Salengore, wherefore the Chow
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not yield superiority to the English, but speak with
decision.  If the Rajah of Salengors does not conform
to what will be required of him agreeably to the en-
gagement of the Governor of Pulo Penang, the business
with Salengore will be taken ints consideration and
settled by force. Every thing relative to all this
business has been made known to Nakoda Mahomed
and the Rajah will cousulp with him so that the affairs
of the Country may not be received.

The Chow Piya of Ligore entertains much regard
for the Rajah of Perak and he will respectfully wmake
him known to the mighty King of Siam and obtain a
great name for him in Siam, so that his name may bo
famous and good in the Perak Country wore than
formerly, and the Chow Piya will hereafter make
known to the Rajah of Perak all, after having made a
representation to the Mighty King of Siam.

‘With respect to the intention of the Chow Piya to
send the large Armament, he has thought it proper to
detain it for the present, for there isnot war: if it
were to be sent to remain inactive only there would be
great difficnlty of procuring Paddy at Perak. The
Rajah Kechil Mooda and Orang Kayabesar will be
sent over land, and some Siamese and Malays Chiefs
are preparing with 200 Ryots and upwards to accom-
pany them, who will become associates in conducting
the affairs of the Country with the King of Perak. A
more particular reply cannot be sent at present to the
King's letter becanse Nakoda Mahowed s dispatched
without delay to make known all the intelligence
respecting the English as ubove alluded to, in order
that the Rajah of Perak may be previously informed.
Respecting all other business, that shall he sent
hereafter.

Dated Saturday 20th Daliiajuli or 15th August 1525.

A true Translation,

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON.

Malay Translator.
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No. 8.

TRANSLATION of a setter from Aluang Packdi
Quata Minister of the Chow Piya of Ligore to Sultan
Abdullah Rajah Mooda Tuanke Maha Mantri and all
_ the assembled Chiefs of Perale.

Y
A I have been divected by the Chow Piya of
| Ligore to make known that Captain Henry Burney
the representative of the Governor General of Bengal.
having respectfully presented himself before the
Chow Piya and delicately begged to detain the
Avmiament for the present and not to send it to attack
Salangore, engaging on the part of the Governor of
Pulo Penang and the Chiefs ot the Foglish residing
there to speak to the Lajah of Salangore to remove
Rajalt Hassan from the Peral Country and not to
periiit the subjects of Perak to be taken away by fores
as is more particularly stated in the letter which
a panies this, and to it the Cliow Piya’s
desive that if Rajah Hassan conforms to the engagement
rerhaps some of the
people residing with Rajah Hassan may be alarmed
and wish to proceed with him. ‘The Rajal of Perak,
the Rajali Moolda Tuanko Maha Mantri and the other
Chiefs are directed to pacify them; to tell them all
that they will be free from all blame and advise them

of the Governor of Palo Pena;

to vemain quietly at Perak as before and not to quit
with Rajah Hassan. Dated 20th Dallajah Saturday
1240 or 15th August 1825,

A Trae Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translater.
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No. 4.

TRANSLATION of a letter from Alaung Packdi
Juta, Miuister of the Chow Piya of Ligore to Sultan
Abdullal, Rajah Mooda Tuanko Maha Mantri and
the assemblled Chiefs of Perak.

I am directed by the Chow Piya of Ligore
to transmit a Copy of letters from the Rajah of
Pulo Penaug to the address of the Rajah of
Salangore and the Rajah of Perak, which are
alike, and it is given to Nakodan Mnhomet to
convey to the Rajuli of Perak for his information.

In this letter of the Governor of Pulo Penang, there
iz nothing certain. The Agent to be sent is Mr.
John Anderson, who is to settle the business. The
English ara very knowing and no confidence can be
placed 1 them, aud they may possibly tuke
advantage ; wherefore tike care and consider all
circumstances. Whatever Mr. John Anderson may
state, let the IRjah of Verak reply that he has
transferred the Country to the Chiow Piya of Ligore,
certainly, and that the Rajah [is] in charge of the
Country and that he has not pawer to negociate
upon important business, but siy that he must
represent ull to the Chow Piya of Ligore.

When that English Agent waits on the Rajah let
the Rajuh of Perak spaak with firmuess ; that there
may be no dissention and the business be settled at
once. All the circumstances have been confided to
Nakols Mahomet and the Rajah of Perak will consult
with him upon every thing relating to this business,
in order that thers may b2 no variation on the road of
prosperity of the business of the powerful King of Siam
and the Chow Diya of Ligore, so that it may be favor-
able to the King of Perak.

With respect to what is stated above, let the
Rajah of Pocuk reply that the Country of Perak has
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been transferred to the Chow Piya of Ligore and that-
he wishes to obtain a good name from the great King
of Siam, and in order that the Country may be secured
to the Rajah of Perak to remain Rajah and to descend
to his family as before. Do not let the Rajah of Perak
entertain suspicion, for the Chow Piya of Ligore enter-
tains real favor for him and he will request the great
King to confer great honor upon him, so that his
name may be famous amongst all Malayan Countries.

Dated 20th Dalhayah. Saturday 1240 or 15th
August 1825,
(The foregoing Translation is as literal as
possible.)
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator.
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No, 5.

Copy of a rough draft of a Commission drafted by
the Malay Writer to the Malay Translator, which was
not apy 1, and was laid asid, Iated as follows.

I'the Honble. Robzrt Fullerton, Governor of Pulo
Penang and its dependencies, make known to my
friends, to the King of Pevak an 1 the King of Salangore
and all other Chiefs, that I senl as my Agent Mr.
John Anderson, to represent me and wait on the Kings
of Perak and Salangore, and other Chiefs, for the pur-
pose of giving them good counsel anl settling avery-
thing agreeably to propriety amongst all parties, in
order that friendship may be fully established and a
good understanding prolonged, so that union may re-
main as long as the Sun and Moon may endure. 1
request that my frienls will placa confidence in my
Agent and give attent’on to his alvize, with sincerity
and that they will receive him with respect and kind-
ness as my agent in order that gsod will may continue.

True Copy.

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON.
My. Tianslator,
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No. 6.

TRANSLATION of an Engagement of His Majesty
Paduka Sri Sultan Abdullah Ma-alum Shah who ix
sected on the Royal Throne of the Perak Country given
to Mr. John Anderson, Agent to the Honhle. Robert
Fullerton, Governor of P'ulo Penang, on behalf of the
Honble. English East India Company, as a token of
lasting Alliance and friendship, which can never be
changed so long as the Sun and Moon shall endure—in
order that fricndship and union way be prolonged and
centinued from this day forth, for ever.

ARTICLE 1st.  His Majesty the King of Perak
hereby agrees to fix the boundary between the States
of Perak and Salangore at the River Burnuwm, and

there shall be no encroachment on either side and His
Majesty (nzages not (o interfere in the Government of
Salangoro nor will he send any Armament into that
Country, the subjects of Perak however being per-
witted to proceed thither for commercial purposes,
conforming to the established rules and customs of
other traders there frequenting,

ARTICLE 2d. With respect to the agreement
entered into between His Majesty the King of Salangore
and Mr. John Anderson, Agent to the Honble. Robert
Fullerton Governor of Pulo Penang, providing for the
removal of Rojah Hassan from the Perak Country
and its dependencies; the King of Perak is well
pleace L with this arrangzment. He engages not to
receive Rejalt Hasean nor permit him to return to any
part of the Perak territory. His Majesty the King of
Perak al:0 engages that he will not grant a monopoly
or entrust the Collection of the revenues in future to
any other, in order that there may be no further distur-
bances in the Country, and he has hereby fixed the duty
on the ported from the Perak Country at 6 Dollars
Per Bal...+, in order that the Commerce of the Kingdom




way be thrown open and extended, that popu~
lation my be encreased, that all traders may be
encouraged to resort to Perak such as the subjects of
the English G , the Siamese, Sal: and

others, and that they may be enabled to carry on an
intercourse with ease and satisfaction and be at liberty
to resort to all the ports, settlements and rivers within
the State to trade without any interruption for ever.

made and to it is
affised [as] a token of its validity the Chop of his
Majesty the King of Perak and it is delivered to Mr,
John Anderson, Agent to the Henble. Robert Faller-

ton, Governor of Pulo Peniang.

This engagement is hereby

This paper written on the 6th day of September
of the English Year,and on the 20th day of
v in the Year of the Hejirah 1241,

1
Moharramn, Monds

CHOP of
PADUKA SRi |
TAN ABDULLAH |

King of Peralk. /
A

(Prue Copy )

(Sd.) JOHN ANDERSON
LA,



CHOP of
PADUKA SRI
SULTAN ABDULLAH
King of Perak.
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No. 7.

TRANSLATION of a letter from His Majesty
Paduka Sri Sultan Abdullah King of Perak to the
Honorable Robert Fullerton Esqr. Governor of Pulo
Penang.

( After Compliments.)

With respect to the letter which was
brought by my friend's Agent, Mr. John
Aunderson, it has reached me and | received
it with the cnstomary form. All that is
therein written I fully understand respect-

ing Mr. Johm Anderson settling the differ-
ences betwesn Salangore and this Countey,
consequent upou the negociations of my
feiend with the Chow Piya of Ligore which
are very satistactory, my heart is fall and entirely gratifi-
ed with the result of Mr. John Anderson’s procecdings.

As to Rajah Hassan he has ordered him to «uit
this my territory, and the houndary between Perak
and Salangore has been fixed at the River Burnam,
agreeably to former Custom.

With respect to the engagement between the
Chaw Piya of Ligore and my friend, I have also seen
and understood it.  Concerning the Boongha Mas I
have sent it twice, and if it be considered proper 1 will
prepare and send it again as a token of remembranes
on my part to the King of Siam, for I am a very
insignificant man and am under great apprehensions.
On this my friend is better able to judge respecting
every thing connected with the busivess. Such is iy
representation.

Dated 221 Moharram, Monday 1241, or Ith
September 1825.

A True Translation.
( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON.
My. Translator.



EAL

Sd.John Ander-
n.

son.
Pl. Agent.
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No, 8.

TRANSLATION of a paper sent to Rajah Has-
san at Kwala Bidor by John Anderson, Agent to the
Governor of Pulo Penang, at Rantau Panjang in the
Perak Country.

I, John Anderson, Agent to the Honble. Robert
Fullerton, Governor of Pulo Penang and its depen-
deacies, by virtue of the powers vested in him by the
Honorable East India Company, whose seal is here-
unto affixed, hereby give notice to Tuanko Rajah
Hassan, that I have finally adjusted and settled all the
points of difference between the Chow Piga of Ligore,
the King of Salangore, and the King of Perak, and
conformably to the orders of the Honorable the Gov-
ernor of Pulo Penang and the Engagements which
have been entered into with the several Chiefs above
named it becomes my duty to intimate to Rajah
Hassan with trath and propriety, that he must quit
the Perak territory with haste. in order that there may
be no farther diffsrences, and that discussion may not.
be prolonged.

Written the 23, day of Moharram 1241, or Gth
September 1823,

A True Gopy
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
oA,
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No. 9.

TRANSLATION of a letter from Tuanko Rajah
Hassan to Mr. Jolin Andersou, Agent to the Governov
of I"ulo Tenangr.

Rajali Hassan presents many compliments to our
feiend Mr. John Anderson, and acquaints him that his
letter has reached him in safety.  With respect to
our triend’s onlzr to remove, it is well, and we cannot
. Owe
friend however will consider towards us, for all things
When our friend Mr. Anderson
ous to meet him and

3

are not

descends the river. we ave anx

represent all cirdumstances. We present many con-

Pliments to our friend.

Dated 230, Moharram  Tuoesday 1241 or Gth
September 1820,
True Translaticns
( Sigued) J. A,
My. Translator.
True Copies
( Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Political Agent to Perak &
Salangore.

ORDERED that a Copy be furnished to Captain
Burney aml that the veport do lay over for considera-
tion.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 20 September 1825,

SEPARATE,

READ the following letter from the Political
Agent to the Sinmese States, submitting observations
on Mr. Auderson’s Report recorded on the Proceedings
of last Conncil.

POLL. AGENT to the SIAMESE STATES,

Prince of Wales Island
19 September 1825,

To
THE HONORABLE R. FULLERTON Esquire
Governor &e. &e. &e.

Honorable Sir,

Mr. Anderson’s Reports of his Mission to
Salangore and Perak appearing to me to require cer-
tain explanations from me, I solicit pormission to
submit them for your consideration, before you deter-
mine upon the conrse of measures which it may be now
expedient to adopt with respect to our political relations
in this neighbourhood

1 have the misfortune to differ from Mr. Anderson.
We agree however ns to the necessity of preventing the
extension of Siamese Dominion to the southward, and
he has proved what 1 had hoped, that the British
Government will have no difficalty in persuading the
Chiefs of Salangore and Perak to come to any measures
that it may propose to this end. Indeed, 1 never
entertained any doubt as to this point. I only feared
how far wy superiors would approve of the policy of
entering into closer relations with these petty States.

1 submit Mr. Anderson’s reports givo rather too
favorable a picture of the old Chief of Salangore, who



[10]

has long been known to be deeply concerned with
Pirates, and on whose veracity T should not be disposed
toplace implicit credit. * OF all the Malayan States o
“the Peninsula, the Government of Salangore” as
described by Mr. Crawfurd, “labours under the
« heaviest Mala Fama on the seoro of piracy, man
« stealing, manslaughter and similar peccadillos of the
“ Codo of Malayan morals.” It is nlso some months
since we were told by the same competent authority
The Pirates of the Tlanous are widely extended,
being carried on all the way from their Native Coun-
try (Island of Magindanus ) to the Spice Islands on
one side, anid to the Straits of Malacea on the other.
In theso last indeed they have formed within the last

two years two permanent establishments, one of thess
situated on Sumatra near Indragivi, is called Ritti,
and the other a small island on the Coast of Linga is
named Salangut.” 1 beg to question therefore the
truth of the Chief of Salangore’s denial of all know-
ledge of the Lanoon boate, and I may add that from
information received at this Island, the pirates to the
Southward were termed Lanoons by me, and not, as
supposed by Mr. Anderson, by the Chief of Ligore,
who, 1 presume, never heard of such a race.

It appears that Mr. Anderson could have obtained
from Selangore, if he had pressed the point. the
pecuniary compensation which we are pledged to pay
to the Chief of Ligore, on account of the forty Boats
he lost at Perak. During my negotiations at Queda,
[ found it absolutely necessary to win over Che Hat,
and the other principal advisers of the Ligore Chief,
by holding out to them some prospect of personal
advantage in my plan of arrangement. I refused to
take any notice of the great value, as declared by
them, of the contents of the Boats, naturally con-
ceiving that the whole was stolen property. But 1
thought I should be justified in estimating the value
of the 40 Boats and their appointments only at 2,000
Dollars, and to this sum, thercfore, I limited the
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amount of compensation. 1t is not the Chow Pya,
but his followers who will benefit by that payment,
and I must leave it to you Honorable Sir, to determine
from Mr. Anderson’s Report, whether the Boats were
not taken by Salangore, whoever might have seized
their contents. The Dritish Government, 1 should
think not listen to the statement, that it is not
the Chief of Salangore, but his son and heir apparent,
Raja Daula, who shared in the booty, or who is
vonnected with the mal-practices to the Southwand,
Our duty and policy must be, T submit, to teach the
Malay Chicefs, that we shall hold them responsible for
whatever trespasses their sons and adherents may
commit against the tranquillity of States and security
of trade,

As for the poor Chief of Perak, it is evident that no
dependence can be placed on any thing that he may
say or do, unless we adopt some more determinate
measures for his protection ; and indeed without
entering into positive alliances of an offensive and
defensive character with him and the other Malayan
Chiefs, 1 do not sce how we can exercise the right of
supporting their independence. Neither of Mr, An-
devson’s Agreements comprise this great point of
raising up a harrier against Siamese Conquest to the
Southward. If the Conrt of Siam refuse to ratify my
Agreement with the Chief of Ligore, and dutermine
npon prosecuting ity views against Perak and Salan-
sore, I.do not observe in the present engagements
with those States, such a pledge of protection on our
part, as would afford us a right and title wherewith to
oppose the Siamese,

I am happy to state that Mr, Crawfurd in a
communication which I have lately received from
him, “agrees with me entirely in considering it
quite hopeless to get the Sinmese by Treaty to yield
up their supremacy over the Malayan States, but
thinks that if an alliance, offensive and defensive,
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were entered into with those States, Patani excepted,
which is in & great measure peopled Ly Siamese, the
prudent Government of Bangkok would pocket the
affront.” I apprebend then that my Dest course at
Siam will be to endeavour to persuade the Govern-
ment as a measure absolutely necessary, in order to
prevent all chance of dispute, between its Southern
States, and our Settlements of Penang, Malacca
and Singupore, to draw a line of demareation for
the Southern boundary of its Empire, without going
into any discussion ns to its right of Supremacy over
Kalantan, Tringano and Perak. 1f possible, I shall
certainly seek, as instructed by you to have this line
drawn from Patani to the River Trang or Qapih.
But in the event of my fuiling to effect the removal
of the Siamese from Quedab, I trust, Honorable
Sir, you will perceive that the question of Sinmese
dominion, us far as Quedah is concerned, is widely
different, and for the following reasons, from that
which bears on Perak, Kalantan and Tringano.

With respect to the last mentioned States, the
British Government has never absolutely recoguized
the right of Siam to control them, whilst their iu-
Labitants remnin in general ummolested and free.
Here, then, we are at full liberty to interfere as
wuch ns may bo necessary for s curing a con-
tinuance of the present state of things, and this
may be doue I am confident without the clhance of
our being called upon to undertake active Military
operations.  With respect to Quedah, however, the
chiief has already been done. The Country
t! t is in the of the Si We
Lave publicly acknowledged their right of interfering
with it. The Inhabitants for the most part have
been driven out, and many of them forced to adopt
a life of Piracy, from which it will perhaps be
impossible to reclaim them, whilst the only re-
spectable Chiefs and Ministers of the former

great mis.
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Mulayan Government Lave been destroyed. Under
such ci I and adverting par-
ticularly to the imbecile character of the King of
Queda, unsupported s he would be by any such
men us his deceased Bindahara, Laxamana and
Tomongong. it hus often been a matter of doubt to
me, whether the restoration of His Highness is
un object uch to be desired, or at least one for
whicl we should muke any important sacrifico,

Were the poiut once settled against His High-
ness, we might make a general arrangement highly
advantageous to ourselves. ‘There would be no
difficulty, as T before submitted, in forming offensive
und defensive alliances with Kalantan on the one side,
and Perak on the other, for precluding the further
progress of Sium on the Maluyan Peninsula. There
would be no difficulty also, | have reason to believe,
in persuading the Chief of Ligore to enter into

with us, for confining himeslf within
Queda and Patani, for securing to us o more free
nnd liberal trade and intercourse with every part of
Queda and the adjoining Siamese territories than
what we luve ever possessed; and lastly for pro-
viding some Annual Stipeud out of the Revenues
of Queda to be paid to the King by the Chief of
Ligore. This lust stipulation would not ouly save
us some expence, but maintain the point of houor,
which many consider as engaged to support the in-
terests of the Kiug of Queda. But such an arrange-
ment s this could never be carried into full effect,
so long as Ilis Highuess continued to live at this
Islund oz his friends and partisans to exasperate
the Chisf of Ligore’s natural distrust and jealousy.
Aud this briugs me to notice the most unpleasant
portion of Mr. Anderson’s reports.

Iam by no means surprized at the contents of
the letters addressed by Luang Packdee to the Chief
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of Perak. 1 only wonder under all circumstances
that these Documents do not tell more against the
Chief of Ligore. Unhuppily a° violent degree of
personal animosity exists aguinst Mr. Anderson in
the breast of that ¢ hief, who in July made many
complaints to me, and again in August, in the pre-
sence of Mr. Muingy, used such language as obliged
us both to check him. His principal charge was,
that the Maliy Translator had said and done every
thing to provoke o War between the Sinmese and
this Govertment, and no explanation on my part
would induce tho (Lief to disbelieve what his
Envoys and Malay friends had told him. Hence,
when Le heard that Mr Anderson had proceeded to
Verak and Salangore, he suspected, as [ di 1
on my sec:ud visit that he Lad been deceived, and
that he would suffer in reputition to the Southward.
1 presume then, that it was to suve his character in
some measure with Peruk, to which he had before
trausmitted many vaunting declurations, and to
protect himself as he believed, against the Malay
Translator’s rep tions, he ordered exp i

to be written to Perak. The languige in which
they are made proves them to bo the composition of

one of thoss mischievou< Malays, who have been so
active in ing all the lite wisund di

The expression uking obeisance to the soles of the
Royal Slippers, is peculiarly Muhometan. and s2
little in charncter of n Siamese, from whom the
letters purport to Le, that I strongly suspect the
writer intended them to be seea by us. A reference
to the forged Chops and Letters which' were
discovered nt Acheen in 1819, will shew that the
Malays are very expert iu this mode of doing
mischief. It is to be regretted Mr. Anderson did
not take charge of the Originul letters, as the pos-
session of them, whenover authenticated would give
us considerable advautage in any further discassion
with the Chief of Ligore,
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But Mr. Anderson apprehends, that this Chief
still meditates interference with the Govermuent of
Perak.  Of course he does, and will continue to do o,
until we avail onrselves of the power, which wo now
posse:

of entering into such an alliance with Perals,
as may preclude Siamese interference altogether. 1
distinetly showed in my veport of the Tst of August,
that the Chow Pya considered Perak ns a Siameso
tributary, that 1 had denied it, and had only been ablo
to wave the discussion, without settling the matter
either way. My agreement however was so drawn out,
as to afford onr Agent to Perak the means of prechul-
ing by express treaty with its Chief, the interference
of the Chow Pya of Ligore with the Conntry and
Goverment of Perak on any pretence. At Quedah L
conld never have prevailed on the Chow Pya to resign

by Treaty all Siamese right of Supremacy over Pe;
1 contented uigsalf with preveiiting ths foroe wiidhllis
had prepared from proceeding to that Country and
destroying it, and with securing to ourselves the right
of attacking any Detachment of Siamese Armed Men
or Boats that we might find to the Southwavd, and 1
vonceived it wonld rest with onr Negotiator at Perak,
to devise means for precluding Siamese interference in
the many other forms in which it may be attempted.
Unless therefore, some further measures than those
adopted by Mr. Anderson be concerted with both
Salangore and Perak, it is manifest, as that Gentleman
fears, that the whale of his labours will especially
benefit the Chiow Pya of Ligore, and that His High-

ness will have made us the Agents in securing to
himself an easy and undisturbed control over the
Governncent of Perak.  The Clief of that Country is
evidently survounded by factious Chiets and intriguing
Subjects, and unless we engige with him by Treaty
not to admit of Siamese interference with his Govern-
ment, the Emissaries of Ligore will of course continue
to alarm and direct him, and the Chow Pya of Ligore to
seek to establish Siamese coutrol through their Agency.
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T am sorry Mr. Anderson should suppose that
my notice of Che Etam in my report of the lst
August, rendernd it * incumbent upon him to make
a few remarks in reply.”” | can assure you Houble.
Sir, that in that report I studiously abstained from
stating wany things, that would have proved the in-
correetness of Malayan Spies and Tnformers, and the
extraordinary credulity of some winds, T wish to
adopt the same course on the present occasion,
although there are many points on which I could
tender explanation.  Whether the Malay Translator
returns the feelings which the Chow Pyn of Ligore
entertains against him, as the Chow Py himself
imagines from the reports, [ believe, of Che Etaw,
the Honorable Board can best determine, from
observation of that Gentleman's conduct and reports.
I wust again beg to state as L submitted in April
last, that I do net propose to set wyself upas
an Apologist for the Siwmese Clief. The Malay
Translator bas never ounce seen him. T have now
visitad him sevaral times, and all T ask in his favor,
is a little exercise cf liberality. I have reported
of him only that which I have seon and heard
myself, and I am perfectly indifferent whether
wy superiors finully determine upon treating him
as a friend or foe. In the mean time, I would
ouly beg to protest against the plan of putting the
worst possible construction on evers thing said or
done by the Chief of Ligore, und the best on what-

ever may come from a Malay Chief or Informer.

In conclusion T may state that the fact of small
Boats ting close along the shore, aud ruuning
into sowe of the numberless creeks and rivers at the
first appearance of bad weather, cannot surely be
produced as a proof, that large War Boats may
voyage with the same ease during this ionsoon,
wheu the weather cannot be depended upon for two
liours together, and when such efficient Vessels as
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the Honble. Company's Schoouner Zephyr part from
their Anchors whilst lying off the Coast.

How far Mr. Anderson’s predictions have been
verified I do not know, but I submit thatall political
predicti are ly d and that a
habit of using or waking such must preclude the
exercise of a cool and dispassionate judgment on
any question, in which the party predicted against
is concerned.

I have &c.

( Signed ) H. BURNEY Captn.
Politieal Agent to
the Sinmese Stutes.

THE alove having been referred to Mr. Ander-
son, the following explanatory letter from that
Gentleman is recorded.
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POLL. AGENT to PERAK and SALANGORE.

To
The Honorable Nobert Fullerton Esquire,
Governor, &e. &e. &e.

Honorable Sir,

T must claim pormission respectfully to offer some
reply to the letter of the Political Agent to the
Niamese States of the 19 Instant. 1 must leave Cap-
tain Burney to reconcile to his own mind the style of
the present letter, with his private communications to
me. 1 cannot perceive to what good object such an
intemperate effusion will tend. Such a latitude of
animadversion and so «uernlous n disposition on the
part of a Subordinate Officer, will bs best appreciated
by Government,

I naturally inferrad that the style and tenor of
the letters from the Minister of the Chow Iiya of
Ligore to the King of Perak would excite disagreeable
feelings in Captain Burney's imind. I did not con-
sider it optional with me to withhold from the ins-
pection of Government documents of such importance,
as giving a clear insight into the views and policy of
the Chow Piya of Ligore, in respect to Perak.  These
letters came officially before me, there was no doubt of
their authenticity ; they bore the large Chop and were
in the handwriting of Che Hat, who is so frequently
mentioned by Captain Burney as the Chow Piya’s
Confidential Secretary. A few days after my return
from the late Mission, Captain Burney called upon
me, and perused the letters, with the aid of my

writers. He then admitted that they were very
characteristic of the Chow Piya and that the expres-
sions were indubitably Siamese. I have not seen
him since, and must own that the letter put into my
hands yesterday surprized me very much.
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In alluding to the letters Captain Burney terma
them *“the most unpleasant portion of Mr. Ander-
son’s report.” Tt would be a waste of words to prove
all the incousistencies in the letter to which I an
now replying. It is fortunate that in administering
the poison, he also provides an antidote. In one
part he attempts to prove, by reference to forged
Chops at Acheen in 1819, that the letters of which
[ have produced lati are the ““ compositi
of some mischievous Malays ” and in the same
breath, he admits that they were written by the
Chow Piyu of Ligore's orders, to obviate any possible
deception on my part; insinuntions both extremely
complimentary to me. He sazs, “hence when he
“ heard that Mr. Anderson had proceeded to Perak
*“and Salangore, he suspected, as I discovered on
“ my second visit, that he had been deceived and
““ thut he would suffer in reputation to the South-
“ward I presume then that it was to save his
“ character in some mensure with Perak to which
b had t itted many ing ions,
* and to protect himself, as he believel, against. the
“ Mulay Translator’s represeutations, he ordered
*explanations to e written to Perak.” How can
Captain Burney reconcile such contradictions ? The
reputation and character of the Chow Piya are too
well established to be nffected by any thing the
Malay Translator could urge.

Captain Burney omits tc notice in what parti-
cular respect the Chow Piga of Ligore anticipated
deception ; it would seem indeed, from the sequel
of his report, that 1 have not proved such an
adept as he would have Lad me be. Had I at-
tended to his verbal suggestions, I should assuredly
have laid myself more open to the imputation.
Ifalittle sagacity and penetration in prying into
the real views of the Chow Piya and perceiving what
is conducive to the interest of my employers and
the welfare of the neighbouring Malay States, gives
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me a title to such honorable distinction on the part
of His Highness, I win content to receive it. I
remember when Captain Burney first communicated
your intention of requiring my Services to proceed
to Perak and Salangore, he was pleased to ascribe
to e very great influence with the Mulays and said
many civil things on that head.

With respect to the letters, I have ouly to state
that the originals, carresponding in the writing and
other respects with those received from the Chow
Piya, were handed to me by the King of Perak in
open assembly ; were in my posaession 24 hours and
copied and carefully examined by two writers. T
have been Malay Translator to Government several
years, and have been sent upon three Missions. 1
Lave not yet been proved such a dupe as Captain
Burney would have it beiieved. It will be for
(iovernment to determine whether the lotters do not
bear the genuine warks of authenticity in all res-
pects. [ fuur indeed, the King entrusted to me
more than he should have done consistently witlh
prudence ; and T have reason to know that it was so
suggested to him by his Minister, after he Lad given
me the letters and hence he has the greater claim to
cousideration. He is not awave that T made Copies
of them.

1 do not count it any misfortune, as Captain
Burney does, that he and I differ widely in several
points, when I observe that my opinions are not
discordant with equally good authority. I have
the satisfuction of perceiving that my general
sentiments on the question are in unison with
those of such public officers as Mr, Maingy and
Captain Low, both of whom have had sufficient
opportunities of forming a correct estimate of the
Clow Fiya’s character, nor is it matter of surprize
that his Highness should regard me with no very
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friendly feeling. It must be remembered that I
have long been the Interpreter when the late
Governor and yourself have had occasion to make
some severe observations to the Envoys and I have
been the translator of some strong Ietun of

5 yet his Higl lus ded
to write me Civil Letters, to send me presents, to
desire his Envoys to enquire about the health of my
Children, to invite me to Kedah, saying that next
to yourself, I was the person he was most desirous
of transacting business with &e. I£ Captain Burney’s
assertion be true, that “unhappily a violent degree
 of personal animosity exists against Mr. Anderson
*‘in the breast of that Chief,” the circumstance
ouly tends to afford another proof of the insincerity
of the Chow Piya—a failing in which he has been
s0 often convicted by the late Governor, Mr. Maingy,
Captain Low and others. Captsin Burney’s own
reports are so replete with contradictions, and
various plans, thut I own I am really unable to form
a decided opiuion, either [as] to his real estimate of
the Chow Piya's character, his own views of policy,
or the objects he aims at by negotiation.

The Chow Piya has alternately vented his
abuse upou Captain Low, Mr. Maingy and Captain
Burney himself, and I cannot be surprised that I
am not permitted to escape. [ acknowledge myself
to e friendly to the simple and oppressed Mulays
and T esteem it one of the most flattering distinc-
tions of my public life that the Chow Piya has
ascribed to me such penetration. It has assuredly
been wy anxious care to watch his proceedings and
to collect the earliest intelligence of his designs. A
weighty responsibility attached to me. My inform-
ation has been submitted to Government, but Captain
Burney forgets that while he seeks to criminate me,
heis in fact presuming to animadvert upon the
deliberative p dings and acts of G t.
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He has a much greater stake at issue than I have.
My office is not dependent upon the i of
description * with the Siamese. He has a lucrative

entirely depe: upon the
of this unbappy business and he has been now
engaged 10 months. How much longer the adjust-
ment of differences may be delayed it is impossible
for me to predict.

1 rejoice to find that after being compelled from a
sense of duty, to say so much in disparagement of the
King of Salangore, Captain Burney thinks [ have not
been sufficiently severe. I do not perceive what benefit
would be gained by my indulging in invective against
an old Chief, worn down with years, who has been on
terms of friendly alliance with the Briti

Govt, upwards
of halfa century. 1 would recommend Captain Burney
to peruse my reports with mora attention, He is obli-
ged to have raconrse to an extract from the Singapors
Chronicle (tho' he quotes the opinion as Mr Craw-
furd's) to do away with any little favorable impres-
sion which my report may have excited. He gives
another extract from the same paper to prove that
there are such pirates as Lanoons, which all the world
knows, but that extract is quite out of the record.

Captain Burney says “it appears Mr Anderson
could have obtained from Salangore, if he had pressed
the point, the pecuniary compensation which we are
pledged to pay.” Tn what part of my report does
Captain Burney find such an assurance? I distinctly
stated that T left that point open for negotiation.
I believe indeed that the King of Salangore has such
a respect for the English and such a dread of their
power that he would yield up his Crown, if pressed,
but as his explanation relative to the seizure of the
Siamese prows did not seem to warrant my insisting
npon that point, I contented myself by following your
orders and submitting the explanation obtained.
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The Political Agent says *I found it absolutely
“necessary to win over Che Hat and the other
* principal advisers of the Ligore Chief by holding out:
*to them soms prospect of personal advantage in my
* plan of arrangement. I refused to take notice of the
* great value as declared by them, of the contents of tho
** boats, naturally conceiving that the whole was stolen
“ property. It is not the Chow Piya but his followers
“who will benefit by that payment.” This puts the
matter quite in a new light.  Captain Burney's former
report. gives mo no insight into this mystery. My
conception of this is that it was deemed neces-
sary to give a handsome douceur to Che Hat for
writing the Treaty which was bronght about mainly
by him, and to promote his private interests at tho
expence of his Master. I have always been in-
structed to consider it derogatory to tho dignity and
character of the British Government to gain any
abjects of political importance by bribing inferior
servants.  Captain Burney, from his frequent allusion
to the efficacy of presents, seems to rest all his success
upon an incessant and endless presentation of gifts,

Mr. Crawfurd’s opinion on this lead is excel-
lent. ¢ They ( the Siamese « are mercenary beggars
“ from the highest to the lowest. A man well dis-
‘“ posed to us at Hangkok asked wy Interpreter one
* day if T had expendedall my presents. I had not,
“but to elicit his opinion, the Interproter said T
had. Thereply was “then it is all over with you ”
This requires little comment. If the attachment of
the Sinmese is to be gained by such means only, or
rather if their civillity is to be procured only by
such a practice and their respect rest upon such
unsound n foundation, there will be but little
security, a continual expence and outlay will be
necessary to keep them in good humour and we
shall be regarded as tribute bearers. Surely the
British Government does not court the friendship of
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the Siamese at such an expence. Captain Burney
attributed much of his success at Poongah to con-
ciliating with money and presents a native of the
Coromandel Const in the employ of the Pya. A
liberal i h of presents is conf ble to the
practice of most Asiatic States but to rest the suc-
cess of weighty political measures upon the quantum
of presents offered und to substitute valuable gifts
for argument and authority is a poor resource. If
it be desirable and just to make a liberal allowance
to the Siamese for any concession on their part, it
would be far preferable in my opinion, to come to a
clear understanding at once and make a fixed money
payment.

The treaty made by Captain Burney does not
absolutely pledge the payment of 2,000 Drs.—it
pledges only negotiation ; but the duration of that
negotiation is not limited and very little time has
yet been lost.  Your Iustructions on this head were,
“ in respect to the demand for compensation for the
« destruction of the Ligore fleet, some explanation
« must be given before any decisive opinion can be
« formed by the Government;" and again it
«¢ must be held in mind that we ure proceeding only
“yupon the assertion of one of the parties in
« dispute.” T submitted the Information obtained.
Tt rests with the superior judgewment of Government
to determine what further steps shall be taken.
The demand has not been waved ; the subject is as
open for negotiation as it was a month ugo. Rajah
Daula is not the heir apparent of Salangore, as
stated by Captain Burney. That officer does not
allude to the treaty between Perak and Salan-
goreand prior rights, rights respected by the
Government of Penang many years before the
Siamese claimed the Boonga Mas from Perak. He
passes over without notice all the arguments of
importance.
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There can be but one opinion upon the particip-
ation of the King of Salangore in the expulsion of the
Siamese from Perak. It is acknowledged on all sides,
that a fleet of prows from Salangore under the command
of the Rajah Moodah or heir apparent and Rajah Daula
did proceed to Perak aud that the old King himself
followed immediately after. It is also stated that some
skirmishing did take place ; some of the booty perhaps
and at all events some of the prows must have fallen
into the possession of the Salengore people.  This also
is stated by the King and Chiefs of Perak, The King
of Salengore denies having icipated in the plunder;
it was i bent upon me to i his denial
to Government. He has since repeated it in a letter,
The question then is, is he not responsible for the acts
of his sons ? It may also be enquired how far he was
justified by prior treaty to expell the Siamese and
whether Che Hat had any right to be at Perak at all.
All these are points to be considered, My own ime
pression ie that it would be very satisfactory if the
Chow Pya could be persuaded to wave this demand
altogether ; but if you, Honorable Sir, are of opinion
that the Rajah of Salengore should be required to pay
the Two Thousand 2,000 Dollars as the price of his
relief from the Siamese interference, I dare say he
would comply with your requisition. Whether he is
guilty to the extentstated by the Siamese or not is
impossible for me to say. He will not, at all events,
admit it. I always understood and it is so stated
in my Pamphlet, that the force from Salengore had
expelled the Siamese. The additional particalars
furnished by the Perak Chiefs give us a clearer
insight into the matter.

As to an offensive and defensive alliance with
Perak and Salengore, however pleased I might have
been to have entered into such an engagement, I had
no authority to do so. I was reminded by you that
“ our mediation for the present is amicable only and
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“ was cautioned to abstain from any expression or
« declaration which would ultimately commit us to the
“ necessity of the more severs measures of Military
“ interference ¥ and T was directed to enterinton
negotiation with the King of Perak * submitting the
« ragult before any definitive arrangement be made.”

The second Article of Captain Burney's treaty
provides that * the Governor of Ligore engages that no
« Siamese foree by land or water shall proceed to
« Perak or settle in that Country. " Although I have
not by a formal engagement pledged tho Government;
Iled the King to expect the intervention of the

Tritish Government, and I have provided for the non
interference of the Siamese by obtaining an engage-
ment stipulating for the frecdom of trade and naviga-
tion to the English as well as others, n fised duty and
established boundary, and the Kings lave been re-
cognized and treated as Sovereigns and independent

Princes. 1 flatter myself enough has been done to

secnre every proper and legitimate object for the
present. It rests only with the Chow Piya of Ligore
to fulfil his part of the engagement, by returning to his
own Country and disbanding his Armament and
vefrining from sending any men to Perak ; the Kings
of Salangore and Perak will, [ trast, perform what they
have pledged.

1t is not absolutely necessary in my view, for this
Government to enter into specific engagements with
the Chiefs of Perak and Salengore, formally guaran-
teeing their independence. It may be enough that a
ication of the determination of the British
Government to uphold the independence of these

States, which have never yet been regarded in any
other light than as independent, be made to the Chow:
Piya of Ligore. 1 have not, by a formal writing, in-
volved the Government in any pledge to support this;
but nothing has been conceded to the Siamese by me.
This Government has denied the right of the Siamese
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to supremacy over Perak, and Captain Burney's treaty,
as e observes, gives a right to prevent the Rajah of
Ligore from sending any force to remain at Perak.
Had T given the King of Perak a formal recognition of’
independence in the face of Captain Burney’s report it
is probable the Chow Piya's indignation against me
would have been raised to an extreme pitch. When
lie observes however a determination to prevent his
interference with Perak, he will 1 hope, abandon his
views. Had I been vested with the authority, it would
have been a most easy and gratifying duty to have
entered into offensive and defensive alliances, which
Captain Burney seems to think I should have done,
although the tenor of his report and your instructions
do not contemplate such oljects from my  deputation.
Tmust own that I was solicited to give a written
ledge, but does Captain Burney think I would have
presumed to run headlong into such an

without your orders. I am perfectly aware of the
caution which has hitherto been used and the circum-
ry onsuch a point. The Chow Piya
upon your remonstrance wade through Mr. Maingy
and by letter engaged to abandon his hostile enterprize
to the Southward and to disband his forces. Captain
Burney's treaty was a repetition of that engagement,
but he pledged certain conditions which were not
foreseen.  The Chow Pya engaged to return to Ligore
in 20 days—upwards of 50 have already expired and
he is still at. Kedal,

spection neces:

T must claim some little credit for the opinion
expressed in Captain Burney’s lotter as being jointly
that of himself and Mr. Crawfurd viz: that the
Siamese Government would pocket the affront of
of our declaring the independence of the Malay
States. In the pawphlet which I had the honor of
submitting, I have repeatedly stated such to be my

i and that all negotiation for their regular
vession would be in vain. Iam happy to find that
on this, which is the main point, we entirely agree.
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But after such a declaration, I lament to ob-
serve that Captain Burney double the ezpediency of
the restoration of the Malayan Government of Kedal,
to effect which, was, as far as my recollection serves
me, the primary object of his appointment as
Political Agent. If,as he seemsto have done, he
has abandoned as hopeless, the interests of our
ally and adopted sentiments so much at variance
with the oft-recorded views of this Government,
any argument of mine, after all that has Leen said
and done upon this important subject by more
competent authority, would be futile and useless.
1 think I may with equal truth ascribe to him
feclings towards the Siamese very much akin to
those he attributes to me in favor of the Malays.
In all his reports, Coptain Burney has never
omitted to aniwndvert severely upon the Ex-King
of Kedah. In the present letter he is called
«imbecile"—the King of Perak “a poor weak man”
and the King of Salangore “a pirate” and everything
that is bad, As Captain Burney says of the Chow
Piga—Captain Burney has not seen the Kings of
Perak and Salengore; “I have. I onlyaska little
liberality.” I have the advantage however of being

q 1 with the 1 and ct of the
people for whom I am accused of partiality, while
his acquaintance with the people of Ligore is but of
recent origin. I have been always led to believe
that conciliation and kinduoess and a ready access
are cousonant with the wishes of the Honorable
Court in the intercourse of their Servants with the
Natives, and if 1 have been fortunate enougl in
attaching the several Malay Chiefs to the British
Government and myself personally I mnust be content
to bear the reproach which the Chow Pya seeks to
attach to me.

In another Para. of his letter Captain Burney
argues in favor of yielding up to the Chow Piya of
Ligore the full and unqualified right to the pos-
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session of Kedab, which has hitherto been the main
object of contention and all the expensive negocia-
tions of this Government. The bias on Captain
Burney’s mind cannot be mistaken when he hints at
the removal of the King of Kedal from this Island
and accepting on his parta pecuninry compensation
from the Rajah of Ligorel! This is entirely a novel
plan. 1t is not long since he contended for our
right to drive the Siamese out and he now urges the
completa right of the Chow Piya, a right which if
ever ack dged at all by G ,» Captain
Burney himself was wainly instrumental in con-
ceding. It will be for you, Honorable Sir, to decide
how far such suggestions ns are now submitted,
may ba consonant with your instructions and the
object of Captain Burney's appointment,

The Chow Piya charges me, according to
Captain Burney's statement, with provoking a war
between the Siamese and this Government. 1 may
perhaps be charged with provoking the rupture at
Mergui and the hostile designs of the Siamese in other
‘quarters, because I long since predicted that they were
not to be trusted and that they would never be
induced to aid us against the Burmals. If a con-
scientivus desire on my part to anticipate any possible
evil designs of the Siamese and a zealous furtherance
of the views of Government for the attainment of the
important objects contemplated by you and the
Supreme Government render me lisble to the imputa-
tion, I must submit to the accusation, What is the
interpretation of the following para, of Captain Burney’s
report dated lst August, but that he anticipates
something like hostilities and he prides himself upon
having secured a fair plea for using force. He says
*this Treaty gives us a right which we certainly did
“ not possess before of preventing Siamese troops and
** war boats from proceeding to Perak and Salengore,
“and this I consider to be the great point gained.”
Does not Captain Burney anticipate the necessity of
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recourse to arms when ho says that he contented himself
with * securing to ourselves the right of aftacking any
detachment of Siamese armed men or boats that we
might find to the Southward.”

And in his late letter he says *“but Mr. Ander-
« son apprehends that this Chief still meditates inter-
« forence with the Government of Perak. Of course
« he does and will continue to do so, until we avail
“ gurselves ot the power which we now possess of
¢ entering into such an alliance with Perak as may
« preclude Siamese interforence  altogether. T dis-
« tinctly showed in my report of the lst August that
“ the Chow Piya considered Perak as a Siamese tribu-
+ tary—that I had denied it, and had only been able
« to wave the discussion, without settling the matter
“ either nway. My agreement however was so drawn
“ out, as to afford our Agent to Perak the means of
« precluding by express treaty with its Chief, the
“ interference of the Clow Piya of Ligore with the
« Country and Government of Perak on any pretence.’”
There was nothing in Captain Burney’s report leading
to any such inference. If, as he
Dy virtue of his treaty, the vight of preventing the
Chow Piya going to Perak what more is required 7 So
far from Captain Burney being impressed with any
such sentiments as he has now expressed relative to

says, We NOw possess

the independence of Perak, when 1 sailed, ke repeatedly
reminded me of the absolute necessity of oblaining an
engagement from the King to transmit the Boonga
Mas!! How can he contend that it was designed
1 should formally declare the independence of Perak,
wwhen he states in his report dated lst August * His
Highness desired much to introduce in the treaty &
clause respecting the transmission of the Boonga Mas
to Siam on the part of Perak, and 1 had much difficulty
in preventing its introduction. 1 observed however
that if the Rajah of Perak engaged and was willing to
to send such a token of vassalage to Siam, the British
Government would not prevent it.”
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In the present letter hesays “ At Quedah T could
“ never have prevailed on the Chow Piya to resign by
“ treaty all Siamese right of Supremacy over Perak.”
What then does Captain Burney mean by the pre-
ceding observations, but to find fault with me for
not exceeding my instructions and practising that
very deception which the Chow Piya ascribes to me.
Captain Burney’s treaty provides only as far as
respects Perak for the removal of Rajah Hassan
and the establishment of a defined boundary. Captain
Burney remarks ¢ unless therefore some further
*“ measures than those adopted by Mr. Anderson
“ be concerted with both Salengore and Perak, it is
“ manifest, as that Gentleman infers, that the
““ whole of his labours will especially benefit the
“ Chow Piya of Ligore only and that His Highness
* will have made us the Agents in securing to him-
*“self an easy and undisturbed control over the
“ Government of Perak. The Chief of that Country
“13 evidently surrounded by factious Chiefs and
““intriguing subjects and unless we engage with
“him Dby treaty not to admit of Sinmese inter-
¢ ference with his Government, the emissaries of
« Ligore will of course continue to alarm and direct
“him and the Chow Piya of Ligore to seek to
“ establish Siamese control through their Agency.”
The King as I have stated, has no power, though he
has every inclination to resist Siamese interference ;
such au engagement, had I made it, would have in
the present state of gffairs endangered the personal
safety of the King, exasperated the Chow Piya of
Ligore and in the face of Captain Burney’s pacific
reports and proceedings, justly exposed me to the
imputation of deception. How can a gentleman of
Captain Burney’s age and experience permit himself
to argue so inconsistently.

With respect to my returning the feelings
which the Chow Piya is said to entertain for me,
it is quite superfluous to say wore in my own favor
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than that I have no personal acquaintance with him
and have never seen him, consequently our animosity
must be founded on public grounds.  His Highuess
is a principal—I am only a subordinate Agent or
the organ of conveying the orders of my superiors,
and I trust it will be no discredit to me, if I have per-
formed iy duty with firmness. 1 have been n mere
Translater and Interpreter, but I Luve, like every
other public officer, formed my opinions of His
Highuess from his proceedings and correspondence.

Captain Burney alludes to the credulity of some
minds. I have had reason to remark this fuiling
too. That Officer made it appear in one of his early
reports that the Chow Piya had Leen persuaded to
come across to meet him, ngreeable to his requisition.
‘We have seen for what object he came. Captain
Burney states the Chow Piya said he had lost the
credit of assisting us with boats and His Highuess
lays all the blame on Captain Low. The Supreme
Go has 1, (nccordivg to Mr.
Crawfurd), all expectations of co-operation from the
Sinwese to have been delusory.

In one of his early reports, altho’ he liberally
quoted the sentiments of his Agent Achong, in
several points, ie omits to state that person's estimate
of the number of prows equipped by the Chow Piya
of Ligore. Achong gives the number at 300 and
upwards. Captain Burney however says there were
little more thau half that number. He observes
there were (at Khountaie )30 new boats building,
100 old ones, most of them too old and decayed to
be agaiu used. Mr. Maingy and others have fully
establisked the incorrectuess of this last assertion.

Captain Burney has several times alluded to the
reported likelihood of his being detained at Trang.
The following extract will shew that there was more
foundation for the report than he would make it
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appear, by the cursory way and air of ridicule in
which Le notices the rumour in subsequent reports.
“ Linvited” he says “ the Luaug to accompany me
“ (to Khontanie) but lie vehemently opposed my
¢ proceeding further und even observed, that if I
“ went to Khontanie I should perhaps be prevented
“ from leaving it ugain. To this threat T laughingly
““ replied, through my interpreter, that T should be
¢ very happy to be detained by him, us [ was anxious
 to take up my residence amongst the Siamese and
“ then weighed anchor and stood up the river.”
He was pressed to return and considered it impolitic
to persist in doing what “ T was now satisfied the
Chow Piya of Ligore was wost anxious to prevent.”
It appears that some Maluys were spectators of
this affair and brought the report to P'enang of
the probablo detentiou of Captain Burney if he
attempted to proceed up the Trang river.

[am aceused of prejudice ngainst the Clow
Piya of Ligora. What does Captuin Burney himself
say on a former oceasion 2 * T do not set myself up
* us an apologist for the Chow Fiya of Ligore, who
“1 believe possesses much amwbition and all the
“ little arts aud cunning with which that passion is
*¢ usually connected in the breasts of native princes.”
1 have never seen His Highaess and I confess I have
formed my opinious very much from the information
contained in Captain Burney’s reports. 1 certainly do
regard the Chow Piya s n very dangerous and trouble-
some neighbour ; and I have no other prejudice than
thut naturally iuspired by the restless character of the
man-and the inconveniences which have resulted
therefrom. If I entertain an unfuvourable opinion
of the Chow Piya Iam not singular. Captain Low
states in his report of the 10 April 1824 that * the
“ duplicity and of wh is diguified in
“ the conduct of the Rajah and his Officers by his
“ orders, we may suppose on this occasion must be
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“ sufficient to i us of the holl of his
« professions and the little ndvantage to be gained
“ by treating with him as un independent and liberal
*“ minded prince.” These sentiments were approved
and acted upon by the late Government, and T
cannot observe anything in the conduct of the
Chow Piya since, which tends to create a more
favorable impression. On the contrary, his recent
proceedings have been more than ever caleulated to
prove the correctness of Captain Low's opinion and
the resolutions of Government.

Perfectly sensible as 1 am of the liberal and
moderate principles which nctuate this Government,
in consonance with the express wishes and divections
of the Supreme Government and the Honorable Court
of Directors, 1 cannot ba insnsibls to the credit which
I, as a public officer of thi

Government, would gain,
by a successful cooperation in maintaining peace and a
cordial understanding with the adjoining states.  The
conduct of the Siamese has bsen such as to point
out the necessity of glnrimg against treachery and

g undue You, H ble Sir,
\ull do me the justice to bsar testimony that 1 have
ever deprecated the necessity of resorting to military
interference or coming to an open rupture with the
Siamese, €0 long as it can be avoided. All T have
ever presumed to urge has been the nccessity of
vigilant precaution and a diplay of adequate means to
resist_encroachment. I have only to shield myself
under the convi

ion of having done my best to ward
off probable danger hy submitting. as I was bound to do,
the best information procurakle. I do not assume
infallibility ; but 1 trust 1 shall at least be protected
against such mischievous remarks as Captain Burney
has made. The charge of encouraging war is a weighty
one, and must be my apology for this lengthened
detail,
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For yonr information, Honorable Sir, 1 feol con=
fident that the preceding remarks are quite super-
tluous ; but as Captain Burney's lotter may be recorded,
T am anxious that my explanation shonld be laid
before the higher anthorities also,

T have,  &e. & Ko

( Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Pall. Agent to Perak and Salengore,

Penang
21 September 1825,
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THE HONBLE. THE PRESIDENT luys before
the Board the following Minute on Mr. Anderson’s
Reports, containing a detniled view of the points
about to be discussed with the Court of Siam.

MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

Mr. Auderson having returned from Perak and
Sulengore, and sent in the Report of his Proceedings;
I now record the sentiments and opinions entertained
by me on those Proceedings, as well as the sugges-
tions which occur to me on the future measures to be
pursued : It is scarcely necessary to recapitulate
the views and objects of our iuterference, founded
on the extreme incouvenience that must have
resulted from the subjugation of Salengore and the
approximation of Siumese Dominion to our Settle-
ments, of these inconveniences the Supreme Govern-
ment appesr to be alike sensible; the difficulty in
our Course, for preventing them, lhas bLeen the
danger of n rupture with Siam, and unless their
counteractions could be effected without such result
it is clear that we must have allowed conquest,
however inconvenient, to have taken its course.
It would no doubt have been most desirable that
things should have remained as they were, that no
steps should have been taken by the Chief of Ligor,
before the sentiments of the authorities in England
were received as to the line of Policy to be pursued;
the preservation of such a state of things however
was beyond our power. Had the Chief of Ligor
proceeded by Sea, and at a proper distance from the
Island, we could have had no ground for interference
and the same reasoning would apply to an attack by
Land beyond our control. The free passage of his
Armament thro’ this Harbour, seems to have been a
sine qua non, of his undertaking, and this we had a
right to admit or refuse, and the refusal produced the
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tion for our Mediation ; under the inf

tion furnished by Captain Burney on his last visit
to Queda, that an armed force was in preparation
for the attack on Salengore, further delay on the
decision Lecame impossible, Had the Armament
proceeded, it seems clear from the report of Mr.
Anderson, founded on the information of the Rajah
of Perak himself, that there was no prospect of
successful resistance. ‘That the whole of those
Countries must have been thrown into confusion
and ultimately subdued, all the evils which we were
desirous to prevent, must have been perfected long
before the sentiments of the nutlorities in England
could ave been received. And even then, tho® they
had taken the same view of the Case as we have
done, and deterwined on preventing further Con-
quest in this quarter, the mischief would have been
complete and irrecoverable: Ou the receipt of the
above information and th:c consequent arrangement
made by Captain Burney there remained no alterna-
tive, we must either lave availed ourselves of the
opening made, by undertaking the mediation for the
adjustment of differences, or ut once hiave abandoned
all hopes of counteraction. Having followed the
former course, it now remains to consider the terms
required by the disputing parties.

2. The Rajah of Ligor engages that no
Siamese Force by land or water shall praceed to
Perak or settle in that country.

Tho Rajah of Ligor engages that no Sinmese
force by land or water, shall proceed to Salangore.

The Rajah of Ligor engages to proceed to
Siam on the subject of the restoration of the King
of Quedah,and if the King of Siam consents, he
enguges to withdraw his people from that country,
to permit the King to return to his Kingdom, to
release the family and relations, and that no
Siamese force shall afterwards Ly Jand or water
enter the territories of the King of Quedah.
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By the 2nd. and 5th. Articles the main objects of
our Interference are attained—the arrest of further
conquest towards the South. The 7th embraces an—
other object which the records show to have been one
never lost sight of by this Government.

The Governor of Ligor engages to retwrn home
within twenty days, with the armament which he has
brought to Quedah.

On the other side it is provided, That the Govern—
ment will effect the removal of Rajah Hussein of
Salengore from Perak, and prevent him from forcibly
taking away such of the inhabitants of the country, as
may be unwilling to accompany him. The DBritish
Government declare that they have themselves no in-
tention of oceupying Perak or interfering with its
administration,

The Government agrees to negotiate with the
Rajah of Salengore to obtain payment from him to the
Governor of Ligor, of a sum of Spanish dollars 2,000,
for the Boats and other property belonging to the
Intter which the Rajah of Salengore is said to have
seized at Perak ; and will prevent that Rajah from
Qisturbing the Peace of Perak. And the British
Government further engages to negotiate with those
Rajahs, for the establishment of an equitable boundary,
between the respective States.

The Government engages. if the King of Quedah
be restored to his Kingdom. that . M. shall send the
Boongah Mas triennially to Ligor to convey to the
King of Siam. The English Government declare that
they have no desire to interfere with the Government
of Quedah. The other articles are of a general nature,

for i of friendship, free i and
suppressing Piracy. In reference to the Articles affect-
ing Salengore and Perak, it became necessary to
depute an Agent to those States to obtain from them
an explanation of the circumstances sct forth by the
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Rajah of Ligor, and eventually to induce them to
acquiesce in the terms proposed. The Proceedings of
Mr. Anderson, the Agent deputed, are mow befors
the Board,

It was not to bo expected that the reports of the
two di: ing parties should pond, and we accord-
ingly find a very material difference in their accounts
of the same transactions. To the first point, as to
Rajah Hussein, it was stated that he resided in the
Perak country with the assent of the King whose aunt
he had marcied. The Rajah of Salengore has however

g
inMr. Andersonsagreed and provided for his removal. The Reports

Report of 26th
August 1825,

SecArt. 2d. of
above.

stated by Captain Burney as communicated to him at
Quedah respecting the number of Piratical Prows in the
Perak River were also contradicted. The circumstance
of such Prows having actnally been at the mouth of
Perale river and the Sambelang Tslands is beyond
all doubt, and altho® such would not be acknowledged,
there seems to ma little doubt that they were in com-
munication with the Rajah, and that they would have
been employed in his defence. These occurrences we
have a right to prevent, and the oceasional presence of
an Armed Vessel can alone effectually remedy the evil.
In respect to the next point urged viz. the non in-
terference in the affairs of Perak it was urged that o
connection had long subsisted between Perak and
Salengors, ever since the year 1804, and a treaty was
produced bearing that date between the two States ; on
this paint more will be said in another place. It is
enough here to observe that the Rajah of Salengore
agrees to discontinue all such interference in fature.
The same article determines the boundary between the
two States, as stipulated in the Articles of Agreement
with Ligor; the other articles are of a general nature,
for mutual intercourse, reciproeal exchange of offen-
ders, and suppression of Piracy. The only point un-
adjusted is that for the payment of 2000 dollars, on
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Boe para. 25 to which the Rajah of Salengore has explained in a man-
ner very different from the representation wmade to

20th Auguat 1826 Captain Burney: That he received no part of the
Atso para. 17 to .

25 of the Roport e of
of 15th Soptr. the boats was made by the Pe ng, by

means of a false alarm, procured the sulden departura
of the Siamese who accompanied Che Hat the Ligor
Agent and [who it] has been generally mnderstood
was guilry of great rapacity : and that the Perak

property seized on the oceasion ; That  the
K's poople ha

people in reality, in seizing the Ligor boats, scized
1 under

only their own property, and suk the |
these cirenmstances, the demand of 2000 dollars be
enforeed from Salengore, it can only be as an offeriy

for the maintenance of tranquillity and not a just

ctually done by him. Asa
e

in Council,

compensation for damage

on of

part of an Agreement subj d
the Right Honorable the Governor Geer

this point may remain open till the sentiments of his
.

Lordship on the whole subject be vecei

Unless it should b found that the non payment

is likely

w the opinion of Captain Burney to interfere
Iy with the objects of his Mission. Tn that

mater
sveved

case it may bo paid fom the Trea

eventually from Salengore.

The veport of Mr. Anderson of the 15th Septr. con-
tains the account of the actual state in which the Rajal

of Peralk is placed. Tt is ¢
to the alternate exactions and oppressions of hix
neighbonrs on each side. Thewo ean be no doubt of
the views of Ligor against that state. The letters
written by that Chief and deli
sufficiently display the ambitious and intiiguing =pirit

red to Mr, Andeson

that has hitherto marked the conduct of the Rajah of
inst re

Ligor: On the other hand there scem n
for believing, that the object of the Rajal of Szlengore
in exercising any control or supremacy over Perak

is defensive. He it well aware of the views of the
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Siamese against Perak, and he is equally aware that
should that State be placed in complete subjugation to
Ligor, that his own kingdom must soon fall into the
same situation. This is exactly the result which it is
our object to prevent. By the 2d. Asticle of the
Agreement made with Captain Burney, the Rajah of
Ligor engages to send no force to Perak, It must be
our business to ensure the fulfilment of this Agreement
in its true sense, and prevent any interference with
Perak, either by one or the other of its neighbours,
From Perak or Salengore little or no opposition can bo
dreaded. They look up to us as the only barrier
bjugation and d ion. The readi
with which they assent to every proposition affords
sufficient proof of their dependence on us. It is from
the Rajah of Ligor, all along the aggressor, that the
breach of Agreement is to bo expected, but it is to be
hoped that the same influence that produced the ad-
mission of onr mediation, and the same dread of our
power will, discreetly used, secure their adherence to
the terms.

against

The Removal of Rajah Hussan is an object which
it is desirable to seo carried into execution as soon as
possible. T propose therefore to dispatch an armed
vessel to remain near the mouth of the Perak river,
until that part of the agreement be carried into execu-
tion. It will be desirable however if possible to make
some arrangement. for the futuve disposal of that per-
son, where [he will be] less exposed to the temptation
to which men like him of predatory habits, are too much
disposed to yield. If wi ing to reside within the limits
of Wellesley Province, subject of course to our laws
aud regulations, 1 see no objection to the all of
land for that purpose. T annex herewith drafts of
letters intended to be addressed to the respective
Chiefs i d in the late iati

Deeming it necessary that Captain Burney
should be fully well informed as to the occurrences
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at Perak and Salengore in completion of the Agree-
ment entered into with the Rajah of Ligor, Mr.
Anderson’s report was submitted to him. His
observations with the replies of Mr. Anderson are
annexed to this Minute. It was not (as I have
already observed ) to be expected that the disputing
parties would give the same account of the same
transactions and it is not surprising, that the Gen-
tlemen employ

4, should each receive their impr

on
from those with whom they have been in communica-

tion; as far as those diffarences bear on the guestion

of the superior degroe of pene

ation or credibility

to be attached to the different. views they have taken
of the character and conduct of the parties with whom
they have been megotiating it is cnough to obscrve
that as both have well performed the duties u‘qunc«l
of them it is unnccessary to ji

the relative merits of the negotiations. l‘lu- address
of Captain Burney contains some  ohservations
on the general subject before us which it seers her
necessary to motice:  First, the general question
of the general independence of the Malay States:
Second, The relative advantages of sbandoning the
interests of the King of Quedah and making thereby
more favorable terms with the Rajah of Ligor.

In respect to the first, it has been observed by
Mr. Crawfurd, “That it is hopeless to prevail on the
“ Siamese by Treaty to yi their Supremacy over
* the Malayan States; but that if alliances offensive
“ and defensive were entered into with those States,
“ Patani excepted, which is now peopled by Siamese,
“the prudent Government of Bankok would pocket
« the affront.”

But there is a previous question here to be

d: Has the G t of Bangkok any
legitimate right to consider such an act as an affront ?
Siamese supremacy over the Malay Peninsula has been
set forth but it is a thing taken for granted and not
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proved. 1 have never scen any authority produced
for it beyond the vague tradition of events, said
to have passed 700 years ago, and in so far as the
history of every State has been traced in the Malayan
Aunnals, is directly disproved. The occasion of war
Detween the Siamese and the Malay States, in which
the latter were generally successful wo find set forth
in history ; but not one instance of acknowledged
or established dependency of the one, or supremacy
of the other, has ever been produced. The Malays
certainly were never the natural subjects of Sinm,
they ave of a different origin, descent, religion,
and language. The Malay States are weak; those
of Siam powerful; the dependenco therefore is the
result of power, mnot of right, and has operation
only in respect. to those whose proximity has enabled
the latter to turn its power to the eubjugation of
its neighbour.  The mere assertion of a claim, which
the asserter never had and never could establish,
and which the relative stato never acknowledged, is a
mere nullity and can never surely be urged as a legi-
timate bar to a connection with another State if it
suits the policy of such to contract it. 1t may be well
therefure that the negotiator should abstain entirely

from agitating a question amounting to an admission
of such unfounded rights, he ehould confine himself to
negotiation in respect to those only whose dependenco
has, however unfortunately and erroneously, been by

1 d 1 and and thoso are
Quedal, to the full extent; Perak partially only as
will now be shewn,

16 is scarcely necessary to recapitulate the history
of the former, It was the northernmost of the Malay
States and next to the Siamese Government of Ligor,
the first therefore to feel the effects of their proximity.
It is admitted at the time of the cession of the Island,
to have presented the Boongah Mas to Siam, but it is
clear that it occasionally sent the Boongah Mas to Ava
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also. 'To those who attenively read the first agreement
proposed for the cession, no doubt can be entertained
that the protection of the British Governnent against
both Ava and Siam was the object in view. It cer-
tainly was not at the time considered that the mere
presentation of the Boongah Mas placed the King in
such o state of subjection as to authorize the direct
interference, exaction and  oppression  afterwanls
practised.  Had it been o considered it must have
Followed that the King had no right to cede and that
we had no right to accept the lsland, but in reality
the presentation of the Boongah Mas, according to the
general practice of those countries, bears no such
construction of dependence as has been put upon it,
Siam sends the Boongah Mas to China. but
we have never leard of China excroisi

g any
control or interference in the internal  Govern-
ment of Siam. Mach misconstruction has arisen
as usual on such occasions, by the erroneons
application of European 1deas and terms to Indian
customs. Boongah Mas has Deen confounded with
tribute, and then followed homage, vaesalage, liege
Jordship and supremacy and all the feudal jargon of
Burope which when applied to this part of the world
has never failed to mislead the judgment and confound
the understanding. The triennial presentation of the
Boongah Mas being the only connection that subsists
Dbetween Quedab and Siam the British Government
were fully justified in supporting the King against all
further interference and encroachment.  Had the King
ceded the whole kingdom to the British Government
instead of the Island of Penang all the legitimate obli-
gation the Gov

nment incurred to Siam, would have
been the regular presentation of the Boongah Mas as
done by their predecessors. Beyond that all was the
undue aggression of power on ome part and the
unavoidable submission of weakness on the other,
against which the weaker state had o right to protect
If Ly a connection with a more powerful one, and
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another powerful state, provided it suited its own
interests, has an unquestionable right to bestow it.
That a course of policy founded on this principle
would not have been opposed by Siaw itself seems
pretty clear.

Mr. Crawfurd on this point observes, A firm
“tone and vigorous condust will be indispensably
*“ requisite. The Siamese are surrounded by weak
“ neighbours, whom they have subjugated and to whom
“ they have dictated without resistance. Thisand their
“ great ignorance ot all foreign nations, has rendered
“ them altho’ essentially weak and puerile, avaricious,
“ vain and arrogant to such an extreme as to fancy
“ themselves nothing less than the very first nation on
* the Globe. These unfounded pretensions mislead them
* g0 egregiously, that it is scarcely safe even to attempt
“to conciliate tkem, and thus the most moderate
* policy on the part of other mnations, will always
“be in danger of being construed by them into
“ timidity ond apprehension of their own power.
“ From my personal experience of this singular and
“ impracticable charvacter, it is now my firm con-
“ viction, that had the circumstances of the time
“ warranted the Penang Government in promptly
“ repelling even by Military force the threatened
“ invasion of the Island, the partial invasion of the
““ opposite coast, and the threatening and arrogant
* language of the Government of Ligore, that the
* fears of the Siamese Court would have induced it to
* have made ample atonement, to have retraced its
* steps, to have withdrawn its force from Quedah, and
“ even forborne in future from meddling in the affairs of
that state.” 1t was deemed advisable however to follow
another course, The encroachments of the Siamese
were allowed, they made endless exactions from the
King of Quedah, compelled him r.o attack Perak, and
when his were p destroyed, drove
him out of his kingdom.
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As there never occurred in the annals of India an
instance of a Native Chief suffering so severely from
British connection, so his restoration becones essen-
tial to the character and reputation of the British
Government.  After the admissions that have been
made, it is by negotiation only that that event can b
brought about. There is no doubt that so long ns we
protect the King on this Island, the Rajah of Ligore
cannot, consider himsalf secure in his new pos

sion,
and as he would run many risks to get possession of
the person of the King so would he be ready to pur-
chase from us by favorahle terms the abandonment of
his cause ; but it can only be under the conviction, re-
sulting from trial, of tl

utter hopelessness of success,
that we should ever allow ourselves to contemplate
the abandonment of his cause in pursuit of other
objects of our own
necessity of a final decision oue way or other, for I am
well aware that no confidence or cordiality can exist
between ns and our pres

I fully admit however the

ub neighbour so long as the
King of Quedah remains in his present situation.

With respect to Perak, its history and political
relations are known, and have been clearly traced since
the year of the Hejira 1021, A. D. 1612, Tt had all
along been a dependency of Malacea.  In 1619 it was
conquered with Quedah by the King of Achoen and sent
the Boongah Mas to that King: in 1642 Malacea was
taken by the Dutch with the assistance of the Achinese.
From that period Perak has been a dependency of the
Dutch at Malacea, It is presumable that th v ot
their title to it from the King of Acheen; Perak
remained subject to the Dutch, who established n
factory and stockade there for the purpose of securing
their Tin Monopoly up to the year 1795, when
Malacea was taken possession of by the British
Government. A detachment from this Island took
possession of the Fort at Perak, and expelling the
Duteh, delivered up the whole country to its own
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King. In 1804/5 a difference arose between the
Kings of Perak and Salengore respecting the boundary,
when the former took possession of the country. In
1814 we find the King of Quedah remonstrating to
this Government, and earnestly requesting advice on
the eruel order he had received to attack the King
of Perak.  The subject was referred to the considera-
tion of the Malay Translator, Col. Mclnnes.

SeeLattevithe That Gentleman's report refers principally to
17 Janry. 1814 S %
consuit. 20en,  Quedah ; his observations in vespect to Perak it is
(uite unnecessary to repeat. He seems to have drawn
his conclusions from tho mere representations of
the Quedah Vakeels, and the whole nartative is
directly contradicted by the known history of Perak.
There is not a vestige of proof that Siam ever demand-
ed, or that Perak ever gave the Boongah Mas, The in-
ferences of the Malay Translator seem to he drawn from
occurrences at least 600 years old. We have traced
the political conncetion of Perak from 1612 a period
of mors than 200 years, there is no mention of any
dependence on Siam.  So far from it, it is clearly
shewn that Perak is connected with, and dependent on
See Lotter from (|uiite another power ; the view of the Malay Translator
Supreme Govern- coems to have been adopted and communicated to tho
Supreme Government who intimate their anxiety on
the welfare and security of the King of Quedal and
their conviction of the undesirable consequences likely
to result from the extension of Siamese conquest in
the vicinity of Malacca, and authorize a Mission to
mediate all differences,

The suggestions of Col. McInues having been
adopted and acted on, we can only now express
our regret that on such mistaken premises a course
of policy should have been pursued which has
proved 50 embarmssing and  destructive of our
interests on the Malay Peninsula, In the year
1818 Peralc was subdued by Quedah, acting under
orders from Ligore, and the King, at the instiga-
tion and jion of this G agreed
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and has twice sent the Boongah Mas to Siam, and
Lere for the first time commenced the slightest mark
of dependence on Siam by that State. The Siamese
were again driven out in 1822 by the Rajah of
Salengore who restored the King of Perak by treaty,
but settled his son and Tuanko Hussein at the mouth
of the river. These are the transactions which formed
the subject of the late negotiations. It must be
evident that Siam can have no legitimate right
over Derak; we certainly stand in o certain degree
committed by the support we have so unfortunately
given since the year 1804, but it may be hoped
that if our negotintor cannot succeed in entirely
rescuing Derak from all subjection, that it will
lereafter be confined to the presentation of the
Boongah Mas only, and preclude entirely all further
interference with that state.

While on this subject it becomes necessary to
refer back to the past effects of that influence long
exercised over the Peninsula by the Dutch Government
which has now ceased, as well as the alteration likely
to be produced from the extension of Siamese means
resulting from the diminished power of their great
encmios the Burmese. The Dutch, as already ex-
plained, withdrew from Malacea in 1795, So long as
they remained, their presence on the pri
acted, must have served as a complete barrier against
Siamese encroachments on Perak and Salengove ; and
lad they remained it is probable that Quedah also
would have been saved :  There can be little doubt that
the King when pressed hard by the Siamese and dis-
appointed in aid from the English would have thrown
himself on the Datch, and there can be as little doubt
that that power would have eagerly received him, on
the terms invariably observed by them, that is
to eay, their Political Alliance would have been
afforded to save them from European interference,
their military force to protect against native powers,

ciples they
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receiving in return the exclusive privileges of the
trade of the country. The Records of this Government
sufficiently shew the dread invariably entertained
by Captain Light lest the King should throw himself
into the hands of some foreign European Power, the
French, Dutch and Danes having all held out to him
the most promising terms for a settlement in his
Country. From those dangers, the war with the
French of 1793 and with the Dutch of 1795 relieved
us, but it at the same time removed the main lmrnel
against Siamese On taking

of Malacea and of Perak, we did not continue the con-
trolling authority exercised over Salengore and Perak
by the Dutch. We followed the more liberal policy
of declaring them free and independent, but on thus
foregoing for Ives a right evidently derivabl
from conquest, the great subject of regret is, that we
afterwards, on a mistaken view of Siamese claim,
allowed one at least ( Perak ) to fall ostensibly under
the dominion of a native power equally actuated bya
spirit of commercial monopoly and far more savere,
oppressive and cruel in its conduct towards its Malay
subjects.  The Dutch nation resumed their possession
of Malacea in the year 1818, in the year 1819 they
renewed their political relations with Salengore, and
the Dutch Governor at Malacca addressed a Letter to
the King of Perak preparatory to the same arrange-
ment. The treaty with Salengore was in the mean
time, in 1820, annulled by orders from Batavia, and
the King of Salengore aguin declared free and inde-
pendent. It is probable that the Government of
Batavia had by that time made up their minds on
the abandoument and withdrawal from the Malay
Peninsula lately carried into effect by the Treaty of
March 1824.  Their object in contemplating the final
cession was no doubt the same which actuated them
on the temporary Cession in 1795, namely to lessen
the value of the acquisition by diminishing the Politi=
cal Influence of a settlement which they were soon to
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abandon. The Dutch authority is now finally with-
drawn from the Peninsula ; the great hareior that has
for centuries opposed the subjugation of the Peninsula
is permanently removed, and we are now to decide
whether in taking the placo of the Datch we are to
permit or prevent the result. The revival of Dutch
treaties and obligations involvi

wenerally the ex-

clusive monopoly of trads cannot b desivable.  On
the same principle that the temporary policy in 1795
was to be considered as liberal s we must consider the
same to beas a pernanent measure ; but we must not
not forget that the admission of their independence of
our own power will ba little henefit to them and of
infinite projudice to ourselves, if we allow another
native state posse

ing no claim whatever to reduce
them as they have done Quedal to the wretehed con-

dition of aliject slavery aud dep

We must here keep in mind that the

nese
and Burmese have been at war for more than lifty
years. All the conntry betwsen Mergui sud Junk-
ceylon has been the scane of alternate conquest.
Junkeeylon itself was plundered by the Burmess
only in 1810, The whole time, troaps and attention
of the Siumese States of Cliampoon, Phionga and
Ligor huve been directed to the one object of keep-
ing off the Burmese. From all that expence and
trouble they are relieved by our conquest of Mergui
and Tuvoy and consequent interposition between
them and their inveterate foe. All the resources
directed to the above objest are set at liberty for
other pursuits. And late events lhere huve suffi-
ciently demonstrated that the first of their objects
is the subjugation of the Malay Peninsula. The
future condition of all the States there must there-
fore entirely depend on the decision of the British
Government. I am aware that it has been urged
and may still be the opinion of some that the Malay
States being of unsettled and predatory habits and
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to piracy, it would be better that the
isula should be under the dominion of u sattled
and powerful state. 1 confess thut 1 cannot coneur
in this opinion, nor do I believe it to correspoud with
political principles generally pursued. It appears

g
th me that a fow petty states, who never could
possibly be dangerous, wlo themselves looking up
to us for protaction are not likely to harbour views
of hostility against us, would be infinitely sufor

ighl to petty cinl settlemeuts than a
powerful state able to draw u large force to a given
point whenever it suited their purpose. In respect
o commereial considerations we can draw the best
conclusions of probable results frow references to
those places where mase principles are in the
fullest operation and I have never understood that
the Sinmese at Bangkok are more liberal in their
regulations of trade, or more fair in their dealings
than the Malay Rajahs in our neighbourhood. That
the Malay States are mueh addicted to piracy iy
be trae, such probably will never be entirely eradi-
cated by local application, Lut it surely may be
hoped that the disereet exervise of that influcuce
which the British tlovernment will always possess
will tend to the progress and amelioration of the
government of those States and the introduction of
wore paacoful habits and the prevention of such
wreurrences

But against the admission of Siamese Supremacy
on this principle, there ocenrs another serions objection,
the detestation and aversion of the Malays themselves

to Siamese Government:  Altho’ thers be

ittle chanco
of their ultimate successtul resistance it left to
themselves, we may be assured they would not yield
without a struggle; and a long course of anarchys
confusion and interruption of commerce would be
the inevitable result.

By the late treaty we have given up the right of
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forming political connections on the Island of Sumatra,
we have received in return the corresponding right
over the Malay Peninsula, but I apprehend that a line
of policy which by the admission of Siamese Supremacy
would exclude us from the first purchase of its valuable
productions would ill compensate for the logs of what
we have relinguished.

It remains for the superior wisdom of those to
whom we owe obedience to decide on the fature line
of policy to be pursued: it should in my opinion
be our object to prevent the mischief becoming
irremediable before that decision arrives, and I have
written this minute not merely in further explanation
of opinions already expressed, but to caution Captain
Burney against admitting Siamese rights of supremaoy
which might debar us hereafter from taking those
States under our protection and effectually maintaining
their Independence.

( Signed ) R. FULLERTON

24th September 1
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THE PRESIDENT lays before the Board the
following Translation of a lotter to his address from
the Rajal of Ligore.

THE RAJAH of LIGORE.

TRANSLATION

of a letter from the Chow Piya of Ligore to the
Houorable Rubert Fullerton Esquire Governor of
Pulo Penang,

( After Compliments. )

May my friend ba informed that Lis reply
which besent by Koon Aksorn reached me in safety,
and I feel extremely obliged to my friend, Tam
now ubout to return and shall certainly set out on
Triduy, the 12th day of the 10th Month, The
Monsoon for proceeding to the Capital is nearly at
an end and if much delay takes place in departure it
will be attended with difficulty to got up. With
respect to Cuptain Burney’s engagement that T would
convey him to the Capital, if he has not already
sailed, let him depart without delay; I will convey
him to the Capital and will settle the business
agreenbla to the desire of the Governor General of
Bengal, und establish a perwanent friendship.

Moreover, when Koon Aksorn was formerly sent
to purchase sowething, he did not procure enough,
wherefore I send that person Nai Neem and Nai
Simie to purchuse some wmore articles to follow me
with all haste and to accompany me to the Cupital.
I rely upon iy friend that he will receive and treat
these people like his own subjects, in order that
they may return speedily and that there my be no
delay.

Farther, with respect to Mr. John Anderson's
proceeding to Perak and Salengore, I Lear he has
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returned, and T'am very anxious to be informed of
the business. 1 therefore beg my friend to send me
a letter and inform me.

With reference to the letter sent me respecting
the Criminal named Arif, 1 request my friend will
canse further search to be made for him. Mr. Cannter
stated that my friend was desivous of being informed
of the appearance of this person Avif and enquived of
Koon Alsorn, requesting o description of him to be
sent, in onder that he might be apprehended.  Avif is
is a young man, neither tall nor short, his complexion
veddish, his hair straight, his face a little marked with
small pox, and he is a relative of Che Jaya, of Pulo

Lang
of him, who will no doubt if intimidated discover hin.

Let my friend call Chie Jaya and enquire

When my friend sends me Arif, it will redound much
to the honor of my friend and be a great proof of his
friendship for me; 1 shall be exceodingly pleased.
The four lamps which Mr. Caunter delivered to Koon
Aksorn in my friend's Name, [ have received with
great pleasure.

Moreover, what 1 have now stated is done with a
pure heart and friendly disposition. The Siamese aro
not well acquainted with all the customs of the
English, and should any mistake or deviation from
their etiquette be made let not my friend be displeased.
My son, whom the great King has sent to reside at
Kedah, is a young man and Tam now about to return
leaving him behind. 1 therefore trust that a mutual
friendship will be established between my friend and
him; Kedah and Pulo Penang are very close to each
other, and a good understanding and friendly inter-
course should prevail.

I have nothing in the way of Siamese manufac~
ture that is mnovel to send my friend, and therefore
send him two Coyans of rice as a token for the pre-
sent; I will hereafter look for something of Siamese
workmanship to repay my friend's favor.
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I lave occasion for a high horse, and have
desired Koon Aksorn to endeavour to purchase [? one]
to bring with Iim. I have also sent a prow for the
purpose of embarking him on, if he can be procured.
Should Koon Aksorn be in difficulty I request my
friend to assist him, in order that he may return
speedily. Dated 10th of 10th Month in the year 1241,

(A trus Trauslation )

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt,

Pinang
27th Septr, 1823,
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SON of RAJAH of LIGORF.

TRANSLATION

of a letter from Chow Koon Nooi son of the Chow
Piyn of Ligore to Captain Henry Burney.

T am directed by the Piya of Ligore to write a
letier and say that he intends returning on Friday,
the 12th day of the 10th Month, which is positively
fixed. The Mousoon for going to the Capital
will soon be unfavorable and it will be difficult to
proceed, wherefore let my friend sail speedily
agreeably to the engagement in order that there
may be no delay in arriving there, so that the
Lusiness may be settled. and friendskip and a good
understanding promoted. Dated 10th of 10th
Month year Ze 1241,

A true Trauslation
( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
Pinang
27th Septr. 1825,
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THE FOLLOWING letter to the Rujah of
Ligore advising the departure of Captain Burney
is recorded.

To,

THE RAJAH of LIGORE.
LETTER

from the Honorable Robert Fullerton Governor of
Pulo Penang to the Chow Fiya of Ligore.

I have to acquaint my friend that Captain
Burney has departed to meet wy friend at Ligore
according to Lis ngreement and that I have given
thut officer full instructions to show my friend every
thing that Mr. Anderson has done at Pernk and
Salengore on the part of the British Government
and to explain all the arrangements which have been
made which are in conformity to my orders and
have my approval. I aw about to dispateh a Cruizer
to Perak to await the fulilment of the engagement
which has been made for the immediate removal of
Rajuh Bussan and to give full effect to the other
atrangements. I enclose for my friend's informa-
tion, copies of the engagements entered into with
the Chiefs of Perak and Sulengore.

Having now with so much trouble and expence,
adjusted the various points of difference between
my friend and the States of Perak and Salengore
and laid the foundation for the bl of
peace, order and tranquillity, I expect nothing on
the part of wy friend or any of his people will be
done to revive party differences, I shall take care
to keep Salengore and Perak firmly to their engage-
ments and must recommend my friend to keep
quiet on his part, I trusta cordial friendship will
be firmly established through the Agency of my
friend and Captain Burney at the Capital between
the Biamese and British Governments.
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1 have frequently assuved my friend of my ready
inclination and desire to cultivate friendly relations
with the Siamese, and | expect wy friend will leave
especial orders at Quedali, that nothing be done on
[the] part of any of my friends people, caleulated to
distarh the arrangement which has been made at
Perak and Salengore, or to interrupt the harmony and
good will which have now been established hetween
my friend and myself, and through us between the
Siamese and English nations.

1 wish my friend a safe and prosperous journey
and Tope he will receive Captain Bumey with kind-
ness and attention and speedily accompany him to the
Capital to confirm with the Euperor, the friendship
now o happily established between us.

(Signel) R, FULLERTON

Giovernor.
The 23nd. Septr. 1525

Translated
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To the Rajah of
Perak dated 21
Septr. 1825,
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THE FOLLOWING letter to the Rajah of Perak,
in reply to one received through Mr. Anderson ix laild
before the Board.

To,
THE RAJAH of PERAK.

LETTER
from the Honorable Robert Fullerton, Governor of

Pulo Pinang to Paduka Sii Sultan Abdullah King of
Perak,

I have duly received my friend's letter brought
by my Agent, Mr. Anderson, and that Gentleman hias
also laid befors me the engagement given to him by
my friend which is extremely satisfactory to e, ny
evineing a disposition to prolong that cordial under-
standing which has, for a length of time subsisted be-
tween the state of Perak and the Governments of Pulo
Penang and Malacca. It was a source of deep vegret
to me to observe the destruction and differencos
prevailing in my friend's country, and desirous of
prolonging and securing his independence and the full
exercise of his Sovereign rights, [ adopted such mea-
sures as appeared to me were caleulated to secure thess
important objects. The cordial reception which my
friend and his Chiefs gave to my Agent and the respect
and attention shewn to him are gratifying to me, in
as much as it proves that my proffered mediation
has been received with proper feeling. The engage-
ments now entered into betwixt my friend, the Chow
Piya of Ligore and the King of Salengore, under
the sanction of the British Government will no doubt
have the effect of putting a stop to all differences
and  misunderstandings and ing peace anl
tranquillity amongst the neighbouring states. The
conditions of the treaty with the Chow Piya of Ligore
having been carried into effect and being in progress,
through the agency of the British Government, the
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Chow Piya will return to his own country, his forces
will be entirely disbanded, and he will be prevented
from exercising any future interference whatever over
the states of Perak and Salengore. It is the object and
intention of the British Government to uplhold and
support the independence of their states and to pre-
vent all encroachment or interference on either side to
avoid disputes. L expect theretors that wy fiiend will
duly conform to lis engagement in all respeets, whereby
encouragement will be held out ta traders to resort. to
Jis country, bis own means [and] resowves will be
encreased and a cordial understanding will prevail
amongst all parties. P'eace and an unrestricted
commercial intercourse are all that is desired by the
British Government.

My Agent informed we that wy friend was
Jdesirous that a Cruizer should remain at Perak till
Rajah Hassan had finally quitted  the Country. T
have received information that the King of Salengore
has sent prows to convey away the Guns from Kwala
Bidor and 1 now send two Cruizers to expedito the
departure of Rajah Hassan, to afford protection to the
Ryots and to bring me a veport of the evacuation of
the post of Kwala Bidor by that Chief. [ request that
my friend will inform Mr. Cracroft of his Welfure.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Pinang 21st Septr. 1820,
Translated

(843 J. A
My. Transr,
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To the Rajah of

Salengoro dated

1161 ]
THE following Letter to the Rajah of Salengore
dispatchied by the H. C. C. Prince of Wales is recorded,
To
THE RAJAH of SALENGORE.

the 23rd Septn

1825,

Letter
from the Houorable Robert Fullerton, Governor of
Pulo Penang to Paduka Sri Sultan Ibrahim King of
Salengore.

L have duly received my friend's several letters
and understand their contents, Mr. Anderson has
also laid before me a translation of a lettor to his
address, in which my friend states that he had been
prevented by indisposition from sooner dispatehing
the prows destined to convey away the guns in charge
of Rajah Hassan at Kwala Bidor. I am happy to find
however that my triend is proceeding to carry into
effect in the spitit of sincerity and truth, the stipula-
tions of the engagement which he entered into with
wy Agent, Mr. Auderson. This letter will be con-
veyed to my friend by a Captain Collinson of one of
the Cruizers, who has been directed to remain at
Perak until the removal of Rajah Hassan is effected
and to bring the intelligence to that effect. 1 trust
therefore that wo delay will take place. If Rajali
Hassan desires, as Ite mentioned to Mr. Anderson, to
take up his abode within the Honorable Company’s
territory, there will be no objection to his doing so,
conforming to the rules and customs observed by the
Subjects of the Honble, Company.

My friend states that he did not seize any of
the Siamese prows, but he cannot deny that o fleet
of prows proceeded from Salengore to Perak in charge
of his Sons the Rajah Mooda and Daula. From the
statements I have received, the value of the property
on board the pralus was very considerable and I
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think it will be proper for my friend to pay 2,000
Dollars by which his independence will be entirely
secured and he will be finally freed from all in-
terference on the part of the Siamese. My friend
cannot be ignorant that but for the intervention of
the British Government he would have Leen attacked
some Months ago, and 2,000 Dollars is a small
sacrifice for a relief from such a threatened calamity.
On these grounds therefore I expect that my friend
will pay the sum proposed. I it pleases my friend
to pay the amount the Captain will receive it
in Tin or Dollars, or if he will send me a reply
engaging to pay it he may send it when wore
convenient to himself. As to my friend’s debts in
Perak these will be taken into consideration after
the removal of Rajah Hassan, the King of Perak
informed my Agent that he also had some accounts
to produce. Let not the road of friendship be
destroyed by disputes on this head. Engagements
have now been made, fixing the established boundary
between Perak and Sulengore, by which I trust all
future differences will Le obviated and I musk
caution my friend that as these engagemeuts have
been made under the sanction of the British Govern-
ment, and it is my determination to cause the same
to he enforced, and to prevent interference of the
Siamese or the sending of men to the Southward
and to secure to each Chief the free and full pos-
session of his Sovereign rights, that it will be
incumbent on my friend to abserve the conditions of
the agreement, for no deviation can be permitted.
The several provisions in that ugreement uare
satisfactory to me aud I hope may be the means of
ensuring tranquillity and cordial understanding
among all parties, promoting union and good will
betwean Salengore, Pulo Penang and Perak and
extending and encouraging the trade between the
respective States, to the mutual advantage and
peace of all.
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I shall be happy to receive accounts of my
friend's welfare.

(Sigued) R. FULLERTON
Governor.
Penang
21st Septr, 1825,
T'ranslated

(Sigued) J. ANDERSON
Mulay Travslator to Govt.
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To the RAJAH HASSAN at KWATA BIDOR.

LETTER from MR. JOHN ANDERSON to
RAJAH HASSAN at KWALA BIDOR.

1 am directed by the Honble. Robert Fullerton
Governor of Pulo Penang to inform my friend that a
letter has been received from the King of Salengore
mentioning his having sent prows to convey away the
Guns in my friend’s charge and to express an expectn-
tion that wy friend has already made the necessary
preparations for his immediate departure from the
Perak Country agreeably to the engagemen? entered
into and his own assurances to me.

With respect to wy friend’s wish to take up his
abode in the Honble. Company’s Territory, [ have
made known his wishes to the Honble. the Governor
who has been pleased to say there will be no objection
to his residing here so long as my friend pleases,
conforming however to the rules and customs of the
subjects of the Honble. Company, It will give me
satisfaction to receive my friend with kindness.

One of the Honble. Company’s Cruizers is sent to
remain at Perak and to bring a report of my friend's
final departure from Perak. Let him therefore make
no delay.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Pol. Agent to Perak and Salengors

Penang
23d. Septr. 1825.

Translated

JoAL
M: T: to Govt.
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FORT CORNWALLIS, The 1st December 1825,

READ o farther letter from the Resident of
Singapore with the following copy of a dispateh to
the Sup G ining further intel-
ligence from Siam and Java.

RESIDENT of SINGAPORE.

(Copies)
To
G. SWINTON Esqre.
Secretary to the Government
FORT WILLIAM
SIR,

The annual Junks from Siam have begun to arrive
in considerable numbers and a ship belonging to the
King arrived on the 6th instant. The latter brought
me a letter from the Prah-Klang containing nothing
but a recommendation of the Commander. The
Country throughout is iu a state of perfect tranquillity.
As well as T am able to ascertain, the Chief of Chum-
pon, the person by whose orders the inhabitants of the
province of Mergui were carvied off us prisoners, has
been severely punished by the King of Sinm, being at
present impri 1 in irons. Consid anxiety
is felt by the Court for the fate of the Sinmese seized
and detained by the Commanding Oficer at Mergui in
retaliation for the depredations committed by this
individual. O the sentiments entertained by the
Cowrt of Siam in regaid to their relation to the British
power, the on
in the anue

notive I am able to supply is contained
xed extract of a letter from the Agent of o
mercantile house at this place, now at Bangkok.

[The remainder of this letter deals with Java and
Celebes.]
[ have &e.  (Signed) J. CRAWFURD
Singapore Resident.
8th Novr. 1825.
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EXTRACT of a private letter from the Agent of a
Mercantile House at Singapore residing at Bangkok,
dated the 31st August 1825,

The Siamese intend to send an expedition to
assist the King of Ligor in taking Salengore and
Perak, The Captain of the Port asked me if those
places had any connexion with the British. 1 said
they had, and was afraid that the English would not
allow them to take either of them, at the same time
telling him that I, as a Merchant, had nothing to do
with matters of that nature, and only told so much to
him as a private friend.  He immediately went and
told the Prah-Klang, who instantly went to the Palace,
taking the Port Captain with him to inform the King.
What alteration it made in his plans 1 do not know.
Twenty of their war boats dropped down the river the
other day. Where they went, T could find no person
that would inform me. Notwithstanding Mr. Craw-
furd’s friendly assurances to this Government, they
still believe that the Euglish have a design upon their
Country and T think all the world would not convince
them to the contrary. The Prah-Klang why
does Mr. Crawfurd always inform us of the Governor

General's friendship, that is as wmuch as to say he does
not always intend to befriend us. We are daily
expecting the Commissioners Ship here from Bengal
which will 1 hope bring us good news of the final
conclusion of the War.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The Ist December 132;

THE PRESIDENT records the following Minute.

MINUTE by the PRESIDE

Adverting to the nestion of disenssion that may
avise between  Captain Burney and the Siamese
Government vespecting the Malay states it appears
advizable that he should be furnished with copies of
all Treaties made by the Duteh Government as well as
the British that may ho found on our reconds, T
propose accordingly that they be copied and trans-
witted vin Singapore by the first opportunity

(Signed ) R. FULLERTON

25th November 1823,

THE ACTING SECRETARY reports that copies
of the following treaties and papers, being all that
could be found on record, wera dluly forwarded by the
Honorable Company's Ship Orient to Singapore for
transmission to Captain Burney at Bangkok.

(Note—No list of treaties &c. appears. )



[ 168 ]

THE PRESIDENT records the following Minute,
MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

In reference to the letters from the Supreme
(iovernment of 24 and 16th September last, & few
observations seem necessary. In respect to the first [
fear we have failed in conveying sufficient explanation
of the extent of our views and intentions towanls
Perak and Salengore, and of the nature of the coun=
teraction we meant to oppose against the Siamese
encroachments on thoss States. On the perusal of
the treaty concluded between the British and the
Netherlands Government on the 24th of March 1821,
the nature of the political relations to bo maintained
Detween us and the neighbouring Malay States. which
may be said to have been for ages under the protec-
tion of the Dutch at Malacea, appeared to me one of
the first questions that would arise after our occupa-
tion of that settlement and until that question could
De decided by Superior anthority it certainly appeared
to me most desirable that the extension of Siamese
dominion towards that uarter should, if possible.
be prevented. But great as I considered the object,
it certainly did not occur to me that we should b
justified in using actual forve in defence of those
States and thereby involving ourselves in positive
hoetility with a Siamese Chief. Military operations
were not therefore in our contemplation ; all that could
be done was to counteract their progress by use of the
legitimate means at our dispogal, to refuse our consent
to their armament passing thre’ the Harbour, to point
out to them the circumstance of our having taken the
place of the Duteh st Malacea, and the danger of
fature collision in consequence between the two
Governments, and lastly in so far as existing disputes
between the Rajah of Ligor and Salengore afforded &
pretence of attack, to attempt the removal of such
pretence by offering to mediate on the adjustment of
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all-disputes. It was only on these principles that the
extension of Siamese dominion over the Peninsula
was intended to be counteracted, it is satisfactory that
the course las to this period been attended with suc-
cess and highly gratifying to find by the letters of
the 16th September that our measures have met the
entire Lation of the Sup G It
way be hoped that the exertions of Captain Burney
will prove successful in putting o final stop to the
further subjugation of the Malay Peninsula, but even
if he should fail still much is gained by keeping
things in the same state pending decision of the
Superior authorities in Enrope, and it must be our
study by opposing the same means of counteraction to
prevent the evil hecoming irremediable befova the
receipt of that decision which will relieve us of

iderable doubt and eml
portant question.

on this im-

(Signed) R, FULLERTON
30th November 1825,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 15 December 1825

RAJAH of SALENGORE

" TRANSLATION of a letter from Sultan Lbrabim

Rajah of Salengore to the Honble. Robert Fullerton
Governor of Pulo Penang.
(After Compliments.)

May my friend be informed that the letter of
which Nakoda Attak was the bearer hus reached
me in safety and 1 understand its contents. With
respect to what is mentioned in relation to pirates,
1 have never harboured them and iy friend may
examine and ascertain that they have never been
permitted to remaiu in my country. My friend may
send u Cruizer to search if he pleases, Moreover
my friend knows that from the earliest times 1 have
not harboured pirates and he directs me to check
them; but 1 cannot prevent them, wy friend only
can put a stop to these proceedings; for 1 am
ignorant of them. If there be uny person who says
1 give protection to pirates, wmy friend can send a
cruizer with the informer to look after them and T
am anxious to know who has stated that I harbour
pirates.

Farther it is mentioned in my fdend’s lotter
that he will settle with the Rajah of Perak relative
to my property and all tLis time 1 have refrained
from going to demand it, as my friend has said he
will do s0; and if he had not said he would do so, L
shall go myself. With respect to the engagement
entered into between my friend and myself 1 shall
not deviate from it and 1 only interfere with Perak
because the Rajsh has some of my property; but
if my friend will settle all I shall not interfere
farther.
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The Rajah aguin alludes to the duty on Tin at
Perak to which he has so frequently adverted and to
which he has entirely relinquished the right.

As to the Siamese, why has my friend permittad
them to proceed to Perak? My friend mentioned
that he intended to restore peace between Perak
and Salengore. The Siamese have restored the old
Laxamana.  Why has my friend not prevented
them? and if they persisted, my friend might use
force. The Siwmese have also appointed Nakoda
Malomet Rajuh Makota.

Dated 27th Rabial Akhir 1241,
(A True Translation)

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator to Govt.
Pinang
15 Deer. 1825,

ORDERED that with reference to the intel-
ligence 1in the lading I of
the foregoing letter, a letter be addressed to the
Bajinda Muda remonstrating against the occupation
of Perak by the Siumese forces, requiring their re-
call, and a strict adherence on the part of the
Siamese Government to the late Treaty concluded
at Kedul with the Rajah of Ligore and Captain
Burney Political Agent for the Honorable Company,
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¥actory FORT CORNWA LLIS The 224 December 1825,

THE following letter from the Honble. the
Governor to the Cliow Pya of Ligor and one from
the Malay Trauslator to the son of that chief, are
recorded.

To the Chow Pya To (e CHOW PYA of LIGOR.

of Ligor dated
18 Decr. 1825.

Letter
from the Honble. Robert Fullerton Esquire Goveriict
of Pulo Penang to the Chow Pya of Ligor.

When a few months ago Captain Burney cou-
cluded a treaty of peace und friendship with my
friend and I undertook to adjust the differences
which then unliappily subsisted between my friend
and the States of Peruk and Salengore, T expected
that a termination would have been put to all
farther discussion or reference on such subjects;
but T regret to observe, that no sooner had T with
much trouble and expence adjusted all the points of
difference complained of, and my friend hiad pro-
ceeded on his return to Ligore, agreeably to his
promise, than a party of several hundred Siamese and
Malays proceeded across from Kedah to Perak where
1 am informed they still remain.

1 took little notice of this for some time, us it
was asserted by some of my friend’s Agents that the
party was merely intended to accompany the Rajah
Kechil Mooda and other Perak Chiefs and that they
would return without delay to Kedah. It appeais
however, that not only the land party which pro-
ceeded to Perak, but the boats which were sent
under convoy of a eruizer from hence still remain
there and complaints lave bean made that Nakoda
Maliomed Las been promoted by Sinmese authority
to an important post in the Perak Government and
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is mow exercising powers there which are not only
extremely offensive to the Ryots of the Country
but which being sanctioned by any of my friends
officers is an infraction of the solemn engagement
between my friend and the British Government.

The treaty between my friend and Captain
Burney has been approved and ratified by the Right
Honble. the Governor General aud I must now
therefore require my friend to give immediate direc-
tions for the return of the parties from Perak and to
abstain from future interference in the Government
of the country agreeably to existing engagements
with the several states. In this I expect there will
be no delay.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
Govr.
Penang
16 Decr. 1825.

[ The letter from the Malay Translator to the
son of the Chow Pya of Ligor follows, but it contains
1o new matter.]
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 22d December 1825.

SUPTDT. of POLICE.

W. §. Cracroft Esquire.

Secretary to GGovernment.
Sir,

I have the honor to enclose for the information of
Government a Siamese and Malayan paper under the
seal or Chop of one Aluang Pea Nyoot, who 1 under-
stand is the Clom Pea Ban or Siamese Commander in
Chief at Kedah, which was found in possession of a
Jawi mau of this place nawed Yusuf or Joosoo: from
the dato of the paper it appears to be about three
months old.

This Documient seewms to bea sort of grant or
commission in the name of the Rajah of Ligor to said
Joosoo conferring on him some privileges or favour,
and requiring him to use his endeavours to bring back
the Malays of Kedahi and Lankawi to settle in that
Island.

Joosoo is a petty trader between there and Kedah,
and is T believe 4 naphew of Bappoo Cundoo, the king
of Kedah's late head man, his family has resided in
this Island many years. He was found with this paper
in his possession on board his praliu in the Krian river
three or four days ago, by some boats that went up the
viver under charge of the commander of the Blossom in
«quest of pirates, and from two or three other papers
that were found in his prahu there can be no doubt
but he is on terms of intimacy and friendship with the
notorious Kedah pirate Pakir saib, with whom he had
probably gone up the Krian to confer when met with
by our boats. He however says he went there for
trading purposes, and there is no proof to the contrary.
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He says the paper now transmitted was given to
him about three months ago by the Raja of Ligor
himself, the day he left Kedah to return to his own
Country, and that it is merely intended as a pass or
Certificata to exempt him fron: duties in Rice provided
he exports the same for the use of the inhabitants of
Lankawi and for no other place ; and also on consider-
ation that he will endeavour to get some of the good
and peaceable inhabitants who fled from Kedal and
that place to retnrn and settls there.

+J00s00 appears to have remained at Kedah some
Weeks after the Raja’s departure for Ligor, and to
have returned hers from thence about a month ago.
1 have &e.
( Nigned ) R, CAUNTER

Sup. of Police,

Police Office
21 Dec. 1825,

ORDERED, that the Commission be sent to the
Translator for translation.
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FORT WILLIAM 13th May 1825.

No. 1.

rorpept.  E. A. Blundell Esquire

No.1T.

Acting Secretary to Government
Sir,

T hiave now the Lonor to submit for tlie inform-
ation of the Honorable the (tovernor in Council, o
detailed report of my proceedings since I last left
the Presidency on the 7th of February. I propose
to frame my report in three sepurate Jetters—No. 1
the present letter will refer to my communications
with the Governor of Ligore and the officers subject
to his xuthority ; No. 2 to those with the Governor
of Sulang and the Sinmese States to the northward
of Pungah; and No. 3 will give cover to s Map and
a memorandum, containing such details respecting
geography and other subjects of general inform-
ation, as I was enabled to gather during the pro-
gress of my mission.

I arrived at Kedah on the Sth of February, and
found no difficulty in obtaining from the Baginda
Muda the promised letters of introduction to the
Pya of Salang aud Prahs of Tuccotong  and
Tuccopa. To the Pya of Chimpohun he declared
his inability to write, as neither himself nor any of
his officers is nequainted with that Governors precise
titles, and to address him without inscribing them
correctly would be bighly disrespectful. He declined
also to order two of his more intelligent Siamese
servants to accompany me, on the plea of his having
too few Siamese at Kedah to spare a single man,
but the attendants whom he selected, Malays, I
deemed it prudent to accept, as I believed, and I
afterwards found I was right in so believing, that
1 should be able to make even their preseace useful
at any place which T might visit in the Kingdom of
Kedal.
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1 was told of Khoon Aksorn’s having possed
Kedah the day before my arrival, and as he was a
Messenger proceeding directly from the Chow Pya of
Ligore, the Baginda Muda observed, that the Honor-
able the Gove lad better i his wishes
with respect to the mutual surrender of criminals
between Kedah and Penang to Khoon Aksorn, and
that in fact he, the Baginda Muda, had now no power
to conclude any arrangement for this purpose with mo.
[ learnt also that my Chinese Agent, Achong, had
been forwarded to Ligore on the 30th of January.

The Baginda Muda and his officers appeared to
place much more confidence in me during this visit
than what they had previously done, and even the
surly Chiom Pya Ban was more civil. 1 was solicited
to Jand some of my Escort and to exercise the Sepoy's
before the young Chief ; and he fatigued me in making
me describe to him the forms of salutation and of
receiving and paying visits in England. At my de-
parture alzo, he engaged me to accompany him on an
excursion up  Elephant Mount whenever I again
visted Kedal,

As usual. however, 1 lad to persuade him to
destroy the fiest deaft of his proposed reply to the
letter from the Hounorable the Governor, and to
substitute something more precise and intelligent.
He as well us Chiom Pya Bau charged the King of
Kedah with constantly sending spies and emissaries
into the Kedah territories, in order to sow suspicions
into the minds of the Siamese, and to incite the Malay
inhabitants to revolt, and they smiled incredulously at
that the King had been earnestly
cautioned by our Government against such pro-
ceedings. 1 found they firmly believed that many of
the piratical incursions made by the Kings relatives
and adherents, are made with our privity and fu!l con-
currence, and they fairly told me that as long as the
King of Kedah inued at Penang, no confid or

niy assural
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good understanding could subsist between the English
and Siamese. 1 was subsequently told by the Malayan
writer to Chiom Pya Ban, that among themselves, tha
Siamese are in the habit of saying that they can never
live at Kedah in security so long as the English are
allowed to ocenpy Penang. But 1 discovered this
writer to be secretly in the interest of the King of
Kedah, and 1 suspect, that he had only heard the same
observation as that which the Baginda Muda and the
Chiom had made to me, but that he repeated it in the

manner most likely to injure my intercourse with the
Siamese.

There was a report of Kedah that a British Agent
had arvived at Bangkok, having crossed the Country
from the Western Sea, that he had presented o
thousand stand of muskets to the King of Siam—that
His Majesty had resolved upon co-operating with the
British Forces against Ava, and that he had observed
several officers of high rank and 70,000 men to be held
in realiness to march against the Burmese in the
direction of Cheung-mai; and also the Chow Pya of
Ligore to open friendly communications with the
Honorable the Governor of Penang, for which purpose
Khoon Akeorn had been deputed. On questioning
the Baginda Muda regarding this intelligence, he ac-
knowledged that such a report had reached Kedali, but
professed his inability to tell me how far it was true,
and he declared, that the objects of Khoon Aksorn’s
visit to Penang were two-fold—first, to offer the loan of
the boats and vessels for which Captain Low had applied;
and secondly, to purchase some cloths and other articles
for his father to take to Bangkok for the faneral of the
late King of Siam. 1 learnt, however, privately, just
before leaving Kedah, and found at Pungah that I had
in part learnt correctly, that the Court of Siam being
incredulous on the subject of our successes against
Ava, and distrustful of the accounts which Mr. Craw-
furd from Singapore and other British officers had
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transmitted, had directed the Chow Pya of Ligore to

open ications with the H ble the Gover:
and endeavour by thnb means to obtain correct and
full intelli, i) and that

the Chow Pya had nccordmgl) dcpubcd Khoon Aksorn
to Penang, with instructions to pretend to purchase
cloths, and to discuss with the Honorable the Governor
propositions for restoring the King of Kedah, and
even to offer a loan of boats, at the same time that he
exerted himself to learn and ascertain as much as
he possibly could regarding the nature and progress of
the war.

It was my original intention and desire, on
leaving Penang to proceed from Kedah and visit
Mergui and Rinnong, to ascertain the precise state of
the war, and the nature of the Siamese claims and
authority in that quarter before I met the Governor of
Ligore, but apprehensive that I might be delayed to
the northward long after Achong reached Trang, and
helieving that this Government considered my inter-
with the Chow Pya as the principal object of my
Mission, | determined upon confining myself to
collecting and communicating intelligence between
Kedah aid Pangah during the interval of Achong's
absence,

From Kedah we proceeded towards the Purlis
district. Having heard that the Chiom or Luang
liere, Rat-Mintha, is a very intelligent person and a
near relative of the Pya ot Chaiya, | ascended on the
Ith February thirteen miles up the Purlis River to
Kangar, where 1 found fifteen large boats equipping,
and about three hundred inhabitants, forty Siamese
only, twenty Chinese, and from two to three hundred
Malays. The Chiom had unfortunately been sum-
moned to Kedah the day before, but I was received by
those in charge of the place with civility, and allowed
to walk about and converse indiscriminately with the
Inhabi The Chiom's cl had been justly
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represented to me. The Malays here appeared happy
and contented.  Vaddy was extremely cheap and
allowed to bs freely exported—and several traders
from Penang were loading their little boats with ev

i
semblance of confidence.

L met here Sing-chon, a Chinese servant belong-
ing to the Pya of Singora who. was returning to hic
master from Venang with a largs supply of Europe
and Indian cloths destined for the King of Simn’s
funeral.  He assured me, that his master had not the
slightest idea or chanee of
charge of Kedah, He further told me, that he hal

ng appointed to the

been allowed to visit Penang, because his business

related to the King of $
watehed by the followers of the Chief of Ligore.

am, but that lie was closely

On my return from Kangar, I stopped and landed
at Kayang, o small village about five miles from
the mouth of the Purlis River, containing ten Siamese
under a Mora, Prab. ten or twelve Chinese, and from
fifty to sixty Malays. 1 found the principal China-
man here named Hingoo, is an agent of Che Toah at
Penang. who has farmed the excl
opium, Salt and Cotton Wool in this District.

ve state® of

We next proceeded towards the Sittool District,
and on the 18th of Febraary ascended through the
Qualla Settool tacah, or Sungey Membang Legarce,

to Membang Segara. a small village about ten miles
from the sea. containing fifteen or twenty Malays only
ander an old Malay named Tuankes Long. He told
e, that & Morn, Pullusn, with ten Siamese are living
some miles further in the interior, where many Chinese
are settled cultivating paddy, that Membang Segara is
the limit of the Baginda Muda’s authority, and under

the orders of the Chiow Pyas two eldest sons residing
a few miles further to the northward, up the Meeraket
River; and that the greater portion of the Malayan
inhabitants of this District has fled to Penang. The
River Membang Segara is shallow and not navigable
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for even a canos excepting when the tide enters.
There could be no large boats built here, but I learnt
here and again at Lungu, that the two young chiefs
of Meerakit are equipping at that place from twenty
to thirty boats.

On questioning the inhabi of Memb:
Segara as to the cause and nature of the insurrection
which occurred in this District two years ago, they
told me that the whole originated in some emissaries,
they believe from Penang, having spread a report that
that the Siamese were about to transport all the wives
and children of the Malays to Ligore, and that this
report, which was entirely false, had led to the destruc-
tion of many lives, and to the emigration of nearly two
thousand people.  They further stated that much
mischief had been done, and was continuing to be done
by such cmissaries, who would not allow Malays to
live peaceably under the Siamese Government.

The people at Membang Segara, and at every
place to the north of it wherever I visited, I found
speaking Siamese among themselves, as if it wero their
vernacular tongue.

From Membang Segara, we proceeded towards the
Meerakit river, and anchored near Pulo Eepch, an
Island described as ing a very abundant tripang
fishery around it; we attempted on the 20th of
February to ascend the Meerakit river, but the extreme
shallowness of the bar at its mouth shewed us that our

schooner had no chance of entering the river excepting
on the top of high water.*

We next proceeded towards the Lungu District
and landed on the 2lst February at Lungu, a small
village, situate about a quarter of a mile up a small
stream, and containing about thirty Chinese, and from
fifty to sixty Malays and orang Laut, under u Chinese
captain named Ceet. This river, Isaw immediately,
was quite unfit for building or equipping boats in, and
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of Kedah hi
self has just
confirmed to
me what | had
heard as to
Sungey Oopeh
being his boun-
dary.
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on questioning the Chinese captain, I learnt that this
stream is called Qualla Lungu muda, and that a few
miles more to the northward there is another called
Sungey Beebera, and sometimes Qualla Lungu tooah,
where the Sinmese are building two or three boats, but,
that even that stream is too small to admit of the con-
struction of large vessels. He further told me, what 1
hiad previously heard, that a large body of the followers
of the Pya of Singora live several milos up the Rubonyg
Boya, a large river between the Meerakit and Lungu,
but that T could not communicate with any of them,
as the month of the river is occupied by a party of
Ligorians,

1 learnt here, and the information was subsequent-
Iy confirmed, that the two sons of the Chow Pya named
Phoh Klom and Phoh Pho, are placed at Meerakit for
the purpose of superintending the preservation of the
Edible Birds’ neste, and the collection of a tithe on all
tripang canght, in which two valuable articles of com-
merce the shores and rocky isles between Purlis and
Pak-lao abound, and that the authority of these young
Chiefs extends to Sungey Oopib, which is a small
stream just above the viver Te-luwas or Talavase, and
which was the last established boundary between the
King and the Pya of Merdelongs possessions.

1 delivered a complimentary letter and some pre=
sents to the Chinese captain to be torwarded to the
young Chiefs at Meerakit, which he said a messenger
from Lungu could reach in o few hours,

From Lungu, we proceeded towards the river
Tiang. We had previously ascertained that Forrests’
Telaga, Telaga Toojoo, Mannevillete’s Pundaen, and
Horsburgh's Talavass ( Te-luwas ) as well as Pulo
Telibon and several other places on the coast between
Lungu and Pak-lao, Pak-lao, had been deserted ever
since the occupation of Junkeeylon by the Burmese in
1810, and that they are now the haunts of Pirates, or
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ocgasionally of Orang Laut when engaged in fishing
for tripang, at Tanjong Sittar, a small island lying in
a deep bay to the north at Teluwas, which bay is not
noticed in any chart that wo had, and at the river
Plean near Trang, we learnt that parties of the fol-
lowers of the Pya of Merdelong or Khontelon are
vesiding.  But I was assnred that the inhabitants at
these two places, as well as their master ave entirely
nnder the orders of the Chow-Pya, and 1 did not
therefore attempt to communicate with them,

On the passage to the River Trang, we were par-
tionlarly strack with the strange appearance of the
rocks and isles named by Forrest “ Rough Saddle,”
“Square,” “Cleft " and “Two Canisters,” and we
found at the first mentioned isle, called by the Malays
Pulo Butt tra, and at another near it called Palo Laang,
two Prows from Settool posted to guard the edible
Birds' nests.

We anchored on the 24th February to the East of
Pulo Telibon on the channel between that island and
the wain, and on the following day, we ascended the
Trang river.  About six miles from the mouth of the
River, we were for the first time stopped and desired
to anchor, by a mese officer in charge of a small post
situated in the midst of jungle. As 1 understood from
my native pilots that Junsoo was only a furlong higher
up the river, and as my followers required some re-
reshments, which could not be procured at this
Siamese fort, 1 requested the officer to allow the
~chooner to proceed to Junsoo, but he objected, and we
anchored.  After addressing a letter however, to the
Chiom or Luang na-vong che-lattee in charge of Khan-
taunee, reporting my arrival, and giving it to the
Siamese officer here to forward, I signified my intention
of proceeding to Junsoo, and waiting there for the
Cliom’s reply. The officer opposed my intention, but
«uieting him a little by promising not to attempt
to advance any farther than Junsoo until we received
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the Chiom’s reply, we passed on to that village, which
we found to be a poor looking place, containing about
thirty Chinese, twenty Chuliahs, and from fifty to sixty
Malays only.

At 10 A. M. on the following day, the bearer
of wy letter returned with a message from the Chiom
at Khantanee, stating, that he would come down and
meet [me] at Junsoo. [ was now convinced that
it was the object of these Siamese, to prevent my
seeing Khantannee, and had the wind and tide at
the time been favorable, I should have immediately
advanced towards that place under o pretext that
T could mot think of giving the Chiom so much
trouble as to come down to meet me. He arrived how-
ever at one o'Clock, just as the tide began to make,
and was accompanied by his writer and the second in
rank at Khantannee, an officer called nai-Belat,

On questioning them respecting Achong, they
declared that nothing had been heard of him, aud the
nai Belat, who I found had arrived from Legore but
two days before, assured me that Achong had not
arrived there previous to his departure. This nai
Belat proved himself & genuine Siamese. He pre-
tended to have as yet heard a vague rumour only of
the Burmese war, although I knew he had seen
Captain Low last year. He would not deny the cor-
rectness of my observation, that, Achong having left
Kedah twenty eight days ago, ought to have reached
Legorn before he quitted it, and in fact he “wonld not
appear to be better instructed than myself” even in
the “things of his own Country” although 1 wasa
stranger.

Anxious to ascertain the exact number of Boats
at Kl ding which 1 had

‘I 'l Ly i
heard the most conflicti unts, 1 d ined now
that the tide had turned, upon attempting to proceed
to that town. I affected therefore to be dissatisfied
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with the conversation of the Luang, and to complain
to him against a Chuliah, who had been extremely im-
pertinent to us at Junsoo, and declaring [my] intention
of proceeding to Khantannee, for the purpose of dis-
patching one of my own followers across the Country
to Ligore. I invited the Luang to accompany me, but
he vehemently opposed my proceeding further, and even
observed, that if 1 went to Khantanee, T should perhaps
be prevented from leaving it again. To this threat
1 laughingly replied, through my interpreters, that
T should be very happy to be detained by him as 1
was anxious to take up my residence among the Siamese
and then weighed anchor and stood up the river. The
Luang dispatched the nai Belat to follow me, and this
officer at length besought me in such earnest and
abject terms not to proceed, stating that the Luang
and himself would be most severely punished by the
Chow Pya of Ligore the moment he heard of an
English vessel having ascended to Khantannee, that
1 was induced to stop, from a reflexion that it would
be cruel towards these men to proceed, and impolitic,
in the present stage of my negotiations, to persist in
doing what I was now satisfied the Chow Pya of
Ligore was most auxious to prevent. Shortly after T
anchored, the Luang, who also now appeared to have
Dbeen following us, came up; and both he and the nai
Belat appeared most grateful at my forbearance. I
took care to let them understand that I had stopped
because T was now convinced that their Master did not
wish me to sce Khantannee, and becanse I was too
desitons of securing his friendship to give offenco
upon such a trivial point.

1 then explained to these officers the necessity
which existed for my seeing their master as soon as
possible, and delivered to them tho second lette- to
his address from the Honorable the Governor, toges her
with a short one from myself. They declared, that
answers to these letters might be expect~! fom
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Ligore in fifteen days. 1 endeavoured to point out
the inaccuracy of their assertion and appealed to
several of my followers, who had assured me, and
who now assured them, that they had repeatedly
gone from Khantannee to Ligore in the present season
in three days, but these officers still maintained, that
no answer could be expected in less than fifteen days.
From this, as well as from Nai Belal's previous con-
versation, 1 was fully persuaded, that the nai Belat
inust have been sent down from Ligore to prepare the
Luang here against my arrival, and that the Chow I'ya
had no intention of meoting me at Khantannce,
desiring some delay, perhaps until the return of Khoon
Aksorn from Penang, before he determined the time
for seeing me.

These officers however and 1 parted on the most
friendly terms, and they readily gave me a Pilot to
navigate the Schooner down the river. I'rom this
Pilot, who had been the Datoo or Chief of Pulo
Tebbon, and who was a remarkably intelligent Malay,
and an old acquaintance of one of my followers, I
learnt that the Chow Pya of Ligore has received the
most unfavorable reports regarding the views of this
Government, and, that he fally believes it is meditat—
ing an attack against him at Ligore, and that [with]
this view Captain Low had been sent last year to
collect routes across the Country. 1 had heard-some
of these tales on my first visit to Kedah, and it was
from them principally that 1 received the impression,
which I submitted to Government in my first report
of the 28th January, namely, ‘1 am by no means
“ sanguine of being now allowed to pass across the
“ Country to Ligore.” The Datoo also gave me reason
to believe, that the objects of my mission have been in
the same manner most grossly misrepresented to the
Siamese. From him, as well as from some of the
inhabitants of Junsoo, I gathered, that there are a%
Khantannee thirty new boats building, and about ono
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hundred old ones of all sizes, and two brigs laid up,
most of them being too old and decayed to be again
used,

From Pulo Tebbon, we proceeded on the 27 of
February towards Pungah, off which we anchored on
the 4th of March. To the northward of Trang, the
Chow Pya of Ligore's authority, as T heretofore reported,
extends to Pak-lao, a river and small town about eight
miles to the north east of the Pungah viver. Many
of the places formerly occupied between Trang and
TPak-lao, have also been deserted since the invasion of
Junkeeylon by the Burmese ; Pulo Loutar-Comb, where
there are some medicinal springs, Tak-Ding-den and
Nak Kraat are now without inhabitants, without
even orang Lant.  Cassai contains a small population,

ploged in cultivating paddy, coll tripang
from the orang Laut, and catching Elephants, in
which animals the country to the north of Trang
is reputed to abound, Vesselsfrom the coast of Co-
romandel occasionally visit Caseai, as well as the river
Trang for these animals. Ghuby is o small village
to the south of Cassai, near a mountain whose peak
appears from four to five thousand feet high, and its
inhebitants are employed in the same manneras at
Cassai. At Pak-lao some tew ( sic) collected ; and
here by orders from Siam, the Chiefs and people from
Salang and Pungah are allowed to keep their elephants
and to pass freely towards or from Chaiya on the Gulf
of Siam. There is a direct route from Pungah to
Chaiya, but as it passes over the high mountains which
enclose the valley of Pungal, it is by no means so
«<onvenient or so expeditious as the route from Paklao,
to which the people from Pungah can come in boats
within four hours. Between Pungah and Pak-lao are
a small riverand town named Bosin, subject to the
Pya of Salang, and its inhabitants are engaged in
cultivating paddy.

While returning to Trang foom Pungah on the
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21st ultimo, agreeably to the arrangement which 1 had
previously concerted with the Chiom of Khantannee, I
received o letter from Penang announcing the in-
telligence that Achong had failed to persuade the
Chow Pya of Ligoro to grant me an immediate inter-
view, and I resolved therefore upon returning to the
Presidency, ns soon as possible without tonching at
Trang.

Since my return 1 have seen Achong, and 1 learn
from him, that on his first orrival at Ligore.
the Chow Pya's suspicions were roused against hin.
That when he succeeded in removing them, the Chow
Pya determined on coming down to Kedah in thirty
or forty days to give me an audienee there in prefer-
ence to Trang, which place he said would be too far
from the Honorable the Governor, to whom it might
be necessary to make referenca—that the Chiet accord-
ingly prepared two lettors, stating his_intention, the
one addressed to the Honorable the Governor from
himself, and the other to me from his favorite son,
whom I had seen at Quedah in 1822, and between
whom and me, the Chow Pya told Achong, there exists
much friendly regard—and that he delivered these

letters to Achong and desired him to return to Pennng
via Kedah, notwithstanding Achong's pressing en-
treaty to be allowed to go down and meet me at Trang.

Achong learnt whilst at Ligore, that much doubt

and suspicion exist at Bangkol vespecting our pro-
ceedings against tho Burmese, and that an Army is
assembling in Siam. He ascertained also, that there
« Achong furthor is nct o syllable of truth in the report which was
";:‘::""_":::." brought here of the rising influenco of the Fya of
gore assured him Singora, and that the Chow Pya of Ligore is determined
pon ki lang at the first favorable

to convey me to ur N
Bangkok.  opportunity.®

1 consider Achong’s mission to to have partially
succeeded in two points only. First, he has persuaded
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the Chow Pya to agree to come and give me an
interview at Kedah ; and secondly he has established
beyond further dispute the question as to the superior
influence of this Chief to that of the Pya of Singora.
I am forced to own however, that Achong has dis-
appointed me, inasmuch as he allowed the Chow Pya.
of Ligore, to betray him to show to that Chiefa journal
of his journey from Kedah to Ligore, which he had
kept, and the very sight of which tended to confirm all
the Chow Pya’s suspicions as to our desire of procuring
routes throngh his territories. After this act of im-
prudence on the part of Achong, I am by no means
surprised, that the Chow Pya would neither allow him
to go down to Trang, nor his officers permit me to
visit Khantannee,

4 March from 1 Liave now the honor to acknowledge the receipt
tr-Secy. Ibbet of the dispatches enumerated in the wmargin. The
" -..-.n. #rom first and second were transmitted for my information,
M Secy. €4 and to the last mentioned only, I have to solicit per-

17 March from  Thission to submit a reply.
Mr. Actg. Secy.

Blundell. The Honorable the Governor in Council has
(The tetters here inferred from a perusal of the Letter addressed by the
.:"""I:':."::: Chow Pya of Ligore to the Honorable the Governor,
mot appear to that that Chief has no intention of granting me o
""':;::::'ﬁ' personal interview, but the enclosed translation of the

boen alreagy letter addressed to me at the same time by the young
transmitted.) and favorite son at Ligore will shew that the Chow
Pya actually proposes to meet mo at Kedah, and I own

T consider the tenor of this letter as extremely friendly,

and the circumstance of the Chow Pya having desired

his son to write it, is viewed by me as a certain proof

of his good will towards me. I do not presume to

d. d the Malayan language so th ghly as

the Translator to Government but I am aware of what

I think he has overlooked, that the letter to the

Honorable the Governor is written in a language

which the Chow Pya of Ligore cannot read, and that

the Interpreter and Malay Writers employed by the
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Siamese are of the most abject description, & mixed
breed between a Siamese and Malay, most of whom
write a bad hand, and compose most incorrectly in the
Malayan tongue. It is inconceivable the trouble and
vexation which the Malay writer to the Baginda Muda
at Kedah gave me, before 1 could make him use intel-
ligitle and precise language in the veplies to the
letters from the Honorable the Governor. Precision
in language is above all things avoided by such
writers who expect the loss of their heads will
follow any phrase which may commit their master
moro than he desires.  The bad handwriting of such a.
writer should not therefore, 1 submit, be considered
as “disrespectful,” a charge the justice of which
Achong vehemently denies, and one which, under
existing circumstances, would be the last, 1 should
think, that the Chow Pya would e disposed to incur.
He possesses too much cunning not to see that heing
isvesy 1 to the H ble the G would
be the most impolitic thing he could do, while his
plans against Salangore are in progress.

T do not propose to set myself up as an apologist
for the Chow Pya of Ligore, who, 1 believe, possesses
much ambition and all the little arts, and cunning
with which that passion is usually conneated in the
breasts of Native Princes. It must however have
been observed by the Honorable the Governor, as
much as by myself, that a very strong prejudice pre-
vails against that Chief, and that not only the most
unfavorable construction is put upon every thing he
ays and does, but the most wild and extravagant tales
are hourly brought and circulated liere in view to
keep alive and aggravate our prejudice against him.
1 have every reason to know, that the same wild and
mischievous tales are taken to him against this
(iovernment, and that he at the present moment firmly
believes that a force is ready at this scttlement
to be pushed across the country to Ligore the
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moment we have obtained corvect routes. Can it
then be matter for surpriss that he and all his followers
view us with the utmost jealousy and suspicion, or
that he fears to receive our Envoys or accept our
proffered kindness ?

Nothing proved to me mors forcibly that we had
been most grossly misrepresented to the Ligoreans than
the conduct of the Chiefs and of the wholo of the com-
mon people at Pungah, who, though resembling the
Ligoreans in language, features and dress, appeared in
their conduct towards us to be of an entirely different
race. This was an observation made by all who ac-
cumpanied me to Pungah,

T have just been informed by Mr. Maingy that
the return and reports of my Malay followers have
proved of the greatest service in quicting the fears of
the inhabitants of Province Wellesley, all of whom
fully credited, notwithstanding his assertions, a report
lately brought of the Siamese being prepared to make
an immediate attack upon that Province and many of
whom had packed up their property in order to he
veady to fly to Penang at the fiest alavm, After know-
ing this, and also that it was believed by many Gentle-
men here last vear, that the Chief of Ligore had
ordered Captain Low to ba poisoned, and now lately,
that he had cut mo off, we caonot wonder that similar
idle tales make an impression at Ligor and Kedah.

I believe that the Chow Pya of Ligore is sincere
in his intention of coming down to Kedah, and that
he will admit me toa personal interview, at which
unless my views and intentions be already  grievously
misrepresented to him, I still hope to be able to re-
move much of the distrust and suspicion with which
he has been filled. I do not imagine that he is coming
down merely to superintend the prosecution of
hostilities against Salengore, because I believe that
the number of boats which he is equipping, and hag
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ready for service, i8 much exaggerated, and that it isin.
sufficient to enable him to undertake the attack during
the present favourable north east monsoon, His pro-
posing such a delay as thirty or forty days, is imputed
to his desire of gaining time until his preparations
are completed, but the fact is, that he has no time to
gpare as the South west monsoon is fast approaching,
and the season for his operations is already nearly
past. 1 am inclined to ascribe the delay to his desire
of fivst receiving Khoon Aksorn’s report from l'enang.
and to a necessity which, 1 learnt at Pungah, existed
for him, as well as for every other Siamese Giovernor,
to be at his station on the first day of the present
moon, when the oath of allegionce to the King of Siaw
was taken by himself and all his officers. The Prahs
of Tuccotong and Tuccopa were obliged to hurry away
from Pungah before my departure, in order to reach
their respective Capitals in time to perform this cere=
money in the manner prescribed by the lavs of Siam.

1 fear the time is passed when we might have
rendered the Chow Pya instrumental without much
difficulty in the accomplishment of the views of this
Government with respect to Keda, not only becauso
lis fears and suspicions have been much excited
against ug, but because hiag now made arrangements
for availing himself of the whole resources of that
kingdom, and is therefore deeply interested against
its restoration to our old ally. The son at Kedah is
appropriating for his father the principal staples.
namely—Paddy, Timber and Tin to the southward of
Settool, while the sons at Meerakit are appropriating
the staples to the northward, Birds’ nests, Tripang.
and Timber for Boat Building. The Chow Pyo, as
1 have betore mentioned, levies o tithe on all tripang
cought off the Kedah shores, and monopolizes the
whole of the Edible Birds’ nests from the different
islands in this neighbourhood, the produce of both
of which sources of revenue Was estimated by Mr.
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James Seott, at 16,000 Dollars per annum.  The paddy
and  timber, the produce of Kedal, are retained for
the most part for the use of the Ligoreans themselves,
but I believe the whole of the tripang and Birds
nests gathered, finds its way to Penaug. OF late
years also our Malay inhabitants from the opposite
shore, as well as from this Island, have been fitting out.
boats and making long voyages, as far even s the
Rinnong River, for the purpose of gathering birds’
nests, and in these adventures, which are extremely
hazardous and dangerous, they are accused of plun-
dering such rocky islets of the Kedah territories as
they find unprotected by Siamese boats.

The Pya of Salang however assured me, that the
Chow P'ya possesses great influence at Bangkok through
is nepliew, the present Wang-na, or Heir apparent,
to whom he is said to transmit a portion of the profits
avising from his occupation of Kedal. It is this
intelligence that inducss me earnestly to beg the
Honorable the Governor in Council not to determine

npon discontinuing all intercourse with the Chow Pya,
but rather keep him in good humour and occupied
until the other important objects which we require
from the Siamese aro attained at Bangkok although T
am now fully satisfied that this Chief possesses no
power to conclude a treaty with vs, and that he is in
truth a subordi officer, bound implicitly to follow
the dictates of his superiors at Siam, and by no means
a Raja or Sovereign as he has been styled by us, yet
L was told at Pungah, and I believe it, that we shall
be able to make no impression in our negotiations at.
Siaw, but through the intervention of the Siameso
G in this neighbourhood, on whose reports
only the Court of Bangkok will act. I conceive
therefore it will be most impolitic to court the opposi-
tion of the Chow Pya against the exertions of any
agent who may be deputed to Siam,
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1t is deeply to be regretted, that on the first
arrival of the Ligorean forces at Kedah, a small detach-
ment, and a very emall one would have been sufficient,
had not heen sent there to drive them ont again, Tam
convinced that such a measure would not have brought
on any serious dispnte with Siam, and the I'ya of
Salang nssured me, that at Banglok, very littlo
interest is felt regarding Kedah, and that it was not
until the Chow Pya kad for many years been reporting
the disaffection of the King of Kedah that he at length
recoived o permission simply *to do as Le pleased
against that monarch.”

My superiors have decided that the restoration of

the
British interests, and it becomes me only to submit

o of Kedahi will be most advantageous Lo

such suggestions as may have oceurred to me respect=
ing the most prompt and efficient mode of accomplish-
ing that object. 1 found at Pungah the Chief and his
Ministers very kindly disposed towards the King of
Kedah, to whose exertions and particularly to the
exertions of whose late unfortunate Bindahar, they
principally ascribe the repulse of the Burmese from
Salang in 1810, The boats sent by the King on that
socasion were by far the most efficient and formidable
to the Burmese, and the Bindahara is reported to have
possessed great <kill and precision in divecting canuon,
and to have himself fired the shot which killed the
Chief of Mergni. Besides this cause for feeling well
disposed towanls the King of Kedah, the Pya of Salang
I found is not on most cordial terms with the Chow
Pya of Ligore, some coolness and jealousy having been
created by the circumstance of a great many adherents
of the latter having been received and protected
at Bengal.

The ouly person whom it will be necessary te
conciliate at Bangkok is the wang-na, and through the
friendly aid of the Pya of Salang, 1 chould think
it wilt not be difficult to prevail on that personage to
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agree to divide with his uncle some annual compensa~
tion in money from the King of Kedah, and to agres
also to obtain his uncle's consent to such a scheme by
means of an imperial order or promise of other advan-
tages fiom the King of Siam. The British Govern-
ment may be guarantee for the regular payment of
this compensation in the manner proposed by the
late Honorable Governor, who, however fixed an an-
nual sum of only 2,000 Dollars to be paid by the King
of Kedah to Siam in lieu of all other claims. Dut
it appears that Siam had for many years, even before
our occupation of Penang, (See Mr. James Scott’s
Reports upon Junkeeylon) been deriving o direct
revenue in cash of 6,000 Dollars per annum from the
King of Kedal on acconnt of the birds' nests in the
islands contignous to his kingdom. I was toldat

Pungah, that this revenue or rent to Siam was paid
throngh the Chow Pya of Ligore, but the King of
Kedah assures me, that an officer from Bangkok
annually came down to demand and receive the 6,000
Dollars.

With respect to the projected attack upon
Salangore, I have great hopes that the Chow Pya's pre-
parations will not be completed in time to undertake
that measure until the next north east monsoon. If
however he should be enabled to attempt it immediately,
the Dest and most easy mode of proventing it, is by
this Government at once prohibiting him, and declar=
ing its intention of protecting Salangore. 1 believe
such a decl may be 1 to the Chow
Pya in manner calculated not only to stop him,
hut to prevent an actual breach between us.  Another
certainly less hazardous line, but one that may
ultimately perhaps prove more embarrassing, conld
be adopted, by our requesting the Chow Pya to
suspend his operations against Salangore until we had
satisfied ourselves, at Banglkol, that he possesses proper
authority from that Court to undertake such hostilities.
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To conclude, I am inclined to believe from all T
Tiave seen and heard, that it will be much easier to
obtain from Siam the entire restoration of the Ki
Kedal, than any such cession of territory to ourselves
as is proposed in the 7th article of Mr. Crawfurd’s
++ notes towards a treaty with the Sinmese, ” and that
the British Government will not succeed in persuml-
ing the Court of Siam to consent by regular treaty to
the future independence of the Malayan States, but
that if it be assumed at once by us, we ehall be allowed

to act npon that principle without any serious denur.
L an convinced Loubere is quite correct in stating
that the Sinmese © engage thensselves in writing as
“ ittle as they ean,  They will rather receive you into
« a Port, or into n Castle than they will agree with you
« Ly treaty in ample form sealed by theiv Barcalon. ”

1 have &e.
(Signed) H. BURNEY, Captn.
1Pl Agent to the Siamese States.
Vrince of Wales [sland
The 20, April 1525,
Trne Copy
el) . A. BLUNDELL.

Acty
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FORT WILLIAM 18th May 1825.

No. 2.
To E. A. BLUNDELL Esqre.
Acting Secretary to Government.
Sir,

I havo the honor in this letter to detail, for the
infor of the Hi ble the G in Council,
my communication, with the Pya of Salang, and the
Chiefs on the Isthmus of Kraw, the result of which
communications I have already reported in my letter
under date the 24th ultimo.

Before leaving the Presidency on the last occasion,
T had formed an sequaintance with Luang Took-Krat,
an officer from Tuccopa, who had come here on some
commercial business, and who engaged to prepare not
only his master, the Prah of Tuccopa, but the Pya of
Salang, to whom he was first going, for a visit from
me. When therefore, on the 4th of March, [ sent
my native Interpreters on shore at Pungah to report
my arrival, the Pya of Salang remarked, that he had
been expecting me for several days, and had prepared
a House for my reception, and immediately ordered
some pilots to return with my Interpreters to the
Jessy, and navigate the schooner up to Pungah.

On the morning of the 6th we reached ungali,
and took possession of the House prepared for our
reception.  Shortly after a native of the Coast of
Coromandel, whose name is Nakoda Bapoo, but who
possesses the title of Luang Siri Mabarajah Lam, and
the office, under the seal of the King of Siam, of
Dubash and Interpreter at Pungah called upon me and
made known that the Pya had desired him to attend
to all my wishes, and to acquaint me, that I should be
received in state at 11 o'clock. At the hour ap-
pointed, Iy ded panied by all my
[to] thoe P'ya's house, where 1 was received with much
ceremony.
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About three or four hundred men, armed with
muskets and clothed in scarlet serge, surrounded the
Hall of Audience, while a Siamese band was playing
on each side. The interior of the Hall was divided
into threo separate stages. On the first und highest
sat. O.Im Pya with his sword and Betel bearers &. On
the next, and about a foot lower, sat his Ministers the
Tan Belat and Tan Yokabat, some Commissioners from
Bangkok, the Prahs of Tuccatong and Tuccopa, and the
Pya's youngest Son, a lad of about thirteen years of age.
Near to these I was placed, with the Pya’s and my
own Interpreters. Behind us, and about two feet
lower, the place was crowded with the Pya's petty
officers, and apparently with every class of the
Inhabitants of Pungah.

1 presented the second letter from the Honble.
the Governor and my Commission. The first letter
stating in general terms the objects of my mission, I
had previously forwarded to the Pya. My Commission
was read anda copy of it was taken down in the
Siamese language, in doing which my own Malay
interpreters were requested to assist.

The Pya after enqniries respecting the health of
the Right Honble. the Governor General, and of the
Honble. the Governor of Penang observed that he was
truly happy to welcome a British Agent at Pungah,
whers he had lived for so many years without ever
having seen one. He was absent at Bangkok when
Capt. Low visited Pungah last year. He then declared,
that he entertained a very cordial regard towards tho
English and that as we wero now punishing the
Burmese, the old enemy of Siam, every Siamese was
vound to cultivate the most friendly relations with us,
but particularly the inhabitants of Salang and Pungah
who had bean for so many years living in hourly dread
of the Burmese. He then put some questions to
me regacding the progress of the war, and when
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replying to them, I stated, that T had a great many
details on that subject to communicate and that [
hoped he would grant me, on some early day, a
more private and confidential interview, when 1
could show him maps of the Country, and more
unreservedly explain to him all that he desired to
know. He highly approved of seeing me unattended
by all this state and show, which he said were great
impediments to the transaction of business and pro-
mised to see me again as soon as possible.

After some other general conversation, a very
plentiful dinner, dressed after the Chinese fashion, was
placed before Mr, Cuthbertson and me, and when wo
had partaken of it, we returned home much pleased
with this our first visit.

During this interciew, T observed the extraordin-
ary influence which the Chuliah Luang Lam exercised
over the Pya and the whole of his officers, who
appeared to adopt all the Interpreter's opinions and
suggestions. 1 made it a point therefore to gain the
interest of this man, and, with presents and promises,
I made him most serviceable to me. He could visit
the Pya and his Ministers at any hour of the day or
night, and he repeatedly proved to me, that ho could
persuade them to do whatever he desived. So well
aware is he of his great influence, that ho even asked
me one day—** Do you not see, Sir, that I hold in my
“hand the brains of these people, and that I can
“ release and retain just as much of them as I please ? ”
He was well acquainted with the late Mr. Light and
Mr. James Scott, as well as with the character and
proceedings of the British Government in India, and
he certainly proved himself attached to the
English. He is married to a Sismeso woman,
and speaks the Siamese langunge like a native,
and having repeatedly been at Bangkok, he pressed
me to proceed thither at once, engaging with his
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knowledge of the chamcter ond views of the
principal people there, to obtain anything which the
British Government may desive from that Court. 1
must, in fine, do this man the justice to own, that
during all my communications with him, 1 never
caught him telling me an untruth, On taking leave
of the Pya the first day, he told me, that his eldest
son, who was not then present, was preparing @
Siamese play for my amusement, and accordingly on the
following day, accompanied by Luang Lam, I paid &
visit to the young Chief who received me with great
cordiality. He is about 80 years of age, and of &
frank and cheerful disposition, but unfortunately rather
addcted to gaming. I was almost every day after-
wurds in this young wan's house and as he possessed
some authority in the Government, and much influence
over his father, T procured through his means some
information and copies of papers which bis father
hesitated to give me. He pressed me to proceed to
Banglok immediately—offered to wait at Bangkok
until I could return thither with sufficient power, and
promised to afford me at Bangkok, aud on the route
thither, cvery assistance and advice in his power. He
is married to the sister of o Prah from Bangkok, who
Tas farmed the privilege of smelting Tin at Tungah.

In the evening of this day, the 7th of March, 1
Jed

7 in an undress, panied by Luang Lam
and my interpreters only, to the Pya's house, where
himself and son and principal officers were assembled
with very few attendants. 1 scated wyself near the
Young Chief in the same manner as the rest were scat-
ed, and opening a map of Indis, and of the Burmese
and Siamese territories, gave them as full and satis-
factory an account as I could of the origin and
progress of the Burmese War. The whole listened
with great attention, and the Tan Belat put down the
names of a great many places in the Siamese Character
on one of Horsburgh’s Charte, with copies of which 1
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had presented the Pya, his son and the Prah of Tuccopa.
The Pya then observed, that all what I had reported
was highly gratifying, and would, he was sure.
afford so much satisfaction to the King of Siam,
thut he, the Pya, could not hesitate to invite me at
once to accompany him to Bangkok, whither he was
about to proceed in the course of a month or three
weeks for the purpose of assisting at the funeral of
the Iute King. On my declaring that I possessed
uo power to visit Siam, he questioned me much
regarding the time which it would take for me to
obtain sufficient powers and added, “ Since you
¢ cannot proceed to Bangkok, I wish you would give
“me a Note in writing of all that you said this
*evening, and of the objects of your Mission, »*

Some enquiries were then made regarding the
Burmese Embassy to Cochin China, and as T for-
tunately possessod Copies in the Burmese Language,
which Mr. Gibson had given me, of the letter
addressed by the King of Ava to the King of
Cochin China, and of the letter of instructions from
the Burmese Ministers to their Ambassadors, I sent
for these documents, and shewed them as well as &
Chinese drawing of the reception of the Embassy at
Saigon. The interest which the sight of these
papers created cannot be described, and they all
assured me, that I should be received at Bangkok
with the greatest cordiality, if I gave the King such
a proof of the good will of the English towards the
Siamese ns the production of these papers would be
considered,

The Pya detained me until 1 o'clock in the
morning.

On the 8th of March, I visited the Tan Belat,
whose duties at Pungah are said to be the same as those
of the Bindahara in Malayan States, and whom the
Luang Lam always called “ Vizier.,” He is an elderly
man, shrewd, intelligent and of extremely mild man-
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ner, and he appears justly to lave acquired great
influence over the Py, his waster Luang Lam how-
ever was ¥ thing with him also, and I was not therefore
long in securing his good will and confidence.

On the same day, 1 called on the Tan Yokobat,
the Prahs of Tuccotong and Tuccopa, and the Kha
Luang Mekhong or principal Commissioner from
Bangkok.

The first, the Yokobat. is related to the I'ya of’
Salang by marriage, and his duties ate said tobe
similar to those of the Laxamana in Malayan States.
He appearcd low-bred, and by no means intelligent.

The Second, the Pral of Tnceatong, is a mean
Jooking mian, but extremely quick and shrewd in con-
versation, and the Pya of Salang having once heen an
officer immediately under him as the Yokobat at Natoi,
some coolness and reserve now exist between them.
He exercises authority over the -Christian village of
Tham, Pak-Phra or Poppra Khokloce, Brahgri, Natoi,
Tuccatong and Patai, the whole containing, 1 was told,
o more than six or soven hundred people, but he
is ontirely subject to the orders of the Pyn of Salang,
who it may be observed by his letter to the Honble.
the Governor includes the names of some of the
abovementioned places in his enumeration of the eight
countries which he governs. This Prah can proceed
from Pungah to the seat of his Government, Tue-
catong, in less than a day. He travels by water to
Tham, and thence on Elephants.

The third person I visited was the Prali of Tuccopa,
who is married to a sister of the Pya of Salang. He
is an unusually stout thick set man, but not very in-
telligent, and apparently a little distrustful of our in-
tentions.  He exercises authority over Bangsak,
Khokhak, Tuccopa, Thungtroce, Korot and Korak, the
whole containing from one thousand to twelve hundréd
inhabitants, but he is entirely under the orders of the
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Pya of Salang, who includes some of the abovemen-
tioned villages also in his title. This Prah can pro-
ceed from Pungah to the Seat of his Government,
Tuccopa, on elephants in three days and two nights,
and he can reach Chaiya from Tuccopa in two or
three days.®

The Pral of Tuccopa seemed a little shy in con-
sequence of some questions which [ put to him regard-
ing the boats alluded to in Mr. Secretary Cracraft’s
letter to me under date the 17th of February.® There
were none of them or of their crews at Pungah, and T
was told, that three or four of the boats were at Tucco-
pa, to which place they had been driven in the Squall
that separated them from Capt. Poynton. The Prah
promised to write and order one or two of the crew,
who le admitted are at Tuccopa, to repair to Pungah,
but they did not make their appearance whilst 1 was
there.

Both of the above Prahs had come to Pangah to
meet the Commissioners from Bangkok, thirteen of
whom had been deputed to register the population in
this quarter of the Siamese dominions, and both of
these prahs were obliged to hurry away from Pungah
hefore my departure, in order to be present at their
respactive stations in timo to take the oath of fidelity
to the King of Siam in the manner preseribed by the
Jaws of the Country.

The last person whom I visited on that day, was
Prah-Wechit-Senee, the Kha Luang (literally Slave of
the Court) Me-Khong, or Principal Commissioner from
Bangkok. He is a tall stout man, but apparently a
debauchee, and he proved himself to me to possess all
the rapacity of n Siamese Courtier. 1 had taken to
him as well as to the other persons of rank some pre-
sents of cloth &ca. and the day after my visit, he sent a
message privately to me, to inform me, that he would
like to have a little more of that description of Scarlet
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cloth of which I had presented him with & piece, L
was too disgusted to take any notice of this message,
but a few days after, I found this Kha Luang was
wsing the powerful influence which he possessed as an
officer from Bangkok to thwart my plans, and | there-
fore deemed it prudent to call upon him with another
picce of the cloth, with which I thiuk [ entirely won
hiw. He promised to explain everything [ had said,
fully and satisfactorily ta the Ministers at Bangkok,
and to touch on his way at Chimpohun and render the
Tya of that place favourable to the opening of a com-
munication with Tennsserim and Mergui, He gave
e some advice as to the particular presents which i
British Envoy to Siam ought to take for the different
ofticers, and observed, that if the Envoy desires to
make an impression at Bangkok, he must bo supplied
with & Commission under the Hand and Seal of the
Right Honble. the Governor General.  He added, that
aletter and presents from the Honble. the Governor of
Penang, would however be useful in any negotiations
that might be necessary regarding the King of Kedah ;
and on my asking whether if the King accompanied
the British Kuvoy, he would be kindly received, he

replied, after cautiously looking around, ¢ Tho King
of Kedah had better not bo taken to Bangkok until
the British Agent has settled everything there regard-
ing him with the Wang-na, the Chow Pya of Ligore's
Nephew, "

The Kha fmang informed me that he had regis-
tered * about 2000 Men™ as Vassals or Slaves of the
Soil throughout the territories subject to the Pya of
Salang, and T afterwards learnt from the Nakoda
of o Native Brig who was loading rice and tin for
the Coast of Coromandel, and who from having formerly
met the Kha Luang on that Coast, was now on very
intimate terms with him, that the Kha-Luang told
him the exact number of such persons which he had
registered was 1225.  The Names of every other
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Sinmese subject are also registered, but these vassals
or slaves have the word “Salang” pricked in the
Siamese character on their wrists. The Kha-Luang
had previously to their coming to Pungah visited
Ligore and it d the Siameso inhabif there,
and an officer had accompanied them from that place
in order to claim cortain subjects of Ligore who had
fled to Pungali; but I was told by Luang Lam, that
the Fya of Salang had privately given notice to
the refugees of the object of this officer’s coming to
Pungah, and had advised them to kecp themselves
concealed until his departure.

In manners the Pya of Salang is extremely affable
and pleasing, and he does not appear to want intelli-
gence. He is much beloved by his subjects for the
| milduess of his rule and his whole conduct to me, I
| am bound to declare was marked by great cordiality
and good will. He is about 50 years of nge, and I
should think rather of an indolent disposition. His
father’s sister was married to the late King of Siam
which event led to his appointment from Yakobat
of Natoy, to Pya of Salang. Ho is said to possess
great influence at Bangkok, being connected Ly mar-
riage with the Kalahom and Chow Pya-Klang, and
with the Pyas of Rachpuri and Puchpuri and I was in-
formed by Luang Lam he is about to take his Daughter
up to Bangkok for the present King. He seemed to
entertain no apprehensions as to what might be said
at Bangkok respecting any thing which he might say
or do, and he shewed me a very handsome gold Btel
8et and service of plate which the present King of
Siam, he said, had lately sent to him. The Jurisdic-
tion of the Pya of Salang extends from Pak-lao to
Rinnong, including Junk Ceylon, but the whole of
this extensive tract is very thinly inhabited, since it
was laid waste by the Burmese in 1810, the population
now not exceeding six thousand souls, I was assured
by a Catholic Priest, Padre Juan, to whom I shall
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hereafter have occasion to refer. The inhabitants of
Pungah itself consist of about five hundved Chinese,
and two thousand Siamesa and Natives of other
Conntries. A little above Pungah I was told that
there are five hundred Chinese, and six or sevem
hundred Siamese employed in mining.

The Pya of Salang states in his title, that he is
the Governor of cight places, namely Salang, Bangyi,
Tuceatong, Tuccopa, Korak, Poongha, Pukit and
Pak-Phra; and here 1 may take occasion to report,
that the office of Governor of a province is ot
invariably hereditary. The Sons of several of the
former Pye
one of them is a suborlinate officer under the
Pya ns Cliiow of Pukit, an ancient town in Junkceylon,

of Salang are now living at Pungal, and
resent

which at one time hal a Pya distinet from that
of Salang. 1f a Govr. has a son old enough to be

taken to Bangkok, and presented at Court,
sion to lis father is then previonsly arranged and
purchased by his father’s
to his own. DBut almost ev
which these Governors acquire, finds its way to Bng
kok, and they pride themselves also in presenting
their Danghters to the Royal bed.

sucees-

inflnence and presents joined

¢thing curious or valuable

T found the Schoaner which we had carried up to
Pungah could not be taken down the river again, until
the return of the spring tides, in consequence of the
immense number of large trees which have fallen down
its steep banks, or have floated down from the
forests in the interior, and which have been allowed as
a means of defence against the Burmese, so to impede
the navigation of the river, that in many places, an
ondinary-sized mative boat even cannot pass during the
neap tides. Daring the thivteen days that 1 was thus
obliged to wait at Pungal, 1 daily saw the young
Chief, and some of the officers assembled there, and
was admitted every other night to a private interview
with the Pya of Salang himself.
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After T had in two or three more interviews
interested and amused the Chief by giving him long
descriptions of the Customs and manners of the
English, he threw aside all reserve and communicated
more useful information. He declared that he had
received a letter from the King of Siam desiring him,
as he was near Mergui and the British Ppossessions i
this quarter, to collect and transmit full and accurate
intellig of our ) ings, respecting which His
Majesty lad heard accounts on which, he 1, he
could not entirely depend, from Mr. Crasfurd at Sin-
gapore, and from some Burmese tives who had
been seized by the Pya of Chumpohun and transmitted
to Bangkok. He gave me reason to believs, that at
Bangkok there exists every disposition to co-operata
with us against the Burmese, and that the Wang-na is
even assenbling an anny for that purpose, but that the
Court is waiting for some more distinct
tions regarding our views and intentions before it
will resolve upon acting. He put many questions

communi;

to me regarding our future proceedings on the Coast of
Tenasserim, leading me to infer that the Sianeso
would rejoice to recover their ancient dowminions theve,
and he, as well as his Ministers, strove to provail wpon
we to pledge the restoration cf a portion of them or
even the restoration of the Sinmese Prisoners cavrind
away by the Burmese from Jankeeylon and other plaes
to Mergui and Tavoy, and this last measure lie observed
would be considered as a very great proot of our goxd

will. I coutented myself with replying, that the
British Government did not seek for any extension of
territory and that it would perhiaps depend upou the
conduct of the Court of Siam as to what arrangements
it would be necessary to make regarding onr conquests
on the Coast of Tenasserim, but that with respect
to the Siamese Prisouers at Mergai and Tavoy, [ was
certain our Government would never provent their
leaving those places as soon as they pleased, and re-
turning to their own country. I pointed out also,



L 208 ]

that the best mode for the Siamese to secure the
accomplishment of their wishes regarding the country
of Tenasserim would, I thought, be by immediately
opening Communications with our different Com-
manders and Garrisons and moving an army towards

e lwasmyself (Tsurprisedat] the capital of Ava through Cheung-mai

slc.) Pungah that my belng
military man, 8o far from

and Moneh. The Pya of Salang had not
heard from Bangkok for three months.
but he was there himself four months
ago, and he told me a curious story of an
*officer,” o person dressed in **Epau-

soeing and examining which lettes” having come to that city about

the chief:

appeared as much gaven or eight months ngo from Singa-

interosted as children.

pore, and of his having * sold Muskets,”
though what communications he ad come to make to
the Court, had not transpired. *

When I had again been requested to put down in
writing a Note of the objects of my Mission, I drew
up the paper marked C. in the Enclosures, after
once more carefully examining the documents with
which 1 had been furnished by Government, A
Translation of this paper was made into the Siamese
language at the Young Chief's House, in the presence
of himself, the Tan Belat, Tan Yokobat, and the Prak
of Tuccopa, to complete which Luang Lam and my
Malay and Christian Interpreters assisted me. Such
was the confidence at last established between the Pya
of Salang and myself, that lie even sent for my
own Malay Interpreter to assist Luang Lam in making
a Siamese version of the letters which the Honble.
the Governor had addressed to him in the Malayan
Character. The Pya had near him no respectable
person who could read that character.

Upon visiting the Pya after he had seen the
Siamese translation of my note he expressed himself
highly pleased with it, and declared his intention of
immediately dispatching a Courier with it to Bangkok,
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as he wos certain its contents would be highly
gratifying to the King his master and would tend to
remove at once all that distrust and suspicion with
which our proceedings are now viewed at Bangkok. 1
then suggested to him the advantage of our uniting
to open friendly communications between the British
C ders at Mergui, T im, Tavoy, Ye and
Martaban, and the Governors of the contiguous Siamese
posts. He immediately agreed to forward letters and
presents from me to the different Siamese officers, and
to accompany them with the most friendly letters
from himself. When I mentioned that the establish-
tent of such an intercourse between our Garrisons
aud the Siamese Posts might be very profitable to the
Siamese themselves, whose Provisions would perhaps
find a ready sale at our garrisons, the Prah of Tuceopa,
who was then present, requested to be supplied with
a letter to the officer commanding the British force
at Mergui, to which he said he would dispatch a
boat-load of merchandize the moment he returned
to Tuccopa.

Lu preparing my letters for the different Sinmese
Governors, the Young Chief of Salang afforded me
very kind assistance and sent his own writer to my
bouse to transeribe my letters in the Sinmese language.
The Tan Belat afterwards examined the letters, cor-
rected some inaceuracies of expression, and shewed me
a draft of the letters which the Pya was about to send
with mine, and nothing certainly could be more kind
and friendly.  For copies of the letters addressed by
me to the Dritish Commanders at Mergui, Tenasserim,
Tavoy, Ye and Martaban, and to the Siamese Goy-
ernors of Chaiya, Chimpohun, Puchpuri and Rachpuri,
1 beg to refer to D, E and F of the enclosures.

The Pya of Salang repeatedly expressed himself
in the most flattering terms as to the happiness which
my arrival had afforded him, and he one day told me,
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that two days before my arrival he had dreamt a dream
which had made o great impression upon him, and
which he had related on the following moring to his
gon and ministers. He had dreamt that le had walked
from Pungah to Bangkoks over the bodics of dead men.
Hence, he said, he was anxious to take me to Bangkok
with him, and he would write a reply to the Honble.
the Governor to request particularly that I should be
cent back, and to offer to leave his son at Pungah to
convey me to hiim (The Pya) at Bangkok. 1 told him
that it would rest with the Governor General to deter~
mine what officer should he deputed to communicate
lis wishes to the King of Siam and that most proba-
bly 2 letter * from Bengal hnd already reached Penang
signifying his Lordship's determination.

1 learnt that the people of Pungalt when proceed-
ing to Bangkok first go in boats in fonr hours to Pak-
la0, a small town under the orders of the Chow I’ya of
Ligore, but established as a thoroughfare by the King
of Siam. That from Pak-lao they pass across the
country on elephants in three days to Pennom near
the junction of the rivers Bandon and Chaiya.  That
at Pennom, they embark in small boats and pass in
two or three days more rapidly down the Chaiya river,
to Chaiya, where they embark in large junks, which
take from four to twenty four days to reach Bangkok
acconding as the South West or North East Monsoon
prevails. The Pya’s eldest son told me that they lad
at least a hundred and fifty elephants at Pak
as & proof that there would be no difficulty in safely

ho, and

passing o British Envoy with as much baggage as ho
pleases by this route to Bangkok, he stated that his
father had but lately brought through Chaiya and
Pennom to Pak-lao on elephants, a hundred peculs of
sugar and the same quantity of fine lac, which had
been sent down from Bangkok to Chaiya,  There isa
direct ronte from Pungah to Chaiya, but it passes over
the mountains which enclose the valley of Pungah and
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is steep and inconvenient. I saw the mouth of the
Pak-lao river from sen, and should take it to be not
more than eight miles to the North East of the mouth
of the Pungah River. ®

1 was allowed at Pungah to apply to any person I
pleased for information respecting the Geographical
Situation of the different Siamese Towns and expe-
rienced no difficulty in obtaining a map of “the West
Coast of the Gulph of Siam from Ligore to Bangkok.
The Young Chiet himself, who had repeatedly pussed
along that Coast, and touched at most places on it,
kindly examined, and with some of his own attendants,
corvected this map.  But I found it impossible for some
time to obtain exact information regarding the number
and situation of the different places Letween Tuccopa
amd Mergui, and the point which was considered as
the boundary between the Siamese and Burmese
possessions.  There were few at Pungah who appeared
to have visited the country above Tuccopa, and they
differed much as to the precise boundary between
these States.  Some of the followers of the Prah of
Tuccopa could, I was informed, have given me correct
information, but their master, whose authority does
not extend beyond Korak, appeared to be afraid of
ing offence to the Pya of Chimpohun, in whose
jurisdiction the Country between Korak and the
Buruese Frontiers is placed. The Prah and the Pya
of Salang advised me to apply to the Pya of Chimpohun

for information on this point, and they, as well as
the Kha Luang from Bangkok, offered to explain
everything to the satisfaction of the Pya of Chimpohnn
on their passage to Siam.

I'met at Pangah Padve Juan a Catholic Priest, a
native of Junkeeylon who was educated by the Catholic
Missionaries at Bangkok, and had lived some years
at Penang, whither he had fled on the invasion of
Junkceylon by the Burmese in 1810. Ho now lives
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at Tham a small Christian village containing only
twenty or thirty souls, situate between Tuccotong
and Yungal.  Recollecting having formerly seen
me at Penang, e came to pay me a visit, and
freely communicated to me as much intelligences
regarding the country and people as he possessed. I
trusted to his report of places even which he had not
visited, as [ conceived his education and knowledge of
French and Latin entitied his opinion to respect, and
upon his authority, 1 stated in my first letter to the
officer commanding at Mergui, that at Thongla-ong and
AMuang Kloo-ung is the Sinmese boundary. — Subse-
quently however 1 obtained I think more correct
information from Ta-Khun-tip, a Sinmesc priest, who
had often been at Rinnong, and who drew for me a
Chart of tho Coast, and from Prah Boree-rach-
Soomeeas, who had often visited Pak-Chan. This
Prah arrived from Chaiya but two days before my
departure from Pungal, and on hearing all that [ had
communicated there he twice called upon me and
applied for a letter to the Officer Commanding at
Mergui declaring his intention, the moment he return-
ed to Chaiya, of either going himself or detaching an
Agent to Mergui with merchandize via Chimpohun
and Pak-chan. He seemed an intelligent young man
of very prepossessing manners, and I have no doubt
of his sincerity.

For furter particulars regarding the Geogm-
phical situation of the Siamese boundaries, I must beg

leave to refer to the ications which I
to the Officers commanding at Mergui &ea. (Enclosures
C. D. E. and F.) and to Map and Memorandum which
will be submitted hereafter. I will here only add, that
Padre Juan, who had visited Rachpuri and Puchpuri,
informed me, that the former place is only four days jour-
noy from the pass of the three Pagodas, the established
boundary between the Siamese and Burmese territories
to the East of Martaban, and that from the latter
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place, Puchpuri, to Mergui, thero is a pass and
route which may be crossed in five days. 1 was
further informed by the Pya of Salang, and his officers
that the Chakri at Bangkok superintends the affairs of
every Province to the North of that City and the
Kalahom the affairs of those lying to the south of that
city, and that to thoee officers respectively the most
minute reports are made by the Governors of every
Province from Singora to Cheung-mai.

The last day I wasat Pungah the 19th March, I
witnessed an intevesting ceremony., Assured that I
had now entirely secured the good will and confidence
of the I'ya of Salang and his son, T did not hesitate to
attend and sit down in the midst of the whole of the
Public Officers who were assembled in a large shed,
and their wives in an adjoining house, to swear the
onth of fidelity to the King of Siam, which cath I was
told every person holding a situation under the King
of Siam, is obliged, with his wife, to take twice a year,
on the first days of the fifth and eleventh moon. I
may hereafter have occasion to give a detailed account
of this ceremony, but I shall mention here, that it
consisted in the Pya and all the officers while the
Priests recited prayers, turning towards the North
(Bangkok) falling prostrate and striking their heads on
ground three successive times, and in afterwards read-
ing a long oath, and drinking some water in which a
musket ball had been put, and the points of a sword
and spear dipped. T was good humouredly pressed by
the Pya and his son to strike my head on the ground
when the rest did so, and to drink some of the water,
offering to get me made a Prah by the King of Siam.
They were however perfectly satisfied with my standing
up and bowing towards the north whenever the vest
prostrated themselves. Some of the Commissioners
from Bangkolk importuned me much to drink a little
of the water stating that my doing so would be
highly gratifying to the King, but of course I declined,
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and endeavoured to pacify them by pointing out that
I held no office under their Master, and was besides
ignorant of the precise nature of the obligation, which
they had previously read and which they annexed to
this ceremony of drinking water.

1 abserved the Pya of Salang prides himself on his
title, and he took pains to correct the address of the
letters which T carried to liim from the Honble. the
Governor, aud in which hio was styled Pya of Pungah.
The Siamese aro fully sensible of the great value of
Junkeeylon.  The very first consequence of our
Burmeso war has been to induce the Siamese to tnm
their views towards improving that Tsland and their
Establishment there is to be restored the moment the
Pya returns from Bangkok, when his elde
be appointed Governor of Salang.'  Since the Burmeso
Iaid it waste, the inhabitants, which were at one time

son is to

estimated at twelve thousand, have never exceeded
cight hundred or a thousand men. and the greater por-
tion of these even and all the women and children live
ther= but half the year, retiring during the North East,
monsoon to Pungah.  In the same manner, its produce
of tin, which in the time of Forest was estimated at
five hundred tons per annum, has not of late vears
excesded twenty tons, or cighty bkars. The inhabit-

ante are chiefly engaged in cultivating paddy, of which
grain 1 was assured by the young Chief, that Island
exported at least three hundred Coyans per annum,
The mortality of the Governors of Junkeeylon, consi-
dering that the lsland is deemed healthy, is very
remarkable.  Luang Lam told me that he had seen
eight die.

Although 1 am satisfied that there is not the
smallest chance of Junkceylon being ever ceded to
us, yet I think that were it compatible with the
general il of the H bl
Company, the measure of establishing a factory




[215]

and commercial Agent there, or at Pangah (and
to this extent only I believe the late Honble, Colonel
Bannerman’s plan was limited) could be easily
carried into effect, and would prove very profitable,
Our Merchants at Penang, and the people of Pungah
themselves complained of it, do not appear to be
aware of the great means for carrying on trade which
that place possesses, both in respect to its own
produce, and in respect to the produce of Siam which
can be so casily brought down vid Chaiya. 1fa Com-
mercial Agent on the part of the Tlenble. Company
were fixed at Junkeeylon or Pungah, in order to excite
the industry of the inhabitants, and create a morw
effectual demand for the produce of those places and
of Siam, I have little doubt but lio would be abla
annually to send to Penang a supply of Tac, Sapan
Wood, Tin, Binls' nests, Tripang, Ivory and other
Commodities sufficient to load two or thres large
Tndiawen.  Our Commercial Agent at Junkeeylon
might also offer, with two or three small Gun Boats,
to join with the Siamese in protecting the Coasts and
checking pircy, a service which is much requitnd,
and which the Siamese here would, 1 think, receive
with gratitude.

Nothing however would tend moro immediately
to improve our commercial relations with Pungah,
than a survey of its harhour, which ships of the largest
description may visit, and of the coast between it and
Kedali, a good chart of almost the whole of which is
even to this day a desideratum in hydrography. Of
all the charts which we had with us, the oldest, ane
ot D'Aprés do Mannevillete’s, most resembled what,
we observed and what the Native Pilots describod
around Pungah. A emall island in the harbour of
Pungah, called by the Siamese Ko-mak or Iulo
Penang, and remarkable as the only one covered with
trees, the rest being high and rocky, and as heing
near the best anchorage, we took the liberty of
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naming “Fullerton’s Isle” in honor of the Governor of
this Island.

T was happy to find at Pungaly a much more liberal
arrangement with respect to the trade in tin than what
1 had proviously learnt. No tin [is] ever sent to
Bangkok but when specially required. for instance
100 bhars were sent for the King of Siam to give to
Mr, Crawfurd in veturn for the presents from the
Right Honble. the Governor General, and abont the
same (uantity is now about to be dispatched for the
Faneral of the late King. The privilege of smelting
the tin ore is farmed by a Siamese Prah from Bangkok
who is engaged to give the King of Siam for this
privilego 240 bhars of tin and 40 muskets per annin.
His Majesty’s tin is cither sold on the spot, or brought
to Penang and sold, and the proceeds are remitted to
Siam in cash or in such articles as may be specially
commissioned. Thus I was repeatedly assuied, that
the whole of the tin, excepting a portion occasionally
when demanded for Pablic purposes at. Bangkok, finds
its way to Penang. Some times also, as was the case
when 1 was at Pungah, Native vessels call in there
and export tin to the Coast of Coromandel.  The
selling price of the metal at Pangal is 50 Dollars for
the large Bhar, equal to 3 peculs and 56 Catties. To
the farmer, all the tin ore is brought and he pays 2
Dollavs for 3 measures full of it, the measurs being a
basket containing from 14 to 15 catties, and a great
source of this profit consists in the manner in which
this measuro is struck. The farmer paid formerly one
Dollar only for 3 measures, but since the devastation
of Junkeeylon the King of Siam has directed the price
paid to the miner to be raised to 2 Dollars.  The ore
is emelted no less than seven times and the mole of
smolting it is the same as what Mr. Light described 40
years ago, and the produce about the same, vizt. 7 Per
cent. At Pungah the metal is most abundant, from
1000 to 1200 Bhars having been collected during the
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past year. Most of the miners and all the smelters
are Chinese, and the former do not work as they did
at Junkeeylon in separate pits, but in trenches.
The Pyn of Sulang has the privilege of taking from
the farmer whatever portion of tin he may require
ata fixed rate of 48 Lollars Per Bhiar.

Elephant's Tusks and Rhivocercs’s horns only
are now Royal monopolies, the whole of what js
collected being ordered to be sent to Bungkok, an
order which T was told the Pya of Salang often
takes upon himself to disobey. The import duties
ut Pungali on Cottons and Salt are six per cent ;
and the anchorage fees at the rate of one hundred
and twenty five dollars for every fifty Bhars of in
exported, being particularly high. T recommended
the Py to reduce them as a means of inviting more
Ships to visit his port; but Le observed that the
present rae had been fixed for centuries and could
not be altered cxcept by order from the King.
There is no import duty on opium, and several other
urticles. The consumption of the first has been
prohibited by the King of Siam, without much effect
however, s | daily observed at Pungal.  The
Chinese Junks pay ouly four per Cent on Cottons,
and a moiety only of the other duties which are
levied on square vigged vessels. The Clinese pos-
sess many other advantages in the Siamese Ter-
ritories, und are allowed to visit and settlo in any
part of them.  We can be at no loss to know the
cause of such indulgeuce when we observe that the
Sinmese Chiefs adwire fair women, and generally,
in preference to their own fewales, marry the daugh-
ters of Chinese or fair women of Chinese Extraction,
The Wife of the Young Chief of Sulang is evidently
of such’origin, and this circumstance accounts for the
Pya of Singora, and so many of the other Siamese
Governors being of Chinese Extraction, the bias of
whose minds must of course be to favor the Chinese.
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The only authentic information I could obtain
regarding the former state of the Country of Tenas-
serim, was contained in apparently an old book in
which I was shewn a Cade of Harbour and Custom
House duties and regulations in force at Mergui and
Tenasserim whilst under the Siamese Government.
1 procured a copy of this document by means of the
young Chief, and I bug to annex a translation of it,
as from its perusal Government will be enabled to
estimate what advantage our commerce may pro-
lably derive from the measure of transferring this
country to the Siamese. I saw clearly at Pungab,
that the Sinumese do not consider themselves to
possess such a title or claim to cur Conquests on
this Coast as to require us fo surrender more of
them than what we may be inclined to do. 1 am
sure they will be most lippy to receive any portion
of them, and as to what I was told at Kedah, on my
first visit there, und the Chow Pya of Ligore himself
appears to have told the sume tale to my Chinese
Agent Achong, that *the Court of Bangkok is
quite indifferent regarding he po:session of any
portion of the Coast of Tenasserim ™ it may be
easily explained when we reflect that the Coast is
too far from Ligore for its chief to benefit by any
cession of it, while the nutural effect of such cession
will be to increase the power and influence only of
some of his rivals, the Governors of the Siamese
Proviuces immediately contiguous to it.

1 learnt much at Pungah respecting the
advantageous commercial situation of Mergui, snd
even the Nakoda of one of the native Brigs which
were loading with rice and tin for the Coast of
Coromandel solicited me to submit to the con-
sideration of our Government the importance
of retaining such a post on the eastern side
of the Bay of Bengal as Mergui, whence not
only a valuable trade could always be conducted but
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large supplies of rice in times of scarcity on the
Coast of Coromandel could be so ensily received and
taken for the relief ot the sufferers. As to the
capability of defending that Island there can be no
doubt. Captain Poynton who assisted at its cap-
ture, declares, that Mergui not only possesses a
noble harbour, but that it is naturally a very strong
place, the Fort being placad upon o hill which com-
pletely commands the harbour, to fire at which he
was obliged to elevate the Guvs of his Vessel at an
angle of nearly forty five degrees.

Our Steam Boat at Rangoon appears to have
excited great interest nt Bangkok, and innumerable
were the questions put to me both at Pungah and
Kedah vespecting the nature und principle of such
a vessel,

The event of the late King of Siam's demise
was concealed by the Court at Bangkok for two
months, nor was it disclosed, nor the people ordered
to go into mourning, until every preparation was
made for resisting any attack or interference, which,
1 was assured at Pungah, the Court believed might
Ve attempted by the Eaglish from Prince of Wales
Island. The Siamese form of mourning for a King
is the same as that of the Chinese—every subject is
ordered to shave his head, and it was not without
much erying, I was told, that the Women of Pungah
consented to lose their long tresses.

I have thus detailed, T hope not too minutely,
the nature of iy communications at Pungah, and I
beg to annex correct translations of the replies
whicli the Pya of Salang and Prahs of Tuccatong
and Tuccopa have given in the Siamese Language
to the letters addressed to them by the Honble. the
Governor. Whatever may be the ultimate deter-
wination of Government, I have here earnestly to
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request, that some early token may be transmitted
o these Chiefs in acknowledgment of the cordial
good will and kindness with which they received
me, and for which I really feel grateful to them.
In my intercourse with them, s well as with the
Baginda Muda of Kedah, I adopted the practice of
the old travellers and ambassadors. After a first
formal and ceremonious interview, in which I proved
to them that I possessed sufficient rank and powers,
1 threw nside all state and show, visited them
privately and quietly, and endeavoured through my
uowledge of the Malayau langoage [and my ]
Native Christion and Hindoostannee Interpreters, to
interest and amuse them by deseriptions of our
customs and manners, and aitho’ T did not dance o
winuet as Kiimpfer did before the King and Court
of Siam, or sing o Psaln as Lancaster did before
the King of Acheen, still 1 did not hesitate to do
things perhaps just as likely to excite risibility, and
I found my plan eminently successful. 1t was the
adoption of such a practica that enabled me to
remove their suspicions and collect from them
intelligence ou any subject that I desired. T do
not hesitate then to recommend to Government to
accept the proffered assistance of these Cliefs at
Bangkok, not ouly because I lave experienced such
kindness at their hands, but because 1 am more than
ever conviuced, that no inpression can be made in
our negotiati with Siam resp the arrange-
ments we desire to accomplish in this neighbour-
liood, but through the aid and intervention of the
Chiefs residing near us.

1 beg to submit to the particular notice of the
Honble. the Governor in Council, that T am under the
most important obligations to Mr. Maingy, the Su-
perintendent of Province Wellesley ; who had in the
true spirit of that zeal for the public, which so highly
distinguishes him, and of that friendship which has
long subsisted between us transferred to me several
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of his own Malay Servants and .attendants, to ac-
company e on this mission. I found these men
well acquainted with the Siamese language, and with
every part of the Kedah and Ligore territories, and
in possession of such superior worth gnd intelligence
as a long servitude under Mr. Maingy could not fail
toimpart to them. I am much indebted also to
Mr. Cracroft, who from his situation as Secretary
to Government, and from his intimate acquaintance
with the Malayan language and customs, and with
the records of Government, was so well qualified to
afford e useful and judicious hints. Mr. Anderson,
the Malay Translator to Government, kindly gave
me all the aid which his superior acquirements
enabled him to give and I may add with pride and
plensure, that no Mission ever quitted Penang under
more friendly, cordial and zealous assistance than
what mine had the great forture to receive. I felt
the deepest regret on my return to the Presidency,
to find, that there was one Gentleman, the late Mr.
Williums, Deputy Secretary to Government, to
whom it was no longer in my power to express my
gratitude. He bad, with that good nature which
had endeared him so much to all who knew him,
insisted on my nccepting the gratuitous use of his
echooner or Pleasure Boat, and this favor proved of
the most essential service to my mission.

I have now ouly to hope that the Honble. the
Gorverner in Council will consider that the objects
of my mission towards the Tsthmus of Kraw, as far
as they were detniled in my Letter of Instructions
of the 8th of January* have been so attended to by
me, as to justify his expectations. I trust he will be
satisfied, that the Siamese do not possess any such
title or claim to the late Conquests on the Const of
Tenasserim, as interfere with the British Govern-
ment disposing of them in whatever manner it
pleases, that the Court of Siam will receive a British



Envoy at the present juncture with every satisfac-
tion, and lastly, that the Chiefs on the Isthmus of
Kraw are Servants implicitly bound by, and actually
obeying the dictates of their Superiors at Bangkok.

I have &e.
( Signed) H. BURNEY Capt.
Poll, Agent to the Siamese States.
Prince of Wales Tsland
the 2d. April 1825,
True Copy

(Signed) E. A. BLUNDELL
Actyg, Secy. to Govt.
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FORT WILLIAM 13th May 1825.

A

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Son of

the Rajah of Ligore, at Ligore, to Captain Burney,
(After Compliments. )

With respect to my friend Captain  Burney
sending China Achong with a Lettar from the Goy-
ernor of Pulo Penang and one from himself to my
father the Rajah of Ligore, which he brought across
from Quedah to Ligore, my father received them
with mmeh satisfaction, in order that friendship
might be prolonged.

My father, the Rajah of Ligore, understands
the coutents of the letter from the Governor of Pulo
Penung and wy friend Captain Burney, relating to
the English having engaged in hostilities with the
Burmalis and taken wany towns and that my friend
Captain Burney had been sent as the representative
of the Governor of Pulo Penang to transact business.

It is mentioned in the letter of my friend
Captain Burney, that the Governor of Bengal had
directed him to come to establish friendship. My
friend Captain Hurney therefore requests to meet
my father the Kajub of Ligore at Trang. My
father, the Rujah of Ligoreis mucl pleased and
desirous that the Siamese and English Countries
<hould be on friendly terms und be like one; he
would have gone to Trang agreeably to the request
of my friend Captain Burney, expressed in his
letter, but it appears to him thut it is too far distant
from the Rajah of Puio Penang. My father the
Rajubi of Ligore, intends to come to Queda, to bo
near the Governor of Pulo Penung, in order that
business may be considered with facility, and that
the road of friendship may be followed more than
formerly.
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The Rajah of Ligore is seriously disposed
to preserve friendship and a good understand-
ing with the English. He intends to proceed to
Quedah in thirty or forty days, wherefore wait a
litle. When the Rajah of Ligore comes to Quedab,
the business will be considered agreeably to the wish
of the Governor of Pulo Penang and my friend Cap-
tain HBurney as mentioned in his letter.

Further, with respect to the articles brought
by China Achong, these are a Necklace, two arm
bangles, two candlesticks and o shawl, which were
received as o token of friendship. There is not at
present time to prepare a euitable return of Siamese
manufacture, but when the Rujah of Ligore and I
come to Quedah, some articles will be prepared to
send as a token of friendship.

Dated 3rd. of Rajah 1240.
Penang
the 26th March 1825.
A True Translation

(Signed) JOBN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.
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c.

NOTE delivered to the Pya of Salang for the
purposo of being forwarded to the Court of Siam by
Captain Henry Burney, Political Agent from the
Government of Prince of Wales Island to the Siamese
States.

Pungah 11th March 1825,

The unprovoked aggressions and hostile demons-
trations of Ava having forced the British Government
to declare war against that State, and British troops
having taken possession not only of Assam, Cheduba,
Negrais, Bassein, Rangoon, Serian, Dalla, Pegu,
Martaban and Ye, but of Tavoy, Mergui and Tenas-
serim, places immediately contiguous to the Siamese
territories, Captain Henry Burney has been deputed
by the Government of Prince of Wales Island, under
the direction and authority of the Right Honble. the
Governor General in Council, to visit the Siameso
States in this neighbourhood, in order to explain to
them fully the origin and progress of the war, to
catisfy them of the sincere good will of the British
Government towards the Court of Siam ; to invite
them to consider the British Troops as friends, hostilely
engaged only against the ancient and inveterate
enemies of the Siamese, and to assure them, that the
British Officers and Soldiers on the Frontiers of Siam
have been particularly cautioned to treat the subjects
aud property of Siaw with every respect and attention.

Captain Burney has arrived at Pungah, and given
to the Pya of Salung, to his son and Tan Belat and
Tan Yokabat, as well as to the Prahs of Tuccopa and
Tuceatong and to the Khn—Lu:'mg from Bangkok, de-
tailed account of the nature and progress of the present
war, and they have engaged to repeat the samo to the
Court of Siam. Captain Burney will then here only
state, that as the British Troops have established
themselves in the vicinity of the Siamese possessions,
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the Right Honble. the Governor General is desirous
of deputing an Agent to the Court of Siam, in order
to satisfy it more fully and unreservedly than can bo
done by letter, of the views and objects of the British
Government, and as the time is arrived when the
Siamese will have an opportunity of punishing their
ancient and overbearing foe, the Right Ionble. the
Governer General is willing to point out to the Court of
Siam, in what manner the co-operation of the Siamese
in the prasant war may b randered most serviceable to
themselves, and most injurious to the Burmese. The
Right Honble. the Governor General disavows all
intentione of aggrandi t, and is therefore further
willing to acquaint the Court of Siam what are his views
with respect to the Conquered Burmese Territories,
a5 well as to hear what arrangements that Court may
e disposed to moke with the British Government
concerning the recovery of any portion of its former

possessions on the Coast of Tenasserim.

Captain Burney possesses mony documents to
hew the Court of Siam what was the real purpose of

the Mission which was deputed two years ago by the
King of Ava to the King of Cochin China, and he
trusts that the production of these papers, as well as
the frank and candid manner in which the Britigh
(Government offers to make the Court of Siam fully
apprized of its views and intentions with respect to
the Burmese, will bo considered by that Court as
nnequivocal proofs of the sincerity and good fecling
with which the British Government is actuated towards
the Siamese Nation.

Signed) H. BURNEY Capt. Poll. Agent
from the Penang Govt. to the
Siamese States.

(A true Copy. )
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D.

LETTER addressed through the Pya of Salang to the
Pya of Chimpohun by Captain H. Burney, Political
Agent from the Penang Govt. to the Siameso States.

Pungah 15th March 1825,

This letter is addressed by Captain Burney to the
Pya of Chimpohun to inform him that the Govern-
ment of Penang, under the authority of the Right
Honble. the Governor General in Council, has deputed
Captain Burney to visit the Siamese States in this
thbourhood in order to acquaint them that the
British Government has declared war against Ava,
and that the British troops having taken possession of
several Burmese Countries, are on their way to the
capital of Ava. The Burmese are well known to be
the ancient and inveterate enemies of the Siamese, and
as the British Government has sent troops to punish
them, the time is at length come for the Siamese to
prevail over the Burmese, and this they will not tail
to do if they now come forward and co-operate with
the English. The Right Honble. the Governor
General of Bengal has sent positive orders to the
British Officers and Soldiers stationed on the frontiers
of Siam, at Martaban, Ye, Tavoy, Mergui and Tenas-
serim, to treat the subjects and property of Siam with
every respect and attention, and to maintain the most
friendly intercourse with the contignous Siamese posts.
Captain Burney therefore encloszs a Letter in English
uddressed to the British Officer commanding at Tenas-
serim or Mergui, and requests the Pya of Chimpohnn
will forward it to the nearest station by some of his
own servants and thus open a mutually beneficial in-
tercourse between Chimpohun and thoss places for the
purposes of trade as well as of friendship.

Captain Burney has arrived at Pungah from
Penang with various letters and papers, and he has
fully explained to the Pya of Salang every particulac
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regarding the Burmese War, and this letter together
with a dispatch addressed in the Malayan language by
the Honble. the Governor of Penang and a box con-
taining certain presents Captain Burney will deliver
in charge to the Pya of Salang, who has promised to
forward the whole to the Pya of Chimphoun with a letter
from himself. Captain Burney has made not only the P'ya
of Salang but his Son and Tan Belat and Tan Yokabat,
the Prahs of Tuccopa and Tuccatong, and the Kha-
Luang Me-Khong from Bangkok intimately acquainted
with every thing regarding the Burmese war, and they
have engaged to forward immediately an official
Note from him to the Court of Siam and to report to
it, as also to repeat to the Pya of Chimpohun on their
passage to Baugkok, the agreeable intelligence which
Captain Burney has communicated to then.

Captain Burney begs the Pya of Chimpolun will
excuse any errors or omissions which the Pya may
observe in this address, and which Captain Burney's
ignorance of the Siamese tongue prevents his dis-
covering.

Captain Burney also begs the Pya will do him the
favor to transmit a reply to hin: at Penang as soon as
possible through the Pya of Salang and if the reply be
accompanied by a map of the Siamese frontiers ad-
jacent to Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim, the British
Government will be apprized of the line that separates
the Burmese and Siamese possessions in this quarter,
and will be enabled to prohibit its troops against
entering in any direction within the Siamese bound-
ary.  On this last subject Captain Burney has particu-
larly communicated with the Prah of Tuccopa and Kha
Luang Me-Khong and they have promised to explain
it more fully to the Pya of Chimpohun.

(Signed ) H. BURNEY Capt. Poll. Agent
from the Penang Govt. to the
Siamese States.
A true Copy ( Signed) H. BURNEY DPoll. Agent.
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A Copy of the above letter, with the necessary
alterations, and excluding only the passages contained
® Noinverted Within inverted commas,® was also addressed to the
“insarton.  Pya of Puchpuri and Chow Pya of Rachpuri. A Copy
of the same was addressed thro' the Pya of Ligore's
son to the Pya of Chaiya, and this last contained an
additional paragraph stating that the ltter and pre-
sents would be delivered to him by Prah Boree-rach-
Soombat.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Poll. Agent.
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E.
DISPATCH addressed through the Pyas of Sa—
lang and Chimpolun to the Officer Commanding the
British Troops at Tenasserim or Mergui by Captn.

H. Burney Political Agent from the Penang Govern-
ment to the Siamese States.

« M. Cuthbart- Tungah Lat: 8§ 21 Long: 95 23 °
son by a sub-
sequentand 15th March 1825,
more carrect
observation
Sir,

mado the longi-

tude of Pungah : . .

08 31 The Pya or Governor of Salang having engaged
8d. M. B to transmit letters and presents from me to the Chow

Pya of Rachpuri, to the Pya of Puchpuri, and to the

P'ya of Chimpolun, with letters from himself, joining

i my invitation to those Siamess Governars to open a
friendly intercourse with the British Troops stationed
in the vicinity of their respective commands, 1 do
myself the honor to address you under the following
Cireumstanc

which 1 beg you will lose no time in
veporting for the information of Drigadier General Sir
Archibald Campbell, K. (. B, K. C. L 8, &. &e. &e.

Having been deputed by the Governor of D'rince
of Wales Island under the authority of the Right
Honble. the Governor General in Council, to visit the
Niamese States in this neighbourhood, 1 arvived on the
Gth Inst. at this place, where 1 found assembled the
Prabis of Tuccotong and Tuceopa and a Khia Luang or
Commissioner from Bangkok, and where T have experi-
enced the gieatest kindness and cordiality. Having
explained to the Pya, to his son, and Ministers, and to
the Siamese Officers assembled here every particular
regarding the origin and progress of the Burmese
War, 1 was at first invited to accompany them to
Bangkok, whither they are about to proceed in the
course of & month or three weeks for the purpose of
assisting at the funeral of the late King of Siam, but o
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my declaring that I possessed no powers to visit Bang-
kok, the Pya resolved on transmitting immediately an
account of all I have communicated, together with an
official note from myself to the Court of Siam, and onp
addressing ? [ed to] the Honble. the Governor of
Prince of Wales Island to request that T may be sent:
back to this place as soon as possible with sufficient
powers from the Supreme Government and to offer to
convey me to the capital via Chaiya, a large Town
situated above Ligore on the Gulf of Siam. Iam
therefore to return to Penang to-morrow with such a
letter from the Pya of this place,

In the mean time the Pya having engaged to
transmit letters and presents from me to the before-
mentioned Siamese Governors, with letters from him-
self, 1 have been induced to address a Copy of this
Dispatch to the Officer Commanding the British forces
at Tenasserim or Mergni theo the channel of the Pya
of Chimpohun or Chounpioun, which person exercised
the especial duty of watching the Burmese ab Tavoy
and Mergui, and has charge of the pass into the
Siamese Teritories, and of the whole boundary lino

inthis quarter.  The Sinmese appear of late years to

have been recovering some of their ancient dominions
to the Southward of Morgui, and their boundary line
at present is reported here to cross the Isthmus of
Kraw at Mooung Kroo-ong and Thongla-ong, two
places on the western sea quite desolate and without
inhabitants, nearly opposite to Chimpolun on the (nlf
of Siam. Their frontier town to the Southwanl of
Mergui would appear to he Pak-Chan, which is a little
to the north of Rinnong or Rendong River opposite to
St. Matthew’s Island, and which is perhaps the same
place as that which the Burmese call Chan-ra situated
in about Latitude 10.50. The journey from Chimpo-
hun to Mergui is said to take only three days.

T have learnt here that a great many of the
Burmese who had fled from Tavoy and Mergui on our
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occupation of those places, have been seized by the
Pya of Chimpohun, and transmitted to Bangkok, and
that the Court of Siaw, distrustful of the accounts of
the Burmese war which Mr. Crawfurd from Singapore
and other British officers had communicated, has lately
ordered the Pya of this place to collect and transmit
full and positive accounts of our proceedings.

The Prah or Lieut. Govr. of Tuccopa who, under
the control of the Pya of this place, exercises authority
on the Isthmus of Kraw from Patai in about Latitude
8. 40 to Korah or Kraw a small village a little to the
southward of Rennong having consented to depute an
Agent from Tuccopa to Mergui for the purpose of
establishing o friendly and  commercial intercourse
Detween thoso ports, T shall deliver a copy of this
dispateh to the Prah for him to forward to the British
Officer Commanding at Mergui. The Prah has further
promised to stop at Chimpohun on his passage to
Bangkok, and to communicate every friendly intelli-
gence to the Pya of that place under whose authority
are Pak-chan and Rennong, the former only containing
a few inhabitants.

* Many Slamese as woll as
Burmese places appear to

vuigar tongue.
these are In comm
Pungah, and the third |
aro Burmese corruptions. |
suspect Dr. Hamllton's Plapp!
to which he says a passagoe
can bo made from Junkcoylon
in six or sevon days (Page 235
No. I8 of Edinburgh Phlloso-
phical Journal) is a fourth
name for Puchpuri. Sd. M. B.

The Pya Puchpuri,® Phreephree or
Pepery, which appears to be situated on
the river marked Cham in Horsburgh's
Charts, has charge of the boundary to
the North of Chimpohun and Mergui,
and as the journey from Puchpuri to
Mergui takes only five days, and as
Puchpuri is within two or three days
journcy from Bangkok, I shall address
a Copy of this dispateh to the Officer

Commanding at Mergui or Tavoy, through the channel

of that Pya.

The Chow Pya of Rachpuri, Ratphree or Yatpee,
which appears to be situated on the river marked
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Bencaser in Horsburgh's Charts, but named Me-Klong
by the Siamese, has charge of the boundary to the
Northwest of Bangkak, and partieularly of the Pass of
three Pagodas called by the Burmese Eugaru and by
the Siamese Prache-dee-Sam-ong (three towers). As
this place leads from Martaban or Moultama to Bang-
kok, and is not four days journey from Rachpuri, and
as the Chow Pya of this place is said to be an officer
of high rank connected with the Royal family of Siam,
and in almost daily communication with Bangkok, I
shall address a fourth copy of this letter to the British
Officer Commanding at Martaban, Ye or Tavoy through
the channel of this Chow Pya.

Should any of the above mentioned Siamese
Governors accept the invitation thus forwarded by the
Pya of Salang and myself I am sure T need not suggest
to you the expediency of treating any Agents who
may be deputed for the purposes cither of trade or
friendly intercourse, with every attention and kindness,
so that the Communication thus opened may be fol-
lowed up and rendered mutually beneficial to the
Siamese and to our troops in Ava. I have acquainted
each of theco Governors that the British Officers and
troops on (lie frontiers of Siam have received very
peremptary orders to respect the subjects and property
of that Nution,

1 have &e.

( Signed ) H. BURNEY Capt.
Poll. Agent from the Penang
Govt. to the Sinmese States.

A true Copy
(Signed) H. BURNEY Poll, Agent.
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A Copy of the above letter, directed to “ the
Officer Commanding the British Forces at Mergui ™
was given to the Prah of Tuccopa, and besides the
above, two Copies were delivered to the Pya of Salang,
one enclosed in a letter to the Pya of Puchpuri and
directed to “'The Officer Commanding the British
Forces at Tavoy or Mergui; " and the other enclosed
in a letter to the Chow Pya of Rachpuri, and directed
to “The Officer Commanding the British Forces at
Martaban, Ye or Tavoy.”

( Signed) H. BURNEY Poll. Agent.
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F.

DISPATCH addressed thro' the eldest son of the
Pya of Salang, the Prah Boon-rach-Soombat and Pya
of Chaiya to the officer commanding the British Troops
at Mergui.

Pungah 18th March 1825.
Sir,

Since addressing you on the 15th Inst, thro' the
Prah of Tuccopa and Pyas of Puchpuri and Chimpohun,
an officer of some rank, Prah Boree-rach-Soombat, has
arrived here from Chaiya ; and as he, after hearing all
T had communicated to the Pya of Salang, has resolved
upon i diately trying a ial ad to
Mergui, and has applied to me fora letter to your
address, 1 am induced to write to you again thro' the
Pya of Chaiya, to whom the Prah abovementioned is
about, to return with a letter from the Young Chief
here, as well as with one from myself giving cover to
this dispatch.

The Prah Boree-rach-Soombat Pproposes to pass
overland from Chimpohun to Pak-Chan which will
take him ouly one day, and then to proceed by water
to Mergui, which he can reach in another day. 1 fool
assured that both himself and his servants will ex-
perience from you that kindness and attention which
are ded by a ideration of the diency
of our opening as soon as possible a friendly intercourse
with the Siamese.

Since addressing you before, I have ascertained
that Moo-ang Kloo-ung or Kruu-ung and Thong-
la-ong are to the Southward of Rennong ; that Pak-
Chan is as far as the Siamese have been able to estab-
lish themselves between Ji unkceylon and Mergui ; and
that Pak-Chan and Rennong ave under the immediate
charge of a Luang or officer from Chimpohun, stationed
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about the centre of the Isthmus of Kraw, ata place
called Mooung Krah, which name, 1 may add, so nearly
resembles the Korah or Kraw near Tuccopa, that the
Siamese themselves are often obliged to distinguish
it by the term Rennong-Kraw.

I have &e.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Capt. Poll.
Agent from the Penang Govt. to
the Siamese States.

A true Copy
(Signed) H. BURNEY Poll, Agent.
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G.

TRANSLATION of a letter from the Rajah Nar-
ong Ruangrit, Prasit, Chit Song Kram, who governs
eight Countries, Vizt. Jongsylong, Boonglee, Taccooa
Tong, Taccooapa, Koral, Poongha and Pakit commonly
styled Pia Poongha, to the Honble. the Governor of
Prince of Wales Island.

I have received a letter by Captain Burney and
perceive that he is a Commissioner from the Governor
of Pulo Penang, to explain everything relative to the
English having taken thirteen of the Burmese Coun-
tries, which I am very glad to learn, for the Burmahs
have been great enemies to the Siamese. Captain
Burney mentioned also that the Governor General had
sent a letter for the King of Siam, which letter con-
tains information about the war between the English
and Burmahs, but the letter was at Pulo Penang.

Captain Burney seems to be a clever man, and
possessed of good understanding, and I have received
him with pleasure and respect. The letter which he
brought 1 have sent a reply to the Governor's letter
by Captain Burney, who returns to Pulo Penang, and
I request the Governor will send the letter from the
Governor General of Bengal, with which Captain
Burney can return to Poongha again, that I may send
the letter and him to the King of Siam.

Captain. Burney has sont. lotters to the Rajah of
Chi Rachaboory, and Petchboory. All the
nrllcles which he brought I have received. Iam now
preparing to depart for Bangkok and shall await him
there, and T shall explain all that I have learnt from
him. My son is waiting at Poongha to accompany
him to Bangkok.

Dated Thursday the 29th of the fourth month and
Year 1186 Pi vok.

Penang (Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
26th March, 1825, Malay Transr. to Govt.
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H.

TRANSLATION of o letter from the Rajah of
Tuccoons Tong and Bonglee to the Honble. the
Governor of Prince of Wales Island.

We have received a letter from Captain Burney
and we know for certain that the English have taken
saveral of the Burmah Countries. Captain Burney
went to Poongha to explain all the circumstances to
the Rajah of Jongsalong and to the Chiefs of Tuccoona
Tong and Tacovapa; we have accordingly prepared a
Jetter and sent it to the King of Siam to explain all
we have heard from Captain Burney. We have been
made fully acquainted with the wish of the Governor
of Pulo Penang to be on friendly terms with the
King of Siam and we are perfectly satisfied with
the explanations contained in the letter from the Govr.
of Pulo Penang.

The Rajsh of Jongsalong, Tuccoona Tong and
Tacooapa have jointly reseived Captain Burney with
great pleasure, we have sent the letter to the Pana-
hua-Chauthan Piya Accamshasena-thibody,* in order
that he may explain every thing to the King of Siam.

Coptain Burney scems to be a clever man and
possessed of good understanding.  1f the Governor of
Pulo Penang has any business hereafter, we wish that
he will send Captain Burney again, for we are ac-
quainted with him. 1f he does come back to PPoongha
upon any subject of business, we shall jointly assist in
promoting the wishes of the Governor of PPulo Penang.

Dated Thursday the 20th of the fourth Month
and year 1186 Pi vok.

A true Translation

( Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Traner. to Govt.
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TRANSLATION of a letter from the Phra-jot,
Pac-dee Si-phichaisongkram, Commander of Tuccoph,
to the Governor of Prince of Wales Tsland.

( After Compliments.)

T have received a letter and presents from Captain
Burney, and know all the contents of the letter. I
have, in conjunction with the Rajali of Jan Sylang
( Junkeeylon ) sent a lettor to the King of Siam, and
if His Majesty returns any particular reply, I will
writo to the Governor of Pulo Penang by the first
opportunity.

Captain Burney has given a note or a kind of pass
to go and trade at Meigui, and a letter has been sent
to Tuccopa that they may prepare every article of trade
togoto Mergui. Captain Burney has sent a map
to the King of Siam to shew also to the Rajah of
Choomphon, that the Rajah of Choomphon may know.

Dated Thursday the 20th of the fourth Month and
year 1186 Pi vok.

A true Translation

(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Transr. to Govt.

Penang
the 26th March 1825,

True Copies

(Signed ) G.* W. BLUNDELL Actg. Secy.
to Govt,

®sic. 7 A. E. Blundell.
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